ARC MONOGRAPHS

PENTACHLOROPHENOL AND SOME RELATED COMPOUNDS

VOLUME 117

IARC MONOGRAPHS **ON THE EVALUATION OF CARCINOGENIC RISKS TO HUMANS**

International Agency for Research on Cancer



World Health Organization

IARC MONOGRAPHS

PENTACHLOROPHENOL AND SOME RELATED COMPOUNDS

VOLUME 117

This publication represents the views and expert opinions of an IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, which met in Lyon, 4–11 October 2016

LYON, FRANCE - 2019

IARC MONOGRAPHS ON THE EVALUATION OF CARCINOGENIC RISKS TO HUMANS

International Agency for Research on Cancer



IARC MONOGRAPHS

In 1969, the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) initiated a programme on the evaluation of the carcinogenic risk of chemicals to humans involving the production of critically evaluated monographs on individual chemicals. The programme was subsequently expanded to include evaluations of carcinogenic risks associated with exposures to complex mixtures, lifestyle factors and biological and physical agents, as well as those in specific occupations. The objective of the programme is to elaborate and publish in the form of monographs critical reviews of data on carcinogenicity for agents to which humans are known to be exposed and on specific exposure situations; to evaluate these data in terms of human risk with the help of international working groups of experts in carcinogenesis and related fields; and to indicate where additional research efforts are needed. The lists of IARC evaluations are regularly updated and are available on the Internet at http://monographs.iarc.fr/.

This programme has been supported since 1982 by Cooperative Agreement U01 CA33193 with the United States National Cancer Institute, Department of Health and Human Services. Additional support has been provided since 1986 by the European Commission Directorate-General for Employment, Social Affairs, and Inclusion, initially by the Unit of Health, Safety and Hygiene at Work, and since 2014 by the European Union Programme for Employment and Social Innovation "EaSI" (2014–2020) (for further information please consult: http://ec.europa.eu/social/easi). Support has also been provided since 1992 by the United States National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, Department of Health and Human Services. The contents of this volume are solely the responsibility of the Working Group and do not necessarily represent the official views of the United States National Cancer Institute, the United States National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, the United States Department of Health and Human Services, or the European Commission.

Published by the International Agency for Research on Cancer, 150 cours Albert Thomas, 69372 Lyon Cedex 08, France ©International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2019 On-line publication, January 2019

Distributed by WHO Press, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland (tel.: +41 22 791 3264; fax: +41 22 791 4857; email: <u>bookorders@who.int</u>).

Publications of the World Health Organization enjoy copyright protection in accordance with the provisions of Protocol 2 of the Universal Copyright Convention. All rights reserved.

Corrigenda to the IARC Monographs are published online at <u>http://monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Publications/corrigenda.php</u> To report an error, please contact: <u>editimo@iarc.fr</u>



Co-funded by the European Union

The International Agency for Research on Cancer welcomes requests for permission to reproduce or translate its publications, in part or in full. Requests for permission to reproduce or translate IARC publications – whether for sale or for non-commercial distribution – should be addressed to the IARC Communications Group at: <u>publications@iarc.fr</u>.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Secretariat of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city, or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

The IARC Monographs Working Group alone is responsible for the views expressed in this publication.

IARC Library Cataloguing in Publication Data

Pentachlorophenol and Some Related Compounds / IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans (2016: Lyon, France)

(IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans; volume 117)

1. Carcinogens 2. Pesticides – adverse effects 3. Azo Compounds – adverse effects 4. Chlorophenols – adverse effects 5. Aldrin – adverse effects 6. Dieldrin – adverse effects 7. Risk Factors

I. International Agency for Research on Cancer II. Series

ISBN 978-92-832-0184-7 ISSN 1017-1606 (NLM Classification: W1)

CONTENTS

NOTE TO) THE READER	1
LIST OF	PARTICIPANTS	3
PREAMB	LE.	7
A. GE	NERAL PRINCIPLES AND PROCEDURES	7
1.	Background	7
2.	Objective and scope	8
3.	Selection of agents for review	9
4.	Data for the <i>Monographs</i>	. 10
5.	Meeting participants	. 10
6.	Working procedures	. 11
B. SC	IENTIFIC REVIEW AND EVALUATION	. 12
1.	Exposure data	. 13
2.	Studies of cancer in humans	. 14
3.	Studies of cancer in experimental animals	. 18
4.	Mechanistic and other relevant data.	. 21
5.	Summary	. 24
6.	Evaluation and rationale	. 25
References.		
GENERA	L REMARKS	. 31
PENTAC	HLOROPHENOL	. 33
1. Exp	posure Data	. 33
1.1	Identification of the agent	. 33
1.2	Production and use	. 34
1.3	Analytical methods	. 37
1.4	Occurrence and exposure.	. 37
1.5	. Regulations and guidelines	. 51

2.	Cancer in Humans	. 53
	2.1 Cohort studies	. 53
	2.2 Case–control studies	. 59
	2.3 Exposure assessment and biological markers in epidemiological studies	. 65
3.	Cancer in Experimental Animals	. 68
	3.1 Mouse.	. 68
	3.2 Rat	. 76
4.	Mechanistic and Other Relevant Data	. 77
	4.1 Absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion	. 77
	4.2 Mechanisms of carcinogenesis.	. 83
	4.3 Data relevant to comparisons across agents and end-points	103
	4.4 Susceptibility	118
	4.5 Other adverse effects	118
5.	Summary of Data Reported	119
	5.1 Exposure data.	119
	5.2 Human carcinogenicity data	119
	5.3 Animal carcinogenicity data	121
	5.4 Mechanistic and other relevant data.	121
6.	Evaluation	123
	6.1 Cancer in humans	123
	6.2 Cancer in experimental animals	123
	6.3 Overall evaluation	123
	6.4 Rationale	123
Re	ferences	124
2,4,6-	FRICHLOROPHENOL	141
1.	Exposure Data	141
	1.1 Identification of the agent	141
	1.2 Production and use	142
	1.3 Analytical methods	142
	1.4 Occurrence and exposure	143
-	1.5 Regulations and guidelines	147
2.	Cancer in Humans	147
	2.1 Cohort studies	147
	2.2 Case-control studies	150
2	2.3 Exposure assessment in epidemiological studies.	151
3.	Cancer in Experimental Animals	152
	3.1 Mouse	152
А	3.2 Kal	155
4.	Mechanistic and Other Relevant Data	155
	4.1 Absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion	133
	4.2 Mechanisms of carcinogenesis.	158
	4.3 Data relevant to comparisons across agents and end-points	161
	4.4 Cancer susceptibility data	162
	4.5 Other adverse effects	162

5.	Summary of Data Reported	162
	5.1 Exposure data	
	5.2 Human carcinogenicity data	
	5.3 Animal carcinogenicity data	
	5.4 Mechanistic and other relevant data	
6.	Evaluation	. 163
	6.1 Cancer in humans	163
	6.2 Cancer in experimental animals	163
	6.3 Overall evaluation	163
Re	oferences	164
100		. 101
3,3′,4,	4'-TETRACHLOROAZOBENZENE	169
1.	Exposure Data	169
	1.1 Identification of the agent	169
	1.2 Production and use	
	1.3 Methods of analysis	170
	1.4 Occurrence and exposure	170
	1.5. Regulations and guidelines	171
2	Cancer in Humans	171
2.	Cancer in Experimental Animals	171
5.	3.1 Mouse	171
	3.7 Produce	175
1	S.2 Rat	176
4.	4.1 Absorption distribution metabolism and exercise	176
	4.1 Absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion	1/0
	4.2 Mechanisms of carcinogenesis.	180
	4.3 Data relevant to comparisons across agents and end-points	185
	4.4 Cancer susceptibility data	185
	4.5 Other adverse effects	185
5.	Summary of Data	
	5.1 Exposure data	186
	5.2 Human carcinogenicity data	186
	5.3 Animal carcinogenicity data	. 186
	5.4 Mechanistic and other relevant data	186
6.	Evaluation.	187
	6.1 Cancer in humans	187
	6.2 Cancer in experimental animals.	187
	6.3 Overall evaluation	188
	6.4 Rationale	
Re	eferences.	. 188
ALDI	RIN AND DIELDRIN	. 193
1.	Exposure Data	193
	1.1 Identification of the agents	. 193
	1.2 Production and use	194
	1.3 Analytical methods	197
	1.4 Occurrence and exposure	197

	1.5. Regulations and guidelines	
2.	Cancer in Humans	
	2.1 Aldrin	
	2.2 Dieldrin	
	2.3 Exposure assessment in epidemiological studies of aldrin and dieldrin	
3.	Cancer in Experimental Animals	
	3.1 Aldrin	
	3.2 Dieldrin	
4.	Mechanistic and Other Relevant Data	
	4.1 Absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion	
	4.2 Mechanisms of carcinogenesis.	
	4.3 Data relevant to comparisons across agents and end-points	
	4.4 Cancer susceptibility	
	4.5 Other adverse effects	
5.	Summary of Data Reported	
	5.1 Exposure data.	
	5.2 Human carcinogenicity data	
	5.3 Animal carcinogenicity data	
	5.4 Mechanistic and other relevant data	
6.	Evaluation	
	6.1 Cancer in humans	
	6.2 Cancer in experimental animals.	
	6.3 Overall evaluation	
	6.4 Rationale	
Re	eferences	306
LIST	OF ABBREVIATIONS	

NOTE TO THE READER

The term 'carcinogenic risk' in the *IARC Monographs* series is taken to mean that an agent is capable of causing cancer. The *Monographs* evaluate cancer hazards, despite the historical presence of the word 'risks' in the title.

Inclusion of an agent in the *Monographs* does not imply that it is a carcinogen, only that the published data have been examined. Equally, the fact that an agent has not yet been evaluated in a *Monograph* does not mean that it is not carcinogenic. Similarly, identification of cancer sites with *sufficient evidence* or *limited evidence* in humans should not be viewed as precluding the possibility that an agent may cause cancer at other sites.

The evaluations of carcinogenic risk are made by international working groups of independent scientists and are qualitative in nature. No recommendation is given for regulation or legislation.

Anyone who is aware of published data that may alter the evaluation of the carcinogenic risk of an agent to humans is encouraged to make this information available to the Section of IARC Monographs, International Agency for Research on Cancer, 150 cours Albert Thomas, 69372 Lyon Cedex 08, France, in order that the agent may be considered for re-evaluation by a future Working Group.

Although every effort is made to prepare the *Monographs* as accurately as possible, mistakes may occur. Readers are requested to communicate any errors to the Section of IARC Monographs, so that corrections can be reported in future volumes.

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

Members¹

Scott M. Bartell (Subgroup Chair, Exposure							е		
Data)								
		6.04			10				

Department of Statistics and Department of Epidemiology University of California Irvine, CA USA

Frédéric Y. Bois

National Institute for Industrial Safety and Environmental Protection (INERIS) Verneuil-en-Halatte France

Gloria M. Calaf

Instituto de Alta Investigación Tarapaca University Arica Chile

Weihsueh A. Chiu (Overall Chair)

Department of Veterinary Integrative Biosciences College of Veterinary Medicine Texas A&M University College Station, TX USA

¹Working Group Members and Invited Specialists serve in their individual capacities as scientists and not as representatives of their government or any organization with which they are affiliated. Affiliations are provided for identification purposes only. Invited Specialists do not serve as Meeting Chair or Subgroup Chair, draft text that pertains to the description or interpretation of cancer data, or participate in the evaluations. Each participant was asked to disclose pertinent research, employment, and financial interests. Current financial interests and research and employment interests during the past 4 years or anticipated in the future are identified here. Minor pertinent interests are not listed and include stock valued at no more than US\$ 1000 overall, grants that provide no more than 5% of the research budget of the expert's organization and that do not support the expert's research or position, and consulting or speaking on matters not before a court or government agency that does not exceed 2% of total professional time or compensation. All grants that support the expert's research or position and all consulting or speaking on behalf of an interested party on matters before a court or government agency are listed as significant pertinent interests.

Lisa Connolly [unable to attend]

The Institute for Global Food Security Queen's University Belfast Belfast, Northern Ireland United Kingdom

Paul A. Demers (Subgroup Chair, Cancer in Humans)

Occupational Cancer Research Centre Cancer Care Ontario Toronto, Ontario Canada

Michael J. DeVito

National Toxicology Program National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences Research Triangle Park, NC USA

Warren G. Foster²

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology Michael G. DeGroote School of Medicine and McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario Canada

Melissa Friesen

Occupational and Environmental Epidemiology Branch Division of Cancer Epidemiology and Genetics National Cancer Institute North Bethesda, MD USA

Lin Fritschi

School of Public Health Curtin University Perth, Western Australia Australia

Catherine Gibbons

Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS) National Center for Environmental Assessment United States Environmental Protection Agency Washington, DC USA

Michelle J. Hooth

Program Operations Branch Division of the National Toxicology Program National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences Research Triangle Park, NC USA

David J. McLean

Centre for Public Health Research Massey University Wellington New Zealand

Akiyoshi Nishikawa

Biological Safety Research Center National Institute of Health Sciences Tokyo Japan

² After the conclusion of the meeting, Warren G. Foster declared being paid US\$ 4000 by Exponent with support from the American Chemistry Council as co-author of a critical commentary on endocrine-disrupting chemicals.

Matthew K. Ross (Subgroup Chair, Mechanistic and Other Relevant Data)

College of Veterinary Medicine Mississippi State University Mississippi State, MS USA

Consolato Maria Sergi (Subgroup Chair, Cancer in Experimental Animals)

Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathology University of Alberta Stollery Children's Hospital Edmonton, Alberta Canada

Takashi Umemura

Section of Chemical Carcinogenesis Division of Pathology National Institute of Health Sciences Tokyo Japan

James H. Yiin

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health Cincinnati, OH USA

Invited Specialists

None

Representative

Hamadi Dekhil

National Agency of Sanitary and Environmental Control of Products Tunis Tunisia

Observer³

Valentin Thomas

Paris Dauphine University Paris France

³ Each Observer agreed to respect the Guidelines for Observers at *IARC Monographs* meetings. Observers did not serve as Meeting Chair or Subgroup Chair, draft any part of a *Monograph*, or participate in the evaluations. They also agreed not to contact participants before the meeting, not to lobby them at any time, not to send them written materials, and not to offer them meals or other favours. IARC asked and reminded Working Group Members to report any contact or attempt to influence that they may have encountered, either before or during the meeting.

IARC/WHO Secretariat

Lamia Benbrahim-Tallaa (Rapporteur, *Mechanistic and Other Relevant Data*) Véronique Bouvard (Rapporteur, Exposure Data) Rafael Carel (Visiting Scientist, Ben Gurion University, Israel) Davide Egli Esposti (Section of Mechanisms of Carcinogenesis) Nilmara de Oliveira Alves Brito (Visiting Scientist, University of São Paulo, Brazil) Fatiha El Ghissassi (*Rapporteur*, *Mechanistic* and Other Relevant Data) Yann Grosse (Rapporteur, Cancer in *Experimental Animals*) Neela Guha (Rapporteur, Cancer in Humans) Kathryn Guyton (Responsible Officer; *Rapporteur, Mechanistic and Other Relevant Data*) Dana Loomis (Rapporteur, Cancer in Humans) Heidi Mattock (Scientific Editor) Andrew Shapiro (Visiting Scientist, National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, USA) Kurt Straif (Head of Programme)

Administrative Assistance

Natacha Blavoyer Marieke Dusenberg Sandrine Egraz Michel Javin Helene Lorenzen-Augros

Production Team

Elisabeth Elbers Fiona Gould Solène Quennehen

Post-Meeting Assistance

Karen Müller (Scientific Editor)

Post-Meeting Scientific Assistance

Mary Schubauer-Berigan

PREAMBLE

The Preamble to the *IARC Monographs* describes the objective and scope of the programme, the scientific principles and procedures used in developing a Monograph, the types of evidence considered and the scientific criteria that guide the evaluations. The Preamble should be consulted when reading a Monograph or list of evaluations.

A. GENERAL PRINCIPLES AND PROCEDURES

1. Background

Soon after IARC was established in 1965, it received frequent requests for advice on the carcinogenic risk of chemicals, including requests for lists of known and suspected human carcinogens. It was clear that it would not be a simple task to summarize adequately the complexity of the information that was available, and IARC began to consider means of obtaining international expert opinion on this topic. In 1970, the IARC Advisory Committee on Environmental Carcinogenesis recommended '... that a compendium on carcinogenic chemicals be prepared by experts. The biological activity and evaluation of practical importance to public health should be referenced and documented.' The IARC Governing Council adopted a resolution concerning the role of IARC in providing government authorities with expert, independent, scientific opinion on environmental carcinogenesis. As one means to that end, the Governing Council recommended that IARC should prepare monographs on the evaluation

of carcinogenic risk of chemicals to man, which became the initial title of the series.

In the succeeding years, the scope of the programme broadened as *Monographs* were developed for groups of related chemicals, complex mixtures, occupational exposures, physical and biological agents and lifestyle factors. In 1988, the phrase 'of chemicals' was dropped from the title, which assumed its present form, *IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans*.

Through the *Monographs* programme, IARC seeks to identify the causes of human cancer. This is the first step in cancer prevention, which is needed as much today as when IARC was established. The global burden of cancer is high and continues to increase: the annual number of new cases was estimated at 10.1 million in 2000 and is expected to reach 15 million by 2020 (Stewart & Kleihues, 2003). With current trends in demographics and exposure, the cancer burden has been shifting from high-resource countries to low- and medium-resource countries. As a result of Monographs evaluations, national health agencies have been able, on scientific grounds, to take measures to reduce human exposure to carcinogens in the workplace and in the environment.

The criteria established in 1971 to evaluate carcinogenic risks to humans were adopted by the Working Groups whose deliberations resulted in the first 16 volumes of the *Monographs* series. Those criteria were subsequently updated by further ad hoc Advisory Groups (IARC, 1977, 1978, 1979, 1982, 1983, 1987, 1988, 1991; Vainio et al., 1992; IARC, 2005, 2006).

The Preamble is primarily a statement of scientific principles, rather than a specification of working procedures. The procedures through which a Working Group implements these principles are not specified in detail. They usually involve operations that have been established as being effective during previous *Monograph* meetings but remain, predominantly, the prerogative of each individual Working Group.

2. Objective and scope

The objective of the programme is to prepare, with the help of international Working Groups of experts, and to publish in the form of *Monographs*, critical reviews and evaluations of evidence on the carcinogenicity of a wide range of human exposures. The *Monographs* represent the first step in carcinogen risk assessment, which involves examination of all relevant information to assess the strength of the available evidence that an agent could alter the age-specific incidence of cancer in humans. The *Monographs* may also indicate where additional research efforts are needed, specifically when data immediately relevant to an evaluation are not available.

In this Preamble, the term 'agent' refers to any entity or circumstance that is subject to evaluation in a *Monograph*. As the scope of the programme has broadened, categories of agents now include specific chemicals, groups of related chemicals, complex mixtures, occupational or environmental exposures, cultural or behavioural practices, biological organisms and physical agents. This list of categories may expand as causation of, and susceptibility to, malignant disease become more fully understood.

A cancer 'hazard' is an agent that is capable of causing cancer under some circumstances, while a cancer 'risk' is an estimate of the carcinogenic effects expected from exposure to a cancer hazard. The *Monographs* are an exercise in evaluating cancer hazards, despite the historical presence of the word 'risks' in the title. The distinction between hazard and risk is important, and the *Monographs* identify cancer hazards even when risks are very low at current exposure levels, because new uses or unforeseen exposures could engender risks that are significantly higher.

In the *Monographs*, an agent is termed 'carcinogenic' if it is capable of increasing the incidence of malignant neoplasms, reducing their latency, or increasing their severity or multiplicity. The induction of benign neoplasms may in some circumstances (see Part B, Section 3a) contribute to the judgement that the agent is carcinogenic. The terms 'neoplasm' and 'tumour' are used interchangeably.

The Preamble continues the previous usage of the phrase 'strength of evidence' as a matter of historical continuity, although it should be understood that *Monographs* evaluations consider studies that support a finding of a cancer hazard as well as studies that do not.

Some epidemiological and experimental studies indicate that different agents may act at different stages in the carcinogenic process, and several different mechanisms may be involved. The aim of the *Monographs* has been, from their inception, to evaluate evidence of carcinogenicity at any stage in the carcinogenesis process, independently of the underlying mechanisms. Information on mechanisms may, however, be used in making the overall evaluation (IARC, 1991; Vainio et al., 1992; IARC, 2005, 2006; see also Part B, Sections 4 and 6). As mechanisms of carcinogenesis are elucidated, IARC convenes international scientific conferences to determine whether a broad-based consensus has emerged

on how specific mechanistic data can be used in an evaluation of human carcinogenicity. The results of such conferences are reported in IARC Scientific Publications, which, as long as they still reflect the current state of scientific knowledge, may guide subsequent Working Groups.

Although the *Monographs* have emphasized hazard identification, important issues may also involve dose-response assessment. In many cases, the same epidemiological and experimental studies used to evaluate a cancer hazard can also be used to estimate a dose-response relationship. A *Monograph* may undertake to estimate dose-response relationships within the range of the available epidemiological data, or it may compare the dose-response information from experimental and epidemiological studies. In some cases, a subsequent publication may be prepared by a separate Working Group with expertise in quantitative dose-response assessment.

The *Monographs* are used by national and international authorities to make risk assessments, formulate decisions concerning preventive measures, provide effective cancer control programmes and decide among alternative options for public health decisions. The evaluations of IARC Working Groups are scientific, qualitative judgements on the evidence for or against carcinogenicity provided by the available data. These evaluations represent only one part of the body of information on which public health decisions may be based. Public health options vary from one situation to another and from country to country and relate to many factors, including different socioeconomic and national priorities. Therefore, no recommendation is given with regard to regulation or legislation, which are the responsibility of individual governments or other international organizations.

3. Selection of agents for review

Agents are selected for review on the basis of two main criteria: (a) there is evidence of human exposure and (b) there is some evidence or suspicion of carcinogenicity. Mixed exposures may occur in occupational and environmental settings and as a result of individual and cultural habits (such as tobacco smoking and dietary practices). Chemical analogues and compounds with biological or physical characteristics similar to those of suspected carcinogens may also be considered, even in the absence of data on a possible carcinogenic effect in humans or experimental animals.

The scientific literature is surveyed for published data relevant to an assessment of carcinogenicity. Ad hoc Advisory Groups convened by IARC in 1984, 1989, 1991, 1993, 1998 and 2003 made recommendations as to which agents should be evaluated in the *Monographs* series. Recent recommendations are available on the *Monographs* programme web site (http:// monographs.iarc.fr). IARC may schedule other agents for review as it becomes aware of new scientific information or as national health agencies identify an urgent public health need related to cancer.

As significant new data become available on an agent for which a *Monograph* exists, a re-evaluation may be made at a subsequent meeting, and a new *Monograph* published. In some cases it may be appropriate to review only the data published since a prior evaluation. This can be useful for updating a database, reviewing new data to resolve a previously open question or identifying new tumour sites associated with a carcinogenic agent. Major changes in an evaluation (e.g. a new classification in Group 1 or a determination that a mechanism does not operate in humans, see Part B, Section 6) are more appropriately addressed by a full review.

4. Data for the Monographs

Each *Monograph* reviews all pertinent epidemiological studies and cancer bioassays in experimental animals. Those judged inadequate or irrelevant to the evaluation may be cited but not summarized. If a group of similar studies is not reviewed, the reasons are indicated.

Mechanistic and other relevant data are also reviewed. A *Monograph* does not necessarily cite all the mechanistic literature concerning the agent being evaluated (see Part B, Section 4). Only those data considered by the Working Group to be relevant to making the evaluation are included.

With regard to epidemiological studies, cancer bioassays, and mechanistic and other relevant data, only reports that have been published or accepted for publication in the openly available scientific literature are reviewed. The same publication requirement applies to studies originating from IARC, including meta-analyses or pooled analyses commissioned by IARC in advance of a meeting (see Part B, Section 2c). Data from government agency reports that are publicly available are also considered. Exceptionally, doctoral theses and other material that are in their final form and publicly available may be reviewed.

Exposure data and other information on an agent under consideration are also reviewed. In the sections on chemical and physical properties, on analysis, on production and use and on occurrence, published and unpublished sources of information may be considered.

Inclusion of a study does not imply acceptance of the adequacy of the study design or of the analysis and interpretation of the results, and limitations are clearly outlined in square brackets at the end of each study description (see Part B). The reasons for not giving further consideration to an individual study also are indicated in the square brackets.

5. Meeting participants

Five categories of participant can be present at *Monograph* meetings.

(a) The Working Group

The Working Group is responsible for the critical reviews and evaluations that are developed during the meeting. The tasks of Working Group Members are: (i) to ascertain that all appropriate data have been collected; (ii) to select the data relevant for the evaluation on the basis of scientific merit; (iii) to prepare accurate summaries of the data to enable the reader to follow the reasoning of the Working Group; (iv) to evaluate the results of epidemiological and experimental studies on cancer; (v) to evaluate data relevant to the understanding of mechanisms of carcinogenesis; and (vi) to make an overall evaluation of the carcinogenicity of the exposure to humans. Working Group Members generally have published significant research related to the carcinogenicity of the agents being reviewed, and IARC uses literature searches to identify most experts. Working Group Members are selected on the basis of (a) knowledge and experience and (b) absence of real or apparent conflicts of interests. Consideration is also given to demographic diversity and balance of scientific findings and views.

(b) Invited Specialists

Invited Specialists are experts who also have critical knowledge and experience but have a real or apparent conflict of interests. These experts are invited when necessary to assist in the Working Group by contributing their unique knowledge and experience during subgroup and plenary discussions. They may also contribute text on non-influential issues in the section on exposure, such as a general description of data on production and use (see Part B, Section 1). Invited Specialists do not serve as meeting chair or subgroup chair, draft text that pertains to the description or interpretation of cancer data, or participate in the evaluations.

(c) Representatives of national and international health agencies

Representatives of national and international health agencies often attend meetings because their agencies sponsor the programme or are interested in the subject of a meeting. Representatives do not serve as meeting chair or subgroup chair, draft any part of a *Monograph*, or participate in the evaluations.

(d) Observers with relevant scientific credentials

Observers with relevant scientific credentials may be admitted to a meeting by IARC in limited numbers. Attention will be given to achieving a balance of Observers from constituencies with differing perspectives. They are invited to observe the meeting and should not attempt to influence it. Observers do not serve as meeting chair or subgroup chair, draft any part of a *Monograph*, or participate in the evaluations. At the meeting, the meeting chair and subgroup chairs may grant Observers an opportunity to speak, generally after they have observed a discussion. Observers agree to respect the Guidelines for Observers at *IARC Monographs* meetings (available at <u>http://</u> monographs.iarc.fr).

(e) The IARC Secretariat

The IARC Secretariat consists of scientists who are designated by IARC and who have relevant expertise. They serve as rapporteurs and participate in all discussions. When requested by the meeting chair or subgroup chair, they may also draft text or prepare tables and analyses.

Before an invitation is extended, each potential participant, including the IARC Secretariat, completes the WHO Declaration of Interests to report financial interests, employment and consulting, and individual and institutional research support related to the subject of the meeting. IARC assesses these interests to determine whether there is a conflict that warrants somelimitation on participation. The declarations are updated and reviewed again at the opening of the meeting. Interests related to the subject of the meeting are disclosed to the meeting participants and in the published volume (Cogliano et al., 2004).

The names and principal affiliations of participants are available on the *Monographs* programme web site (http://monographs.iarc.fr) approximately two months before each meeting. It is not acceptable for Observers or third parties to contact other participants before a meeting or to lobby them at any time. Meeting participants are asked to report all such contacts to IARC (Cogliano et al., 2005).

All participants are listed, with their principal affiliations, at the beginning of each volume. Each participant who is a Member of a Working Group serves as an individual scientist and not as a representative of any organization, government or industry.

6. Working procedures

A separate Working Group is responsible for developing each volume of *Monographs*. A volume contains one or more *Monographs*, which can cover either a single agent or several related agents. Approximately one year in advance of the meeting of a Working Group, the agents to be reviewed are announced on the *Monographs* programme web site (http://monographs.iarc.fr) and participants are selected by IARC staff in consultation with other experts. Subsequently, relevant biological and epidemiological data are collected by IARC from recognized sources of information on carcinogenesis, including data storage and retrieval systems such as PubMed. Meeting participants who are asked to prepare preliminary working papers for specific sections are expected to supplement the IARC literature searches with their own searches.

Industrial associations. labour unions and other knowledgeable organizations may be asked to provide input to the sections on production and use, although this involvement is not required as a general rule. Information on production and trade is obtained from governmental, trade and market research publications and, in some cases, by direct contact with industries. Separate production data on some agents may not be available for a variety of reasons (e.g. not collected or made public in all producing countries, production is small). Information on uses may be obtained from published sources but is often complemented by direct contact with manufacturers. Efforts are made to supplement this information with data from other national and international sources.

Six months before the meeting, the material obtained is sent to meeting participants to prepare preliminary working papers. The working papers are compiled by IARC staff and sent, before the meeting, to Working Group Members and Invited Specialists for review.

The Working Group meets at IARC for seven to eight days to discuss and finalize the texts and to formulate the evaluations. The objectives of the meeting are peer review and consensus. During the first few days, four subgroups (covering exposure data, cancer in humans, cancer in experimental animals, and mechanistic and other relevant data) review the working papers, develop a joint subgroup draft and write summaries. Care is taken to ensure that each study summary is written or reviewed by someone not associated with the study being considered. During the last few days, the Working Group meets in plenary session to review the subgroup drafts and develop the evaluations. As a result, the entire volume is the joint product of the Working Group, and there are no individually authored sections.

IARC Working Groups strive to achieve a consensus evaluation. Consensus reflects broad agreement among Working Group Members, but not necessarily unanimity. The chair may elect to poll Working Group Members to determine the diversity of scientific opinion on issues where consensus is not readily apparent.

After the meeting, the master copy is verified by consulting the original literature, edited and prepared for publication. The aim is to publish the volume within six months of the Working Group meeting. A summary of the outcome is available on the *Monographs* programme web site soon after the meeting.

B. SCIENTIFIC REVIEW AND EVALUATION

The available studies are summarized by the Working Group, with particular regard to the qualitative aspects discussed below. In general, numerical findings are indicated as they appear in the original report; units are converted when necessary for easier comparison. The Working Group may conduct additional analyses of the published data and use them in their assessment of the evidence; the results of such supplementary analyses are given in square brackets. When an important aspect of a study that directly impinges on its interpretation should be brought to the attention of the reader, a Working Group comment is given in square brackets.

The scope of the *IARC Monographs* programme has expanded beyond chemicals to include complex mixtures, occupational exposures, physical and biological agents, lifestyle factors and other potentially carcinogenic exposures. Over time, the structure of a *Monograph* has evolved to include the following sections:

Exposure data Studies of cancer in humans Studies of cancer in experimental animals Mechanistic and other relevant data Summary

Evaluation and rationale

In addition, a section of General Remarks at the front of the volume discusses the reasons the agents were scheduled for evaluation and some key issues the Working Group encountered during the meeting.

This part of the Preamble discusses the types of evidence considered and summarized in each section of a *Monograph*, followed by the scientific criteria that guide the evaluations.

1. Exposure data

Each *Monograph* includes general information on the agent: this information may vary substantially between agents and must be adapted accordingly. Also included is information on production and use (when appropriate), methods of analysis and detection, occurrence, and sources and routes of human occupational and environmental exposures. Depending on the agent, regulations and guidelines for use may be presented.

(a) General information on the agent

For chemical agents, sections on chemical and physical data are included: the Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number, the latest primary name and the IUPAC systematic name are recorded; other synonyms are given, but the list is not necessarily comprehensive. Information on chemical and physical properties that are relevant to identification, occurrence and biological activity is included. A description of technical products of chemicals includes trade names, relevant specifications and available information on composition and impurities. Some of the trade names given may be those of mixtures in which the agent being evaluated is only one of the ingredients.

For biological agents, taxonomy, structure and biology are described, and the degree of variability is indicated. Mode of replication, life cycle, target cells, persistence, latency, host response and clinical disease other than cancer are also presented.

For physical agents that are forms of radiation, energy and range of the radiation are included. For foreign bodies, fibres and respirable particles, size range and relative dimensions are indicated.

For agents such as mixtures, drugs or lifestyle factors, a description of the agent, including its composition, is given.

Whenever appropriate, other information, such as historical perspectives or the description of an industry or habit, may be included.

(b) Analysis and detection

An overview of methods of analysis and detection of the agent is presented, including their sensitivity, specificity and reproducibility. Methods widely used for regulatory purposes are emphasized. Methods for monitoring human exposure are also given. No critical evaluation or recommendation of any method is meant or implied.

(c) Production and use

The dates of first synthesis and of first commercial production of a chemical, mixture or other agent are provided when available; for agents that do not occur naturally, this information may allow a reasonable estimate to be made of the date before which no human exposure to the agent could have occurred. The dates of first reported occurrence of an exposure are also provided when available. In addition, methods of synthesis used in past and present commercial production and different methods of production, which may give rise to different impurities, are described.

The countries where companies report production of the agent, and the number of companies in each country, are identified. Available data on production, international trade and uses are obtained for representative regions. It should not, however, be inferred that those areas or nations are necessarily the sole or major sources or users of the agent. Some identified uses may not be current or major applications, and the coverage is not necessarily comprehensive. In the case of drugs, mention of their therapeutic uses does not necessarily represent current practice nor does it imply judgement as to their therapeutic efficacy.

(d) Occurrence and exposure

Information on the occurrence of an agent in the environment is obtained from data derived from the monitoring and surveillance of levels in occupational environments, air, water, soil, plants, foods and animal and human tissues. When available, data on the generation, persistence and bioaccumulation of the agent are also included. Such data may be available from national databases.

Data that indicate the extent of past and present human exposure, the sources of exposure, the people most likely to be exposed and the factors that contribute to the exposure are reported. Information is presented on the range of human exposure, including occupational and environmental exposures. This includes relevant findings from both developed and developing countries. Some of these data are not distributed widely and may be available from government reports and other sources. In the case of mixtures, industries, occupations or processes, information is given about all agents known to be present. For processes, industries and occupations, a historical description is also given, noting variations in chemical composition, physical properties and levels of occupational exposure

with date and place. For biological agents, the epidemiology of infection is described.

(e) Regulations and guidelines

Statements concerning regulations and guidelines (e.g. occupational exposure limits, maximal levels permitted in foods and water, pesticide registrations) are included, but they may not reflect the most recent situation, since such limits are continuously reviewed and modified. The absence of information on regulatory status for a country should not be taken to imply that that country does not have regulations with regard to the exposure. For biological agents, legislation and control, including vaccination and therapy, are described.

2. Studies of cancer in humans

This section includes all pertinent epidemiological studies (see Part A, Section 4). Studies of biomarkers are included when they are relevant to an evaluation of carcinogenicity to humans.

(a) Types of study considered

Several types of epidemiological study contribute to the assessment of carcinogenicity in humans — cohort studies, case-control studies, correlation (or ecological) studies and intervention studies. Rarely, results from randomized trials may be available. Case reports and case series of cancer in humans may also be reviewed.

Cohort and case–control studies relate individual exposures under study to the occurrence of cancer in individuals and provide an estimate of effect (such as relative risk) as the main measure of association. Intervention studies may provide strong evidence for making causal inferences, as exemplified by cessation of smoking and the subsequent decrease in risk for lung cancer.

In correlation studies, the units of investigation are usually whole populations (e.g. in particular geographical areas or at particular times), and cancer frequency is related to a summary measure of the exposure of the population to the agent under study. In correlation studies, individual exposure is not documented, which renders this kind of study more prone to confounding. In some circumstances, however, correlation studies may be more informative than analytical study designs (see, for example, the *Monograph* on arsenic in drinking-water; IARC, 2004).

In some instances, case reports and case series have provided important information about the carcinogenicity of an agent. These types of study generally arise from a suspicion, based on clinical experience, that the concurrence of two events that is, a particular exposure and occurrence of a cancer — has happened rather more frequently than would be expected by chance. Case reports and case series usually lack complete ascertainment of cases in any population, definition or enumeration of the population at risk and estimation of the expected number of cases in the absence of exposure.

The uncertainties that surround the interpretation of case reports, case series and correlation studies make them inadequate, except in rare instances, to form the sole basis for inferring a causal relationship. When taken together with case-control and cohort studies, however, these types of study may add materially to the judgement that a causal relationship exists.

Epidemiological studies of benign neoplasms, presumed preneoplastic lesions and other end-points thought to be relevant to cancer are also reviewed. They may, in some instances, strengthen inferences drawn from studies of cancer itself.

(b) Quality of studies considered

It is necessary to take into account the possible roles of bias, confounding and chance in the interpretation of epidemiological studies. Bias is the effect of factors in study design or execution that lead erroneously to a stronger or weaker association than in fact exists between an agent and disease. Confounding is a form of bias that occurs when the relationship with disease is made to appear stronger or weaker than it truly is as a result of an association between the apparent causal factor and another factor that is associated with either an increase or decrease in the incidence of the disease. The role of chance is related to biological variability and the influence of sample size on the precision of estimates of effect.

In evaluating the extent to which these factors have been minimized in an individual study, consideration is given to several aspects of design and analysis as described in the report of the study. For example, when suspicion of carcinogenicity arises largely from a single small study, careful consideration is given when interpreting subsequent studies that included these data in an enlarged population. Most of these considerations apply equally to case-control, cohort and correlation studies. Lack of clarity of any of these aspects in the reporting of a study can decrease its credibility and the weight given to it in the final evaluation of the exposure.

First, the study population, disease (or diseases) and exposure should have been well defined by the authors. Cases of disease in the study population should have been identified in a way that was independent of the exposure of interest, and exposure should have been assessed in a way that was not related to disease status.

Second, the authors should have taken into account — in the study design and analysis other variables that can influence the risk of disease and may have been related to the exposure of interest. Potential confounding by such variables should have been dealt with either in the design of the study, such as by matching, or in the analysis, by statistical adjustment. In cohort studies, comparisons with local rates of disease may or may not be more appropriate than those with national rates. Internal comparisons of frequency of disease among individuals at different levels of exposure are also desirable in cohort studies, since they minimize the potential for confounding related to the difference in risk factors between an external reference group and the study population.

Third, the authors should have reported the basic data on which the conclusions are founded, even if sophisticated statistical analyses were employed. At the very least, they should have given the numbers of exposed and unexposed cases and controls in a case–control study and the numbers of cases observed and expected in a cohort study. Further tabulations by time since exposure began and other temporal factors are also important. In a cohort study, data on all cancer sites and all causes of death should have been given, to reveal the possibility of reporting bias. In a case–control study, the effects of investigated factors other than the exposure of interest should have been reported.

Finally, the statistical methods used to obtain estimates of relative risk, absolute rates of cancer, confidence intervals and significance tests, and to adjust for confounding should have been clearly stated by the authors. These methods have been reviewed for case–control studies (<u>Breslow &</u> <u>Day, 1980</u>) and for cohort studies (<u>Breslow &</u> <u>Day, 1987</u>).

(c) Meta-analyses and pooled analyses

Independent epidemiological studies of the same agent may lead to results that are difficult to interpret. Combined analyses of data from multiple studies are a means of resolving this ambiguity, and well conducted analyses can be considered. There are two types of combined analysis. The first involves combining summary statistics such as relative risks from individual studies (meta-analysis) and the second involves a pooled analysis of the raw data from the individual studies (pooled analysis) (<u>Greenland,</u> 1998).

The advantages of combined analyses are increased precision due to increased sample size and the opportunity to explore potential confounders, interactions and modifying effects that may explain heterogeneity among studies in more detail. A disadvantage of combined analyses is the possible lack of compatibility of data from various studies due to differences in subject recruitment, procedures of data collection, methods of measurement and effects of unmeasured co-variates that may differ among studies. Despite these limitations, well conducted combined analyses may provide a firmer basis than individual studies for drawing conclusions about the potential carcinogenicity of agents.

IARC may commission a meta-analysis or pooled analysis that is pertinent to a particular Monograph (see Part A, Section 4). Additionally, as a means of gaining insight from the results of multiple individual studies, ad hoc calculations that combine data from different studies may be conducted by the Working Group during the course of a Monograph meeting. The results of such original calculations, which would be specified in the text by presentation in square brackets, might involve updates of previously conducted analyses that incorporate the results of more recent studies or de-novo analyses. Irrespective of the source of data for the meta-analyses and pooled analyses, it is important that the same criteria for data quality be applied as those that would be applied to individual studies and to ensure also that sources of heterogeneity between studies be taken into account.

(d) Temporal effects

Detailed analyses of both relative and absolute risks in relation to temporal variables, such as age at first exposure, time since first exposure, duration of exposure, cumulative exposure, peak exposure (when appropriate) and time since cessation of exposure, are reviewed and summarized when available. Analyses of temporal relationships may be useful in making causal inferences. In addition, such analyses may suggest whether a carcinogen acts early or late in the process of carcinogenesis, although, at best, they allow only indirect inferences about mechanisms of carcinogenesis.

(e) Use of biomarkers in epidemiological studies

Biomarkers indicate molecular, cellular or other biological changes and are increasingly used in epidemiological studies for various purposes (IARC, 1991; Vainio et al., 1992; Toniolo et al., 1997; Vineis et al., 1999; Buffler et al., 2004). These may include evidence of exposure, of early effects, of cellular, tissue or organism responses, of individual susceptibility or host responses, and inference of a mechanism (see Part B, Section 4b). This is a rapidly evolving field that encompasses developments in genomics, epigenomics and other emerging technologies.

Molecular epidemiological data that identify associations between genetic polymorphisms and interindividual differences in susceptibility to the agent(s) being evaluated may contribute to the identification of carcinogenic hazards to humans. If the polymorphism has been demonstrated experimentally to modify the functional activity of the gene product in a manner that is consistent with increased susceptibility, these data may be useful in making causal inferences. Similarly, molecular epidemiological studies that measure cell functions, enzymes or metabolites that are thought to be the basis of susceptibility may provide evidence that reinforces biological plausibility. It should be noted, however, that when data on genetic susceptibility originate from multiple comparisons that arise from subgroup analyses, this can generate false-positive results and inconsistencies across studies, and such data therefore require careful evaluation. If the

known phenotype of a genetic polymorphism can explain the carcinogenic mechanism of the agent being evaluated, data on this phenotype may be useful in making causal inferences.

(f) Criteria for causality

After the quality of individual epidemiological studies of cancer has been summarized and assessed, a judgement is made concerning the strength of evidence that the agent in question is carcinogenic to humans. In making its judgement, the Working Group considers several criteria for causality (Hill, 1965). A strong association (e.g. a large relative risk) is more likely to indicate causality than a weak association, although it is recognized that estimates of effect of small magnitude do not imply lack of causality and may be important if the disease or exposure is common. Associations that are replicated in several studies of the same design or that use different epidemiological approaches or under different circumstances of exposure are more likely to represent a causal relationship than isolated observations from single studies. If there are inconsistent results among investigations, possible reasons are sought (such as differences in exposure), and results of studies that are judged to be of high quality are given more weight than those of studies that are judged to be methodologically less sound.

If the risk increases with the exposure, this is considered to be a strong indication of causality, although the absence of a graded response is not necessarily evidence against a causal relationship. The demonstration of a decline in risk after cessation of or reduction in exposure in individuals or in whole populations also supports a causal interpretation of the findings.

Several scenarios may increase confidence in a causal relationship. On the one hand, an agent may be specific in causing tumours at one site or of one morphological type. On the other, carcinogenicity may be evident through the causation of multiple tumour types. Temporality, precision of estimates of effect, biological plausibility and coherence of the overall database are considered. Data on biomarkers may be employed in an assessment of the biological plausibility of epidemiological observations.

Although rarely available, results from randomized trials that show different rates of cancer among exposed and unexposed individuals provide particularly strong evidence for causality.

When several epidemiological studies show little or no indication of an association between an exposure and cancer, a judgement may be made that, in the aggregate, they show evidence of lack of carcinogenicity. Such a judgement requires first that the studies meet, to a sufficient degree, the standards of design and analysis described above. Specifically, the possibility that bias, confounding or misclassification of exposure or outcome could explain the observed results should be considered and excluded with reasonable certainty. In addition, all studies that are judged to be methodologically sound should (a) be consistent with an estimate of effect of unity for any observed level of exposure, (b) when considered together, provide a pooled estimate of relative risk that is at or near to unity, and (c) have a narrow confidence interval, due to sufficient population size. Moreover, no individual study nor the pooled results of all the studies should show any consistent tendency that the relative risk of cancer increases with increasing level of exposure. It is important to note that evidence of lack of carcinogenicity obtained from several epidemiological studies can apply only to the type(s) of cancer studied, to the dose levels reported, and to the intervals between first exposure and disease onset observed in these studies. Experience with human cancer indicates that the period from first exposure to the development of clinical cancer is sometimes longer than 20 years; latent periods substantially shorter than 30 years cannot provide evidence for lack of carcinogenicity.

3. Studies of cancer in experimental animals

All known human carcinogens that have been studied adequately for carcinogenicity in experimental animals have produced positive results in one or more animal species (Wilbourn et al., 1986; Tomatis et al., 1989). For several agents (e.g. aflatoxins, diethylstilbestrol, solar radiation, vinyl chloride), carcinogenicity in experimental animals was established or highly suspected before epidemiological studies confirmed their carcinogenicity in humans (Vainio et al., 1995). Although this association cannot establish that all agents that cause cancer in experimental animals also cause cancer in humans, it is biologically plausible that agents for which there is sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity in experimental animals (see Part B, Section 6b) also present a carcinogenic hazard to humans. Accordingly, in the absence of additional scientific information, these agents are considered to pose a carcinogenic hazard to humans. Examples of additional scientific information are data that demonstrate that a given agent causes cancer in animals through a species-specific mechanism that does not operate in humans or data that demonstrate that the mechanism in experimental animals also operates in humans (see Part B, Section 6).

Consideration is given to all available longterm studies of cancer in experimental animals with the agent under review (see Part A, Section 4). In all experimental settings, the nature and extent of impurities or contaminants present in the agent being evaluated are given when available. Animal species, strain (including genetic background where applicable), sex, numbers per group, age at start of treatment, route of exposure, dose levels, duration of exposure, survival and information on tumours (incidence, latency, severity or multiplicity of neoplasms or preneoplastic lesions) are reported. Those studies in experimental animals that are judged to be irrelevant to the evaluation or judged to be inadequate (e.g. too short a duration, too few animals, poor survival; see below) may be omitted. Guidelines for conducting long-term carcinogenicity experiments have been published (e.g. <u>OECD, 2002</u>).

Other studies considered may include: experiments in which the agent was administered in the presence of factors that modify carcinogenic effects (e.g. initiation-promotion studies, co-carcinogenicity studies and studies in genetically modified animals); studies in which the end-point was not cancer but a defined precancerous lesion; experiments on the carcinogenicity of known metabolites and derivatives; and studies of cancer in non-laboratory animals (e.g. livestock and companion animals) exposed to the agent.

For studies of mixtures, consideration is given to the possibility that changes in the physicochemical properties of the individual substances may occur during collection, storage, extraction, concentration and delivery. Another consideration is that chemical and toxicological interactions of components in a mixture may alter dose–response relationships. The relevance to human exposure of the test mixture administered in the animal experiment is also assessed. This may involve consideration of the following aspects of the mixture tested: (i) physical and chemical characteristics, (ii) identified constituents that may indicate the presence of a class of substances and (iii) the results of genetic toxicity and related tests.

The relevance of results obtained with an agent that is analogous (e.g. similar in structure or of a similar virus genus) to that being evaluated is also considered. Such results may provide biological and mechanistic information that is relevant to the understanding of the process of carcinogenesis in humans and may strengthen the biological plausibility that the agent being evaluated is carcinogenic to humans (see Part B, Section 2f).

(a) Qualitative aspects

An assessment of carcinogenicity involves several considerations of qualitative importance, including (i) the experimental conditions under which the test was performed, including route, schedule and duration of exposure, species, strain (including genetic background where applicable), sex, age and duration of follow-up; (ii) the consistency of the results, for example, across species and target organ(s); (iii) the spectrum of neoplastic response, from preneoplastic lesions and benign tumours to malignant neoplasms; and (iv) the possible role of modifying factors.

Considerations of importance in the interpretation and evaluation of a particular study include: (i) how clearly the agent was defined and, in the case of mixtures, how adequately the sample characterization was reported; (ii) whether the dose was monitored adequately, particularly in inhalation experiments; (iii) whether the doses, duration of treatment and route of exposure were appropriate; (iv) whether the survival of treated animals was similar to that of controls; (v) whether there were adequate numbers of animals per group; (vi) whether both male and female animals were used; (vii) whether animals were allocated randomly to groups; (viii) whether the duration of observation was adequate; and (ix) whether the data were reported and analysed adequately.

When benign tumours (a) occur together with and originate from the same cell type as malignant tumours in an organ or tissue in a particular study and (b) appear to represent a stage in the progression to malignancy, they are usually combined in the assessment of tumour incidence (Huff et al., 1989). The occurrence of lesions presumed to be preneoplastic may in certain instances aid in assessing the biological plausibility of any neoplastic response observed. If an agent induces only benign neoplasms that appear to be end-points that do not readily undergo transition to malignancy, the agent should nevertheless be suspected of being carcinogenic and requires further investigation.

(b) Quantitative aspects

The probability that tumours will occur may depend on the species, sex, strain, genetic background and age of the animal, and on the dose, route, timing and duration of the exposure. Evidence of an increased incidence of neoplasms with increasing levels of exposure strengthens the inference of a causal association between the exposure and the development of neoplasms.

The form of the dose-response relationship canvary widely, depending on the particular agent under study and the target organ. Mechanisms such as induction of DNA damage or inhibition of repair, altered cell division and cell death rates and changes in intercellular communication are important determinants of dose-response relationships for some carcinogens. Since many chemicals require metabolic activation before being converted to their reactive intermediates, both metabolic and toxicokinetic aspects are important in determining the dose-response pattern. Saturation of steps such as absorption, activation, inactivation and elimination may produce nonlinearity in the dose-response relationship (Hoel et al., 1983; Gart et al., 1986), as could saturation of processes such as DNA repair. The dose-response relationship can also be affected by differences in survival among the treatment groups.

(c) Statistical analyses

Factors considered include the adequacy of the information given for each treatment group: (i) number of animals studied and number examined histologically, (ii) number of animals with a given tumour type and (iii) length of survival. The statistical methods used should be clearly stated and should be the generally accepted techniques refined for this purpose (Peto et al., 1980;

20

Gart et al., 1986; Portier & Bailer, 1989; Bieler & Williams, 1993). The choice of the most appropriate statistical method requires consideration of whether or not there are differences in survival among the treatment groups; for example, reduced survival because of non-tumour-related mortality can preclude the occurrence of tumours later in life. When detailed information on survival is not available, comparisons of the proportions of tumour-bearing animals among the effective number of animals (alive at the time the first tumour was discovered) can be useful when significant differences in survival occur before tumours appear. The lethality of the tumour also requires consideration: for rapidly fatal tumours, the time of death provides an indication of the time of tumour onset and can be assessed using life-table methods; non-fatal or incidental tumours that do not affect survival can be assessed using methods such as the Mantel-Haenzel test for changes in tumour prevalence. Because tumour lethality is often difficult to determine, methods such as the Poly-K test that do not require such information can also be used. When results are available on the number and size of tumours seen in experimental animals (e.g. papillomas on mouse skin, liver tumours observed through nuclear magnetic resonance tomography), other more complicated statistical procedures may be needed (Sherman et al., 1994; Dunson et al., 2003).

Formal statistical methods have been developed to incorporate historical control data into the analysis of data from a given experiment. These methods assign an appropriate weight to historical and concurrent controls on the basis of the extent of between-study and within-study variability: less weight is given to historical controls when they show a high degree of variability, and greater weight when they show little variability. It is generally not appropriate to discount a tumour response that is significantly increased compared with concurrent controls by arguing that it falls within the range of historical controls, particularly when historical controls show high betweenstudy variability and are, thus, of little relevance to the current experiment. In analysing results for uncommon tumours, however, the analysis may be improved by considering historical control data, particularly when between-study variability is low. Historical controls should be selected to resemble the concurrent controls as closely as possible with respect to species, gender and strain, as well as other factors such as basal diet and general laboratory environment, which may affect tumour-response rates in control animals (<u>Haseman et al., 1984; Fung et al., 1996;</u> <u>Greim et al., 2003</u>).

Although meta-analyses and combined analyses are conducted less frequently for animal experiments than for epidemiological studies due to differences in animal strains, they can be useful aids in interpreting animal data when the experimental protocols are sufficiently similar.

4. Mechanistic and other relevant data

Mechanistic and other relevant data may provide evidence of carcinogenicity and also help in assessing the relevance and importance of findings of cancer in animals and in humans. The nature of the mechanistic and other relevant data depends on the biological activity of the agent being considered. The Working Group considers representative studies to give a concise description of the relevant data and issues that they consider to be important; thus, not every available study is cited. Relevant topics may include toxicokinetics, mechanisms of carcinogenesis, susceptible individuals, populations and life-stages, other relevant data and other adverse effects. When data on biomarkers are informative about the mechanisms of carcinogenesis, they are included in this section.

These topics are not mutually exclusive; thus, the same studies may be discussed in more than

one subsection. For example, a mutation in a gene that codes for an enzyme that metabolizes the agent under study could be discussed in the subsections on toxicokinetics, mechanisms and individual susceptibility if it also exists as an inherited polymorphism.

(a) Toxicokinetic data

Toxicokinetics refers to the absorption, distribution, metabolism and elimination of agents in humans, experimental animals and, where relevant, cellular systems. Examples of kinetic factors that may affect dose-response relationships include uptake, deposition, biopersistence and half-life in tissues, protein binding, metabolic activation and detoxification. Studies that indicate the metabolic fate of the agent in humans and in experimental animals are summarized briefly, and comparisons of data from humans and animals are made when possible. Comparative information on the relationship between exposure and the dose that reaches the target site may be important for the extrapolation of hazards between species and in clarifying the role of in-vitro findings.

(b) Data on mechanisms of carcinogenesis

To provide focus, the Working Group attempts to identify the possible mechanisms by which the agent may increase the risk of cancer. For each possible mechanism, a representative selection of key data from humans and experimental systems is summarized. Attention is given to gaps in the data and to data that suggests that more than one mechanism may be operating. The relevance of the mechanism to humans is discussed, in particular, when mechanistic data are derived from experimental model systems. Changes in the affected organs, tissues or cells can be divided into three non-exclusive levels as described below.

(i) Changes in physiology

Physiological changes refer to exposure-related modifications to the physiology and/or response of cells, tissues and organs. Examples of potentially adverse physiological changes include mitogenesis, compensatory cell division, escape from apoptosis and/or senescence, presence of inflammation, hyperplasia, metaplasia and/or preneoplasia, angiogenesis, alterations in cellular adhesion, changes in steroidal hormones and changes in immune surveillance.

(ii) Functional changes at the cellular level

Functional changes refer to exposure-related alterations in the signalling pathways used by cells to manage critical processes that are related to increased risk for cancer. Examples of functional changes include modified activities of enzymes involved in the metabolism of xenobiotics, alterations in the expression of key genes that regulate DNA repair, alterations in cyclin-dependent kinases that govern cell cycle progression, changes in the patterns of post-translational modifications of proteins, changes in regulatory factors that alter apoptotic rates, changes in the secretion of factors related to the stimulation of DNA replication and transcription and changes in gap-junction-mediated intercellular communication.

(iii) Changes at the molecular level

Molecular changes refer to exposure-related changes in key cellular structures at the molecular level, including, in particular, genotoxicity. Examples of molecular changes include formation of DNA adducts and DNA strand breaks, mutations in genes, chromosomal aberrations, aneuploidy and changes in DNA methylation patterns. Greater emphasis is given to irreversible effects.

The use of mechanistic data in the identification of a carcinogenic hazard is specific to the mechanism being addressed and is not readily described for every possible level and mechanism discussed above.

Genotoxicity data are discussed here to illustrate the key issues involved in the evaluation of mechanistic data.

Tests for genetic and related effects are described in view of the relevance of gene mutation and chromosomal aberration/aneuploidy to carcinogenesis (Vainio et al., 1992; McGregor et al., 1999). The adequacy of the reporting of sample characterization is considered and, when necessary, commented upon; with regard to complex mixtures, such comments are similar to those described for animal carcinogenicity tests. The available data are interpreted critically according to the end-points detected, which may include DNA damage, gene mutation, sister chromatid exchange, micronucleus formation, chromosomal aberrations and aneuploidy. The concentrations employed are given, and mention is made of whether the use of an exogenous metabolic system in vitro affected the test result. These data are listed in tabular form by phylogenetic classification.

Positive results in tests using prokaryotes, lower eukaryotes, insects, plants and cultured mammalian cells suggest that genetic and related effects could occur in mammals. Results from such tests may also give information on the types of genetic effect produced and on the involvement of metabolic activation. Some end-points described are clearly genetic in nature (e.g. gene mutations), while others are associated with genetic effects (e.g. unscheduled DNA synthesis). In-vitro tests for tumour promotion, cell transformation and gap-junction intercellular communication may be sensitive to changes that are not necessarily the result of genetic alterations but that may have specific relevance to the process of carcinogenesis. Critical appraisals of these tests have been published (Montesano et al., 1986; McGregor et al., 1999).

Genetic or other activity manifest in humans and experimental mammals is regarded to be of

greater relevance than that in other organisms. The demonstration that an agent can induce gene and chromosomal mutations in mammals in vivo indicates that it may have carcinogenic activity. Negative results in tests for mutagenicity in selected tissues from animals treated in vivo provide less weight, partly because they do not exclude the possibility of an effect in tissues other than those examined. Moreover, negative results in short-term tests with genetic end-points cannot be considered to provide evidence that rules out the carcinogenicity of agents that act through other mechanisms (e.g. receptor-mediated effects, cellular toxicity with regenerative cell division, peroxisome proliferation) (Vainio et al., 1992). Factors that may give misleading results in short-term tests have been discussed in detail elsewhere (Montesano et al., 1986; McGregor et al., 1999).

When there is evidence that an agent acts by a specific mechanism that does not involve genotoxicity (e.g. hormonal dysregulation, immune suppression, and formation of calculi and other deposits that cause chronic irritation), that evidence is presented and reviewed critically in the context of rigorous criteria for the operation of that mechanism in carcinogenesis (e.g. <u>Capen</u> <u>et al., 1999</u>).

For biological agents such as viruses, bacteria and parasites, other data relevant to carcinogenicity may include descriptions of the pathology of infection, integration and expression of viruses, and genetic alterations seen in human tumours. Other observations that might comprise cellular and tissue responses to infection, immune response and the presence of tumour markers are also considered.

For physical agents that are forms of radiation, other data relevant to carcinogenicity may include descriptions of damaging effects at the physiological, cellular and molecular level, as for chemical agents, and descriptions of how these effects occur. 'Physical agents' may also be considered to comprise foreign bodies, such as surgical implants of various kinds, and poorly soluble fibres, dusts and particles of various sizes, the pathogenic effects of which are a result of their physical presence in tissues or body cavities. Other relevant data for such materials may include characterization of cellular, tissue and physiological reactions to these materials and descriptions of pathological conditions other than neoplasia with which they may be associated.

(c) Other data relevant to mechanisms

A description is provided of any structure– activity relationships that may be relevant to an evaluation of the carcinogenicity of an agent, the toxicological implications of the physical and chemical properties, and any other data relevant to the evaluation that are not included elsewhere.

High-output data, such as those derived from gene expression microarrays, and highthroughput data, such as those that result from testing hundreds of agents for a single end-point, pose a unique problem for the use of mechanistic data in the evaluation of a carcinogenic hazard. In the case of high-output data, there is the possibility to overinterpret changes in individual end-points (e.g. changes in expression in one gene) without considering the consistency of that finding in the broader context of the other end-points (e.g. other genes with linked transcriptional control). High-output data can be used in assessing mechanisms, but all end-points measured in a single experiment need to be considered in the proper context. For high-throughput data, where the number of observations far exceeds the number of end-points measured, their utility for identifying common mechanisms across multiple agents is enhanced. These data can be used to identify mechanisms that not only seem plausible, but also have a consistent pattern of carcinogenic response across entire classes of related compounds.

(d) Susceptibility data

Individuals, populations and life-stages may have greater or lesser susceptibility to an agent, based on toxicokinetics, mechanisms of carcinogenesis and other factors. Examples of host and genetic factors that affect individual susceptibility include sex, genetic polymorphisms of genes involved in the metabolism of the agent under evaluation, differences in metabolic capacity due to life-stage or the presence of disease, differences in DNA repair capacity, competition for or alteration of metabolic capacity by medications or other chemical exposures, pre-existing hormonal imbalance that is exacerbated by a chemical exposure, a suppressed immune system, periods of higher-than-usual tissue growth or regeneration and genetic polymorphisms that lead to differences in behaviour (e.g. addiction). Such data can substantially increase the strength of the evidence from epidemiological data and enhance the linkage of in-vivo and in-vitro laboratory studies to humans.

(e) Data on other adverse effects

Data on acute, subchronic and chronic adverse effects relevant to the cancer evaluation are summarized. Adverse effects that confirm distribution and biological effects at the sites of tumour development, or alterations in physiology that could lead to tumour development, are emphasized. Effects on reproduction, embryonic and fetal survival and development are summarized briefly. The adequacy of epidemiological studies of reproductive outcome and genetic and related effects in humans is judged by the same criteria as those applied to epidemiological studies of cancer, but fewer details are given.

5. Summary

This section is a summary of data presented in the preceding sections. Summaries can be found on the *Monographs* programme web site (<u>http://monographs.iarc.fr</u>).

(a) Exposure data

Data are summarized, as appropriate, on the basis of elements such as production, use, occurrence and exposure levels in the workplace and environment and measurements in human tissues and body fluids. Quantitative data and time trends are given to compare exposures in different occupations and environmental settings. Exposure to biological agents is described in terms of transmission, prevalence and persistence of infection.

(b) Cancer in humans

Results of epidemiological studies pertinent to an assessment of human carcinogenicity are summarized. When relevant, case reports and correlation studies are also summarized. The target organ(s) or tissue(s) in which an increase in cancer was observed is identified. Dose–response and other quantitative data may be summarized when available.

(c) Cancer in experimental animals

Data relevant to an evaluation of carcinogenicity in animals are summarized. For each animal species, study design and route of administration, it is stated whether an increased incidence, reduced latency, or increased severity or multiplicity of neoplasms or preneoplastic lesions were observed, and the tumour sites are indicated. If the agent produced tumours after prenatal exposure or in single-dose experiments, this is also mentioned. Negative findings, inverse relationships, dose–response and other quantitative data are also summarized.

(d) Mechanistic and other relevant data

Data relevant to the toxicokinetics (absorption, distribution, metabolism, elimination) and the possible mechanism(s) of carcinogenesis (e.g. genetic toxicity, epigenetic effects) are summarized. In addition, information on susceptible individuals, populations and life-stages is summarized. This section also reports on other toxic effects, including reproductive and developmental effects, as well as additional relevant data that are considered to be important.

6. Evaluation and rationale

Evaluations of the strength of the evidence for carcinogenicity arising from human and experimental animal data are made, using standard terms. The strength of the mechanistic evidence is also characterized.

It is recognized that the criteria for these evaluations, described below, cannot encompass all of the factors that may be relevant to an evaluation of carcinogenicity. In considering all of the relevant scientific data, the Working Group may assign the agent to a higher or lower category than a strict interpretation of these criteria would indicate.

These categories refer only to the strength of the evidence that an exposure is carcinogenic and not to the extent of its carcinogenic activity (potency). A classification may change as new information becomes available.

An evaluation of the degree of evidence is limited to the materials tested, as defined physically, chemically or biologically. When the agents evaluated are considered by the Working Group to be sufficiently closely related, they may be grouped together for the purpose of a single evaluation of the degree of evidence.

(a) Carcinogenicity in humans

The evidence relevant to carcinogenicity from studies in humans is classified into one of the following categories:

Sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity:

The Working Group considers that a causal relationship has been established between exposure to the agent and human cancer. That is, a positive relationship has been observed between the exposure and cancer in studies in which chance, bias and confounding could be ruled out with reasonable confidence. A statement that there is *sufficient evidence* is followed by a separate sentence that identifies the target organ(s) or tissue(s) where an increased risk of cancer was observed in humans. Identification of a specific target organ or tissue does not preclude the possibility that the agent may cause cancer at other sites.

Limited evidence of carcinogenicity:

A positive association has been observed between exposure to the agent and cancer for which a causal interpretation is considered by the Working Group to be credible, but chance, bias or confounding could not be ruled out with reasonable confidence.

Inadequate evidence of carcinogenicity:

The available studies are of insufficient quality, consistency or statistical power to permit a conclusion regarding the presence or absence of a causal association between exposure and cancer, or no data on cancer in humans are available.

Evidence suggesting lack of carcinogenicity:

There are several adequate studies covering the full range of levels of exposure that humans are known to encounter, which are mutually consistent in not showing a positive association between exposure to the agent and any studied cancer at any observed level of exposure. The results from these studies alone or combined should have narrow confidence intervals with an upper limit close to the null value (e.g. a relative risk of 1.0). Bias and confounding should be ruled out with reasonable confidence, and the studies should have an adequate length of follow-up. A conclusion of *evidence suggesting lack of carcinogenicity* is inevitably limited to the cancer sites, conditions and levels of exposure, and length of observation covered by the available studies. In addition, the possibility of a very small risk at the levels of exposure studied can never be excluded.

In some instances, the above categories may be used to classify the degree of evidence related to carcinogenicity in specific organs or tissues.

When the available epidemiological studies pertain to a mixture, process, occupation or industry, the Working Group seeks to identify the specific agent considered most likely to be responsible for any excess risk. The evaluation is focused as narrowly as the available data on exposure and other aspects permit.

(b) Carcinogenicity in experimental animals

Carcinogenicity in experimental animals can be evaluated using conventional bioassays, bioassays that employ genetically modified animals, and other in-vivo bioassays that focus on one or more of the critical stages of carcinogenesis. In the absence of data from conventional long-term bioassays or from assays with neoplasia as the end-point, consistently positive results in several models that address several stages in the multistage process of carcinogenesis should be considered in evaluating the degree of evidence of carcinogenicity in experimental animals.

The evidence relevant to carcinogenicity in experimental animals is classified into one of the following categories:

Sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity:

The Working Group considers that a causal relationship has been established between the agent and an increased incidence of malignant neoplasms or of an appropriate combination of benign and malignant neoplasms in (a) two or more species of animals or (b) two or more independent studies in one species carried out at different times or in different laboratories or under different protocols. An increased incidence of tumours in both sexes of a single species in a well conducted study, ideally conducted under Good Laboratory Practices, can also provide *sufficient evidence*.

A single study in one species and sex might be considered to provide *sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity* when malignant neoplasms occur to an unusual degree with regard to incidence, site, type of tumour or age at onset, or when there are strong findings of tumours at multiple sites.

Limited evidence of carcinogenicity:

The data suggest a carcinogenic effect but are limited for making a definitive evaluation because, e.g. (a) the evidence of carcinogenicity is restricted to a single experiment; (b) there are unresolved questions regarding the adequacy of the design, conduct or interpretation of the studies; (c) the agent increases the incidence only of benign neoplasms or lesions of uncertain neoplastic potential; or (d) the evidence of carcinogenicity is restricted to studies that demonstrate only promoting activity in a narrow range of tissues or organs.

Inadequate evidence of carcinogenicity:

The studies cannot be interpreted as showing either the presence or absence of a carcinogenic effect because of major qualitative or quantitative limitations, or no data on cancer in experimental animals are available.

Evidence suggesting lack of carcinogenicity:

Adequate studies involving at least two species are available which show that, within the limits of the tests used, the agent is not carcinogenic. A conclusion of *evidence suggesting lack of carcinogenicity* is inevitably limited to the species, tumour sites, age at exposure, and conditions and levels of exposure studied.

(c) Mechanistic and other relevant data

Mechanistic and other evidence judged to be relevant to an evaluation of carcinogenicity and of sufficient importance to affect the overall evaluation is highlighted. This may include data on preneoplastic lesions, tumour pathology, genetic and related effects, structure–activity relationships, metabolism and toxicokinetics, physicochemical parameters and analogous biological agents.

The strength of the evidence that any carcinogenic effect observed is due to a particular mechanism is evaluated, using terms such as 'weak', 'moderate' or 'strong'. The Working Group then assesses whether that particular mechanism is likely to be operative in humans. The strongest indications that a particular mechanism operates in humans derive from data on humans or biological specimens obtained from exposed humans. The data may be considered to be especially relevant if they show that the agent in question has caused changes in exposed humans that are on the causal pathway to carcinogenesis. Such data may, however, never become available, because it is at least conceivable that certain compounds may be kept from human use solely on the basis of evidence of their toxicity and/or carcinogenicity in experimental systems.

The conclusion that a mechanism operates in experimental animals is strengthened by findings of consistent results in different experimental systems, by the demonstration of biological plausibility and by coherence of the overall database. Strong support can be obtained from studies that challenge the hypothesized mechanism experimentally, by demonstrating that the suppression of key mechanistic processes leads to the suppression of tumour development. The Working Group considers whether multiple mechanisms might contribute to tumour development, whether different mechanisms might operate in different dose ranges, whether separate mechanisms might operate in humans and experimental animals and whether a unique mechanism might operate in a susceptible group. The possible contribution of alternative mechanisms must be considered before concluding that tumours observed in experimental animals are not relevant to humans. An uneven level of experimental support for different mechanisms may reflect that disproportionate resources have been focused on investigating a favoured mechanism.

For complex exposures, including occupational and industrial exposures, the chemical composition and the potential contribution of carcinogens known to be present are considered by the Working Group in its overall evaluation of human carcinogenicity. The Working Group also determines the extent to which the materials tested in experimental systems are related to those to which humans are exposed.

(d) Overall evaluation

Finally, the body of evidence is considered as a whole, to reach an overall evaluation of the carcinogenicity of the agent to humans.

An evaluation may be made for a group of agents that have been evaluated by the Working Group. In addition, when supporting data indicate that other related agents, for which there is no direct evidence of their capacity to induce cancer in humans or in animals, may also be carcinogenic, a statement describing the rationale for this conclusion is added to the evaluation narrative; an additional evaluation may be made for this broader group of agents if the strength of the evidence warrants it.

The agent is described according to the wording of one of the following categories, and the designated group is given. The categorization of an agent is a matter of scientific judgement that reflects the strength of the evidence derived from studies in humans and in experimental animals and from mechanistic and other relevant data.

Group 1: The agent is carcinogenic to humans.

This category is used when there is *sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity* in humans. Exceptionally, an agent may be placed in this category when evidence of carcinogenicity in humans is less than *sufficient* but there is *sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity* in experimental animals and strong evidence in exposed humans that the agent acts through a relevant mechanism of carcinogenicity.

Group 2.

This category includes agents for which, at one extreme, the degree of evidence of carcinogenicity in humans is almost sufficient, as well as those for which, at the other extreme, there are no human data but for which there is evidence of carcinogenicity in experimental animals. Agents are assigned to either Group 2A (probably carcinogenic to humans) or Group 2B (possibly carcinogenic to humans) on the basis of epidemiological and experimental evidence of carcinogenicity and mechanistic and other relevant data. The terms probably carcinogenic and possibly carcinogenic have no quantitative significance and are used simply as descriptors of different levels of evidence of human carcinogenicity, with probably carcinogenic signifying a higher level of evidence than possibly carcinogenic.

Group 2A: The agent is probably carcinogenic to humans.

This category is used when there is *limited* evidence of carcinogenicity in humans and sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity in experimental animals. In some cases, an agent may be classified in this category when there is *inadequate* evidence of carcinogenicity in humans and sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity in experimental animals and strong evidence that the carcinogenesis is mediated by a mechanism that also operates in humans. Exceptionally, an agent may be classified in this category solely on the basis of *limited evidence of carcinogenicity* in humans. An agent may be assigned to this category if it clearly belongs, based on mechanistic considerations, to a class of agents for which one or more members have been classified in Group 1 or Group 2A.

Group 2B: The agent is possibly carcinogenic to humans.

This category is used for agents for which there is limited evidence of carcinogenicity in humans and less than sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity in experimental animals. It may also be used when there is *inadequate evidence* of carcinogenicity in humans but there is sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity in experimental animals. In some instances, an agent for which there is inadequate evidence of carcinogenicity in humans and less than sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity in experimental animals together with supporting evidence from mechanistic and other relevant data may be placed in this group. An agent may be classified in this category solely on the basis of strong evidence from mechanistic and other relevant data.

Group 3: The agent is not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans.

This category is used most commonly for agents for which the evidence of carcinogenicity is *inadequate* in humans and *inadequate* or *limited* in experimental animals.

Exceptionally, agents for which the evidence of carcinogenicity is *inadequate* in humans but *sufficient* in experimental animals may be placed in this category when there is strong evidence that the mechanism of carcinogenicity in experimental animals does not operate in humans.

Agents that do not fall into any other group are also placed in this category.

An evaluation in Group 3 is not a determination of non-carcinogenicity or overall safety. It often means that further research is needed,
especially when exposures are widespread or the cancer data are consistent with differing interpretations.

Group 4: The agent is probably not carcinogenic to humans.

This category is used for agents for which there is *evidence suggesting lack of carcinogenicity* in humans and in experimental animals. In some instances, agents for which there is *inadequate evidence of carcinogenicity* in humans but *evidence suggesting lack of carcinogenicity* in experimental animals, consistently and strongly supported by a broad range of mechanistic and other relevant data, may be classified in this group.

(e) Rationale

The reasoning that the Working Group used to reach its evaluation is presented and discussed. This section integrates the major findings from studies of cancer in humans, studies of cancer in experimental animals, and mechanistic and other relevant data. It includes concise statements of the principal line(s) of argument that emerged, the conclusions of the Working Group on the strength of the evidence for each group of studies, citations to indicate which studies were pivotal to these conclusions, and an explanation of the reasoning of the Working Group in weighing data and making evaluations. When there are significant differences of scientific interpretation among Working Group Members, a brief summary of the alternative interpretations is provided, together with their scientific rationale and an indication of the relative degree of support for each alternative.

References

- Bieler GS, Williams RL (1993). Ratio estimates, the delta method, and quantal response tests for increased carcinogenicity. *Biometrics*, 49:793–801. doi:10.2307/2532200 PMID:8241374
- Breslow NE, Day NE (1980). Statistical methods in cancer research. Volume I - The analysis of case-control studies. *IARC Sci Publ*, 32:5–338. PMID:7216345
- Breslow NE, Day NE (1987). Statistical methods in cancer research. Volume II–The design and analysis of cohort studies. *IARC Sci Publ*, 82:1–406. PMID:<u>3329634</u>
- Buffler P, Rice J, Baan R et al. (2004). Workshop on mechanisms of carcinogenesis: contributions of molecular epidemiology. Lyon, 14–17 November 2001. Workshop report. *IARC Sci Publ*, 157:1–27. PMID:<u>15055286</u>
- Capen CC, Dybing E, Rice JM, Wilbourn JD (1999). Species differences in thyroid, kidney and urinary bladder carcinogenesis. Proceedings of a consensus conference. Lyon, France, 3–7 November 1997. *IARC Sci Publ*, 147:1–225. PMID:10627184
- Cogliano V, Baan R, Straif K et al. (2005). Transparency in IARC Monographs. *Lancet Oncol*, 6:747. doi:<u>10.1016/</u> <u>S1470-2045(05)70380-6</u>
- Cogliano VJ, Baan RA, Straif K et al. (2004). The science and practice of carcinogen identification and evaluation. *Environ Health Perspect*, 112:1269–1274. doi:<u>10.1289/ehp.6950</u> PMID:<u>15345338</u>
- Dunson DB, Chen Z, Harry J (2003). A Bayesian approach for joint modeling of cluster size and subunit-specific outcomes. *Biometrics*, 59:521–530. doi:<u>10.1111/1541-</u> 0420.00062 PMID:<u>14601753</u>
- Fung KY, Krewski D, Smythe RT (1996). A comparison of tests for trend with historical controls in carcinogen bioassay. *Can J Stat*, 24:431–454. doi:<u>10.2307/3315326</u>
- Gart JJ, Krewski D, Lee PN et al. (1986). Statistical methods in cancer research. Volume III–The design and analysis of long-term animal experiments. *IARC Sci Publ*, 79:1–219. PMID:<u>3301661</u>
- Greenland S (1998). Meta-analysis. In: Rothman KJ, Greenland S, editors. Modern epidemiology. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, pp. 643–673.
- Greim H, Gelbke H-P, Reuter U et al. (2003). Evaluation of historical control data in carcinogenicity studies. *Hum Exp Toxicol*, 22:541–549. doi:<u>10.1191/0960327103ht3940a</u> PMID:<u>14655720</u>
- Haseman JK, Huff J, Boorman GA (1984). Use of historical control data in carcinogenicity studies in rodents. *Toxicol Pathol*, 12:126–135. doi:<u>10.1177/019262338401200203</u> PMID:<u>11478313</u>
- Hill AB (1965). The environment and disease: Association or causation? *Proc R Soc Med*, 58:295–300. PMID:14283879

- Hoel DG, Kaplan NL, Anderson MW (1983). Implication of nonlinear kinetics on risk estimation in carcinogenesis. *Science*, 219:1032–1037. doi:<u>10.1126/science.6823565</u> PMID:<u>6823565</u>
- Huff JE, Eustis SL, Haseman JK (1989). Occurrence and relevance of chemically induced benign neoplasms in long-term carcinogenicity studies. *Cancer Metastasis Rev*, 8:1–22. doi:10.1007/BF00047055 PMID:2667783
- IARC (1977). IARC Monographs Programme on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans. Preamble (IARC Intern Tech Rep No. 77/002).
- IARC (1978). Chemicals with sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity in experimental animals – IARC Monographs Volumes 1–17 (IARC Intern Tech Rep No. 78/003).
- IARC (1979). Criteria to select chemicals for IARC Monographs (IARC Intern Tech Rep No. 79/003).
- IARC (1982). Chemicals, industrial processes and industries associated with cancer in humans (IARC Monographs, volumes 1 to 29). IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risk Chem Hum Suppl, 4:1–292.
- IARC (1983). Approaches to classifying chemical carcinogens according to mechanism of action (IARC Intern Tech Rep No. 83/001).
- IARC (1987). Overall evaluations of carcinogenicity: an updating of IARC Monographs volumes 1 to 42. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum Suppl, 7:1-440. PMID:<u>3482203</u>
- IARC (1988). Report of an IARC Working Group to Review the Approaches and Processes Used to Evaluate the Carcinogenicity of Mixtures and Groups of Chemicals (IARC Intern Tech Rep No. 88/002).
- IARC (1991). A consensus report of an IARC Monographs Working Group on the Use of Mechanisms of Carcinogenesis in Risk Identification (IARC Intern Tech Rep No. 91/002).
- IARC (2004). Some drinking-water disinfectants and contaminants, including arsenic. *IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum*, 84:1–477. PMID:<u>15645577</u>
- IARC (2005). Report of the Advisory Group to Recommend Updates to the Preamble to the IARC Monographs (IARC Intern Rep No. 05/001).
- IARC (2006). Report of the Advisory Group to Review the Amended Preamble to the IARC Monographs (IARC Intern Rep No. 06/001).
- McGregor DB, Rice JM, Venitt S (1999). The use of short-and medium-term tests for carcinogens and data on genetic effects in carcinogenic hazard evaluation. Consensus report. *IARC Sci Publ*, 146:1–18. PMID:10353381
- Montesano R, Bartsch H, Vainio H et al., editors(1986). Long-term and short-term assays for carcinogenesis—a critical appraisal. *IARC Sci Publ*, 83:1–564. PMID:<u>3623675</u>

- OECD (2002). Guidance notes for analysis and evaluation of chronic toxicity and carcinogenicity studies (Series on Testing and Assessment No. 35), Paris: OECD.
- Peto R, Pike MC, Day NE et al. (1980). Guidelines for simple, sensitive significance tests for carcinogenic effects in long-term animal experiments. *IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risk Chem Hum Suppl*, 2:Suppl: 311–426. PMID:<u>6935185</u>
- Portier CJ, Bailer AJ (1989). Testing for increased carcinogenicity using a survival-adjusted quantal response test. *Fundam Appl Toxicol*, 12:731–737. doi:<u>10.1016/0272-0590(89)90004-3</u> PMID:<u>2744275</u>
- Sherman CD, Portier CJ, Kopp-Schneider A (1994). Multistage models of carcinogenesis: an approximation for the size and number distribution of late-stage clones. *Risk Anal*, 14:1039–1048. doi:10.1111/j.1539-6924.1994.tb00074.x PMID:7846311
- Stewart BW, Kleihues P, editors (2003). World cancer report, Lyon: IARC.
- Tomatis L, Aitio A, Wilbourn J, Shuker L (1989). Human carcinogens so far identified. *Jpn J Cancer Res*, 80:795–807. doi:<u>10.1111/j.1349-7006.1989.tb01717.x</u> PMID:<u>2513295</u>
- Toniolo P, Boffetta P, Shuker DEG et al. (1997). Proceedings of the workshop on application of biomarkers to cancer epidemiology. Lyon, France, 20–23 February 1996. *IARC Sci Publ*, 142:1–318. PMID:<u>9410826</u>
- Vainio H, Magee P, McGregor D, McMichael A (1992). Mechanisms of carcinogenesis in risk identification. IARC Working Group Meeting. Lyon, 11–18 June 1991. *IARC Sci Publ*, 116:1–608. PMID:<u>1428077</u>
- Vainio H, Wilbourn JD, Sasco AJ et al. (1995). [Identification of human carcinogenic risks in IARC monographs] Bull Cancer, 82:339–348. PMID:7626841
- Vineis P, Malats N, Lang M et al., editors (1999). Metabolic polymorphisms and susceptibility to cancer. *IARC Sci Publ*, 148:1–510. PMID:<u>10493243</u>
- Wilbourn J, Haroun L, Heseltine E et al. (1986). Response of experimental animals to human carcinogens: an analysis based upon the IARC Monographs programme. *Carcinogenesis*, 7:1853–1863. doi:<u>10.1093/</u> <u>carcin/7.11.1853</u> PMID:<u>3769134</u>

GENERAL REMARKS

This one-hundred-and-seventeenth volume of the *IARC Monographs* contains evaluations of the carcinogenic hazard to humans of pentachlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol, 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene, aldrin, and dieldrin.

aldrin, Pentachlorophenol, and dieldrin are classified as persistent organic pollutants under the Stockholm Convention. Aldrin and dieldrin had been previously evaluated as not classifiable as to their carcinogenicity to humans (Group 3) in Supplement 7 (IARC, 1987), and combined exposures to polychlorophenols or to their sodium salts were evaluated as possibly carcinogenic to humans (Group 2B) in Volume 71 (IARC, 1999) of the IARC *Monographs*. 3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene was not previously evaluated by the IARC Monographs programme. A summary of the findings of this volume appears in The Lancet Oncology (Guyton et al., 2016).

Pentachlorophenol

Impurities of chlorophenols include polychlorinated dibenzo-*para*-dioxins, as well as polychlorinated dibenzofurans, polychlorinated phenoxyphenols, polychlorinated diphenyl ethers, polychlorinated benzenes, and polychlorinated biphenyls. However, the pattern of excess cancers seen with pentachlorophenol differed from that observed in populations that are highly exposed to dioxins. In addition, the pattern of tumours in experimental animals exposed to pentachlorophenol was similar across three test agents of different purity. Similarly, test agents varying in purity induced mechanistic effects that are different from those exhibited by dioxins. These mechanistic studies provided strong evidence of multiple key characteristics of carcinogens (<u>Smith et al., 2016</u>).

3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene

3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene is not manufactured commercially but is formed during the production and degradation of chloroanilide herbicides. 3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene bears structural similarity to dioxins and is highly lipophilic but is rapidly metabolized, with extensive azo reduction in the gut and liver to give 3,4-dichloroaniline metabolites that are readily eliminated. The spectrum of rodent tumours induced by 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene encompasses those observed with other aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) agonists previously evaluated as carcinogenic to humans (Group 1) (e.g. dioxins, dioxin-like polychlorinated biphenyls, and 2,3,4,7,8-pentachlorodibenzofuran). addition, 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene In activates AhR and/or induces multiple nonneoplastic effects that are consistent with, or are

hallmarks of, AhR activation in various species, such as rodents, rabbits, chicken, and zebrafish (Poland et al., 1976; NTP, 1998, 2010; Xiao et al., 2016). 3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene was classified as *probably carcinogenic to humans* (Group 2A) because it belongs, based on mechanistic considerations, to a class of agents that activate AhR, and some members of this class have previously been evaluated as Group 1 or Group 2A.

Aldrin and dieldrin

Aldrin and dieldrin each induced hepatocellular carcinomas in studies of carcinogenicity in experimental animals. For aldrin, epidemiological data were inadequate and mechanistic data were sparse. For dieldrin, epidemiological studies provided limited evidence in humans for breast cancer, whereas the evidence was inadequate for non-Hodgkin lymphoma and other cancers. Mechanistic studies provided moderate evidence for multiple key characteristics of carcinogens (Smith et al., 2016). Because aldrin rapidly converts to dieldrin in the body, exposure to aldrin inevitably entails internal exposure to dieldrin. Dieldrin is slowly excreted in humans, due to inefficient metabolism and sequestration in fat. Dieldrin, and aldrin metabolized to dieldrin, was evaluated as probably carcinogenic to humans (Group 2A).

References

- Guyton KZ, Loomis D, Grosse Y, El Ghissassi F, Bouvard V, Benbrahim-Tallaa L, et al.; International Agency for Research on Cancer Monograph Working Group (2016). Carcinogenicity of pentachlorophenol and some related compounds. *Lancet Oncol*, 17(12):1637–8. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30513-7 PMID:27784619
- IARC (1987). Overall evaluations of carcinogenicity: an updating of IARC Monographs Volumes 1 to 42. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum Suppl,

7:1–440. Available from: <u>http://publications.iarc.fr/139</u> PMID:<u>3482203</u>

- IARC (1999). Re-evaluation of some organic chemicals, hydrazine and hydrogen peroxide. *IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum*, 71:1–315. Available from: <u>http://</u> <u>publications.iarc.fr/89</u> PMID:10507919
- NTP (1998). NTP technical report on the toxicity studies of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene (CAS No. 14047-09-7) administered by gavage to F344/N rats and B6C3F₁ mice. *Toxic Rep Ser*, 65:1–F6. PMID:<u>11986682</u>
- NTP (2010). Toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene (TCAB) (CAS No. 14047-09-7) in Harlan Sprague-Dawley rats and B6C3F1 mice (gavage studies). *Natl Toxicol Program Tech Rep Ser*, 558:1–206. PMID:21383777
- Poland A, Clover E, Kende AS, DeCamp M, Giandomenico CM (1976). 3,4,3',4'-Tetrachloro azoxybenzene and azobenzene: potent inducers of aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase. *Science*, 194(4265):627–30. doi:10.1126/ <u>science.136041</u> PMID:136041
- Smith MT, Guyton KZ, Gibbons CF, Fritz JM, Portier CJ, Rusyn I, et al. (2016). Key characteristics of carcinogens as a basis for organizing data on mechanisms of carcinogenesis. *Environ Health Perspect*, 124(6):713–21. doi:10.1289/ehp.1509912 PMID:26600562
- Xiao H, Kuckelkorn J, Nüßer LK, Floehr T, Hennig MP, Roß-Nickoll M, et al. (2016). The metabolite 3,4,3',4'-tetrachloroazobenzene (TCAB) exerts a higher ecotoxicity than the parent compounds 3,4-dichloroaniline (3,4-DCA) and propanil. *Sci Total Environ*, 551-552:304–16. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.02.019 PMID:26878642

PENTACHLOROPHENOL

1. Exposure Data

1.1 Identification of the agent

1.1.1 Nomenclature

Chem. Abstr. Serv. Reg. No.: 87-86-5 *Chem. Abstr. Serv. Name*: Pentachlorophenol *IUPAC Systematic Name*: Pentachlorophenol *Synonyms*: Chlorophenasic acid; Chlorophen; PCP; penchlorol; penta; pentachlorophenate; 2,3,4,5,6-pentachlorophenol; 1-hydroxy-2,3,4,5,6-pentachlorobenzene



Molecular formula: C₆HCl₅O Relative molecular mass: 266.34

1.1.2 Chemical and physical properties of the pure substance

Description: Colourless to light brown needlelike crystals with characteristic phenolic odour (<u>Budavari, 1996</u>; <u>IARC, 1999</u>; <u>NTP,</u> <u>1999</u>) *Boiling point*: 310 °C (decomposes) (<u>Lide, 1997;</u> <u>IARC, 1999</u>)

Melting point: 191 °C (anhydrous) (EPA, 2010a) *Density*: 1.978 g/mL (at 22 °C/4 °C) (EPA, 2010a) *Solubility*: Slightly soluble in water (80 mg/L at 20 °C); soluble in acetone and benzene; very soluble in diethyl ether, ethanol, and methanol (EPA, 2010a)

Vapour pressure: 1.1×10^{-4} mm Hg (0.02 Pa) at 20 °C; relative vapour density (air = 1), 9.20 (EPA, 2010a; PubChem, 2018)

Log K_{ow}: 5.01 (EPA, 2010a)

Conversion factor: 1 ppm = 10.9 mg/m^3 (air), at normal temperature (25 °C) and pressure (1 atm) (EPA, 2010a)

Dissociation constant (pK_a): 4.7 at 25 °C (<u>WHO</u>, 2003)

1.1.3 Technical products and impurities

(a) Some trade names

Acutox; Chem-Penta; Chem-Tol; Cryptogil ol; Dowicide 7; Dowicide EC-7; Dow Pentachlorophenol DP-2 Antimicrobial; Durotox; Fungifen; Fungol; Glazd Penta; Grundier Arbezol Lauxtol; Lauxtol A; Liroprem; Moosuran; Penta; Pentacon; Penta-Kil; Pentasol; Penwar; Peratox; Permacide; Permagard; Permasan; Permatox; Priltox; Permite; Santophen; Santophen 20; Sinituho; Term-i-Trol; Thompson's Wood Fix; Weedone; Witophen P (<u>NTP, 1999</u>).

(b) Impurities

Pentachlorophenol is manufactured in a multistage chlorination process that results in contamination with dioxins, furans, and other chlorophenols. Consequently, the formulation that is used and that people are exposed to is a chemical grade, commonly referred to as the technical or commercial grade, which is composed of approximately 90% pentachlorophenol and 10% impurities. Depending on the specific synthesis process, the level of these impurities may vary with differing grades of manufactured pentachlorophenol (EPA, 2010a). In general, technical-grade pentachlorophenol contains 85-90% pentachlorophenol, 4-10% tetrachlorophenol, ~5% chlorinated diphenyl ethers, and < 1% trichlorophenol. Trace amounts to thousands of parts per million of polychlorinated dibenzopara-dioxins (PCDDs) and chlorinated dibenzofurans can be detected. Grades described as analytical or pure are generally \geq 98% pentachlorophenol, and the concentrations of dioxins and furans are low to non-detectable (IARC, 1991; NTP, 1999; EPA, 2010a).

The impurities consist of several chlorophenol congeners, PCDDs, and polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs). Of the PCDD and PCDF contaminants, the higher chlorinated congeners are predominantly found as impurities within technical-grade pentachlorophenol: isomers of hexachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin (HxCDD), heptachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin (HpCDD), and octachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin (OCDD), and isomers of tetrachlorodibenzofuran (TCDF), pentachlorodibenzofuran (PeCDF), hexachlorodibenzofuran (HxCDF), heptachlorodibenzofuran (HpCDF), and octachlorodibenzofuran (OCDF) (McLean et al., 2009). An analytical study in 1973 on 19 samples of commercial pentachlorophenol or pentachlorophenol sodium salt products from Switzerland reported concentration ranges of PCDD contaminants as 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin (TCDD)

34

(< 0.01-0.25 ppm), pentachlorodibenzo-paradioxin (PeCDD) (< 0.03-0.08 ppm), HxCDD (< 0.03-10 ppm), HpCDD (0.3-240 ppm), and OCDD (1.2-370 ppm); for PCDF contaminants, the ranges were TCDF (< 0.02-0.45 ppm), PeCDF (< 0.03-0.65 ppm), HxCDF (< 0.03-39 ppm), HpCDF (< 0.1–320 ppm), and OCDF (<0.1-300 ppm) (<u>Buser & Bosshardt, 1976</u>). Dioxin and dioxin-like polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) impurities have also been measured in agrochemical formulations of pentachlorophenol produced in Japan during the 1960s and early 1970s. Four pentachlorophenol samples exhibited dioxin impurity concentrations in a wide range from 14 to 24 000 µg/g active ingredient (Masunaga et al., 2001). The presence of dioxin and dioxin-like congeners and several other impurities have also been measured in most samples of the pesticides studied that were derived from chlorophenols in the USA in the early 1970s (Woolson et al., 1972; Plimmer, 1973). In addition to PCDD and PCDF contaminants, hexachlorobenzene and chlorophenoxy constituents may also be present in technical-grade pentachlorophenol (United Nations, 2010). 2,4,6-Tetrachlorophenol was also reported to be a by-product in the manufacture of pentachlorophenol (Kauppinen et al., 1994).

Table 1.1 gives a detailed list of contaminants of concern measured in Canadian products containing pentachlorophenol (<u>United Nations</u>, <u>2010</u>), and their conversion to TCDD toxicity equivalence factors (TEFs), also called TCDDequivalents (<u>EPA</u>, 2010b).

1.2 Production and use

1.2.1 Production process

Pentachlorophenol is produced via two pathways, either by stepwise chlorination of phenols in the presence of catalysts (anhydrous aluminium chloride or ferric chloride) or alkaline hydrolysis of hexachlorobenzene. Use of the analytical grade of pentachlorophenol requires a

Compound	CAS No.	TEF ^a	Concentra	tion (ng/g)	Concer (ng TCI	ntration DD-eq/g)
			Minimum	Maximum	Minimum	Maximum
Polychlorinated dibenzo-para	-dioxins (PCDDs)					
2,3,7,8-TCDD	1746-01-6	1	0.028	0.175	0.028	0.175
1,2,3,7,8-PeCDD	40321-76-4	1	0.247	1.08	0.247	1.08
1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDD	39227-28-6	0.1	1.1	86.8	0.11	8.68
1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD	57653-85-7	0.1	232	344	23.2	34.4
1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDD	19408-74-3	0.1	14.8	203	1.48	20.3
1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDD	35822-46-9	0.01	4570	13 500	45.7	135
OCDD	3268-87-9	0.0003	34 000	130 000	10.2	39
Polychlorinated dibenzofuran	s (PCDFs)					
2,3,7,8-TCDF	51207-31-9	0.1	0.022	0.068	0.0022	0.0068
1,2,3,7,8-PeCDF	57117-41-6	0.03	0.099	0.309	0.00297	0.00927
2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF	57117-31-4	0.3	0.431	2.74	0.1293	0.822
1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDF	70648-26-9	0.1	176	577	17.6	57.7
1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDF	57117-44-9	0.1	12	38.2	1.2	3.82
2,3,4,6,7,8-HxCDF	60851-34-5	0.1	34.9	245	3.49	24.5
1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDF	72918-21-9	0.1	31.1	178	3.11	17.8
1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDF	67562-39-4	0.01	3140	17 700	31.4	177
1,2,3,4,7,8,9-HpCDF	55673-89-7	0.01	681	3150	6.81	31.5
OCDF	39001-02-0	0.0003	54 400	283 000	16.32	84.9
Sum					161	637

Table 1.1 Contaminants of concern in Canadian products containing pentachlorophenol

^a TCDD-equivalents are derived from EPA (2010b)

PCDDs are: tetra- (TCDD), penta- (PeCDD), hexa- (HxCDD), hepta- (HpCDD), and octachlorodibenzo-*para*-dioxin (OCDD) PCDFs are: tetra- (TCDF), penta- (PeCDF), hexa- (HxCDF), hepta- (HpCDF), and octachlorodibenzofuran (OCDF)

TEF, toxic equivalency factor

Courtesy of Annemiek van der Zande. Adapted from: https://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/env/documents/2013/air/PCP.pdf

purification process to remove the contaminants that were created during the manufacture of pentachlorophenol (<u>EPA, 2010a</u>).

1.2.2 Production volume

The worldwide production of pentachlorophenol in 1981 was estimated to be 90 000 tonnes per year (<u>United Nations, 2010</u>). No more recent global information was available to the Working Group.

Production volume in the USA was 45 million pounds [~20 400 tonnes] in 1983 and decreased to 24 million pounds [~10 900 tonnes] in 1987 (<u>ATSDR, 2001</u>). The production volume in the USA was 9100 tonnes in 1996 and 7257 tonnes in 2009 (<u>United Nations, 2010</u>). In 2010, one company was still manufacturing pentachlorophenol at three facilities, located in Alabama and Kansas, USA, and in Mexico (<u>United Nations, 2010</u>).

Production volume for pentachlorophenol in Canada for 1981 (last year of production) was reported as 2200 tonnes. Canada imported 472 tonnes from the USA and Mexico in 2007 (CAREX Canada, 2009).

There is no known current European production of pentachlorophenol since it ceased in 1992 in most countries (<u>OSPAR, 2004</u>). Before then, production occurred in Poland, Germany, the Netherlands, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, Spain, and France. Spain stopped production in 2003 (<u>United Nations, 2010</u>).

China still produces pentachlorophenol with an annual production volume of 5000 tons [~4536 tonnes] reported in 2010 (<u>United Nations, 2010</u>).

1.2.3 Use

Pentachlorophenol was first introduced for use as wood preservative in the 1930s, and this use remains by far the major application (<u>United Nations, 2010</u>). The salt, sodium pentachlorophenate (Na-PCP) (Chemical Abstracts Service (CAS) No. 131-52-2), was used for similar purposes as pentachlorophenol and readily degrades to pentachlorophenol. The ester, pentachlorophenyl laurate (CAS No. 3772-94-9), was used in textiles. The environmental behaviour of all three substances is quite similar (<u>United Nations, 2010</u>).

In the USA, pentachlorophenol was widely used as an herbicide, algicide, defoliant, wood preservative, germicide, fungicide, and molluscicide, and could be found in ropes, paints, adhesives, canvas, leather, insulation, and brick walls (NTP, 1999; EPA, 2010a). The common use of chlorophenols including pentachlorophenol in tanneries was reported in Tuscany, Italy, and in Sweden, from the early 1950s to the late 1980s (Seniori-Costantini et al., 1989; Mikoczy et al., 1994; Mikoczy & Hagmar, 2005). Pentachlorophenol was used as a molluscicide for fish-pond cleaning for schistosomiasis vector control in China (Zheng et al., 2012). Pentachlorophenol was also used for the production of pentachlorophenol laurate, used in textiles and other fabrics (United Nations, 2010).

In 1984 in the USA, indoor applications of pentachlorophenol were prohibited (NTP, 1999; EPA, 2010a). In 1986 in the USA, approximately 97% of pentachlorophenol usage was as a wood preservative, 1% as a general herbicide, and the remainder for miscellaneous smaller applications

(IARC, 1991). Pentachlorophenol is also no longer contained in wood-preserving solutions or insecticides and herbicides available for home and garden use, because it is a restricted-use pesticide (ATSDR, 2001). Currently, application of pentachlorophenol (and its sodium salt) is limited to industrial areas (e.g. utility poles, cross arms, railroad cross ties, wooden pilings, fence posts, and lumber/timbers for construction) in Canada and the USA; products containing pentachlorophenol remain registered for heavyduty wood preservation, predominantly to treat utility poles and cross arms (CAREX Canada, 2009; EPA, 2010a).

The marketing and use of pentachlorophenol and its compounds was prohibited in the European Union in 1994, except for the treatment of wood, impregnation of fibres and heavy-duty textiles not intended for clothing, as an ingredient in chemical synthesis and, under individual authorizations, treatment in situ of buildings of cultural or historic interest (OSPAR, 2004; INERIS, 2011). In 2001 in Europe (mainly France, Portugal, and Spain), pentachlorophenol and its derivatives, Na-PCP and pentachlorophenyl laurate, were used to control sap stain in green lumber. It was also used on millwork to prevent the growth of mould and fungi, and as a preservative for waterproof materials (i.e. tarpaulins) that are used in outdoor applications (IARC, 1999; OSPAR, 2004). In the European Union, pentachlorophenol was no longer used for wood preservation by 2009 (United Nations, 2010).

Current use of pentachlorophenol for wood preservation is mainly in North America (United Nations, 2010). Several companies were registered as manufacturing pentachlorophenol in 2016: USA (10 companies), Mexico (2), Germany (2), Canada (1), Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (1), South Africa (1), Switzerland (2), India (1), the United Kingdom (3), Israel (1), the Netherlands (1), China (1), and Japan (1) (Chem Sources, 2016).

1.3 Analytical methods

Analytical methods for most biological and environmental media mostly rely on gas chromatography–mass spectrometry or high-performance liquid chromatography–ultraviolet methods, which are described in detailed elsewhere (IARC, 1991; ATSDR, 2001; WHO, 2003; INERIS, 2011).

1.4 Occurrence and exposure

1.4.1 Occupational exposure

Occupational exposure to pentachlorophenol may occur during the manufacture of pentachlorophenol and formulations containing pentachlorophenol (as main ingredient and as contaminant), during mixing or spraying of pentachlorophenol-containing formulations for agricultural use, during treatment of wood products with pentachlorophenol-containing formulations, or during handling of or contact with the treated wood products. Pentachlorophenol exposure may also occur in workers employed in waste incineration, during treatment of materials such as textiles, leathers, or pelts, or in handling the treated materials (Karci, 2014). Dermal contact with pentachlorophenol formulations and treated products is expected to be a main exposure route.

(a) Air

In a wood-treatment plant in the USA that used pentachlorophenol, average air concentrations ranged from 263 to 1888 ng/m³ (Wyllie et al., 1975). Area air concentrations for two workers in United States wood-treatment plants involved in brush application of pentachlorophenol in enclosed spaces had mean air concentrations of 230–430 μ g/m³ (Casarett et al., 1969). For lumber mill workers exposed to pentachlorophenolcontaining wood preservatives, mean tetrachlorophenol air concentrations ranged from 31 to 498 ppb [317–5000 μ g/m³]; pentachlorophenol concentrations were below the detection limit of 0.5 µg/m³. Canadian sawmill workers exposed to chlorophenol wood preservatives had personal air pentachlorophenol concentrations of 5-6 ppb [54.5-65.4 µg/m³] (Embree et al., 1984). In a Finnish sawmill that used 2,3,4,6-tetrachlorophenol containing 10-20% 2,4,6-trichlorophenol and 5% pentachlorophenol, mean chlorophenol air concentrations (measured as the sum of tetrachlorophenol and pentachlorophenol) were highest in the vicinity of machine stacking (75 µg/m³), preparation of treatment solution (66 μ g/m³), indoor vatdipping $(64 \mu g/m^3)$, and trough dipping $(55 \mu g/m^3)$ (Kauppinen & Lindroos, 1985).

Workers involved in the production of pentachlorophenol at one plant in the USA in the 1980s had an overall mean pentachlorophenol concentration in personal air samples of 1.26 mg/m³ (Marlow, 1986). These workers also experienced air exposure to hexachlorobenzene (range, < 0.0003 to 0.015 mg/m³), HpCDD (mean, 0.038 μ g/m³), and OCDD (mean, 0.336 μ g/m³) (Marlow, 1986). At a pentachlorophenol-production plant in Germany, 10 of 67 area air samples in the production area exceeded 0.5 mg/m³ and 18 were less than 0.1 mg/m³ (Bauchinger et al., 1982). In the area of the same facility where Na-PCP was produced, 8 of 55 area air measurements exceeded 0.5 mg/m³, and 7 were less than 0.1 mg/m³. In another pentachlorophenolproduction facility in Germany, air measurements of pentachlorophenol ranged from 1.2 to 180 µg/m³ (Ziemsen et al., 1987).

(b) Biological markers and intake

Pentachlorophenol has been measured in the urine, and occasionally blood, of agricultural workers, wood-processing workers, electrical utility workers, hazardous and municipal waste incinerator workers, harbour workers involved in river dredging, sawmill workers, and workers involved in treating wood products (<u>Table 1.2</u>). Urinary and blood pentachlorophenol concentrations were generally highest in workers directly involved in treating wood or lumber with pentachlorophenol-containing formulations or who had direct contact with the treated product, with mean urinary and blood concentrations often reported to be > 100 μ g/L. Urinary pentachlorophenol concentrations in hazardous and municipal waste incinerator workers were similar to those in unexposed workers. No information on pentachlorophenol concentrations in textile or leather workers was available to the Working Group.

Pentachlorophenol-exposed workers were often monitored for serum concentrations of PCDDs and PCDFs, which are impurities in the pentachlorophenol. In these studies, concentrations of some, but not all congeners, were higher in pentachlorophenol-exposed workers than in unexposed workers. Workers in a Michigan plant that manufactured 2,4,5-trichlorophenol and pentachlorophenol, and formulated chlorophenol-based products had serum concentrations of several dioxin, furan, and PCB congeners that increased with increasing years of employment in a 2,4,5-trichlorophenol- or pentachlorophenol-exposed job (Collins et al., 2007, 2008; Burns et al., 2008). Mean concentrations of TCDD in the pentachlorophenol-only, 2,4,5-trichlorophenol-only, and the community reference group were 8.0, 15.9, and 3.3 pg/g lipid, respectively, and mean WHO 2005-TEQs (Van den Berg et al., 2006) were 56.7, 51.3, and 33.0 toxic equivalency (TEQ), respectively (Collins et al., 2008). 2,4,5-Trichlorophenol workers have a relatively simple congener profile, consisting primarily of elevated TCDD. In contrast, pentachlorophenol workers have a more complex profile, with significantly higher percentages of the contribution to the TEQ for the following congeners compared with the community reference: 1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDD (2.6% vs 2.2%), 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD (26.3% vs 20.5%), 1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDD (3.6% vs 2.3%), 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDD (3.3% vs 2.0%), and OCDD (0.4% vs 0.1%) percentages (Collins et al.,

<u>2008</u>). No significant difference was observed between pentachlorophenol workers and the community referents for TCDD (12.2% vs 15.0%).

A consistent congener profile was seen in former sawmill workers in New Zealand after exposure to pentachlorophenol-based anti-sapstain fungicides or to commercial-grade pentachlorophenol (McLean et al., 2009). The highest mean serum concentrations were observed for OCDD (309.25 pg/g lipid). The mean concentration of TCDD in exposed workers was similar to never-exposed workers (1.88 vs 1.48 pg/g lipid, respectively). The serum dioxin levels of these workers remained elevated 20 years after they had been exposed compared with never-exposed workers, with mean WHO2005-TEQs of 13.67 and 9.56, respectively. Their serum dioxin concentrations increased with both employment duration and estimated exposure intensity, with a mean TEQ of 14.1 in those with more than 10 years of exposure to pentachlorophenol.

Former, retired workers at a plant manufacturing pentachlorophenol, and nearby residents in Taiwan, China, had levels of 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF, 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDD, 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD, and total TEQ levels that were significantly higher than those of the reference groups. Their 2,3,7,8-TCDF, 1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDF, 1,2,3,4,7,8,9-HxCDF, and OCDF levels were significantly lower than those of the reference groups. Mean WHO98-TEQs (Van den Berg et al., 1998) were 95.8–109.6 TEQ/g lipid in the retired workers who had been exposed to Na-PCP, and 22.9 TEQ/g lipid in the general population (Chang et al., 2012).

Serum PCDD/F concentrations of hazardous waste incinerator workers did not show significant differences between workplace groups after 1, 3, 8, and 12 years of operation compared with baseline concentrations or non-occupationally exposed subjects (Schuhmacher et al., 2002; Agramunt et al., 2003; Mari et al., 2009, 2013).

Table 1	.2 Concentra	ations of penta	chlorophenol in biologic	cal samp	oles from occupatio	nally exposed workers	
Sample	Country,	Occupation	Work tasks, type of worker,	No. of	Exposure		Reference
matrix	year		or specific exposure	workers	Level	Range	
Blood	USA, NR	Wood treatment	Treatment of lumber, furniture, and other wood products	18	Mean, 2190–5140 μg/L	190–14 000 μg/L	Begley et al. (1977)
Blood	Portugal, NR	Wood transformation unit	Mean, 6 years of exposure	11	Mean, 2273 μg/L	133-6884 μg/L	<u>Ferreira et al.</u> (1997)
Plasma	Italy, NR	Wooden strip board factory	Applied PCP by brush to wooden boards	14	Mean, 288.7 μg/L; median, 67 μg/L	2-1442 μg/L	Colosio et al. (1993)
Plasma	Italy, NR	Wooden strip board factory	Handled treated wood and other indirect exposure	18	Mean, 144.7 μg/L; median, 130 μg/L	14-350 μg/L	<u>Colosio et al. (1993)</u>
Plasma	Italy, NR	Wooden strip board factory	Unexposed	37	Mean, 8.9 μg/L; Median, 5.6 μg/L	0-76 μg/L	<u>Colosio et al. (1993)</u>
Plasma	United Kingdom, 1982–1983	PCP manufacturing	Formulation of PCP- containing fluids	29	Mean, 1.3 mmol/L [3.46 × 10 ⁵ μg/L]	$\begin{array}{l} 0.4{-}4.8 \ mmol/L \\ [1.06 \times 10^{5}{-}12.8 \times 10^{5} \ \mu g/L] \end{array}$	Jones et al. (1986)
Plasma	United Kingdom, 1982–1983	Wood treatment	Remedial sprayers working on house timber treatment	108	Mean, 6.0 mmol/L [16 × 10 ⁵ μg/L]	0.2-29 mmol/L $[0.5 \times 10^5-77.2 \times 10^5 \text{ µg/L}]$	<u>Jones et al. (1986)</u>
Plasma	United Kingdom, 1982–1983	Wood treatment	Handled treated wood in fabrication of pallets, roof trusses	68	Mean, 4.8 mmol/L [12.8 × 10 ⁵ μg/L]	0.3–45 mmol/L [0.8 × 10 ⁵ to 120 × 10 ⁵ μg/L]	Jones et al. (1986)
Plasma	United Kingdom, 1982–1983	Wood treatment	Timber-treatment operators (unexposed)	6	Mean, 0.7 mmol/L [1.8 × 10 ⁵ μg/L]	0.3–1.8 mmol/L $[0.8\times10^5\ to\ 4.8\times10^5\ \mu g/L]$	<u>Jones et al. (1986)</u>
Plasma	United Kingdom, 1982–1983	Wood treatment	Furniture joiners	61	Mean, 0.2 mmol/L [0.5 × 10 ⁵ μg/L]	0.1-0.6 mmol/L [$0.3 \times 10^5 \text{ to } 1.6 \times 10^5 \text{ µg/L}$]	<u>Jones et al. (1986)</u>
Serum	Canada, NR	Sawmill workers	Tasks involving dermal contact with treated lumber	IJ	Mean, 714 \pm 383 µg/L	NR	Embree et al. (1984)
Serum	Canada, NR	Sawmill workers	Close proximity to treated lumber, but no dermal contact	Ω.	Mean, 241 ± 232 μg/L	NR	Embree et al. (1984)
Serum	USA, 1967–1973	Agricultural workers and wood processing workers	Farmers or pest control operators	280	Mean, 250 μg/L	< 10-8400 µg/L	<u>Klemmer et al.</u> (1980)

Pentachlorophenol

Table 1.	.2 (continue	(pa					
Sample	Country,	Occupation	Work tasks, type of worker,	No. of	Exposure		Reference
matrix	year		or specific exposure	workers	Level	Range	
Serum	USA, 1967–1973	Agricultural workers and wood processing workers	Workers involved in dipping wood products in a 5% PCP mixture	22	Mean, 3780 μg/L	150-17 400 μg/L	<u>Klemmer et al.</u> (1980)
Serum	USA, 1967–1973	Agricultural workers and wood processing workers	Workers involved in pressure treatment of wood products	24	Mean, 1720 µg/L	20-7700 μg/L	<u>Klemmer et al.</u> (1980)
Serum	USA, 1967–1973	Agricultural workers and wood processing workers	Unexposed	32	Mean, 320 µg/L	20-7200 µg/L	<u>Klemmer et al.</u> (1980)
Serum	Finland, NR	Sawmill workers	Moving lumber that was dipped in chlorophenol solution containing 23% TCP, 74% tetrachlorophenol, 3% PCP	~	Mean, (p.m.) 0.85 μmol/L [226 μg/L]	NR	<u>Pekari et al. (1991)</u>
Serum	USA, 1972	Wood treatment plant	Plant workers, including managers, loaders, labourers, pressure treaters	9	Monthly mean, 769.1–2215.8 μg/L	NR	<u>Wyllie et al. (1975)</u>
Serum	USA, 1972	Wood treatment plant	Chemists	1	NA	38–68 μg/L	<u>Wyllie et al. (1975)</u>
Urine	Germany, NR	Municipal waste incinerator	Municipal waste workers	53	Mean, 2.60 μg/g creatinine	0.43–8.88 μg/g creatinine	<u>Angerer et al.</u> (1992)
Urine	Germany, NR	Municipal waste incinerator	Unexposed	248	Mean, 3.21 μg/g creatinine	< 0.8-67.79 µg/g creatinine	<u>Angerer et al.</u> (1992)
Urine	Germany, 1990–1993	PCP-exposed construction painters; bricklayers	Painters, 40% reported exposure to wood preservatives (assumedly PCP free) at least once per week	189	Median, 2.4 µg/g creatinine	< 0.2–52 µg/g creatinine	<u>Bader et al. (2007)</u>
Urine	Germany, 1990–1993	PCP-exposed construction painters; bricklayers	Bricklayers, < 10% reported contact with wood preservatives once per month	148	Median, 1.8 µg/g creatinine	< 0.2–25 µg/g creatinine	Bader et al. (2007)

IARC MONOGRAPHS – 117

Table 1	.2 (continu	ed)					
Sample	Country,	Occupation	Work tasks, type of worker,	No. of	Exposure		Reference
matrix	year		or specific exposure	workers	Level	Range	I
Urine	USA, NR	Wood treatment	Treatment of lumber, furniture, and other wood products	18	Mean, 590-1360 μg/L	30-3600 μg/L	<u>Begley et al. (1977)</u>
Urine	Spain, 1999–2011	Hazardous waste incinerator	Plant workers, including incinerator operators; boiler maintenance, furnace maintenance, and control panel workers; and waste- gas-washing operators	16	Annual means, 0.1–1.9 μg/g creatinine	NR	<u>Agramunt et al.</u> (2003); <u>Mari et al.</u> (2013) (2013)
Urine	Spain, 1999–2011	Hazardous waste incinerator	Laboratory workers	9	Annual means, 0.1–2.7 μg/g creatinine	NR	<u>Agramunt et al.</u> (2003); <u>Mari et al.</u> (2013) (2013)
Urine	Spain, 1999–2011	Hazardous waste incinerator	Administrative/ management workers	υ	Annual means, 0.4–2.0 µg/g creatinine	NR	<u>Agramunt et al.</u> (2003); <u>Mari et al.</u> (2013) (2013)
Urine	USA, NR	Wood treating plant	PCP application to the lumber – vat dipping	11	Mean, 2600 μg/L	NR	<u>Casarett et al.</u> (1969)
Urine	USA, NR	Wood treating plant	PCP application to the lumber – tank	11	Mean, 1600 μg/L	NR	Casarett et al. (1969)
Urine	Italy, NR	Wooden strip board factory	Applied PCP by brush to wooden boards	14	Mean, 127.3 μg/L; median, 69.5 μg/L	2-324 μg/L	<u>Colosio et al. (1993)</u>
Urine	Italy, NR	Wooden strip board factory	Handled treated wood and other indirect exposure	18	Mean, 154 µg/L; median, 125 µg/L	31-363 μg/L	<u>Colosio et al. (1993)</u>
Urine	Italy, NR	Wooden strip board factory	Unexposed	37	Mean, 4.7 μg/L; median, 3.7 μg/L	$0-27 \ \mu g/L$	<u>Colosio et al. (1993)</u>
Urine	Spain, 1999–2000	Hazardous waste incinerator	Plant workers	19	Annual means 0.5–1.9 μg/g creatinine	NR	Domingo et al. (2001); Schuhmacher et al. (2002)
Urine	Spain, 1999–2000	Hazardous waste incinerator	Laboratory workers	ε	Annual means, 0.14–1.9 μg/g creatinine	NR	<u>Domingo</u> et al. (2001); Schuhmacher et al. (2002)

Pentachlorophenol

Table 1.	.2 (continué	ed)					
Sample	Country,	Occupation	Work tasks, type of worker,	No. of	Exposure		Reference
matrix	year		or specinc exposure	workers	Level	Range	
Urine	Spain, 1999–2000	Hazardous waste incinerator	Administrative workers	1	Annual means, 0.51–1.7 μg/g creatinine	NR	Domingo et al. (2001); Schuhmacher et al. (2002)
Urine	Spain, 1999–2000	Hazardous waste incinerator	Pre-employment baseline	28	0.45 μg/g creatinine	0.03–1.40 μg/g creatinine	<u>Domingo</u> et al. (2001); Schuhmacher et al. (2002)
Urine	Canada, NR	Sawmill workers	Close proximity to treated lumber, but no dermal contact	б	Mean, $45 \pm 15 \mu g/L$	NR	Embree et al. (1984)
Urine	Canada, NR	Sawmill workers	Dermal contact with treated lumber	.0	Mean, $105 \pm 18 \mu g/L$	NR	<u>Embree et al. (1984)</u>
Urine	Portugal, NR	Wood transformation unit	Mean, 6 years of exposure	11	Mean, 1200 μg/L	70-5566 μg/L	<u>Ferreira et al.</u> (1997)
Urine	USA, NR	Wood treatment	Wood treaters	88	Mean, $174 \pm 342 \mu g/L$	NR	<u>Gilbert et al. (1990)</u>
Urine	USA, NR	Wood treatment	Unexposed	61	Mean, $35 \pm 53 \mu g/L$	NR	Gilbert et al. (1990)
Urine	United Kingdom, NR	PCP manufacturing	Formulation of PCP- containing fluids	26	Mean 39.6 nmol/mmol creatinine	7.4–300 nmol/mmol creatinine	<u>Jones et al. (1986)</u>
Urine	United Kingdom, NR	Wood treatment	Remedial sprayers working on house timber treatment	112	Mean, 274 nmol/mmol creatinine	11–1260 nmol/mmol creatinine	<u>Iones et al. (1986)</u>
Urine	United Kingdom, NR	Wood treatment	Handled treated wood in fabrication of pallets, roof trusses	54	Mean, 74 nmol/mmol creatinine	5–655 nmol/mmol creatinine	<u>Jones et al. (1986)</u>
Urine	United Kingdom, NR	Wood treatment	Timber-treatment operators (unexposed)	6	Mean, 35.5 nmol/mmol creatinine	10.3–151.4 nmol/mmol creatinine	<u>Jones et al. (1986)</u>
Urine	USA, NR	Lumber mill	Unexposed workers from a lumber mill engaged in wood treatment with PCP	114	Monthly geometric mean, 32.2 µg/L	3-137 μg/L	<u>Kalman (1984)</u>
Urine	USA, 1981–1982	Lumber mill	Sapstain preparation and treatment	88	Monthly means, 69–103 μg/L	4–636 μg/L	<u>Kleinman et al.</u> (1986)
Urine	USA, 1981–1982	Lumber mill	Unexposed	38	Monthly means, 29–39 μg/L	NR	<u>Kleinman et al.</u> (1986)

Table 1	.2 (continu	(pa					
Sample	Country,	Occupation	Work tasks, type of worker,	No. of	Exposure		Reference
matrix	year		or specific exposure	workers	Level	Range	I
Urine	USA, 1967–1973	Agriculture and wood processing	Farmers or pest control operators	210	Mean, 10 µg/L	< 10- 400 µg/L	<u>Klemmer et al.</u> (1980)
Urine	USA, 1967–1973	Agriculture and wood processing	Workers involved in dipping wood products in a 5% PCP mixture	18	Mean, 950 μg/L	< 10–7800 µg/L	<u>Klemmer et al.</u> (1980)
Urine	USA, 1967–1973	Agriculture and wood processing	Workers involved in pressure treatment of wood products	23	Mean, 270 µg/L	< 10–2400 µg/L	<u>Klemmer et al.</u> (<u>1980)</u>
Urine	USA, 1967–1973	Agriculture and wood processing	Unexposed	32	Mean, 30 μg/L	< 10–1000 µg/L	<u>Klemmer et al.</u> (1980)
Urine	Finland, NR	Sawmill workers	Contact with chlorophenols	35	NR	< LOD–15.9 μg/g creatinine	<u>Kontsas et al.</u> (1995)
Urine	Finland, NR	Sawmill workers	Unexposed	17	NR	< LOD-13.7 μg/g	<u>Kontsas et al.</u> (1995)
Urine	Finland, 1980–1981	Sawmill workers	Primarily dermal contact with chlorophenols	112	Median, 7.8 μmol/L [2 × 10³ μg/L]	0.1–211 μmol/L [26–56 × 10 ³ μg/L]	<u>Lindroos et al.</u> (1987)
Urine	Finland, 1980–1981	Sawmill workers	Skin and respiratory exposure to chlorophenols	84	Median, 1.4 μmol/L [373 μg/L]	0.1–48 μmol/L [26–13 × 10³ μg/L]	<u>Lindroos et al.</u> (1987)
Urine	Finland, 1980–1981	Sawmill workers	Primarily respiratory exposure to chlorophenols	34	Median, 0.9 μmol/L [240 μg/L]	0.1–13 μmol/L [26–3.5 × 10 ³ μg/L]	<u>Lindroos et al.</u> (1987)
Urine	Finland, NR	Sawmill workers	Moving lumber that was dipped in chlorophenol solution containing 23% trichlorophenol, 74% tetrachlorophenol, 3% PCP		Mean, 0.34 μmol/L [90 μg/L]	0.2–0.9 μmol/L [53–240 μg/L]	Pekari et al. (1991)
Urine	Germany, 1997	Harbor workers	River dredging	83	Median, 1.4 µg/g creatinine	0.1–18.1 μg/g creatinine	<u>Radon et al. (2004)</u>
Urine	Germany, 1997	Harbor workers	Office workers	80	Median, 1.0 μg/g creatinine	0.1–8.1 μg/g creatinine	<u>Radon et al. (2004)</u>
Urine	Canada, 1989	Electrical utility	Linemen	23	Geometric mean, 29.6 µg/g creatinine	NR	<u>Thind et al. (1991)</u>
Urine	Canada, 1989	Electrical utility	Administrative workers	5	Geometric mean, 10.2 µg/g creatinine	NR	<u>Thind et al. (1991)</u>
Urine	USA, 1972	Wood treatment plant	Plant workers, including managers, loaders, labourers, pressure treater	9	Monthly mean, 84–312 μg/L	NR	Wyllie et al. (1975)

Pentachlorophenol

Table 1	.2 (continue	(p					
Sample	Country,	Occupation	Work tasks, type of worker,	No. of	Exposure		Reference
matrix	year		or specific exposure	workers	Level	Range	I
Urine	USA,1972	Wood treatment plant	Chemists	1	NA	2.6–4.3 μg/L	<u>Wyllie et al. (1975)</u>
Urine	Canada, 1987	Sawmills	67 sawmill jobs	225	Mean, 99 µg/L; geometric mean, 43 µg/L	2–989 μg/L GSD, 3.6	<u>Teschke et al.</u> (1989)
Urine	Germany, NR	PCP production facility	PCP production area	8	$2380 \pm 1910 \mu g/L$	NR	<u>Bauchinger et al.</u> (1982)
Urine	Germany, NR	PCP production facility	Na-PCP sacking area	14	$840\pm650~\mu g/L$	NR	<u>Bauchinger et al.</u> (<u>1982)</u>
Blood	Germany, NR	PCP production facility	PCP production area	8	$4730 \pm 3410 \ \mu g/L$	NR	<u>Bauchinger et al.</u> (1982)
Blood	Germany, NR	PCP production facility	Na-PCP sacking area	14	$2230 \pm 1510 \ \mu g/L$	NR	<u>Bauchinger et al.</u> (1982)
Blood	Germany, NR	PCP production facility	Transported, weighed raw materials for PCP production	6	Mean, 58 µg/L	23-116 µg/L	<u>Ziemsen et al.</u> (1987)
Blood	Germany, NR	PCP production facility	Handled finished PCP solutions	11	Mean, 330 μg/L	59-775 μg/L	<u>Ziemsen et al.</u> (1987)
GSD, geom	etric standard dev	iation; LOD, limit of d	letection; Na-PCP, sodium pentachl	orophenate	; NA, not applicable; NR, nc	t reported; PCP, pentachlorophen	lot

ŝ

IARC MONOGRAPHS – 117

1.4.2 Community exposure

Pentachlorophenol is a persistent organic pollutant (EPA, 2008; United Nations, 2010). Community exposure may continue long after the cessation of pentachlorophenol use. The general population may be exposed from proximity to pentachlorophenol-treated wood products, and from food, land, air, and water contaminated with pentachlorophenol. Exposure may also occur from dermal contact with leathers and textiles treated with pentachlorophenol, such as leather car seats in hot weather (Favaro et al., <u>2008</u>). The largest sources of pentachlorophenol emissions are wood preservation and hazardous waste handling of pentachlorophenol-treated wood products. In the USA in 2008, an estimated 172 kg of pentachlorophenol was released to the air, 513 kg to the water, and 1865 kg was placed in landfills (United Nations, 2010).

Dietary exposure to pentachlorophenol has been estimated to account for nearly all non-occupational human exposure because pentachlorophenol partitions mainly into the soil (96.5%) and accumulates in the food chain, especially in fruits, vegetables, and grains (Hattemer-Frey & Travis 1989; Coad & Newhook, 1992); however, a more recent study suggested that inhalation exposure may account for 43–54% of pentachlorophenol exposure in children aged 3 years (Wilson et al., 2010).

(a) Water

Pentachlorophenol has low water solubility (14 mg/L at 25 °C) (Choudhary et al., 2013). Tap and well water concentrations of pentachlorophenol in China were on average $0.01-0.12 \mu g/L$, with a maximum of $0.77 \mu g/L$ (Zheng et al., 2012). Drinking-water samples in Poland had mean pentachlorophenol concentrations ranging from 0.70 to 3.27 $\mu g/L$, and river-water samples had pentachlorophenol concentrations ranging from 0.03 to 640 $\mu g/L$ (Michałowicz et al., 2011), and examples of private drinking-water sources

being contaminated from new installations of pentachlorophenol-treated utility poles have been reported (Karlsson et al., 2013). In surface water samples in China, average pentachlorophenol concentrations ranged from not detected to 7.4 µg/L, varying by water type, location, year, and use of pentachlorophenol (Zheng et al., 2012). Freshwater and marine water samples from Belgium, France, Germany, the Netherlands, and the United Kingdom contained pentachlorophenol at concentrations that typically ranged from 0.01 to 0.17 µg/L, with maximum average concentrations up to 1.5 µg/L (Muir & Eduljee, 1999).

(b) Sediment and soil

In China, mean soil and sediment concentrations of pentachlorophenol were < 10 μ g/kg dry weight (dw) for 29 of the 37 locations tested, between 10-63 μ g/kg dw for 7 locations, and the remaining location had a mean concentration of 15 850 µg/kg dw (Zheng et al., 2012). Pentachlorophenol concentrations in the soil of rice fields in Japan decreased by half from the 1980s (0.72-41 ng/g dw; mean, 10 ng/g) to the 2000s (not detected to 21 ng/g dw; mean, 4.9 ng/g dw); however, concentrations of PCDD/ Fs remained steady (Kobayashi et al., 2008). The observed PCDD/F congeners were consistent with impurities in pentachlorophenol and in 2,4,5-trichlorophenyl-4'-nitrophenylether(chlornitrofen). In Belgium, France, Germany, the Netherlands, and the United Kingdom, pentachlorophenol concentrations in freshwater sediments fell from levels of 200 µg/kg in 1991 to 15 μg/kg in 1997 (<u>Muir & Eduljee, 1999</u>).

(c) Air

Detectable concentrations of pentachlorophenol were present in 29 of 30 air samples collected in Canada, with mean air concentrations of 0.23 ng/m³ in Waskesiu, 0.30 ng/m³ in Regina, and 1.53 ng/m³ in Yellowknife (Cessna et al., 1997). Pentachlorophenol was present in 7 of 11 air samples from two Canadian cities, with concentrations ranging from 0.2 to 6.8 ng/m³ (Waite et al., 1998). In the same study, pentachlorophenol concentrations in the air of rural sites ranged from 0.1 to 1.5 ng/m³ and were detected less frequently. Pentachlorophenol was also found in all air samples collected adjacent to a utility-pole storage site with concentrations ranging from 0.7 to 1233 ng/m³ (Waite et al., 1998). Pentachlorophenol was detected in the air in all seven precipitation samples collected during rain events in Portland, Oregon, USA, in 1984, with a mean concentration of 54 ng/L; pentachlorophenol was not detected in the concurrently collected air samples (Leuenberger et al., 1985).

(d) Residential exposure

Pentachlorophenol was detected in 94% of household dust samples taken from rooms in which children spent the most time, in California, USA, in 2001–2006, with arithmetic and geometric mean concentrations of pentachlorophenol of 199 ng/g and 77 ng/g, respectively (Ward et al., 2009).

Pentachlorophenol was detected in more than 50% of the indoor air (median, $1.2-2.1 \text{ ng/m}^3$), outdoor air (median, 0.22-0.91 ng/m3), and dust samples (median, 35-81 ng/g) from the homes and day-care facilities in North Carolina and Ohio, USA, in 2000-2001 (Wilson et al., 2007). Household dust concentrations in homes in Germany had low concentrations of pentachlorophenol, with a 95th percentile of 2.8 mg/kg in 1990/91 and 1.2 mg/kg in 1997/98 (Heudorf et al., 2000). The median pentachlorophenol concentration in household dust samples in homes in Germany with wooden panelling to which wood preservatives had been applied earlier was 5.0 ppm, with 72% of samples less than 25 ppm and 5% greater than 100 ppm (Meissner & Schweinsberg, 1996). Pentachlorophenol was detected in 96% of 861 vacuum-dust samples from German homes, with a median concentration of 0.3 μ g/g (range, < 0.03–30.9 μ g/g) (Seifert et al., 2000).

(e) Food

Pentachlorophenol was used for fish-pond cleaning in China for control of the schistosomiasis vector via molluscicide activity (Zheng et al., 2012). A review found low concentrations of pentachlorophenol in aquatic organisms, ranging from < 0.02 to 172 µg/kg wet weight (ww) (Zheng et al., 2012). Seafood samples contained pentachlorophenol at concentrations ranging from 37.7 ng/g ww in fish to 146 ng/g ww in crab (Basheer et al., 2004). Common carp contained pentachlorophenol at concentrations of < 0.5–61 µg/kg ww (Ge et al., 2007).

Pentachlorophenol was detected in fewer than 21% of the solid food samples of 257 children in the USA (Wilson et al., 2007). The proportion of pork samples containing pentachlorophenol at > 0.1 ppm dropped from 32% in 1981–82 to 6.6% in 1987-88 (MacNeil et al., 1990). For animals exposed to pentachlorophenol in wood shavings, serum pentachlorophenol concentrations ranged from 0.08 to 5.26 ppm in bovines, and liver pentachlorophenol concentrations ranged from 0.02 to 2.16 ppm in chickens (MacNeil et al., 1990). Pentachlorophenol concentrations in eggs of hens reared on pentachlorophenol-contaminated wood shavings was 500 ng/g whole weight (Brambilla et al., 2009). Egg concentrations dropped after pentachlorophenol-contaminated shavings were removed. Pentachlorophenol concentrations in the threshing floor material of henhouses in Poland were 11 \pm 2.8 µg/kg (Piskorska-Pliszczynska et al., 2016).

Pentachlorophenol concentrations ranging from 0.054 to 0.11 μ g/g were detected in 5 of 12 recycled paper/paperboard food packaging samples, but none was detected in 16 virgin paper products (Ozaki et al., 2004).

Chlorophenols have been used during the production of bark cork, and may inadvertently

form from the use of hypochlorite solutions to clean cork stoppers and wooden barrels (Ozhan et al., 2009). Pentachlorophenol has been measured in oak barrels that are used to age wine and other spirits, with concentrations ranging from 5 to 120 μ g/g (Pizarro et al., 2006). Pentachlorophenol concentrations in red wine varied from 12 to 123 ng/L and were correlated with trichlorophenol concentrations in the cork (Ozhan et al., 2009).

In northern Bavaria, Germany, the mean concentration of pentachlorophenol in the diet was $13.9 \pm 8.0 \ \mu\text{g/kg}$, with a range of 2.7 to 27.6 $\mu\text{g/kg}$, excluding one high value of 516 $\mu\text{g/kg}$ (Gever et al., 1987).

(f) Biological markers

Pentachlorophenol has been measured in the urine and blood of populations of varying ages and geographical locations over the past several decades (Table 1.3). The proportion of samples with detectable concentrations of pentachlorophenol ranged from ≈50 to 100%. Reported mean and median urinary concentrations ranged from 1 to 14 μ g/g creatinine, and from < 1 to 25 μ g/L, respectively. In a literature review of studies from China, Zheng et al. (2012) found urinary pentachlorophenol concentrations ranging from < 0.1to 2523 µg/L, with significantly higher concentrations in areas where schistosomiasis is epidemic and where Na-PCP was used as a biocide than in control areas (mean, 111 vs 0.35 µg/L, respectively). In the epidemic areas, the mean concentration of pentachlorophenol in body fluids was 253 μg/L (<u>Zheng et al., 2012</u>).

In the USA, mean serum pentachlorophenol concentrations were higher in people living in pentachlorophenol-treated homes than in conventional homes (not treated with pentachlorophenol) (420 vs 40 ppb [μ g/L]) (Cline et al., 1989).

In Sweden, breast milk was found to have median concentrations of pentachlorophenol of 20 pg/g (range, 10–570 pg/g) (Guvenius et al.,

<u>2003</u>). Concentrations of pentachlorophenol in breast milk in China ranged from 0.32 to 13 ng/g (mean, 2.2 ng/g) (<u>Hong et al., 2005</u>) and from 2 to 3 μ g/L (<u>Zheng et al., 2012</u>).

In 17 males aged 16–87 years in northern Bavaria, Germany, mean concentrations of pentachlorophenol were 80 μ g/kg, 50 μ g/kg, 50 μ g/kg, 20 μ g/kg, 14 μ g/kg, 25 μ g/L, and 6.9 μ g/L, respectively, in liver, kidney, brain, spleen, adipose, blood, and urine (Geyer et al., 1987). Similar concentrations were observed in four females.

In a meta-analysis of data from various geographical regions, pentachlorophenol levels in human blood decreased exponentially between 1978 and 2008 (Zheng et al., 2011). Worldwide blood concentrations were predicted to be 2.5–7 μ g/L between 1995 and 2003, and 39-90 µg/L between 1967 and 1979. Highest body burdens of pentachlorophenol in the 1980s were observed in North America (geometric mean, 123.26 µg/L), but after 1995 pentachlorophenol body burdens in North America and Europe were similar (mean, $1.15-3.14 \mu g/L$). The geometric mean for Sweden during 1976-2001 was only 5.34 µg/kg, reduced by 80% compared with 21.7 μ g/kg in the 1970s and 1980s. Mean pentachlorophenol concentrations in breast milk and adipose samples were $14 \,\mu g/kg$ and $11 \,\mu g/kg$, respectively. The rate of decline in pentachlorophenol concentrations was slower in blood than in urine, with a weak decreasing trend in lipid samples (Zheng et al., 2011).

The long-term average daily intake of pentachlorophenol in the 1980s was estimated to be 16 µg/day (<u>Hattemer-Frey & Travis, 1989</u>). Estimated total daily pentachlorophenol exposure in the Canadian general population was estimated to be 99, 105, 50, and 28 ng/kg body weight (bw) per day in infants, toddlers, children, and adults, respectively (<u>Coad & Newhook</u>, 1992). In the same study, aboriginal subsistence fishermen were estimated to have a daily pentachlorophenol intake of 58 ng/kg bw per day. The median measured aggregate potential dose was 7–9 ng/kg bw per day in children aged 3 years and younger, and was estimated to be 37–51% from the diet, 43–54% from inhalation, and 6–9% from other sources (Wilson et al., 2010). Estimated pentachlorophenol intake of infants from breast milk ranged from 0.09 to 3.73 mg/infant-year in China (Hong et al., 2005).

1.5. Regulations and guidelines

A list of regulations and guidelines for occupational exposure to pentachlorophenol in air is provided in <u>Table 1.4</u>.

Before 2014. recommended American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists (ACGIH) limits for biological measures of exposure were 2 mg/g creatinine in urine (before last shift of work week) and 5 mg/L in plasma (end of shift) (ATSDR, 2001). In 2014, those recommended limits were removed; ACGIH currently recommends monitoring in urine for occupationally exposed individuals without recommending any particular limit (ACGIH, 2014).

There are additional restrictions and requirements regarding pentachlorophenol in food packaging and additives, transportation, hazardous waste, and releases to the environment in the USA, and some states within the USA impose additional restrictions (<u>ATSDR, 2001</u>).

Pentachlorophenol is also regulated as a potential water contaminant in some regions. For example, in the USA the maximum allowable concentration for pentachlorophenol in drinking-water (bottled or tap water) is 1 μ g/L (EPA, 2016). The World Health Organization (WHO) has a provisional guideline value of 9 μ g/L in drinking-water (WHO, 2003).

Pentachlorophenol and its salts and esters are listed in Annex A of the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants, under which parties must take steps to eliminate production and use unless they have registered for an exemption (Stockholm Convention, 2008).

As of 2009, pentachlorophenol may not be placed on the market or used as a substance, or used in a concentration equal to or greater than 0.1% by weight in substances or preparations placed on the market in the European Community (European Commission, 2014). According to the European Union harmonized classification and labelling system, pentachlorophenol is "suspected of causing cancer (Carc. 2)" [H351], "fatal if inhaled (Acute Tox. 2)" [H330], "toxic if swallowed (Acute Tox. 3)" [H301], "toxic in contact with skin (Acute Tox. 3)" [H311], "very toxic to aquatic life (Aquatic Acute 1)" [H400], and "very toxic to aquatic life with long lasting effects (Aquatic Chronic 1)" [H410], and "causes serious eye irritation (Eye Irrit. 2)" [H319], "causes skin irritation (Skin Irrit. 2)" [H315], and "may cause respiratory irritation (STOT SE 3)" [H335] (ECHA, 2016). Before this European Community directive, Austria, Denmark, Finland, Germany, the Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, and Switzerland had more restrictive policies or bans on the use of pentachlorophenol (OSPAR, 2004). France, Ireland, Portugal, Spain, and the United Kingdom were directed to phase out the use of pentachlorophenol in treatment of wood and certain heavy-duty textiles between 2006 and 2009 (European Commission, 2007).

Pentachlorophenol-containing products including treated wood and glue cannot be produced, used or imported into Japan, where pentachlorophenol is listed as a class I specified chemical due to its persistence, potential for bioaccumulation, and toxicity (<u>Ministry of</u> <u>Health, Labour and Welfare, 2016</u>).

The sale and use of pesticides containing pentachlorophenol are restricted to limited commercial uses in the USA (ATSDR, 2001).

Table 1.3 (Concentra	tions of penta	achloro	phenol in biological san	nples from the general	population	
Country,	Age	Sample	No. of	Exposure		Comments	Reference
year	(years)	matrix	samples	Level	Range, % detects		
Japan, 1974	28-79	Adipose tissue	25	Mean, 0.14 ppm	< 0.005–0.57 ppm, 76% detects		<u>Ohe (1979)</u>
Belgium, NR	21-74	Spinal fluid	16	Mean, 0.75 ± 0.49 μg/L	0.24–2.03 μg/L, 100% detects	No correlation with serum PCP levels; 3 subjects had previously used PCP-containing wood preservatives	<u>Iorens et al.</u> (1991)
Sweden, 2000–2001	Mean, 32	Breast milk Maternal	15 15	20 pg/g fresh weight 2830 pg/g fresh weight	10–570 pg/g fresh weight, 100% detects 1360–13 200 pg/g fresh		<u>Guvenius et al.</u> (2003)
		piasma Cord blood plasma	15	1960 pg/g fresh weight	weignt, 100% detects 820–7580 pg/g fresh weight, 100% detects		
Canada, 1993–96	21-74	Umbilical cord plasma	30	Median, 1670 pg/g wet weight	628–7680 pg/g wet weight, 100% detects		<u>Sandau et al.</u> (2002)
Germany, 1998	0-62	Plasma	623	Mean, 2.4 µg/L; Median, 1.7 µg/L	< LOD-59.3 μg/L		<u>Heudorf et al.</u> (2000)
Norway	48-62	Plasma	281	Mean, 958 ng/L; Median, 711 ng/L	< LOD-7686 ng/L, 94% detects	Women	<u>Rylander et al.</u> (2012)
Nigeria	Adults	Blood	29	NR	< trace-21.3 ppb, [trace-0.23 μg/L] 100% detects		<u>Atuma & Okor</u> (1985)
Spain, 2001–2003	4	Serum	66	Mean, 6.4 µg/L	1.5–35 μg/L, NR	Children in the area of a large factory producing organochlorine solvents	<u>Carrizo et al.</u> (2008)
Spain, 2001–2003	4	Serum	131	Mean, 0.61 µg/L	< 0-4.7 µg/L, NR	Children in a rural environment not exposed to high HCB or PeCB inputs	<u>Carrizo et al.</u> (2008)
USA, 1980–86	NR	Serum	34	Mean, 40 μg/L; median, 40 μg/L	15-75 μg/L, 100% detects	Higher in those living in PCP-treated homes than in conventional homes (means 420 vs 40 ppb [µg/L], respectively)	<u>Cline et al.</u> (1989)
Portugal, NR	Adults	Serum	10	Mean, 15 μg/L	3-17 μg/L, 100% detects		<u>Ferreira et al.</u> (1997)
Spain, 1985	Adults	Serum	50	Mean, 21.9 μg/L	2.5–116.5 μg/L, 100% detects		<u>Gómez-Catalán</u> et al. (1987 <u>)</u>

Pentachlorophenol

Table 1.3	(continue	d)					
Country,	Age	Sample	No. of	Exposure		Comments	Reference
year	(years)	matrix	samples	Level	Range, % detects		
Belgium, NR	21-74	Serum	16	Mean, 22 ± 16 μg/L	4 to 60 μg/L, 100% detects	Three patients had previously used PCP- containing wood preservatives	<u>Jorens et al.</u> (1991)
Nigeria, NR	Adults	Urine	35	NR	< 0.025–0.23 ppm, [25–230 µg/L] 100% detects		<u>Atuma & Okor</u> (1985)
USA, 1980–86	NR	Urine	143	Mean, 3.4 µg/L; median, 3.0 µg/L	1-17 μg/L, 100% detects		<u>Cline et al.</u> (1989)
Portugal, NR	Adults	Urine	10	Mean, 6 μg/L	1–31 μg/L, 100% detects		<u>Ferreira et al.</u> (1997)
Spain, 1985	Adults	Urine	50	Mean, 25 μg/L	4-136 μg/L, 100% detects	Correlation with tetrachlorophenol, r = 0.883	<u>Gómez-Catalán</u> et al. (1987)
USA, 1976–80	12-74	Urine	0669	Median detected, 6 μg/L	< 2–2670 µg/L, 72% detects		<u>Kutz et al.</u> (<u>1992)</u>
Germany, 1990–1998	25-69	Urine	1895	GM, 2.7 μg/L (1990/92), 1 μg/L (1998)	 < 1–13 (95th percentile) μg/L, 82% detects (1990/92), 50% detects (1998) 	No difference by presence of wood preservatives at home	<u>Schulz et al.</u> (2007)
Canada, NR	6-87	Urine	69	Mean, 0.75 μg/L; median, 0.5 μg/L	0.05–3.6 μg/L, 94% detects	24-h urine collection, 0.5–20.2 nmol/day	<u>Treble &</u> <u>Thompson</u> (1996)
USA, 1998–2001	Pregnant women	Urine	361	Median, 7.3 μg/g creatinine	10–90th percentile: 1.1–67 µg/g creatinine		<u>Berkowitz et al.</u> (2003)
USA, 1999–2002	Pregnant women	Urine	747	NR	 < 0.9–29.5 μg/L, 2–4% detects; NHANES: < 0.5–15.2 μg/L, 10% detects 	Agricultural area, California	<u>Castorina et al.</u> (2010)
USA, NR	2-6	Urine	197	Median, 14 µg/g creatinine	> 1 (minimum NR) -330 μg/g creatine, 100% detects		<u>Hill et al. (1989)</u>
USA, 1988–94	20-59	Urine	886	Median, 1.2 μg/g creatinine	< 1–29 μg/g creatinine, 59% detects		<u>Hill et al. (1995)</u>
USA, 2001	Adults	Urine	106	Mean, 0.7 µg/g creatinine; median, 0.4 µg/g creatinine	< 0.2–6.4 µg/g creatinine, 96% detects		<u>Morgan (2015)</u>
Canada, 1993	36-76	Urine	31	Mean, 1.3 µg/L	< 2–3.2 μg/L	Sport fish consumers from three Great Lakes	<u>Anderson et al.</u> (1998)

Table 1.3 (continued)

Country,	Age	Sample	No. of	Exposure		Comments	Reference
year	(years)	matrix	samples	Level	Range, % detects		
Germany, 1990–1992	18-79	Urine	1295	GM, 2.67 μg/L (adults)	95th percentile, 12.8 μ g/L		<u>Seifert et al.</u> (2000)
Germany 1990–1992	6-14	Urine	695	GM, 4.15 μg/L	95th percentile, 14.9 μg/L		<u>Seifert et al.</u> (2000)
USA, NR	1.5-5	Urine	254	Mean, 0.61–1.27 μg/L; GM, 0.63, 2.20 μg/L	< 0.1–23.8 µg/L, 94% detect		<u>Wilson et al.</u> (2007)

GM, geometric mean; HCB, hexachlorobenzene; NHANES, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey; NR, not reported; PCP, pentachlorophenol; PeCB, pentachlorobenzene; TCP, trichlorophenol

Country or region	Concentration (mg/m ³)	Value
Australia	0.5	TWA
Belgium	0.5	TWA
Canada, Ontario	0.5	TWA
Canada, Quebec	0.05	TWA
Denmark	0.05	TWA
Denmark	0.1	STEL
Finland	0.5	TWA
Finland	1.5	15-min STEL
Hungary	0.001	TWA
Ireland	0.5	TWA
Ireland	1.5	15-min STEL
Japan, JSOH	0.5	TWA
New Zealand	0.5	TWA
China	0.3	TWA
Poland	0.5	TWA
Poland	1.5	STEL
Singapore	0.5	TWA
Republic of Korea	0.5	TWA
Spain	0.5	TWA
Sweden	0.5	TWA
Sweden	1.5	15-min STEL
Switzerland	0.05	TWA inhalable aerosol
United Kingdom	0.5	TWA
United Kingdom	1.5	STEL
USA		
ACGIH (TLV)	0.5	TWA
ACGIHª	1	STEL
NIOSH (REL)	0.5	10-h TWA
NIOSH (IDLH)	2.5	TWA
OSHA (PEL)	0.5	TWA

Table 1.4 Regulations and guidelines for occupational limits for pentachlorophenol in air

^a Confirmed animal carcinogen with unknown relevance to humans (A3)

ACGIH, American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists; IDLH, immediately dangerous to life or health; IRIS, Integrated Risk Information System; JSOH, Japan Society for Occupational Health; NIOSH, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health; OSHA, Occupational Safety and Health Administration; PEL, permissible exposure limit; REL, recommended exposure limit; STEL, short-term exposure limit; TLV, threshold limit value; TWA, 8-hour time-weighted average (unless otherwise specified) From <u>ATSDR (2001); IFA (2016)</u>

2. Cancer in Humans

Several epidemiological studies have examined risk of cancer associated with exposure to pentachlorophenol. A series of population-based case-control studies conducted in Sweden, New Zealand, and the USA have investigated associations between a range of chlorophenols and phenoxy herbicides and lymphatic and haematopoietic cancers and soft tissue sarcoma. In addition, a case-control study nested within a cohort identified from an international register of occupationally exposed workers also examined risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) and soft tissue sarcoma. There have been four informative studies in occupational cohorts that have included exposure assessment techniques designed to separate the effects attributable to pentachlorophenol from those associated with the other chlorophenols or phenoxy herbicides and their dioxin contaminants. Studies that reported results only for chlorophenols in general (see Section 1.3.2 for a list of studies) were judged to be uninformative and were not considered further by the Working Group.

2.1 Cohort studies

See <u>Table 2.1</u>.

Kogevinas et al. (1995) conducted two case-control studies of soft tissue sarcoma and NHL nested within an international register of workers exposed to phenoxy herbicides, chlorophenols, and dioxins, which had previously been used for a cohort study of mortality, coordinated by IARC. The IARC cohort consisted of more than 21 000 workers from 24 cohorts in 11 countries: 11 cases of soft tissue sarcoma and 32 cases of NHL were identified. Five controls per case, matched for age, sex, and country of residence were selected from the cohort. Quantitative estimates of exposure of all participants to 21 chemicals or mixtures were developed by a panel of industrial hygienists on the basis of information obtained from company exposure questionnaires and company records combined with individual job history. Study participants were categorized as non- or ever-exposed, and the ever-exposed assigned to low, medium, or high exposure categories. Conditional logistic regression analyses were used to calculate odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) for each chemical. No cases of soft tissue sarcoma were observed in those exposed to pentachlorophenol, while there were three pentachlorophenol-exposed cases of NHL, giving an elevated but not statistically significant risk estimate (OR, 2.75; 95% CI, 0.45-17.00; 3 cases). In the analyses by level of exposure (lagged by 5 years), all three cases of NHL with exposure to pentachlorophenol were in the high exposure category (OR, 4.19; 95% CI, 0.59–29.59); however, the cases were all from one British cohort originally assembled to investigate a cluster of lymphoma cases at the plant. Several other exposures were also associated with a non-statistically significant excess risk of NHL including "any dioxin or furan" and TCDD. Exposure-response relationships of increasing risk with increasing exposure to "any dioxin or furan" and TCDD were observed. [The Working Group noted that this was a large cohort, with objective exposure assessment methods. The limitations included that only mortality was assessed, that exposures to several compounds were highly correlated, and that only three cases of NHL were exposed to pentachlorophenol and all were from the same plant.]

Demers et al. (2006) conducted an extended follow-up of mortality and cancer incidence in a cohort of about 27 000 male workers employed for at least 1 year between 1950 and 1995 in 14 sawmills in British Columbia, Canada. This cohort had previously been studied by <u>Hertzman</u> et al. (1997). Eleven of these sawmills had used chlorophenates as antifungal wood treatments (either tetrachlorophenol or pentachlorophenol, or a mixture of both), while the remaining three

pentachlorophenol
exposure to
้า cancer and
phort studies or
Table 2.1 Co

Reference, location enrolment/follow-up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Kogevinas et al (1995) Australia, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Netherlands, New Zealand, Sweden, and United Kingdom 1939–1992 Nested case–control	Cases: 32 NHL; 11 STS; International Register of Workers Exposed to Phenoxy Herbicides Controls: 158 NHL; 55 STS; Incidence density sampling (5 controls per case matched for age, sex, country) Exposure assessment method: company records; review by industrial hygienists to estimate exposure to 21 chemicals	NHL (incidence) STS (incidence)	All PCP-exposed workers High cumulative PCP exposure relative to non- exposed Ever exposed	<i>ო ო</i> Ο	2.75 (0.45–17.00) 4.19 (0.59–29.59) -	Age, sex, country of residence when employed Age, sex, country	Strengths: large study; objective exposure assessment methods; estimates of exposure to PCP, phenoxy herbicides, dioxins and furans Limitations: no quantitative exposure information; exposures to several compounds highly correlated; low power
Demers et al. (2006) British Columbia, Canada 1950-1995 Cohort	25 685; 27 464 men employed ≥ 1 year in 14 sawmills, 1950–1995; 25 685 men included for incidence analysis Exposure assessment method: company records; job history combined with history combined with historical records on type of chlorophenol used by time period and estimates from senior workers on intensity of dermal exposure	All cancers combined (incidence) MM (incidence)	Sawmill workers Mortality Incidence PCP exposure-yeat Years of exposure in quartiles: sawmill workers < 1 1–2 2–5 5+ Trend-test <i>P</i> -value. PCP exposure-yeat Years of exposure in quartiles: sawmill workers < 1 2–5 2–5 5+ 2–5 5+ 2–5 5+ 2–5 5+ 2–5 2–5 5+ 2–5 2–5 5+ 2–5 2–5 2–5 2–5 2–5 2–5 2–5 2–5 2–5 2–5	1495 2571 rs 92 38 38 38 38 13 24 17 17 25 25 25 25 4 4	$\begin{array}{c}1 \ (0.95-1.05) \\ 0.99 \ (0.95-1.04) \\ 0.99 \ (0.81-1.21) \\ 0.99 \ (0.81-1.21) \\ 1.33 \ (0.7-2.52) \\ 1.33 \ (0.7-2.52) \\ 1.38 \ (1.08-3.28) \\ 1.71 \ (0.91-3.24) \\ 0.8 \ (0.52-1.18) \\ 0.8 \ (0.52-1.18) \\ 1.3 \ (0.34-4.98) \\ 1.3 \ (0.34-4.98) \end{array}$	Age, calendar Period Period, race Age, time Period, race	This cohort was previously studied by <u>Hertzman et al.</u> (1997) Strengths: large cohort; completeness and duration of follow-up; exposure assessment discriminated between PCP and TCP Limitations: limited power for rare cancers

Reference, location enrolment/follow-up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
<u>Demers et al. (2006)</u>			5+	11	4.18 (1.36-12.9)		
(cont.)			Trend-test P-value:	: 0.02			
		Kidney	PCP exposure-year	rs		Age and time	
		(incidence)	Sawmill workers	79	1.1(0.88 - 1.38)	period	
			< 1	32	1		
			1-2	6	1.03(0.49-2.18)		
			2-5	22	1.79(0.99 - 3.24)		
			5+	16	1.66(0.85 - 3.23)		
			Trend-test P-value:	: 0.07			
		Lung	PCP exposure-year	rs		Age and time	
		(incidence)	Sawmill workers	519	1.02(0.93 - 1.11)	period	
			< 1	216	1		
			1–2	78	1.11 (0.86–1.45)		
			2-5	119	1.07(0.84 - 1.36)		
			5+	106	1.12 (0.87–1.44)		
			Trend-test P-value:	: 0.45			
		Liver/HCC	PCP exposure-year	rs.		Age and time	
		(incidence)	Sawmill workers	21	0.79(0.49 - 1.21)	period	
			< 1	3	1		
			1-2	4	4.09(0.89 - 18.76)		
			2-5	12	8.47 (2.21-32.45)		
			5+	2	1.41 (0.21–9.22)		
			Trend-test P-value:	: 0.18			
		STS	PCP exposure-year	rs.		Age and time	
		(incidence)	Sawmill workers	13	0.84(0.49 - 1.44)	period	
			< 1	18	1		
			1–2	3	0.64(0.18-2.2)		
			2-5	2	$0.18\ (0.04{-}0.85)$		
			5+	0	I		
			Trend-test P-value:	: 0.11			

Table 2.1 (continued)

Table 2.1 (contin	ued)						
Reference, location enrolment/follow-up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Collins et al. (2009) Dow Chemical Co., Michigan, USA 1950–1985 Cohort	773 men; subcohort of a larger dioxin-exposed cohort, selected on the basis of employment in departments with known exposure to PCP Exposure assessment method [*]	All cancers combined NHL	All PCP workers PCP (no TCP) All exposed workers PCP (no TCP) High cumulative	94 71 8 3	1 (0.8–1.2) 1 (0.8–1.3) 2.4 (1–4.7) 2.8 (1.1–5.7) 3.1 (0.6–9.1)	Age, calendar period	Strengths: complete ascertainment of vital status Limitations: small cohort size; men only
	company records		exposure to TCDD, > 0.825 ppb-years High cumulative exposure to HxCDD, > 8 ppb-years	ۍ 4	5.3 (1.7–12.4) 4 6 (1 3–11 8)		
			HpCDD, > 142 hpb-years High cumulative exposure to OCDD, > 470 ppb-years	4	4.7 (1.3–12)		
		Kidney	All PCP workers PCP (no TCP)	4	$\begin{array}{c} 1.7 \ (0.5{-}4.4) \\ 2.3 \ (0.6{-}5.8) \end{array}$		
		Lung	All exposed workers PCP (no TCP)	30 25	1 (0.6–1.4) 1.1 (0.7–1.6)		

Table 2.1 (contin	ued)						
Reference, location enrolment/follow-up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
<u>Ruder &Yiin (2011)</u> USA	2122 members of NIOSH Dioxin Registry,	All cancers combined	All exposed workers	326	1.17 (1.05–1.31)	Age (5 year categories),	Strengths: length of follow- up from first exposure
1936-2005	Exposure assessment		PCP + TCP	88	1.01(0.81 - 1.24)	sex, race	Limitations: most had
Cohort	method:		PCP (no TCP)	238	1.25(1.09 - 1.42)		exposure to multiple
	work in exposed jobs	NHL	All exposed	17	1.77 (1.03 - 2.84)		chemicals
			workers				
			PCP + TCP	8	2.5(1.08 - 4.93)		
			PCP (no TCP)	6	1.41(0.64 - 2.67)		
		MM	All exposed	7	1.5(0.6-3.1)		
			workers				
			PCP + TCP	1	0.72 (0.02–3.99)		
			PCP (no TCP)	9	$1.84\ (0.68-4)$		
		Kidney	All exposed	8	1.2 (0.52–2.37)		
			workers				
			PCP + TCP	4	1.8(0.49 - 4.61)		
			PCP (no TCP)	4	$0.9\ (0.25-2.31)$		
		Lung	All exposed	126	1.36 (1.13-1.62)		
			workers				
			PCP + TCP	27	$0.91 \ (0.6 - 1.33)$		
			PCP (no TCP)	66	1.56 (1.27–1.9)		
CI, confidence interval; H myeloma; NHL, non-Hod tissue sarcoma; TCDD, 2,;	CC, hepatocellular carcinoma; HpC gkin lymphoma; NIOSH, National I 3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo- <i>para</i> -dioxi	(DD, 1,2,3,4,6,7, Institute for Occ in; TCP, 2,4,6-tr	8-heptachlorodibenzo upational Safety and ichlorophenol	o- <i>para</i> -dioxi1 Health; OCD	ı; HxCDD, 1,2,3,4,7,8. D, octachlorodibenzc	-hexachlorodibenz <i>para</i> -dioxin; PCF	o- <i>para</i> -dioxin; MM, multiple ', pentachlorophenol; STS, soft

mills had not. Cumulative dermal exposure to chlorophenate was calculated by combining historical use records and job title-based exposure patterns with duration of employment, and historical records on the chlorophenate formulations used in each mill at different time periods, which were used to assign separate indices of exposure to tetrachlorophenol and pentachlorophenol. In a validation study, the results of urinary chlorophenate measurements in 226 workers in one sawmill currently exposed to pentachlorophenol were strongly correlated with the estimates made by groups of raters including hygienists and senior workers. Urinary chlorophenate levels ranged from 2 to 989 μ g/L, with a geometric mean of 43 μ g/L, and a geometric standard deviation of 3.6. In comparisons between the overall sawmill cohort and the general population of British Columbia, there was no excess in all cancer mortality (SMR, 1.0; 95% CI, 0.95-1.05) or incidence (standardized incidence ratio, SIR, 0.99; 95% CI, 0.95-1.04). There was a moderate elevation in kidney cancer mortality (standardized mortality ratio, SMR, 1.31; 95% CI, 0.98–1.73), but not incidence (SIR, 1.10; 95% CI, 0.88-1.38). Internal analyses based on quartiles of cumulative exposure to pentachlorophenol, after adjustment for age, calendar period, and race, showed significant positive trends in mortality from kidney cancer (P = 0.02) and multiple myeloma (P = 0.03). There were significant positive trends in incidence of NHL (P = 0.03) and multiple myeloma (P = 0.02). When the pentachlorophenol exposures were lagged by 10 or 20 years, the statistically significant positive trends for incidence of both NHL and multiple myeloma remained, as did the trend for kidney cancer with a 20 year lag. By contrast, internal analyses by exposure to tetrachlorophenol showed no significant dose-response relationship for either mortality or incidence of NHL or multiple myeloma, although there was a significant positive trend (P = 0.04) for mortality from kidney cancer, and latency analyses also

showed no significant trends apart from cancer of the rectum. [The Working Group noted that the strengths of this study included the large sample size, the completeness of follow up, the highquality exposure assessment that discriminated between pentachlorophenol and tetrachlorophenol, the conduct of internal analyses, and the examination of both mortality and incidence. A limitation was that the effect estimates for kidney cancer were not adjusted for tetrachlorophenol, but exposure to pentachlorophenol and tetrachlorophenol were not strongly correlated.]

Collins et al. (2009) extended for an additional 9 years the mortality follow-up of a small cohort (n = 773) of pentachlorophenol production workers employed between 1937 and 1980 by a chemical company in Michigan, USA. This cohort consisted of employees who had worked at any time in any department in which exposure to pentachlorophenol could have occurred, and was a subset of a cohort of 2192 workers with exposure to PCDDs that had been assembled previously. Exposure estimates in the form of ordinal rankings of intensity of exposure to pentachlorophenol, to TCDD, and to the higher chlorinated dioxins that are characteristic of the pattern of congeners found as contaminants in pentachlorophenol. Exposure estimates were based on job history and a combination of historical occupational hygiene and process data (Ramlow et al., 1996). Results of a survey of serum dioxin levels in a small group of workers (n = 128) were also used to define separate exposure categories for TCDD and for the specific pentachlorophenol-related HxCDDs, HpCDDs, and OCDD. A subset of 577 workers who were determined to have been exposed to pentachlorophenol but not to 2,4,6-trichlorophenol were also identified from historical records. In comparisons of the overall cohort with the general population of the USA, no excess risk of mortality from all cancers (SMR, 1.0; 95% CI, 0.8-1.2) was observed, although mortality from NHL was significantly elevated in both the overall cohort

(SMR, 2.4; 95% CI, 1.0-4.7; 8 deaths) and in the pentachlorophenol-only cohort (SMR, 2.8; 95% CI, 1.1–5.7; 7 deaths). There was also a non-statistically significant increase in the SMR for kidney cancer among all workers exposed to pentachlorophenol (SMR, 1.7; 95% CI, 0.5-4.4; 4 deaths), and in the pentachlorophenol-only cohort (SMR, 2.3; 95% CI, 0.6-5.8; 4 deaths). Internal analyses stratified on the basis of cumulative exposure to the dioxin congeners tested showed a statistically significant increase in mortality from NHL at the highest tertile of exposure to the pentachlorophenol-related congeners, but not to TCDD which suggests a stronger association with pentachlorophenol (and the characteristic dioxin congeners) than with dioxins per se]. Mortality from NHL was elevated but not significantly in the high-exposure category for TCDD (SMR, 3.1; 95% CI, 0.6–9.1; 3 deaths), but the elevation was higher and significant for HxCDD (SMR, 5.3; 95% CI, 1.7-12.4; 5 deaths), HpCDD (SMR, 4.6; 95% CI, 1.3-11.8; 4 deaths), and OCDD (SMR, 4.7; 95% CI, 1.3-12.0; 4 deaths). [The Working Group noted that the strengths of this study included complete ascertainment of vital status, and the exposure assessment discriminated between pentachlorophenol, trichlorophenol, and dioxin congeners allowing the effects to be attributed with more confidence to pentachlorophenol. Limitations were the size of cohort and the examination of mortality only.]

<u>Ruder & Yiin (2011)</u> identified a cohort of 2122 individuals who had ever worked in a pentachlorophenol-production department at one of four chemical manufacturing plants in the USA from the NIOSH Dioxin Registry, and compared mortality with that of the general population. Most (90%) of the cohort members had recognized exposure to other chemicals produced at these plants, and more than 40% were also exposed to 2,4,5-trichlorophenol (and therefore to TCDD as a contaminant). Standardized mortality ratios were calculated for the entire cohort, and separately for those

exposed to both 2,4,5-trichlorophenol and pentachlorophenol (n = 720) and to pentachlorophenol only (n = 1402). All cancer mortality was significantly elevated in both the full cohort (SMR, 1.17; 95% CI, 1.05-1.31) and in the pentachlorophenol-only cohort (SMR, 1.25; 95% CI, 1.09–1.42), but not elevated in the 2,4,5-trichlorophenol/pentachlorophenol cohort (SMR, 1.01; 95% CI, 0.81–1.24). Mortality from lung cancer was also significantly elevated in the full cohort (SMR, 1.36; 95% CI, 1.13-1.62) and the pentachlorophenol-only cohort (SMR, 1.56; 95% CI, 1.27–1.90), but not in the 2,4,5-trichlorophenol/ pentachlorophenol cohort (SMR, 0.91; 95% CI, 0.60–1.33). The significant elevation in mortality from lung cancer occurred in one plant only, and it was noted that more than 70% of those dying from lung cancer had worked for less than a year in departments with exposure to pentachlorophenol. Non-Hodgkin lymphoma was significantly elevated in the full cohort (SMR, 1.77; 95% CI, 1.03–2.84; 17 deaths) and in the 2,4,5-trichlorophenol/pentachlorophenol cohort (SMR, 2.50; 95% CI, 1.08-4.93; 8 deaths), and elevated but not significantly in the pentachlorophenol-only cohort (SMR, 1.41; 95% CI, 0.64-2.67; 9 deaths). There was no clear association between duration of exposure to pentachlorophenol and mortality overall or from either lung cancer or NHL. [The Working Group noted that the strengths of the study included the length of follow up, and the good-quality exposure assessment, while the limitations were that most study participants had exposures to multiple chemicals and that the study examined mortality only.]

2.2 Case-control studies

See <u>Table 2.2</u>.

Seven case-control studies from Sweden, New Zealand, and California, USA have reported data relevant to exposure to pentachlorophenol and cancer risk, and are summarized below.

chloropheno	
ure to penta	
er and expos	
dies on canc	
-control stu	
ible 2.2 Case	
Ĕ	

Reference, location enrolment/follow-up	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
<u>Pearce et al. (1986a)</u> New Zealand 1977–1981	Cases: 83; cancer registry Controls: 396; 168 cancer patients from cancer registry; 228 general population controls Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; job-title based	THN	Ever exposed to fencing as a farmer Cancer controls General population controls Ever exposed to fencing as a contractor Cancer controls General population controls	33 33 37 37	1.9 [1.1–3.4] 1.9 [1.0–3.7] 1.4 [0.6–3.3] 6.1 [0.9–40.2] 2.0 [1.2–3.4]	Age, respondent type (proxy/ direct), sex	Strengths: population- based study; good response rates Limitations: limited exposure assessment
			 farmer and/ or fencing contractor 				
Hardell et al. (1994) Umea, Sweden 1974–1978	Cases: 105; oncology department records Controls: 335; national population registry and death registry Exposure assessment method: self-administered questionnaire; next-of- kin proxy respondents for deceased cases and controls; lifetime work history recorded	THN	Exposure duration > 1 week continuously or 1 month in total "High grade" PCP exposure	15	8.8 (3.4–24.0)	Sex, age, place of residence and vital status	Strengths: use of population registries for ascertainment of both cases and controls Limitations: potential for recall bias in self- reported exposure; little information was provided on the exposure assessment methods

Table 2.2 (contin	ued)						
Reference, location enrolment/follow-up	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Hardell et al. (2002) Sweden; four northern counties and three counties in mid-Sweden 1987–1992	Cases: 515; Swedish cancer registry Controls: 1141; national population registry Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; self-report; 43% of NHL cases had proxy and only living HCL cases were recruited; minimum exposure, 1 day; exposures lagged 1 year	NHL and HCL combined	All exposed workers	64	1.40 (0.99–1.98)	Study, study area and vital status	Pooled analysis of earlier studies of NHL and HCL Overlaps with <u>Nordström</u> et al. (1998), <u>Hardell &</u> <u>Eriksson (1999), Hardell</u> et al. (2008). Strengths: large population-based study; high response rates Limitations: potential for recall bias with high proportion of proxy respondents; limited power for chlorophenol exposure
<u>Pearce et al. (1986b)</u> New Zealand 1977–1981	Cases: 76; cancer registry Controls: 315; other cancer patients from cancer registry Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; Telephone interview with clarification of circumstances for certain occupations	MM	Ever worked as a fencer	29	1.6 (0.9–2.7)	Age, sex, respondent type (proxy/direct)	Strengths: population- based study, good response rates Limitations: limited exposure assessment
Smith et al. (1984) New Zealand 1976–1980	Cases: 82; cancer registry Controls: 92; cancer registry Exposure assessment method: questionnaire	STS	Fencing as a farmer Fencing contractor Sawmill worker or Timber merchant Potential chlorophenol exposure at sawmill	20 5 3 12	0.8 (0.4-1.5) 1.9 (0.5-8.6) 1.3 (0.6-2.9) 0.7 (0.1-2.7)	Age	Strengths: population- based study Limitations: limited exposure assessment; use of cancer subjects as controls

Pentachlorophenol

Table 2.2 (contin	ued)						
Reference, location enrolment/follow-up	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Hardell et al. (1995) Sweden 1970–1980	Cases: 434, from four previous studies identified through cancer registries Controls: 948; population controls from same four studies Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; self or proxy report of exposure; minimum exposure time, 1 day; exposure slagged by 5 years	STS (Soft tissue sarcoma)	All exposed workers	27	2.8 (1.5-5.4)	Age, vital status, and study	Strengths: cases from cancer registries and controls from population registers; study size and power Limitations: potential for recall bias in self-report
<u>Ward et al. (2009)</u> California, USA 2001–2006	Cases: 184; children aged < 7 years from 9 paediatric clinics Controls: 212; birth certificates matched on age, sex, race, ethnicity and maternal residence Exposure assessment method: environmental monitoring; analysis of carpet dust	ALL	PCP concentration (ng/g) in carpet dust Low (< 32.2) 32.2 to < 75.8 75.8 to < 164.7 164.7–22 676 Trend-test P-value: 0.476 PCP loading (ng/m ²) in carpet dust < 32.7 to < 82.2 82.2 to < 272.5 ≥ 272.5 Trend-test P-value: 0.045 P-value: 0.045	38 47 31 32 32 33	1 1.28 (0.68–2.4) 1.46 (0.78–2.74) 0.84 (0.43–1.65) 1.86 (0.29–1.08) 0.56 (0.29–1.08) 0.78 (0.42–1.47) 0.47 (0.24–0.92)	Age, sex, race/ ethnicity, income, year and season of the interview/dust collection	Strengths: quantitative assessment of residential exposure Limitations: lower response rate in controls
					1 1 1 1		-

NHL, non-Hodgkin lymphoma; PCP, pentachlorophenol leukaemia; nairy cell ACL, vals; inte laence con Ĵ ukaemia; ē ALL, acute lymphoblastic/lymphocytic

A series of case-control studies were conducted in Sweden using similar methods to examine associations between phenoxyacetic acids, chlorophenols and organic solvents and NHL, hairy cell leukaemia, and soft tissue sarcoma (Hardell et al., 1994, 1995, 2002). In all of these studies, cases were identified from either oncology departments or cancer registries, with living controls identified from the national population registry and deceased controls identified from a national death registry for matching to deceased cases. A self-administered questionnaire was used to obtain data on demographics, lifestyle factors, and a lifetime work history, as well as occupational and recreational exposure to specific substances. Proxy interviews with next of kin were conducted for deceased cases or controls, and where answers from either living or proxy study participants were incomplete or unclear, a telephone interview was used to clarify the information. For pentachlorophenol (assessed separately), exposure was classified as low grade where it was used for less than 1 week continuously or less than 1 month in total; if exposure was greater than this, it was classified as high grade. Data were analysed by the specific self-reported exposures, with odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals calculated after stratification by age, vital status, and study. The relevant studies are summarized below. [The Working Group noted that a strength of these studies was that they were population-based and used national registers for identification of study participants. The limitations included the use of self-reported exposure, and the large proportion of proxy respondents, increasing concerns about recall bias.]

Two cancer registry-based case-control studies of multiple myeloma and NHL examined associations with exposure to phenoxy herbicides and chlorophenols in New Zealand (Pearce et al., 1986a, b). Both studies identified cases from the national cancer registry, and recruited controls with other cancers from the register, and in the

case of the NHL study supplemented these with controls from the general population, recruited from the electoral roll. Interviews were conducted by telephone, with stem questions leading to more specific questions on certain occupations determined a priori to entail exposure to pentachlorophenol. [The Working Group noted that the strengths of these studies were that they were population-based studies, identifying cases from tumour registries, while the limitations included the crude exposure assessment and potential for co-exposure to other chlorophenols, phenoxy herbicides, and wood preservatives.]

Smith and colleagues conducted a casecontrol study of cases of soft tissue sarcoma (International Classification of Diseases, ninth revision, ICD-9, 171) in men diagnosed in New Zealand between 1976 and 1980 and identified from the national cancer registry (Smith et al., 1984). [The Working Group noted that this study had several limitations, namely that other cancer patients, with cancer sites not stated, were used as controls; that the majority of interviews were conducted with proxies; and the low power to detect an excess risk. The conduct of follow-up interviews was a strength.]

A population-based case-control study in California, USA, examined risk of childhood leukaemia and examined associations with a range of persistent organochlorine pesticides measured in carpet dust (Ward et al., 2009). [The Working Group noted that the strengths included the quantitative assessment of residential exposure, while the limitations were the relevance of exposure measurements in dust to exposure in individuals, and the low response rate in controls.]

2.2.1 Non-Hodgkin lymphoma

In a study in New Zealand, <u>Pearce et al.</u> (1986a) compared 83 cases of NHL (ICD, 202) recruited from the national cancer registry with 168 controls with other types of cancer recruited from the same register and 228 general population controls recruited from the electoral roll. In telephone interviews, participants reported occupational history, with more specific information on work circumstances sought from those who had held certain occupations. As there was potential for exposure to chemicals used to treat wood products used for fencing, fencing as a farmer or work as a fencing contractor was examined. A significantly elevated risk was observed in both jobs in comparison with the general population controls, and in a pooled estimate combining both occupations. It was acknowledged that these associations may be with either pentachlorophenol used as an antifungal treatment on all wood products used for fencing or with the chromated copper arsenate treatment applied to timber for outside use or ground contact. [The Working Group noted that there is no known association between exposure to arsenic or hexavalent chromium and NHL.] No excess risk was observed among sawmill workers, many of whom are known to be exposed to pentachlorophenol (OR, 0.9; [95% CI, 0.0–2.7]).

Hardell et al. (1994) re-analysed data from a case-control study of malignant lymphoma conducted previously in which a 6-fold risk of NHL had been observed in people exposed to phenoxyacetic acids or chlorophenols in Sweden (Hardell et al., 1981). The study compared 105 men aged 25–85 years with histopathologically verified NHL who had been admitted to an oncology department between 1974 and 1978 with 335 controls matched for sex, age, place of residence, and vital status. When the data was analysed by occupation no significant elevation of risk was observed. Significantly elevated risks were observed for estimated high grade (OR, 8.8; 95% CI, 3.4–24.0) pentachlorophenol exposure.

Hardell et al. (2002) also reported the results of a pooled analysis of two case-control studies on 404 cases of NHL and 111 cases of hairy cell leukaemia recruited between 1987 and 1992 in Sweden. Response rates were 91% for cases and 84% for controls in the study on NHL, and 91% for cases and 83% for controls in the study on hairy cell leukaemia. Conditional logistic regression was used to calculate odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for each exposure. In the combined analysis of NHL and hairy cell leukaemia, an odds ratio of 1.40 (95% CI, 0.99-1.98; 64 cases) was reported for exposure to pentachlorophenol. When applying different latency periods, the highest risk associated with exposure to pentachlorophenol was observed with an induction period of 20-30 years (OR, 2.13; 95% CI, 1.07-4.25). [The Working Group noted discrepancies in the number of participants reported in different analyses in this paper.]

Pearce et al. (1986b) conducted a case-control study of multiple myeloma and farming in which they recruited 102 male public hospital patients aged less than 70 years and compared these with 4 cancer patient controls for each case matched on year of registration and within 2 years of birth date. In telephone interviews that were similar to those in the study on NHL, information was sought on work history, with extra questions for specific occupations. A non-significant association with fencing work, which has the potential for exposure to both pentachlorophenol and chromated copper arsenate was observed (OR, 1.6; 90% CI: 0.9-2.7). [The Working Group noted that exposures to chromium, copper, and arsenic are not known to be risk factors for multiple myeloma.]

2.2.2 Soft tissue sarcoma

In light of early reports of an association between exposure to phenoxy herbicides or chlorophenols and soft tissue sarcoma in Sweden, <u>Smith et al. (1984)</u> conducted a case-control study in New Zealand.

Smith and colleagues conducted a casecontrol study of cases of soft tissue sarcoma (ICD-9, 171) in men diagnosed in New Zealand
between 1976 and 1980 and identified from the national cancer registry. In the study by Smith et al. (1984), cases were histologically reviewed by a pathologist. One control per case, with the same year of registration and within 2 years of age, was randomly selected from among other cancer patients in the registry. After excluding ineligible participants, 82 cases (84%) and 111 controls (83%) were included. Data on activities with a potential for exposure to chlorophenoxy herbicides and chlorophenols were collected in telephone interviews with patients or next of kin. This study found no evidence of any association with several occupations known to have potential exposure to wood treatment compounds containing pentachlorophenol.

<u>Hardell et al. (1995)</u> conducted a pooled analysis of data from four earlier studies in Sweden to examine associations between exposure to pesticides and soft tissue sarcoma in men, including 434 cases and 948 controls. In total, 63% of cases in the three studies where this was reported were deceased. A significant excess risk (OR, 2.8; 95% CI, 1.5–5.4; 27 cases) was observed in those ever exposed to pentachlorophenol.

2.2.3 Childhood acute lymphocytic leukaemia

In the study by <u>Ward et al. (2009)</u>, noted above, analyses focused on a subset of cases aged 7 years or younger that were ascertained from nine major paediatric clinics in the study area. Controls were individually matched to cases on age, sex, race, Hispanic ethnicity, and maternal residence, and were selected from birth certificate files. The distribution of pentachlorophenol was categorized into quartiles based on the measured values in household carpet dust among controls. The concentration of pentachlorophenol in carpet dust was not associated with increased risk, and a significant inverse trend in risk of acute lymphocytic leukaemia with increased chemical loading of pentachlorophenol in carpet dust was observed.

2.3 Exposure assessment and biological markers in epidemiological studies

Individual exposure to pentachlorophenol has been assessed in epidemiological studies using several different methods. The simplest method, commonly used in case-control studies, uses retrospective interviews or questionnaires to ascertain whether each individual worked in particular jobs for which investigators had determined that exposure to chlorophenols was likely, e.g. wood treatment or chlorophenol manufacturing. Some studies on chlorophenols did not obtain sufficient information to distinguish jobs using pentachlorophenol from jobs using other chlorophenols (e.g. Woods et al., 1987; Ali et al., 2004). Job classifications may be adequate to detect some differences in cancer risk ('t Mannetje & Kromhout, 2003), but may also be surrogates for a variety of co-exposures in addition to pentachlorophenol.

Several population-level studies collected more detailed information that could be used to distinguish jobs exposed to pentachlorophenol. A series of case-control studies in New Zealand used retrospective telephone interviews with patients or next of kin to determine whether each individual had worked in particular jobs for which investigators had determined that exposure to phenoxy herbicides or chlorophenols was likely (Smith et al., 1984; Pearce et al., 1986a, b). Initial questions used a pre-specified list of occupations, and for those who reported having worked in those occupations subsidiary questions were asked regarding the specific nature of work and potential for exposure to specific chemicals. A series of Swedish case-control studies obtained complete occupational histories, and included questions regarding duration of use of specific

chemicals, including pentachlorophenol and classes of chemicals including chlorophenols, phenoxy acids, and organic solvents (Hardell et al., 1994, 1995, 2002). This allowed for additional epidemiological analyses comparing "low grade" (exposure duration greater than 1 week continuously or 1 month in total) to "high grade" exposures (Hardell et al., 2002). There was some evidence that workers in stable careers can reliably report on past production methods and use of frequently handled chemicals (Friesen et al., 2015; IARC, 2017). For example, orchardists in one study showed good consistency in recalling commonly used pesticides and pesticide categories for repeated exposure questionnaires after 21-25 years (Engel et al., 2001). However, recall for infrequently used chemicals can be poor (Engel et al., 2001), and the use of next-of-kin proxies for deceased participants may exacerbate exposure misclassification and the potential for recall bias (Nam et al., 2005).

A mortality study with the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) dioxin registry used work records from four pentachlorophenol production facilities and used detailed company-specific information and expert judgment to determine whether workers had been exposed to 21 chemicals and mixtures, including pentachlorophenol and trichlorophenol (Ruder & Yiin, 2011). Duration of work in pentachlorophenol departments was the primary exposure metric. It is likely that the use of work records in this study provided more accurate exposure assignments than self or proxy reports.

One case-control study of childhood leukaemia in California, USA, used home carpet-dust samples to characterize exposure to pentachlorophenol and other persistent organochlorines (Ward et al., 2009). Dust samples were obtained from the room most often used during waking hours for participants who lived in the same residence at time of diagnosis and at the time of sampling (often several years after diagnosis, in 2001–2006). [The Working Group noted that house dust is a major exposure source for young children in older homes, so carpet dust measurements might be a good surrogate for childhood exposure] (Ward et al., 2009). A different study found moderate to high intraclass correlations (0.37–0.95) for pesticides in repeated home-dust samples collected over approximately 2 years (Deziel et al., 2013). However, a study in young children in North Carolina, USA, estimated that dust and soil ingestion contributed only about 6–9% of their total pentachlorophenol exposure, based on dust, diet, and air samples collected in 2003–2005, with the remaining portion from indoor and outdoor air inhalation (43-54% of total exposure), and diet (37-51%) (Wilson et al., 2010).

Studies that used company work records and study-specific job-exposure matrices (JEMs) to assess pentachlorophenol (or total chlorophenol) exposures include a nested case-control study in an international register of workers (Ott et al., 1993; Kauppinen et al., 1994; Kogevinas et al., 1995), and records-based cohort studies of chemical-plant workers in Michigan, USA (Collins et al., 2007, 2009), and Canadian sawmill workers (Hertzman et al., 1997; Heacock et al., 2000; Demers et al., 2006). For JEM-based exposure assignments, exposure intensity scores are assigned for each job (often department- and plant-specific) over time; exposure intensities are then multiplied by job duration and summed across all jobs to calculate a cumulative exposure score for each worker (e.g. Ott et al., 1993; Collins et al., 2007; Cooper & Jones, 2008). The quality of JEM-based exposure assignments thus depends on the accuracy of the intensity score assigned to each job, the variability in personal exposures within each job, and the completeness and validity of the work records linking individual workers to specific jobs or tasks. A wide variety of methods are used to estimate exposure intensity scores, but the scores are most reliable when supported by routine biomonitoring or personal exposure measurements throughout

the duration of exposure. In practice, exposure measurements are often only available for part of the exposure period or not at all, in which case investigators rely on models and/or judgment to assign exposure intensity scores during some or all periods. For example, the Kogevinas et al. (1995) case-control study relied on a team of three industrial hygienists (who were blind to health outcomes) to assign a unitless exposure intensity for each job as the product of judgment-based subscores on innate job tasks, emissions of agents, average daily contact time of the workers with the contaminants, the use of personal protective equipment, and "certain other factors" (Kauppinen et al., 1994). Without direct measurements of pentachlorophenol exposure for the jobs in Kogevinas et al. (1995), non-differential exposure misclassification is likely, resulting in attenuation of epidemiological effect estimates towards a null association.

The studies of Canadian sawmill workers (Hertzman et al., 1997; Demers et al., 2006) and their offspring (Heacock et al., 2000) used JEMs for which exposure intensities were assigned based on hours of annual dermal exposure to chlorophenol, obtained by averaging values gained from interviews of randomly sampled groups of longterm workers (Teschke et al., 1996). Relatively stable intensity estimates with intraclass correlations of 0.78-0.88 were obtained when exposure scores were averaged across raters, whereas scores from individual raters were often discordant regarding the degree of chlorophenol exposure for any job at any particular time (Teschke et al., 1996). Exposure intensities were also validated against several hundred urinary chlorophenate concentrations collected over two seasons in 1986 (Hertzman et al., 1988); the average of the two urine concentrations for each individual was well correlated (r = 0.72) with cumulative exposure scores for total chlorophenols produced by a JEM (Hertzman et al., 1988). The Demers et al. (2006) study refined the previous JEMs by incorporating the percentages of pentachlorophenol

and tetrachlorophenol in the specific fungicides used in each plant over time, creating a more specific measure of exposure less prone to attenuation (<u>Friesen et al., 2007</u>).

Occupational exposure to pentachlorophenol is often concomitant with exposure to other polychlorophenols, dibenzodioxins, dibenzofurans, and other chemicals (IARC, 1997, 1999; and Section 1.1.3(b)). This can make it difficult to attribute epidemiological associations with adverse health effects to any one chemical in the mixture, particularly in studies that did not distinguish pentachlorophenol from other chlorophenols, dioxins, or contaminants. Some studies have included quantitative assessments of selected co-exposures, providing a basis for disaggregating their putative effects. For example, the epidemiological study of Canadian sawmill workers used detailed plant records to determine both the pentachlorophenol and tetrachlorophenol content of the products used at any particular time (Demers et al., 2006). Because the formulations changed over time and individual workers worked at different times and in different job tasks, the cumulative exposure scores for the two chemicals were only moderately correlated (r = 0.45) (Demers et al., 2006; as per Cooper & Jones, 2008).

Similarly, cumulative exposures to pentachlorophenol and several dioxins were assessed using study-specific JEMs in an epidemiological study of chemical-plant workers in Michigan, USA (Ramlow et al., 1996; Collins et al., 2009). These studies assigned each job to a pentachlorophenol exposure intensity score of 1-3 based on advice of veteran employees with experience in pentachlorophenol production and industrial hygiene monitoring with sampling primarily in the 1960s and 1970s. TCDD and hexa- to octachlorinated congeners (HxCDD/OCDD) exposure intensities were also assigned values of 0-4 and 0–2, respectively (<u>Ramlow et al., 1996</u>). Later in 2004 and 2005, serum samples were collected from 412 workers and analysed for dioxins and dibenzofurans; TCDD was elevated among 2,4,5-trichlorophenol workers but not among pentachlorophenol workers (Collins et al., 2007). For the later epidemiological analysis (Collins et al., 2009) a one-compartment pharmacokinetic model was used to calibrate dioxin and dibenzofuran exposure intensities in the JEMs to available serum measurements, and to predict annual and cumulative serum concentrations for each congener (Flesch-Janys et al., 1996; Collins et al., 2009). Although the availability of independent exposure assignments for pentachlorophenol, dioxins, and dibenzofurans would have allowed for mutual adjustment of these co-exposures in epidemiological models, Collins et al. (2009) only evaluated associations with cumulative TCDD-TEQ (a weighted sum of cumulative dioxins and dibenzofuran exposures; EPA, 2010b), with and without exclusion of workers exposed to 2,4,5-trichlorophenol.

Urinary measures of pentachlorophenol and its glucurono-conjugate can be used as a biomarker of short-term exposure. As reviewed in Section 4.1.5, terminal urinary excretion half-lives in humans range from 10 to 20 days, with some evidence of biphasic elimination and more rapid excretion during the first few days (ATSDR, 2001). Other chlorophenols (tetra- and tri-) have been reported to have shorter urinary excretion half-lives (Pekari et al., 1991). Although the short half-lives for chlorophenols limits their utility for chronic exposure assessment, they can be used in validation studies for exposure assignments based on other methods such as JEMs, as in the Canadian sawmill studies (Hertzman et al., 1988).

3. Cancer in Experimental Animals

See <u>Table 3.1</u>.

[In line with <u>IARC (1991)</u>, the Working Group noted that a study in mice (<u>United States National</u> <u>Technical Information Service</u>, 1968; <u>Innes et al.</u>, 1969) and a study in rats (Schwetz et al., 1978) were inadequate for the evaluation because of some deficiencies in the study design, including the variable combination of small number of animals, dosage used, unknown purity of the compound, and absence of histopathology data. These studies are not included in Table 3.1.]

3.1 Mouse

3.1.1 Oral administration

Groups of 50 male and 50 female B6C3F₁ mice (age, 9 weeks) were fed diets containing technical-grade pentachlorophenol (purity, 90.4%) at a concentration of 100 or 200 ppm, or commerpentachlorophenol (purity, cial-grade 91%; containing a smaller amount of dioxins and furans than the technical-grade pentachlorophenol) at a concentration of 100, 200, or 600 ppm for 2 years. Two groups of 35 male and 35 female mice were fed control diets. The mice were killed after 112 weeks (NTP, 1989; McConnell et al., 1991). For the most part, mean body weights, food consumption, and survival of mice exposed to pentachlorophenol were comparable to those of controls; however, the survival of females at the lowest dose was significantly reduced after 628 days with the commercial-grade formulation.

In male mice, significant dose-related increase in the incidences of hepatocellular adenoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, and hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined) was observed with either formulation of pentachlorophenol. The incidence of adrenal pheochromocytoma increased significantly in male mice exposed to both formulations. In female mice exposed to the commercial formulation, there was a significant dose-related increase in the incidence of hepatocellular adenoma, and the incidence of adrenal pheochromocytoma increased significantly at the highest dose. At the highest doses of either formulation, significantly higher incidence of haemangiosarcoma of the spleen [mainly] and/

Table 3.1 Studi	es of carcinogenici	ty in experimental animals	s exposed to penta	chlorophenol
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (M) 9 wk 112 wk McConnell et al. (1991); NTP (1989)	Oral PCP (technical grade), 90.4% Diet 0, 100, 200 ppm, daily 35, 50, 50 12, 24, 22	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular adenoma: 5/32*, 20/47**, 33/48** Hepatocellular carcinoma: 2/32*, 10/47, 12/48** Hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined): 7/32*, 26/47**, 37/48*** <i>Adrenal gland</i> Pheochromocytoma: 0/31*, 10/45**, 23/45***	* $P < 0.001$ (trend) ** $P < 0.05$ *** $P < 0.05$ ** $P < 0.06$ (trend) * $P < 0.05$ (trend) * $P < 0.01$ (trend) * $P < 0.01$ (trend) * $P < 0.01$ (trend) * $P < 0.01$ (trend)	Strengths: GLP study Impurities: TCP, 0.01%; tetrachlorophenol, 3.8%; HCB, 50 ppm; TCDD, ND; HxCDD, 10.1 ppm; HpCDD, 296 ppm; OCDD, 1386 ppm; PeCDD, 1.4 ppm; HxCDF, 9.9 ppm; HpCDF, 88 ppm; OCDF, 43 ppm
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (F) 9 wk 112 wk <u>McConnell</u> et al. (1991); NTP (1989)	Oral PCP (technical grade), 90.4% Diet 0, 100, 200 ppm, daily 35, 50, 50 28, 41, 30	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular adenoma: 3/33, 8/49, 8/50 Hepatocellular carcinoma, 0/33, 1/49, 1/50 <i>Vascular system</i> Haemangiosarcoma: 0/35*, 3/50, 6/50**	NS Tumour incidence: 0/33, 1/49, 1/50 *P < 0.05 (trend) **P < 0.05	Strengths: GLP study Impurities: TCP, 0.01%; tetrachlorophenol: 3.8%; HCB: 50 ppm; TCDD, ND; HxCDD, 10.1 ppm; HpCDD, 296 ppm; OCDD, 1386 ppm; PeCDF, 1.4 ppm; HxCDF, 9.9 ppm; HpCDF, 88 ppm; OCDF, 43 ppm

	Comments	Strengths: GLP study Impurities: TCP, 0.007%; tetrachlorophenol: 9.4%; HCB: 65 ppm; TCDD, < 0.04 ppm; HxCDD, 0.19 ppm; HpCDD, 0.53 ppm; OCDD, 0.69 ppm; PeCDF, ND; HxCDF, 0.13 ppm; HpCDF, 0.15 ppm; OCDF, ND	Strengths: GLP study Impurities: TCP, 0.007%; tetrachlorophenol: 9.4%; HCB: 65 ppm; TCDD, < 0.04 ppm; HxCDD, 0.19 ppm; HpCDD, 0.53 ppm; OCDD, 0.69 ppm; PeCDF, ND; HxCDF, 0.13 ppm; HpCDF, 0.15 ppm; OCDF, ND
	Significance	* $P < 0.001$ (trend) ** $P < 0.01$ ** $P < 0.01$ * $P < 0.05$ * $P < 0.05$ * $P < 0.01$ (trend) ** $P = 0.015$ *** $P = 0.015$ *** $P = 0.001$ *** $P < 0.001$ ** $P < 0.001$ (trend) ** $P < 0.001$ (trend)	* <i>P</i> < 0.001 (trend) ** <i>P</i> < 0.001 NS * <i>P</i> (trend) < 0.001 ** <i>P</i> = 0.016 * <i>P</i> (trend) < 0.001
	Incidence of tumours	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular adenoma: 5/35*, 13/48, 17/48**, 32/49*** Hepatocellular carcinoma: 1/35, 7/48, 7/48*, 9/49* Hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined): 6/35*, 19/48**, 21/48***, 34/49**** <i>Adrenal gland</i> Pheochromocytoma, 0/34*, 4/48, 21/48**, 44/49** Pheochromocytoma (malignant): 1/34, 0/48, 0/48,	Liver Liver Hepatocellular adenoma: 1/34*, 3/50, 6/49, 30/48** Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0/34, 1/50, 0/49, 2/48 Vascular system Haemangiosarcoma: 0/35*, 1/50, 3/50, 8/49** Adrenal gland Pheochromocytoma: 0/35*, 1/49, 2/46, 38/49**
tinued)	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Oral PCP (commercial grade), 91% Diet 0, 100, 200, 600 ppm, daily 35, 50, 50 25, 28, 29, 35	Oral PCP (commercial grade), 91% Diet 0, 100, 200, 600 ppm, daily 35, 50, 50 29, 28, 38, 39
Table 3.1 (con	Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Full carcinogenicity Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (M) 9 wk 112 wk <u>McComell</u> et al. (1991); NTP (1989)	Full carcinogenicity Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (F) 9 wk 112 wk <u>McConnell</u> et al. (1991); NTP (1989)

Table 3.1 (continued)

Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, Nrf2 ^{+/+} (M) 7 wk 60 wk Tasaki et al. (2014)	Oral PCP, 98.6% CRF-1 diet 0, 600, 1200 ppm Ad libitum 15, 15, 20 80%, 27%, 0%	<i>Liver</i> Cholangiocarcinoma: 0/15, 0/15, 3/20 Hepatocellular adenoma: 2/15, 1/15, 2/20 Hepatocellular carcinoma, 1/15, 0/15, 0/20	NS NS NS	
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, Nrf2-/- (M) 7 wk 60 wk Tasaki et al. (2014)	Oral PCP, 98.6% CRF-1 diet 0, 600, 1200 ppm Ad libitum 15, 15, 20 53%, 13%, 0%	<i>Liver</i> Cholangiocarcinoma, 0/15, 2/15, 6/20* Hepatocellular adenoma, 0/15, 2/15, 4/20* Hepatocellular carcinoma: 1/15, 0/15, 0/20	* <i>P</i> < 0.05 * <i>P</i> < 0.05 NS	
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, Tg.AC (F) 14 wk 26 wk Spalding et al. (2000)	Skin PCP, 99% Acetone 0, 0.75, 1.5, 3.0 mg 5×/wk for 20 wk 15, 13, 13, 14 13, 8, 10, 12	Skin papilloma: 1/15, 1/13, 8/13*, 14/14** No. of tumours per total animals per group: 0.07, 0.08, 0.85, 11.6	*[<i>P</i> < 0.005, Fisher exact test]; **[<i>P</i> < 0.0001, Fisher exact test] NR	Limitations: small number of animals per group

Table 3.1 (con	itinued)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Initiation– promotion (tested as promoter) Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (M)	Oral PCP, 98.6% Diet 0, 300, 600 ppm, daily 20, 20, 20	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular adenoma, 4/15, 10/15*, 13/18**	* <i>P</i> < 0.05, Fisher exact test ** <i>P</i> < 0.01, Fisher exact test	Mice were given drinking-water containing NDEA at 20 ppm for 13 wk, and after a 4 wk interval, were given basal diet or diet with PCP for 25 wk In another experiment in the same study, when PCP was tested as an initiator followed by drinking-water
6 wk 25 wk <u>Umemura et al.</u>	NR, NR, NR	Hepatocellular carcinoma, 0/15, 2/15, 4/18 Hepatocellular adenoma or	NS *P < 0.05. Fisher exact	containing phenobarbital, no hepatocellular tumours were produced
(1999)		carcinoma (combined): 4/15, 10/15*, 13/18**	**P < 0.01, Fisher exact test	
		No. of tumours per total animals per group: 0.33 ± 0.62, 1.27 ± 1.89*, 2.22 ± 3.32*	* <i>P</i> < 0.05, Student <i>t</i> -test	
Initiation- promotion (tested as promoter)	Oral PCP, 98.6% Diet	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular adenoma: 1/15, 4/15, 11/15*	* <i>P</i> < 0.01, Fisher exact test	Mice were given drinking-water containing NDEA at 20 ppm for 8 wk, and after a 4 wk interval, were given basal diet or diet with PCP for 23 wk
Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (M) 6 wk 23 wk	0, 300, 600 ppm, daily 15, 15, 15 NR, NR, NR	Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0/15, 1/15, 3/15 Cholangioma, 0/15, 1/15, 9/15*	NS *P < 0.01, Fisher exact	
<u>Umemura et al.</u> (2003a)		Cholangiocarcinoma, 0/15, 0/15, 8/15*	test $*P < 0.01$, Fisher exact test	
Initiation– promotion (tested as promoter)	Oral PCP, 98.6% Diet	<i>Liver</i> Cholangioma, 0/15, 12/18*	* <i>P</i> < 0.01, Fisher exact test	Mice were given drinking-water containing NDEA at 20 ppm for 13 wk, and after a 4 wk interval, were given basal diet or diet with PCP for 25 wk
Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (M) 6 wk 25 wk	0, 600 ppm, daily 20, 20 NR, NR	Cholangiocarcinoma, 0/15, 11/18*	*P < 0.01, Fisher exact test	
<u>Umemura et al.</u> (2003b)				

Table 3.1 (con	ntinued)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Rat, F344 (M) 6 wk 2 years <u>Chhabra</u> et al. (1999); NTP (1999)	Oral PCP, 99% Diet 0, 200, 400, 600, 1000 ppm, daily 50, 50, 50, 50 12, 16, 21, 31, 27	<i>Tunica vaginalis</i> Malignant mesothelioma, 1/50, 0/50, 2/50, 0/50, 9/50* <i>Nose</i> Nasal squamous cell carcinoma, 1/50, 3/50, 1/50, 0/50, 5/50	* <i>P</i> = 0.014 (Poly-3 test) NS	Strengths: GLP study The group at 1000 ppm received PCP in the feed for 52 wk and control feed thereafter (stop-exposure group); historical control incidence of nasal squamous cell carcinoma (feeding studies): 5/1341 (0.4 \pm 1.0%); range, 0–4%
Full carcinogenicity Rat, F344 (F) 6 wk 2 years <u>Chhabra</u> et al. (1999); NTP (1999)	Oral PCP, 99% Diet 0, 200, 400, 600, 1000 ppm, daily 50, 50, 50, 50 28, 33, 34, 28, 28	Any tumour type	NS	Strengths: GLP study The group at 1000 ppm received PCP in the feed for 52 weeks and control feed thereafter (stop-exposure group)
Co- carcinogenicity Rat, MRC-Wistar (M) 6–8 wk 86–88 wk Mirvish et al. (1991)	Oral PCP (technical grade), 86% Diet 0 (HENU alone), 500 (HENU+PCP), 500 (PCP alone) ppm, daily NR, NR, NR NR, NR, NR	<i>Bone marrow, lymph node</i> Acute myelocytic leukaemia, 4/20, 9/15*, 0/5 B-cell lymphoma, 5/20, 2/15, 0/5 <i>Bone</i> Osteosarcoma, 5/20, 4/15, 0/5	*[<i>P</i> < 0.05, 2-tail Fisher exact test; vs HENU alone] NS NS	Drinking-water containing HENU at 75 mg/L was given 4 days/wk for 40 wk, 2 wk after PCP treatment Impurities: TCDD, 25 μg/kg; and TCDF, 670 μg/kg

Study design Species, strain (sex)	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Age at start Duration Reference	Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals			
Co-	Oral	Bone marrow, lymph node		Drinking-water containing HENU at 75 mg/L was
carcinogenicity Rat, MRC-Wistar	PCP (technical grade), 86%	Acute myelocytic leukaemia, 3/19, 3/15, 0/9	NS	given 4 days/wk for 40 wk, 2 wk after PCP treatment; no untreated control group
(F) 6-8 wk	Diet 0 (HENU alone), 500	B-cell lymphoma, 3/19, 3/15, 0/9	NS	Impurities: TCDD, 25 μg/kg; and TCDF, 670 μg/kg
86–88 wk <u>Mirvish et al.</u>	(HENU+PCP), 500 (PCP alone) ppm	Done Osteosarcoma, 0/19, 1/15, 0/9 1 i	NS	
(1991)	daily NR, NR, NR NR, NR, NR	<i>Liver</i> Adenoma, 1/19, 5/15, 6/9	NS	

HxCDD, hexachlorodibenzo-*para*-dioxin; HxCDF, hexachlorodibenzofuran; M, male; ND, not detected; NDEA, N-nitrosodiethylamine; NR, not reported; NS, not significant; OCDD, octachlorodibenzo-*para*-dioxin; OCDF, octachlorodibenzofuran; PCP, pentachlorophenol; PeCDD, pentachlorodibenzo-*para*-dioxin; ppm, parts per million; TCDD, 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*para*-dioxin; TCDF, 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzofuran; TCP, trichlorophenol; vs, versus; wk, week ц

or liver was also seen in female mice (McConnell et al., 1991; NTP, 1989). [The study complied with the requirements of good laboratory practice (United States Food and Drug Administration, GLP regulations).]

In a study by Tasaki et al. (2014), 50 male wildtype ($Nrf2^{+/+}$) and 50 male Nrf2-deficient ($Nrf2^{-/-}$) mice (age, 7 weeks) were divided into three groups of 15–20 animals and fed diets containing pentachlorophenol (purity, 98.6%) at concentrations of 0, 600, or 1200 ppm for 60 weeks. The survival rates at concentrations of 0, 600, or 1200 ppm were 80%, 27%, and 0%, respectively, in $Nrf2^{+/+}$ mice, and 53%, 13%, and 0%, respectively, in $Nrf2^{-/-}$ mice. Statistically significant decreases in body-weight gain were observed from week 11 at the higher pentachlorophenol dose for both genotypes, and from week 16 in $Nrf2^{-/-}$ mice and from week 36 in $Nrf2^{+/+}$ mice treated at the lower dose.

Cholangiocarcinoma, characterized by infiltrative atypical epithelial cells scattered into the stroma or multilayered with mitotic cells, was observed in all treated mice except in $Nrf2^{+/+}$ mice treated with the lower dose of pentachlorophenol; the incidence of cholangiocarcinoma in $Nrf2^{-/-}$ mice treated with the higher dose of pentachlorophenol was significantly increased. Hepatocellular adenoma or hepatocellular carcinoma was observed in all groups, but only the incidence of hepatocellular adenoma in $Nrf2^{-/-}$ mice treated with pentachlorophenol at the higher dose was significantly increased compared with controls (Tasaki et al., 2014).

Groups of 10 male and 10 female $p53^{+/-}$ mice (age, 8–11 weeks) were fed diets containing pentachlorophenol (purity, 99%) at a concentration of 0, 100, 200, or 400 ppm for 26 weeks. No significant increase in tumour incidence was observed in exposed mice (Spalding et al., 2000). [This study is not included in Table 3.1.]

3.1.2 Skin application

Groups of 15 female hemizygous Tg.AC mice (age, 14 weeks) were treated with pentachlorophenol (purity, 99%) as a topically applied dose at 0, 0.75, 1.50, or 3.0 mg per mouse daily for 20 weeks. The initial doses were 0 (control), 3.0, 6.0, or 12.0 mg/mouse, but due to toxicity after the first application, the two higher doses were reduced to 0.75 mg and 1.5 mg, respectively. At 26 weeks, the intermediate dose and highest dose significantly increased the incidence of skin papilloma compared with controls (Spalding et al., 2000).

3.1.3 Initiation-promotion studies

Three groups of 20 male $B6C3F_1$ mice (age, 6 weeks) were fed diets containing pentachlorophenol (purity, 98.6%) at a concentration of 0, 600, or 1200 ppm for 13 weeks, with subsequent administration of drinking-water containing phenobarbital at a concentration of 500 ppm for 29 weeks. Three other groups were initiated with drinking-water containing N-nitrosodiethylamine (NDEA) at 20 ppm for 13 weeks and, after a 4-week recovery interval, fed diets containing pentachlorophenol at 0, 300, or 600 ppm for 25 weeks. The incidence of hepatocellular adenoma, and incidence and multiplicity of hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined) in mice treated with pentachlorophenol after NDEA initiation were significantly increased compared with those in mice given NDEA only. In contrast, in mice given pentachlorophenol as an initiator followed by phenobarbital, no significant enhancement of neoplastic lesions occurred (<u>Umemura et al., 1999</u>).

Groups of 15 male $B6C3F_1$ mice (age, 6 weeks) were given drinking-water containing NDEA at 20 ppm for 8 weeks, and after a 4-week interval were fed diets containing pentachlorophenol (purity, 98.6%) at a concentration of 0 (basal diet), 300, or 600 ppm for 23 weeks. Exposure to pentachlorophenol at 600 ppm significantly promoted the induction of hepatocellular adenoma by NDEA, and also caused significant progression of NDEA-induced cystic biliary hyperplasia to cholangioma and cholangiocarcinoma (Umemura et al., 2003a).

Groups of 20 male $B6C3F_1$ mice (age, 6 weeks) were given drinking-water containing NDEA at 20 ppm for 13 weeks and then, after a 4-week interval, given diets containing pentachlorophenol (purity, 98.6%) at a concentration of 0 or 600 ppm for 25 weeks. In mice initiated with NDEA followed by treatment with pentachlorophenol, the incidences of cholangioma and cholangiocarcinoma were significantly increased compared with mice receiving NDEA only (Umemura et al., 2003b).

Four groups of 10 female CD-1 mice (age, 6 weeks) were treated with a single skin application of 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene in acetone as an initiator. One week later, three groups received pentachlorophenol by skin application at a dose of 2.5, 50, or 1000 µg twice per week for 24 weeks. The fourth group was treated with acetone only for 19 weeks, and served as negative control group. The incidence of skin papilloma was 0/10, 1/10, 3/10, and 3/10 in the groups treated with pentachlorophenol at a dose of 0, 2.5, 50, and 1000 µg, respectively (Chang et al., 2003). [The Working Group judged the study inadequate for the evaluation because of the shorter duration of the study for negative controls compared with the duration for pentachlorophenol-treated groups. This study is not included in Table 3.1.]

3.1.4 Co-carcinogenicity

[Three studies in mice investigated co-carcinogenicity, as described below; these studies are not included in <u>Table 3.1</u>.]

Eight groups of 36 adult female CD-1 mice (age, not reported; average initial weight, 25 g) were fed diets containing 1'-hydroxysafrole at

a concentration of 0.14% or 0.27%, or safrole at a concentration of 0.13% or 0.25%, with or without pentachlorophenol (purity, > 99%) at 0.05% for 12 months, and thereafter control diet for 4 months. Concurrent administration of pentachlorophenol with 1'-hydroxysafrole or safrole significantly decreased the incidence and multiplicity of hepatomas of type (a), (b), or mixed types (a) and (b) [hepatocellular tumours], as compared with those induced by 1'-hydroxysafrole or safrole alone (Boberg et al., 1983).

In an intraperitoneal injection study, groups of 23–42 male B6C3F₁ mice were given pentachlorophenol (purity, > 99%) at a dose of 0.04 µmol/g bw either on postnatal day 12 or on postnatal days 8 and 12. The mice were then injected with either 1'-hydroxysafrole (0.05, 0.1, or 0.2 µmol/g bw) or NDEA (0.01 or 0.02 µmol/g bw) and killed 10 or 9 months later, respectively. Prior treatment with pentachlorophenol did not affect hepatocarcinogenicity induced by NDEA, but decreased hepatocarcinogenicity induced by 1'-hydroxysafrole (Boberg et al., 1983).

Groups of 35 female CD-1 mice (age, 6 weeks) were fed diets containing *N*-*N*-dimethyl-4-aminoazobenzene at 0.02% or 0.04%, or 4-aminoazobenzene (AB) at 0.018% or 0.035%, with or without pentachlorophenol (purity, > 99%) at 0.05% for 10 months, and thereafter control diet for up to 7–8 months. Co-treatment with pentachlorophenol significantly decreased the incidence and multiplicity of hepatomas of type (a) or mixed types (a) and (b) [hepatocellular tumours] induced by *N*-*N*-dimethyl-4-aminoazobenzene or 4-aminoazobenzene (Delclos et al., 1986).

3.2 Rat

3.2.1 Oral administration

Groups of 50 male and 50 female F344/N rats (age, 6 weeks) were fed diets containing pentachlorophenol (purity, 99%) at a concentration of 0 (control), 200, 400, or 600 ppm for 2 years. A stop-exposure group of 50 male and 50 female rats received diet containing pentachlorophenol at 1000 ppm for 52 weeks, and control feed thereafter for the remainder of the 2-year study. Survival was greater than that of controls in males at 600 ppm and at 1000 ppm, but similar to that of controls in all other exposed groups. Mean body weights were generally lower than those of controls in rats at 400 and 600 ppm. Despite a transitory body-weight reduction, mean body weights of males and females of the stop-exposure group were similar to those of controls by the end of the study (Chhabra et al., 1999; NTP, 1999).

At 2 years, malignant mesothelioma originating from the tunica vaginalis of the testis was present in nine males in the group fed 1000 ppm for 52 weeks (18%) compared with one male in the control group (2%) (P = 0.014). The incidence of malignant mesothelioma in historical controls in feeding studies was 40/1354 (3.0 ± 2.3%; range, 0-8%) (Chhabra et al., 1999; NTP, 1999). The range for background incidence of tunica vaginalis mesothelioma is 0.2-5% (Maronpot et al., 2016). [The Working Group considered that the significantly increased incidence in the stop-exposure group of males compared with the matched controls was highly suggestive of a treatment-related effect.] Nasal squamous cell carcinomas were present in five males fed 1000 ppm for 52 weeks (10%) compared with one male in the control group (2%); this was not a significant increase in incidence, but exceeded the range in historical controls for this neoplasm (0-4%); incidence, 5/1341). No carcinogenic activity of pentachlorophenol was seen in male or female rats fed diets containing pentachlorophenol at 200, 400, or 600 ppm for 2 years, or in female rats in the stop-exposure group (Chhabra et al., 1999; NTP 1999). [The study was conducted under the requirements of good laboratory practice (United States Food and Drug Administration, GLP regulations).]

3.2.2 Co-carcinogenicity

Groups of male and female Wistar (MRC-W) rats (age, 8–10 weeks) were fed diets containing pentachlorophenol (technical-grade pentachlorophenol: purity, 86%; containing TCDD at 25 μ g/kg and TCDF at 670 μ g/kg) for 2 weeks before (and during) treatment with tap water or drinking-water containing 2-hydroxyethylnitrosourea (HENU) [a carcinogen] at a concentration of 75 mg/L (4 days per week) at 0 or 500 ppm for 86-88 weeks. The effective numbers of rats surviving more than 11 weeks were: 20, 15, and 5 in males, and 19, 15, and 9 in females in the groups receiving HENU only, HENU + pentachlorophenol, and pentachlorophenol only, respectively. All survivors were killed at age 94 weeks. HENU alone induced B-cell lymphoma and skeletal osteosarcoma, with higher incidences of both tumour types in males than in females, but incidences of these tumour types were not increased by co-treatment with pentachlorophenol. However, pentachlorophenol acted synergistically with HENU to significantly [P < 0.05] increase the incidence of acute myelocytic leukaemia in males (Mirvish <u>et al., 1991</u>).

4. Mechanistic and Other Relevant Data

4.1 Absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion

4.1.1 Introduction

Oral absorption of pentachlorophenol is relatively rapid and extensive in all species studied. It distributes throughout the whole body, but preferentially in the viscera. In the blood, pentachlorophenol is extensively bound to plasma proteins, which partly explains its slow elimination. The observed elimination is slowest in humans, faster in rats, and fastest in mice. Pentachlorophenol is mostly eliminated as glucurono- or sulfo-conjugates, and as tetrachlorohydroquinone (TCHQ) and its conjugates (IARC, 1991). Further oxidation to benzoquinones and their semiquinones has been demonstrated (Lin et al., 1997, 1999). The TCHQ (oxidative) pathway is minor in humans, and about as important as the conjugation pathway in rodents (Reigner et al., 1991, 1992a, c, 1993). For the same exposure dose, mice experience a 4-fold greater amount of protein adducts in liver nuclei than rats, whereas rats experience a 3-fold greater amount in liver cytosol (Lin et al., 1997, 1999). Published physiologically based pharmacokinetic models for pentachlorophenol were not available to the Working Group.

4.1.2 Absorption

(a) Humans

Oral absorption (in a case of acute poisoning) was rapid, with a plateau blood concentration reached by 2–4 hours after ingestion (Haley, 1977; Young & Haley, 1978). About 90% of the ingested dose was recovered in the urine (Braun et al., 1979; Reigner et al., 1992a). Absorption after inhalation is similarly high (Proudfoot, 2003).

Absorption through the skin is well documented qualitatively, but quantitative information is scarce. Although extensive, absorption through skin occurs to a lesser extent and more slowly than after ingestion (Williams, 1982; Proudfoot, 2003). However, in human cadaver skin in vitro, only 1–4% of the dose applied in acetone or soil was recovered in the skin or passed through it (Wester et al., 1993).

(b) Experimental systems

In the rhesus monkey (*Macaca mulatta*), absorption of pentachlorophenol through the skin was approximately 30% and 25% of the dose applied in acetone or soil, respectively, after 24 hours (<u>Wester et al., 1993</u>). After a single oral

dose of 10 mg/kg of [14 C]-labelled pentachlorophenol, peak plasma concentrations (10–30 µg/g) were attained within 12–24 hours after administration (Braun & Sauerhoff, 1976). The three male monkeys seemed to absorb pentachlorophenol more slowly (absorption rate constant, 0.2 per hour) than the three females (rate constant, 0.4 per hour), but inter-subject variability was of the order of a factor of 2 [thus, the difference was probably not statistically significant.]

In male $B6C3F_1$ mice, a dose of 15 mg/kg of pentachlorophenol administered by gastric intubation was completely absorbed and peak concentrations were seen after 1 or 2 hours (Reigner et al., 1992c).

In male Sprague-Dawley rats, a bolus injection of 1-3 mg (the exact dose was not given) of [14C]-labelled pentachlorophenol in the duodenum resulted in a peak portal-vein plasma concentration after 20 minutes, most of the substance being transported by the portal vein to the liver (Jandacek et al., 2009). In the same strain and sex, after oral administration of pentachlorophenol at 2.5 mg/kg, the peak plasma concentration occurred between 1.5 and 2 hours, with an absorption half-life ranging from 0.25 to 1.5 hours, and a bioavailability of 90% (Reigner et al., 1991). In Fisher 344 rats, the absorption of pentachlorophenol from the gastrointestinal tract after gavage doses of 9.5 and 38 mg/kg was first order with an absorption half-life of about 1.3 hours, and a bioavailability of more than 80% (Yuan et al., 1994). Similar results were obtained by <u>Braun et al. (1977)</u>.

The permeability of pork skin [which resembles human skin] to pentachlorophenol has been studied with various solvents, showing that pentachlorophenol in aqueous solutions is fairly well and rapidly absorbed (10% absorption, with a peak at 4 or 5 hours) (Baynes et al., 2002).

4.1.3 Distribution

(a) Humans

Blood and urine levels in occupationally exposed people and the general population have been extensively measured (see also Section 1.4; IARC, 1991; Bader et al., 2007; Carrizo et al., 2008). Pentachlorophenol has also been measured in breast milk and umbilical cord blood (Sandau et al., 2002; Guvenius et al., 2003; Hong et al., 2005; Park et al., 2008). Pentachlorophenol found in the blood is extensively bound to plasma proteins: at least 96% is bound, according to Uhl et al. (1986), and 99.5% according to Reigner et al. (1993). This explains for the most part the long half-life of pentachlorophenol in humans (Reigner et al., 1993). Post-mortem tissues from 21 people from the general population of northern Bavaria, Germany, showed pentachlorophenol (in decreasing order of concentration) in the liver, kidney, brain, spleen, and fat (Grimm et al., 1981; Proudfoot, 2003). In a fatal case of pentachlorophenol poisoning, the highest concentrations of pentachlorophenol were found in the bile and renal tissue, with lower concentrations in the lung, liver, and blood (Ryan et al., <u>1987; Proudfoot, 2003).</u>

(b) Experimental systems

In two female rhesus monkeys, radioactivity was measured in the major organs 15 days after the oral administration of a single dose of [¹⁴C]-labelled pentachlorophenol at 10 mg/kg. About 10% of the administered dose was recovered (the rest was excreted in the urine and faeces). The liver, small intestine, and large intestine contained the largest fractions of radioactivity (1%, 5%, and 2%, respectively) (Braun & Sauerhoff, 1976). In monkeys, about 99% of pentachlorophenol in blood plasma is bound to proteins (Reigner et al., 1993).

In female NMRI mice given a subcutaneous or intraperitoneal injection of [¹⁴C]pentachlorophenol at 15–37 mg/kg bw, the highest specific activity was found in the gall bladder and its contents, the wall of the stomach fundus, the contents of the gastrointestinal tract, and the liver. Only traces (less than 0.05%) were detected in exhaled air (Jakobson & Yllner, 1971). In male B6C3F₁ mice, plasma protein binding was high (98.8%), but lower than in the other species tested (rat, monkey, human, cow, by increasing order of binding) and the blood to plasma concentration ratio was about 0.6 (Reigner et al., 1992c, 1993). After intravenous injection or stomach intubation with pentachlorophenol at 15 mg/kg, blood plasma kinetics were well described by a one-compartment model (Reigner et al., 1992c).

In rats (strain, not reported), 40 hours after a single oral administration of [14C]pentachlorophenol at 31-40 mg/kg, the highest levels of radioactivity were found in the liver, kidney, and blood (Larsen et al., 1972). Similar results were obtained in female Sprague-Dawley rats after oral administration of a single dose of radiolabelled pentachlorophenol at 10 or 100 mg/kg, with plasma concentration peaking after 4 to 6 hours (Braun et al., 1977). Distribution to tissues was rapid and no distribution phase was observed (Braun et al., 1977; Reigner et al., 1991; Yuan et al., 1994). Plasma protein binding of pentachlorophenol in rats was about 99%, higher than in mice, but lower than in humans (Schmieder & Henry, 1988; Reigner et al., 1993). Modelling studies of the kinetics of pentachlorophenol in rats show that a one-compartment model with zero-order input and kinetic parameters estimated after intravenous administration adequately predicted pentachlorophenol concentrations in the plasma during long-term exposures to drinking-water containing pentachlorophenol (such as during carcinogenicity experiments) (Reigner et al., 1992b; Yuan, 1993, 1995).

- 4.1.4 Metabolism and modulation of metabolic enzymes
- (a) Metabolism

See <u>Fig. 4.1</u>

(i) Humans

Conjugation with glucuronic acid is the major route of metabolism in humans, with about 80-90% of the administered dose (regardless of its value) being found as glucuronide in the urine (Uhl et al., 1986; Reigner et al., 1992a). An earlier study [with pentachlorophenol of unspecified purity] found much less glucuronide in the urine (Braun et al., 1979). [The Working Group noted that the discrepancy is likely due to the analytical method and the choice of volunteers with low blood concentrations of pentachlorophenol before controlled exposure, as discussed by Reigner et al. (1992a).] Dechlorination is a (minor) route of metabolism in humans (Ahlborg et al., 1974) and the formation of TCHQ and its glucuronide represents probably no more than 10-20% of the administered dose. Here also, discrepancies between studies are best explained by differences in analytical methods (Reigner et al., 1992a). Palmitoylpentachlorophenol, a conjugate of pentachlorophenol with palmitic acid, has been found in human abdominal adipose tissue; quantitatively, it is a minor metabolite: for exposures in a typical range of 10-100 µg/day (Reigner et al., 1992a), the level in one individual was of the order of 0.2 μ g/g (<u>Ansari et al., 1985</u>). The formation of the metabolites is slow (50% of them are formed in about 5-10 days), mostly because of the high plasma-protein binding (Reigner et al., 1992a) and possible enterohepatic cycling [which the Working Group considered probable] (Braun et al., 1979).

Human liver microsomes in vitro were able to metabolize pentachlorophenol of unspecified purity into TCHQ (Juhl et al., 1985) and glucurono-conjugates (Lilienblum, 1985). Oxidation may involve cytochrome P450 3A4 (Proudfoot, 2003). Pentachlorophenol and other chlorinated phenols are also substrates for purified human hydroxysteroid sulfotransferase hSULT2A1 (Gulcan et al., 2008).

(ii) Experimental systems

In mice, most early studies did not control well for hydrolysis and degradation of the oxidized and conjugated metabolites, making these studies difficult to interpret. The most definitive study, by <u>Reigner et al. (1992c)</u> in male B6C3F1 mice, showed that TCHQ was formed together with glucurono- and sulfo-conjugates of both pentachlorophenol and TCHQ (Reigner et al., 1992c). In B6C3F₁ mice treated with pentachlorophenol at a dose of 20 mg/kg bw by gavage, liver protein adducts were formed by reactions with the pentachlorophenol metabolites tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone (tetrachloro-para-benzoquinone) and tetrachloro-1,2-benzoquinone (tetrachloro-ortho-benzoquinone) (Lin et al., 1997). Quantitative time courses were reported.

In rats (mainly Sprague-Dawley), the presence of free pentachlorophenol and TCHQ and their glucurono- or sulfo-conjugates was demonstrated in the urine after pentachlorophenol exposure (Ahlborg et al., 1974; Reigner et al., 1991). The rapid oxidative dechlorination of pentachlorophenol to TCHQ is mediated by liver microsomal enzymes. TCHQ can be further dechlorinated to trichlorohydroquinone (Ahlborg et al., 1980). The metabolites isolated from rat urine and identified were: 2,3,4,5-tetrachlorophenol, 2,3,4,6-tetrachlorophenol, 2,3,5,6-tetrachlorophenol, tetrachloro-(tetrachloro-ortho-hydroquinone), catechol tetrachloro-resorcinol, trichlorohydroquinone, TCHQ, and traces of trichloro-1,4-benzoquinone, and tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone (Renner & Hopfer, 1990). Rat liver microsomes also convert pentachlorophenol to its glucuronide, but not very efficiently (Lilienblum, 1985). In vitro, pentachlorophenol can be esterified with palmitic acid by rat liver microsomes in the



Fig. 4.1 Metabolism of pentachlorophenol based on human and animal observations

Compiled by the Working Group

presence of coenzyme A (Leighty & Fentiman, 1982). In the same system, oxidative dechlorination of pentachlorophenol forms TCHQ and tetrachlorocatechol, which are oxidized to tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone and tetrachloro-1,2-benzoquinone, respectively (van Ommen et al., 1986; Lin et al., 1997, 1999). Five cysteinyl adducts of haemoglobin and albumin have been identified in the blood of rats given pentachlorophenol at a dose of up to 40 mg/kg bw. Those adducts were formed by reactions with the pentachlorophenol metabolites tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone and its semiquinones (Waidyanatha et al., 1996).

Pentachlorophenol is a metabolite of hexaand pentachlorobenzene in rat, mouse, guinea-pig, laying hen, and rainbow trout. It has also been identified as a urinary metabolite of lindane in rats and rabbits (<u>Ahlborg et al., 1980; Umegaki</u> & Ichikawa, 1989).

Pentachlorophenol can be methylated by some fungi and bacteria to form pentachloroanisole (Vodicnik et al., 1980). Pentachloroanisole, in turn, is rapidly demethylated to pentachlorophenol in rats and mice (Yuan et al., 1993).

(b) Modulation of metabolic enzymes

(i) Humans

Pentachlorophenol is a strong inducer of cytochrome P450 enzymes, especially CYP3A, in cultured human hepatoma cells (Dubois et al., 1996). Also in vitro, pentachlorophenol inhibited acetylcholinesterase activity in the membrane of human erythrocytes (Matsumura et al., 1997). It decreased the expression of mRNA of several enzymes (CYP11A, CYP17, CYP19, 3β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, and 17β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase) involved in steroidogenesis in the human adrenocortical carcinoma cell line H295R in vitro (Ma et al., 2011).

(ii) Experimental systems

Pentachlorophenol is an inhibitor of O-acetyltransferase and sulfotransferase family 1 enzymes (<u>Mulder & Scholtens, 1977</u>; <u>Shinohara et al.,</u> <u>1986</u>) and has been used as such in many experimental systems. In female Wistar rats fed diets containing pentachlorophenol, liver cytochrome P450 was induced (<u>Vizethum & Goerz, 1979</u>).

4.1.5 Excretion

(a) Humans

Renal excretion of unconjugated pentachlorophenol is a minor pathway of elimination in humans, partly because of the extensive binding of pentachlorophenol to plasma proteins, leaving only a small fraction available for renal filtration (Reigner et al., 1992a). After a single oral dose, most of the administered dose is found in the urine as glucurono-conjugates, with a plasma and urinary excretion half-life of about 10–20 days (Uhl et al., 1986; Reigner et al., 1992a, 1993). This leads to significant accumulation in the body after repeated doses: for a given quantity absorbed per day, the quantity found in blood plasma is about six times higher at steady state than for a single dose (Reigner et al., 1992a).

(b) Experimental systems

In monkeys exposed orally to a single dose of [¹⁴C]pentachlorophenol at 10 mg/kg, about 70–80% of the radioactivity was recovered in the urine after 15 days and 10–20% in the faeces, with linear kinetics and a half-life values for plasma clearance of about 80 hours for both males and females (Braun & Sauerhoff, 1976). Faecal excretion was steady, indicating that enterohepatic circulation [of the glucuronide, most probably] was occurring. Up to 30% of an oral dose of [¹⁴C] pentachlorophenol of 50 mg/kg was excreted in the bile of rhesus monkeys during 1 day (Rozman, et al., 1982). Given the extensive enterohepatic cycling, pentachlorophenol is likely to be mainly eliminated by glucurono-conjugation, but the sample preparation methods used by <u>Braun & Sauerhoff (1976)</u> did not prevent lysis of the conjugates and did not permit its observation in the urine (<u>Reigner et al., 1993</u>).

In male B6C3F₁ mice, after either intravenous or oral administration of pentachlorophenol, the elimination half-life from blood plasma was about 5-6 hours. After 48 hours, only 60-70% of the dose administered (15 mg/kg) was recovered in the urine and faeces. [The Working Group noted that the remainder was most likely retained in the body]. In the urine, 7-9% of the dose administered was excreted as free pentachlorophenol, 3-6% as free TCHQ, 1% as pentachlorophenol glucuronide, 1-3% as tetrachlorohydroquinone glucuronide, 15% as pentachlorophenol sulfate and 15% as tetrachlorohydroquinone sulfate. In the faeces, 6-9% of the dose administered was pentachlorophenol (free and conjugates), and less than 1% was TCHQ (free and conjugates) (Reigner et al., 1992c).

In Sprague-Dawley rats (three male and three females) given a single oral dose of $[{}^{14}C]$ pentachlorophenol at 10 or 100 mg/kg, urine and faeces were collected at 24-hour intervals, and the animals killed after 8 or 9 days (Braun et al., 1977). Most of the radioactivity (80%), except for females at the higher dose (55%), was recovered from the urine within 8 or 9 days. Most of the remainder (20%) (40% for females at the higher dose) was recovered from the faeces. The Working Group noted the small number of animals and the variability of the results.] Collection of the expired air at 12-hour intervals from the rats receiving the lower dose showed that less than 1% of the administered dose was excreted as [14C]CO2. Elimination of radioactivity from the plasma was biphasic with a first half-life of about 15 hours - similar to that found by Larsen et al. (1972) – and a second one that was poorly identified (except in females at the higher dose, for which elimination was monophasic with a half-life of 30 hours). In another study

in Sprague-Dawley rats (males only), a biphasic elimination profile from plasma was observed with improved analytical and statistical analyses (Reigner et al., 1991). The first elimination phase had a half-life of 6-8 hours after treatment with pentachlorophenol at a dose of 2.5 mg/kg by intravenous injection or gavage. Those results were coherent with those obtained in Fischer 344 rats after treatment with pentachlorophenol by injection or in the diet at a dose of 5, 9.5, or 38 mg/kg (Yuan et al., 1994). In male Sprague-Dawley rats, a terminal half-life of 35 hours was observed after administration of [14C]pentachlorophenol at a dose of 20 mg/kg by intravenous injection. Irrespective of exposure route, about 60-70% of the 2.5 mg/kg dose was recovered in the urine after 72 hours (pentachlorophenol, 5%; TCHQ, 1%; conjugated pentachlorophenol, 20%; conjugated TCHQ, 30%). After either injection or gavage, 10% of the dose was recovered in faeces after chemical hydrolysis (9% pentachlorophenol and 1% TCHQ), indicating that biliary excretion and [most likely] enterohepatic cycling contribute to elimination (Reigner et al., 1991).

4.2 Mechanisms of carcinogenesis

This section summarizes in the following order the available evidence for the key characteristics of carcinogens (Smith et al., 2016), concerning whether pentachlorophenol induces oxidative stress; is genotoxic; modulates receptor-mediated effects; alters cell proliferation, cell death, or nutrient supply; induces chronic inflammation; and is immunosuppressive. For the other key characteristics of human carcinogens, insufficient data were available for evaluation.

4.2.1 Oxidative stress

(a) Humans

No studies in exposed humans were available to the Working Group.

<u>Michałowicz (2010)</u> reported that pentachlorophenol (0.01 μ g/mL and higher) caused small increases in concentrations of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in human lymphocytes isolated from four healthy nonsmoking donors (see Section 4.2.2).

A series of studies examined the role of TCHO, a known metabolite of pentachlorophenol, in oxidative stress induced by pentachlorophenol (see Section 4.2.2). TCHQ caused DNA strand breaks (Witte et al., 1985) that were suppressed by desferrioxamine, an iron chelator (Carstens et al., 1990). In follow-up studies, desferrioxamine inhibited TCHQ-induced DNA damage by scavenging the reactive tetrachlorosemiquinone radical (Witte et al., 2000). In HepG2 cells, tetrachlorobenzoquinone was genotoxic (Dong et al., 2014). Tetrachlorobenzoquinone also increased phosphorylation of histone yH2AX, and increased 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) and ROS in these cells. N-acetylcysteine attenuated both the oxidative-stress markers and the genotoxicity induced by tetrachlorobenzoquinone.

(b) Non-human mammalian experimental systems

(i) Studies on pentachlorophenol in vivo

<u>Sai-Kato et al. (1995)</u> reported dose-dependent increases in 8-OHdG in the liver but not in the kidney or spleen of mice exposed to pentachlorophenol. Prior exposure to vitamin E, but not to vitamin C or to β -carotene, attenuated the pentachlorophenol-induced hepatic 8-OHdG.

Umemura and colleagues examined the role of oxidative stress in toxicity attributable to pentachlorophenol (purity, 98.6%) in a series of studies by evaluating 8-OHdG as measured by high-performance liquid chromatography–electrochemical detection. In mice treated for 2 and 4 weeks, pentachlorophenol (300, 600, and 1200 ppm in the diet) caused dose-dependent increases in hepatic 8-OHdG, liver weights, hepatotoxicity, and the 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (BrdU) labelling index (Umemura et al., 1996). When given alone for 8 weeks, pentachlorophenol increased hepatic 8-OHdG in a dose-dependent manner (Umemura et al., 1999). In an initiation-promotion study (with diethylnitrosamine as initiator), green tea decreased the number of mice with adenomas and the average number of tumours per mouse only at the highest dose of pentachlorophenol (Umemura et al., 2003a, b). The lowest and the highest doses of pentachlorophenol increased 8-oxodeoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) levels in liver DNA and the labelling index in both hepatocytes and extrabiliary epithelial cells. Green tea decreased the pentachlorophenol-induced increases in 8-OHdG and the increases in labelling indices (Umemura et al., 2003b). The decrease in labelling indices induced by green tea may result from the attenuation of pentachlorophenol-induced hepatotoxicity.

Umemura and colleagues have also evaluated the role of oxidative stress in the toxicity and carcinogenicity of pentachlorophenol using a variety of transgenic mice. In Umemura et al. (2006), mice deficient in nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor (*Nrf2-/-*) and their heterozygote $(Nrf2^{-/+})$ and homozygote $(Nrf2^{+/+})$ controls were given diets containing pentachlorophenol at 150-1200 ppm for 4 weeks. End-points included measures of oxidative stress (hepatic 8-OHdG and thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances), hepatotoxicity (increased liver weight, serum biochemistry, and cell proliferation), and changes in expression of NAD(P):quinone oxidoreductase 1, UDP-glucuronosyltransferase, and CYP1A2. At the highest dose, pentachlorophenol increased levels of hepatic 8-OHdG and thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances only in the *Nrf2^{-/-}* knockout mice. Increases in hepatocyte proliferation were observed at all doses in the *Nrf2^{-/-}* mice and in the *Nrf2^{-/+}* heterozygotes. Pentachlorophenol increased hepatocyte proliferation in the wildtype mice at all doses except at 150 ppm (Umemura et al., 2006). In a separate

study of $Nrf2^{-/-}$ and $Nrf2^{+/+}$ mice, long-term exposure to pentachlorophenol increased the incidence of cholangiofibrosis in mice of either genotype (at concentrations of 600 and 1200 ppm $Nrf2^{-/-}$, and at 1200 ppm in $Nrf2^{+/+}$ mice) (Tasaki et al., 2014; see also Section 3.1).

The guanine-hypoxanthine phosphoribosyl transferase (gpt) delta transgenic mouse model was also used to evaluate the role of pentachlorophenol in oxidative stress and genotoxicity (Tasaki et al., 2013). The *gpt* delta animal model can detect point mutations within the gpt gene and deletion mutations within the *red/gam* (Spi-) gene (Masumura et al., 2003; Hibi et al., 2011). Tasaki et al. crossed *p*53^{-/-} mice with *gpt* transgenic mice and reported that exposure to pentachlorophenol for 13 weeks increased levels of 8-OHdG and NAD(P):quinone oxidoreductase 1 in the liver in p53 wildtype and $p53^{-/-}$ mice. No increases in the frequency of gpt and red/gam mutations were observed in either the p53 wildtype or p53-/- mice (Tasaki et al., 2013; see also Table 4.3, Section 4.2.2).

Bordelon et al. (2001) injected mice (age, 15 days) with pentachlorophenol as a single dose of up to 100 mg/kg bw. No 8-OHdG adducts were detected in the liver using [32 P]-postlabelling. No signs of toxicity were observed in the infant mice; the median lethal dose (LD₅₀) for pentachlorophenol in adult mice in this study was 50 mg/kg bw.

Lin et al. (2002) reported increased 8-OHdG adduct formation using high-performance liquid chromatography-electrochemical detection in the liver of male rats exposed to pentachlorophenol at 60 mg/kg bw per day by gavage for 27 weeks; no 8-OHdG adducts were detected after a shorter exposure (5 days) at this dose or at 120 mg/kg per day. Two major DNA adducts were detected using [³²P]-postlabelling after nuclease P1 adduct enrichment. One co-migrated with adducts formed by the metabolite tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone. This adduct appeared to be formed in parallel with 8-OHdG in the chronically exposed rats only, at levels 10 times lower than those of 8-OHdG adducts (<u>Lin et al., 2002</u>). In another study in male rats, 8-OHdG lesions and chromosomal aberrations were not induced in the liver after exposure to an intraperitoneal dose of pentachlorophenol at 10 mg/kg per day for 5 days, but the frequency of sister-chromatid exchange was significantly increased (<u>Daimon</u> et al., 1997) (see also <u>Table 4.3</u>, Section 4.2.2).

(ii) Studies on metabolites of pentachlorophenol in vivo

In mice treated with pentachlorophenol (purity, not reported; 40 mg/kg bw) or TCHQ (20 mg/kg bw) by intraperitoneal administration and necropsied 6 hours after exposure, glutathione (GSH) levels in the liver were depleted by 65% by TCHQ, but were unaltered by pentachlorophenol (Wang et al., 1997). In rats given a single intraperitoneal injection of pentachlorophenol (40 mg/kg bw) or TCHQ (15 mg/kg bw), with or without a 2-hour pretreatment with vitamin E (100 mg/kg bw), there was an increase in urinary levels of 8-epi-prostaglandin F2a, a major F2-isoprostane that is increased by free-radical mediated arachidonic acid oxidation (Wang et al., 2001). The increase in 8-epi-prostaglandin F2a was associated with increases in serum alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase, and was attenuated by co-administration of vitamin E. TCHQ was more effective than pentachlorophenol in all cases (Wang et al., 2001).

Mice fed diet containing TCHQ (300 mg/kg bw per day) for 2 weeks had increased hepatic 8-OHdG (measured by liquid chromatography-electrochemical detection) (<u>Dahlhaus</u> et al., 1994). No increases in oxidative stress were observed in mice given a single intraperitoneal dose of TCHQ (20 or 50 mg/kg bw), 6 or 24 hours after exposure (<u>Dahlhaus et al., 1994</u>; see also Section 4.2.2).

(iii) Studies on pentachlorophenol metabolites in vitro

In splenocytes isolated from male ICR mice and exposed to pentachlorophenol (purity, > 98%; 25, 50, and 100 μ M) or TCHQ (12.5, 25, and 50 μ M), ROS were increased by TCHQ in a dose-dependent manner as measured using dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA). Viability began decreasing at 15 minutes, falling to 50–60% at the lowest dose, and 20–40% at the higher doses at 6 hours (Chen et al., 2014).

Siraki et al. (2004) evaluated a variety of *para*-benzoquinones, including tetrachloro-*para*-benzoquinone [tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone], in rat primary hepatocytes and pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells. Tetrachloro-*para*-benzoquinone induced ROS at concentrations that were 10 times lower than those for the half-maximal response (EC₅₀) for GSH depletion in rat hepatocytes or the PC12 cells. Of the 14 benzoquinone derivatives, tetrachloro-*para*-benzoquinone was the most potent for cytotoxicity and ROS formation. The potency of tetrachloro-*para*-benzoquinone for GSH depletion was similar to that of five other benzoquinone derivatives.

In mouse embryonic fibroblast NIH 3T3 cells exposed to TCHQ (5–50 μ M) for 30 minutes, cell viability was significantly decreased in a dose-dependent manner and this was attenuated by co-treatment with *N*-acetylcysteine. In the same cells, apoptosis was observed after exposure to TCHQ (50 μ M) for 8 hours (Wang et al., 1997; see Section 4.2.4).

TCHQ induced 8-OHdG adducts in Chinese hamster V79 lung fibroblasts (<u>Dahlhaus et al.</u>, <u>1995</u>, <u>1996</u>; see also Section 4.2.2). <u>Dahlhaus</u> <u>et al. (1996</u>) observed that pentachlorophenol and tetrachloro-*ortho*-hydroquinone (also named tetrachlorocatechol) did not induce 8-OHdG, whereas 8-OHdG was increased by tetrachloro-*para*-hydroquinone, tetrachloro-*para*-benzoquinone [tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone], and tetrachloro-*ortho*-benzoquinone [tetrachloro-1,2-benzoquinone]. Tetrachloro-*para*-hydroquinone is the main metabolite of pentachlorophenol, while tetrachloro-*para*-benzoquinone and tetrachloro-*ortho*-hydroquinone are minor metabolites in rats and humans (Juhl et al., 1985).

(c) Non-mammalian experimental systems

In various species of fish, exposure to pentachlorophenol increased oxidative stress, decreased the glutathione/oxidized glutathione (GSH/GSSG) ratio, and altered genes and proteins involved in the response to oxidative stress (Thomas & Wofford, 1984; Zhang et al., 2008; Luo et al., 2009). Pentachlorophenol (purity, > 98%) was shown to be an uncoupler of oxidative phosphorylation in zebrafish embryos (Xu et al., 2014). No effect of pentachlorophenol $(3.75-75 \mu M)$ on lipid peroxidation was seen in the digestive gland from mussels (Milowska et al., 2003). Pietsch et al. (2014) demonstrated effects of pentachlorophenol or TCHQ on ROS, superoxide dismutase, and cell viability in rainbow trout liver RTL-W1 cells that were shown to metabolize pentachlorophenol to TCHQ.

In yeast, pentachlorophenol increased concentrations of superoxide dismutase in *Humicola lutea* 110 (Angelova et al., 1995).

The antioxidants butylated hydroxytoluene and butylated hydroxyanisole increased toxicity and delayed cell growth in *Pseudomonas fluorescens* bacteria co-treated with pentachlorophenol (Trevors et al., 1981).

(d) Acellular systems

Naito et al. (1994) reported 8-OHdG in calf thymus DNA co-exposed to TCHQ and Cu(II) (20 μ M) (see Section 4.2.2). DNA damage was attenuated by copper chelators and H₂O₂ scavengers, suggesting that Cu(I) and hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) were involved in the mechanism of DNA damage. Incubation of TCHQ with H₂O₂ produced hydroxyl radicals (·OH), which could not be inhibited by the presence of several iron chelators. [The Working Group noted that TCHQ can react directly with H_2O_2 to produce hydroxyl radicals in a reaction independent of the classic Fenton system (Zhu et al., 2000; Zhu & Shan, 2009)]. However, in *Escherichia coli*, the presence of copper can enhance the cytotoxicity of pentachlorophenol (Zhu & Chevion, 2000; Zhu et al., 2001).

4.2.2 Genetic and related effects

Studies on pentachlorophenol have been carried out in exposed humans, in human cells in vitro, in other mammals in vivo, and in non-mammalian systems, as summarized in Table 4.1, Table 4.2, Table 4.3, Table 4.4, Table 4.5, and Table 4.6. If purity was not reported in the study, pentachlorophenol was considered to be of technical grade (approximately 90% pentachlorophenol and 10% contaminants).

- (a) Humans
- (i) Exposed humans

See <u>Table 4.1</u>.

Several studies of genetic effects in humans occupationally exposed to pentachlorophenol were available. Bauchinger et al. (1982) (also reported in Schmid et al., 1982) reported increases in chromosomal aberrations, but not in sister-chromatid exchanges, in 22 male workers in a pentachlorophenol-producing factory (14 workers exposed to Na-PCP and 8 to pentachlorophenol). All workers were smokers, and duration of exposure ranged from 1 to 30 years. The matched control group was of 22 unexposed workers (9 smokers) from similar employment settings; however, pentachlorophenol was measured in the blood and urine of pentachlorophenol-factory workers but not in the controls. Increases in the frequencies of chromosome-type aberrations (i.e. dicentric chromosomes and acentric fragments) were not influenced by smoking habits. There was no effect on the frequency of sister-chromatid exchange when smoking was controlled for.

Ziemsen et al. (1987) also measured chromosomal aberrations and sister-chromatid exchange in 20 workers exposed for 3–34 years during production of wood preservatives that consisted of pentachlorophenol and Na-PCP. Exposure was estimated by measurement of serum concentration of pentachlorophenol. No association was found between frequency of chromosomal aberrations or sister-chromatid exchange in peripheral lymphocytes and duration of employment, age, smoking status, type of exposure (pentachlorophenol or Na-PCP), or serum concentration of pentachlorophenol.

Another small study reported no significant increase in the frequency of chromosomal aberrations in six workers from a pentachlorophenol wood-treatment plant; four unmatched controls were used for comparisons (<u>Wyllie et al., 1975</u>). Exposure was estimated by measurement of concentration of pentachlorophenol in the serum and urine.

(ii) Human cells in vitro

See <u>Table 4.2</u>.

Several studies in human cells in vitro reported using the comet assay to detect DNA strand breaks (Michałowicz, 2010; Michałowicz & Majsterek, 2010; Stang & Witte, 2010; Tisch et al., 2005; Ozaki et al., 2004; Jin et al., 2012). Michałowicz (2010) reported a significant, dose-dependent increase in percentage DNA damage as measured by the alkaline comet assay in primary lymphocytes exposed to pentachlorophenol (purity, 99.5%) at 0.2, 1.0, or 5.0 μ g μ g/mL for 1 hour. These concentrations also increased levels of ROS detectable by the fluorescent probe 6-carboxy-2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (H₂DCF-DA), but cell viability was only decreased at $\geq 125 \ \mu g/mL$. Michałowicz & Majsterek (2010) repeated these findings using repair enzymes to detect oxidized DNA bases in the comet assay. Stang & Witte, (2010) reported that pentachlorophenol (purity, not reported) induced dose-dependent DNA

End-point	Tissue	Cell type if specified	Description of exposure and controls	Mean exposure level	Response, significance ^a	References
Chromosomal aberrations	Blood,	Lymphocytes	22 male workers at a PCP plant (8: PCP; 14: Na-PCP) and 22 male controls	< 0.1 to > 0.5 mg/m ³ (TWA)	+ (P = 0.004)	Bauchinger et al. (1982); Schmid et al. (1982)
Sister-chromatid exchange					1	
Chromosomal aberrations Sister-chromatid exchange	Blood	Lymphocytes	20 workers at PCP wood-preservative production plant	180 μg/m³	1 1	Ziemsen et al. (1987)
Chromosomal aberrations	Blood	NR	6 PCP wood-treatment plant workers and 4 unexposed controls; Idaho	1887.9 ng/m³ for 5 mo	1	<u>Wyllie et al. (1975)</u>

Table 4.2 Geneti	c and related effe	ects of pentach	lorophenol in ł	uman cells in vitro		
End-point	Tissue, cell line	Results ^a		Concentration	Comments	References
		Without metabolic activation	With metabolic activation	(LEC or HIC)		
DNA strand breaks, alkaline comet assay	Lymphocytes (primary)	+	NT	0.2 μg/mL	Purity, 99.5%	<u>Michałowicz (2010)</u>
DNA strand breaks, comet assay + Fpg and Endo III enzymes	Lymphocytes (primary)	+	TN	0.2 μg/mL	Purity, 99.5%	<u>Michałowicz & Majsterek</u> (2010)
DNA strand breaks, high-throughput comet assay	Lymphocytes (primary)	1	+	0.5 mM [133 μg/mL]	Purity, NR	Stang & Witte (2010)
DNA strand breaks, high-throughput comet assay	Liver, HepG2	+	NT	1 mM [266 μg/mL]	Purity, NR	Stang & Witte (2010)
	Fibroblast, NHDF-p	I	+	1.25 mM [333 μg/mL]		
	Cervical carcinoma, HeLa	1	+	1.15 mM [306 μg/mL		
DNA strand breaks, comet assay and microgel electrophoresis	Cervical carcinoma, HeLa	1	TN	50 μM [13.5 μg/mL]	Purity, NR	Jin et al. (2012)
Chromosomal aberrations, sister- chromatid exchange	Nasal mucosal epithelial cells (primary)	+	NT	1.2 M [3.2 × 105 μg/mL]	Purity, > 99.5%	<u>Tisch et al. (2001, 2005)</u>
	Lymphocytes (primary)	1	NT	90 µg/mL	Na-PCP, technical grade; purity, 85%	Ziemsen et al. (1987)
 +, positive; -, negative; Endo III, endonuclease IJ pentachlorophenate; NR, 	the level of significance. I; Fpg, formamidopyrim not reported; NT, not te	was set at <i>P</i> < 0.05 in uidine DNA glycosyla: sted	all cases se; HIC, highest ineffe	tive concentration; LEC, lowest	: effective concentration;]	Na-PCP, sodium

damage in a high-throughput comet assay in HepG2 cells without S9, and in primary lymphocytes, fibroblasts, and HeLa cells (and in CHO V79 cells, described below) in the presence of S9. Pentachlorophenol (purity, not reported) gave negative results in a separate study in HeLa cells (Jin et al., 2012), and DNA damage induced by pentachlorophenol (purity, > 99%) in the human promyelocytic leukaemia cell line HL-60 was attributed to high toxicity (51% viable cells) (Ozaki et al., 2004). Concentration-dependent induction of DNA damage in primary mucosal epithelial cells isolated from human nasal conchae was induced by pentachlorophenol (purity, > 99.5%) (Tisch et al., 2001, 2005).

Technical-grade Na-PCP (purity, 85%; up to the cytotoxic concentration of 90 μ g/mL) did not increase the frequency of chromosomal aberrations or sister-chromatid exchange in primary lymphocytes from healthy donors, exposed in vitro (Ziemsen et al., 1987).

- (b) Experimental systems
- (i) Non-human mammals in vivo

See <u>Table 4.3</u>.

Studies that also reported on 8-OHdG and other end-points relevant to oxidative stress (Sai-Kato et al., 1995; Daimon et al., 1997; Tasaki et al., 2013) are discussed in Section 4.2.1.

No increase in the frequency of micronucleus formation was observed in mouse or rat bone marrow after intraperitoneal injection of pentachlorophenol (purity, 91.6%) every 24 hours for 3 days. The highest dose in mice (150 mg/kg bw) and rats (75 mg/kg bw) was lethal (NTP, 1999).

(ii) Non-human mammalian cells in vitro See <u>Table 4.4</u>.

Pentachlorophenol (purity, > 99.5%) did not induce forward (Jansson & Jansson, 1986) or reverse (Helleday et al., 1999) *Hprt* mutations in Chinese hamster V79 lung fibroblasts. Pentachlorophenol (purity, not reported; $6.66 \mu g/mL$) did not induce DNA strand breaks (or 8-OHdG) in Chinese hamster V79 cells (Dahlhaus et al., 1996). However, significant DNA strand breakage was detected by the comet assay in another study in Chinese hamster V79 cells treated with pentachlorophenol at a higher concentration (266 μ g/mL) and with S9 (Stang & Witte, 2010). In Chinese hamster ovary cells, DNA strand breaks were not detected after exposure to pentachlorophenol at 10 μ g/mL (Ehrlich, 1990), but a marginal induction of chromosomal aberrations (80 μ g/mL; only with S9) and sister-chromatid exchange (30 μ g/mL; only without S9) was reported at slightly higher concentrations of pentachlorophenol (purity, 91.6%) (NTP, 1999).

(iii) Non-mammalian experimental systems in vivo

See Table 4.5.

In zebrafish, analytical-grade pentachlorophenol induced point mutations in the *Tp53* gene (<u>Yin et al., 2006</u>) and DNA adduct formation (<u>Fang et al., 2015</u>).

Pentachlorophenol produced chromosomal aberrations and/or micronuclei in freshwater fish (Farah et al., 2003, 2006) (purity, 99%), catfish (Ahmad et al., 2002) (purity, 99%), snails (Pavlica et al., 2000), and mussels (Pavlica et al., 2000; Villela et al., 2006), but not in frogs exposed as larvae (Venegas et al., 1993). Pentachlorophenol induced DNA strand breaks in mussels in vivo (Pavlica et al., 2001; Villela et al., 2006) and in vitro (Milowska et al., 2003), as well as in earthworms (Klobučar et al., 2011).

Pentachlorophenol did not induce nondisjunction or chromosome loss in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Ramel & Magnusson, 1979).

In the onion, pentachlorophenol (purity, 99%) induced chromosomal aberrations in one study (<u>Ateeq et al., 2002</u>), but not in another (<u>Venegas et al., 1993</u>). Micronucleus formation was observed in the onion (<u>Repetto et al., 2001</u>).

Table 4.3 Genetic an	d related effects of pent	tachlorophen	iol in non	human man-ו	nmals in vivo		
End-point	Species, strain (sex)	Tissue	Results ^a	Dose (LED or HID)	Route, duration, dosing regiment	Comments	References
DNA adducts (8-OHdG, HPLC-ECD)	Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (M)	Liver	+	60 mg/kg	Gavage, single dose/6 h	Purity, 98.6%	<u>Sai-Kato et al.</u> (1995)
DNA adducts, ³² P- postlabelling	Rat, F344/Du Crj (M)	Liver	I	10 mg/kg bw	i.p., 5 days	Purity, NR	<u>Daimon et al.</u> (1997)
Sister-chromatid exchanges	Rat, F344/Du Crj (M)	Liver	+				
Chromosomal aberrations			I				
Mouse spot test	Mouse, <i>p</i> 53 ^{+/+} or <i>p</i> 53 ^{-/-} C57BL/6 <i>gpt delta</i> (M)	Liver	I	6000– 12 000 ppm	p.o., 13 wk		<u>Tasaki et al.</u> (2013)
Micronucleus formation	Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (M)	Bone marrow (PCE)	I	150 mg/kg bw	i.p., 1×/day, 3 days	Purity, 91.6% HID was lethal	<u>(1666)</u>
Micronucleus formation	Rat, F344/N, (M)	Bone marrow (PCE)	1	75 mg/kg bw	i.p., 1×/day, 3 days	Purity, 91.6% HID was lethal	<u>(1999)</u>
a + nositive - negative the le	evel of significance was set at $P < 0.0$	05 in all cases					

a

* +, positive; -, negative; the level of significance was set at P < 0.05 in all cases bw, body weight; h, hour(s); HID, highest ineffective dose; i.p., intraperitoneal; HPLC-ECD, high-performance liquid chromatography–electrochemical detection; LED, lowest effective dose; M, male; NR, not reported; 8-OHdG, 8-hydroxy-2⁻deoxyguanosine; PCE, polychromatic erythrocytes; p.o., oral; ppm, parts per million; wk, week

Table 4.4 Genetic	and related effec	ts of pentachloropl	henol in non-hum	an mammalian cells	in vitro	
End-point	Cell line	Results ^a		Concentration	Comments	References
		Without metabolic activation	With metabolic activation	- (LEC or HIC)		
DNA strand breaks, alkaline elution assay	Chinese hamster ovary	1	NT	10 μg/mL	Purity, NR	<u>Ehrlich (1990)</u>
DNA strand breaks, alkaline elution assay	Chinese hamster fibroblast V79	I	NT	25 μM [6.66 μg/mL]	Purity, NR	<u>Dahlhaus et al. (1996)</u>
DNA strand breaks, high-throughput comet assay	Chinese hamster fibroblast V79	1	+	1 mM [266 µg/mL]	Purity, NR	Stang & Witte (2010)
<i>Hprt</i> mutation	Chinese hamster fibroblast V79	I	NT	50 µg/mL	Purity, > 99.5%	Jansson & Jansson (1986)

^a +, positive; -, negative; (+), positive result in a study of limited quality; the level of significance was set at P < 0.05 in all cases exchange

Galloway et al. (1987);

NTP (1989, 1999)

Purity, 91.6%

30 μg/mL

I

(+)

Purity, NR <u>Helleday et al. (1999)</u>

35 μg/mL (V79SPD8 clone), 40 μg/mL

LΛ

I

Chinese hamster

Hprt mutation

fibroblast V79

(V79Sp5 clone)

80 µg/mL

(+)

I

Chinese hamster

Chromosomal aberrations

ovary

Sister-chromatid

HIC, highest ineffective concentration; LEC, lowest effective concentration; NR, not reported; NT, not tested

IARC MONOGRAPHS - 117

Table 4.5 Genetic and related eff	ects of pentachlorophenol in	non-mar	nmalian experimen	ital systems in vi	٥٨
End-point	Species, strain, tissue	Results ^a	Concentration (LEC or HIC)	Comments	Reference
<i>Tp53</i> gene mutation	Tuebingen zebrafish, liver	+	5 μg/L (10 days)	Purity, > 98%	<u>Yin et al. (2006)</u>
DNA adducts (8-OHdG, ELISA)	<i>Danio rerio</i> zebrafish, AB strain embryos	+	30 μg/L (6 days post fertilization)	Purity, > 99% 8-OHdG lesions in larvae	Fang et al. (2015)
Chromosomal aberrations	<i>Channa punctatus</i> , kidney	+	0.6 ppm [600 μg/L] (96 h)	Purity, 99%	<u>Farah et al. (2006)</u>
Micronucleus formation	Channa punctatus, erythrocytes	+	0.2 ppm [200 μg/L] (96 h)	Purity, 99%	<u>Farah et al. (2003)</u>
Micronucleus formation	Heteropneustes fossilis, erythrocytes	+	0.1 ppm [100 μg/L] (96 h)	Purity, 99%	<u>Ahmad et al. (2002)</u>
Micronucleus formation	Caudiverbera caudiverbera larvae, erythrocytes	I	1.5 ppm [1500 μg/L] (6 days)	Purity, NR	<u>Venegas et al. (1993)</u>
Micronucleus formation	Planorbarius corneus, haematocytes	+	100 μg/L (7 days)	Technical grade	Pavlica et al. (2000)
DNA strand breaks, comet assay	Dreissena polymorpha, haematocytes	+	80 μg/L (7 days)	Technical grade	<u>Pavlica et al. (2001)</u>
Micronucleus formation	Dreissena polymorpha, haematocytes	+	10 μ g/L (up to 14 days)	Technical grade	<u>Pavlica et al. (2000)</u>
DNA strand breaks, comet assay Micronucleus formation	Limnoperna fortune, haematocytes	+ +	100 μg/L (2 h) 10 μg/L (24 or 48 h)	Purity, NR	<u>Villela et al. (2006)</u>
DNA strand breaks, comet assay	<i>Eisenia fetida</i> , coelomocytes	+	0.125 μg/cm ² (24 h)	Purity, NR	<u>Klobučar et al. (2011)</u>
Aneuploidy, nondisjunction and loss of sex chromosomes	Drosophila melanogaster	I	400 ppm [400 μg/mL]	Purity, NR	<u>Ramel & Magnusson</u> (1979)
Chromosomal aberrations	Allium cepa (onion)	I	1.5 ppm [1.5 μg/mL] (6 days)	Purity, NR	<u>Venegas et al. (1993)</u>
Chromosomal aberrations	Allium cepa (onion)	+	0.5 ppm [0.5 μg/mL]	Purity, 99%	<u>Ateeq et al. (2002)</u>
Micronucleus formation	Allium cepa (onion)	+	5 μM [1.33 μg/mL]	Purity, NR	<u>Repetto et al. (2001)</u>
 +, positive; -, negative; the level of significance h, hour(s); HIC, highest ineffective concentration; parts per million 	was set at $P < 0.05$ in all cases ; LEC, lowest effective concentration; NR, n	10t reported;	8-OHdG, 8-hydroxy-2'-deox	yguanosine; PCR, polyn	ıerase chain reaction; ppm,

Pentachlorophenol

(iv) Non-mammalian experimental systems in vitro

See <u>Table 4.6</u>.

Pentachlorophenol gave positive results in lower eukaryotic non-mammalian systems. Pentachlorophenol induced forward gene conversion (Fahrig, 1974; Fahrig et al., 1978), mutation (Fahrig et al., 1978), and mitotic recombination (Waters et al., 1982) in various strains of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*.

In prokaryotic non-mammalian systems, pentachlorophenol did not induce reverse mutations in *Salmonella typhimurium* strains TA97a, TA98, TA100, TA1535, TA1537, or YG1024 in nearly all studies identified (Waters et al., 1982; Donnelly et al., 1990; George et al., 1991; Markiewicz et al., 1996; Donnelly et al., 1998; Gichner et al., 1998; NTP, 1999). Two studies reported positive results with exogenous S9 in TA98 (Nishimura & Oshima, 1983; Gopalaswamy & Nair, 1992).

Pentachlorophenol did not induce reverse mutations or DNA damage in two strains of *Escherichia coli* (Waters et al., 1982). DNA strand breaks were detected using the Microscreen prophage-induction assay in *Escherichia coli* after exposure to pentachlorophenol (purity, 92%) (DeMarini et al., 1990). Results were positive with exogenous S9 and marginally positive in the absence of S9. DNA damage was also detected in two strains of *Bacillus subtilis*, one wildtype (Ozaki et al., 2004) and one recombination-deficient (Waters et al., 1982); Ozaki et al. used pentachlorophenol with a purity of > 99%.

(v) Acellular systems

See <u>Table 4.6</u>.

Van Ommen et al. (1986) reported the formation of both DNA and protein adducts in calf thymus DNA and microsomal proteins from rats after exposure to pentachlorophenol, but Witte et al. (1985) did not detect adduct formation in calf thymus or bacteriophage DNA in the absence of metabolic activation.

Dai et al. reported the formation of pentachlorophenol-DNA adducts with calf thymus DNA (Dai et al., 2005) or excess deoxyguanosine (Dai et al., 2003) in the presence of peroxidase. Adducts were detected using liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry with nuclear magnetic resonance spectral analysis. The oxidation of pentachlorophenol by the peroxidases (horseradish and myeloperoxidase) yielded chlorophenoxyl radicals that formed oxygen adducts that were specific to the C8 of deoxyguanosine; adducts were not formed with the three other deoxynucleosides. These chlorophenoxyl radicals were also able to self-pair to form an electrophilic 1,4-benzoquinone; this derivative can also react with deoxyguanosine to form 4"-hydroxy-1,N²-benzetheno-deoxyguanosine adducts (Dai et al., 2005). These chlorophenoxyl radicals were specific to pentachlorophenol oxidation by peroxidases; when the same experiment was conducted using rat liver microsomes, different DNA adducts formed from the electrophilic benzoquinone metabolites were observed (Dai et al., 2003).

(c) Genetic and related effects of pentachlorophenol metabolites

See <u>Table 4.7</u>.

Several studies investigated the genetic and related effects of the major metabolites of pentachlorophenol, including TCHQ, tetrachlorocatechol (also named tetrachloro-*ortho*-hydroquinone), tetrachloro-1,2-benzoquinone (tetrachloro-*ortho*-benzoquinone), and tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone (tetrachloro-*para*-benzoquinone) (see also Section 4.2.1).

(i) TCHQ

TCHQ induced DNA damage measured by the comet assay in the human fibroblast GM 5757 cell line (Witte et al., 2000; Stang & Witte, 2010), and by alkaline elution in Chinese hamster ovary cells (Ehrlich, 1990). TCHQ induced mutations at the *Hprt* locus (but not at the Na/K-ATPase

Table 4.6 Gene	tic and related effects of	pentachlorop	henol in non	-mammalian and ace	ellular systems in vitro	0
End-point	Species, strain	Results ^a		Concentration	Comments	Reference
		Without metabolic activation	With metabolic activation	(LEC or HIC)		
Mitotic gene conversion	Saccharomyces cerevisiae D4	+	NT	0.19 mM [50.6 µg/mL]	Purity, NR Vehicle, DMSO	<u>Fahrig (1974)</u>
Mitotic gene conversion	Saccharomyces cerevisiae MP-1	+	LΝ	400 μg/mL	Purity, 99% Survival, 59%	<u>Fahrig et al. (1978)</u>
Forward mutation	Saccharomyces cerevisiae MP-1	+	NT	400 µg/mL	Purity, 99% Survival, 59%	<u>Fahrig et al. (1978)</u>
Mitotic recombination	Saccharomyces cerevisiae D3	+	+	10 mg/plate	Technical grade	<u>Waters et al. (1982)</u>
Reverse mutation	Salmonella typhimurium TA100	1	1	0.04 μmol/plate [11 μg/plate]	Purity, NR	<u>Nishimura &</u> <u>Oshima (1983)</u>
Reverse mutation	Salmonella typhimurium TA98	I	+	0.04 μmol/plate [11 μg/plate]	Purity, NR	<u>Nishimura &</u> Oshima (1983)
Reverse mutation	Salmonella typhimurium TA98	NT	1	50 μg/plate	Purity, NR	<u>Donnelly et al.</u> (1990)
Reverse mutation	Salmonella typhimurium TA98, TA100	I	I	100 μg/plate		George et al. (1991)
Reverse mutation	Salmonella typhimurium TA98	1	+	100 μg/plate	Purity, NR	<u>Gopalaswamy &</u> <u>Nair (1992)</u>
Reverse mutation	Salmonella typhimurium TA98	I	1	100 μg/plate	Purity, NR	<u>Markiewicz et al.</u> (1996)
Reverse mutation	Salmonella typhimurium TA97a, TA98 and TA100	1	I	200 μg/plate	Purity, > 98%	<u>Donnelly et al.</u> (<u>1998)</u>
Reverse mutation	Salmonella typhimurium YG1024	I	1	200 μM [53.3 μg/mL]	Purity, NR	<u>Gichner et al.</u> (1998)
Reverse mutation	Salmonella typhimurium TA98, TA100, TA1535, TA1537	1	I	30 μg/plate	Purity, 91.6%	<u>Haworth et al.</u> (1983): NTP (1989, 1999)
Reverse mutation	Salmonella typhimurium TA98, TA100, TA1535, TA1537, TA1538	I	I	10mg/plate	Technical grade	Waters et al. (1982)
Prophage λ induction	Escherichia coli WP2s (λ)	+	+	12.71 μM [3.4 μg/mL]	Purity, 92%	<u>DeMarini et al.</u> (1990)
Differential toxicity	Escherichia coli p3478 (polA-)	I	NT	10 mg/plate	Technical grade	<u>Waters et al. (1982)</u>

Pentachlorophenol

End-point	Species, strain	Results ^a		Concentration	Comments	Reference
		Without metabolic activation	With metabolic activation	- (LEC or HIC)		
Reverse mutation	Escherichia coli WP2	I	1	10 mg/plate	Technical grade	Waters et al. (1982)
Differential toxicity	Bacillus subtilis M45 (recA-)	+	NT	10 mg/plate	Technical grade	<u>Waters et al. (1982)</u>
Differential toxicity	Bacillus subtilis M45 (recA-, recA+)	+	NT	3 μg/plate (<i>recA</i> -), 6 μg/plate (<i>recA</i> +)	Purity, > 99%	<u>Ozaki et al. (2004)</u>
DNA adducts, covalent binding	Calf thymus DNA	1	NT	100 mM [26.6 × 10 ³ μg/mL]	Purity, NR	<u>Witte et al. (1985)</u>
DNA adducts, covalent binding	Calf thymus DNA	NT	+	100 μM [26.63 μg/mL]	Purity, NR	<u>van Ommen et al.</u> (1986)
C8-dG O-adducts, LC-MS	Bacteriophage PM2 DNA	I	NT	100 mM [26.6 × 10 ³ μg/mL]	Purity, NR	<u>Witte et al. (1985)</u>
C8-dG O-adducts, LC-MS	2'-Deoxyguanosine	+	1	100 μM [26.63 μg/mL]	Purity, NR Horseradish peroxidase/ H ₂ O ₂ Alternative adduct formed in presence of S9	<u>Dai et al. (2003)</u>
DNA strand breaks, quantitative gel electrophoresis	Calf thymus DNA	+	TN	100 μM [26.63 μg/mL]	Purity, NR In the presence of horseradish peroxidase/ H ₂ O ₂ .	<u>Dai et al. (2005)</u>
a i maaikima	مداما متلا مترمز منحسنة ممسم مسمو ممله	D / 0 0F in all assess				

^a +, positive; -, negative; the level of significance was set at P < 0.05 in all cases C8-dGO, C-8-2'-deoxyguanosine; DMSO, dimethyl sulfoxide; HIC, highest ineffective concentration; LC-MS, liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry; LEC, lowest effective concentration; NR, not reported; NT, not tested; S9, 9000 × g supernatant

Table 4.6 (continued)

Table 4.7 Genetic and related effe	cts of metabolites of per	ntachloro	phenol		
End-point	Tissue, cell line	Results ^a	Concentration (LEC or HIC)	Comments	References
Tetrachlorohydroquinone					
DNA strand breaks, comet assay	Human fibroblasts, GM 5757	+	6.5 μM [1.6 μg/mL]	Purity, NR	<u>Witte et al. (2000)</u>
DNA strand breaks, high throughput comet assay	Human fibroblasts, NHDF-p	+	NR	Purity, "grade II"	<u>Stang & Witte (2010)</u>
DNA strand breaks, alkaline elution assay	Chinese hamster ovary	+	2 μg/mL	Purity, NR	Ehrlich (1990)
DNA strand breaks, alkaline elution assay	Chinese hamster fibroblast, V79	+	25 μM [6.2 μg/mL]	Purity, NR	<u>Dahlhaus et al. (1995)</u>
<i>Hprt</i> mutation Na/K-ATPase locus, ouabain-resistant mutants	Chinese hamster fibroblast, V79	+ 1	20 μΜ [5 μg/mL] 60 μΜ [15 μg/mL]	Purity, > 99%	<u>lansson & Jansson</u> (1991)
Micronucleus formation	Chinese hamster fibroblast, V79	+	10 μM [2.5 μg/mL]	Purity, > 99%.	<u>Jansson & Jansson</u> (1992)
DNA adducts, covalent binding	Calf thymus DNA	+	50 mM [12.5 μg/mL]	Purity, NR	<u>Witte et al. (1985)</u>
DNA adducts, covalent binding	Calf thymus DNA	I	200 µМ [50 µg/mL]	Purity, NR. Positive with 20 µM Cu(II)	<u>Naito et al. (1994)</u>
DNA strand breaks, quantitative gel electrophoresis	Bacteriophage PM2 DNA	+	5 μM [1.3 μg/mL]	Purity, NR	<u>Witte et al. (1985)</u>
DNA strand breaks, ³² P-labelled DNA fragments, electrophoresis	Plasmid DNA	1	200 μM [50 μg/mL]	Purity, NR Positive with 20 μM Cu(II)	Naito et al. (1994)
Tetrachlorocatechol (tetrachloro-ortho-hydroi	quinone)				
DNA strand breaks, comet assay + Fpg and Endo III	Human lymphocytes (primary)	+	0.02 μg/mL	Purity, 99%	<u>Michałowicz &</u> <u>Majsterek (2010)</u>
DNA strand breaks, alkaline comet assay	Human lymphocytes (primary)	+	0.2 ppm [0.2 μg/mL]	Purity, 99.5%	<u>Michałowicz (2010)</u>
Aldehydic DNA lesions, aldehyde reactive slot-blot assay (ASB assay)	Human breast cancer, MCF-7	+	500 μM [124 μg/mL]	Only positive with prior GSH depletion	<u>Lin et al. (2005)</u>
Na/K-ATPase locus, ouabain resistant mutant; <i>Hprt</i> mutation	Chinese hamster fibroblasts, V79	I	120 μM [30 μg/mL]	Purity, > 99%	<u>Jansson & Jansson</u> (1991)
Aldehydic DNA lesions, ASB assay	Calf thymus DNA	1	100 μM [25 μg/mL]	Positive with 20 μM Cu(II) + 100 μM NAD(P) H	<u>Lin et al. (2005)</u>
Tetrachlorobenzoquinone					
DNA strand breaks, comet assay	Human liver, HepG2	+	6.25 μM [1.5 μg/mL]	Isomer of TCBQ; purity, NR	<u>Dong et al. (2014)</u>

Pentachlorophenol

σ	
Ū	
3	
Ē	
•	
=	
2	
_	
<u> </u>	
3	
) 	
5	
4.7 (
e 4.7 (
ole 4.7 (
ble 4.7 (
Table 4.7 (

End-point	Tissue, cell line	Resultsª	Concentration (LEC or HIC)	Comments	References
γ-H2AX, micronucleus formation	Human liver, HepG2	+	12.5 μM [3 μg/mL]	Isomer of TCBQ; purity, NR	<u>Dong et al. (2014)</u>
DNA strand breaks, alkaline elution assay	Chinese hamster fibroblast, V79	1	25 μM [6.2 μg/mL]	TCoBQ; purity, NR	<u>Dahlhaus et al.</u> (1996)
DNA strand breaks, alkaline elution assay	Chinese hamster fibroblast, V79	+	25 μM [6.2 μg/mL]	TCpBQ; purity, NR	<u>Dahlhaus et al.</u> (1996)
DNA adducts, Cl ₂ BQ-dG, HPLC-MS-NMR	2'-Deoxyguanosine	+	0.062 mmol/20 mL [3.1 mM] [762 µg/mL]	Isomer of TCBQ, not specified	Nguyen et al. (2005)

^a +, positive; -, negative; the level of significance was set at P < 0.05 in all cases Cl2BQ-dG, GSH, glutathione; HIC, highest ineffective concentration; HPLC-MS-NMR, LEC, lowest effective concentration; NR, not reported; TCBQ, tetrachloroe; TCoBQ, tetrachloro-*ortho*-benzoquinone (tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone); TCpBQ, tetrachloro-*para*-benzoquinone (tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone)

gene locus) (Jansson & Jansson, 1991), micronuclei (Jansson & Jansson, 1992), 8-OHdG adducts, and DNA strand breaks (Dahlhaus et al., 1996; 1995; see Section 4.2.1) in Chinese hamster V79 lung fibroblasts. TCHQ induced DNA adducts in calf thymus DNA and DNA strand breaks in bacteriophage PM2 DNA (Witte et al., 1985). Naito et al. (1994) also reported DNA strand breaks in plasmid DNA and DNA adducts in calf thymus DNA, but only after co-exposure to Cu(II) (20 μ M) plus TCHQ.

(ii) Tetrachlorocatechol

Tetrachlorocatechol (also named tetrachloro-ortho-hydroquinone) induced oxidized damage (Michałowicz & Majsterek, base 2010) and DNA strand breaks (Michałowicz, <u>2010</u>) in human primary lymphocytes. Tetrachlorocatechol induced aldehydic DNA lesions, or abasic (apurinic/apyrimidinic) sites, in human breast cancer MCF-7 cells depleted of GSH, and in calf thymus DNA with the addition of Cu(II) and NAD(P)H (Lin et al., 2005). However, in V79 Chinese hamster lung fibroblasts, tetrachlorocatechol did not induce mutations at *Hprt* or the Na/K-ATPase gene loci (Jansson & Jansson, 1991), and did not increase the frequency of DNA strand breaks or 8-OHdG adducts (Dahlhaus et al., 1996; see Section 4.2.1).

(iii) Tetrachloro-1,2-benzoquinone and tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone

Both tetrachloro-1,2-benzoquinone (tetrachloro-*ortho*-benzoquinone) and tetrachloro-1,4benzoquinone (tetrachloro-*para*-benzoquinone) formed 8-OHdG adducts in Chinese hamster V79 lung fibroblast cells, but only tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone (the metabolite of TCHQ) induced DNA damage (Dahlhaus et al., 1996). In HepG2 cells, tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone increased DNA strand breaks (as measured by the comet assay), histone γ -H2AX phosphorylation, 8-OHdG adducts, and micronucleus formation (Dong et al., 2014). Nguyen et al. (2005) reported the formation of tetrachlorobenzoquinone adducts to 2'-deoxyguanosine; it was not specified whether the *ortho* or *para* form of tetrachlorobenzoquinone was used.

4.2.3 Receptor-mediated effects

(a) Exposed humans

No data were available to the Working Group.

(b) Human and other mammalian cells in vitro

The literature on receptor-mediated effects was sparse; however, high-throughput data (discussed in Section 4.3) suggest interaction with several nuclear receptor subtypes, including estrogen receptors and the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR).

Pentachlorophenol exhibited antagonism for estrogen receptors in human HELN cells expressing estrogen-receptor subtypes ERa and ER β (Lemaire et al., 2006). Other studies in fish, discussed below, indicated predominantly anti-estrogenic activity (Petit et al., 1997; Lemaire et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2006a, b). However, pentachlorophenol was shown to be estrogenic in the human MCF-7 cell proliferation assay in a single study (Suzuki et al., 2001). In this study, pentachlorophenol at concentrations in the nanomolar range was estrogenic, and when tested as a binary mixture with estradiol (E2), synergistic effects were detected (Suzuki et al., 2001). [The Working Group noted that the divergent results were most likely the consequence of the different cell types and assay methods used, together with effects of pentachlorophenol that are unrelated to binding with and activation of estrogen receptors.]

(c) Non-human mammals in vivo

The developmental neurotoxicity of pentachlorophenol was associated with decreases in circulating thyroxine (T4) in the dam and the pups. Decreases in plasma T4 were also observed in rats exposed perinatally to pentachlorophenol (Kawaguchi et al., 2008). Ewe lambs or their dams were fed pentachlorophenol at a dose of 1 mg/kg bw per day from conception to age 67 weeks (Beard & Rawlings, 1999). Serum levels of free T4 and total T4 were decreased in the offspring when measured on weeks 65-66; smaller decreases were observed for triiodothyronine (T3). In addition, exposure to pentachlorophenol blunted the T4 and T3 increases in response to endogenous thyroid-stimulating hormone (Beard & Rawlings, 1999). The decrease in T4 was associated with increased scrotal circumference, seminiferous tubule atrophy, and reduced epididymal sperm density (Beard et al., 1999). A multigenerational study in minks exposed to pentachlorophenol at 1 mg/kg per day reported decreased serum T4 concentrations in the F₂ males and F₃ males and females (Beard & Rawlings, 1998).

(d) Non-mammalian experimental systems

In cultures of juvenile goldfish (Carassius auratus) hepatocytes, pentachlorophenol failed to induce an estrogenic effect as measured by vitellogenin concentrations in the media and was cytotoxic at very low concentrations (< 1.21 μ g/mL) (Zhao et al., 2006a, b). Co-culturing pentachlorophenol with 17β -estradiol in this in-vitro model significantly reduced the estrogenic activity of 17β -estradiol, with a potency similar to that of the anti-estrogen tamoxifen (Zhao et al., 2006a). Similarly, the anti-estrogenic effects of pentachlorophenol were corroborated by results from a reporter-gene assay in yeast expressing rainbow trout estrogen-receptor, in which pentachlorophenol inhibited estrogen-dependent cell growth (Petit et al., 1997).

Pentachlorophenol (1 and 10 μ g/L) increased mRNA expression of thyroid hormone receptors α and β (Thr α and Thr β) in zebrafish embryo cultures (<u>Cheng et al., 2015</u>). In contrast, *Thr\beta* gene expression was decreased by exposure to pentachlorophenol (27 μ g/L) in the brain of male but not female zebrafish (age, 4 months) (<u>Yu et al., 2014</u>). In a study in vitro on purified transthyretin from Japanese quail,, treatment

with pentachlorophenol displaced radiolabelled T3 from transthyretin, but was without effect on thyroid hormone receptor (Ishihara et al., 2003) suggesting that the effects of pentachlorophenol are limited to displacement of thyroid hormones from serum carrier proteins.

4.2.4 Altered cell proliferation or death

(a) Humans

No data were available to the Working Group.

In the HepG2 human hepatoma cell line, TCHQ and pentachlorophenol altered the expression of several apoptosis-relevant genes, including BCL-2. BAX, heat shock protein (HSP) expression, and cellular apoptosis susceptibility (CAS) gene while PCP altered BCL-2 and BAX expression but not HSP and CAS (Wang et al., 2001). TCHQ -induced apoptosis and DNA laddering, but cell death induced by pentachlorophenol appeared to be more characteristic of necrosis. TCHQ, but not pentachlorophenol, induced apoptosis and DNA fragmentation, and decreased CAS gene expression in human T-24 bladder cells. Neither compound exhibited these effects in Chang human liver cells (with HeLa markers) (Wang et al., 2000). In both cell lines, TCHQ, but not pentachlorophenol, decreased BCL-2/BAX protein expression.

Both pentachlorophenol and TCHQ markedly increased apoptotic cell number and induced DNA fragmentation in Jurkat human T cells, although TCHQ was more potent (Wispriyono et al., 2002). TCHQ but not pentachlorophenol increased the phosphorylation of all mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) examined [i.e. extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase (ERK), p38, and c-Jun NH(2)terminal kinase (JNK)]. Apoptosis by pentachlorophenol or TCHQ was mildly (but significantly) suppressed by a MAPK/ERK kinase inhibitor (U0126), markedly suppressed by a p38 inhibitor (SB203580), and almost completely suppressed when both inhibitors were given at the same
time. LL-Z1640–2, an inhibitor of JNK phosphorylation, did not affect apoptosis induced by either TCHQ or pentachlorophenol.

A study in vitro reported that pentachlorophenol at 60 μ g/mL induced a slowdown of cell proliferation in human lymphocytes from normal healthy donors (Ziemsen et al., 1987).

(b) Experimental systems

<u>Chen et al. (2015)</u> reviewed effects of pentachlorophenol and TCHQ in mice, rats, and in mammalian cells in vitro, noting that TCHQ induced apoptosis/necrosis both in vivo and in vitro. Antioxidants attenuated cytotoxicity, apoptosis/necrosis, and other effects induced by pentachlorophenol and/or TCHQ. In addition, a role for MAPK in pentachlorophenol/TCHQtriggered cytotoxicity was shown by the finding that higher doses of TCHQ could lead to necrosis of freshly isolated splenocytes through marked increases in ROS and sustained ERK activation (<u>Chen et al., 2014</u>).

In studies detailed in Section 4.2.1, increased hepatocyte cell proliferation was reported in B6C3F₁ male mice exposed to pentachlorophenol at 600 or 1200 ppm for 8 weeks (Umemura et al., 1999). Liver weights were increased in mice exposed to pentachlorophenol (600 ppm for 2 or 4 weeks) (<u>Umemura et al., 1996</u>, <u>2003a</u>). Pentachlorophenol (600 ppm in the diet for 2 weeks) increased cell proliferation in epithelial cells of intrahepatic bile ducts as well as hepatocytes in exposed B6C3F1 mice (Umemura et al., <u>2003b</u>). Furthermore, hepatic cell proliferation caused by pentachlorophenol was enhanced in *Nrf2*-deficient mice (*Nrf2^{-/-}* or *Nrf2^{+/-}*) compared with Nrf2+/+ mice, whereas the effects of pentachlorophenol on relative liver weights was diminished in Nrf2-/- and Nrf2+/- mice compared with *Nrf2*^{+/+} mice (<u>Umemura et al., 2006</u>).

In an initiation–promotion study on skin tumours, dermally administered pentachlorophenol and TCHQ (2.5, 50, or 1000 μ g, twice per week for 25 weeks, 1 week after initiation with dimethylbenz[*a*]anthracene) enhanced mice skin epidermal hyperplasia and proliferating cell nuclear antigen labelling index in the epidermis, with TCHQ showing greater effects (<u>Chang et al.</u>, 2003).

In male $B6C3F_1$ mice treated with pentachlorophenol (300 or 600 ppm in the diet), there was a dose-related inhibition of gap-junctional intercellular communication in hepatocytes, associated reductions in connexin32 (Cx32) plaques in the plasma membrane, and increased cell proliferation index. These effects were attenuated by pre-and co-treatment with green tea extract (Sai et al., 2000).

Pentachlorophenol, but not TCHQ, inhibited gap-junctional intracellular communication in rat liver epithelial cells (WB cells) (Sai et al., 1998). Pentachlorophenol treatment of v-myc-transfected rat liver epithelial cells inhibited gap-junctional intercellular communication and associated apoptosis induced by serum deprivation (Sai et al., 2001).

In vitro, cell proliferation was enhanced in pentachlorophenol-treated AML 12 mouse hepatocyte cells (Dorsey et al., 2004, 2006). TCHQ affected proliferation and differentiation in two stroma-free murine bone marrow culture models, a multipotent progenitor cell line (factor-dependent cell Paterson-, FDCP-mix), and primary lineage-depleted bone marrow cells (Henschler et al., 2001).

4.2.5 Inflammation and immunosuppression

(a) Exposed humans

Exposure to pentachlorophenol has been associated with inflammation as well as cellular and humoral immunodeficiency in several cohort studies (Klemmer et al., 1980; Cooper & Macauley, 1982; Daniel et al., 1995, 2001), but not in a case-control study (Colosio et al., 1993). In cohort studies, increased prevalence rates for inflammation and low-grade infections of the skin and subcutaneous tissue, mucous

membranes of the eyes and upper respiratory tract (Klemmer et al., 1980) and more frequent respiratory tract infections (Daniel et al., 2001) have been documented in workers occupationally exposed to pentachlorophenol. T-lymphocyte dysfunction and increased circulating concentrations of cytokines including interleukin-8 (IL-8) have also been documented in workers (n = 188) exposed to pentachlorophenol (Daniel et al., <u>1995</u>), whereas exposure to pentachlorophenol for more than 6 months was negatively associated with circulating concentrations of IL-2, soluble IL-2R, IL-6, IL-10, interferon-gamma (IFN-γ), tumour necrosis factor-a (TNF-a), transforming growth factor-\u03b32 (TGF-\u03b32), soluble IL-1R antagonist, and soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) (Daniel et al., 2001). Exposure to pentachlorophenol was associated with a blunted proliferative response to mitogens in those with the highest exposure. Pentachlorophenol exposure has also been linked with pancreatitis in a single study (Cooper & Macauley, 1982). In the only available case-control study (Colosio et al., 1993), no effect was observed on serum immunoglobulins, complement fractions, autoantibodies, or on absolute or differential counts of peripheral blood mononuclear cells.

Human lymphocytes were collected from people living in log homes treated with pentachlorophenol as a preservative, and compared with cells collected from a control group of people not living in log homes (McConnachie & Zahalsky, 1991). Exposed individuals had lower proliferative response to a variety of antigens. In addition, there was an increase in natural-killer cell activity, but only in exposed females.

(b) Human cells in vitro

A variety of studies used isolated human lymphocytes to evaluate the effects of pentachlorophenol on markers of immune response.

In one study in vitro, the lytic function of human natural killer cells was decreased by exposure to pentachlorophenol (10 μ M) for 24 hours

or more. Lower concentrations of pentachlorophenol required longer incubations to produce similar effects (<u>Nnodu & Whalen; 2008</u>). Similar results were also found in another study that showed that pentachlorophenol (5 μ M) decreases the lytic effects of natural killer cells (<u>Reed et al.</u>, <u>2004</u>).

In a study using human peripheral blood lymphocytes treated with pentachlorophenol for 1, 2, and 6 days, pentachlorophenol (10 μ M) decreased natural-killer cell binding function (34.6%), and CD11a (21.7%) and CD56 (26.2%) cell-surface proteins (Hurd et al., 2012), indicative of immune suppression. In another study, pentachlorophenol (40-200 µM; either technical or analytical grade) increased cell proliferation in response to antigen, although higher concentrations decreased cell proliferation in isolated lymphocytes from healthy donors (Lang & Mueller-Ruchholtz, 1991). In addition, lymphokine production and immunoglobulin secretion was significantly decreased by both technical- and analytical-grade pentachlorophenol.

(c) Mammalian experimental systems

In mice, a single oral dose of pentachlorophenol (0, 10, 30, or 100 mg/kg) activated the interferon signalling gene network in the liver within 24 hours (Kanno et al., 2013). No effect on inflammation was observed in Mexican hairless dogs treated topically for 7 days with pentachlorophenol (Kimura et al., 1998).

Palmitoylpentachlorophenol, a putative metabolite of pentachlorophenol, induced pancreatic toxicity in rats after a single exposure at 100 mg/kg by gavage (<u>Ansari et al., 1987</u>). The pancreatic lesions observed consisted of focal, spotty vacuolization, loss of pancreatic acini, and acute inflammatory infiltrate.

Several studies evaluated and compared the immunosuppressive effects of technical- and analytical-grade pentachlorophenol in rodents (Kerkvliet et al., 1982a, b, 1985a, b; White & Anderson, 1985; Holsapple et al., 1987; Blakley

et al., 1998). A more recent study by Chen et al. (2013) observed no significant immunosuppressive effects of pentachlorophenol in mice. Others have observed cytokine changes in mice exposed to TCHQ but not to pentachlorophenol, with no changes in immune function (Chang et al., 2003). Elevated serum tumour necrosis factor-a (TNF- α) was observed in mice treated with TCHQ for 25 weeks, but not at earlier time points or in those treated with pentachlorophenol. Neither pentachlorophenol- nor TCHQ-treated mice exhibited changes in serum interleukin-1ß (IL-1beta) levels. [The Working Group noted that the immunosuppressive effects of technical-grade pentachlorophenol may be attributable to dioxin contaminants.]

A few studies examined the effects of technical-grade pentachlorophenol in cattle and pigs (Forsell et al., 1981; Hillam & Greichus, 1983; Hughes et al., 1985). No observed effects occurred in lactating cattle exposed to pentachlorophenol for 135 days (Forsell et al., 1981). Technical-grade pentachlorophenol induced a broad spectrum of toxicity in bull calves (Hughes et al., 1985). Histological lesions reported were cortical atrophy in the thymus and squamous metaplasia and hyperkeratous changes in the Meibomian gland of the eyelid. These effects were not observed in animals receiving the purified pentachlorophenol. Pigs exposed to pentachlorophenol at 5, 10, or 15 mg/kg bw for 30 days had decreased lymphocyte counts, and decreased serum gamma globulin and IgG (Hillam & Greichus, 1983).

A pentachlorophenol metabolite, TCHQ, interacts with murine haematopoietic progenitor cells, stimulating the formation of macrophages (Henschler et al., 2001).

(d) Non-mammalian experimental systems

In goldfish (*Carassius auratus*), pentachlorophenol (0.053 and 0.13 mg/L in the water for 14 days) decreased serum IgM concentrations (<u>Chen et al., 2004</u>). In macrophages isolated from goldfish, pentachlorophenol (1–50 µg/mL) decreased *IL-1\beta* and *TNF-\alpha* mRNA expression and suppressed IgM production in co-cultured B cells at cytotoxic concentrations (Chen et al., 2005).

Technical-grade pentachlorophenol and, to a lesser extent, analytical-grade pentachlorophenol inhibited the respiratory burst of the isolated leukocytes from *Fundulus heteroclitus* (Atlantic killifish) (Roszell & Anderson, 1993). In contrast, analytical-grade pentachlorophenol (0.1–1 μ g/L for 14 days) had no effect on immune function in rainbow trout (Shelley et al., 2009).

Treatment with pentachlorophenol (100– 1000 ppm) enhanced the resistance of pathogenic bacteria to antibiotics (<u>Chandra & Sankhwar</u>, <u>2011</u>).

4.3 Data relevant to comparisons across agents and end-points

High-throughput screening data generated by the Toxicity Testing in the 21st Century (Tox21) and Toxicity Forecaster (ToxCastTM) research programmes of the government of the USA (Kavlock et al., 2012; Tice et al., 2013) were considered in the assessment of the five chemicals reviewed in IARC Monographs Volume 117 (pentachlorophenol, 2,4,6- trichlorophenol, 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene, aldrin and dieldrin) as well as two metabolite isomers of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol (2,4,5- trichlorophenol and 2,3,6- trichlorophenol). The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has systematically analysed concentration-response sample-assay pairs from ToxCast and Tox21. The resulting concentration-response models and activity calls have been publicly released via the interactive Chemical Safety for sustainability (iCSS) ToxCast Dashboard (EPA, 2015a, b). Summary matrix files, the ToxCast data analysis pipeline (tcpl) R package and connected database (invitrodb_v1) are also available (EPA, 2015c).

The tcpl R package and associated database enables access to all of the underlying concentration–response data, the analysis decision logic and methods, concentration–response model outputs, activity calls, and activity caution flags.

The Tox21 and ToxCast research programmes have tested more than 8000 and 1800 chemicals, respectively. ToxCast, specifically, has tested 1000 chemicals across the full assay battery in conjunction with ToxCast Phase I and II. The remaining 800 chemicals were tested as part of an endocrine profiling effort that resulted in a subset of assays being tested. For the present volume of the *IARC Monographs*, one chemical had no testing data (3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene), one was tested only in Tox21 assay components, and the remaining chemicals were tested in both ToxCast and Tox21 assays.

Data on the current publicly released ToxCast assay battery, including the Tox21 assays run at the United States National Institutes of Health (NIH), comprise 1192 assay end-points derived from 762 assay components (i.e. readouts) and 359 assays (i.e. experiments). The 359 assays were sourced from 12 vendors or collaborators spanning diverse technological and biological space, including more than 350 gene targets. Roughly a third of the final assay end-points were analysed from biochemical (cell-free) assay formats, with the remainder being cell-based (cell lines, primary cells, and co-cultures) or whole embryo (zebrafish larvae). The biochemical assays have no xenobiotic metabolism capacity, while the cell-based assays have a variable biotransformation capability varying from very limited to moderate. Thus, chemical effects requiring biotransformation to active metabolites may be missed in some or all of the assays in vitro. Relatively uniform testing concentration ranges were used, from low nanomolar up to approximately 100-200 micromolar. Compounds of very low relative molecular mass generally have only low affinity for biomolecular interactions due to limited free energy for binding (Hopkins et al.,

<u>2004</u>). Hence screening in vitro at the concentrations used in ToxCast and Tox21 may be insufficient to detect molecular interactions of receptor-type interactions. These compounds of very low relative molecular mass may also have high vapour pressure, which could lead to loss of sample during testing and, thus, failure to reach effective active concentrations.

The Tox21 and ToxCast assays in vitro were selected to cover a broad range of potential toxicity mechanisms and are not specifically focused on carcinogenesis. Therefore, the Working Group of IARC Monographs Volume 112 mapped the assay end-points available at that time to the key characteristics of human carcinogens (IARC, 2017; Smith et al., 2016). The consensus assignments resulted in 274 assay end-points mapped to 7 of 10 "key characteristics" (IARC, 2017). Subsequently, the Working Groups for IARC Monographs Volumes 113, 115, and the present Volume 117 updated these "mappings," including reviewing the additional assay end-points added to Tox21 and ToxCast data since the initial determination. As a result, 25 assay end-points were added to the initial 274 that were mapped to key characteristics, resulting in 299 in total. The assay end-points used, the activity call, and the mapping to "key characteristics" are available as supplemental material to the present volume (Annex 1). The key characteristics listing number of assays included and a brief description are given below.

- 1. *Is electrophilic or can be metabolically activated:* 31 assay end-points consisting of CYP biochemical activity, and aromatase, which regulates conversion of androgens to estrogens. [The Working Group noted that these assays largely indicate inhibition of CYP activity, and do not directly measure metabolic activation or electrophilicity.]
- 2. *Is genotoxic*: 10 assay end-points consisting of cellular TP53 induction and DNA repair-sensitive cellular assays. [The Working Group

noted that *TP53* activation can occur in response to a variety of cell stresses in addition to DNA damage.]

- 3. Alters DNA repair or causes genomic instability: 0 assay end-points
- 4. Induces epigenetic alterations: 14 assay end-points including biochemical assays targeting histone deacetylases and other enzymes modifying chromatin, as well as assays for cellular transcription factors involved in epigenetic regulation. [The Working Group noted these end-points have not been extensively validated with reference compounds for epigenetic alterations.]
- 5. *Induces oxidative stress*: 18 assay end-points, all cellular assays, targeting nuclear erythroid-related factor 2/antioxidant response element (NRF2/ARE), other stress-related transcription factors, and protein upregulation in response to ROS.
- 6. *Induces chronic inflammation*: 45 assay end-points, mostly using primary human cells, measuring protein expression levels indicative of inflammatory responses, including cytokines, cell adhesion molecules, and nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NFκB).
- 7. *Is immunosuppressive*: 0 assay end-points.
- 8. *Modulates receptor-mediated effects*: 93 assay end-points targeting nuclear receptors (e.g. AhR, androgen receptor, estrogen receptor, farnesoid X receptor, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor, pregnane X receptor, retinoic acid receptor, among others) in cellular assays for transactivation, receptor dimerization, and nuclear translocation, as well as biochemical radioligand-binding assays and coregulatory recruitment assays.
- 9. Causes immortalization: 0 assay end-points.
- 10. Alters cell proliferation, cell death, or nutrient supply: 88 assay end-points measuring cell cycle markers, proliferation, cytotoxicity, and

mitochondrial toxicity, using a wide variety of assay formats in cell lines, primary human cells, and developing zebrafish larvae.

For each chemical, the results of the in-vitro assays that represent each "key characteristic" can be compared with the results for a larger compendium of substances with similar in-vitro data, so that a particular chemical can be aligned with other chemicals with similar toxicological effects. Nonetheless, the available assays do not cover the full spectrum of relevant targets, and metabolic capacity in many of the assays is limited, which could account for any absence of bioactivity. Conversely, the presence of bioactivity alone does not definitively imply that the agent exhibits that key characteristic, as the assay data are considered along with other information, both in vivo and in vitro.

Each chemical was assigned an "active" or "inactive" call within each assay end-point based on the normalized concentration–response data in the ToxCast database using methods published previously (<u>Sipes et al., 2013</u>). ToxCast/Tox21 tested a broad range of screening concentrations designed to identify whether compounds elicited bioactivity and at what potency. In the analysis by the Working Group, each "active" was given a value of 1, and each "inactive" was given a value of 0. Thus, by assigning all active compounds a value of 1, the "potency" estimates from the concentration–response data were not explicitly used for all subsequent analyses.

A brief summary of potentially significant outcomes for each of the substances relevant to the present volume follows (see also <u>Table 4.8</u>).

4.3.1 Specific effects across the "key characteristics" based on data from high-throughput screening in vitro

A summary is given below for each relevant compound (see also <u>Table 4.8</u>).

r and tested in ToxCas	
Monographs Volume 1	
ounds reviewed in IARC	
ry of activity of compo	screening assays
Table 4.8 Summaı	high-throughput

+

וווקוו-נוווסטקווףטניאניפרווווש מא	cybc					
Key characteristic	No. of active end-poir	nts / No. of end-points tes	sted			
(No. of assay end-points)	Pentachlorophenol	2,4,6-Trichlorophenol	2,4,5-Trichlorophenol	2,3,6-Trichlorophenol	Aldrin	Dieldrin
Characteristic (1) Is electrophilic or can	1 be metabolically activa	ted (31 end-points)				
CYP inhibition (29 end-points)	6/0	6/0	1/9	NT	6/0	2/9
Aromatase inhibition (2 end-points)	1/2	0/2	0/2	0/1	0/2	1/2
Characteristic (2) Is genotoxic (10 end-p	points)					
P53 activation (9 end-points)	6/8	0/8	1/8	0/6	3/8	0/8
DNA damage (1 end-point)	0/1	0/1	0/1	0/1	0/1	0/1
Characteristic (4) Induces epigenetic alt	terations (14 end-points)					
DNA binding (7 end-points)	5/7	1/7	3/7	0/7	1/7	0/7
Transformation catalyst (7 end-points)	0/6	0/6	0/6	NT	9/0	0/6
Characteristic (5) Induces oxidative stru	ess (18 end-points)					
Oxidative stress (7 end-points)	0/5	0/5	3/5	0/1	4/5	1/5
Oxidative stress marker (6 end-points)	4/6	3/6	4/6	1/6	3/6	3/6
Metalloproteinase (5 end-points)	NT	NT	NT	NT	1/5	NT
Characteristic (6) Induces chronic infla	ummation (45 end-points)					
NFkB (2 end-points)	1/2	0/2	0/2	0/2	2/2	0/2
Cell adhesion (14 end-points)	0/14	0/14	0/14	NT	0/14	0/14
Cytokines (29 end-points)	0/29	0/29	1/29	NT	0/29	1/29
Characteristic (8) Modulates receptor-n	nediated effects (93 end-]	points)				
ER (18 end-points)	2/18	2/18	4/18	0/6	4/18	4/18
AHR (2 end-points)	2/2	1/2	0/2	1/2	0/2	0/2
Other nuclear receptors (29 end-points)	3/29	0/29	6/29	0/20	4/29	3/29
RAR (6 end-points)	2/6	0/6	3/6	0/4	2/6	3/6
PPAR (12 end-points)	5/12	3/12	3/12	2/8	1/12	1/12
PXR (7 end-points)	4/7	1/7	2/7	1/6	3/7	3/7
AR (12 end-points)	3/12	0/12	2/12	6/0	1/12	3/12
FXR (7 end-points)	2/7	0/2	0/2	0/3	2/7	3/7

IARC MONOGRAPHS - 117

Table 4.8 (continued)

Key characteristic	No. of active end-poi	nts / No. of end-points tes	sted			
(No. of assay end-points)	Pentachlorophenol	2,4,6-Trichlorophenol	2,4,5-Trichlorophenol	2,3,6-Trichlorophenol	Aldrin	Dieldrin
Characteristic (10) Alters cell proliferati	on, cell death, or nutrie	ent supply (88 end-points)				
Cytotoxicity (49 end-points)	18/41	2/40	14/40	0/21	20/40	10/40
Mitochondrial toxicity (14 end-points)	1/10	1/10	2/10	1/2	2/10	1/10
Cell cycle marker (21 end-points)	5/18	1/18	7/18	0/6	4/18	2/18
Proliferation (4 end-points)	0/4	0/4	0/4	NT	0/4	0/4

T

AHR, aryl hydrocarbon receptor; AR, androgen receptor; CYP, cytochrome; ER, estrogen receptor; FXR, farnesoid X receptor; NT, not tested; PPAR, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor; PXR, pregnane X receptor; RAR, retinoic acid receptor; TCoBQ, tetrachloro-*ortho*-benzoquinone (tetrachloro-1,2-benzoquinone); TCpBQ, tetrachloro-*para*-benzoquinone (tetrachloro-1,4-benzoquinone); TCpBQ, tetrachloro-*para*-benzoquinone

(a) Pentachlorophenol

Pentachlorophenol (CAS No. 87-86-5) was tested across the full assay suite of ToxCast and Tox21, with data available on 870 assay end-points. The results for the 255 assay end-points mapped to key characteristics are summarized in Table 4.8. The assays with most activity were related to TP53 in human liver or intestinal cell lines, transcription factor activation indicative of DNA-binding, transcription factors that are markers of oxidative stress (in particular NRF2), a variety of receptor-mediated effects, and cytotoxicity and cell cycle markers. The activity across multiple nuclear receptor assays is difficult to interpret because of inconsistency across assay platforms (e.g. Attagene (ATG) vs Nova screen (NVS) vs Tox21). However, two assays for anti-estrogenic activity were consistent, and corroborate data on receptor-mediated effects (Section 4.2.3). In addition, pentachlorophenol showed activity in many cytotoxicity assays in cell lines as well as in primary human cells, which may have confounded results either directly through cell death or indirectly through generation of lipid peroxidation products. Finally, it cannot be ruled out that the activity in the AhR assay might be related to dioxin contamination.

(b) 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol and metabolites

2,4,6-Trichlorophenol (CAS No. 88-06-2) and one of its metabolites, 2,4,5-trichlorophenol (CAS No. 95-95-4) were tested across the full assay suite of ToxCast and Tox21, with data available on 883 assay end-points for both compounds. Another metabolite, 2,3,6-trichlorophenol (CAS No. 933-75-5), was tested in a more limited suite of assays, with data available on 276 assay end-points. The results for the assay end-points mapped to key characteristics are summarized in <u>Table 4.8</u>. Of the three isomers, 2,4,5-trichlorophenol was the most active, specifically in assays related to transcription-factor activation indicative of DNA binding, oxidative stress responses, as well as transcription factors that are markers of oxidative stress, a variety of receptor-mediated effects, and cytotoxicity and cell cycle markers. 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol was less active, but many of its effects overlapped with those of 2,4,5-trichlorophenol. 2,3,6-Trichlorophenol was the least active. Of particular note, were assays related to oxidative stress, since in several cases the "inactive" calls were for earlier time points in assays that gave "active" calls at later time points. Such a time delay is consistent with the need for metabolic activation. In addition, 2,4,5-trichlorophenol was active in all the oxidative stress assays in which 2,4,6-trichlorophenol was active. The activity across multiple nuclear-receptor assays was difficult to interpret because most active calls were for ATG assays, while many of the NVS binding assays and the corresponding Tox21 assays gave inactive calls for the same receptor. In addition, 2,4,5-trichlorophenol, which had the most activity across these assays, also exhibited the most activity across cytotoxicity assays in cell lines as well as in primary human cells. Thus it is possible that the results for modulation of nuclear receptors may have been confounded either directly through cell death or indirectly through generation of lipid peroxidation products.

(c) 3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene

3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene (CAS No. 14047-09-7) was not tested.

(d) Aldrin and dieldrin

Aldrin (CAS No. 309-00-2) and dieldrin (CAS No. 60-57-1) were tested across the full assay suite of ToxCast and Tox21, with data available on 879 and 878 assay end-points, respectively. The results for the assay end-points mapped to key characteristics are summarized in <u>Table 4.8</u>. Both compounds were active in assays related to oxidative stress responses, as well as transcription factors that are markers of oxidative stress, a variety of receptor mediated

effects, and cytotoxicity and cell cycle markers. Of particular note were assays related to oxidative stress, since several of the "inactive" calls were for earlier time points in assays that gave "active" calls or were active at later time points, or were active for aldrin. Aldrin and dieldrin were active in three out of six assays for transcription factor markers of oxidative stress, two of which were common to the agents. The activity across multiple nuclear-receptor assays were difficult to interpret because most of the activity was in ATG assays, whereas the corresponding NVS binding assays and the corresponding Tox21 assays for the same receptors were either inactive or active for the opposite direction (antagonism vs agonism). In addition, aldrin, and to a lesser extent dieldrin, also exhibited the most activity across cytotoxicity assays in cell lines as well as primary human cells. Thus it is possible that the results for modulation of nuclear receptors may have been confounded either directly through cell death or indirectly through generation of lipid peroxidation products.

4.3.2 Integrating effects across end-points and chemicals

To integrate the data across individual assay end-points into the cumulative score for each key characteristic, the toxicological prioritization index (ToxPi) approach (Reif et al., 2010) and associated software (Reif et al., 2013; Filer et al., 2014) were used. In the Working Group's analyses, the ToxPi score provides a measure of the relative potential for a chemical to be associated with a "key characteristic". ToxPi is a dimensionless index score that integrates multiple different assay results and displays them visually. Within each subset of end-points ("slice"), data are translated into ToxPi slice-wise scores for all compounds as detailed below and in the publications describing the approach and the associated software package (Reif et al., 2013). Within each individual slice for a given chemical, the distance

from the origin represents the relative chemical-elicited activity of the component assays (i.e. slices extending farther from the origin were associated with "active" calls on more assays). The overall score for a chemical, visualized as a radial ToxPi profile, is the aggregation of all slicewise scores.

The relative effects of pentachlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol (and its metabolite isomers 2,4,5-trichlorophenoland2,3,6-trichlorophenol), aldrin, and dieldrin were compared with those of 489 (out of more than 800 total) chemicals previously evaluated by the IARC Monographs for which Tox21/ToxCast assay end-point data were available (not including chemicals in the present Volume 117 that have been evaluated previously). Of these 489 chemicals, 30 are classified in Group 1 (carcinogenic to humans), 47 are in Group 2A (probably carcinogenic to humans), 163 are in Group 2B (possibly carcinogenic to humans), 248 are in Group 3 (not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans), and 1 is in Group 4 (probably not carcinogenic to humans).

The results are presented in a dot plot as a rank order of all compounds in the analysis arranged in the order of their relative activity. The relative positions of pentachlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol (and its metabolite isomers 2,4,5-trichlorophenol and 2,3,6-trichlorophenol), aldrin, and dieldrin (i.e. all chemicals evaluated in Volume 117) in the ranked list are also shown on the *y*-axis. The legend key (lower right graphic in each plot) lists components of the ToxPi chart as subcategories that comprise assay end-points in each characteristic. The ToxPi profile and numeric score for each of the chemicals evaluated in Volume 117 are shown above the ranking chart.

Specific observations across chemicals are as follows:

• Characteristic (1) *Is electrophilic or can undergo metabolic activation* (Fig. 4.2): Dieldrin and pentachlorophenol ranked the

Fig. 4.2 ToxPi rankings using ToxCast assay end-points mapped to metabolic activation



Across the top, the ToxPi shapes and scores for characteristic 1 (is electrophilic or can undergo metabolic activation) are shown from the six chemicals pentachlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol (and its metabolite isomers 2,4,5-trichlorophenol and 2,3,6-trichlorophenol), aldrin, and dieldrin tested in the ToxCast programme that are in the present *IARC Monographs* Volume 117. On the lower left, the relative ranks of these chemicals (red dots) are shown (*y*-axis) with respect to their ToxPi scores (*x*-axis) compared with the 489 chemicals previously evaluated by IARC (grey dots, with chemicals classified in Group I [carcinogenic to humans] as black dots). On the lower right, the subcategories of the ToxPi chart, as well as their respective colour coding are shown.

highest among the chemicals in Volume 117, with the other chemicals being evaluated having minimal activity. However, even for dieldrin and pentachlorophenol, the ToxPi score was in the lower half of the range across all the chemicals evaluated by IARC. The highest ranking chemical is malathion, with a ToxPi score of 0.75.

- Characteristic (2) *Is genotoxic* (Fig. 4.3): Pentachlorophenol and aldrin ranked the highest among the chemicals in Volume 117, with the other chemicals being evaluated having minimal activity. However, all the ToxPi scores for chemicals evaluated in this volume were in the lower half of the range across all the chemicals evaluated by IARC. The highest ranking chemical is Michler's ketone, with a ToxPi score of 1.0.
- Characteristic (4) *Induces epigenetic alterations* (Fig. 4.4): Pentachlorophenol and 2,4,5-trichlorophenol ranked the highest among the chemicals in Volume 117, with the other chemicals being evaluated having minimal activity. In addition, pentachlorophenol had the highest ranking ToxPi score of 0.5, jointly with eight other chemicals previously evaluated by IARC. Seven of these other eight chemicals additionally had the same ToxPi shape, with all the activity related to DNA binding, rather than a transformation catalyst.
- Characteristic (5) *Induces oxidative stress* (Fig. 4.5): Aldrin and 2,4,5-trichlorophenol ranked the highest among the chemicals in Volume 117, but dieldrin, pentachlorophenol, and 2,4,6-trichlorophenol also showed activity. Aldrin was ranked sixth, and 2,4,5-trichlorophenol ranked twenty-third overall among IARC chemicals, with chlordane having the highest score of 0.58. From the ToxPi shape, it is clear that most of the chemicals showed activity for oxidative stress markers, but aldrin and 2,4,5-trichlorophenol

had relatively high activity in measures of stress responses.

- Characteristic (6) *Induces chronic inflammation* (Fig. 4.6): Aldrin and pentachlorophenol ranked the highest among the chemicals in Volume 117, with the other chemicals being evaluated having minimal activity. The highest ranked chemical was tris(2,3-dibromopropyl) phosphate with a ToxPi score of 0.83, more than double the score for any other chemical evaluated by IARC.
- Characteristic (8) Modulates receptor-mediated effects (Fig. 4.7): Pentachlorophenol, dieldrin, 2,4,5-trichlorophenol, and aldrin were all highly ranked in terms of activity in assay end-points mapped to receptor-mediated effects, with pentachlorophenol having the second highest ToxPi score among chemicals evaluated by IARC. Aldrin is at the top 95th percentile of ToxPi scores, with a ranking of 26 out of 495 compounds. Moreover, the relative promiscuity of these compounds is evident from the shape of the ToxPi, which shows relatively high activity across multiple categories of receptors. The overall highest ranking chemical is kepone (chlordecone), with a ToxPi score of 0.582, only slightly higher than that for pentachlorophenol.
- Characteristic (10) Alters cell proliferation, cell death, or nutrient supply (Fig. 4.8): 2,4,5-trichlorophenol, aldrin, and pentachlorophenol ranked the highest among the chemicals in Volume 117, all above the top 95th percentile rankings. These chemicals also had similar ToxPi shapes, with most of the activity related to cytotoxicity and cell cycle markers, less activity in mitochondrial toxicity, and none in proliferation. Dieldrin had a somewhat lower score (but similar shape), and there was minimal activity for 2,4,6-trichlorophenol and 2,3,6-trichlorophenol. The highest ranked chemical overall is 3,3',5,5'-tetrabromobisphenol A, with a





Across the top, the ToxPi shapes and scores for characteristic 2 (is genotoxic) are shown from the six chemicals pentachlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol (and its metabolite isomers 2,4,5-trichlorophenol and 2,3,6-trichlorophenol), aldrin, and dieldrin tested in the ToxCast programme that are in the present *IARC Monographs* Volume 117. On the lower left, the relative ranks of these chemicals (red dots) are shown (*y*-axis) with respect to their ToxPi scores (*x*-axis) compared with the 489 chemicals previously evaluated by IARC (grey dots, with chemicals classified in Group I [carcinogenic to humans] as black dots). On the lower right, the subcategories of the ToxPi chart, as well as their respective colour coding are shown.



Fig. 4.4 ToxPi rankings using ToxCast assay end-points mapped to epigenetic alterations

Across the top, the ToxPi shapes and scores for characteristic 4 (induces epigenetic alterations) are shown from the six chemicals pentachlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol (and its metabolite isomers 2,4,5-trichlorophenol and 2,3,6-trichlorophenol), aldrin, and dieldrin tested in the ToxCast programme that are in the present *IARC Monographs* Volume 117. On the lower left, the relative ranks of these chemicals (red dots) are shown (*y*-axis) with respect to their ToxPi scores (*x*-axis) compared with the 489 chemicals previously evaluated by IARC (grey dots, with chemicals classified in Group I [carcinogenic to humans] as black dots). On the lower right, the subcategories of the ToxPi chart, as well as their respective colour coding are shown.



Fig. 4.5 ToxPi rankings using ToxCast assay end-points mapped to oxidative stress markers

Across the top, the ToxPi shapes and scores for characteristic 5 (induces oxidative stress) are shown from the six chemicals pentachlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol (and its metabolite isomers 2,4,5-trichlorophenol and 2,3,6-trichlorophenol), aldrin, and dieldrin tested in the ToxCast programme that are in the present *IARC Monographs* Volume 117. On the lower left, the relative ranks of these chemicals (red dots) are shown (*y*-axis) with respect to their ToxPi scores (*x*-axis) compared with the 489 chemicals previously evaluated by IARC (grey dots, with chemicals classified in Group I [carcinogenic to humans] as black dots). On the lower right, the subcategories of the ToxPi chart, as well as their respective colour coding are shown.



Fig. 4.6 ToxPi rankings using ToxCast assay end-points mapped to chronic inflammation

Across the top, the ToxPi shapes and scores for characteristic 6 (induces chronic inflammation) are shown from the six chemicals pentachlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol (and its metabolite isomers 2,4,5-trichlorophenol and 2,3,6-trichlorophenol), aldrin, and dieldrin tested in the ToxCast programme that are in the present *IARC Monographs* Volume 117. On the lower left, the relative ranks of these chemicals (red dots) are shown (*y*-axis) with respect to their ToxPi scores (*x*-axis) compared with the 489 chemicals previously evaluated by IARC (grey dots, with chemicals classified in Group I [carcinogenic to humans] as black dots). On the lower right, the subcategories of the ToxPi chart, as well as their respective colour coding are shown.

Fig. 4.7 ToxPi rankings using ToxCast assay end-points mapped to modulation of receptormediated effects



Across the top, the ToxPi shapes and scores for characteristic 7 (modulates receptor-mediated effects) are shown from the six chemicals pentachlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol (and its metabolite isomers 2,4,5-trichlorophenol and 2,3,6-trichlorophenol), aldrin, and dieldrin tested in the ToxCast programme that are in the present *IARC Monographs* Volume 117. On the lower left, the relative ranks of these chemicals (red dots) are shown (*y*-axis) with respect to their ToxPi scores (*x*-axis) compared with the 489 chemicals previously evaluated by IARC (grey dots, with chemicals classified in Group I [carcinogenic to humans] as black dots). On the lower right, the subcategories of the ToxPi chart, as well as their respective colour coding are shown.

Fig. 4.8 ToxPi rankings using ToxCast assay end-points mapped to cell proliferation, death, or nutrient supply



Across the top, the ToxPi shapes and scores for characteristic 10 (alters cell proliferation, cell death, or nutrient supply) are shown from the six chemicals pentachlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol (and its metabolite isomers 2,4,5-trichlorophenol and 2,3,6-trichlorophenol), aldrin, and dieldrin tested in the ToxCast programme that are in the present *IARC Monographs* Volume 117. On the lower left, the relative ranks of these chemicals (red dots) are shown (*y*-axis) with respect to their ToxPi scores (*x*-axis) compared with the 489 chemicals previously evaluated by IARC (grey dots, with chemicals classified in Group I [carcinogenic to humans] as black dots). On the lower right, the subcategories of the ToxPi chart, as well as their respective colour coding are shown.

score of 0.61, and also a similar shape in that cytotoxicity and cell cycle markers make the greatest contribution, with additional contribution from mitochondrial toxicity.

Whereas examining each chemical's activity individually gives a sense of "absolute" activity, this comparison across chemical provides important context with respect to "relative" activity. Overall, this comparison across chemicals demonstrates that several chemicals evaluated in the present volume - pentachlorophenol, aldrin, dieldrin, and 2,4,5-trichlorophenol, a metabolite of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol - rank very highly with respect to assays mapped to the key characteristics of cytotoxicity, receptor modulation and, to a lesser extent, oxidative stress. However, the results of receptor modulation need to be interpreted with caution, since in some cases the results are not consistent across assay platforms for the same receptor, and because they can be confounded by cytotoxicity.

4.4 Susceptibility

No studies in humans were available to the Working Group.

One study in experimental animals examined the role of oxidative stress in the carcinogenicity of pentachlorophenol, using *Nrf2* knockout mice (<u>Tasaki et al., 2014</u>). Alterations in the Nrf2 pathway in mice affected development of cholangiocarcinoma after dietary exposure to pentachlorophenol at 1200 ppm. The wildtype mice did not develop cholangiocarcinomas.

4.5 Other adverse effects

4.5.1 Humans

Several epidemiological studies have examined non-cancer health effects in populations exposed to pentachlorophenol. Several studies have reported haematological effects in populations exposed to pentachlorophenol (Roberts, 1983; McConnachie & Zahalsky, 1991; Colosio et al., 1993). These effects range from aplastic anaemia to increased activation of T cells, increased incidence of autoimmunity, and immunosuppression and B-cell dysregulation. Neurological effects, such as nausea, lethargy, and peripheral neuropathies, have also been reported (Jorens & Schepens, 1993). Reported hepatic effects include increases in serum bile acids (Colosio et al., 1993). Begley et al. (1977) found depressed creatinine clearance and phosphorus reabsorption values in 18 workers exposed to pentachlorophenol, suggesting reduced glomerular filtration rate and tubular function. A few small case reports describing acute poisonings to pentachlorophenol identified a wide range of symptoms, including fever, hepatotoxicity and neurological symptoms (Wood et al., 1983; Walls et al., 1998). Chloracne was also a common finding in workers exposed to pentachlorophenol (Lambert et al., 1986; O'Malley et al., 1990; Leet & Collins, 1991).

Dahlgren et al. (2003) reported increases in the prevalence of bronchitis and asthma in a population of residents near a wood treatment plant who had sustained prolonged low-level exposure to pentachlorophenol and other wood-processing waste chemicals. These results may suggest impacts on the immune system.

Dimich-Ward et al. (1996) followed children of fathers who had worked in British Columbia sawmills for 1 year or more. The population consisted of 19 675 children of 9512 fathers. The study found an increased risk of congenital anomalies of the eye, with no associations for low birth weight, prematurity, still births, or neonatal deaths.

4.5.2 Experimental systems

In rats and mice, the liver is a target organ for pentachlorophenol, with a range of effects reported, including increased liver weight, hepatocellular hypertrophy, and vacuolization (Kerkvliet et al., 1982a, b; Umemura et al., 1996; NTP, 1999). Necrosis, periportal fibrosis, and hepatocellular degeneration were seen at high doses of pure or technical-grade pentachlorophenol in rodents (Kerkvliet et al., 1982a, b; NTP, 1999). Mild to moderate renal toxicity (e.g. increased kidney weights and blood urea nitrogen) has been observed in rodents with long-term exposure to pure or technical-grade pentachlorophenol (Kimbrough & Linder, 1978; Nishimura et al., 1980; Blakley et al., 1998) but is infrequently accompanied by histopathological changes in the kidney.

5. Summary of Data Reported

5.1 Exposure data

Technical-grade pentachlorophenol is composed of approximately 90% pentachlorophenol and 10% contaminants, including other chlorophenols and various dioxin and furan congeners (primarily hexa-, hepta-, and octa- congeners). Pentachlorophenol and its salts have been widely used as herbicide, algicide, defoliant, wood preservative, germicide, fungicide, and molluscicide. Pentachlorophenol has been classified as a persistent organic pollutant under the Stockholm Convention, which requires parties to take measures to eliminate its production and use. Pentachlorophenol is banned for most uses in North America and Europe, but exceptions exist for heavy duty wood preservation, such as treating utility poles. Continued use in other parts of the world has been reported, such as for cleaning fish ponds to control schistosomiasis vectors in Asia.

Occupational exposure to pentachlorophenol has been measured in workers involved in the manufacture of pentachlorophenol and other chlorophenols, sawmill workers, agricultural workers, workers involved in treating wood products, electrical-utility workers, and waste-incinerator workers. Pentachlorophenol exposures were generally highest in workers directly involved in treating wood or who had direct contact with the treated product, with mean urinary concentrations often exceeding 100 μ g/L. The general population may be exposed to pentachlorophenol from proximity to treated wood products, from contaminated food and waters, from incinerator emissions, and from contact with leather and textiles treated with chlorophenols. Median urinary concentrations of pentachlorophenol measured between the 1970s and 2000s in the general population ranged from < 1 to 25 μ g/L.

5.2 Human carcinogenicity data

In its evaluation of the epidemiological studies reporting on cancer risks associated with exposure to pentachlorophenol, the Working Group identified four reports from occupational cohorts and seven reports from population-based case-control studies. It was noted that interpretation of the results of all studies with respect to the carcinogenicity of pentachlorophenol was complicated by contamination with dioxin and furan, as well as co-exposures to other chlorophenols. Of particular interest was the contaminant 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin (TCDD), an IARC Group 1 carcinogen, which is not found in significant levels in pentachlorophenol; however, a number of the other higher chlorinated dioxins of substantially lower potency are characteristic of the pattern of contamination, including a range of hexachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin (HxCDD), heptachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin (HpCDD), and octachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin (OCDD) congeners. The studies that the Working Group found most informative were cohort studies that dealt with this issue by using high-quality exposure assessment techniques. These techniques included estimation of cumulative dermal

exposure to pentachlorophenol in a cohort study of Canadian sawmill workers, and measurement of the profile of dioxin congeners in serum to differentiate between chemicals in a cohort study of chemical-company workers. Three or more independent studies reported results for evaluation of risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL), multiple myeloma, kidney, soft tissue sarcoma, and cancer of the lung, while cancer of the liver was reported in only one study. The cohort study of sawmill workers was considered to be a key investigation because of its relatively large size and high-quality exposure assessment, and the analysis of both mortality and incidence. Although considerably smaller and including only mortality follow-up, the chemical-company and National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) cohort studies were both considered informative due to the quality of the exposure assessment and the length of follow-up.

5.2.1 NHL and other haematopoietic cancers

An elevated risk of NHL after exposure to pentachlorophenol was reported in all four cohort studies, and in three independent casecontrol studies, two from Sweden and one from New Zealand. In most studies, the increased risks for the most highly exposed workers were statistically significant and at least 2-fold. In the study from Canada, a statistically significant trend with estimated cumulative dermal exposure to pentachlorophenol was observed. In the chemical-company cohort analyses, risk in the subcohort exposed to pentachlorophenol (but not 2,4,5-trichlorophenol) was significantly elevated. In addition, a statistically significant risk was observed in the entire cohort in those with high exposure to the HxCDD, HpCDD, and OCDD congeners that can be considered as markers of exposure to pentachlorophenol as used in industry. An elevated but not statistically significant risk was observed for exposure to TCDD, although TCDD levels were lower in

the pentachlorophenol subcohort than in the 2,4,5-trichlorophenol subcohort. A non-significantly increased risk of mortality due to NHL was found in the NIOSH study of pentachlorophenol-manufacturing workers exposed to pentachlorophenol but not trichlorophenol. All three case-control studies reported excess risks of NHL with exposure to pentachlorophenol, although there was less clarity on the extent to which the risk can be attributed solely to exposure to pentachlorophenol in these studies due to the use of job titles or self-reported excess.

The Canadian sawmill study found a similar statistically significant trend in incidence of multiple myeloma with increasing cumulative dermal exposure to pentachlorophenol, and non-significant excess risks were observed in both the NIOSH cohort and in New Zealand fencing workers, but not in the chemical-company cohort.

Because of the consistent associations observed in several studies in different countries, and the observation of either exposure–response trends or the highest risk in the highest exposure category in two occupational cohort studies with high-quality exposure assessments, the Working Group concluded that the data demonstrated a causal association between NHL and exposure to pentachlorophenol, such that chance, bias and confounding can be ruled out with reasonable confidence. While the numbers were small in studies of multiple myeloma, which is now classified as a subtype of NHL, the increased risks observed in three studies lend support to this conclusion.

5.2.2 Other cancers

For other cancer sites, the results observed were generally not statistically significant or not consistent across studies. Elevated risk of cancer of the kidney was reported in three cohort studies, with a significant trend in Canadian sawmill workers; however, the numbers of cases were small in all studies. Excess risk of cancer of the lung was observed in the pentachlorophenol-only subcohort in the NIOSH study, but there was no excess in either the Canadian sawmill workers or chemical-company cohorts. A statistically significant excess of soft tissue sarcoma was observed in one case-control study in Sweden, but no excess was observed in either the Canadian cohort or a New Zealand casecontrol study. Mortality from cancer of the liver was investigated in the Canadian cohort and, although numbers were small, a substantial excess risk was observed; however, there was no other support for this finding.

Overall, the Working Group concluded that there was scarce and inconsistent evidence of carcinogenicity after exposure to pentachlorophenol for these other cancer sites.

5.3 Animal carcinogenicity data

In mice, there were six studies of carcinogenicity with pentachlorophenol: five feeding studies, and one skin application study in transgenic females. The five feeding studies included two studies in males and females, two studies in transgenic males, and one study in transgenic males and females. There were three initiation-promotion studies with pentachlorophenol tested as a promoter in males. There were three co-carcinogenicity studies in males or females.

In mice, in one feeding study cited in one report, technical-grade pentachlorophenol increased the incidence of hepatocellular adenoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined), and pheochromocytoma of the adrenal gland in males; and of haemangiosarcoma of the vascular system in females. In the same report, in a second feeding study, commercial-grade pentachlorophenol (with a smaller concentration of dioxins and furans compared with technical-grade pentachlorophenol) increased the incidence of hepatocellular adenoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined), and pheochromocytoma of the adrenal gland in males; and of haemangiosarcoma of the vascular system, hepatocellular adenoma, and pheochromocytoma of the adrenal gland in females.

In one feeding study in male transgenic mice, there was an increase in the incidence of hepatocellular adenoma and cholangiocarcinoma of the liver. In the skin application study in female transgenic mice, there was an increase in the incidence of skin papilloma.

In three initiation-promotion studies in mice, pentachlorophenol by oral administration (feeding) promoted the development of hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined) in one study, hepatocellular adenoma in two studies, and cholangioma and cholangiocarcinoma of the liver in two studies.

In rats, there was one feeding study and one co-carcinogenicity study in males and in females. In the feeding study, pentachlorophenol increased the incidence of malignant mesothelioma of the tunica vaginalis of the testis in males. In the co-carcinogenicity study, pentachlorophenol increased the incidence of acute myelocytic leukaemia in males.

5.4 Mechanistic and other relevant data

Absorption of pentachlorophenol via oral and dermal exposure is rapid and extensive in all species studied, including humans, monkeys, mice, and rats. Pentachlorophenol distributes widely in the body via blood circulation. Pentachlorophenol is extensively bound to plasma proteins, with the greatest binding in humans, which leads to slow direct elimination of the parent compound. Metabolism involves both conjugation to glucurono- or sulfo-conjugates subsequently excreted in the urine, as well as oxidation to reactive metabolites, including benzoquinones and semiquinones. Both pathways are active across the species studied, but the oxidation pathway is predominant in rodents while the conjugation pathway predominates in humans. Pentachlorophenol is also a strong inducer of cytochrome P450 enzymes, particularly CYP3A, and is an inhibitor of *O*-acetyltransferase and sulfotransferase enzymes. Excretion half-life is 10–20 days in humans and shorter in other mammalian species, such as monkeys (~80 hours), rats (~35 hours), and mice (~6 hours). There is *strong* evidence of metabolic activation to electrophilic benzoquinones and redox-cycling semiquinones.

In addition, there were data available on other key characteristics of carcinogens to evaluate whether pentachlorophenol induces oxidative stress, is genotoxic, modulates receptor-mediated effects, induces inflammation, is immunosuppressive, and alters cell proliferation, cell death, or nutrient supply.

There is strong evidence that pentachlorophenol induces oxidative stress and genotoxicity that can operate in humans. No studies of oxidative stress in exposed humans were available. Numerous studies in human cells, in mammalian systems in vivo or in vitro, and in non-mammalian experimental systems have reported increases in reactive oxygen species, oxidative stress markers, and DNA adducts associated with oxidative damage. Moreover, many studies across different species and experimental systems also demonstrated that these effects can be attenuated with co-exposure to a variety of antioxidants. These effects have been observed with treatment using either pentachlorophenol or metabolites such as tetrachlorohydroquinone (TCHQ) and tetrachlorobenzoquinone. TCHQ is the most studied metabolite, and appears to be more potent than pentachlorophenol, consistent with the need for metabolic activation of pentachlorophenol to induce oxidative stress. In addition, studies in Nrf2-knockout mice demonstrated that dysregulation of antioxidant expression increased pentachlorophenol-induced oxidative damage, cholangiofibrosis, and cholangiocarcinomas. In addition, multiple studies demonstrated genotoxicity consistent with oxidative damage in the form of 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) formation in the livers of mice (and to a lesser extent, rats) treated in vivo. However, in a study using transgenic mice, pentachlorophenol exposure increased 8-OHdG, but did not induce gpt reporter gene mutations in the liver of Tp53 wildtype or Tp53-/- mice. Pentachlorophenol also caused DNA strand breaks in multiple human cell types. Pentachlorophenol did not induce reverse mutations in the Ames test, whereas positive results were found in yeast and other bacterial assays that are more sensitive to oxidative DNA damage. Studies in acellular systems also reported DNA damage and/or adducts caused by pentachlorophenol in the presence of metabolic activation. Positive results have been reported for pentachlorophenol metabolites such as TCHQ, including mutation, micronucleus formation, and DNA strand breaks in multiple experimental systems. Evidence for induction of chromosomal aberrations, micronucleus formation, and sister-chromatid exchange, which includes studies in exposed humans and in multiple experimental mammalian systems, is mixed.

There is *strong* evidence that pentachlorophenol modulates receptor-mediated effects that can operate in humans with respect to anti-estrogenic activity. There are consistent results from studies in vitro using complementary techniques, including in human cells and in highthroughput screening data from Tox21. Several studies in mammals reported modulation of thyroid hormones after developmental exposures to pentachlorophenol, while the results of studies in vitro were ambiguous.

There is *strong* evidence that pentachlorophenol alters cell proliferation, cell death, or nutrient supply that can occur in humans. Pentachlorophenol and TCHQ induce apoptosis in multiple experimental systems in vitro and in vivo, including in several human cell lines. Pentachlorophenol increases cell proliferation in mouse hepatocytes, intrahepatic bile duct epithelia, and skin, and alters proliferation and differentiation in mouse bone marrow culture, but decreased cell proliferation in one study in human lymphocytes in vitro. In several different experimental systems in vitro and in vivo, inhibition of gap-junction intercellular communication was observed after treatment with pentachlorophenol.

There is *moderate* evidence that pentachlorophenol induces chronic inflammation and is immunosuppressive. One study in exposed humans suggested increases in the frequency of mild infections and inflammation in skin, eye membrane and mucosa. Multiple studies in human cells and mammalian systems in vitro and in vivo suggest disruption of cytokines and/ or deficiencies in cellular or humoral immunity as a result of treatment with pentachlorophenol. However, dioxin contamination present in technical-grade pentachlorophenol may have contributed to observations of immune suppression, as some effects were not observed with analytical-grade pentachlorophenol.

In the ToxCast/Tox21 high-throughput testing programmes of the United States government, pentachlorophenol was active for multiple assay end-points measuring markers of oxidative stress and *TP53* activation, consistent with the strong evidence for oxidative stress and associated genotoxicity discussed above. Pentachlorophenol was also active for many assay end-points related to modulation of receptor-mediated effects; however, these effects may be related to cytotoxicity, which was also observed across many assay end-points in cell lines and primary human cells.

There were no data on cancer susceptibility in humans. In experimental animals, one study in *Nrf2*-knockout mice suggested that dysregulation of antioxidant expression can increase susceptibility to pentachlorophenol-induced carcinogenicity.

Pentachlorophenol has been associated with haematological effects in some human studies, and effects on thyroid function, reproduction, toxicity in liver, and kidney in experimental animals.

6. Evaluation

6.1 Cancer in humans

There is *sufficient evidence* in humans for the carcinogenicity of pentachlorophenol. Pentachlorophenol causes non-Hodgkin lymphoma.

6.2 Cancer in experimental animals

There is *sufficient evidence* in experimental animals for the carcinogenicity of pentachlorophenol.

6.3 Overall evaluation

Pentachlorophenol is *carcinogenic to humans* (*Group 1*).

6.4 Rationale

The Working Group attributed the cancers observed in studies in humans and experimental animals to exposure to pentachlorophenol, and not to impurities in pentachlorophenol, based on the following considerations:

- Measured impurities in pentachlorophenol are dominated by higher chlorinated dioxins and furans, which are much less potent than 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*para*-dioxin (TCDD).
- The pattern of excess cancers observed in studies of occupational exposure to

pentachlorophenol differed from those observed in studies with high exposure to dioxins (i.e. excesses of all cancers combined, cancer of the lung, and soft tissue sarcoma, in addition to non-Hodgkin lymphoma).

- The pattern of excess cancers observed in experimental animals was similar for technical-grade pentachlorophenol (purity, 90.4%), commercial-gradepentachlorophenol(purity, 91%; with lower content of dioxin and furan), and analytical-grade pentachlorophenol (purity, ≥ 98%).
- Mechanistic studies with technical- and analytical-grade pentachlorophenol observed a wide spectrum of effects that differed from those observed with dioxins and furans.

References

- ACGIH (2014). Pentachlorophenol. Recommended biological exposure index (BEI). Cincinnati (OH), USA: American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists.
- Agramunt M, Domingo A, Domingo JL, Corbella J (2003). Monitoring internal exposure to metals and organic substances in workers at a hazardous waste incinerator after 3 years of operation. *Toxicol Lett*, 146(1):83–91. doi:<u>10.1016/j.toxlet.2003.09.003</u> PMID:<u>14615070</u>
- Ahlborg UG, Lindgren JE, Mercier M (1974). Metabolism of pentachlorophenol. *Arch Toxicol*, 32(4):271–81. doi:<u>10.1007/BF00330109</u> PMID:<u>4480027</u>
- Ahlborg UG, Thunberg TM, Spencer HC (1980). Chlorinated phenols: occurrence, toxicity, metabolism, and environmental impact. *Crit Rev Toxicol*, 7(1):1–35. doi:10.3109/10408448009017934 PMID:6996925
- Ahmad W, Ali MN, Farah MA, Ateeq B (2002). Computerized automated morphometric assay including frequency estimation of pentachlorophenol induced nuclear anomalies (micronucleus) in catfish Heteropneustes fossilis. *Chromosoma*, 110(8):570–4. doi:10.1007/s00412-001-0171-3 PMID:12068974
- Ali R, Yu CL, Wu MT, Ho CK, Pan BJ, Smith T, et al. (2004). A case-control study of parental occupation, leukemia, and brain tumors in an industrial city in Taiwan. J Occup Environ Med, 46(9):985–92. doi:10.1097/01. jom.0000138913.75380.13 PMID:15354065

- Anderson HA, Falk C, Hanrahan L, Olson J, Burse VW, Needham L et al.; The Great Lakes Consortium (1998).
 Profiles of Great Lakes critical pollutants: a sentinel analysis of human blood and urine. *Environ Health Perspect*, 106(5):279–89. PMID:<u>9560354</u>
- Angelova MB, Genova LK, Slokoska LS, Pashova SB (1995). Effect of glucose on the superoxide dismutase production in fungal strain Humicola lutea. *Can J Microbiol*, 41(11):978–83. doi:10.1139/m95-136 PMID:7497355
- Angerer J, Heinzow B, Reimann DO, Knorz W, Lehnert G (1992). Internal exposure to organic substances in a municipal waste incinerator. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 64(4):265–73. doi:<u>10.1007/BF00378285</u> PMID:<u>1468796</u>
- Ansari GA, Britt SG, Reynolds ES (1985). Isolation and characterization of palmitoylpentachlorophenol from human fat. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 34(5):661–7. PMID:<u>4005445</u>
- Ansari GA, Kaphalia BS, Boor PJ (1987). Selective pancreatic toxicity of palmitoylpentachlorophenol. *Toxicology*, 46(1):57–63. doi:10.1016/0300-483X(87)90137-5 PMID:3660420
- Ateeq B, Abul Farah M, Niamat Ali M, Ahmad W (2002). Clastogenicity of pentachlorophenol, 2,4-D and butachlor evaluated by Allium root tip test. *Mutat Res*, 514(1-2):105–13. doi:10.1016/S1383-5718(01)00327-8 PMID:11815249
- ATSDR (2001). Toxicological profile for pentachlorophenol. United States Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Available from: http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp51.pdf.
- Atuma SS, Okor DI (1985). Gas chromatographic determination of pentachlorophenol in human blood and urine. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol, 35(3):406–10. doi:10.1007/BF01636530 PMID:4041653
- Bader M, Zimmer H, Triebig G (2007). Urinary pentachlorophenol in painters and bricklayers in a fouryears time interval after the PCP prohibition ordinance in Germany. *Ind Health*, 45(2):338–42. doi:<u>10.2486/</u> <u>indhealth.45.338</u> PMID:<u>17485880</u>
- Basheer C, Lee HK, Tan KS (2004). Endocrine disrupting alkylphenols and bisphenol-A in coastal waters and supermarket seafood from Singapore. *Mar Pollut Bull*, 48(11-12):1161–7. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2004.04.009 PMID:15172824
- Bauchinger M, Dresp J, Schmid E, Hauf R (1982). Chromosome changes in lymphocytes after occupational exposure to pentachlorophenol (PCP). *Mutat Res*, 102(1):83–8. doi:10.1016/0165-1218(82)90148-3 PMID:7121476
- Baynes RE, Brooks JD, Mumtaz M, Riviere JE (2002). Effect of chemical interactions in pentachlorophenol mixtures on skin and membrane transport. *Toxicol Sci*, 69(2):295–305. doi:<u>10.1093/toxsci/69.2.295</u> PMID:<u>12377978</u>

- Beard AP, Bartlewski PM, Chandolia RK, Honaramooz A, Rawlings NC (1999). Reproductive and endocrine function in rams exposed to the organochlorine pesticides lindane and pentachlorophenol from conception. *J Reprod Fertil*, 115(2):303–14. doi:<u>10.1530/jrf.0.1150303</u> PMID:<u>10434936</u>
- Beard AP, Rawlings NC (1998). Reproductive effects in mink (Mustela vison) exposed to the pesticides Lindane, Carbofuran and Pentachlorophenol in a multigeneration study. *J Reprod Fertil*, 113(1):95–104. doi:10.1530/jrf.0.1130095 PMID:9713382
- Beard AP, Rawlings NC (1999). Thyroid function and effects on reproduction in ewes exposed to the organochlorine pesticides lindane or pentachlorophenol (PCP) from conception. J Toxicol Environ Health A, 58(8):509–30. doi:10.1080/009841099157124 PMID:10632142
- Begley J, Reichert EL, Rashad MN, Klemmer HW, Siemsen AW (1977). Association between renal function tests and pentachlorophenol exposure. *Clin Toxicol*, 11(1):97–106. doi:<u>10.3109/15563657708989823</u> PMID:872545
- Berkowitz GS, Obel J, Deych E, Lapinski R, Godbold J, Liu Z, et al. (2003). Exposure to indoor pesticides during pregnancy in a multiethnic, urban cohort. *Environ Health Perspect*, 111(1):79–84. doi:<u>10.1289/ehp.5619</u> PMID:<u>12515682</u>
- Blakley BR, Yole MJ, Brousseau P, Boermans H, Fournier M (1998). Effect of pentachlorophenol on immune function. *Toxicology*, 125(2-3):141–8. doi:10.1016/ S0300-483X(97)00154-6 PMID:9570329
- Boberg EW, Miller EC, Miller JA, Poland A, Liem A (1983). Strong evidence from studies with brachymorphic mice and pentachlorophenol that 1'-sulfoöxysafrole is the major ultimate electrophilic and carcinogenic metabolite of 1'-hydroxysafrole in mouse liver. *Cancer Res*, 43(11):5163–73. PMID:<u>6577945</u>
- Bordelon NR, Donnelly KC, George SE (2001). Pentachlorophenol potentiates benzo[a]pyrene DNA adduct formation in adult but not infant B6C3F1 male mice. *Environ Mol Mutagen*, 37(2):164–72. doi:<u>10.1002/</u> <u>em.1024</u> PMID:<u>11246223</u>
- Brambilla G, Fochi I, De Filippis SP, Iacovella N, di Domenico A (2009). Pentachlorophenol, polychlorodibenzodioxin and polychlorodibenzofuran in eggs from hens exposed to contaminated wood shavings. *Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess*, 26(2):258–64. doi:10.1080/02652030802322572 PMID:19680897
- Braun WH, Blau GE, Chenoweth MB (1979). The metabolism/pharmacokinetics of pentachlorophenol in man, and a comparison with the rat and the monkey. *Dev Toxicol Environ Sci*, 4:289–96.
- Braun WH, Sauerhoff MW (1976). The pharmacokinetic profile of pentachlorophenol in monkeys. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 38(3):525–33. doi:<u>10.1016/0041-</u> <u>008X(76)90184-8</u> PMID:<u>827823</u>

- Braun WH, Young JD, Blau GE, Gehring PJ (1977). The pharmacokinetics and metabolism of pentachlorophenol in rats. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 41(2):395–406. doi:10.1016/0041-008X(77)90041-2 PMID:898206
- Budavari S, editor (1996). The Merck index. 12th ed. Whitehouse Station (NJ), USA: Merck & Co.; pp. 520, 1222, 1643–4.
- Burns CJ, Collins JJ, Budinsky RA, Bodner K, Wilken M, Craig Rowlands J, et al. (2008). Factors related to dioxin and furan body levels among Michigan workers. *Environ Res*, 106(2):250–6. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2007.10.010 PMID:18054905
- Buser HR, Bosshardt HP (1976). Determination of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans in commercial pentachlorophenols by combined gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. J Assoc Off Anal Chem, 59(3):562–9. PMID:<u>1270382</u>
- CAREX Canada (2009). Pentachlorophenol. Profile. Vancouver (BC), Canada: CAREX Canada. Available from: <u>http://www.carexcanada.ca/en/</u><u>pentachlorophenol/</u>.
- Carrizo D, Grimalt JO, Ribas-Fito N, Torrent M, Sunyer J (2008). Pentachlorobenzene, hexachlorobenzene, and pentachlorophenol in children's serum from industrial and rural populations after restricted use. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf*, 71(1):260–6. doi:10.1016/j. ecoenv.2007.08.021 PMID:17935782
- Carstens CP, Blum JK, Witte I (1990). The role of hydroxyl radicals in tetrachlorohydroquinone induced DNA strand break formation in PM2 DNA and human fibroblasts. *Chem Biol Interact*, 74(3):305–14. doi:10.1016/0009-2797(90)90047-Q PMID:2161290
- Casarett LJ, Bevenue A, Yauger WL Jr, Whalen SA (1969). Observations on pentachlorophenol in human blood and urine. *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J*, 30(4):360–6. doi:10.1080/00028896909343138 PMID:5798790
- Castorina R, Bradman A, Fenster L, Barr DB, Bravo R, Vedar MG, et al. (2010). Comparison of current-use pesticide and other toxicant urinary metabolite levels among pregnant women in the CHAMACOS cohort and NHANES. *Environ Health Perspect*, 118(6):856–63. doi:10.1289/ehp.0901568 PMID:20129873
- Cessna AJ, Waite DT, Constable M (1997). Concentrations of pentachlorophenol in atmospheric samples from three Canadian locations, 1994. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 58(4):651–8. doi:<u>10.1007/s001289900383</u> PMID:<u>9060385</u>
- Chandra R, Sankhwar M (2011). Influence of lignin, pentachlorophenol and heavy metal on antibiotic resistance of pathogenic bacteria isolated from pulp paper mill effluent contaminated river water. *J Environ Biol*, 32(6):739–45. PMID:22471210
- Chang JW, Chen HL, Su HJ, Liao PC, Lee CC (2012). Biochemical study of retired pentachlorophenol workers with and without following dietary exposure

to PCDD/Fs. *Chemosphere*, 88(7):813–9. doi:<u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>chemosphere.2012.03.087</u> PMID:<u>22579452</u>

- Chang WC, Jeng JH, Shieh CC, Tsai YC, Ho YS, Guo HR, et al. (2003). Skin tumor-promoting potential and systemic effects of pentachlorophenol and its major metabolite tetrachlorohydroquinone in CD-1 Mice. *Mol Carcinog*, 36(4):161–70. doi:10.1002/mc.10113 PMID:12669308
- Chem Sources (2016). Pentachlorophenol. Chem Sources Online. Pendleton (SC), USA: Chemical Sources International, Inc. Available from: <u>http://www. chemsources.com</u>, accessed October 2016.
- Chen HM, Lee YH, Chen RJ, Chiu HW, Wang BJ, Wang YJ (2013). The immunotoxic effects of dual exposure to PCP and TCDD. *Chem Biol Interact*, 206(2):166–74. doi:10.1016/j.cbi.2013.09.005 PMID:24051191
- Chen HM, Lee YH, Wang YJ (2015). ROS-triggered signaling pathways involved in the cytotoxicity and tumor promotion effects of pentachlorophenol and tetrachlorohydroquinone. *Chem Res Toxicol*, 28(3):339–50. doi:10.1021/tx500487w PMID:25608107
- Chen HM, Zhu BZ, Chen RJ, Wang BJ, Wang YJ (2014). The pentachlorophenol metabolite tetrachlorohydroquinone induces massive ROS and prolonged p-ERK expression in splenocytes, leading to inhibition of apoptosis and necrotic cell death. *PLoS One*, 9(2):e89483. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0089483 PMID:24586814
- Chen X, Yao G, Hou Y (2005). Pentachlorophenol reduces B lymphocyte function through proinflammatory cytokines in Carassius auratus. *Food Chem Toxicol*, 43(2):239–45. doi:<u>10.1016/j.fct.2004.09.010</u> PMID:<u>15621336</u>
- Chen X, Yin D, Hu S, Hou Y (2004). Immunotoxicity of pentachlorophenol on macrophage immunity and IgM secretion of the crucian carp (Carassius auratus). *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 73(1):153–60. doi:10.1007/ s00128-004-0407-z PMID:15386086
- Cheng Y, Ekker M, Chan HM (2015). Relative developmental toxicities of pentachloroanisole and pentachlorophenol in a zebrafish model (Danio rerio). *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf*, 112:7–14. doi:<u>10.1016/j.ecoenv.2014.10.004</u> PMID:25463847
- Chhabra RS, Maronpot RM, Bucher JR, Haseman JK, Toft JD, Hejtmancik MR (1999). Toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of pentachlorophenol in rats. *Toxicol Sci*, 48(1):14–20. doi:<u>10.1093/toxsci/48.1.14</u> PMID:<u>10330679</u>
- Choudhary AK, Kumar S, Sharma C (2013). Removal of chlorophenolics from pulp and paper mill wastewater through constructed wetland. *Water Environ Res*, 85(1):54–62. doi:<u>10.2175/106143012X13415215907419</u> PMID:<u>23409454</u>
- Cline RE, Hill RH Jr, Phillips DL, Needham LL (1989). Pentachlorophenol measurements in body fluids of people in log homes and workplaces. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol*, 18(4):475–81. doi:<u>10.1007/BF01055012</u> PMID:<u>2774665</u>

- Coad S, Newhook RC (1992). PCP exposure for the Canadian general population: a multimedia analysis. *J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol*, 2(4):391–413. PMID:<u>1483028</u>
- Collins JJ, Bodner K, Aylward LL, Wilken M, Swaen G, Budinsky R, et al. (2009). Mortality rates among workers exposed to dioxins in the manufacture of pentachlorophenol. J Occup Environ Med, 51(10):1212–9. doi:10.1097/JOM.0b013e3181badd4e PMID:19786897
- Collins JJ, Bodner K, Haidar S, Wilken M, Burns CJ, Lamparski LL, et al. (2008). Chlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins, dibenzofurans, and biphenyl profiles of workers with trichlorophenol and pentachlorophenol exposures. *Chemosphere*, 73(1) Suppl:S284–9. doi:<u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>chemosphere.2007.12.034</u> PMID:<u>18442847</u>
- Collins JJ, Bodner KM, Wilken M, Haidar S, Burns CJ, Budinsky RA, et al. (2007). Serum concentrations of chlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans among former Michigan trichlorophenol and pentachlorophenol workers. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol, 17(6):541–8. doi:10.1038/sj.jes.7500558 PMID:17426737
- Colosio C, Maroni M, Barcellini W, Meroni P, Alcini D, Colombi A, et al. (1993). Toxicological and immune findings in workers exposed to pentachlorophenol (PCP). *Arch Environ Health*, 48(2):81–8. doi:<u>10.1080/00</u> <u>039896.1993.9938399</u> PMID:<u>8476309</u>
- Cooper GS, Jones S (2008). Pentachlorophenol and cancer risk: focusing the lens on specific chlorophenols and contaminants. *Environ Health Perspect*, 116(8):1001–8. doi:10.1289/ehp.11081 PMID:18709150
- Cooper RG, Macauley MB (1982). Pentachlorophenol pancreatitis. *Lancet*, 1(8270):517. doi:<u>10.1016/S0140-6736(82)91493-3</u> PMID:<u>6121177</u>
- Dahlgren J, Warshaw R, Thornton J, Anderson-Mahoney CP, Takhar H (2003). Health effects on nearby residents of a wood treatment plant. *Environ Res*, 92(2):92–8. doi:10.1016/S0013-9351(02)00065-8 PMID:12854688
- Dahlhaus M, Almstadt E, Appel KE (1994). The pentachlorophenol metabolite tetrachloro-p-hydroquinone induces the formation of 8-hydroxy-2-deoxyguanosine in liver DNA of male B6C3F1 mice. *Toxicol Lett*, 74(3):265-74. doi:<u>10.1016/0378-4274(94)90085-X</u> PMID:<u>7871550</u>
- Dahlhaus M, Almstadt E, Henschke P, Lüttgert S, Appel KE (1995). Induction of 8-hydroxy-2-deoxyguanosine and single-strand breaks in DNA of V79 cells by tetrachloro-p-hydroquinone. *Mutat Res*, 329(1):29–36. doi:10.1016/0027-5107(95)00014-A PMID:7770074
- Dahlhaus M, Almstadt E, Henschke P, Lüttgert S, Appel KE (1996). Oxidative DNA lesions in V79 cells mediated by pentachlorophenol metabolites. *Arch Toxicol*, 70(7):457–60. doi:<u>10.1007/s002040050299</u> PMID:<u>8740541</u>
- Dai J, Sloat AL, Wright MW, Manderville RA (2005). Role of phenoxyl radicals in DNA adduction by chlorophenol xenobiotics following peroxidase activation.

Chem Res Toxicol, 18(4):771–9. doi:<u>10.1021/tx0500023</u> PMID:<u>15833038</u>

- Dai J, Wright MW, Manderville RA (2003). An oxygenbonded c8-deoxyguanosine nucleoside adduct of pentachlorophenol by peroxidase activation: evidence for ambident c8 reactivity by phenoxyl radicals. *Chem Res Toxicol*, 16(7):817–21. doi:<u>10.1021/tx034084b</u> PMID:<u>12870883</u>
- Daimon H, Sawada S, Asakura S, Sagami F (1997). Inhibition of sulfotransferase affecting in vivo genotoxicity and DNA adducts induced by safrole in rat liver. *Teratog Carcinog Mutagen*, 17(6):327–37. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1520-6866(1997)17:6<327::AID-TCM3>3.0.CO;2-J PMID:9485541
- Daniel V, Huber W, Bauer K, Opelz G (1995). Impaired in-vitro lymphocyte responses in patients with elevated pentachlorophenol (PCP) blood levels. *Arch Environ Health*, 50(4):287–92. doi:<u>10.1080/00039896.1995.9935</u> <u>956</u> PMID:<u>7677428</u>
- Daniel V, Huber W, Bauer K, Suesal C, Mytilineos J, Melk A, et al. (2001). Association of elevated blood levels of pentachlorophenol (PCP) with cellular and humoral immunodeficiencies. *Arch Environ Health*, 56(1):77–83. doi:10.1080/00039890109604057 PMID:11256860
- Delclos KB, Miller EC, Miller JA, Liem A (1986). Sulfuric acid esters as major ultimate electrophilic and hepatocarcinogenic metabolites of 4-aminoazobenzene and its N-methyl derivatives in infant male C57BL/6J x C3H/HeJ F1 (B6C3F1) mice. *Carcinogenesis*, 7(2):277– 87. doi:10.1093/carcin/7.2.277 PMID:2419005
- DeMarini DM, Brooks HG, Parkes DG Jr (1990). Induction of prophage lambda by chlorophenols. *Environ Mol Mutagen*, 15(1):1–9. doi:<u>10.1002/em.2850150102</u> PMID:<u>2137084</u>
- Demers PA, Davies HW, Friesen MC, Hertzman C, Ostry A, Hershler R, et al. (2006). Cancer and occupational exposure to pentachlorophenol and tetrachlorophenol (Canada). *Cancer Causes Control*, 17(6):749–58. doi:10.1007/s10552-006-0007-9 PMID:16783603
- Deziel NC, Ward MH, Bell EM, Whitehead TP, Gunier RB, Friesen MC, et al. (2013). Temporal variability of pesticide concentrations in homes and implications for attenuation bias in epidemiologic studies. *Environ Health Perspect*, 121(5):565–71. doi:10.1289/ ehp.1205811 PMID:23462689
- Dimich-Ward H, Hertzman C, Teschke K, Hershler R, Marion SA, Ostry A, et al. (1996). Reproductive effects of paternal exposure to chlorophenate wood preservatives in the sawmill industry. *Scand J Work Environ Health*, 22(4):267–73. doi:<u>10.5271/sjweh.141</u> PMID:<u>8881015</u>
- Domingo JL, Schuhmacher M, Agramunt MC, Müller L, Neugebauer F (2001). Levels of metals and organic substances in blood and urine of workers at a new hazardous waste incinerator. *Int Arch Occup Environ*

Health, 74(4):263–9. doi:<u>10.1007/s004200000217</u> PMID:<u>11401018</u>

- Dong H, Xu D, Hu L, Li L, Song E, Song Y (2014). Evaluation of N-acetyl-cysteine against tetrachlorobenzoquinone-induced genotoxicity and oxidative stress in HepG2 cells. *Food Chem Toxicol*, 64:291–7. doi:10.1016/j.fct.2013.11.036 PMID:24309147
- Donnelly KC, Brown KW, Anderson CS, Barbee GC, Safe SH, Mortlemans KE (1990). Metabolism and bacterial mutagenicity of binary mixtures of benzo(a)pyrene and polychlorinated aromatic hydrocarbons. *Environ Mol Mutagen*, 16(4):238–45. doi:<u>10.1002/em.2850160404</u> PMID:2253602
- Donnelly KC, Claxton LD, Huebner HJ, Capizzi JL (1998). Mutagenic interactions of model chemical mixtures. *Chemosphere*, 37(7):1253–61. doi:<u>10.1016/S0045-6535(98)00123-4</u> PMID:<u>9734320</u>
- Dorsey WC, Tchounwou PB, Ford BD (2006). Neuregulin 1-Beta cytoprotective role in AML 12 mouse hepatocytes exposed to pentachlorophenol. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 3(1):11–22. doi:<u>10.3390/ijerph2006030002</u> PMID:<u>16823072</u>
- Dorsey WC, Tchounwou PB, Sutton D (2004). Mitogenic and cytotoxic effects of pentachlorophenol to AML 12 mouse hepatocytes. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 1(2):100–5. doi:10.3390/ijerph2004020100 PMID:16696184
- Dubois M, Plaisance H, Thomé JP, Kremers P (1996). Hierarchical cluster analysis of environmental pollutants through P450 induction in cultured hepatic cells. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf*, 34(3):205–15. doi:<u>10.1006/</u> <u>eesa.1996.0065</u> PMID:<u>8812189</u>
- ECHA (2016). Substance information for pentachlorophenol. European Chemicals Agency. Available from: <u>https://echa.europa.eu/substance-information/-/</u> <u>substanceinfo/100.001.617</u>.
- Ehrlich W (1990). The effect of pentachlorophenol and its metabolite tetrachlorohydroquinone on cell growth and the induction of DNA damage in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Mutat Res*, 244(4):299–302. doi:10.1016/0165-7992(90)90076-V PMID:2385245
- Embree V, Enarson DA, Chan-Yeung M, DyBuncio A, Dennis R, Leach J (1984). Occupational exposure to chlorophenates: toxicology and respiratory effects. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol, 22(4):317–29. doi:10.3109/15563658408992563 PMID:6527396
- Engel LS, Seixas NS, Keifer MC, Longstreth WT Jr, Checkoway H (2001). Validity study of self-reported pesticide exposure among orchardists. *J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol*, 11(5):359–68. doi:<u>10.1038/</u> <u>sj.jea.7500176</u> PMID:<u>11687909</u>
- EPA (2008). Environmental fate and transport assessment of pentachlorophenol (PCP) for Reregistration Eligibility Decision (RED) process. Washington (DC), USA: United States Environmental Protection Agency.

- EPA (2010a). Toxicological review of pentachlorophenol (CAS No. 87-86-5). In support of summary information on the Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS). Washington (DC), USA: United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- EPA (2010b). Recommended toxicity equivalence factors (TEFs) for human health risk assessments of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin and dioxin-like compounds. Report No. EPA/100/R-10/005. Washington (DC), USA: United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- EPA (2015a). Interactive Chemical Safety for Sustainability (iCSS) Dashboard . Washington (DC), USA: United States Environmental Protection Agency. Available from: https://actor.epa.gov/dashboard/.
- EPA (2015b). ToxCast Data. Toxicity forecasting. Washington (DC), USA: United States Environmental Protection Agency. Available from: <u>http://epa.gov/</u><u>ncct/toxcast/data.html</u>.
- EPA (2015c). Animal toxicity studies: effects and end-points (Toxicity Reference Database - ToxCast ToxRefDB files). Washington (DC), USA: United States Environmental Protection Agency. Available from: <u>https://www3.epa.gov/research/COMPTOX/animal</u> toxicity_data.html.
- EPA (2016). Table of regulated drinking water contaminants. National primary drinking water regulations. Ground water and drinking water. Washington (DC), USA: United States Environmental Protection Agency. Available from: <u>https://www. epa.gov/ground-water-and-drinking-water/</u> <u>table-regulated-drinking-water-contaminants</u>.
- Eriksson M, Hardell L, Carlberg M, Akerman M (2008). Pesticide exposure as risk factor for non-Hodgkin lymphoma including histopathological subgroup analysis. *Int J Cancer*, 123(7):1657–63. doi:10.1002/ ijc.23589 PMID:18623080
- European Commission (2007). Corrigendum to Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 December 2006 concerning the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH), establishing a European Chemicals Agency, amending Directive 1999/45/EC and repealing Council Regulation (EEC) No 793/93 and Commission Regulation (EC) No 1488/94 as well as Council Directive 76/769/EEC and Commission Directives 91/155/EEC, 93/67/EEC, 93/105/EC and 2000/21/EC. Off J Eur Union L, 136:3.
- European Commission (2014). Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 December 2006. *Off J Eur Union L*, 136:29.
- Fahrig R (1974). Comparative mutagenicity studies with pesticides. In: Montesano R, Tomatis L, editors. Chemical carcinogenesis essays. *IARC Scientific Publication No. 10.* Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer; pp. 161–178.

- Fahrig R, Nilsson CA, Rappe C (1978). Genetic activity of chlorophenols and chlorophenol impurities. In: Ranga Rao K, editor. Pentachlorophenol. Chemistry, pharmacology, and environmental toxicology. New York, USA: Plenum Press; pp. 325–38. doi:10.1007/978-1-4615-8948-8_28
- Fang Q, Shi X, Zhang L, Wang Q, Wang X, Guo Y, et al. (2015). Effect of titanium dioxide nanoparticles on the bioavailability, metabolism, and toxicity of pentachlorophenol in zebrafish larvae. *J Hazard Mater*, 283:897– 904. doi:<u>10.1016/j.jhazmat.2014.10.039</u> PMID:<u>25464334</u>
- Farah MA, Ateeq B, Ahmad W (2006). Antimutagenic effect of neem leaves extract in freshwater fish, Channa punctatus evaluated by cytogenetic tests. *Sci Total Environ*, 364(1-3):200–14. doi:<u>10.1016/j.scitotenv.2005.07.008</u> PMID:<u>16169061</u>
- Farah MA, Ateeq B, Ali MN, Ahmad W (2003). Evaluation of genotoxicity of PCP and 2,4-D by micronucleus test in freshwater fish Channa punctatus. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf*, 54(1):25–9. doi:10.1016/S0147-6513(02)00037-4 PMID:12547631
- Favaro G, De Leo D, Pastore P, Magno F, Ballardin A (2008). Quantitative determination of chlorophenols in leather by pressurized liquid extraction and liquid chromatography with diode-array detection. *J Chromatogr A*, 1177(1):36–42. doi:10.1016/j.chroma.2007.10.106 PMID:18045610
- Ferreira AJ, Vieira DN, Marques EP, Pedro IS (1997). Occupational exposure to pentachlorophenol: the Portuguese situation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 837(1):291–9. doi:<u>10.1111/j.1749-6632.1997.tb56881.x</u> PMID:<u>9472347</u>
- Filer D, Patisaul HB, Schug T, Reif D, Thayer K (2014). Test driving ToxCast: endocrine profiling for 1858 chemicals included in phase II. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, 19:145–52. doi:<u>10.1016/j.coph.2014.09.021</u> PMID:<u>25460227</u>
- Flesch-Janys D, Becher H, Gurn P, Jung D, Konietzko J, Manz A, et al. (1996). Elimination of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans in occupationally exposed persons. J Toxicol Environ Health, 47(4):363–78. doi:10.1080/009841096161708 PMID:8600289
- Forsell JH, Shull LR, Kateley JR (1981). Subchronic administration of technical pentachlorophenol to lactating dairy cattle: immunotoxicologic evaluation. *J Toxicol Environ Health*, 8(4):543–58. doi:10.1080/15287398109530090 PMID:7200151
- Friesen MC, Davies HW, Teschke K, Ostry AS, Hertzman C, Demers PA (2007). Impact of the specificity of the exposure metric on exposure-response relationships. *Epidemiology*, 18(1):88–94. doi:10.1097/01. ede.0000249558.18960.6b PMID:17130686
- Friesen MC, Lavoue J, Teschke K, van Tongeren M (2015). Occupational exposure assessment in industryand population-based epidemiologic studies. In: Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, editor. Exposure assessment in

environmental epidemiology. 2nd ed. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.

- Galloway SM, Armstrong MJ, Reuben C, Colman S, Brown B, Cannon C, et al. (1987). Chromosome aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in Chinese hamster ovary cells: evaluations of 108 chemicals. *Environ Mol Mutagen*, 10(S10):1–175. doi:10.1002/em.2850100502 PMID:3319609
- Ge J, Pan J, Fei Z, Wu G, Giesy JP (2007). Concentrations of pentachlorophenol (PCP) in fish and shrimp in Jiangsu Province, China. *Chemosphere*, 69(1):164–9. doi:<u>10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.04.025</u> PMID:<u>17537482</u>
- George SE, Chadwick RW, Creason JP, Kohan MJ, Dekker JP, O'Neill JP (1991). Effect of pentachlorophenol on the activation of 2,6-dinitrotoluene to genotoxic urinary metabolites in CD-1 mice: a comparison of GI enzyme activities and urine mutagenicity. *Environ Mol Mutagen*, 18(2):92–101. doi:<u>10.1002/em.2850180203</u> PMID:<u>1879408</u>
- Geyer HJ, Scheunert I, Korte F (1987). Distribution and bioconcentration potential of the environmental chemical pentachlorophenol (PCP) in different tissues of humans. *Chemosphere*, 16(4):887–99. doi:10.1016/0045-6535(87)90022-1
- GichnerT, WagnerED, PlewaMJ (1998). Pentachlorophenolmediated mutagenic synergy with aromatic amines in Salmonella typhimurium. *Mutat Res*, 420(1-3):115–24. doi:<u>10.1016/S1383-5718(98)00143-0</u> PMID:<u>9838073</u>
- Gilbert FI Jr, Minn CE, Duncan RC, Wilkinson J (1990). Effects of pentachlorophenol and other chemical preservatives on the health of wood-treating workers in Hawaii. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol*, 19(4):603–9. doi:10.1007/BF01059082 PMID:2386415
- Gómez-Catalán J, To-Figueras J, Planas J, Rodamilans M, Corbella J (1987). Pentachlorophenol and hexachlorobenzene in serum and urine of the population of Barcelona. *Hum Toxicol*, 6(5):397–400. doi:<u>10.1177/096032718700600509</u> PMID:<u>3679248</u>
- Gopalaswamy UV, Nair CK (1992). DNA binding and mutagenicity of lindane and its metabolites. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 49(2):300–5. doi:10.1007/ <u>BF00191771</u> PMID:1377069
- Grimm HG, Schellmann B, Schaller KH, Gossler K (1981). [Pentachlorophenol concentrations in tissues and body fluids of normal persons (author's transl).] Zentralbl Bakteriol Mikrobiol Hyg B, 174(1-2):77–90. [German] PMID:7324621
- Gulcan HO, Liu Y, Duffel MW (2008). Pentachlorophenol and other chlorinated phenols are substrates for human hydroxysteroid sulfotransferase hSULT2A1. *Chem Res Toxicol*, 21(8):1503–8. doi:<u>10.1021/tx800133d</u> PMID:<u>18656962</u>
- Guvenius DM, Aronsson A, Ekman-Ordeberg G, Bergman A, Norén K (2003). Human prenatal and postnatal exposure to polybrominated diphenyl ethers,

polychlorinated biphenyls, polychlorobiphenylols, and pentachlorophenol. *Environ Health Perspect*, 111(9):1235–41. doi:10.1289/ehp.5946 PMID:12842779

- Haley TJ (1977). Human poisoning with pentachlorophenol and its treatment. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf*, 1(3):343–7. doi:10.1016/0147-6513(77)90025-2 PMID:617097
- Hardell L, Eriksson M (1999). A case-control study of non-Hodgkin lymphoma and exposure to pesticides. *Cancer*, 85(6):1353–60. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19990315)85:6<1353::AID-CNCR19>3.0.CO;2-1 PMID:10189142
- Hardell L, Eriksson M, Degerman A (1994). Exposure to phenoxyacetic acids, chlorophenols, or organic solvents in relation to histopathology, stage, and anatomical localization of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Cancer Res*, 54(9):2386–9. PMID:<u>8162585</u>
- Hardell L, Eriksson M, Degerman A (1995). Metaanalysis of 4 Swedish case-control studies on exposure to pesticides as risk-factor for soft-tissue sarcoma including the relation to tumor-localization and histopathological type. *Int J Oncol*, 6(4):847–51. PMID:<u>21556610</u>
- Hardell L, Eriksson M, Lenner P, Lundgren E (1981).
 Malignant lymphoma and exposure to chemicals, especially organic solvents, chlorophenols and phenoxy acids: a case-control study. *Br J Cancer*, 43(2):169–76. doi:10.1038/bjc.1981.25 PMID:7470379
- Hardell L, Eriksson M, Nordstrom M (2002). Exposure to pesticides as risk factor for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and hairy cell leukemia: pooled analysis of two Swedish case-control studies. *Leuk Lymphoma*, 43(5):1043–9. doi:10.1080/10428190290021560 PMID:12148884
- Hattemer-Frey HA, Travis CC (1989). Pentachlorophenol: environmental partitioning and human exposure. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol*, 18(4):482–9. doi:<u>10.1007/</u> <u>BF01055013</u> PMID:<u>2673066</u>
- Haworth S, Lawlor T, Mortelmans K, Speck W, Zeiger E (1983). Salmonella mutagenicity test results for 250 chemicals. *Environ Mutagen*, 5(S1):1–142. doi:10.1002/em.2860050703 PMID:6365529
- Heacock H, Hertzman C, Demers PA, Gallagher R, Hogg RS, Teschke K, et al. (2000). Childhood cancer in the offspring of male sawmill workers occupationally exposed to chlorophenate fungicides. *Environ Health Perspect*, 108(6):499–503. doi:10.1289/ehp.00108499 PMID:10856022
- Helleday T, Tuominen KL, Bergman A, Jenssen D (1999). Brominated flame retardants induce intragenic recombination in mammalian cells. *Mutat Res*, 439(2):137–47. doi:10.1016/S1383-5718(98)00186-7 PMID:10023042
- Henschler R, Appel KE, Heyworth CM, Glatt H (2001). Proliferation and differentiation of murine haemopoietic progenitor cells in stroma-free culture in the presence of metabolites of chlorinated pesticides. *Toxicol In Vitro*, 15(1):31–7. doi:10.1016/S0887-2333(00)00056-4 PMID:11259867

- Hertzman C, Teschke K, Dimich-Ward H, Ostry A (1988). Validity and reliability of a method for retrospective evaluation of chlorophenate exposure in the lumber industry. *Am J Ind Med*, 14(6):703–13. doi:<u>10.1002/</u> <u>ajim.4700140609</u> PMID:<u>3232688</u>
- Hertzman C, Teschke K, Ostry A, Hershler R, Dimich-Ward H, Kelly S, et al. (1997). Mortality and cancer incidence among sawmill workers exposed to chlorophenate wood preservatives. Am J Public Health, 87(1):71–9. doi:10.2105/AJPH.87.1.71 PMID:9065230
- Heudorf U, Letzel S, Peters M, Angerer J (2000). PCP in the blood plasma: current exposure of the population in Germany, based on data obtained in 1998. *Int J Hyg Environ Health*, 203(2):135–9. doi:10.1078/S1438-4639(04)70018-8 PMID:11109565
- Hibi D, Suzuki Y, Ishii Y, Jin M, Watanabe M, Sugita-Konishi Y, et al. (2011). Site-specific in vivo mutagenicity in the kidney of gpt delta rats given a carcinogenic dose of ochratoxin A. *Toxicol Sci*, 122(2):406–14. doi:<u>10.1093/toxsci/kfr139</u> PMID:<u>21622941</u>
- Hill RH Jr, Head SL, Baker S, Gregg M, Shealy DB, Bailey SL, et al. (1995). Pesticide residues in urine of adults living in the United States: reference range concentrations. *Environ Res*, 71(2):99–108. doi:10.1006/enrs.1995.1071 PMID:8977618
- Hill RH Jr, To T, Holler JS, Fast DM, Smith SJ, Needham LL, et al. (1989). Residues of chlorinated phenols and phenoxy acid herbicides in the urine of Arkansas children. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol*, 18(4):469–74. doi:10.1007/BF01055011 PMID:2774664
- Hillam RP, Greichus YA (1983). Effects of purified pentachlorophenol on the serum proteins of young pigs. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol, 31(5):599–604. doi:10.1007/ BF01605482 PMID:6196068
- Holsapple MP, McNerney PJ, McCay JA (1987). Effects of pentachlorophenol on the in vitro and in vivo antibody response. *J Toxicol Environ Health*, 20(3):229–39. doi:10.1080/15287398709530977 PMID:3820337
- Hong HC, Zhou HY, Luan TG, Lan CY (2005). Residue of pentachlorophenol in freshwater sediments and human breast milk collected from the Pearl River Delta, China. *Environ Int*, 31(5):643–9. doi:<u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>envint.2004.11.002</u> PMID:<u>15910960</u>
- Hopkins AL, Groom CR, Alex A (2004). Ligand efficiency: a useful metric for lead selection. *Drug Discov Today*, 9(10):430–1. doi:10.1016/S1359-6446(04)03069-7 PMID:15109945
- Hughes BJ, Forsell JH, Sleight SD, Kuo C, Shull LR (1985). Assessment of pentachlorophenol toxicity in newborn calves: clinicopathology and tissue residues. *J Anim Sci*, 61(6):1587–603. doi:<u>10.2527/jas1985.6161587x</u> PMID:<u>3936833</u>
- Hurd T, Walker J, Whalen MM (2012). Pentachlorophenol decreases tumor-cell-binding capacity and cell-surface protein expression of human natural killer cells.

J Appl Toxicol, 32(8):627–34. doi:<u>10.1002/jat.1781</u> PMID:<u>22912977</u>

- IARC (1991). Occupational exposures in insecticide application, and some pesticides. *IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum*, 53:5–586. Available from: <u>http://publications.iarc.fr/71</u> PMID:<u>1688189</u>
- IARC (1997). Polychlorinated dibenzo-para-dioxins and polychlorinated dibenzofurans. *IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum*, 69:1–631. Available from: <u>http://</u> <u>publications.iarc.fr/87</u> PMID:<u>9379504</u>
- IARC (1999). Re-evaluation of some organic chemicals, hydrazine and hydrogen peroxide. *IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum*, 71:1–315. Available from: <u>http://</u> <u>publications.iarc.fr/89</u> PMID:<u>10507919</u>
- IARC (2017). Some organophosphate insecticides and herbicides. *IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum*, 112:1-452. Available from: <u>http://publications.iarc.</u> <u>fr/549</u>.
- IFA (2016). GESTIS International limit values. Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfallversicherung. Available from: <u>http://limitvalue.</u> <u>ifa.dguv.de/</u>.
- INERIS (2011). Pentachlorophenol. Villeurbanne, France. Institut national de l'environnement industriel et des risques (INERIS). Available from: <u>https://www.ineris.</u> <u>fr/substance/getDocument/2818</u>.
- Innes JR, Ulland BM, Valerio MG, Petrucelli L, Fishbein L, Hart ER, et al. (1969). Bioassay of pesticides and industrial chemicals for tumorigenicity in mice: a preliminary note. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 42(6):1101–14. PMID:5793189
- Ishihara A, Nishiyama N, Sugiyama S, Yamauchi K (2003). The effect of endocrine disrupting chemicals on thyroid hormone binding to Japanese quail transthyretin and thyroid hormone receptor. *Gen Comp Endocrinol*, 134(1):36–43. doi:10.1016/S0016-6480(03)00197-7 PMID:13129501
- Jakobson I, Yllner S (1971). Metabolism of 14 C-pentachlorophenol in the mouse. *Acta Pharmacol Toxicol (Copenh)*, 29(5):513–24. PMID:<u>4940582</u>
- Jandacek RJ, Rider T, Yang Q, Woollett LA, Tso P (2009). Lymphatic and portal vein absorption of organochlorine compounds in rats. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 296(2):G226–34. doi:<u>10.1152/ajpgi.90517.2008</u> PMID:<u>19056760</u>
- Jansson K, Jansson V (1986). Inability of chlorophenols to induce 6-thioguanine-resistant mutants in V79 Chinese hamster cells. *Mutat Res*, 171(2-3):165–8. doi:<u>10.1016/0165-1218(86)90050-9</u> PMID:<u>3748065</u>
- Jansson K, Jansson V (1991). Induction of mutation in V79 Chinese hamster cells by tetrachlorohydroquinone, a metabolite of pentachlorophenol. *Mutat Res*, 260(1):83–7. doi:10.1016/0165-1218(91)90083-X PMID:2027344

- Jansson K, Jansson V (1992). Induction of micronuclei in V79 Chinese hamster cells by tetrachlorohydroquinone, a metabolite of pentachlorophenol. *Mutat Res*, 279(3):205–8. doi:10.1016/0165-1218(92)90068-B PMID:1377336
- Jin BM, Wang FM, Xiong L, Zhang XZ, Liu Y (2012). [Effects of pentachlorophenol on DNA damage and cytotoxicity of HeLa cells.] *Huan Jing Ke Xue*, 33(2):658–64. [Chinese] PMID:22509612
- Jones RD, Winter DP, Cooper AJ (1986). Absorption study of pentachlorophenol in persons working with wood preservatives. *Hum Toxicol*, 5(3):189–94. doi:10.1177/096032718600500307 PMID:2872154
- Jorens PG, Janssens JJ, van Tichelen WI, van Paesschen W, de Deyn PP, Schepens PJ (1991). Pentachlorophenol concentrations in human cerebrospinal fluid. *Neurotoxicology*, 12(1):1–7. PMID:2014066
- Jorens PG, Schepens PJ (1993). Human pentachlorophenol poisoning. *Hum Exp Toxicol*, 12(6):479–95. doi:10.1177/096032719301200605 PMID:7904464
- Juhl U, Witte I, Butte W (1985). Metabolism of pentachlorophenol to tetrachlorohydroquinone by human liver homogenate. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 35(5):596– 601. doi:<u>10.1007/BF01636560</u> PMID:<u>4074922</u>
- Kalman DA (1984). Determination of pentachlorophenol and 2,3,4,6-tetrachlorophenol in human urine by high resolution gas chromatography. *J Chromatogr Sci*, 22(10):452–5. doi:<u>10.1093/chromsci/22.10.452</u> PMID:<u>6501528</u>
- Kanno J, Aisaki K, Igarashi K, Kitajima S, Matsuda N, Morita K, et al. (2013). Oral administration of pentachlorophenol induces interferon signaling mRNAs in C57BL/6 male mouse liver. J Toxicol Sci, 38(4):643–54. doi:10.2131/jts.38.643 PMID:23892564
- Karci A (2014). Degradation of chlorophenols and alkylphenol ethoxylates, two representative textile chemicals, in water by advanced oxidation processes: the state of the art on transformation products and toxicity. *Chemosphere*, 99:1–18. doi:10.1016/j. chemosphere.2013.10.034 PMID:24216260
- Karlsson L, Cragin L, Center G, Giguere C, Comstock J, Boccuzzo L, et al. (2013). Pentachlorophenol contamination of private drinking water from treated utility poles. *Am J Public Health*, 103(2):276–7. doi:10.2105/ <u>AJPH.2012.300910</u> PMID:23237185
- Kauppinen T, Lindroos L (1985). Chlorophenol exposure in sawmills. *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J*, 46(1):34–8. doi:<u>10.1080/15298668591394347</u> PMID:<u>4025149</u>
- Kauppinen TP, Pannett B, Marlow DA, Kogevinas M (1994). Retrospective assessment of exposure through modeling in a study on cancer risks among workers exposed to phenoxy herbicides, chlorophenols and dioxins. *Scand J Work Environ Health*, 20(4):262–71. doi:10.5271/sjweh.1399 PMID:7801071

- Kavlock R, Chandler K, Houck K, Hunter S, Judson R, Kleinstreuer N, et al. (2012). Update on EPA's ToxCast program: providing high throughput decision support tools for chemical risk management. *Chem Res Toxicol*, 25(7):1287–302. doi:<u>10.1021/tx3000939</u> PMID:<u>22519603</u>
- Kawaguchi M, Morohoshi K, Saita E, Yanagisawa R, Watanabe G, Takano H, et al. (2008). Developmental exposure to pentachlorophenol affects the expression of thyroid hormone receptor beta1 and synapsin I in brain, resulting in thyroid function vulnerability in rats. *Endocrine*, 33(3):277–84. doi:<u>10.1007/s12020-008-9086-6</u> PMID:<u>19082768</u>
- Kerkvliet NI, Baecher-Steppan L, Claycomb AT, Craig AM, Sheggeby GG (1982a). Immunotoxicity of technical pentachlorophenol (PCP-T): depressed humoral immune responses to T-dependent and T-independent antigen stimulation in PCP-T exposed mice. *Fundam Appl Toxicol*, 2(2):90–9. doi:10.1016/S0272-0590(82)80121-8 PMID:6764429
- Kerkvliet NI, Baecher-Steppan L, Schmitz JA (1982b). Immunotoxicity of pentachlorophenol (PCP): increased susceptibility to tumor growth in adult mice fed technical PCP-contaminated diets. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 62(1):55–64. doi:<u>10.1016/0041-008X(82)90101-6</u> PMID:<u>6278678</u>
- Kerkvliet NI, Brauner JA, Baecher-Steppan L (1985a). Effects of dietary technical pentachlorophenol exposure on T cell, macrophage and natural killer cell activity in C57Bl/6 mice. *Int J Immunopharmacol*, 7(2):239–47. doi:10.1016/0192-0561(85)90032-3 PMID:3159692
- Kerkvliet NI, Brauner JA, Matlock JP (1985b). Humoral immunotoxicity of polychlorinated diphenyl ethers, phenoxyphenols, dioxins and furans present as contaminants of technical grade pentachlorophenol. *Toxicology*, 36(4):307–24. doi:<u>10.1016/0300-</u> <u>483X(85)90033-2</u> PMID:<u>4049436</u>
- Kimbrough RD, Linder RE (1978). The effect of technical and purified pentachlorophenol on the rat liver. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 46(1):151–62. doi:<u>10.1016/0041-</u> <u>008X(78)90146-1</u> PMID:<u>725940</u>
- Kimura T, Kuroki K, Doi K (1998). Dermatotoxicity of agricultural chemicals in the dorsal skin of hairless dogs. *Toxicol Pathol*, 26(3):442–7. doi:10.1177/019262339802600319 PMID:9608651
- Kleinman GD, Horstman SW, Kalman DA, McKenzie J, Stansel D (1986). Industrial hygiene, chemical and biological assessments of exposures to a chlorinated phenolic sapstain control agent. *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J*, 47(12):731–41. doi:10.1080/15298668691390584 PMID:3799472
- Klemmer HW, Wong L, Sato MM, Reichert EL, Korsak RJ, Rashad MN (1980). Clinical findings in workers exposed to pentachlorophenol. *Arch Environ Contam*

Toxicol, 9(6):715–25. doi:<u>10.1007/BF01055546</u> PMID:<u>7469482</u>

- Klobučar GI, Stambuk A, Srut M, Husnjak I, Merkaš M, Traven L, et al. (2011). Aporrectodea caliginosa, a suitable earthworm species for field based genotoxicity assessment? *Environ Pollut*, 159(4):841–9. doi:<u>10.1016/j.envpol.2011.01.009</u> PMID:<u>21292364</u>
- Kobayashi J, Sakai M, Kajihara H, Takahashi Y (2008). Temporal trends and sources of PCDD/Fs, pentachlorophenol and chlornitrofen in paddy field soils along the Yoneshiro River basin, Japan. *Environ Pollut*, 156(3):1233–42. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2008.03.012 PMID:18479793
- Kogevinas M, Kauppinen T, Winkelmann R, Becher H, Bertazzi PA, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, et al. (1995). Soft tissue sarcoma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in workers exposed to phenoxy herbicides, chlorophenols, and dioxins: two nested case-control studies. *Epidemiology*, 6(4):396–402. doi:10.1097/00001648-199507000-00012 PMID:7548348
- Kontsas H, Rosenberg C, Pfäffli P, Jäppinen P (1995). Gas chromatographic-mass spectrometric determination of chlorophenols in the urine of sawmill workers with past use of chlorophenol-containing anti-stain agents. Analyst (Lond), 120(6):1745–9. doi:10.1039/ AN9952001745 PMID:7604957
- Kutz FW, Cook BT, Carter-Pokras OD, Brody D, Murphy RS (1992). Selected pesticide residues and metabolites in urine from a survey of the U.S. general population. *J Toxicol Environ Health*, 37(2):277–91. doi:10.1080/15287399209531670 PMID:1404486
- Lambert J, Schepens P, Janssens J, Dockx P (1986). Skin lesions as a sign of subacute pentachlorophenol intoxication. *Acta Derm Venereol*, 66(2):170–2. PMID:2424245
- Lang D, Mueller-Ruchholtz W (1991). Human lymphocyte reactivity after in vitro exposure to technical and analytical grade pentachlorophenol. *Toxicology*, 70(3):271–82. doi:<u>10.1016/0300-483X(91)90002-I</u> PMID:<u>1771635</u>
- Larsen RV, Kirsch LE, Shaw SM, Christian JE, Born GS (1972). Excretion and tissue distribution of uniformly labeled 14 C-pentachlorophenol in rats. *J Pharm Sci*, 61(12):2004–6. doi:<u>10.1002/jps.2600611229</u> PMID:<u>4638118</u>
- Leet TL, Collins JJ (1991). Chloracne and pentachlorophenol operations. *Am J Ind Med*, 20(6):815–8. doi:<u>10.1002/ajim.4700200616</u> PMID:<u>1839594</u>
- Leighty EG, Fentiman AF Jr (1982). Conjugation of pentachlorophenol to palmitic acid by liver microsomes. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol, 28(3):329–33. doi:10.1007/ <u>BF01608516</u> PMID:7082874
- Lemaire G, Mnif W, Mauvais P, Balaguer P, Rahmani R (2006). Activation of alpha- and beta-estrogen receptors by persistent pesticides in reporter cell lines. *Life Sci*, 79(12):1160–9. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2006.03.023 PMID:16626760

- Leuenberger C, Ligocki MP, Pankow JF (1985). Trace organic compounds in rain. 4. Identities, concentrations, and scavenging mechanisms for phenols in urban air and rain. *Environ Sci Technol*, 19(11):1053–8. doi:10.1021/es00141a005 PMID:22288749
- Lide DR, editor (1997). CRC handbook of chemistry and physics. 78th ed. Boca Raton (FL), USA: CRC Press.
- Lilienblum W (1985). Formation of pentachlorophenol glucuronide in rat and human liver microsomes. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 34(6):893–4. doi:<u>10.1016/0006-2952(85)90771-3</u> PMID:<u>3977960</u>
- Lin CH, Leow HT, Huang SC, Nakamura J, Swenberg JA, Lin PH (2005). Induction of cytotoxicity, aldehydic DNA lesions, and poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 activation by catechol derivatives of pentachlorophenol in calf thymus DNA and in human breast cancer cells. *Chem Res Toxicol*, 18(2):257–64. doi:<u>10.1021/tx0498511</u> PMID:<u>15720130</u>
- Lin PH, La DK, Upton PB, Swenberg JA (2002). Analysis of DNA adducts in rats exposed to pentachlorophenol. *Carcinogenesis*, 23(2):365–9. doi:<u>10.1093/</u> <u>carcin/23.2.365</u> PMID:<u>11872646</u>
- Lin PH, Waidyanatha S, Pollack GM, Rappaport SM (1997). Dosimetry of chlorinated quinone metabolites of pentachlorophenol in the livers of rats and mice based upon measurement of protein adducts. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 145(2):399–408. doi:10.1006/ taap.1997.8207 PMID:9266814
- Lin PH, Waidyanatha S, Pollack GM, Swenberg JA, Rappaport SM (1999). Dose-specific production of chlorinated quinone and semiquinone adducts in rodent livers following administration of pentachlorophenol. *Toxicol Sci*, 47(1):126–33. doi:10.1093/toxsci/47.1.126 PMID:10048161
- Lindroos L, Koskinen H, Mutanen P, Järvisalo J (1987). Urinary chlorophenols in sawmill workers. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 59(5):463–7. doi:<u>10.1007/</u> <u>BF00377840</u> PMID:<u>3653991</u>
- Luo Y, Wang XR, Ji LL, Su Y (2009). EPR detection of hydroxyl radical generation and its interaction with antioxidant system in Carassius auratus exposed to pentachlorophenol. *J Hazard Mater*, 171(1-3):1096–102. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.06.132 PMID:19683864
- Ma Y, Liu C, Lam PK, Wu RS, Giesy JP, Hecker M, et al. (2011). Modulation of steroidogenic gene expression and hormone synthesis in H295R cells exposed to PCP and TCP. *Toxicology*, 282(3):146–53. doi:<u>10.1016/j.tox.2011.01.024</u> PMID:<u>21296122</u>
- MacNeil JD, Patterson JR, Fesser AC, Martz VK (1990). Determination of pentachlorophenol in animal tissues: a Canadian perspective. J Assoc Off Anal Chem, 73(6):838–41. PMID:2289913
- Mari M, Nadal M, Schuhmacher M, Domingo JL (2013). Body burden monitoring of dioxins and other organic substances in workers at a hazardous waste incinerator.

Int J Hyg Environ Health, 216(6):728–34. doi:<u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>ijheh.2013.01.003</u> PMID:<u>23419586</u>

- Mari M, Schuhmacher M, Domingo JL (2009). Levels of metals and organic substances in workers at a hazardous waste incinerator: a follow-up study. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 82(4):519–28. doi:<u>10.1007/</u> <u>s00420-008-0350-0</u> PMID:<u>18712406</u>
- Markiewicz KV, Howie LE, Safe SH, Donnelly KC (1996). Mutagenic potential of binary and complex mixtures using different enzyme induction systems. *J Toxicol Environ Health*, 47(5):443–51. doi:10.1080/009841096161591 PMID:8614014
- Marlow DA (1986). Hexachlorobenzene exposure in the production of chlorophenols. *IARC Sci Publ*, 77(77):161–9. PMID:<u>3596705</u>
- Maronpot RR, Nyska A, Foreman JE, Ramot Y (2016). The legacy of the F344 rat as a cancer bioassay model (a retrospective summary of three common F344 rat neoplasms). *Crit Rev Toxicol*, 46(8):641–75. doi:10.1080 /10408444.2016.1174669 PMID:27278595
- Masumura K, Horiguchi M, Nishikawa A, Umemura T, Kanki K, Kanke Y, et al. (2003). Low dose genotoxicity of 2-amino-3,8-dimethylimidazo[4,5-f]quinoxaline (MeIQx) in gpt delta transgenic mice. *Mutat Res*, 541(1-2):91–102. doi:<u>10.1016/S1383-5718(03)00186-4</u> PMID:<u>14568298</u>
- Masunaga S, Takasuga T, Nakanishi J (2001). Dioxin and dioxin-like PCB impurities in some Japanese agrochemical formulations. *Chemosphere*, 44(4):873–85. doi:10.1016/S0045-6535(00)00310-6 PMID:11482680
- Matsumura H, Matsuoka M, Igisu H, Ikeda M (1997). Cooperative inhibition of acetylcholinesterase activities by hexachlorophene in human erythrocytes. *Arch Toxicol*, 71(3):151–6. doi:<u>10.1007/s002040050369</u> PMID:<u>9049051</u>
- McConnachie PR, Zahalsky AC (1991). Immunological consequences of exposure to pentachlorophenol. *Arch Environ Health*, 46(4):249–53. doi:<u>10.1080/00039896.19</u> <u>91.9937456</u> PMID:<u>2069434</u>
- McConnell EE, Huff JE, Hejtmancik M, Peters AC, Persing R (1991). Toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of two grades of pentachlorophenol in B6C3F1 mice. *Fundam Appl Toxicol*, 17(3):519–32. doi:<u>10.1016/0272-0590(91)90202-F</u> PMID:<u>1794655</u>
- McLean D, Eng A, Walls C, Dryson E, Harawira J, Cheng S, et al. (2009). Serum dioxin levels in former New Zealand sawmill workers twenty years after exposure to pentachlorophenol (PCP) ceased. *Chemosphere*, 74(7):962–7. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.10.017 PMID:19036402
- Meissner T, Schweinsberg F (1996). Pentachlorophenol in the indoor environment: evidence for a correlation between pentachlorophenol in passively deposited suspended particulate and in urine of exposed persons. *Toxicol Lett*, 88(1-3):237–42. doi:10.1016/0378-4274(96)03744-7 PMID:8920743

- Michałowicz J (2010). Pentachlorophenol and its derivatives induce oxidative damage and morphological changes in human lymphocytes (in vitro). *Arch Toxicol*, 84(5):379–87. doi:<u>10.1007/s00204-010-0515-y</u> PMID:<u>20127076</u>
- Michałowicz J, Majsterek I (2010). Chlorophenols, chlorocatechols and chloroguaiacols induce DNA base oxidation in human lymphocytes (in vitro). *Toxicology*, 268(3):171–5. doi:<u>10.1016/j.tox.2009.12.009</u> PMID:20025924
- Michałowicz J, Stufka-Olczyk J, Milczarek A, Michniewicz M (2011). Analysis of annual fluctuations in the content of phenol, chlorophenols and their derivatives in chlorinated drinking waters. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int*, 18(7):1174–83. doi:<u>10.1007/s11356-011-0469-5</u> PMID:21340464
- Mikoczy Z, Hagmar L (2005). Cancer incidence in the Swedish leather tanning industry: updated findings 1958-99. Occup Environ Med, 62(7):461–4. doi:<u>10.1136/</u> <u>oem.2004.017038</u> PMID:<u>15961622</u>
- Mikoczy Z, Schütz A, Hagmar L (1994). Cancer incidence and mortality among Swedish leather tanners. *Occup Environ Med*, 51(8):530–5. doi:<u>10.1136/oem.51.8.530</u> PMID:<u>7951777</u>
- Milowska K, Gabryelak T, Dudala J, Labieniec M, Slobozhanina E (2003). Biological activity of pentachlorophenol on the digestive gland cells of the freshwater mussel Unio tumidus. *Z Naturforsch C*, 58(11-12):867– 72. doi:10.1515/znc-2003-11-1222 PMID:14713167
- Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (2016). Cabinet decision, February 2016. Tokyo, Japan: Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. Available from: <u>http://www.mhlw.go.jp/</u>. [Japanese]
- Mirvish SS, Nickols J, Weisenburger DD, Johnson D, Joshi SS, Kaplan P, et al. (1991). Effects of 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid, pentachlorophenol, methylprednisolone, and Freund's adjuvant on 2-hydroxyethylnitrosourea carcinogenesis in MRC-Wistar rats. *J Toxicol Environ Health*, 32(1):59–74. doi:10.1080/15287399109531465 PMID:1987363
- Morgan MK (2015). Predictors of urinary levels of 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid, 3,5,6-trichloro-2pyridinol, 3-phenoxybenzoic acid, and pentachlorophenol in 121 adults in Ohio. *Int J Hyg Environ Health*, 218(5):479–88. doi:<u>10.1016/j.ijheh.2015.03.015</u> PMID:<u>25891895</u>
- Muir J, Eduljee G (1999). PCP in the freshwater and marine environment of the European Union. *Sci Total Environ*, 236(1-3):41–56. doi:<u>10.1016/S0048-9697(99)00281-8</u> PMID:<u>10535143</u>
- Mulder GJ, Scholtens E (1977). Phenol sulphotransferase and uridine diphosphate glucuronyltransferase from rat liver in vivo and vitro. 2,6-Dichloro-4-nitrophenol as selective inhibitor of sulphation. *Biochem J*, 165(3):553–9. doi:10.1042/bj1650553 PMID:411489

- Naito S, Ono Y, Somiya I, Inoue S, Ito K, Yamamoto K, et al. (1994). Role of active oxygen species in DNA damage by pentachlorophenol metabolites. *Mutat Res*, 310(1):79–88. doi:10.1016/0027-5107(94)90011-6 PMID:7523887
- Nam JM, Rice C, Gail MH (2005). Comparison of asbestos exposure assessments by next-of-kin respondents, by an occupational hygienist, and by a job-exposure matrix from the National Occupational Hazard Survey. *Am J Ind Med*, 47(5):443–50. doi:<u>10.1002/ajim.20168</u> PMID:<u>15828074</u>
- Nguyen TN, Bertagnolli AD, Villalta PW, Bühlmann P, Sturla SJ (2005). Characterization of a deoxyguanosine adduct of tetrachlorobenzoquinone: dichlorobenzoquinone-1,N2-etheno-2'-deoxyguanosine. *Chem Res Toxicol*, 18(11):1770–6. doi:<u>10.1021/tx050204z</u> PMID:<u>16300387</u>
- Nishimura H, Nishimura N, Oshima H (1980). Experimental studies on the toxicity of pentachlorophenol. *J Aichi Med Univ Assoc*, 8:203–9.
- Nishimura N, Oshima H (1983). [Mutagenicity of pentachlorophenol, dinitro-o-cresol and their related compounds]. *Sangyo Igaku*, 25(6):510–1. [Japanese] doi:<u>10.1539/joh1959.25.510</u> PMID:<u>6379230</u>
- Nnodu U, Whalen MM (2008). Pentachlorophenol decreases ATP levels in human natural killer cells. *J Appl Toxicol*, 28(8):1016–20. PMID:<u>18623605</u>
- Nordström M, Hardell L, Magnuson A, Hagberg H, Rask-Andersen A (1998). Occupational exposures, animal exposure and smoking as risk factors for hairy cell leukaemia evaluated in a case-control study. *Br J Cancer*, 77(11):2048–52. doi:<u>10.1038/bjc.1998.341</u> PMID:<u>9667691</u>
- NTP (1989). NTP toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of two pentachlorophenol technical-grade mixtures (CAS No. 87-86-5) in B6C3F1 mice (feed studies). *Natl Toxicol Program Tech Rep Ser*, 349:1–265. PMID:<u>12704435</u>
- NTP (1999). NTP toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of pentachlorophenol (CAS No. 87-86-5) in F344/N rats (feed studies). *Natl Toxicol Program Tech Rep Ser*, 483:1–182. PMID:<u>12571680</u>
- O'Malley MA, Carpenter AV, Sweeney MH, Fingerhut MA, Marlow DA, Halperin WE, et al. (1990). Chloracne associated with employment in the production of pentachlorophenol. *Am J Ind Med*, 17(4):411–21. doi:<u>10.1002/</u> <u>ajim.4700170401</u> PMID:<u>2139304</u>
- Ohe T (1979). Pentachlorophenol residues in human adipose tissue. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 22(3):287–92. doi:10.1007/BF02026944 PMID:465796
- OSPAR (2004). Pentachlorophenol. Hazardous substances series. OSPAR Commission 2001 (2004 Update). London, United Kingdom: Committee on the Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic. Available from: http://www.ospar.org/documents?v=6921.

- Ott MG, Messerer P, Zober A (1993). Assessment of past occupational exposure to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin using blood lipid analyses. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 65(1):1–8. doi:<u>10.1007/BF00586050</u> PMID:<u>8354568</u>
- Ozaki A, Yamaguchi Y, Fujita T, Kuroda K, Endo G (2004). Chemical analysis and genotoxicological safety assessment of paper and paperboard used for food packaging. *Food Chem Toxicol*, 42(8):1323–37. doi:<u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>fct.2004.03.010</u> PMID:<u>15207384</u>
- Ozhan D, Anli RE, Vural N, Bayram M (2009). Determination of chloroanisoles and chlorophenols in corkandwinebyusingHS-SPMEandGC-ECDdetection. *J Inst Brew*, 115(1):71–7. doi:<u>10.1002/j.2050-0416.2009.</u> <u>tb00346.x</u>
- ParkJS, Bergman A, Linderholm L, Athanasiadou M, Kocan A, Petrik J, et al. (2008). Placental transfer of polychlorinated biphenyls, their hydroxylated metabolites and pentachlorophenol in pregnant women from eastern Slovakia. *Chemosphere*, 70(9):1676–84. doi:10.1016/j. chemosphere.2007.07.049 PMID:17764717
- Pavlica M, Klobucar GI, Mojas N, Erben R, Papes D (2001). Detection of DNA damage in haemocytes of zebra mussel using comet assay. *Mutat Res*, 490(2):209–14. doi:<u>10.1016/S1383-5718(00)00162-5</u> PMID:<u>11342246</u>
- Pavlica M, Klobucar GI, Vetma N, Erben R, Papes D (2000). Detection of micronuclei in haemocytes of zebra mussel and great ramshorn snail exposed to pentachlorophenol. *Mutat Res*, 465(1-2):145–50. doi:10.1016/ S1383-5718(99)00222-3 PMID:10708980
- Pearce NE, Smith AH, Howard JK, Sheppard RA, Giles HJ, Teague CA (1986a). Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and exposure to phenoxyherbicides, chlorophenols, fencing work, and meat works employment: a case-control study. *Br J Ind Med*, 43(2):75–83. PMID:<u>3753879</u>
- Pearce NE, Smith AH, Howard JK, Sheppard RA, Giles HJ, Teague CA (1986b). Case-control study of multiple myeloma and farming. *Br J Cancer*, 54(3):493–500. doi:10.1038/bjc.1986.202 PMID:3756085
- Pekari K, Luotamo M, Järvisalo J, Lindroos L, Aitio A (1991). Urinary excretion of chlorinated phenols in saw-mill workers. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 63(1):57–62. doi:10.1007/BF00406199 PMID:1856025
- Petit F, Le Goff P, Cravédi JP, Valotaire Y, Pakdel F (1997). Two complementary bioassays for screening the estrogenic potency of xenobiotics: recombinant yeast for trout estrogen receptor and trout hepatocyte cultures. *J Mol Endocrinol*, 19(3):321–35. doi:<u>10.1677/jme.0.0190321</u> PMID:<u>9460653</u>
- Pietsch C, Hollender J, Dorusch F, Burkhardt-Holm P (2014). Cytotoxic effects of pentachlorophenol (PCP) and its metabolite tetrachlorohydroquinone (tetrachlorohydroquinone) on liver cells are modulated by antioxidants. *Cell Biol Toxicol*, 30(4):233–52. doi:10.1007/s10565-014-9283-4 PMID:24996998

- Piskorska-Pliszczynska J, Strucinski P, Mikolajczyk S, Maszewski S, Rachubik J, Pajurek M (2016). Pentachlorophenol from an old henhouse as a dioxin source in eggs and related human exposure. *Environ Pollut*, 208(Pt B):404–12. doi:10.1016/j. envpol.2015.10.007 PMID:26566017
- Pizarro C, González-Sáiz JM, Pérez-del-Notario N (2006). Multiple response optimisation based on desirability functions of a microwave-assisted extraction method for the simultaneous determination of chloroanisoles and chlorophenols in oak barrel sawdust. *J Chromatogr A*, 1132(1-2):8–14. doi:<u>10.1016/j.chroma.2006.07.027</u> PMID:<u>16884729</u>
- Plimmer JR (1973). Technical pentachlorophenol: origin and analysis of base-insoluble contaminants. *Environ Health Perspect*, 5:41–8. doi:<u>10.1289/ehp.730541</u> PMID:<u>4752914</u>
- Proudfoot AT (2003). Pentachlorophenol poisoning. *Toxicol Rev*, 22(1):3–11. doi:<u>10.2165/00139709-</u> <u>200322010-00002</u> PMID:<u>14579543</u>
- PubChem (2018). Pentachlorophenol. Compound summary for CID 992. PubChem. Open Chemistry Database. Bethesda (MD), USA: National Center for Biotechnology Information, United States National Library of Medicine. Available from: https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/ pentachlorophenol#section=Top, accessed March 2018.
- Radon K, Wegner R, Heinrich-Ramm R, Baur X, Poschadel B, Szadkowski D (2004). Chlorophenol exposure in harbor workers exposed to river silt aerosols. *Am J Ind Med*, 45(5):440–5. doi:<u>10.1002/ajim.20002</u> PMID:<u>15095426</u>
- Ramel C, Magnusson J (1979). Chemical induction of nondisjunction in drosophila. *Environ Health Perspect*, 31:59–66. doi:<u>10.1289/ehp.793159</u> PMID:<u>499128</u>
- Ramlow JM, Spadacene NW, Hoag SR, Stafford BA, Cartmill JB, Lerner PJ (1996). Mortality in a cohort of pentachlorophenol manufacturing workers, 1940-1989. *Am J Ind Med*, 30(2):180–94. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0274(199608)30:2<180::AID-AJIM9>3.0.CO;2-4 PMID:8844048
- Reed A, Dzon L, Loganathan BG, Whalen MM (2004). Immunomodulation of human natural killer cell cytotoxic function by organochlorine pesticides. *Hum Exp Toxicol*, 23(10):463–71. doi:<u>10.1191/0960327104ht477oa</u> PMID:<u>15553171</u>
- Reif DM, Martin MT, Tan SW, Houck KA, Judson RS, Richard AM, et al. (2010). Endocrine profiling and prioritization of environmental chemicals using ToxCast data. *Environ Health Perspect*, 118(12):1714– 20. doi:10.1289/ehp.1002180 PMID:20826373
- Reif DM, Sypa M, Lock EF, Wright FA, Wilson A, Cathey T, et al. (2013). ToxPi GUI: an interactive visualization tool for transparent integration of data from diverse sources of evidence. *Bioinformatics*, 29(3):402–3. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/bts686 PMID:23202747

- Reigner BG, Bois FY, Tozer TN (1992a). Assessment of pentachlorophenol exposure in humans using the clearance concept. *Hum Exp Toxicol*, 11(1):17–26. doi:10.1177/096032719201100103 PMID:1354455
- Reigner BG, Bois FY, Tozer TN (1993). Pentachlorophenol carcinogenicity: extrapolation of risk from mice to humans. *Hum Exp Toxicol*, 12(3):215–25. doi:10.1177/096032719301200304 PMID:8100432
- Reigner BG, Gungon RA, Bois FY, Zeise L, Tozer TN (1992b). Pharmacokinetic concepts in assessing intake of pentachlorophenol by rats after exposure through drinking water. *J Pharm Sci*, 81(11):1113–8. doi:10.1002/jps.2600811115 PMID:1447716
- Reigner BG, Gungon RA, Hoag MK, Tozer TN (1991). Pentachlorophenol toxicokinetics after intravenous and oral administration to rat. *Xenobiotica*, 21(12):1547–58. doi:10.3109/00498259109044404 PMID:1785202
- Reigner BG, Rigod JF, Tozer TN (1992c). Disposition, bioavailability, and serum protein binding of pentachlorophenol in the B6C3F1 mouse. *Pharm Res*, 9(8):1053–7. doi:10.1023/A:1015810629245 PMID:1409377
- Renner G, Hopfer C (1990). Metabolic studies on pentachlorophenol (PCP) in rats. *Xenobiotica*, 20(6):573–82. doi:<u>10.3109/00498259009046872</u> PMID:<u>2219952</u>
- Repetto G, Jos A, Hazen MJ, Molero ML, del Peso A, Salguero M, et al. (2001). A test battery for the ecotoxicological evaluation of pentachlorophenol. *Toxicol In Vitro*, 15(4-5):503–9. doi:10.1016/S0887-2333(01)00055-8 PMID:11566584
- Roberts HJ (1983). Aplastic anemia and red cell aplasia due to pentachlorophenol. *South Med J*, 76(1):45–8. doi:<u>10.1097/00007611-198301000-00013</u> PMID:<u>6823577</u>
- Roszell LE, Anderson RS (1993). In vitro immunomodulation by pentachlorophenol in phagocytes from an estuarine teleost, Fundulus heteroclitus, as measured by chemiluminescence activity. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol*, 25(4):492–6. doi:<u>10.1007/BF00214338</u> PMID:<u>8239715</u>
- Rozman T, Ballhorn L, Rozman K, Klaassen C, Greim H (1982). Effect of cholestyramine on the disposition of pentachlorophenolinrhesusmonkeys. *J Toxicol Environ Health*, 10(2):277–83. doi:10.1080/15287398209530250 PMID:7143481
- Ruder AM, Yiin JH (2011). Mortality of US pentachlorophenolproduction workers through 2005. *Chemosphere*, 83(6):851–61. doi:<u>10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.02.064</u> PMID:<u>21440286</u>
- Ryan JJ, Lizotte R, Lewis D (1987). Human tissue levels of PCDDs and PCDFs from a fatal pentachlorophenol poisoning. *Chemosphere*, 16(8–9):1989–96. doi:<u>10.1016/0045-6535(87)90199-8</u>
- Rylander C, Lund E, Frøyland L, Sandanger TM (2012). Predictors of PCP, OH-PCBs, PCBs and chlorinated pesticides in a general female Norwegian population.

Environ Int, 43:13–20. doi:<u>10.1016/j.envint.2012.02.008</u> PMID:<u>22459059</u>

- Sai K, Kang KS, Hirose A, Hasegawa R, Trosko JE, Inoue T (2001). Inhibition of apoptosis by pentachlorophenol in v-myc-transfected rat liver epithelial cells: relation to down-regulation of gap junctional intercellular communication. *Cancer Lett*, 173(2):163–74. doi:10.1016/S0304-3835(01)00616-4 PMID:11597791
- Sai K, Kanno J, Hasegawa R, Trosko JE, Inoue T (2000). Prevention of the down-regulation of gap junctional intercellular communication by green tea in the liver of mice fed pentachlorophenol. *Carcinogenesis*, 21(9):1671–6.doi:10.1093/carcin/21.9.1671 PMID:10964098
- Sai K, Upham BL, Kang KS, Hasegawa R, Inoue T, Trosko JE (1998). Inhibitory effect of pentachlorophenol on gap junctional intercellular communication in rat liver epithelial cells in vitro. *Cancer Lett*, 130(1-2):9–17. doi:10.1016/S0304-3835(98)00082-2 PMID:9751251
- Sai-Kato K, Umemura T, Takagi A, Hasegawa R, Tanimura A, Kurokawa Y (1995). Pentachlorophenol-induced oxidative DNA damage in mouse liver and protective effect of antioxidants. *Food Chem Toxicol*, 33(10):877– 82. doi:10.1016/0278-6915(95)00056-8 PMID:7590532
- Sandau CD, Ayotte P, Dewailly E, Duffe J, Norstrom RJ (2002). Pentachlorophenol and hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyl metabolites in umbilical cord plasma of neonates from coastal populations in Québec. *Environ Health Perspect*, 110(4):411–7. doi:10.1289/ehp.02110411 PMID:11940460
- Schmid E, Bauchinger M, Dresp J (1982). Chromosome analyses of workers from a pentachlorophenol plant. *Prog Clin Biol Res*, 109:471–7. PMID:7167559
- Schmieder PK, Henry TR (1988). Plasma binding of 1-butanol, phenol, nitrobenzene and pentachlorophenol in the rainbow trout and rat: a comparative study. *Comp Biochem Physiol C*, 91(2):413–8. doi:10.1016/0742-8413(88)90052-7 PMID:2905956
- Schuhmacher M, Domingo JL, Agramunt MC, Bocio A, Müller L (2002). Biological monitoring of metals and organic substances in hazardous-waste incineration workers. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 75(7):500–6. doi:10.1007/s00420-002-0340-6 PMID:12172897
- Schulz C, Conrad A, Becker K, Kolossa-Gehring M, Seiwert M, Seifert B (2007). Twenty years of the German Environmental Survey (GerES): human biomonitoring-temporal and spatial (West Germany/ East Germany) differences in population exposure. *Int J Hyg Environ Health*, 210(3-4):271–97. doi:10.1016/j. ijheh.2007.01.034 PMID:17347043
- Schwetz BA, Quast JF, Keeler PA, Humiston CG, Kociba RJ (1978). Results of two-year toxicity and reproduction studies on pentachlorophenol in rats. In: Ranga Rao K, editor. Pentachlorophenol. New York (NY), USA: Plenum Press; pp. 301–309. doi:10.1007/978-1-4615-8948-8_26

- Seifert B, Becker K, Helm D, Krause C, Schulz C, Seiwert M (2000). The German Environmental Survey 1990/1992 (GerES II): reference concentrations of selected environmental pollutants in blood, urine, hair, house dust, drinking water and indoor air. *J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol*, 10(6 Pt 1):552–65. doi:10.1038/sj.jea.7500111 PMID:11140439
- Seniori-Costantini AS, Paci E, Miligi L, Buiatti E, Martelli C, Lenzi S (1989). Cancer mortality among workers in the Tuscan tanning industry. *Br J Ind Med*, 46(6):384–8. PMID:<u>2818971</u>
- Shelley LK, Balfry SK, Ross PS, Kennedy CJ (2009). Immunotoxicological effects of a sub-chronic exposure to selected current-use pesticides in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Aquat Toxicol*, 92(2):95–103. doi:10.1016/j.aquatox.2009.01.005 PMID:19237205
- Shinohara A, Saito K, Yamazoe Y, Kamataki T, Kato R (1986). Inhibition of acetyl-coenzyme A dependent activation of N-hydroxyarylamines by phenolic compounds, pentachlorophenol and 1-nitro-2-naphthol. *Chem Biol Interact*, 60(3):275–85. doi:10.1016/0009-2797(86)90058-X PMID:3791493
- Sipes NS, Martin MT, Kothiya P, Reif DM, Judson RS, Richard AM, et al. (2013). Profiling 976 ToxCast chemicals across 331 enzymatic and receptor signaling assays. *Chem Res Toxicol*, 26(6):878–95. doi:10.1021/ tx400021f PMID:23611293
- Siraki AG, Chan TS, O'Brien PJ (2004). Application of quantitative structure-toxicity relationships for the comparison of the cytotoxicity of 14 p-benzoquinone congeners in primary cultured rat hepatocytes versus PC12 cells. *Toxicol Sci*, 81(1):148–59. doi:<u>10.1093/toxsci/ kfh182</u> PMID:<u>15178806</u>
- Smith AH, Pearce NE, Fisher DO, Giles HJ, Teague CA, Howard JK (1984). Soft tissue sarcoma and exposure to phenoxyherbicides and chlorophenols in New Zealand. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 73(5):1111–7. PMID:<u>6593487</u>
- Smith MT, Guyton KZ, Gibbons CF, Fritz JM, Portier CJ, Rusyn I, et al. (2016). Key characteristics of carcinogens as a basis for organizing data on mechanisms of carcinogenesis. *Environ Health Perspect*, 124(6):713–21. doi:10.1289/ehp.1509912 PMID:26600562
- Spalding JW, French JE, Stasiewicz S, Furedi-Machacek M, Conner F, Tice RR, et al. (2000). Responses of transgenic mouse lines p53(+/-) and Tg.AC to agents tested in conventional carcinogenicity bioassays. *Toxicol Sci*, 53(2):213–23. doi:<u>10.1093/toxsci/53.2.213</u> PMID:<u>10696769</u>
- Stang A, Witte I (2010). The ability of the high-throughput comet assay to measure the sensitivity of five cell lines toward methyl methanesulfonate, hydrogen peroxide, and pentachlorophenol. *Mutat Res*, 701(2):103–6. doi:10.1016/j.mrgentox.2010.04.011 PMID:20399888
- Stockholm Convention (2008). Listing of POPs in the Stockholm Convention. Châtelaine, Switzerland: Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention. Available
from: <u>http://chm.pops.int/TheConvention/ThePOPs/</u> ListingofPOPs.

- Suzuki T, Ide K, Ishida M (2001). Response of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells to some binary mixtures of oestrogenic compounds in-vitro. *J Pharm Pharmacol*, 53(11):1549–54. doi:10.1211/0022357011777927 PMID:11732758
- 't Mannetje A, Kromhout H (2003). The use of occupation and industry classifications in general population studies. *Int J Epidemiol*, 32(3):419–28. doi:<u>10.1093/ije/ dyg080</u> PMID:<u>12777430</u>
- Tasaki M, Kuroiwa Y, Inoue T, Hibi D, Matsushita K, Ishii Y, et al. (2013). Oxidative DNA damage and in vivo mutagenicity caused by reactive oxygen species generated in the livers of p53-proficient or -deficient gpt delta mice treated with non-genotoxic hepatocarcinogens. J Appl Toxicol, 33(12):1433–41. doi:10.1002/ jat.2807 PMID:22972318
- Tasaki M, Kuroiwa Y, Inoue T, Hibi D, Matsushita K, Kijima A, et al. (2014). Lack of nrf2 results in progression of proliferative lesions to neoplasms induced by longterm exposure to non-genotoxic hepatocarcinogens involving oxidative stress. *Exp Toxicol Pathol*, 66(1):19– 26. doi:10.1016/j.etp.2013.07.003 PMID:23988840
- Teschke K, Hertzman C, Dimich-Ward H, Ostry A, Blair J, Hershler R (1989). A comparison of exposure estimates by worker raters and industrial hygienists. *Scand J Work Environ Health*, 15(6):424–9. doi:<u>10.5271/</u> <u>sjweh.1831</u> PMID:<u>2617258</u>
- Teschke K, Marion SA, Ostry A, Hertzman C, Hershler R, Dimich-Ward H, et al. (1996). Reliability of retrospective chlorophenol exposure estimates over five decades. *Am J Ind Med*, 30(5):616–22. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0274(199611)30:5<616::AID-AJIM10>3.0.CO;2-6 PMID:8909611
- Thind KS, Karmali S, House RA (1991). Occupational exposure of electrical utility linemen to pentachlorophenol. *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J*, 52(12):547–52. doi:10.1080/15298669191365180 PMID:1781434
- Thomas P, Wofford HW (1984). Effects of metals and organic compounds on hepatic glutathione, cysteine, and acid-soluble thiol levels in mullet (Mugil cephalus L.). *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 76(1):172–82. doi:10.1016/0041-008X(84)90040-1 PMID:6484987
- TiceRR, AustinCP, KavlockRJ, BucherJR (2013). Improving the human hazard characterization of chemicals: a Tox21 update. *Environ Health Perspect*, 121(7):756–65. doi:<u>10.1289/ehp.1205784</u> PMID:<u>23603828</u>
- Tisch M, Faulde MK, Maier H (2005). Genotoxic effects of pentachlorophenol, lindane, transfluthrin, cyfluthrin, and natural pyrethrum on human mucosal cells of the inferior and middle nasal conchae. *Am J Rhinol*, 19(2):141–51. doi:10.1177/194589240501900206 PMID:15921213

- Tisch M, Lohmeier A, Schmezer P, Bartsch H, Maier H (2001). [Genotoxic effect of the insecticides pentachlorophenol and lindane on human nasal mucosal epithelium]. *Dtsch Med Wochenschr*, 126(30):840–4. [German] doi:10.1055/s-2001-16020 PMID:11512281
- Treble RG, Thompson TS (1996). Normal values for pentachlorophenol in urine samples collected from a general population. *J Anal Toxicol*, 20(5):313–7. doi:<u>10.1093/</u> jat/20.5.313 PMID:<u>8872241</u>
- Trevors JT, Mayfield CI, Inniss WE, Thompson JE (1981). Effect of phenolic antioxidants on the toxicity of pentachlorophenol in short-term bacterial bioassays. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 27(4):433–9. PMID:<u>6796155</u>
- Uhl S, Schmid P, Schlatter C (1986). Pharmacokinetics of pentachlorophenol in man. *Arch Toxicol*, 58(3):182–6. doi:10.1007/BF00340979 PMID:3964082
- Umegaki K, Ichikawa T (1989). Effects of cholesterol feeding on the distribution, metabolism, and accumulation of pentachlorobenzene in rats. *J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo)*, 35(4):291–301. doi:10.3177/jnsv.35.291 PMID:2585149
- Umemura T, Kai S, Hasegawa R, Kanki K, Kitamura Y, Nishikawa A, et al. (2003a). Prevention of dual promoting effects of pentachlorophenol, an environmental pollutant, on diethylnitrosamine-induced hepato- and cholangiocarcinogenesis in mice by green tea infusion. *Carcinogenesis*, 24(6):1105–9. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgg053 PMID:12807750
- Umemura T, Kai S, Hasegawa R, Sai K, Kurokawa Y, Williams GM (1999). Pentachlorophenol (PCP) produces liver oxidative stress and promotes but does not initiate hepatocarcinogenesis in B6C3F1 mice. *Carcinogenesis*, 20(6):1115–20. doi:<u>10.1093/ carcin/20.6.1115</u> PMID:<u>10357797</u>
- Umemura T, Kodama Y, Kanki K, Iatropoulos MJ, NishikawaA,HiroseM,etal. (2003b).Pentachlorophenol (but not phenobarbital) promotes intrahepatic biliary cysts induced by diethylnitrosamine to cholangio cystic neoplasms in B6C3F1 mice possibly due to oxidative stress. *Toxicol Pathol*, 31(1):10–3. doi:10.1080/01926230390173806 PMID:12597444
- Umemura T, Kuroiwa Y, Kitamura Y, Ishii Y, Kanki K, Kodama Y, et al. (2006). A crucial role of Nrf2 in in vivo defense against oxidative damage by an environmental pollutant, pentachlorophenol. *Toxicol Sci*, 90(1):111–9. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfj076 PMID:16352618
- Umemura T, Sai-Kato K, Takagi A, Hasegawa R, Kurokawa Y (1996). Oxidative DNA damage and cell proliferation in the livers of B6C3F1 mice exposed to pentachlorophenol in their diet. *Fundam Appl Toxicol*, 30(2):285–9. doi:10.1006/faat.1996.0066 PMID:8812277
- United Nations (2010). Exploration of management options por pentachlorophenol (PCP). Paper for the 8th meeting of the UNECE CLRTAP Task Force on Persistent Organic Pollutants, Montreal, 18–20 May 2010.

- United States National Technical Information Service (1968). Carcinogenic study. Evaluation of carcinogenic, teratogenic and mutagenic activities of selected pesticides and Industrial chemicals. Volume 1. Washington (DC), USA: United States Department of Commerce.
- Van den Berg M, Birnbaum L, Bosveld AT, Brunström B, Cook P, Feeley M, et al. (1998). Toxic equivalency factors (TEFs) for PCBs, PCDDs, PCDFs for humans and wildlife. *Environ Health Perspect*, 106(12):775–92. doi:10.1289/ehp.98106775 PMID:9831538
- Van den Berg M, Birnbaum LS, Denison M, De Vito M, Farland W, Feeley M, et al. (2006). The 2005 World Health Organization reevaluation of human and Mammalian toxic equivalency factors for dioxins and dioxin-like compounds. *Toxicol Sci*, 93(2):223–41. doi:<u>10.1093/toxsci/kfl055</u> PMID:<u>16829543</u>
- van Ommen B, Adang A, Müller F, van Bladeren PJ (1986). The microsomal metabolism of pentachlorophenol and its covalent binding to protein and DNA. *Chem Biol Interact*, 60(1):1–11. doi:<u>10.1016/0009-2797(86)90013-X</u> PMID:3779880
- Venegas W, Hermosilla I, Quevedo L, Montoya G (1993). Genotoxic and teratogenic effect of pentachlorophenol, pollutant present in continental water bodies in the south of Chile. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 51(1):107– 14. doi:10.1007/BF00201008 PMID:8318762
- Villela IV, de Oliveira IM, da Silva J, Henriques JA (2006). DNA damage and repair in haemolymph cells of golden mussel (Limnoperna fortunei) exposed to environmental contaminants. *Mutat Res*, 605(1-2):78–86. doi:10.1016/j.mrgentox.2006.02.006 PMID:16697250
- Vizethum W, Goerz G (1979). Induction of the hepatic microsomal and nuclear cytochrome P-450 system by hexachlorobenzene, pentachlorophenol and trichlorophenol. *Chem Biol Interact*, 28(2-3):291–9. doi:10.1016/0009-2797(79)90169-8 PMID:317704
- Vodicnik MJ, Glickman AH, Rickert DE, Lech JJ (1980).
 Studies on the disposition and metabolism of pentachloroanisole in female mice. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 56(3):311–6. doi:<u>10.1016/0041-008X(80)90063-0</u> PMID:<u>7222015</u>
- Waidyanatha S, Lin PH, Rappaport SM (1996). Characterization of chlorinated adducts of hemoglobin and albumin following administration of pentachlorophenol to rats. *Chem Res Toxicol*, 9(3):647–53. doi:<u>10.1021/tx950172n</u> PMID:<u>8728511</u>
- Waite DT, Gurprasad NP, Cessna AJ, Quiring DV (1998). Atmospheric pentachlorophenol concentrations in relation to air temperature at five Canadian locations. *Chemosphere*, 37(9-12):2251–60. doi:<u>10.1016/S0045-6535(98)00287-2</u> PMID:<u>9828341</u>
- Walls CB, Glass WI, Pearce NE (1998). Health effects of occupational pentachlorophenol exposure in timber sawmill employees: a preliminary study. N Z Med J, 111(1074):362–4. PMID:<u>11039822</u>

- Wang YJ, Ho YS, Chu SW, Lien HJ, Liu TH, Lin JK (1997). Induction of glutathione depletion, p53 protein accumulation and cellular transformation by tetrachlorohydroquinone, a toxic metabolite of pentachlorophenol. *Chem Biol Interact*, 105(1):1–16. doi:<u>10.1016/</u> S0009-2797(97)00023-9 PMID:9233372
- Wang YJ, Ho YS, Jeng JH, Su HJ, Lee CC (2000). Different cell death mechanisms and gene expression in human cells induced by pentachlorophenol and its major metabolite, tetrachlorohydroquinone. *Chem Biol Interact*, 128(3):173–88. doi:10.1016/S0009-2797(00)00194-0 PMID:11064002
- Wang YJ, Lee CC, Chang WC, Liou HB, Ho YS (2001). Oxidative stress and liver toxicity in rats and human hepatoma cell line induced by pentachlorophenol and its major metabolite tetrachlorohydroquinone. *Toxicol Lett*, 122(2):157–69. doi:10.1016/S0378-4274(01)00361-7 PMID:11439222
- Ward MH, Colt JS, Metayer C, Gunier RB, Lubin J, Crouse V, et al. (2009). Residential exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and organochlorine pesticides and risk of childhood leukemia. *Environ Health Perspect*, 117(6):1007–13. doi:10.1289/ehp.0900583 PMID:19590698
- Waters MD, Sandhu SS, Simmon VF, Mortelmans KE, Mitchell AD, Jorgenson TA, et al. (1982). Study of pesticide genotoxicity. *Basic Life Sci*, 21:275–326. PMID:7150196
- Wester RC, Maibach HI, Sedik L, Melendres J, Wade M, DiZio S (1993). Percutaneous absorption of pentachlorophenol from soil. *Fundam Appl Toxicol*, 20(1):68–71. doi:<u>10.1006/faat.1993.1008</u> PMID:<u>8432428</u>
- White KL Jr, Anderson AC (1985). Suppression of mouse complement activity by contaminants of technical grade pentachlorophenol. *Agents Actions*, 16(5):385– 92. doi:10.1007/BF01982877 PMID:4050617
- WHO (2003). Pentachlorophenol in drinking-water: background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality. WHO/ SDE/WSH/03.04/62. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. Available from: <u>https://www. who.int/water sanitation health/dwq/chemicals/</u> pentachlorophenol.pdf.
- Williams PL (1982). Pentachlorophenol, an assessment of the occupational hazard. *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J*, 43(11):799–810. doi:<u>10.1080/15298668291410602</u> PMID:<u>6762824</u>
- Wilson NK, Chuang JC, Morgan MK, Lordo RA, Sheldon LS (2007). An observational study of the potential exposures of preschool children to pentachlorophenol, bisphenol-A, and nonylphenol at home and daycare. *Environ Res*, 103(1):9–20. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2006.04.006 PMID:16750524
- Wilson NK, Strauss WJ, Iroz-Elardo N, Chuang JC (2010). Exposures of preschool children to chlorpyrifos, diazinon, pentachlorophenol, and

2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid over 3 years from 2003 to 2005: A longitudinal model. *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol*, 20(6):546–58. doi:<u>10.1038/jes.2009.45</u> PMID:<u>19724304</u>

- Wispriyono B, Matsuoka M, Igisu H (2002). Effects of pentachlorophenol and tetrachlorohydroquinone on mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways in Jurkat T cells. *Environ Health Perspect*, 110(2):139–43. doi:10.1289/ehp.02110139 PMID:11836141
- Witte I, Juhl U, Butte W (1985). DNA-damaging properties and cytotoxicity in human fibroblasts of tetrachlorohydroquinone, a pentachlorophenol metabolite. *Mutat Res*, 145(1-2):71–5. PMID:<u>3974605</u>
- Witte I, Zhu BZ, Lueken A, Magnani D, Stossberg H, Chevion M (2000). Protection by desferrioxamine and other hydroxamic acids against tetrachlorohydroquinone-induced cyto- and genotoxicity in human fibroblasts. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 28(5):693–700. doi:10.1016/ S0891-5849(99)00278-6 PMID:10754264
- Wood S, Rom WN, White GL Jr, Logan DC (1983). Pentachlorophenol poisoning. *J Occup Med*, 25(7):527– 30. PMID:<u>6886856</u>
- Woods JS, Polissar L, Severson RK, Heuser LS, Kulander BG (1987). Soft tissue sarcoma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in relation to phenoxyherbicide and chlorinated phenol exposure in western Washington. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 78(5):899–910. PMID:<u>3471999</u>
- Woolson EA, Thomas RF, Ensor PD (1972). Survey of polychlorodibenzo-p-dioxin content in selected pesticides. J Agric Food Chem, 20(2):351–4. doi:10.1021/ jf60180a068 PMID:4622738
- Wyllie JA, Gabica J, Benson WW, Yoder J (1975). Exposure and contamination of the air and employees of a pentachlorophenol plant, Idaho–1972. *Pestic Monit J*, 9(3):150–3. PMID:<u>1241126</u>
- Xu T, Zhao J, Hu P, Dong Z, Li J, Zhang H, et al. (2014). Pentachlorophenol exposure causes Warburg-like effects in zebrafish embryos at gastrulation stage. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 277(2):183–91. doi:<u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>taap.2014.03.004</u> PMID:<u>24642059</u>
- Yin D, Gu Y, Li Y, Wang X, Zhao Q (2006). Pentachlorophenol treatment in vivo elevates point mutation rate in zebrafish p53 gene. *Mutat Res*, 609(1):92–101. doi:<u>10.1016/j.mrgentox.2006.06.025</u> PMID:16904934
- Young JF, Haley TJ (1978). A pharmacokinetic study of pentachlorophenol poisoning and the effect of forced diuresis. *Clin Toxicol*, 12(1):41–8. doi:10.3109/15563657809149582 PMID:630820
- Yu LQ, Zhao GF, Feng M, Wen W, Li K, Zhang PW, et al. (2014). Chronic exposure to pentachlorophenol alters thyroid hormones and thyroid hormone pathway mRNAs in zebrafish. *Environ Toxicol Chem*, 33(1):170–6. doi:10.1002/etc.2408 PMID:24123209

- Yuan J (1993). Modeling blood/plasma concentrations in dosed feed and dosed drinking water toxicology studies. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 119(1):131–41. doi:<u>10.1006/ taap.1993.1052</u> PMID:<u>8470117</u>
- Yuan J (1995). Effects of drinking pattern on the peak/ trough blood concentrations in drinking water studies. *Food Chem Toxicol*, 33(7):565–71. doi:<u>10.1016/0278-6915(95)00027-Y</u> PMID:<u>7628792</u>
- Yuan JH, Goehl TJ, Murrill E, Moore R, Clark J, Hong HL, et al. (1994). Toxicokinetics of pentachlorophenol in the F344 rat. Gavage and dosed feed studies. *Xenobiotica*, 24(6):553–60. doi:<u>10.3109/00498259409043258</u> PMID:<u>7975721</u>
- Yuan JH, Goehl TJ, Murrill E, Moore R, Clark J, Hong L, et al. (1993). Toxicokinetics of pentachloroanisole in F344 rats and B6C3F1 mice. *Xenobiotica*, 23(4):427–38. doi:10.3109/00498259309057031 PMID:8337901
- Zhang M, Yin D, Kong F (2008). The changes of serum testosterone level and hepatic microsome enzyme activity of crucian carp (Carassius carassius) exposed to a sublethal dosage of pentachlorophenol. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf*, 71(2):384–9. doi:10.1016/j. ecoenv.2007.10.014 PMID:18063032
- Zhao B, Liu ZT, Xu ZF (2006a). Assessing the anti-estrogenic activity of sodium pentachlorophenol in primary cultures of juvenile goldfish (Carassius auratus) hepatocytes using vitellogenin as a biomarker. *J Environ Sci* (*China*), 18(3):519–24. PMID:<u>17294650</u>
- Zhao B, Yang J, Liu Z, Xu Z, Qiu Y, Sheng G (2006b). Joint anti-estrogenic effects of PCP and TCDD in primary cultures of juvenile goldfish hepatocytes using vitellogenin as a biomarker. *Chemosphere*, 65(3):359–64. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.02.019 PMID:16571359
- Zheng W, Wang X, Yu H, Tao X, Zhou Y, Qu W (2011). Global trends and diversity in pentachlorophenol levels in the environment and in humans: a meta-analysis. *Environ Sci Technol*, 45(11):4668–75. doi:10.1021/ es1043563 PMID:21528888
- Zheng W, Yu H, Wang X, Qu W (2012). Systematic review of pentachlorophenol occurrence in the environment and in humans in China: not a negligible health risk due to the re-emergence of schistosomiasis. *Environ Int*, 42:105–16. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2011.04.014 PMID:21601283
- Zhu BZ, Chevion M (2000). Mechanism of the synergistic cytotoxicity between pentachlorophenol and copper-1,10-phenanthroline complex: the formation of a lipophilic ternary complex. *Chem Biol Interact*, 129(3):249–61. doi:<u>10.1016/S0009-2797(00)00208-8</u> PMID:11137064
- Zhu BZ, Kitrossky N, Chevion M (2000). Evidence for production of hydroxyl radicals by pentachlorophenol metabolites and hydrogen peroxide: A metal-independent organic Fenton reaction. *Biochem Biophys Res*

Commun, 270(3):942–6. doi:<u>10.1006/bbrc.2000.2539</u> PMID:<u>10772930</u>

- Zhu BZ, Shan GQ (2009). Potential mechanism for pentachlorophenol-induced carcinogenicity: a novel mechanism for metal-independent production of hydroxyl radicals. *Chem Res Toxicol*, 22(6):969–77. doi:<u>10.1021/</u> <u>tx900030v</u> PMID:<u>19408893</u>
- Zhu BZ, Shechtman S, Chevion M (2001). Synergistic cytotoxicity between pentachlorophenol and copper in a bacterial model. *Chemosphere*, 45(4-5):463–70. doi:10.1016/S0045-6535(00)00582-8 PMID:11680742
- Ziemsen B, Angerer J, Lehnert G (1987). Sister chromatid exchange and chromosomal breakage in pentachlorophenol (PCP) exposed workers. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 59(4):413–7. doi:<u>10.1007/BF00405285</u> PMID:<u>3610341</u>

2,4,6-TRICHLOROPHENOL

1. Exposure Data

1.1 Identification of the agent

1.1.1 Nomenclature

Chem. Abstr. Serv. Reg. No.: 88-06-2 Chem. Abstr. Serv. Name: 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol IUPAC Systematic Name: 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol Synonyms: 2,4,6-TCP, Trichlorfenol



Molecular formula: C₆H₃Cl₃O *Relative molecular mass*: 197.46

1.1.2 Chemical and physical properties of the pure substance

Description: Colourless to yellow crystals with a strong phenolic odour (Budavari, 1996; IARC, 1999; NTP, 2016)

Boiling-point: 246 °C (<u>Lide, 1997; IARC, 1999</u>) *Melting-point*: 69 °C (<u>Lide, 1997; IARC, 1999</u>) *Solubility*: Soluble in water (438–1200 mg/L at 25 °C) (<u>Choudhary et al., 2013</u>); soluble in acetone, acetic acid, diethyl ether, benzene, carbon tetrachloride, toluene, and ethanol (<u>Lewis, 1993</u>; <u>Lide, 1997</u>; <u>IARC, 1999</u>; <u>NTP, 2016</u>)

Vapour pressure: 133 Pa at 76.5 °C (United States National Library of Medicine, 1997; IARC, 1999)

Octanol/water partition coefficient: log K_{ow} , 3.69 (<u>NTP, 2016</u>)

Conversion factor: 1 ppm = 8.08 mg/m^3 , at normal temperature (25 °C) and pressure (1 atm)

Dissociation constant (pK_a): 6.23 at 25 °C (NTP, 2016).

1.1.3 Technical products and impurities

(a) Trade names

Omal, Dowicide 2S, Phenaclor (<u>NTP, 1979</u>; <u>ATSDR, 1999</u>)

(b) Impurities

Technical-grade 2,4,6-trichlorophenol (2,4,6-TCP) has been found to contain 2,3,7-trichlorodibenzo-*para*-dioxin, 1,3,6,8-tetrachlorodibenzo*para*-dioxin, 1,3,7,9-tetrachlorodibenzo-*para*-dioxin, 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzofuran, and other tetra-, penta-, and hexachlorodibenzofurans (WHO, 1989; INERIS, 2005). In the USA, 1,3,6,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*para*-dioxin and 2,3,7-trichlorodibenzo*para*-dioxin were found in a commercial sample of 2,4,6-TCP at levels of 49 and 93 mg/kg, respectively (Firestone et al., 1972). In a Swedish sample of 2,4,6-TCP, 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzofuran was found at 1.5 mg/kg, penta-, hexa-, and hepta-chlorodibenzofurans at 17.5, 36, and 4.8 mg/kg, respectively, and polychlorinated dibenzo-*para*-dioxins (PCDDs) at < 3 mg/kg (Rappe et al., 1979).

1.2 Production and use

1.2.1 Production process

2,4,6-TCP was prepared by Laurent in 1836 by the chlorination of phenol, and this method has been used in the USA. In Japan, 2,4,6-TCP is co-produced during the manufacture of *ortho-* or *para*-chlorophenol, in a process also involving the chlorination of phenol (<u>IARC</u>, <u>1979</u>). Distillation allows separation of 2,4,6-TCP from 2,3,4,6-tetrachlorophenol and pentachlorophenol, which are also formed during the reaction (<u>INERIS</u>, 2005).

1.2.2 Production volume

Commercial production of technical-grade 2,4,6-TCP in the USA was first reported in 1950 (IARC, 1979). In 1975, production was discontinued by the only manufacturer in the USA because of the high cost of removing PCDDs (NTP, 2016). In the USA, imports of 2,4,6-TCP totalled 2200 lb [~1000 kg] in 1976, 600 lb [~272 kg] in 1978, and 550 lb [~250 kg] in 1980 (IARC 1979; NTP, 2016). In 2000, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) reported that 2,4,6-TCP was no longer used commercially (EPA, 2000).

In 2009, 2,4,6-TCP was produced by one manufacturer each in China, India, and Europe, and was available from 27 suppliers worldwide, including 16 suppliers in the USA (NTP, 2016).

In 2016, several companies were registered as manufacturing 2,4,6-TCP (mostly analytical grade): USA (11 companies), Canada (1), Germany (1), Switzerland (2), United Kingdom (2), China (1), Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, China (1), and Japan (2) (<u>Chem Sources, 2016</u>).

1.2.3 Use

2,4,6-TCP has been used primarily in various pesticide formulations and as a wood preservative. It has also been used as a fungicide, glue preservative, insecticide, bactericide, defoliant, herbicide, and anti-mildew agent for textiles (NTP, 2016). According to reports from New Zealand and Sweden, chlorophenols including 2,4,6-TCP were used from the 1970s until the late 1980s for the treatment of pelts (Glover et al., 1975; Pearce et al., 1988; Mikoczy et al., 1994). Chlorophenols have been used during the production of bark cork, and may inadvertently form from the use of hypochlorite solutions to clean cork stoppers and wooden barrels (Ozhan et al., 2009).

2,4,6-TCP is an intermediate for the synthesis of several chemicals such as pentachlorophenol, 2,3,4,6-tetrachlorophenol, and their sodium salts (INERIS, 2005).

Although most uses of 2,4,6-TCP were cancelled in the USA, 2,4,6-TCP continues to be used in the synthesis of some fungicides (NTP, 2016).

1.3 Analytical methods

Analytical methods for 2,4,6-TCP in different media have been described elsewhere (<u>ATSDR</u>, <u>1999; INERIS, 2005</u>).

1.4 Occurrence and exposure

1.4.1 Occupational exposure

Occupational exposure to 2,4,6-TCP may occur in workers involved in the manufacture of 2,4,6-TCP and other chlorophenols, formulations containing 2,4,6-TCP, and chemicals that use 2,4,6-TCP as an intermediate (e.g. higher chlorinated phenols, phenolic resins, dyes, and drugs). 2,4,6-TCP is a common by-product in manufacturing pentachlorophenol, 2,4-dichlorophenol, tetrachlorophenol, and their salts, so workers exposed to those substances may also be exposed to 2,4,6-TCP (Kogevinas et al., 1995).

Occupational exposure also occurs in workers who apply formulations containing 2,4,6-TCP (e.g. sawmill workers), and workers exposed to 2,4,6-TCP as a by-product or contaminant (e.g. hazardous-waste incinerator workers) (ATSDR, 1999). Exposure may also occur in workers using 2,4,6-TCP as a biocide for treating textiles and leathers, or in workers handling the treated materials (de Souza Silveira et al., 2012; Karci, 2014). For example, 2,4,6-TCP was widely adopted for use as a fungicide for cured lamb pelts in New Zealand (Glover et al., 1975). Exposure to 2,4,6-TCP often occurs concurrently with other chlorophenol compounds, such as pentachlorophenol, and with PCDDs and polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs) (see Section 1.1.3).

(a) Air

In a Finnish sawmill that had regularly used 2,3,4,6-tetrachlorophenol containing 10-20% 2,4,6-TCP and 5% pentachlorophenol since the 1940s, median area air concentrations of 2,4,6-TCP ranged from 13 to 18 µg/m³ for workers involved in outdoor vat-dipping, spraying lumber bundles, and trough-dipping lumber, to 68 µg/m³ for workers involved in machine-stacking of lumber. Exposure of short duration to 2,4,6-TCP at a median air concentration of 610 µg/m³ could occur inside kilns during drying. No 2,4,6-TCP

was detected near workers who were trimming, grading, and packaging lumber (<u>Kauppinen & Lindroos, 1985</u>).

(b) Biological markers

Data on concentrations of 2,4,6-TCP in the urine have been collected in several studies in humans (Table 1.1). 2,4,6-TCP has been measured in the urine of hazardous- and municipal-waste incinerator workers, sawmill workers, and harbour workers involved in river dredging. Mean concentrations were typically $< 4 \mu g/g$ creatinine. Urinary concentrations of 2,4,6-TCP ranged from 0.1 to 5.5 μ g/g of creatinine in harbour workers and controls in Europe (Radon et al., 2004), from < 3 to 3.1 μ g/g of creatinine in sawmill workers in Finland (Kontsas et al., 1995), and from 0.04 to 8.73 μ g/g of creatinine in hazardous-waste incinerator workers in Europe (Domingo et al., 2001; Agramunt et al., 2003; Mari et al., 2013). No information on urinary concentrations of 2,4,6-TCP in textile or leather workers was found.

1.4.2 Community exposure

The general population may be exposed to 2,4,6-TCP as a result of proximity to 2,4,6-TCP-treated wood products, from dermal contact with 2,4,6-TCP-treated leathers and textiles, from use of wood preservatives that may contain 2,4,6-TCP, or from food and water contaminated with 2,4,6-TCP. Air exposure to 2,4,6-TCP may occur from the incineration of chlorinated compounds in municipal and hazardous waste, coal, and wood (ATSDR, 1999). 2,4,6-TCP can also be formed inadvertently when water containing phenol or some aromatic acids is treated with hypochlorite, such as during the bleaching process in pulp and paper mills, and during the disinfection of drinking-water sources (NTP, 2016; ToxNet, 2016).

Table 1.1 (Concentrations of 2,4,6-t	trichlorophenol in urine samp	les from (occupationally	y exposed wo	rkers
Country,	Occupation	Work task or type of worker	No. of	Expo	sure ^a	Reference
year			workers	Level	Range	
Germany, 1997	Harbour workers	River dredging	83	Median, 0.36	0.1–3.8	<u>Radon et al. (2004)</u>
Germany, 1997	Harbour workers	Office workers	80	Median, 0.30	0.1-5.5	<u>Radon et al. (2004)</u>
Germany, 1999–2000	Hazardous-waste incinerator workers	Baseline, pre-employment	28	Mean, 0.86	0.04-8.73	<u>Domingo et al. (2001);</u> Schuhmacher et al. (2002)
Germany, 1999–2001	Hazardous-waste incinerator workers	Plant workers	19	Annual mean, 1.1–3.5	NR	<u>Domingo et al. (2001);</u> Schuhmacher et al. (2002)
Germany, 1999–2002	Hazardous-waste incinerator workers	Laboratory workers	Э	Annual mean, 0.15–1.0	NR	Domingo et al. (2001); Schuhmacher et al. (2002)
Germany, 1999–2003	Hazardous-waste incinerator workers	Administrative worker	1	Annual mean range, 0.3–0.6	NR	<u>Domingo et al. (2001);</u> <u>Schuhmacher et al. (2002)</u>
Spain, 1999–2011	Hazardous-waste incinerator workers	Plant workers, including incinerator operators, boiler maintenance, furnace maintenance, control panel, and waste-gas-washing operators	16	Annual mean range, 0.3–3.5	NR	<u>Agramunt et al. (2003), Mari</u> et al. (2009), Mari et al. (2013)
Spain, 1999–2012	Hazardous-waste incinerator workers	Laboratory workers	IJ	Annual mean range, 0.05–1.00	NR	<u>Agramunt et al. (2003), Mari</u> et al. (2009), Mari et al. (2013)
Spain, 1999–2013	Hazardous-waste incinerator workers	Administrative workers	5	Annual mean range, 0.1–1.4	NR	Agramunt et al. (2003); <u>Mari</u> et al. (2009); <u>Mari et al. (2013)</u>
Germany, NR	Municipal waste incinerator	Municipal waste workers	53	Median, 0.85	0.30–3.86	Angerer et al. (1992)
Germany, NR	Municipal waste incinerator	Unexposed	248	Median, 0.6	< 1.2-10.6	Angerer et al. (1992)
Finland, NR	Sawmill workers	Tasks involving contact with chlorophenols	35	NR	One sample, 3.1; remainder, < 3	Kontsas et al. (1995)
Finland, NR	Sawmill workers	Unexposed	17	NR	All, < 3	Kontsas et al. (1995)
Finland, NR	Sawmill workers	Moving lumber that had been dipped in chlorophenol solution	~	Mean, 5.04 μmol/L [995 μg/L]		<u>Pekari et al. (1991)</u>

 $^{\rm a}$ Urinary concentrations are presented in $\mu g/g$ creatinine unless otherwise indicated NR, not reported Compiled by the Working Group

(a) Water

2,4,6-TCP in water biodegrades in 8–14 days and absorbs readily to solids and sediments (ToxNet, 2016). 2,4,6-TCP concentrations in water were higher downstream (< $3.2 \mu g/L$) than upstream ($\leq 0.08 \,\mu\text{g/L}$) from a Finnish pulp and paper mill (Oikari et al., 1985). 2,4,6-TCP was detected in 54% of surface water samples collected from Chinese rivers; the median concentration of 2,4,6-TCP was 2.0 ng/L, with substantially higher concentrations observed in rivers in northern China (maximum, 28 650 ng/L) than in southern China (Gao et al., 2008). In Poland, mean concentrations of 2,4,6-TCP ranged from 0.06 to 0.89 μ g/L in river-water samples, and from 0.09 to 0.83 µg/L in drinking-water samples (Michałowicz et al., 2011). In river-water samples in the Republic of Korea, the median concentration of 2, 4, 6-TCP was 3.6 ng/L, and the maximum was 22 ng/L (Sim et al., 2009).

(b) Sediment and soil

Release of 2,4,6-TCP to soil may occur from disposal of manmade wastes, atmospheric deposition, and accidental releases (ATSDR, 1999). In river-sediment samples in the Republic of Korea, 2,4,6-TCP concentrations ranged from < 0.15 to 3.8 ng/g dry weight (Sim et al., 2009).

(c) Air

2,4,6-TCP exists as a vapour in the air and is degraded, with a half-life of 24 days, by reaction with photochemically produced hydroxyl radicals (ToxNet, 2016). In Portland, Oregon, USA in 1984, 2,4,6-TCP was detected in the air in five out of seven measured rain events, with a mean concentration (in samples in which 2,4,6-TCP was detected) of 0.15 ng/m³ in the air samples and 1.4 ng/L in the precipitation samples (Leuenberger et al., 1985).

(d) Residues in food, and dietary intake

2,4,6-TCP has been measured at concentrations of up to 0.042 μ g/g in coffee (Spadone et al., 1990). 2,4,6-TCP concentrations in red wine varied from 13 to 42 ng/L and were correlated with 2,4,6-TCP concentrations in the cork of the bottle (Ozhan et al., 2009), while oak barrels used to age wine and other spirits contained 2,4,6-TCP at concentrations ranging from 0.3 to 0.8 μ g/g (Pizarro et al., 2006). 2,4,6-TCP has been measured at concentrations of up to 0.075 μ g/g in semi-bleached-paper dishes and napkins (Ozaki et al., 2004).

(e) Household exposure

No measurements of 2,4,6-TCP in samples collected in homes were available to the Working Group.

(f) Biological markers

2,4,6-TCP has been measured in the urine in the general population (Table 1.2). The proportion of samples with detectable concentrations of 2,4,6-TCP ranged from 0% to 88%. Median concentrations were $< 5 \mu g/L$.

In the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) of 1999–2004 in the USA, children aged < 15 years had urinary concentrations of 2,4,6-TCP ranging from 0.16 to 1772 μ g/g of creatinine (Xu et al., 2011). In the NHANES and Center for the Health Assessment of Mothers and Children of Salinas (CHAMACOS) cohorts of pregnant women, urinary concentrations of 2,4,6-TCP ranged from 0.4 to 142 μ g/L (Castorina et al., 2010). In one study in the USA, < 5% of breast-milk samples contained 2,4,6-TCP at detectable levels when the limit of detection was 1.2 μ g/L (Ye et al., 2006).

Table 1.2 Conce	ntration	s of 2,4,6-	trichlorophenol	in urine samples from	the general population	
Country, year	Age	No. of	Exposure		Comments	Reference
	(years)	samples	Level	Range, % detects		
Republic of Korea, 2009	18–69	1865	Median, 0.47 μg/g creatinine	< 0.05–127 μg/g creatinine, 88% detects	Higher in rural residents	<u>Kim et al. (2014)</u>
USA, 1988–94	20-59	867	Median, < 2 μg/g creatinine	< 2–28 μg/g creatinine, 9.5% detects		<u>Hill et al. (1995)</u>
USA, 1999–2002	NR	523	Median, 1.4 μg/L	< 0.6–142 μg/L, 56% detects	Pregnant women, 13 weeks gestation; California agricultural area; CHAMACOS cohort	<u>Castorina et al. (2010)</u>
USA, 1999–2002	NR	479	Median, 4.5 μg/L	0.4–62 μg/L, 74% detects	Pregnant women, 26 weeks gestation; California agricultural area; CHAMACOS cohort	<u>Castorina et al. (2010)</u>
USA, 1999–2002	NR	223	Median, 1.8 μg/L	< 1.3-68 μg/L, 60% detects	Pregnant women NHANES	<u>Castorina et al. (2010)</u>
USA, NR	2-6	197	Median, < 1 μg/g creatinine	< 1–34 μg/g creatinine, 21% detects		<u>Hill et al. (1989)</u>
USA, 2003–2010	6 to > 60	10 423	Median, < 1 μg/g creatinine	95th percentile, 0.9–5.20 μg/g creatinine, < 50% detects	NHANES	<u>NHANES (2015)</u>
Canada, 1993	36-76	31	NR	All < 2 μg/g creatinine	Sport fish consumers from three great lakes	<u>Anderson et al. 1998</u>
Germany, 1998	18–69	692	Median, 0.3 μg/g creatinine	0.2–4.1 μg/g creatinine	General population of Germany	Becker et al. (2003)
	1,1 11 1,			IL IN SUINVIIN		-

CHAMACOS, Center for the Health Assessment of Mothers and Children of Salinas; NHANES, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey; NR, not reported Compiled by the Working Group

IARC MONOGRAPHS - 117

1.5 Regulations and guidelines

Occupational exposure limits for 2,4,6-TCP in air included an 8-hour average air concentration of 0.5 mg/m³ in Denmark and Sweden, and short-term air concentrations of 1.0 mg/m³ in Denmark and 1.5 mg/m³ (for 15 minutes) in Sweden (IFA, 2016).

The World Health Organization (WHO) has established an international drinking-water guideline for 2,4,6-TCP of 200 μ g/L (WHO, 1993).

The United States EPA has established ambient water quality criteria of 1.4 μ g/L on the basis of seafood (fish or shellfish) and water consumption, 2.4 μ g/L on the basis of seafood consumption only, and 2.0 μ g/L on the basis of organoleptic-effect criteria (NTP, 2016).

In the USA, there are additional restrictions and requirements regarding transportation, presence in ambient air and hazardous waste, and releases to the environment (<u>ATSDR, 1999</u>). For example, 2,4,6-TCP is listed as a hazardous air pollutant under the Clean Air Act, and as a hazardous substance under the Clean Water Act (<u>NTP, 2016</u>), triggering a variety of requirements regarding pollutant monitoring, emissions control, record keeping, and reporting by major source.

The United States EPA has classified 2,4,6-TCP as Group B2, a "probable human carcinogen" (EPA, 1999). Under the harmonized classification and labelling system of the European Union, 2,4,6-TCP is "suspected of causing cancer (Carc. 2)" [H351] and has been determined to be "very toxic to aquatic life (Aquatic Acute 1)" [H400] and "very toxic to aquatic life with long lasting effects (Aquatic Chronic 1)" [H410], to be "harmful if swallowed (Acute Tox. 4)" [H302], to "cause serious eye irritation (Eye Irrit. 2)" [H319], and to "cause skin irritation (Skin Irrit. 2)" [H315] (ECHA, 2016).

2. Cancer in Humans

While many studies have examined the risk of cancer among workers exposed to 2,4,5-trichlorophenol, with a focus on contamination by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-paradioxin (TCDD), very few studies have provided results for the 2,4,6 isomer of trichlorophenol (2,4,6-TCP). The Working Group reviewed all the available epidemiological studies with relevant results for the evaluation of 2,4,6-TCP. All studies focused on occupational exposure. One case-control study nested in an occupational cohort (Kogevinas et al., 1995) and several casecontrol studies provided pertinent data. Studies in New Zealand, where 2,4,6-TCP was used for the treatment of sheep pelts (Glover et al., 1975), are reviewed below (Smith et al., 1984; Pearce et al., 1986b, 1988). Two case-control studies in Sweden reported associations between exposure to phenoxy herbicides or chlorophenols and soft tissue sarcoma and non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) (Eriksson et al., 1981; Hardell et al., 1981), but did not present specific results for 2,4,6-TCP and were not considered further. 2,4,6-TCP has been used in tanneries, as has pentachlorophenol, but cohort studies of tannery workers did not specify which chlorophenol was in use; these studies were therefore not reviewed by the Working Group.

2.1 Cohort studies

See Table 2.1.

The IARC international register of workers exposed to phenoxy herbicides, chlorophenols, and dioxins included some workers exposed to 2,4,6-TCP (Saracci et al., 1991; Kogevinas et al., 1995). The pooled cohort consisted of 21 183 workers from 24 cohorts in 11 countries in Europe, North America, and Oceania. Work history records, detailed company exposure questionnaires, and company reports were used

rophenol	
e to 2,4,6-trichlo	
er and exposure	
l studies of canc	
Epidemiologica	
Table 2.1 E	

Reference, location enrolment/follow-up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Kogevinas et al. (1995) Australia, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Netherlands, New Zealand, Sweden, United Kingdom 1939–1992 Nested case–control	Cases: 32 NHL; 11 STS; cohort was identified from the International Register of Workers Exposed to Phenoxy Herbicides Controls: 158 NHL; 55 STS; incidence density sampling (5 controls per case matched for age, sex, country) Exposure assessment method: company records reviewed by industrial hygienists to estimate cumulative exposure to 21 chemicals	NHL	2,4,6-TCP (ever use) 2,4,6-TCP (ever use)	7 1	0.8 (0.08–8.04) 5.0 (0.31–79.94)	Matching factors: sex, age, country of residence at time of employment, country of cohort	Strengths: large study; objective exposure assessment methods; estimates of exposure to PCP, phenoxy herbicides, dioxins and furans; cancer incidence data Limitations: no quantitative exposure information; exposures to several compounds highly correlated; low power
Smith et al. (1984) New Zealand 1976–1980 Case–control	Cases: 82; male cases reported to the national cancer registry Controls: 92; one cancer control per case, matched by year of registration and age from the registry Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; work in pelt departments in meat works or in tanneries where 2,4,6-TCP was used; telephone interview	STS	Pelt department workers in meat works Tannery workers Pelt department or tannery workers	4 κ σ	[4.7 (0.26-85.6)] - [7.2 (0.79-65.82)]	Country, sex, age	0 controls exposed for tannery workers; matching was not retained in the analysis Strengths: population based study with good participation rates; cases histologically confirmed; the questionnaire asked specifically about work in pelt departments Limitations: certainty of assignment of exposure to 2,4,6-TCP unclear; low power

_
Ð
=
_
•=
-
<u> </u>
0
3
2.1 (6
e 2.1 (
le 2.1 (
ble 2.1 (
able 2.1 (
Table 2.1 (

Reference, location enrolment/follow-up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
<u>Pearce et al. (1986b)</u> New Zealand 1977–1981 Case–control	Cases: 83; Cancer registry Controls: 396; 168 cancer patients from cancer registry 228 general population controls Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; job- title based	THN	Employment in pelt department in meat works: Other cancer controls General population controls	4 4 4	2.3 (0.6–9.5) 4.1 (0.9–18.6)	Age, respondent type (proxy/ direct), sex	Strengths: population- based study; good response rates Limitations: limited exposure assessment
			controls				
<u>Pearce et al. (1988)</u> New Zealand 1977–1981 Case–control	Cases: 183; NHL; cancer registry, histologically confirmed, and diagnosed under the age of 70 yr Controls: 338; patients reported to the national cancer registry with other types of cancers, randomly selected, within 2 yr of age to the case and population controls randomly selected from the 1982 New Zealand electoral roll Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; work in pelt departments in meat works or in tanneries where 2,4,6-TCP was used	NHL: ICD-9, 200 and 202	Pelt department workers workers	5 10	[(1.9 (0.9–4)] [0.5 (0.1–2.8)]	Respondent type (proxy/direct), age, sex, decade of birth	Strengths: population based study with good participation rates Limitations: level of exposure not known; low power
2,4,6-TCP, 2,4,6-trichlorop sarcoma; 2,4,6-TCP, 2,4,6-t	henol; CI, confidence intervals; ICD richlorophenol; yr, year(s)	, Internationa	l Classification of	Disease; NHI	L, non-Hodgkin lymJ	phoma; PCP, pentachlorc	ophenol; STS, soft tissue

by three industrial hygienists (blinded to the disease status of the workers) to reconstruct exposure to 21 chemicals or mixtures. Kauppinen and colleagues reported a prevalence of exposure to 2,4,6-TCP of 6% within the pooled cohort, with a mean duration of employment of 4.8 years (Kauppinen et al., 1994).

Kogevinas and colleagues conducted nested case-control studies of soft tissue sarcoma and NHL among the pooled cohort of workers within the register (Kogevinas et al., 1995). Analyses were conducted using conditional logistic regression with a 5-year exposure lag. Only one exposed case of soft tissue sarcoma, (odds ratio, OR, 5.0; 95% confidence interval, CI, 0.31–79.94) and two exposed cases of NHL (OR, 0.80; 95% CI, 0.08–8.04) were identified. [Overall, this study had a strong design and exposure assessment; however, because of the low prevalence of exposure, it was underpowered for studying the association between 2,4,6-TCP and NHL or soft tissue sarcoma.]

2.2 Case-control studies

Smith and colleagues conducted a casecontrol study of men with soft tissue sarcoma (International Classification of Disease, ICD-9, 171) diagnosed in New Zealand between 1976 and 1980 (Smith et al., 1984). Cases were reported by public hospitals, which contributed 95% of population coverage in New Zealand to the national cancer registry, in 1976-1980. Cases were reviewed histologically by a pathologist. Controls were randomly selected from the same registry. A telephone interview was conducted with questions on activities with the potential for exposure to chlorophenoxy herbicides and chlorophenols. The questionnaire asked specifically about pelt departments in view of their use of 2,4,6-TCP for treating sheepskins. Proxy interviews were conducted with 57% of cases and 64% of controls. Four cases and one control reported working in pelt departments of meat works (OR, 4.7; [95% CI, 0.3-86]), while three cases and no controls reported working in areas of tanneries where exposure to 2,4,6-TCP may also have occurred. When these two groups were combined (six exposed cases in total), the odds ratio was 7.2 ([95% CI, 0.8-66]). Further interviews provided conflicting information on dates when 2,4,6-TCP was used, casting doubt on the exposure of four of the six cases. For example, the tannery where the exposed cases worked was closed, but a similar tannery owned by the same company in New Zealand reported that 2,4,6-TCP was used only after 1962, whereas pentachlorophenol was used only before 1962. [This study had several limitations. Other cancer patients (cancer sites not stated) were used as controls. Most of the interviews were conducted with proxies. There was low power to detect an excess risk. Although the fact that follow-up interviews were conducted was a strength, no results were presented in which cases for whom exposure to 2,4,6-TCP was doubtful were excluded.]

A similarly designed case-control study of NHL in New Zealand also provided relevant results for this evaluation (Pearce et al., 1986b, 1988). Initially, only men with NHL (ICD-9, 202 only), excluding lymphosarcoma and reticulosarcoma (ICD-9, 200), were recruited from a national cancer registry (Pearce et al., 1986b). Two matched controls per case were randomly selected from the registry. An additional control group comprised 300 men randomly selected from the 1982 electoral roll for New Zealand. During a telephone interview, participants were asked about activities with a potential for exposure to phenoxy herbicides and chlorophenols. Odds ratios were adjusted for decade of birth and whether the subject or a relative was interviewed. Odds ratios for work in pelt departments in meat works where 2,4,6-TCP was used were 2.3 [95% CI, 0.6-9.5] when using other cancer controls, and 4.1 [95% CI, 0.9-18.6] when using general population controls. The results when both sets of controls were pooled were similar (OR, 2.7, [95% CI, 0.9–8.5]). When potentially exposed participants were further interviewed it was discovered that two out of four cases and four out of ten controls had performed tasks during which they were unlikely to have been exposed, but a revised analysis was only reported for all chlorophenols combined. No excess was observed among tannery workers when either cancer or population controls were used.

This case-control study was later expanded to include lymphosarcoma and reticulosarcoma (ICD-9, 200) and subsequently reported results for all NHL combined (ICD-9, 200, 202) (Pearce et al., 1988). A target sample of 121 cases of lymphosarcoma and reticulosarcoma was identified (100 participated, 83%) and an expanded set of 338 cancer controls (81% participation) and the population controls were not used in the further analyses. The odds ratio for work in pelt departments in meat works was 2.2 ([95% CI, 0.8-6.3]; based on 6 cases) for lymphosarcoma and reticulosarcoma. The odds ratio for NHL was 1.9 ([95% CI, 0.8-4.6]; based on 10 cases). [In this analysis, the cases and controls with questionable exposure appeared to have been removed.] The results for pelt department workers were similar to those for all meat-works employment, and the highest risk was observed among men who had worked at meat works and in fencing. No excess risk was observed for tannery workers (OR, 0.5; [95% CI, 0.1-2.8]; based on 2 exposed cases). [This study had limited precision and levels of exposure were not known. There was also the potential for exposure to pentachlorophenol and other potentially carcinogenic exposures related to fencing for participants who had worked in both jobs.]

2.3 Exposure assessment in epidemiological studies

Few epidemiological studies had evaluated exposure to 2,4,6-TCP. Several epidemiological studies relying on job classification were conducted in New Zealand (Smith et al., 1984; Pearce et al., 1986a, b, 1988). These studies used retrospective telephone interviews with patients or next of kin to determine whether each individual had worked in particular jobs for which the investigators had determined that exposure to phenoxy herbicides or chlorophenols was likely. Initial questions used a pre-specified list of occupations, and people who reported having worked in those occupations were asked subsidiary questions regarding the specific nature of the work and the potential for exposure to specific chemicals. Exposure was treated as a dichotomous variable (yes/no for each particular job) in the epidemiological analyses. Pelt departments of meat works were identified a priori as an occupation of interest due to the known use of 2,4,6-TCP in treating sheep pelts; however, <u>Pearce et al.</u> (1986b) reported that 6 of the 14 study participants initially reporting having worked in a pelt department had actually worked in a fellmongery removing wool before sheep skins were treated, and were thus unlikely to have been exposed to 2,4,6-TCP. Meat works employees were likely to have been exposed to other chemicals as well as 2,4,6-TCP (Pearce et al., 1986b).

Only one epidemiological study evaluating the magnitude of exposure to 2,4,6-TCP was identified (Kogevinas et al., 1995). For this study, three industrial hygienists (blinded to health status of the workers) reviewed general work processes and conditions for cancer cases and controls sampled from IARC's international register of more than 21 000 workers exposed to phenoxy herbicides, chlorophenols, and contaminants, from 11 countries in Europe, North America, and Oceania. By 1990, 19 cohorts were enrolled, including sprayers of phenoxy herbicides and workers from companies manufacturing or formulating phenoxy acids or chlorophenols (Saracci et al., 1990). On the basis of company questionnaires regarding chemical production and use characteristics as well as the general literature, unit-less job-specific exposure intensities specific to this study were assigned for a variety of phenoxy herbicides, dioxins, and chlorophenols, including 2,4,6-TCP, based on the product of a subscore for each job task (ranging from 1 to 10, and assumed to be constant over time and equivalent across plants) and modifying factors (including for emissions of agents, average daily contact time of the workers with the contaminants, and the use of personal protective equipment) (Kauppinen et al., 1994). [Although the authors noted that dermal exposure might be important for many of these compounds, the extent to which specific exposure routes were considered in scoring was unclear.] Exposure intensities were then multiplied by job duration and summed across all jobs in each individual's work history to calculate a cumulative exposure score for each worker. [Although this method may be adequate for detecting strong contrasts in 2,4,6-TCP exposure between cases and controls, the exposure assignments probably suffer from substantial non-differential measurement error due to an apparent lack of direct measurements of 2,4,6-TCP in the workplace, resulting in attenuation of epidemiological effect estimates towards null association.]

3. Cancer in Experimental Animals

See Table 3.1.

3.1 Mouse

In a study by the United States National Cancer Institute (NCI), groups of 50 male $B6C3F_1$ mice (age, 6 weeks) were fed diets containing 2,4,6-TCP (purity, 96–97%; with 17 minor contaminants [not further specified]) at a concentration of 5000 or 10 000 ppm for 105 weeks. Groups of 50 female B6C3F, mice (age, 6 weeks) were fed diets containing 2,4,6-TCP at 10 000 (lower dose) or 20 000 (higher dose) ppm for 38 weeks, at which time the doses were reduced to 2500 (lower dose) and 5000 (higher dose) ppm because of markedly reduced body-weight gain in the treated animals. After this change in doses, the study continued for a further 67 weeks. Time-weighted average doses for females were 5214 (lower dose) and 10 428 (higher dose) ppm. The control groups comprised 20 untreated male mice and 20 untreated female mice. There was no dose-related trend in mortality in males or females. Survival of males was 16/20 for controls, 44/50 at the lower dose, and 45/50 at the higher dose. Survival of females was 17/20 for controls, 44/50 at the lower dose, and 40/50 at the higher dose. At the end of the study, body weights of treated groups of males and females were lower than those of controls. The incidence of hepatocellular adenoma was significantly increased in treated males, and in females at the higher dose. There was a significant positive trend in the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in females. The incidence of hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined) was significantly increased in males (in both treated groups, with a significant positive trend) and in females (at the higher dose, with a significant positive trend) (NTP, 1979). [The Working Group noted that the number of concurrent controls was small, and that the PCDD content of the diet was not determined.]

Stoner et al. (1986) evaluated tumours of the lung in the A/J mouse after administration of 2,4,6-TCP (reagent grade) in tricaprylin by gavage or by intraperitoneal injection three times per week for 8 weeks. Groups of 16 male and 16 female A/J mice (age, 6–8 weeks), were given total doses of 2,4,6-TCP of 0 (control) or 1200 mg/kg bw by gavage, or 0 (control) 240, 600, or 1200 mg/kg bw by intraperitoneal injection.

Table 3.1 Studie	s of carcinogenicity w	rith 2,4,6-trichlorophenol	l in experimental animal	S
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (M) 6 wk 105 wk NTP (1979)	Oral 2,4,6-TCP, 96–97% Diet 0, 5000, 10 000 ppm Ad libitum 20, 50, 50 16, 44, 45	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular adenoma: 3/20, 22/49*, 32/47** Hepatocellular carcinoma: 1/20, 10/49, 7/47 Hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined): 4/20, 32/49*, 39/47**	NR (trend), *[<i>P</i> < 0.05] **[<i>P</i> < 0.0001] NS <i>P</i> < 0.001 (trend); * <i>P</i> = 0.001;	17 (unspecified) minor impurities; PCDD content was not determined Limitations: small number of controls
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (F) 6 wk 105 wk NTP (1979)	Oral 2,4,6-TCP, 96–97% Diet 0, 5214, 10 428 ppm (TWA) Ad libitum 20, 50, 50 17, 44, 40	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular adenoma: 1/20, 12/50, 17/48* Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0/20, 0/50, 7/48 Hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined): 1/20, 12/50, 24/48*	NR (trend), *[$P < 0.02$] P = 0.005 (trend) P < 0.001 (trend); * $P < 0.001$	Dietary levels: 38 wk at 10 000 or 20 000 ppm, then 67 wk at 2500 or 5000 ppm, resulting in TWA of 5214 and 10 428 ppm, respectively 17 (unspecified) minor impurities; PCDD content was not determined Limitations: small number of controls
Full carcinogenicity Rat, F344 (M) 6 wk 106–107 wk NTP (1979)	Oral 2,4,6-TCP, 96–97% Diet 0, 5000, 10 000ppm Ad libitum 20, 50 18, 35, 34	Haematopoietic system Malignant lymphoma: 1/20, 2/50, 0/50 Monocytic leukaemia: 3/20 (15%), 23/50 (46%)*, 28/50 (56%)** Monocytic leukaemia or malignant lymphoma (combined): 4/20, 25/50*, 29/50**	NS P = 0.003 (trend); *P = 0.013; **P = 0.002 P = 0.006 (trend); *P = 0.019; **P = 0.004	Limitations: small number of controls 17 (unspecified) minor impurities; PCDD content was not determined Historical control incidence at laboratory, leukaemia: 11/255 (4%)

Table 3.1 (conti	nued)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Rat, F344 (F) 6 wk 106–107 wk NTP (1979)	Oral 2,4,6-TCP, 96–97% Diet 0, 5000, 10 000 ppm Ad libitum 20, 50, 50 14, 39, 39	Haematopoietic system Malignant lymphoma: 0/20, 0/50, 2/50 Monocytic leukaemia: 3/20, 11/50, 10/50 Monocytic leukaemia or malignant lymphoma (combined): 3/20 (15%), 11/50 (22%), 13/50 (26%)	NS NS NS	17 (unspecified) minor impurities; PCDD content was not determined Historical control incidence at laboratory, leukaemia or malignant lymphoma (combined): 42/420 (10%) Limitations: small number of controls

F, female; M, male; NR, not reported; NS, not significant; PCDD, polychlorinated dibenzo-*para*-dioxin; ppm, parts per million; 2,4,6-TCP, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol; TWA, time-weighted average; wk, week(s)

There was no increase in the incidence or multiplicity of tumours of the lung in treated mice when compared with vehicle controls (<u>Stoner</u> et al., 1986). [The Working Group noted the short duration of the experiment.]

One study in mice was judged inadequate for the evaluation by the Working Group because of some deficiencies in the study design, including the variable combination of small number of animals, dosage used, unknown purity of the compound, and absence of histopathology data (NCI, 1968; Innes et al., 1969).

3.2 Rat

In a study by the NCI, groups of 50 male and 50 female Fischer 344 rats (age, 6 weeks) were given diets containing 2,4,6-TCP (purity, 96-97%; 17 minor contaminants [not further specified]) at a concentration of 5000 or 10 000 ppm for 106-107 weeks. Groups of 20 males and 20 females served as controls. There was no dose-related trend in mortality in males or females. Survival of males was 18/20 for the controls, 35/50 at the lower dose, and 34/50 at the higher dose, and survival of females was 14/20, 39/50, and 39/50, respectively. Throughout the study, body weights of treated groups of males and females were lower than those of controls. The incidence of monocytic leukaemia was significantly increased in both groups of treated males (controls, 3/20; lower dose, 23/50; and higher dose, 28/50) with a significant positive trend. The incidence of this neoplasm in historical controls at the laboratory was 11/255 (4%). Other adverse effects observed at 2 years in exposed males and females included leukocytosis of the peripheral blood and bone marrow hyperplasia. There was no significant increase in the incidence of tumours in treated females (NTP, 1979). [The Working Group noted the small number of concurrent controls, and that the PCDD content was not determined (although

the neoplasms observed had not previously been associated with exposure to dioxin).]

4. Mechanistic and Other Relevant Data

4.1 Absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion

4.1.1 Introduction

[The Working Group noted that absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion have been much less studied for 2,4,6-TCP than for pentachlorophenol.]

4.1.2 Absorption

No data on the absorption of 2,4,6-TCP in humans or experimental systems were available to the Working Group. On the basis of analogy to other chlorophenols, 2,4,6-TCP is likely to be rapidly absorbed.

4.1.3 Distribution

(a) Humans

No data were available to the Working Group.

(b) Experimental systems

In male Wistar rats, peak concentrations were observed in all tissues 30 minutes after a single intraperitoneal dose of 2,4,6-TCP (25 mg/kg bw). The highest concentration (approximately 65 mg/kg) was found in the kidneys, followed by blood, liver, fat, muscle, and brain. After 10 hours, only trace amounts of 2,4,6-TCP remained in the blood and tissues (<u>Pekari et al., 1986</u>).

4.1.4 Metabolism and modulation of metabolic enzymes

(a) Metabolism

See <u>Fig. 4.1</u>.

(i) Humans

No data were available to the Working Group. Lindane (γ -hexachlorocyclohexane) is metabolized in part to 2,4,6-TCP by human liver microsomes (<u>Fitzloff et al., 1982</u>).

(ii) Experimental systems

In male Wistar or Sprague-Dawley rats dosed daily for 15 days with radiolabelled 2,4,6-TCP (25 µg) by gavage, unconjugated urinary 2,4,6-TCP and isomers represented 63% of the total administered dose. Conjugates eliminated in the urine (80% of which were conjugates with glucuronic acid) accounted for 28% of the total administered dose, and an additional 6% of the total administered dose was eliminated in the faeces (Bahig et al., 1981). Male Wistar rat liver microsomes can metabolize 2,4,6-TCP into 2,6-dichloro-1,4-hydroquinone, the 2,6-dichloro-1,4-semiquinone free radical, and two isomers of hydroxy-pentachlorodiphenyl ether (Juhl et al., 1989). Horseradish peroxidase can catalyse hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) -dependent oxidative 4-dechlorination of 2,4,6-TCP, leading to the formation of 2,6-dichloro-1,4-benzoquinone (Ferrari et al., 1999). [The Working Group considered that the formation in vivo of 2,6-dichloro-1,4-benzoquinonewaslikely, by analogy to pentachlorophenol.]

Lindane (γ -hexachlorocyclohexane) is metabolized in part to 2,4,6-TCP by male Wistar rats in vivo (<u>Baliková et al., 1989</u>), and by rat liver microsomes (<u>Fitzloff et al., 1982</u>). 2,4,6-TCP is also produced by the conversion of the α -isomer of hexachlorocyclohexane (purity, 95%) in male Wistar rats (<u>Macholz et al., 1982</u>), and by the conversion of prochloraz in male Sprague-Dawley rats (<u>Laignelet et al., 1992</u>).

(b) Modulation of metabolic enzymes

(i) Humans

2,4,6-TCP inhibited acetylcholinesterase activity in the human erythrocyte membrane in vitro (<u>Matsumura et al., 1997</u>). It also decreased the expression of mRNA of several enzymes involved in steroidogenesis in the human adrenocortical carcinoma cell line H295R in vitro (<u>Ma</u> <u>et al., 2011</u>; see Section 4.2.4).

(ii) Experimental systems

In male adult Sprague-Dawley rats given 2,4,6-TCP (purity, unspecified; oral doses of up to 400 mg/kg for 14 days), no significant effects were observed on *O*-ethyl *O-para*-nitrophenyl phenylphosphonothioate (EPN) detoxification (which involves mixed-function oxidases and arylesterase) or on uridine 5'-diphospho (UDP)-glucuronyltransferase (Carlson, 1978). In vitro, with microsomal fractions from the same rats, 2,4,6-TCP inhibited EPN detoxification and methylation of *para*-nitroanisole, but not UDP-glucuronyltransferase (Carlson, 1978).

4.1.5 Excretion

(a) Humans

2,4,6-TCP was detected in the urine of children in a study of parent-reported attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (Xu et al., 2011).

(b) Experimental systems

Half-lives for trichlorophenols range from hours to days, compounds with higher chlorine content having longer half-lives (IARC, 1986). In male Wistar or Sprague-Dawley rats dosed daily for 15 days with 25 μ g of radiolabelled 2,4,6-TCP by gavage, the excretion of radiolabel in the urine and faeces reached a plateau after 2 days and decreased sharply to a few percent of the administered dose within 3 days after exposure. About 6% of the administered dose was excreted in the faeces, and the rest in the urine (Bahig



Fig. 4.1 Metabolism of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol

Compiled by the Working Group

et al., 1981). In male Wistar rats given a single intraperitoneal dose of 2,4,6-TCP at 25 mg/kg bw, 90% of the administered dose was excreted between 4 and 6 hours. The half-life of 2,4,6-TCP in all the tissues studied ranged from 1.4 to 1.8 hours. The half-life of conjugated 2,4,6-TCP in the blood was also 1.4 hours (Pekari et al., 1986).

4.2 Mechanisms of carcinogenesis

This section summarizes in the following order the available evidence for the key characteristics of carcinogens (Smith et al., 2016), concerning whether 2,4,6-TCP is genotoxic; induces oxidative stress; alters cell proliferation, cell death, or nutrient supply; or modulates receptor-mediated effects. For the other key characteristics of carcinogens, insufficient data were available for evaluation.

4.2.1 Genetic and related effects

(a) Humans

See <u>Table 4.1</u>.

No data from exposed humans were available to the Working Group.

In the human promyelocytic leukaemia cell line HL-60, 2,4,6-TCP (50 μ g/mL) increased DNA damage in the comet assay (Ozaki et al., 2004).

(b) Experimental systems

No data from mammalian experimental systems in vivo were available to the Working Group.

The assay for forward mutation in L5178Y $Tk^{+/-}$ mouse lymphoma cells gave positive results with 2,4,6-TCP (80 µg/mL) (McGregor et al., 1988). Although 2,4,6-TCP (100 µg/mL) failed to induce mutation at the *Hprt* locus or chromosomal aberrations in Chinese hamster fibroblast V79 cells in the absence of metabolic activation

(Jansson & Jansson, 1986, 1992), 2,4,6-TCP (30 µg/mL or higher) induced statistically significant, dose-related increases in the frequency of hyperdiploidy and micronucleus formation (Jansson & Jansson, 1992). Armstrong et al. (1993) also observed hyperdiploidy in V79 cells.

2,4,6-TCP did not induce structural chromosomal aberrations or sister-chromatid exchanges in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells (<u>Galloway</u> <u>et al., 1987</u>). However, when the protocol was adjusted to extend the recovery period after treatment before harvest, chromosomal aberrations in CHO and V79 cells were induced by 2,4,6-TCP (600 μ g/mL) both in the presence (S9) and absence of metabolic activation in CHO cells (<u>Armstrong et al., 1993</u>).

An elevated frequency of point mutations in the *Tp53* gene in the liver genome was seen in zebrafish exposed to 2,4,6-TCP (5 μ g/L) for 10 days (<u>Yin et al., 2009</u>).

2,4,6-TCP induced forward mutation, but not gene conversion, in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Fahrig et al., 1978). 2,4,6-TCP did not induce reverse mutations in *Salmonella typhimurium* strains TA98, TA100, TA1535, and TA1537 (Haworth et al., 1983). 2,4,6-TCP (50 μ g/disc) caused DNA damage, as detected by the recombinant (*rec*) assay in *Bacillus subtilis* (Ozaki et al., 2004). DNA strand breaks were detected using the Microscreen prophage-induction assay in *Escherichia coli* exposed to 2,4,6-TCP (DeMarini et al., 1990).

DNA strand breaks were induced after microsomal activation of 2,4,6-TCP (1 mM) and incubation with bacteriophage PM2 DNA plasmid (Juhl et al., 1989). 2,4,6-TCP (10 μ M) formed deoxyguanosine adducts after bioactivation by a representative peroxidase system (Dai et al., 2005).

Table 4.1 Genetic and	l related effects of 2,4,6-tı	richloroph	enol			
End-point	Species, tissue, cell line	Results ^a		Concentration	Comments	Reference
		Without metabolic activation	With metabolic activation	- (LEC/HIC)		
DNA strand breaks	Human leukaemia, HL-60	+	NT	50 μg/mL	Purity, > 97%	<u>Ozaki et al. (2004)</u>
Tk mutation	Mouse lymphoma, L5178Y cells	+	ΤN	80 µg/mL	Purity, NR	<u>McGregor et al.</u> (<u>1988)</u>
<i>Hprt</i> mutation	Chinese hamster fibroblasts, V79	I	ΓN	100 µg/mL	Purity, > 99.5% Cell survival, 53%	<u>Jansson & Jansson</u> (1986)
<i>Hprt</i> mutation	Chinese hamster fibroblasts, V79	I	ΤN	180 μg/mL	Purity, 99.7% Cell survival, 14%	<u>Jansson & Jansson</u> (1992)
Chromosomal aberrations	Chinese hamster fibroblasts, V79	1	ΤN	60 µg/mL	Purity, 99.7%	<u>Jansson & Jansson</u> (1992)
Aneuploidy, micronucleus formation	Chinese hamster fibroblasts, V79	+	ΓN	30 µg/mL	Purity, 99.7%	<u>Jansson & Jansson</u> (1992)
Chromosomal aberrations	Chinese hamster ovary, CHO- W-B1	1	1	500 µg/mL	Purity, NR	<u>Galloway et al. (1987)</u>
Sister-chromatid exchanges	Chinese hamster ovary, CHO- W-B1	1	1	500 µg/mL	Purity, NR	<u>Galloway et al. (1987)</u>
Chromosomal aberrations	Chinese hamster ovary, CHO- WBL	+	+	600 µg/mL	Purity, > 99.7%	<u>Armstrong et al.</u> (1993)
Chromosomal aberrations	Chinese hamster fibroblasts, V79	+	ΓN	600 µg/mL	Purity, > 99.7%	<u>Armstrong et al.</u> (1993)
Aneuploidy	Chinese hamster fibroblasts, V79	+	ΓN	50 µg/mL		<u>Armstrong et al.</u> (1993)
Tumour suppressor gene (<i>Tp53</i>) mutation	Zebrafish liver in vivo	+	NA	5 μg/L, 10 d	Purity, > 98%	<u>Yin et al. (2009)</u>
Forward mutation	Saccharomyces cerevisiae MP-1	+	NT	400 mg/L	Purity, 99%	<u>Fahrig et al. (1978)</u>
Gene conversion	Saccharomyces cerevisiae MP-1	Ι	NT	400 mg/L	Purity, 99%	<u>Fahrig et al. (1978)</u>
Reverse mutation	Salmonella typhimurium TA98, TA100, TA1535, TA1537	I	I	666 μg/plate	Purity, "practical" grade	Haworth et al. (1983)
Differential toxicity	Bacillus subtilis M45 (recA ⁻)	+	NT	3 μg/plate	Purity, > 97%	<u>Ozaki et al. (2004)</u>
Differential toxicity	Bacillus subtilis H17 (recA ⁺)	+	LΝ	6 μg/plate	Purity, > 97%	<u>Ozaki et al. (2004)</u>
Prophage λ induction	Escherichia coli WP2s	+	+	32 μM [6.3 μg/mL]	Purity, "practical grade" Toxicity + S9 at 255 μM [50.3 μg/mL]	<u>DeMarini et al.</u> (1990)

_
σ
ā
_ _
_
2
•=
-
-
-
0
_
-
-
9
5
5
4.1
e 4.1 (
le 4.1 (
ble 4.1 (
able 4.1 (
Table 4.1

End-point	Species, tissue, cell line	Results ^a		Concentration	Comments	Reference
		Without metabolic activation	With metabolic activation	- (LEC/HIC)		
DNA strand breaks	Bacteriophage PM2 DNA	NT	+	1 mM [200 μg/mL]	More strand breaks observed with S9 from induced rats than from non-induced rats	Juhl et al. (1989)
DNA adducts, C8-dG O-adducts, LC/MS	2'-Deoxyguanosine	I	+	10 μM [2 μg/mL]	Horse radish peroxidase/ H_2O_2 system	<u>Dai et al. (2005)</u>
a + nositive: - negative: the le	P = 0.02 of significance was set at $D < 0.05$ in	seses e				

⁴. positive: -, negative; the level of significance was set at r > voro in an cases
 C8-dG O-adducts, C8-deoxyguanosine O-adduct; DMSO, dimethyl sulfoxide; HIC, highest ineffective concentration; Hprt, hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase gene; LC-MS, liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry; LEC, lowest effective concentration; NA, not applicable; NR, not reported; NT, not tested; Tk, thymidine kinase gene

4.2.2 Oxidative stress

No studies in exposed humans, in human cells, or in rodents in vivo were available to the Working Group.

2,4,6-TCP (1.0 mM) induced oxidative stress in mouse embryonic fibroblasts, as shown by an upregulation of nuclear-E2-related factor 2 (*Nrf2*) and haem oxygenase 1 (*Hmox-1*) mRNA expression, the nuclear translocation of Nrf2 protein, and an upregulation of reactive oxygen species evaluated with dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (DCFH) by flow cytometry (Zhang et al., 2014). [The Working Group noted the recognized limitations of DCFH as a marker of oxidative stress (Bonini et al., 2006; Kalyanaraman et al., 2012).]

In studies in non-mammalian systems, electron paramagnetic resonance demonstrated free-radical generation and oxidative stress in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) liver after intraperitoneal injection with 2,4,6-TCP at a concentration of 5 mg/kg (Ji et al., 2007; Li et al., 2007). 2,4,6-TCP (10 μ M) increased malondial-dehyde content and the activities of peroxidase and superoxide dismutase in one plant species, *Arabidopsis* (Li et al., 2015).

The peroxidation of 2,4,6-TCP yielded 2,6-dichloro-1,4-benzoquinone (Ferrari et al., 1999), and a 2,4,6-trichlorophenoxyl radical intermediate was demonstrated by electron spin resonance analysis (Sturgeon et al., 2011; Sumithran et al., 2012).

4.2.3 Cell proliferation, cell death, and nutrient supply

No data from exposed humans or human cells in vitro were available to the Working Group.

In long-term studies, 2,4,6-TCP (0.5% in the diet) significant increased the incidence of leukocytosis in the peripheral blood of male rats, and of hyperplasia of the bone marrow in male and female rats (<u>NTP, 1979</u>). In male and female mice fed diets containing 2,4,6-TCP (0.5% in the diet), focal and nodular areas of hepatocyte hyperplasia were present (<u>NTP, 1979; Huff, 2012</u>).

2,4,6-TCP promoted differentiation of mouse primary lineage-depleted bone marrow cells into granulocytes (at 300 μ M), macrophages (at 100 μ M), and erythrocytes (at 10 μ M) (<u>Henschler et al., 2001</u>).

Liao et al. demonstrated that in monkey kidney Vero cells, 2,4,6-TCP ($0.25 \mu g/mL$) induced cell membrane damage, as shown by flow cytometry analysis and propidium iodide staining (Liao et al., 2010a, b, 2011). 2,4,6-TCP (1.0 mM) induced apoptosis in mouse embryonic fibroblasts, as demonstrated by annexin Vfluorescein isothiocyanate/propidium iodide staining and flow cytometry analysis (<u>Zhang</u> et al., 2014).

4.2.4 Receptor-mediated effects

No data from exposed humans were available to the Working Group.

Unlike a parent compound of 2,4,6-TCP, prochloraz (an imidazole fungicide), 2,4,6-TCP (50 μ M) did not inhibit the response induced by R1881 (an androgen-receptor agonist) in an androgen-receptor reporter-gene assay (Vinggaard et al., 2002). As noted in Section 4.1, 2,4,6-TCP decreased the expression of mRNA of several enzymes involved in steroidogenesis in H295R cells (Ma et al., 2011).

4.3 Data relevant to comparisons across agents and end-points

For the results of high-throughput screening assays carried out by the Toxicity Testing in the 21st Century (Tox21) and Toxicity Forecaster (ToxCast) programmes of the government of the USA, see Section 4.3 of the *Monograph* on pentachlorophenol in the present volume. In a microarray study in the female rare minnow, 2,4,6-TCP (at 10 μ g/L) altered levels of mRNA encoding proteins related to endocrine and metabolic pathways (Fang et al., 2014).

4.4 Cancer susceptibility data

No data were available to the Working Group.

4.5 Other adverse effects

No data from exposed humans were available to the Working Group.

5. Summary of Data Reported

5.1 Exposure data

2,4,6-Trichlorophenol (2,4,6-TCP) has been used primarily in various pesticide formulations and as a wood preservative. It has also been used as a fungicide, glue preservative, insecticide, bactericide, defoliant, and herbicide, as well as an anti-mildew agent for textiles, leather, and pelts. 2,4,6-TCP is used as an intermediate for the synthesis of several chemicals, including pentachlorophenol and 2,3,4,6-tetrachlorophenol, and their sodium salts. Commercial production of technical-grade 2,4,6-TCP in the USA was first reported in 1950, with production reduced in the mid-1970s because of the high cost of removing toxic impurities such as polychlorinated dibenzo-para-dioxins. Although most uses of 2,4,6-TCP were subsequently cancelled in the USA, it continues to be used in the synthesis of some fungicides. There were several registered manufacturers in North America, Europe, and Asia, but production levels were not available. Data on the environmental persistence of 2,4,6-TCP were sparse.

Occupational exposure to 2,4,6-TCP has been measured in two studies of sawmill workers and

in several studies of hazardous-waste incinerator workers. The highest observed occupational exposures occurred in sawmill workers who were moving wood products that had been dipped in a chlorophenol solution (mean, 5.04 μ mol/L [995 μ g/L]), but this was based on only seven workers.

The general population may be exposed to 2,4,6-TCP from proximity to chlorophenol-treated wood products, from air emissions from waste incinerators, and from food and water contaminated with chlorophenols. Median urinary concentrations of 2,4,6-TCP in the general population were generally < 2 μ g/g creatinine.

5.2 Human carcinogenicity data

Few studies of cancer in humans have been conducted that provide results relevant to evaluation of the carcinogenicity of 2,4,6-TCP. Two population-based case-control studies conducted in New Zealand provided results for men exposed occupationally, either in meat works or tanneries. One found an increased risk of soft tissue sarcoma, while the other found an increased risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma, neither of which was statistically significant. Both studies were based on small numbers of exposed cases, and the role for other potentially confounding factors could not be ruled out. A large, international pooled cohort of workers exposed to phenoxy herbicides, chlorophenols, and dioxins included a small proportion of workers exposed to 2,4,6-TCP, among whom there was one case of soft tissue sarcoma and two cases of non-Hodgkin lymphoma. In light of the small number of studies available for each cancer site, and the very small numbers of cases exposed to 2,4,6-TCP in each study, the Working Group concluded that there were insufficient data to draw a conclusion regarding the carcinogenicity of 2,4,6-TCP.

5.3 Animal carcinogenicity data

There was one study of carcinogenicity in male and female mice fed diets containing 2,4,6-TCP. 2,4,6-TCP increased the incidence of hepatocellular adenoma, and of hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined) (with a significant positive trend) in males and females. There was also a significant positive trend in the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in females.

There was one study of carcinogenicity in male and female rats fed diets containing 2,4,6-TCP. 2,4,6-TCP increased the incidence of monocytic leukaemia (with a significant positive trend) in males. No significant increase in tumour incidence was reported in females.

One study in A/J mice treated by gavage and one study in A/J mice treated by intraperitoneal administration gave negative results.

5.4 Mechanistic and other relevant data

Data on the absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion of 2,4,6-TCP were sparse. On the basis of analogy to other chlorophenols, 2,4,6-TCP is likely to be rapidly absorbed, widely distributed in the body by blood circulation, and predominantly metabolized to conjugates that are excreted in the urine. Excretion after a single intraperitoneal administration in rats was rapid, with 90% of the administered dose excreted within 6 hours.

Regarding the key characteristics of carcinogens, adequate data were available to evaluate whether 2,4,6-TCP is genotoxic and induces oxidative stress.

There is *moderate* evidence that 2,4,6-TCP is genotoxic. One study in human cells in vitro and several studies in bacteria reported DNA strand breaks after administration of 2,4,6-TCP. Several studies in Chinese hamster cells in vitro observed effects on chromosomes, such as chromosomal aberrations, micronucleus formation, and hyperdiploidy, but not sister-chromatid exchanges. Mutations were observed in yeast, the mouse lymphoma assay, and zebrafish, but not in bacteria or Chinese hamster fibroblasts.

There is *moderate* evidence that 2,4,6-TCP induces oxidative stress. No studies in vivo were available; however, all available studies in vitro in mouse embryonic fibroblasts, fish, and plants reported increased generation of free radicals (including reactive oxygen species) and/ or increased antioxidant activities. Additionally, a phenoxyl radical intermediate had been identified.

In the Toxicity Forecaster (ToxCast) and Toxicity Testing in the 21st Century (Tox21) high-throughput testing programmes of the government of the USA, 2,4,6-TCP was largely inactive, except for in a few assays related to oxidative stress.

There were no data on cancer susceptibility and few data on other adverse effects.

6. Evaluation

6.1 Cancer in humans

There is *inadequate evidence* in humans for the carcinogenicity of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol.

6.2 Cancer in experimental animals

There is *sufficient evidence* in experimental animals for the carcinogenicity of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol.

6.3 Overall evaluation

2,4,6-Trichlorophenol is *possibly carcinogenic to humans* (*Group 2B*).

References

- Agramunt M, Domingo A, Domingo JL, Corbella J (2003). Monitoring internal exposure to metals and organic substances in workers at a hazardous waste incinerator after 3 years of operation. *Toxicol Lett*, 146(1):83–91. doi:10.1016/j.toxlet.2003.09.003 PMID:14615070
- Anderson HA, Falk C, Hanrahan L, Olson J, Burse VW, Needham L, et al.; The Great Lakes Consortium (1998).
 Profiles of Great Lakes critical pollutants: a sentinel analysis of human blood and urine. *Environ Health Perspect*, 106(5):279–89. PMID:<u>9560354</u>
- Angerer J, Heinzow B, Reimann DO, Knorz W, Lehnert G (1992). Internal exposure to organic substances in a municipal waste incinerator. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 64(4):265–73. doi:<u>10.1007/BF00378285</u> PMID:<u>1468796</u>
- Armstrong MJ, Galloway SM, Ashby J (1993). 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol (TCP) induces chromosome breakage and aneuploidy in vitro. *Mutat Res*, 303(3):101–8. doi:10.1016/0165-7992(93)90021-M PMID:7694125
- ATSDR (1999). Toxicological profile for chlorophenols. Atlanta (GA), USA: United States Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Available from: <u>http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/</u> <u>tp107.pdf</u>, accessed 12 February 2018.
- Bahig ME, Kraus A, Klein W (1981). Excretion and metabolism of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol-¹⁴C in rats. *Chemosphere*, 10(3):323–7. doi:<u>10.1016/0045-6535(81)90033-3</u>
- Baliková M, Kohlicek J, Rybka K (1989). Chlorinated phenols as metabolites of lindane. Evaluation of the degree of conjugation in rat urine. *J Anal Toxicol*, 13(1):27–30. doi:<u>10.1093/jat/13.1.27</u> PMID:<u>2468825</u>
- Becker K, Schulz C, Kaus S, Seiwert M, Seifert B (2003). German Environmental Survey 1998 (GerES III): environmental pollutants in the urine of the German population. *Int J Hyg Environ Health*, 206(1):15–24. doi:10.1078/1438-4639-00188 PMID:12621899
- Bonini MG, Rota C, Tomasi A, Mason RP (2006). The oxidation of 2',7'-dichlorofluorescin to reactive oxygen species: a self-fulfilling prophesy? *Free Radic Biol Med*, 40(6):968–75. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2005.10.042 PMID:16540392
- Budavari S, editor. ((1996). The Merck index. 12th ed. Whitehouse Station (NJ), USA: Merck & Co.; pp. 520, 1222, 1643–1644.
- Carlson GP (1978). Effect of trichlorophenols on xenobiotic metabolism in the rat. *Toxicology*, 11(2):145–51. doi:10.1016/S0300-483X(78)90939-3 PMID:102051
- Castorina R, Bradman A, Fenster L, Barr DB, Bravo R, Vedar MG, et al. (2010). Comparison of current-use pesticide and other toxicant urinary metabolite levels among pregnant women in the CHAMACOS cohort

and NHANES. *Environ Health Perspect*, 118(6):856–63. doi:<u>10.1289/ehp.0901568</u> PMID:<u>20129873</u>

- Chem Sources (2016). Chem Sources Online. Chemical Sources International, Inc. Available from: <u>http://www.</u> <u>chemsources.com</u>, accessed 12 February 2018.
- Choudhary AK, Kumar S, Sharma C (2013). Removal of chlorophenolics from pulp and paper mill wastewater through constructed wetland. *Water Environ Res*, 85(1):54–62. doi:<u>10.2175/106143012X13415215907419</u> PMID:<u>23409454</u>
- Dai J, Sloat AL, Wright MW, Manderville RA (2005). Role of phenoxyl radicals in DNA adduction by chlorophenol xenobiotics following peroxidase activation. *Chem Res Toxicol*, 18(4):771–9. doi:<u>10.1021/tx0500023</u> PMID:<u>15833038</u>
- de Souza Silveira CD, Martendal E, Soldi V, Carasek E (2012). Application of solid-phase microextraction and gas chromatography-mass spectrometry for the determination of chlorophenols in leather. *J Sep Sci*, 35(4):602–7. doi:<u>10.1002/jssc.201100726</u> PMID:22282421
- DeMarini DM, Brooks HG, Parkes DG Jr (1990). Induction of prophage lambda by chlorophenols. *Environ Mol Mutagen*, 15(1):1–9. doi:<u>10.1002/em.2850150102</u> PMID:<u>2137084</u>
- Domingo JL, Schuhmacher M, Agramunt MC, Müller L, Neugebauer F (2001). Levels of metals and organic substances in blood and urine of workers at a new hazardous waste incinerator. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 74(4):263–9. doi:10.1007/s004200000217 PMID:11401018
- ECHA (2016). Substance information for 2,4,6-trichlorophenol. Helsinki, Finland: European Chemicals Agency. Available from: <u>https://echa.europa.eu/</u> <u>substance-information/-/substanceinfo/100.001.633</u>, accessed 12 February 2018.
- EPA (1999). Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS) on 2,4,6-trichlorophenol. Washington (DC), USA: United States Environmental Protection Agency. Available from: <u>https://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/iris/iris_documents/documents/subst/0122_summary.pdf</u>, accessed 12 February 2018.
- EPA (2000). 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol. Hazard summary. Washington (DC), USA: United States Environmental Protection Agency. Available from: <u>https://www.epa.</u> <u>gov/sites/production/files/2016-09/documents/2-4-6-</u> <u>trichlorophenol.pdf</u>, accessed 12 February 2018.
- Eriksson M, Hardell L, Berg NO, Möller T, Axelson O (1981). Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to chemical substances: a case-referent study. *Br J Ind Med*, 38(1):27–33. PMID:7470401
- Fahrig R, Nilsson CA, Rappe C (1978). Genetic activity of chlorophenols and chlorophenol impurities. In: Ranga Rao K, editor. Pentachlorophenol. Chemistry, pharmacology, and environmental

toxicology. New York, USA: Plenum Press; pp. 325–38. doi:<u>10.1007/978-1-4615-8948-8_28</u>

- Fang Y, Gao X, Zhao F, Zhang H, Zhang W, Yang H, et al. (2014). Comparative proteomic analysis of ovary for Chinese rare minnow (Gobiocypris rarus) exposed to chlorophenol chemicals. *J Proteomics*, 110:172–82. doi:10.1016/j.jprot.2014.07.026 PMID:25106787
- Ferrari RP, Laurenti E, Trotta F (1999). Oxidative 4-dechlorination of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol catalyzed by horseradish peroxidase. J Biol Inorg Chem, 4(2):232–7. doi:10.1007/s007750050309 PMID:10499096
- Firestone D, Ress J, Brown NL, Barron RP, Damico JN (1972). Determination of polychlorodibenzo-p-dioxins and related compounds in commercial chlorophenols. *J Assoc Off Anal Chem*, 55(1):85–92. PMID:<u>4666862</u>
- Fitzloff JF, Portig J, Stein K (1982). Lindane metabolism by human and rat liver microsomes. *Xenobiotica*, 12(3):197–202. doi:<u>10.3109/00498258209046794</u> PMID:<u>6180560</u>
- Galloway SM, Armstrong MJ, Reuben C, Colman S, Brown B, Cannon C, et al. (1987). Chromosome aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in Chinese hamster ovary cells: evaluations of 108 chemicals. *Environ Mol Mutagen*, 10(Suppl 10):1–175. doi:10.1002/ em.2850100502 PMID:3319609
- Gao J, Liu L, Liu X, Zhou H, Huang S, Wang Z (2008). Levels and spatial distribution of chlorophenols -2,4-dichlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol, and pentachlorophenol in surface water of China. *Chemosphere*, 71(6):1181–7. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.10.018 PMID:18037470
- Glover JC, Hughes IR, Vivian GW (1975). Mold growth on pickled pelt. *J Soc Leath Tech Chem*, 59:74–8.
- Hardell L, Eriksson M, Lenner P, Lundgren E (1981). Malignant lymphoma and exposure to chemicals, especially organic solvents, chlorophenols and phenoxy acids: a case-control study. *Br J Cancer*, 43(2):169–76. doi:10.1038/bjc.1981.25 PMID:7470379
- Haworth S, Lawlor T, Mortelmans K, Speck W, Zeiger E (1983). Salmonella mutagenicity test results for 250 chemicals. *Environ Mutagen*, 5(Suppl 1):1–142. doi:10.1002/em.2860050703 PMID:6365529
- Henschler R, Appel KE, Heyworth CM, Glatt H (2001). Proliferation and differentiation of murine haemopoietic progenitor cells in stroma-free culture in the presence of metabolites of chlorinated pesticides. *Toxicol In Vitro*, 15(1):31–7. doi:10.1016/S0887-2333(00)00056-4 PMID:11259867
- Hill RH Jr, Head SL, Baker S, Gregg M, Shealy DB, Bailey SL, et al. (1995). Pesticide residues in urine of adults living in the United States: reference range concentrations. *Environ Res*, 71(2):99–108. doi:10.1006/enrs.1995.1071 PMID:8977618
- Hill RH Jr, To T, Holler JS, Fast DM, Smith SJ, Needham LL, et al. (1989). Residues of chlorinated phenols and phenoxy acid herbicides in the urine of Arkansas

children. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol*, 18(4):469–74. doi:<u>10.1007/BF01055011</u> PMID:<u>2774664</u>

- Huff J (2012). Long-term toxicology and carcinogenicity of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol. *Chemosphere*, 89(5):521–5. doi:<u>10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.05.015</u> PMID:<u>22748215</u>
- IARC (1979). Some halogenated hydrocarbons. *IARC* Monogr Eval Carcinog Risk Chem Hum, 20:1–609. Available from: <u>http://publications.iarc.fr/38</u>. PMID:<u>296120</u>
- IARC (1986). Some halogenated hydrocarbons and pesticide exposures. *IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risk Chem Hum*, 41:1–407. Available from: <u>http://publications.</u> <u>iarc.fr/59</u> PMID:<u>3473020</u>
- IARC (1999). Re-evaluation of some organic chemicals, hydrazine and hydrogen peroxide. *IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum*, 71:1–315. Available from: <u>http://</u> <u>publications.iarc.fr/89</u> PMID:10507919
- IFA (2016). 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol. GESTIS International Limit Values [online database]. Institute for Occupational Safety and Health of the German Social Accident Insurance. Available from: <u>http://limitvalue.</u> <u>ifa.dguv.de/</u>, accessed 23 February 2018.
- INERIS (2005). 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol. France: Institut national de l'environnement industriel et des risques. Available from: <u>https://substances.ineris.fr/fr/ substance/getDocument/2701</u>, accessed 12 February 2018.
- Innes JR, Ulland BM, Valerio MG, Petrucelli L, Fishbein L, Hart ER, et al. (1969). Bioassay of pesticides and industrial chemicals for tumorigenicity in mice: a preliminary note. J Natl Cancer Inst, 42(6):1101–14. PMID:<u>5793189</u>
- Jansson K, Jansson V (1986). Inability of chlorophenols to induce 6-thioguanine-resistant mutants in V79 Chinese hamster cells. *Mutat Res*, 171(2-3):165–8. doi:10.1016/0165-1218(86)90050-9 PMID:3748065
- Jansson K, Jansson V (1992). Genotoxicity of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol in V79 Chinese hamster cells. *Mutat Res*, 280(3):175–9. doi:<u>10.1016/0165-1218(92)90046-3</u> PMID:<u>1381480</u>
- Ji LL, Li FY, Luo Y, Ma XP, Chen ZL (2007). [Free radicals in Carassius auratus liver: their generation and oxidative stress induced by 2,4,6-trichlorophenol]. *Ying Yong Sheng Tai Xue Bao*, 18(1):129–32. [Chinese] PMID:<u>17396512</u>
- Juhl U, Blum K, Witte I (1989). The in vitro metabolites of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol and their DNA strand breaking properties. *Chem Biol Interact*, 69(4):333–44. doi:10.1016/0009-2797(89)90119-1 PMID:2543510
- Kalyanaraman B, Darley-Usmar V, Davies KJ, Dennery PA, Forman HJ, Grisham MB, et al. (2012). Measuring reactive oxygen and nitrogen species with fluorescent probes: challenges and limitations. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 52(1):1–6. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.09.030 PMID:22027063

- Karci A (2014). Degradation of chlorophenols and alkylphenol ethoxylates, two representative textile chemicals, in water by advanced oxidation processes: the state of the art on transformation products and toxicity. *Chemosphere*, 99:1–18. doi:10.1016/j. chemosphere.2013.10.034 PMID:24216260
- Kauppinen T, Lindroos L (1985). Chlorophenol exposure in sawmills. *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J*, 46(1):34–8. doi:<u>10.1080/15298668591394347</u> PMID:<u>4025149</u>
- Kauppinen TP, Pannett B, Marlow DA, Kogevinas M (1994). Retrospective assessment of exposure through modeling in a study on cancer risks among workers exposed to phenoxy herbicides, chlorophenols and dioxins. *Scand J Work Environ Health*, 20(4):262–71. doi:10.5271/sjweh.1399 PMID:7801071
- Kim K, Park H, Lee JH (2014). Urinary concentrations of trichlorophenols in the Korean adult population: results of the National Human Biomonitoring Survey 2009. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int*, 21(4):2479–85. doi:10.1007/ s11356-013-2180-1 PMID:24078273
- Kogevinas M, Kauppinen T, Winkelmann R, Becher H, Bertazzi PA, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, et al. (1995).
 Soft tissue sarcoma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in workers exposed to phenoxy herbicides, chlorophenols, and dioxins: two nested case-control studies. *Epidemiology*, 6(4):396–402. doi:10.1097/00001648-199507000-00012 PMID:7548348
- Kontsas H, Rosenberg C, Pfäffli P, Jäppinen P (1995). Gas chromatographic-mass spectrometric determination of chlorophenols in the urine of sawmill workers with past use of chlorophenol-containing anti-stain agents. Analyst (Lond), 120(6):1745–9. doi:10.1039/ AN9952001745 PMID:7604957
- Laignelet L, Rivière JL, Lhuguenot JC (1992). Metabolism of an imidazole fungicide (prochloraz) in the rat after oral administration. *Food Chem Toxicol*, 30(7):575–83. doi:10.1016/0278-6915(92)90191-M PMID:1521831
- Leuenberger C, Ligocki MP, Pankow JF (1985). Trace organic compounds in rain. 4. Identities, concentrations, and scavenging mechanisms for phenols in urban air and rain. *Environ Sci Technol*, 19(11):1053–8. doi:10.1021/es00141a005 PMID:22288749
- Lewis RJ Jr (1993). Hawley's condensed chemical dictionary. 12th ed. New York (NY), USA: Van Nostrand Reinhold; pp. 382, 879, 1127, 1171, 1172.
- Li F, Ji L, Luo Y, Oh K (2007). Hydroxyl radical generation and oxidative stress in Carassius auratus liver as affected by 2,4,6-trichlorophenol. *Chemosphere*, 67(1):13–9. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.10.030 PMID:17161446
- Li Z, Zhu B, Wang B, Gao J, Fu X, Yao Q (2015). Stress responses to trichlorophenol in Arabidopsis and integrative analysis of alteration in transcriptional profiling from microarray. *Gene*, 555(2):159–68. doi:10.1016/j. gene.2014.10.059 PMID:25445278

- Liao TT, Jia RW, Shi YL, Jia JW, Wang L, Chua H (2011). Propidium iodide staining method for testing the cytotoxicity of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol and perfluorooctane sulfonate at low concentrations with Vero cells. *J Environ Sci Health A Tox Hazard Subst Environ Eng*, 46(14):1769–75. doi:10.1080/10934529.2011.624016 PMID:22175881
- Liao TT, Shi YL, Jia JW, Jia RW, Wang L (2010b). Sensitivity of morphological change of Vero cells exposed to lipophilic compounds and its mechanism. *J Hazard Mater*, 179(1-3):1055–64. doi:<u>10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.03.113</u> PMID:<u>20427127</u>
- Liao TT, Shi YL, Jia JW, Wang L (2010a). Sensitivity of different cytotoxic responses of Vero cells exposed to organic chemical pollutants and their reliability in the bio-toxicity test of trace chemical pollutants. *Biomed Environ Sci*, 23(3):219–29. doi:10.1016/S0895-3988(10)60056-6 PMID:20708502
- Lide DR, editor (1997). CRC handbook of chemistry and physics, 78th ed. Boca Raton (FL), USA: CRC Press; pp. 3–254, 3–258, 3–259.
- Ma Y, Liu C, Lam PKS, Wu RSS, Giesy JP, Hecker M et al. (2011). Modulation of steroidogenic gene expression and hormone synthesis in H295R cells exposed to PCP and TCP. *Toxicology*, 282(3):146–53. doi:<u>10.1016/j.tox.2011.01.024</u> PMID:<u>21296122</u>
- Macholz RM, Knoll R, Lewerenz HJ, Petrzika M, Engst R (1982). Metabolism of alpha-hexachlorocyclohexane. Free metabolites in urine and organs of rats. *Xenobiotica*, 12(4):227–31. doi:10.3109/00498258209052460 PMID:6180561
- Mari M, Nadal M, Schuhmacher M, Domingo JL (2013). Body burden monitoring of dioxins and other organic substances in workers at a hazardous waste incinerator. *Int J Hyg Environ Health*, 216(6):728–34. doi:<u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>ijheh.2013.01.003</u> PMID:<u>23419586</u>
- Mari M, Schuhmacher M, Domingo JL (2009). Levels of metals and organic substances in workers at a hazardous waste incinerator: a follow-up study. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 82(4):519–28. doi:<u>10.1007/</u> <u>s00420-008-0350-0</u> PMID:<u>18712406</u>
- Matsumura H, Matsuoka M, Igisu H, Ikeda M (1997). Cooperative inhibition of acetylcholinesterase activities by hexachlorophene in human erythrocytes. *Arch Toxicol*, 71(3):151–6. doi:<u>10.1007/s002040050369</u> PMID:<u>9049051</u>
- McGregor DB, Brown A, Cattanach P, Edwards I, McBride D, Riach C, et al. (1988). Responses of the L5178Y tk+/ tk- mouse lymphoma cell forward mutation assay: III. 72 coded chemicals. *Environ Mol Mutagen*, 12(1):85– 154. doi:10.1002/em.2860120111 PMID:3383842
- Michałowicz J, Stufka-Olczyk J, Milczarek A, Michniewicz M (2011). Analysis of annual fluctuations in the content of phenol, chlorophenols and their derivatives in chlorinated drinking waters. *Environ Sci Pollut Res*

Int, 18(7):1174–83. doi:<u>10.1007/s11356-011-0469-5</u> PMID:<u>21340464</u>

- Mikoczy Z, Schütz A, Hagmar L (1994). Cancer incidence and mortality among Swedish leather tanners. *Occup Environ Med*, 51(8):530–5. doi:<u>10.1136/oem.51.8.530</u> PMID:<u>7951777</u>
- NCI (1968). Evaluation of carcinogenic, teratogenic and mutagenic activities of selected pesticides and industrial chemicals. Carcinogenic study. Volume 1. Bethesda (MD), USA: National Institute of Health. Available from: <u>https://hero.epa.gov/hero/index.cfm/</u> <u>reference/details/reference_id/594540</u>, accessed 5 March 2018.
- NHANES (2015). Fourth national report on human exposure to environmental chemicals. Atlanta (GA), USA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- NTP (1979). Bioassay of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol for possible carcinogenicity. *Natl Cancer Inst Carcinog Tech Rep Ser*, 155:1–131. PMID:<u>12799707</u>
- NTP (2016). Report on carcinogens. 14th ed. Research Triangle Park (NC), USA: United States Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Toxicology Program. Available from: <u>https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/ntp/roc/content/profiles/</u> <u>trichlorophenol.pdf</u>, accessed 12 February 2018.
- Oikari A, Holmbom B, Ånäs E, Miilunpalo M, Kruzynski G, Castrén M (1985). Ecotoxicological aspects of pulp and paper mill effluents discharged to an inland water system: Distribution in water, and toxicant residues and physiological effects in caged fish (*Salmo gairdneri*). Aquat Toxicol, 6(3):219–39. doi:10.1016/0166-445X(85)90006-2
- Ozaki A, Yamaguchi Y, Fujita T, Kuroda K, Endo G (2004). Chemical analysis and genotoxicological safety assessment of paper and paperboard used for food packaging. *Food Chem Toxicol*, 42(8):1323–37. doi:<u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>fct.2004.03.010</u> PMID:<u>15207384</u>
- Ozhan D, Anli RE, Vural N, Bayram M (2009). Determination of chloroanisoles and chlorophenols in corkandwinebyusingHS-SPMEandGC-ECDdetection. *J Inst Brew*, 115(1):71–7. doi:<u>10.1002/j.2050-0416.2009.</u> <u>tb00346.x</u>
- Pearce N, Smith AH, Reif JS (1988). Increased risks of soft tissue sarcoma, malignant lymphoma, and acute myeloid leukemia in abattoir workers. *Am J Ind Med*, 14(1):63–72. doi:<u>10.1002/ajim.4700140108</u> PMID:<u>3165602</u>
- Pearce NE, Smith AH, Howard JK, Sheppard RA, Giles HJ, Teague CA (1986a). Case-control study of multiple myeloma and farming. *Br J Cancer*, 54(3):493–500. doi:10.1038/bjc.1986.202 PMID:3756085
- Pearce NE, Smith AH, Howard JK, Sheppard RA, Giles HJ, Teague CA (1986b). Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and exposure to phenoxyherbicides, chlorophenols, fencing work, and meat works employment: a case-control study. *Br J Ind Med*, 43(2):75–83. PMID:<u>3753879</u>

- Pekari K, Boudène C, Aitio A (1986). Kinetics of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol in different organs of the rat. *Arch Toxicol*, 59(1):41–4. doi:<u>10.1007/BF00263956</u> PMID:3741142
- Pekari K, Luotamo M, Järvisalo J, Lindroos L, Aitio A (1991). Urinary excretion of chlorinated phenols in saw-mill workers. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 63(1):57–62. doi:10.1007/BF00406199 PMID:1856025
- Pizarro C, González-Sáiz JM, Pérez-del-Notario N (2006). Multiple response optimisation based on desirability functions of a microwave-assisted extraction method for the simultaneous determination of chloroanisoles and chlorophenols in oak barrel sawdust. *J Chromatogr A*, 1132(1-2):8–14. doi:<u>10.1016/j.chroma.2006.07.027</u> PMID:<u>16884729</u>
- Radon K, Wegner R, Heinrich-Ramm R, Baur X, Poschadel B, Szadkowski D (2004). Chlorophenol exposure in harbor workers exposed to river silt aerosols. *Am J Ind Med*, 45(5):440–5. doi:<u>10.1002/ajim.20002</u> PMID:<u>15095426</u>
- Rappe C, Gara A, Buser HR (1979). Identification of polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs) in commercial chlorophenol formulations. *Chemosphere*, 12:981–91.
- Saracci R; IARC Working Group (1990). Phenoxy acid herbicides and contaminants: description of the IARC International Register of Workers. *Am J Ind Med*, 18(1):39–45. doi:<u>10.1002/ajim.4700180105</u> PMID:<u>2378368</u>
- Saracci R, Kogevinas M, Bertazzi PA, Bueno de Mesquita BH, Coggon D, Green LM, et al. (1991). Cancer mortality in workers exposed to chlorophenoxy herbicides and chlorophenols. *Lancet*, 338(8774):1027–32. doi:10.1016/0140-6736(91)91898-5 PMID:1681353
- Schuhmacher M, Domingo JL, Agramunt MC, Bocio A, Müller L (2002). Biological monitoring of metals and organic substances in hazardous-waste incineration workers. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 75(7):500–6. doi:10.1007/s00420-002-0340-6 PMID:12172897
- Sim WJ, Lee SH, Lee IS, Choi SD, Oh JE (2009). Distribution and formation of chlorophenols and bromophenols in marine and riverine environments. *Chemosphere*, 77(4):552–8. doi:<u>10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.07.006</u> PMID:<u>19664797</u>
- Smith AH, Pearce NE, Fisher DO, Giles HJ, Teague CA, Howard JK (1984). Soft tissue sarcoma and exposure to phenoxyherbicides and chlorophenols in New Zealand. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 73(5):1111–7. PMID:<u>6593487</u>
- Smith MT, Guyton KZ, Gibbons CF, Fritz JM, Portier CJ, Rusyn I, et al. (2016). Key characteristics of carcinogens as a basis for organizing data on mechanisms of carcinogenesis. *Environ Health Perspect*, 124(6):713–21. doi:10.1289/ehp.1509912 PMID:26600562
- Spadone JC, Takeoka G, Liardon R (1990). Analytical investigation of Rio off-flavor in green coffee. *J Agric Food Chem*, 38(1):226–33. doi:10.1021/jf00091a050

- Stoner GD, Conran PB, Greisiger EA, Stober J, Morgan M, Pereira MA (1986). Comparison of two routes of chemical administration on the lung adenoma response in strain A/J mice. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 82(1):19–31. doi:10.1016/0041-008X(86)90433-3 PMID:3945940
- Sturgeon BE, Battenburg BJ, Lyon BJ, Franzen S (2011). Revisiting the peroxidase oxidation of 2,4,6-trihalophenols: ESR detection of radical intermediates. *Chem Res Toxicol*, 24(11):1862–8. doi:<u>10.1021/tx200215r</u> PMID:<u>21950321</u>
- Sumithran S, Sono M, Raner GM, Dawson JH (2012). Single turnover studies of oxidative halophenol dehalogenation by horseradish peroxidase reveal a mechanism involving two consecutive one electron steps: toward a functional halophenol bioremediation catalyst. J Inorg Biochem, 117:316–21. doi:10.1016/j. jinorgbio.2012.09.017 PMID:23102773
- ToxNet (2016). 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol. Toxicology data network. Bethesda (MD), USA: United States National Library of Medicine. Available from: <u>https://toxnet.</u> <u>nlm.nih.gov</u>, accessed 12 February 2018.
- United States National Library of Medicine (1997). Hazardous substances data bank. Bethesda (MD), USA: United States National Library of Medicine. [Record Nos 894, 1139, 1338, 4013, 4067]. Available from: <u>https://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/newtoxnet/hsdb.</u> <u>htm</u>, accessed 23 February 2018.
- Vinggaard AM, Nellemann C, Dalgaard M, Jørgensen EB, Andersen HR (2002). Antiandrogenic effects in vitro and in vivo of the fungicide prochloraz. *Toxicol Sci*, 69(2):344–53. doi:<u>10.1093/toxsci/69.2.344</u> PMID:12377983
- WHO (1989). Environmental Health Criteria 93. Chlorophenols other than pentachlorophenol. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- WHO (1993). Guidelines for drinking-water quality, 2nd ed., Vol. 1, Recommendations. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. pp. 176–177.
- Xu X, Nembhard WN, Kan H, Kearney G, Zhang ZJ, Talbott EO (2011). Urinary trichlorophenol levels and increased risk of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder among US school-aged children. Occup Environ Med, 68(8):557–61. doi:10.1136/oem.2010.063859 PMID:21540483
- Ye X, Kuklenyik Z, Needham LL, Calafat AM (2006). Measuring environmental phenols and chlorinated organic chemicals in breast milk using automated on-line column-switching-high performance liquid chromatography-isotope dilution tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci, 831(1-2):110–5. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2005.11.050 PMID:16377264
- Yin D, Zhu H, Hu P, Zhao Q (2009). Genotoxic effect of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol on p53 gene in zebrafish liver. *Environ Toxicol Chem*, 28(3):603–8. doi:10.1897/08-317.1 PMID:18939895

Zhang X, Zhang X, Niu Z, Qi Y, Huang D, Zhang Y (2014). 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol cytotoxicity involves oxidative stress, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and apoptosis. *Int J Toxicol*, 33(6):532–41. doi:<u>10.1177/1091581814557701</u> PMID:25431364

3,3',4,4'-TETRACHLOROAZOBENZENE

1. Exposure Data

1.1 Identification of the agent

Chem. Abstr. Serv. Reg. No.: 14047-09-7 Chem. Abstr. Serv. Name: 3,4,3',4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene

Synonyms: Bis(3,4-dichlorophenyl)diazene; azobenzene, 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloro-; diazene, bis(3,4-dichlorophenyl)-; diazene, bis(3,4-di-chlorophenyl)- (9Cl); TCAB



Molecular formula: C₁₂H₆Cl₄N₂ *Relative molecular mass*: 320

In the *trans* configuration, 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene (TCAB) can assume a planar conformation with a molecular shape similar to that of 2,3,7,8-tetra-chlorodibenzo-*para*-dioxin (TCDD) (<u>Poland et al.</u>, <u>1976; NTP, 2010</u>)

Description: Bright orange, crystalline solid *Melting point*: 158 °C

Solubility: water solubility: 6.72×10^{-3} mg/L at 25 °C

Vapour pressure: 1.56×10^{-7} mm Hg (2.07×10^{-5} Pa) at 25 °C

Hazardous decomposition: When heated to decomposition it emits toxic fumes of chlorine and oxides of nitrogen

Octanol/water partition coefficient: $\log K_{ow}$, 5.53 (Hashimoto et al., 1994; NTP, 1998)

Stability: TCAB is stable as a bulk chemical when stored at room temperature (NTP, 2010)

Conversion factor: 1 ppm = 13.1 mg/m^{3} , at normal temperature (25 °C) and pressure (1 atm).

1.2 Production and use

1.2.1 Production

TCAB is not commercially manufactured but is formed as an unwanted by-product in the manufacture of 3,4-dichloroaniline and its herbicidal derivatives, which include propanil (3',4'-dichlorophenylpropionanilide; CAS No., 709-98-8), linuron (3-(3,4-dichlorophenyl)-1-methoxy-1-methylurea; CAS No., 330-55-2), diuron (3-(3,4-dichlorophenyl)-1,1-dimethylurea; CAS No., 330-54-1), and neburon (1-butyl-3-(3,4-dichlorophenyl)-1-methylurea; CAS No., 555-37-3) (Poland et al., 1976; Sundström et al., 1978; Bunce et al., 1979; Hill et al., 1981). In the late 1980s in the USA, when the production volume of propanil was 10 million pounds [~4536 tonnes] per year, the resultant annual production of TCAB for propanil alone may have been as high as 12 000 kg (McMillan et al., 1991). Likewise, with a production volume of 100 000–1 000 000 pounds [45–454 tonnes] of 3,4-dichloroaniline per year, the resultant annual production of TCAB may have been as high as 3900 kg (EPA, 1985). Because 3,4-dichloroaniline is used as a precursor in dye manufacture and, to a limited extent, as a heat transfer fluid, in addition to its use in the manufacture of herbicides (EPA, 1985), TCAB could be present in products other than herbicides (NTP, 2010).

1.2.2 Use

No known direct use of TCAB has been reported.

In 2007, the use of propanil and diuron in the USA was estimated to range from 4 million to 6 million pounds [1814–2722 tonnes] and from 2 million to 4 million pounds [907–1814 tonnes], respectively (EPA, 2011).

In California, USA, the use of several anilide pesticides including propanil was reported to have increased from < 1000 pounds in 1998 to ~2 million pounds [< 0.45 to ~907 tonnes] in 2014 (OEHHA, 2016).

1.3 Methods of analysis

No data were available to the Working Group.

1.4 Occurrence and exposure

Concentrations of TCAB in technical grades ranged from 0.1 to 9.9 μ g/g for propanil, 5.7 to 12 μ g/g for diuron, 6.7 to 28 μ g/g for linuron, and 1.9 to 23 μ g/g for neburon (Di Muccio et al., 1984). Hill et al. (1981) found TCAB at concentrations of 1000–1400 μ g/g in propanil, 9–51 μ g/g in 3,4-dichloroaniline, 28 μ g/g in diuron, and 9 μ g/g in linuron; no detectable TCAB was reported in 1,2-dichlorobenzene or neburon (Hill et al. 1981). Singh & Bingley (1991) found TCAB at concentrations of 1–30 μ g/g in commercial herbicides containing propanil (Singh & Bingley, 1991). Call et al. (1983) found TCAB at a concentration of 670 μ g/g in technical-grade propanil (Call et al., 1983).

In addition, environmental contamination by TCAB occurs from the degradation of chloroanilide herbicides (acylanilides, phenylcarbamates, and phenylureas) in soil by peroxide-producing microorganisms (<u>Bartha et al., 1968; Bartha & Pramer, 1969; Lay & Ilnicki, 1974</u>). TCAB is also formed by the photolysis and biolysis of 3,4-dichloroaniline (<u>Miller et al., 1980; NTP,</u> 2010).

Workers who manufacture or work with other products that have 3,4-dichloroaniline as a precursor (e.g. dyes) or as a heat transfer fluid may also be exposed to TCAB (EPA, 1985; NTP, 2010).

1.4.1 Occupational exposure

No measurements of TCAB exposure in workers were available to the Working Group. Occupational exposure may occur in workers involved in the manufacture of aniline herbicides, applicators who spray or mix aniline herbicide-containing formulations, and farm workers engaged in re-entry tasks. TCAB exposure would vary depending on the aniline herbicides used or produced (see Section 1.2).

1.4.2 Community exposure

The general population may be exposed to TCAB from residues on food, or from living near areas where aniline herbicides are applied.

(a) Sediment and soil

TCAB sorbs very strongly to soils, and has been detected in the top 10 cm of soil up to 2 years after application of propanil (Kearney et al., 1970). TCAB was found in 6 of 99 soil samples from rice-growing areas of the USA, with concentrations ranging from 0.01 to 0.05 ppm (Kearney et al., 1970; Carey et al., 1980). TCAB formation in soil varies with pH, with negligible formation in soils that are more alkaline than pH 6.0, and measurable levels in soils with a pH range of 4.0 to 5.5 (Hughes & Corke, 1974).

(b) Food

No data were available on TCAB measurements in the food supply; however, TCAB uptake in the food chain was observed experimentally in non-mammalian systems. Proportional increases in TCAB body burden were seen in Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) exposed to diets containing increasing concentrations of TCAB (0.5–2500 ppm) (Allinson & Morita, 1995a). The aquatic snail Indohiramakigai (*Indoplanorbis exustus*) was found to bioaccumulate TCAB from its environment during controlled exposures (Allinson & Morita, 1995b). Uptake of TCAB was also observed experimentally with soybeans (Worobey, 1984), carrots (Worobey, 1988), and rice plants (Still, 1969).

(c) Air, water, and residential dust

No data were available to the Working Group.

(d) Biological markers

No data on concentrations of TCAB in the general population were available to the Working Group.

1.5. Regulations and guidelines

In July 2012, California, USA, listed TCAB as a known carcinogen under the Safe Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement Act (Proposition 65), based on findings from the National Toxicology Program (NTP) (<u>OEHHA, 2012</u>).

2. Cancer in Humans

No data were available to the Working Group.

3. Cancer in Experimental Animals

3.1 Mouse

See <u>Table 3.1</u>.

Groups of 50 male and 50 female B6C3F₁ mice (age, 5–6 weeks) were given TCAB (purity, \geq 99.8%) at doses of 0 (control), 3, 10, or 30 mg/kg body weight (bw), in corn oil:acetone (99:1) by gavage, 5 days per week for 104 weeks (NTP, <u>2010</u>). Survival was significantly decreased in males at 10 and 30 mg/kg bw, and in females at 30 mg/kg bw. At 0, 3, 10, and 30 mg/kg bw, survival was 35/50, 31/50, 5/50, and 0/50 in males, and 35/50, 30/50, 32/50, and 20/50 in females, respectively. Mean body weights of males at 10 and 30 mg/kg bw were 10% and 8% less than those of the vehicle controls at the last weighing at weeks 101 and 73, respectively. Mean body weights of females at 3 mg/kg bw were 7% greater than those of the vehicle controls after week 64.

The incidence of transitional cell carcinoma of the urethra was significantly increased (with a significant positive trend) in all treated groups of males. Two such neoplasms were also observed in females at 30 mg/kg bw (2/50; 4%). One male at 10 mg/kg bw and one female at 30 mg/kg bw had transitional cell carcinoma of the ureter. There was a significantly increased incidence of bronchioloalveolar adenoma of the lung in all treated groups of males, with a significant positive trend, and a significantly increased incidence of bronchioloalveolar carcinoma of the lung in females at 30 mg/kg bw, with a significant positive trend.

a
Ξ
J.
a
B
Ľ.
e
Ē
Ŀ
e
<u>A</u>
Ð
2
-
8
5
Ĕ
<u> </u>
Ĕ
a
2
ē
2
Ň
a
5
ō
Ę
La
et
Ť.
4
4
2
6
÷
Ž
5
E
2
L
<u>J</u> e
ŏ
Ž
Ū.
ar
Ŭ
of
Ś
ie.
D
t
Ś
Γ.
m
Ð

Table 3.1 Studies of carcinogenicity with 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene (TCAB) in experimental animals	ificance Comments	Significant decrease in survival at 10 and 30 mg/kg bwSignificant decrease in survival at 10 and 30 mg/kg bwend) < 0.001, **P < 0.001; poly-3 testPrincipal strengths: the duration of exposure: GLP study Historical control incidence for bronchioloalveolar carcinoma (corn- oil gavage studies): 13/200 (6.5 \pm 2.5%); range, 4–10%end) = 0.014, **P = 0.007; end) = 0.014, **P = 0.007; poly-3 testSignificant decrease in survival at adequate, as was the schedule of exposure: GLP study range, 4–10%end) = 0.014, **P = 0.007; end) = 0.012, **P = 0.003; poly-3 testSignificant decrease in survival at 30 mg/kg bw Principal strengths: the duration of exposure and observation was adequate, as was the schedule of exposure and observation was adequate, as was the schedule of erange, 4–10%end) = 0.012, **P = 0.023; poly-3 testSignificant decrease in survival at 30 mg/kg bw Principal strengths: the duration of exposure and observation was adequate, as was the schedule of erange studies and 0/1496 for corn-oil gavage studies and 0/1496 for corn-oil gavage studies and 0/1496 for		
	Incidence of tumours Sign	UrethraTransitional cell carcinoma: $0'50^*$, $32/50^{**}$, $46/49^{**}$, $49/50^{**}$ $p'12$ <t< td=""></t<>		
	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Gavage TCAB, ≥ 99.8% Corn oil:acetone (99:1) 0, 3, 10, 30 mg/kg bw 10 mL/kg, 5 d/wk 50, 50, 50, 50 35, 31, 5, 0 Gavage TCAB, ≥ 99.8% Corn oil:acetone (99:1) 0, 3, 10, 30 mg/kg 10 mL/kg, 5 d/wk 50, 50, 50 35, 30, 32, 20		
	Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Full carcinogenicity Mouse, B6G3F ₁ (M) 5–6 wk 104 wk NTP (2010) Full Full Full Full Carcinogenicity Mouse, B6G3F ₁ (F) (F) S=6 wk 105 wk NTP (2010)		
Table 3.1 (con	tinued)			
--	--	--	--	--
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (F) 5-6 wk 105 wk NTP (2010) (cont.)		<i>Forestomach</i> Squamous cell carcinoma: 0/50*, 1/50, 1/50, 4/50** <i>Skin</i> Fibrosarcoma: 1/50*, 6/50, 5/50, 8/50** <i>2/50*, 8/50, 7/50, 12/50**</i> <i>Spleen/lymphatic tissue</i> Malignant lymphoma: 2/50, 5/50, 8/50*, 7/50**	*P (trend) = 0.011, **P = 0.040; poly-3 test *P (trend) = 0.023, **P = 0.008; poly-3 test annoma: *P (trend) = 0.004, **P = 0.001; poly-3 test *P = 0.049, **P = 0.050; poly-3 test	
Full carcinogenicity Rat, Harlan Sprague-Dawley (M) 5 wk NTP (2010)	Gavage TCAB, ≥ 99.8% Corn oil:acetone (99:1) 0, 10, 30, 100 mg/kg 2.5 mL/kg, 5 d/wk 50, 50, 50 28, 9, 4, 2	<i>Lung</i> Cystic keratinizing epithelioma: 0/50*, 14/50**, 31/50**, 37/50** <i>Oral mucosa</i> Gingival squamous cell carcinoma: 1/50, 5/50*, 4/50, 5/50** <i>Liver</i> Cholangiocarcinoma: 0/50*, 4/50**, 4/50***, 6/50**** <i>Thyroid</i> Follicular cell adenoma: 0/50*, 3/50, 4/50**, 4/50*** <i>All organs</i> Malignant schwannoma: 0/50*, 0/50, 1/50, 3/50	*P (trend) < 0.001, **P < 0.001; poly-3 test *P = 0.046, **P = 0.033; poly-3 test *P (trend) = 0.007, **P = 0.030, ***P = 0.026, ****P = 0.003; poly-3 test ***P = 0.021; poly-3 test ***P = 0.021; poly-3 test	Significant decrease in survival in all treated groups Principal strengths: the duration of exposure and observation was adequate; as was the schedule of exposure; GLP study

Table 3.1 (con	(tinued)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Rat, Harlan Sprague-Dawley (F) 5 wk 104 wk NTP (2010)	Gavage TCAB, ≥ 99.8% Corn oi!:acetone (99:1) 0, 10, 30, 100 mg/kg 2.5 mL/kg, 5 d/wk 50, 50, 50, 50 25, 30, 18, 17	Lung Cystic keratinizing epithelioma: 0/50*, 6/50**, 26/49***, 39/49*** Liver Cholangiocarcinoma: 1/50, 1/50, 1/49, 3/49 Oral mucosa Gingival squamous cell carcinoma: 0/50, 0/50, 4/50, 6/50** Forestomach Squamous cell papilloma: 0/50, 0/50, 0/50, 3/50 Squamous cell carcinoma: 0/50, 1/50, 0/50, 1/50 Squamous cell carcinoma (combined): 0/50*, 1/50, 0/50, 4/50	* <i>P</i> (trend) < 0.001, ** <i>P</i> = 0.014; poly-3 test, *** <i>P</i> < 0.001 NS NS * <i>P</i> (trend) = 0.002, ** <i>P</i> = 0.015; poly-3 test NS NS NS	Principal strengths: the duration of exposure and observation was adequate, as was the schedule of exposure; GLP study Historical control incidence for cholangiocarcinoma (corn-oil gavage studies): 1/473 ($0.2 \pm 0.7\%$); range, 0-2% Historical control incidence for gingival squamous cell carcinoma: $4/473$ ($0.8 \pm 1.0\%$); range, $0-2\%$ Historical control incidence for for forestomach squamous cell corrona: 0/473; forestomach squamous cell carcinoma: $2/473$ ($0.4 \pm 0.8\%$) [range, 0-2%]
* Significance is indic d, day(s); F, female; G)	ated using asterisks LP, Good Laboratory Practice	e; M, male; NR, not reported; NS, not si	ignificant; TCAB, 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene;	wk, week(s)

A significantly increased incidence of bronchioloalveolar adenoma or carcinoma (combined) was observed in males at 3 and 10 mg/kg bw, and in females at 30 mg/kg bw. However, the incidence of bronchioloalveolar carcinoma was not increased in treated males compared with concurrent controls, or compared with the range for historical controls for corn-oil gavage studies for this neoplasm (incidence, 13/200; range, 4-10%).

In the forestomach, the incidence of squamous cell carcinoma in males and females at 30 mg/kg bw was significantly increased (3/50 and 4/50, respectively), with a significant positive trend, compared with that in the control groups receiving vehicle only (0/50 in males and females).

In females, the incidence of malignant lymphoma was significantly increased at 10 and 30 mg/kg bw. The incidence of fibrosarcoma, and of fibrosarcoma or malignant schwannoma (combined) of the skin was significantly increased in females at 30 mg/kg bw, with a significant positive trend. One occurrence of a single cystic keratinizing epithelioma and one occurrence of multiple cystic keratinizing epithelioma of the lung were reported in females at 30 mg/kg bw (2/50); the incidence of cystic keratinizing epithelioma in historical controls was 0/196 for corn-oil gavage studies and 0/1496 for all routes.

[The Working Group noted that in this study that complied with good laboratory practice (GLP), the duration of exposure and observation, and the schedule of exposure, were adequate.]

3.2 Rat

Groups of 50 male and 50 female Harlan Sprague-Dawley rats (age, 5 weeks) were given TCAB (purity, \geq 99.8%) at doses of 0 (control), 10, 30, or 100 mg/kg bw, in corn oil:acetone (99:1) by gavage, 5 days per week, for 104 weeks (<u>NTP, 2010</u>). Survival of all treated groups of

males (9/50, 4/50, 2/50) was significantly less than that of the controls receiving vehicle only (28/50). The number of females surviving to study termination was 30/50, 18/50, and 17/50 in the treated groups, respectively, compared with controls receiving vehicle only (25/50). Mean body weights of males at 100 mg/kg bw were less than those of males in the vehicle-control group throughout the study. Mean body weights of males at 30 mg/kg bw were 6% less than those of males in the vehicle-control group after week 24, and those of males at 10 mg/kg bw were 7% less than those of males in the vehicle-control group after week 80. Mean body weights of females at 100 mg/kg bw were less than those of females in the vehicle-control group throughout the study, and those of females at 30 mg/kg bw were 6% less than those of females in the vehicle-control group after week 36.

The incidence of multiple cystic keratinizing epithelioma and of cystic keratinizing epithelioma (including multiple) of the lung in males and females was significantly increased, with a positive trend, in all treated groups compared with controls, except for multiple cystic keratinizing epithelioma in females at 10 mg/kg bw.

In males, the incidence of cholangiocarcinoma of the liver in all treated groups was significantly greater than that in the control group, with a positive trend. In females, the incidence of cholangiocarcinoma of the liver in the group at the highest dose (3/49) was above the upper bound of the range for historical controls (incidence, 1/473; range, 0-2%).

The incidence of gingival squamous cell carcinoma of the oral mucosa was increased in treated males and females compared with controls: the increases in males at 10 and 100 mg/kg bw and in females at 100 mg/kg bw were significantly greater than those in the controls, and the increase in females at 30 mg/kg bw (6/50) exceeded the upper bound of the range for historical controls (incidence, 4/473; range, 0–2%), with a significant positive trend in the incidence of this tumour in females.

There was a significant increase in the incidence of follicular cell adenoma of the thyroid gland in males at 30 or 100 mg/kg bw, with a significant positive trend.

There was a significant positive trend in the incidence of forestomach squamous cell papilloma or carcinoma (combined) in females. Two single and one multiple squamous cell papilloma of the forestomach occurred in females at 100 mg/kg bw; the incidence of this tumour in historical controls in females treated by gavage (corn oil) was 0/473. Single instances of forestomach squamous cell carcinoma occurred in males and females at 10 mg/kg bw, and in females at 100 mg/kg bw; the incidence of this tumour in historical controls in females was 2/473 (range, 0-2%).

In males, there was a significant positive trend in the incidence of malignant schwannoma in the thoracic cavity, with an incidence of 0/50 (control), 0/50, 1/50, and 3/50, respectively.

[In this GLP study, the duration of exposure and observation, and the schedule of exposure, were adequate.]

Mechanistic and Other 4. **Relevant Data**

Absorption, distribution, 4.1 metabolism, and excretion

4.1.1 Introduction

TCAB is a halogenated aryl hydrocarbon that is isosteric to TCDD, and is highly lipophilic. Like TCDD, TCAB binds to the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) and is a potent inducer of hepatic aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase. In contrast to TCDD, however, TCAB is readily eliminated from the body (Pillai et al., 1996). TCAB is metabolized more readily than TCDD,

and therefore does not bioaccumulate; however, the metabolic products of TCAB have structural alerts that suggest potential toxicity. Several studies have examined the toxicokinetics of TCAB in rats (Burant & Hsia, 1984; Pillai et al., 1996; NTP, 2010), TCAB is readily metabolized and two studies permit a biotransformation pathway to be compiled from the available data (Hsia & Kreamer, 1981; Pillai et al., 1996).

4.1.2 Absorption

(a) Humans

No data were available to the Working Group.

(b) Experimental systems

Studies in non-human mammalian models indicated that TCAB is absorbed either by inhalation or by dermal routes. For example, inhalation by rats (strain not specified), and dermal application in male albino rabbits, resulted in various systemic toxic effects of TCAB, indicating absorption (EPA OTS, 1983; EPA, 1985).

Several studies in rodents have shown that TCAB is readily absorbed via the oral route (Burant & Hsia, 1984; Pillai et al., 1996; NTP, 2010). In male Sprague-Dawley rats treated with ¹⁴C]-labelled TCAB (single dose, 10 mg/rat) by gavage, a substantial amount of radiolabel (66% of the administered dose) was excreted in the urine and faeces after 24 hours, and a marked distribution of radiolabel into adipose tissue was found (Burant & Hsia, 1984). The oral bioavailability of TCAB (32 mg/kg) in male Fischer rats was calculated to be 30% when blood concentration-time curve (AUC) values were compared after oral and intravenous dosing regimens (Pillai et al., 1996). After oral administration, extensive azo reduction of TCAB (presumably by gut microbes) and first-pass metabolism may contribute to reduced systemic absorption, limiting the amount of TCAB that reaches the systemic circulation (Pillai et al., 1996). When TCAB was given orally to male Fischer rats as a single dose (32 mg/kg bw), the apparent first-order absorption rate constant (K_a) and lag time for absorption (T_{lag}) were estimated to be 0.44 hour⁻¹ and 1.5 hour, respectively (Pillai et al., 1996). By the end of a 3-month oral dosing regimen in female Sprague-Dawley rats (dose levels, 0, 0.1, 3, or 100 mg/kg bw), high concentrations of TCAB were found in the blood and tissues, with the highest amount found in adipose tissue (NTP, 2010). Together, these findings indicated that TCAB is absorbed via the gastrointestinal tract and widely distributed in experimental animals.

4.1.3 Distribution

(a) Humans

No data were available to the Working Group.

(b) Experimental systems

The distribution of TCAB in rats has been evaluated in acute and chronic studies. In female Sprague-Dawley rats given TCAB as a single intravenous dose (2.87 mg/kg bw), half-lives of elimination $(t_{1/2\alpha} \text{ and } t_{1/2\beta})$ from the blood were 1 hour and 5.6 hours, respectively (NTP, 2010). The volume of distribution (V_{ss}) was 743 mL/kg bw, systemic clearance (CL_s) was 352 mL/hour per kg bw, and mean residence time (MRT) was 2.1 hours. [The Working Group noted that these data indicate that TCAB is rapidly distributed to tissues.] The terminal elimination half-life of ~6 hours indicated that TCAB is cleared relatively rapidly from the blood. Furthermore, prior exposure to TCAB (daily gavage doses of 3 mg/kg bw for 7 days) did not affect the distribution and elimination kinetics of TCAB.

<u>Pillai et al. (1996)</u> reported on the tissue distribution of [¹⁴C]-labelled TCAB in male Fischer rats given single doses orally (3.2 and 32 mg/kg bw) or intravenously (3.2 mg/kg bw). Only 6% of the administered radiolabel remained in tissues 96 hours after dosing. Tissue distribution was similar after either oral or intravenous administration of TCAB. Adipose tissue exhibited by

far the highest tissue-to-blood ratio, followed by kidney, with brain exhibiting the lowest ratio.

Distribution in rats after long-term exposure was also reported (NTP, 2010). TCAB levels in blood and tissue were monitored after the last dose of a 3-month study of TCAB (0.1, 3, or 100 mg/kg bw, by gavage) in female Sprague-Dawley rats. TCAB was mostly undetectable in blood of rats at the lowest dose. For the groups at 3 and 100 mg/kg bw, respectively, C_{max} was 192.3 and 619.8 ng/mL, and dose-normalized AUC values in blood were 332.8 and 28.7 ng•hour•kg/mL per mg, indicating a decrease in the relative amount of absorbed TCAB with increasing dose. Concentrations in adipose tissue were ~100 times those in liver and lung, and gradually declined, with half-lives in adipose tissue of 115, 81, and 86 hours for the groups at 0.1, 3, and 100 mg/kg bw, respectively. In general, similar half-lives were found in liver and lung. After a 3-month exposure, TCAB was mainly distributed to adipose tissue, where it was moderately persistent, whereas the extent of distribution to other tissues was more limited.

Collectively, the concentrations of TCAB in rat tissues increased in a dose-dependent manner regardless of route of administration. After parenteral administration, TCAB was distributed rapidly into tissues ($t_{1/2\alpha}$, 1 hour), mainly adipose tissue. Terminal elimination of TCAB from the blood was also fairly rapid ($t_{1/2\beta}$, 4–6 hours), whereas elimination of TCAB from adipose tissue was slower (Pillai et al., 1996; NTP, 2010).

4.1.4 Metabolism and modulation of metabolic enzymes

(a) Humans

No data were available to the Working Group.



(b) Experimental systems

The azo linkage in TCAB makes it highly susceptible to metabolic biotransformation. The metabolic pathway for TCAB given in Fig. 4.1 is based on data obtained in rats in vivo and in vitro (Hsia & Kreamer, 1981; Pillai et al., 1996). Extensive azo reduction of TCAB (1, Fig. 4.1) to 3,4-dichloroaniline metabolites (3, Fig. 4.1) via 3,3',4,4'-tetrachlorohydrazobenzene (2, Fig. 4.1) after oral administration in rats, presumably by gut microbes, decreases the systemic absorption of TCAB (Pillai et al., 1996). [The Working Group noted that the dichloroaniline metabolites have structural alerts that suggest potential toxicity.] Azo reduction also probably occurs in rat liver, because rat liver microsomes could catalyse this reaction via cytochrome P450 monooxygenases (Hsia & Kreamer, 1981). In addition to reductive metabolism, TCAB can be oxidized by cytochrome P450s to a major metabolite named TCAB phenol (4, Fig. 4.1) (Hsia & Kreamer, 1981). It is likely that TCAB phenol undergoes further azo reduction, giving hydroxylated chloroaniline derivatives (5, Fig. 4.1). This is supported by the identification of several derivatives of dichloroaniline and their sulfate conjugates in the urine of rats given an oral dose of [14C]-labelled TCAB, including an O-sulfate conjugate of ring-hydroxylated N-acetyl-3,4dichloroaniline that accounted for about 25% of the total radiolabel in the urine (Pillai et al., 1996). [The Working Group noted that compared with the lipophilic TCAB, the dichloroaniline conjugates would be rapidly eliminated from the body.] Monochloroaniline derivatives were also detected in rat urine, indicating dechlorination (Pillai et al., 1996). In addition to the urinary metabolites, the main metabolite in rat bile was putatively identified as N-hydroxy-3,3',4,4'tetrachlorohydrazobenzene (6, Fig. 4.1); [the Working Group noted that this metabolite could be produced either by the hydration of the azo linkage in TCAB or by oxidation of the hydroazo

linkage in 3,3',4,4'-tetrachlorohydrazobenzene] (2; Fig. 4.1) (Hsia & Kreamer, 1981). During incubation of rat liver microsomes with [¹⁴C]-labelled TCAB, a portion of the radiolabel (6% after 60 minutes) was irreversibly bound to the microsomal pellet, suggesting covalent modification of macromolecules by a TCAB-derived reactive metabolite (Hsia & Kreamer, 1981). Covalent binding was dependent on nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate reduced form (NADPH) and could be inhibited by monooxygenase inhibitors. The reactive metabolite was not identified (Hsia & Kreamer, 1981).

TCAB interacts with the AhR with a binding affinity (K_d) of 1.1 nM (Poland et al., 1976). TCAB was further shown to be a potent inducer of hepatic aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase in chicken embryos (Poland et al., 1976). In male Sprague-Dawley rats, TCAB (25 mg/kg bw per day, for 5 days) increased liver-to-body weight ratios, and increased hepatic cytochrome P450 content (2.7-fold vs control animals) in a dose-dependent manner (Hsia & Kreamer, 1979a). Consequently, TCAB has been used as an experimental tool to induce hepatic cytochrome P450 activities in animals (Saint-Ruf et al., 1979; Keys et al., 1985; Shaddock et al., 1989; McMillan et al., 1990). Furthermore, the TCAB congener 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazoxybenzene was also shown to be an effective inducer of hepatic monooxygenase activity (McMillan et al., 1990). Receptormediated effects involving the AhR pathway are further discussed in Section 4.2.1(a). No studies were found to indicate that TCAB is a ligand for the xenobiotic receptors pregnane X receptor (PXR) or constitutive androstane receptor (CAR).

4.1.5 Excretion

(a) Humans

No data were available to the Working Group.

(b) Experimental systems

TCAB-derived metabolites are excreted in the faeces and urine (Burant & Hsia, 1984; Pillai et al., 1996). Male Sprague-Dawley rats treated with [14C]-labelled TCAB (10 mg/rat, by gavage) had excreted 55% of the administered dose in the faeces and 27% in the urine over a 48-hour period (Burant & Hsia, 1984). Male Fischer rats treated with [14C]-labelled TCAB (3.2 and 32 mg/kg bw, by gavage) also excreted significant amounts of radiolabel in the faeces (53-56% of the administered dose) and the urine (39-45% of the administered dose) over a 48-hour period (Pillai et al., 1996). In the urine, no parent TCAB residue was found, and the O-sulfate conjugate of ring-hydroxylated N-acetyl-3,4-dichloroaniline accounted for 25% of the radiolabel. Modest differences between rat strains were noted in urinary excretion; over a 24-hour period, Sprague-Dawley rats had excreted 20% (Burant & Hsia, 1984) and Fischer rats had excreted 30-40% (Pillai et al., 1996) of the administered dose.

Faecal elimination of [14C]-labelled TCAB equivalents was mainly due to biliary excretion of a [14C]-labelled TCAB metabolite into the gastrointestinal tract and its subsequent excretion in the faeces (Pillai et al., 1996). After intravenous administration of [14C]-labelled TCAB (3.2 mg/kg bw), 33% of the administered dose was excreted in the bile within 6 hours, whereas only 21% was eliminated in the faeces by 24 hours. [The Working Group noted that the difference was due to enterohepatic recirculation of [14C]-labelled TCAB equivalents.] The main biliary metabolite was putatively identified as N-hydroxy-3,3',4,4'tetrachlorohydrazobenzene (6, Fig. 4.1; Pillai et al., 1996). No unchanged TCAB was detected in faecal extracts after intravenous administration of [14C]-labelled TCAB; the fraction of faecal radiolabel attributable to unchanged (and putatively unabsorbed) [14C]-labelled TCAB after an oral dose was not determined (Pillai et al. 1996).

Together the data indicated that TCAB metabolites are excreted readily and that both urine and faeces are important routes of excretion.

4.2 Mechanisms of carcinogenesis

This section summarizes in the following order the available evidence for the key characteristics of carcinogens (Smith et al., 2016), concerning whether TCAB modulates receptor-mediated effects; induces chronic inflammation; alters cell proliferation, cell death, or nutrient supply; and is genotoxic. For the other key characteristics of carcinogens, insufficient data were available for evaluation.

4.2.1 Receptor-mediated effects

(a) Aryl hydrogen receptor pathway

(i) Humans

There is no direct evidence that TCAB binds to the human AhR; however, several studies were available on chloracne (a skin condition characterized by comedones and retention cysts), which is pathognomonic for AhR activation in humans (Poland et al., 1976). Several series of chloracne cases have been reported among workers at plants where dichloroaniline herbicides were produced (Taylor et al., 1977; Morse et al., 1979; Scarisbrick & Martin, 1981; McDonagh et al., 1993). One plant produced methazole, one produced propanil and carbamate pesticides, two others produced dichloroaniline and diuron, and another plant was described only as manufacturing dichloroaniline derivatives. In addition to the end products, TCAB and 3,4,3',4'-tetrachloroazoxybenzene (TCAOB) were reported as contaminants and other chemicals used in production were present. Workers were apparently exposed to chemicals as a result of an accident in one plant and through poor housekeeping practices in others. However, neither individual exposure data for the chloracne cases nor quantitative data on the environmental levels of TCAB or any other agent in the plants were reported. [Consequently, the Working Group noted that although development of chloracne was associated with exposure to TCAB, the possibility that other chemicals were involved could not be ruled out.]

No other data from humans were available to the Working Group, including on human AhRs, or concerning AhR activation in human cells in vitro.

(ii) Non-human mammalian experimental systems in vivo

Poland et al. (1976) reported that TCAB and TCAOB induced hepatic aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase activity, a marker of CYP1A1 activity and AhR activation, in male C57/Bl6 mice. TCAB and TCAOB were, respectively, approximately 20 and 8000 times less potent than TCDD.

Several studies in rodents examined non-neoplastic effects that have been associated with activation of the AhR. In B6C3F₁ mice exposed by oral gavage for 13 weeks, TCAB increased liver weights and thymic atrophy (NTP, 1998, 2010; van Birgelen et al., 1999). Chronic non-neoplastic effects of TCAB in female Sprague-Dawley rats included hyperplastic and proliferative lesions in the liver, thyroid gland, forestomach, oral mucosa, and adrenal cortex (NTP, 2010), similar to those observed with AhR agonist chemicals (NTP, 2006a, b, c).

In male Sprague-Dawley rats fed diets containing TCAB for up to 120 days, decreased body-weight gains, increased liver and spleen weights, and decreased testis weights were reported (Hsia et al., 1980, 1982). The increased liver weights were accompanied by increases in hepatic cytochrome P448 and aryl hydro-carbon hydroxylase activity (Hsia et al., 1980). In Sprague-Dawley and Fisher 344/N rats exposed by oral gavage for 13 weeks, TCAB induced hepatic CYP1A1 and CYP1A2, in association with increased liver weights and thymic atrophy (NTP, 1998). Weanling male Sprague-Dawley

rats given TCAB as two weekly intraperitoneal doses (25 mg/kg bw) for up to 28 days developed a wasting syndrome and thymic atrophy (<u>Hsia &</u> Kreamer, 1985). Thymic atrophy, increased liver weights, depressed levels of hepatic gluconeogenic enzymes, and increased levels of total hepatic cytochrome P450 were also seen in male Sprague-Dawley rats given intraperitoneal injections of TCAB twice per week for 7 and 28 days (Hsia et al., 1982; Hsia & Kreamer, 1985). In immature male Wistar rats, TCAB (300 µg/kg bw, intraperitoneal) and other halogenated hydrocarbons induced hepatic testosterone 7a-hydroxylase, inhibited other testosterone hydroxylases, and decreased androstenedione formation (Keys et al., 1985). These effects on testosterone metabolism were correlated with decreased body weight.

In a study of long-term toxicity and carcinogenicity in female Sprague-Dawley rats, TCAB induced cystic keratinizing epithelioma of the lung, cholangiocarcinoma of the liver, and gingival squamous cell carcinoma of the oral mucosa (<u>NTP, 2010</u>). These effects were observed in similar studies with TCDD, 2,3,4,6,7-pentachlorodibenzofuran, and 3,3',4,4',5-pentachlorobiphenyl (PCB-126), all of which are AhR agonists (<u>NTP, 2006a, b, c, 2010</u>).

[The Working Group noted that multiple studies in mice and rats have reported effects that are hallmarks of, or consistent with, AhR activation.]

As noted below, there were several neoplastic and non-neoplastic findings with TCAB that were not observed in any of the bioassays with AhR agonist chemicals (<u>NTP, 2006a, b, c, 2010</u>).

(iii) Non-human mammalian experimental systems in vitro

<u>Poland et al. (1976)</u> first reported that TCAB and TCAOB bound the murine AhR from C57BL/6J mouse liver cytosol with an equilibrium dissociation constant about one fifth that of TCDD. <u>Xiao et al. (2016)</u> evaluated the ability of TCAB to induce ethoxyresorufin-*O*-deethylase (EROD) activity, a marker for CYP1A1 and AhR activation, in a rat hepatoma cell line (H4IIE cells). TCAB induced EROD activity, like TCDD did, but was ~ 1.2×10^{-5} times as potent.

(iv) Non-mammalian experimental systems

Poland et al. (1976) reported an increased incidence of aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase activity, a marker for CYP1A1 and AhR activation, in chicken embryos exposed to TCAB. In a rainbow trout liver cell line (RTL-W1 cells), TCAB induced EROD activity, like TCDD did, but was ~ 8.7×10^{-4} times as potent (Xiao et al., 2016). In a test for toxicity in the zebrafish embryo, TCAB induced a variety of cardiovascular disorders including heart oedema and heart malformations as well as yolk malformations, which have also been observed with AhR agonists (Xiao et al., 2016).

(b) Other receptors

TCAB (1000 μ g/L) produced responses of less than 10% of maximum in the estrogen receptor (ER) and androgen receptor (AR)-CALUX assays (reporter cell lines derived from human osteosarcoma U2OS cells) (Xiao et al., 2016).

TCAB decreased circulating thyroxine concentrations, but had no effect on triiodothyronine and thyroid stimulating hormones, in Fischer 344/N (NTP, 1998) and Sprague-Dawley rats (NTP, 2010) after 13 weeks of exposure. These effects on thyroid hormones are similar to those reported for TCDD (NTP, 2006a). Decreased thyroxine concentrations were seen in male offspring in the NTP evaluation of developmental neurotoxicity of TCAB in Sprague-Dawley rats (dams exposed before mating, and male offspring exposed on postnatal days 4-21) (Harry et al., 2014). The decreased thyroxine concentrations were associated with histopathological changes in the hippocampus, suggesting that the decreases in circulating hormones resulted in developmental neurotoxicity (<u>Harry</u> et al., 2014).

4.2.2 Inflammation and immunosuppression

(a) Humans

As noted above (see Section 4.2.1), several case series of chloracne have been reported among workers at plants where dichloroaniline herbicides were produced and where TCAB was one of the exposures. Chloracne is an inflammatory process that leads to keratinous plugs in the skin pores resulting in cysts and dark pustules.

No other data from humans were available to the Working Group.

(b) Experimental systems

TCAB induced acnegenic effects in the rabbit ear bioassay (Hill et al., 1981). Solutions (0.1 mL) containing TCAB were painted onto the left ear of rabbits daily for 5 days (the right ear was used as the untreated control). Chloracne-like lesions were observed in B6C3F₁ mice in a study of longterm toxicity and carcinogenicity by the NTP (2010). The findings consisted of gross inflammatory skin lesions, characterized histologically by inflammation, fibrosis, hyperplasia, and ulcers (NTP, 2010). Chronic active inflammation of the ureter (males) and the lung (females) were also observed in mice exposed to TCAB for 2 years (Ramot et al., 2009; NTP, 2010). Inflammation of the thyroid, blood vessels, pancreas, and nose were observed in rats (Ramot et al., 2009; NTP, 2010). Neoplastic effects occurred in many of the tissues in which inflammation or chronic active inflammation was also observed.

4.2.3 Altered cell proliferation, cell death, or nutrient supply

(a) Humans

No data were available to the Working Group.

(b) Experimental systems

In Fisher 344/N (NTP, 1998) and Sprague-Dawley (<u>NTP, 2010</u>) rats, and in $B6C3F_1$ mice (<u>NTP, 1998</u>) exposed for 13 weeks, TCAB induced hyperplasia of the forestomach in males and females. In male and female rats, TCAB increased the incidence of oral gingival hyperplasia and of hyperplasia of the zona fasciculata of the adrenal cortex (<u>NTP, 2010</u>). Hyperplasia of the follicular cells in the thyroid gland was seen in male rats (NTP, 1998; NTP, 2010). An increased incidence of haematopoietic cell proliferation in the spleen was observed in TCAB-exposed male and female rats and mice (NTP, 1998, 2010; van Birgelen et al., 1999). In male and female mice, epidermal hyperplasia as well as glandular stomach focal epithelial hyperplasia and urinary bladder transitional cell hyperplasia were observed (NTP, 2010). Neoplastic effects occurred in many of the tissues in which hyperplasia was also observed.

With bromodeoxyuridine labelling, no alterations in cell proliferation were observed in the liver of Sprague-Dawley rats treated with TCAB for 13 weeks (<u>NTP, 2010</u>). <u>Ramot et al. (2012</u>) found a dose-related increase in the incidence of gingival squamous cell hyperplasia and of gingival cystic keratinizing hyperplasia in all treated Sprague-Dawley rats (but not of cystic keratinizing hyperplasia in males at the highest dose), using proliferating cell nuclear antigen staining as a marker of proliferation.

4.2.4 Genetic and related effects

(a) Humans

No data were available to the Working Group.

- (b) Experimental systems
- (i) Non-human mammals in vivo

See <u>Table 4.1</u>.

<u>Bhusari et al. (2014)</u> evaluated a subset of the tumours reported by <u>NTP (2010)</u> (see Section 3) for alterations in *Kras* and *Tp53*, two genes

involved in human cancers. Urethral tumours from male and female mice had transforming point mutations in Kras (38%) and Tp53 (63%). Similar rates of these mutations were observed in the mouse pulmonary carcinomas (Kras, 36%; *Tp53*, 55%). The mutations were not observed in the two pulmonary tumours that occurred in untreated animals. [The Working Group noted that a small subset of the tumours was available for analysis, and only two pulmonary carcinomas and no urethral tumours from control animals were examined. In addition, spontaneous or chemically induced transitional cell carcinomas of the urethra or ureter of B6C3F₁ mice were not reported in any other 2-year NTP cancer bioassays (approximately 600 studies were available). The increase in frequency of point mutations in Kras and Tp53 suggested that TCAB or its metabolites may target guanine or cytosine bases.]

In B6C3F₁ mice, TCAB gave negative results in a test for micronucleus formation in the bone marrow in male mice after 3 days of intraperitoneal exposure at doses as high as 200 mg/kg bw per day (Witt et al., 2000). Increases in the frequency of micronucleated normochromatic erythrocytes were observed in male mice after 13 weeks of exposure at 10 and 30 mg/kg bw per day (NTP, 1998; Witt et al., 2000). In female mice exposed to TCAB for 13 weeks, there was a significant increasing trend in the frequency of micronucleated normochromatic erythrocytes, but results for the individual dose levels were not statistically significantly different from those of controls (NTP, 1998; Witt et al., 2000).

(ii) Non-human mammalian cells in vitro

See <u>Table 4.2</u>.

In rat primary hepatocytes isolated from untreated male Sprague-Dawley rats, overnight treatment with TCAB did not significantly increase unscheduled DNA synthesis (McMillan et al., 1988). TCAB also did not induce unscheduled DNA synthesis in hepatocytes isolated from naive rats in a separate study (Shaddock et al.,

Table 4.1 Ge	netic and related ϵ	effects of 3,3',4,4'-tetracl	hloroazoł	oenzene (TCAl	8) in non-hum	an mammals in vivo	
End-point	Species, strain (sex)	Tissue	Results ^a	Dose (LED or HID)	Route, duration,	dosing regimen	Reference
<i>Tp53</i> and <i>Kras</i> mutation	Mouse, B6C3F1 (M, F)	Urethral (M) and pulmonary carcinomas (M, F)	+	10 mg/kg bw	i.g., 2 yr, 3, 10, or 3	30 mg/kg bw, 5 d/wk	<u>Bhusari et al.</u> (2014)
Micronucleus formation	Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (M) Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (M, F)	Bone marrow (PCE) Peripheral blood erythrocytes	ı +	200 mg/kg 10 mg/kg	i.p., 3×, 50, 100, 15 i.g., 13 wk, 0.1, 1, 3	50, or 200 mg/kg 3, 10, or 30 mg/kg, 5 d/wk	<u>NTP (1998);</u> <u>Witt et al.</u> (2000)
 +, positive; -, né bw, body weight; d 	gative; the level of significa I, day; F, female; HID, highe	unce was set at P < 0.05 in all cases est ineffective dose; i.g. intragastric;	i.p., intraperi	toneal; LED, lowest e	ffective dose; M, mal	le; PCE, polychromatic erythr	ocytes; wk, week(s)
Table 4.2 Ge	inetic and related 6	effects of 3,3',4,4'-tetrac	hloroazol	cenzene (TCA	8) in non-hum	an mammalian cells	in vitro
End-point	Species, cell line	Results ^a			Concentration	Comments	Reference
		Without activatio	metabolic n	With metabolic activation	- (LEC or HIC)		
Unscheduled DNA synthesis	Rat, Sprague-Dawley,]	hepatocytes	1	I	6.4 μg/mL		<u>McMillan et al.</u> (1988)
Unscheduled DNA synthesis	Rat, Sprague-Dawley,]	hepatocytes	1	+	3.2 μg/mL		<u>Shaddock et al.</u> (1989)
Unscheduled DNA synthesis	Rat, Sprague-Dawley,	hepatocytes	(+)	ΓN	10 µM	Short (3 h) incubation, unclear whether triplicates were from the same or different samples	<u>Hsia &</u> <u>Kreamer</u> (1979b)
Hgprt mutation	Chinese hamster, CHC	D-K1 ovary cell line	1	I	14.4 µg/mL	4	<u>McMillan et al.</u> (1988)

 * +, positive; -, negative; (+), positive in a study with limited quality; the level of significance was set at P < 0.05 in all cases h, hour(s); HIC, highest ineffective concentration; LEC, lowest effective concentration; NT, not tested; Hgprt, hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase

Strain	End-point	Results ^a		Concentration	Reference
		Without metabolic activation	With metabolic activation	(LEC or HIC)	
TA97	Reverse mutation	-	+	50 μg/plate	<u>NTP (1998)</u>
TA98, TA100, TA1535, TA1537	Reverse mutation	-	-	10 000 µg/plate	<u>NTP (1998)</u>
TA97, TA98, TA100, TA104	Reverse mutation	-	-	250 μg/plate	<u>McMillan</u> <u>et al. (1988)</u>
TA98, TA100	Reverse mutation	+	+	100 µg/plate	<u>Gilbert et al.</u> (1980)

Table 4.3 Genetic and related effects of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene (TCAB) in bacteria (*Salmonella typhimurium*)

 $^{\rm a}~$ +, positive; –, negative; the level of significance was set at P < 0.05 in all cases

HIC, highest ineffective concentration; LEC, lowest effective concentration

1989). However, TCAB induced unscheduled DNA synthesis when the rats were pretreated with metabolic enzyme inducers, giving positive results at concentrations of 3.2 μ g/mL (phenobarbital pretreated) or 6.4 μ g/mL (Aroclor 1254 and TCAB pretreated) or higher (Shaddock et al., 1989). TCAB was not mutagenic in the hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase (HGPRT) assay in Chinese hamster ovary cells with or without metabolic activation (S9) (McMillan et al., 1988).

(iii) Non-mammalian systems

See <u>Table 4.3</u>.

TCAB gave positive results in *Salmonella typhimurium* strain TA97 in the presence of metabolic activation (S9), but not in strains TA98, TA100, TA1535, and TA1537 with or without metabolic activation (NTP, 1998). McMillan et al. (1988) reported negative results for TCAB in *S. typhimurium* strains TA97, TA98, TA100, and TA104 with or without metabolic activation. Gilbert et al. (1980) found that TCAB gave positive results in TA98 and TA100 with and without metabolic activation.

4.3 Data relevant to comparisons across agents and end-points

TCAB was not tested in high-throughput screening assays carried out by the Toxicity Testing in the 21st Century (Tox21) and Toxicity Forecaster (ToxCast[™]) programmes of the government of the USA; for relevant results for other chemicals reviewed in the present volume, see Section 4.3 of the *Monograph* on pentachlorophenol in the present volume.

4.4 Cancer susceptibility data

No data were available to the Working Group.

4.5 Other adverse effects

4.5.1 Humans

With the exception of chloracne, described above, no data were available to the Working Group.

4.5.2 Experimental systems

Long-term exposure to TCAB in rodents resulted in a broad range of adverse effects across many tissues (<u>NTP, 2010</u>). In addition to those noted above (see Section 4.2), atrophy

was observed in the lymph nodes, spleen, and pancreas in male and female rats, and in the clitoral gland, ovaries, thymus, and spleen in mice (NTP, 2010).

5. Summary of Data

5.1 Exposure data

3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene (TCAB) is not commercially manufactured, but is formed as an unwanted by-product in the manufacture of 3,4-dichloroaniline and its herbicidal derivatives. TCAB has been measured at concentrations up to 1400 μ g/g in propanil, and at up to 28 μg/g in linuron, diuron, or neburon formulations. Environmental contamination by TCAB occurs from the degradation of chloroanilide herbicides in the soil by peroxide-producing microorganisms, and by the photolysis and biolysis of 3,4-dichloroaniline. The use of propanil and other chloroanilide herbicides has increased substantially over the past two decades; current annual use in the USA is estimated to exceed 6 million pounds [~2700 tonnes]. However, no measurements of TCAB exposure in occupational settings or in the general population were reported. Occupational exposure may include workers involved in the manufacture of aniline herbicides, applicators who spray or mix aniline herbicide-containing formulations, and farm workers who enter fields after spraying. The general population may be exposed to TCAB from residues on food, or from living near areas where aniline herbicides are applied. TCAB sorbs strongly to soils and has been detected in the top 10 cm of soil up to 2 years after application of propanil.

5.2 Human carcinogenicity data

No data were available to the Working Group.

5.3 Animal carcinogenicity data

TCAB was tested for carcinogenicity in one gavage study in mice and one gavage study in rats.

In male mice, there was an increase in the incidence of transitional cell carcinoma of the urethra, bronchioloalveolar adenoma of the lung, and squamous cell carcinoma of the forestomach.

In female mice, there was an increase in the incidence of fibrosarcoma of the skin, malignant schwannoma or fibrosarcoma (combined) of the skin, bronchioloalveolar carcinoma of the lung, bronchioloalveolar adenoma or carcinoma (combined) of the lung, squamous cell carcinoma of the forestomach, and malignant lymphoma. There were also two instances of the rare tumour transitional cell carcinoma of the urethra in females at the highest dose.

In male rats, there was an increase in the incidence of cystic keratinizing epithelioma of the lung, cholangiocarcinoma of the liver, gingival squamous cell carcinoma of the oral mucosa, and follicular cell adenoma of the thyroid gland, and a positive trend in the incidence of malignant schwannoma.

In female rats, there was an increase in the incidence of cystic keratinizing epithelioma of the lung, gingival squamous cell carcinoma of the oral mucosa, and squamous cell papilloma or carcinoma (combined) of the forestomach. Rare cholangiocarcinomas of the liver were reported in treated females.

5.4 Mechanistic and other relevant data

No data were available on the absorption of TCAB in humans after oral, dermal, or inhalation exposures. The bioavailability of a bolus oral dose of TCAB given to rats is ~30% of the administered dose. Adipose tissue is a main storage depot after distribution of TCAB. TCAB is rapidly metabolized, with extensive azo reduction in the gut and liver to give 3,4-dichloroaniline metabolites. TCAB metabolites are excreted readily in the urine and faeces.

With respect to the key characteristics of carcinogens, adequate data were available to evaluate whether TCAB modulates receptormediated effects; induces chronic inflammation; alters cell proliferation, cell death, or nutrient supply; and is genotoxic.

There is strong evidence that TCAB modulates receptor-mediated effects, but data in exposed humans and human cells are sparse. Chloracne has been reported in four case series of workers involved in the production of dichloroaniline herbicides, with exposures to TCAB, 3,4,3',4'-tetrachloroazoxybenzene (TCAOB), and other chemicals. Chloracne is pathognomonic for activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) and has been observed in experimental studies of rabbits and mice treated with TCAB. TCAB activates the AhR in vivo in rats, mice, and chicken embryos. In long-term studies in rodents, exposure to TCAB induced cytochrome P450s (CYP1A1 and CYP1A2), caused wasting syndrome, increased liver weights, decreased circulating thyroxine concentrations, and induced thymic atrophy. These effects are consistent with or are hallmarks of AhR activation, and are observed after AhR agonist exposures. TCAB activates the AhR in vitro in mice, rats, and rainbow trout.

There is *strong* evidence that TCAB induces chronic inflammation, but data in exposed humans and human cells are sparse. Chloracne, which is in part an inflammatory response, has been observed in the dichloroaniline-herbicide production workers mentioned previously, as well as in experimental studies of rabbits and mice treated with TCAB. Chronic inflammation was observed in numerous tissue types in rats and mice exposed to TCAB for up to 2 years. These inflammatory responses are consistent with those induced by AhR agonists in long-term studies.

There is *strong* evidence that TCAB alters cell proliferation, cell death, or nutrient supply. In experimental animals, long-term exposure to TCAB induces hyperplasia in numerous tissue types.

There is *weak* evidence that TCAB is genotoxic. In mice, 13 weeks of dietary exposure to TCAB induced increases in the frequency of micronucleus formation in male and female mice. However, short-term exposure to TCAB in male mice did not alter the frequency of micronucleus formation. There are conflicting findings for genotoxicity in assays for bacterial mutagenesis with TCAB.

No evidence was available concerning cancer susceptibility.

Long-term exposure to TCAB resulted in a broad range of non-neoplastic adverse effects across many tissues in mice and rats.

In sum, TCAB activates the AhR in experimental systems in vitro and in vivo. TCAB displays a wide variety of effects that are also induced by AhR agonists, including pathognomonic effects such as chloracne.

6. Evaluation

6.1 Cancer in humans

There is *inadequate evidence* in humans for the carcinogenicity of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene.

6.2 Cancer in experimental animals

There is *sufficient evidence* in experimental animals for the carcinogenicity of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene.

6.3 Overall evaluation

3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene is *probably carcinogenic to humans* (*Group 2A*).

6.4 Rationale

3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene is *probably carcinogenic to humans (Group 2A)* on the basis of its belonging to the class of agents that activate the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR), including dioxins, polychlorinated biphenyls, and polybrominated biphenyls, that are categorized as Group 1 or Group 2A carcinogens. The rationale for this evaluation is as follows:

- In vitro, 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene binds to the mouse AhR, and activates rat and rainbow trout AhRs.
- 3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene induces a spectrum of tumours in rats and mice that includes those observed with other AhR agonists that are categorized in Group 1, such as 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin, polychlorinated biphenyl 126 (PCB-126), and 2,3,4,7,8-pentachlorodibenzofuran.
- 3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene induces multiple non-neoplastic effects in mice, rats, rabbits, chickens, and zebrafish consistent with AhR activation, including chloracne (a response pathognomonic for AhR-mediated toxicity) in mice and rabbits.

References

- Allinson G, Morita M (1995a). Bioaccumulation and toxic effects of elevated levels of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene (3,3',4,4'-TCAB) towards aquatic organisms. II: Bioaccumulation and toxic effects of dietary 3,3',4,4'-TCAB on the Japanese Medaka (*Oryzias latipes*). *Chemosphere*, 30(2):223–32. doi:<u>10.1016/0045-6535(94)00385-8</u> PMID:<u>7874471</u>
- Allinson G, Morita M (1995b). Bioaccumulation and toxic effects of elevated levels of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene (3,3',4,4'-TCAB) towards aquatic organisms. III: Bioaccumulation and toxic effects of detrital 33'44'-TCAB on the aquatic snail, Indohiramakigai (*Indoplanorbis exustus*). Chemosphere, 30(2):233–42. doi:10.1016/0045-6535(94)00386-9 PMID:7874472
- Bartha R, Linke HA, Pramer D (1968). Pesticide transformations: production of chloroazobenzenes from chloroanilines. *Science*, 161(3841):582–3. doi:<u>10.1126/</u> <u>science.161.3841.582</u> PMID:<u>5663300</u>
- Bartha R, Pramer D (1969). Transformation of the herbicide methyl-N-(3,4-dichlorophenyl)-carbamate (Swep) in soil. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 4(4):240–5. doi:10.1007/BF01557982 PMID:24185499
- Bhusari S, Malarkey DE, Hong HH, Wang Y, Masinde T, Nolan M, et al. (2014). Mutation spectra of Kras and Tp53 in urethral and lung neoplasms in B6C3F1 mice treated with 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene. *Toxicol Pathol*, 42(3):555–64. doi:<u>10.1177/0192623313491169</u> PMID:23703846
- Bunce NJ, Corke CT, Merrick RL, Bright JH (1979). 3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene as a contaminant in commercial propanil. *Chemosphere*, 8(5):283–4. doi:10.1016/0045-6535(79)90110-3
- Burant CF, Hsia MT (1984). Excretion and distribution of two occupational toxicants, tetrachloroazobenzene and tetrachloroazoxybenzene in the rat. *Toxicology*, 29(3):243–50. doi:<u>10.1016/0300-483X(84)90025-8</u> PMID:<u>6695385</u>
- Call DJ, Brooke LT, Kent RJ, Knuth ML, Anderson C, Moriarity C (1983). Toxicity, bioconcentration, and metabolism of the herbicide propanil (3',4'-dichloropropionanilide) in freshwater fish. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol*, 12(2):175–82. doi:10.1007/BF01059578 PMID:6847248
- Carey AE, Yang HS, Wiersma GB, Tai H, Maxey RA, Dupuy AE Jr (1980). Residual concentrations of propanil, TCAB, and other pesticides in rice-growing of soils in the United States, 1972. *Pestic Monit J*, 14(1):23–5. PMID:7422467
- Di Muccio A, Camoni I, Dommarco R (1984). 3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene and 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazoxybenzene in technical grade herbicides: propanil, diuron, linuron, and neburon. *Ecotoxicol Environ*

Saf, 8(6):511–5. doi:<u>10.1016/0147-6513(84)90010-1</u> PMID:<u>6510324</u>

- EPA (1985). Health and Environmental Effects Profile for TCAB, TCAOB, and TCHB. Cincinnati (OH), USA: United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- EPA (2011). Pesticides industry sales and usage. 2006 and 2007 market estimates. Cincinnati (OH), USA: United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- EPA OTS (1983). Skin absorption subacute tests with dichloroaniline and related materials. Cincinnati (OH), USA: United States Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Toxic Substances.
- Gilbert P, Saint-Ruf G, Poncelet F, Mercier M (1980). Genetic effects of chlorinated anilines and azobenzenes on Salmonella typhimurium. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol, 9(5):533–41. doi:<u>10.1007/BF01056933</u> PMID:7002063
- Harry GJ, Hooth MJ, Vallant M, Behl M, Travlos GS, Howard JL, et al. (2014). Developmental neurotoxicity of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene with thyroxine deficit: Sensitivity of glia and dentate granule neurons in the absence of behavioral changes. *Toxics*, 2(3):496– 532. doi:10.3390/toxics2030496 PMID:26029700
- Hashimoto S, Schneider S, Yamamoto T, Morita M (1994). Aqueous solubility and octanol-water partition coefficient of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene. *Organohalogen Compd*, 20:125–8.
- Hill RH Jr, Rollen ZJ, Kimbrough RD, Groce DF, Needham LL (1981). Tetrachloroazobenzene in 3,4-dichloroaniline and its herbicidal derivatives: propanil, diuron, linuron, and neburon. *Arch Environ Health*, 36(1):11–4. doi:10.1080/00039896.1981.10667599 PMID:6451202
- Hsia MT, Burant CF, Kreamer BL, Schrankel KR (1982). Thymic atrophy induced by acute exposure of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene and 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazoxybenzene in rats. *Toxicology*, 24(3–4):231–44. doi:10.1016/0300-483X(82)90005-1 PMID:6927643
- Hsia MT, Kreamer BL (1979a). Induction of hepatic microsomal cytochrome P-448 by 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene and the corresponding azoxy and hydrazo analogs. *Res Commun Chem Pathol Pharmacol*, 25(2):319–31. PMID:493716
- Hsia MT, Kreamer BL (1979b). Induction of unscheduled DNA synthesis in suspensions of rat hepatocytes by an environmental toxicant, 3,3'4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene. *Cancer Lett*, 6(4–5):207–12. doi:<u>10.1016/S0304-3835(79)80035-X</u> PMID:<u>436117</u>
- Hsia MT, Kreamer BL (1981). Metabolism studies of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene. I. In vitro metabolic pathways with rat liver microsomes. *Chem Biol Interact*, 34(1):19–29. doi:10.1016/0009-2797(81)90086-7 PMID:7460075
- Hsia MT, Kreamer BL (1985). Delayed wasting syndrome and alterations of liver gluconeogenic enzymes in rats exposed to the TCDD congener

3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazoxybenzene. *Toxicol Lett*, 25(3):247–58. doi:<u>10.1016/0378-4274(85)90204-8</u> PMID:4012802

- Hsia MT, Kreamer BL, Burant CF, Treutelaar MK (1980). General health effects of prolonged exposure to 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene and 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazoxybenzene in rats. *Drug Chem Toxicol*, 3(1):47–56. doi:<u>10.3109/01480548009017832</u> PMID:<u>7389582</u>
- Hughes AF, Corke CT (1974). Formation of tetrachloroazobenzene in some Canadian soils treated with propanil and 3,4-dichloroaniline. *Can J Microbiol*, 20(1):35–9. doi:10.1139/m74-006 PMID:4822779
- Kearney PC, Smith RJ Jr, Plimmer JR, Guardia FS (1970). Propanil and TCAB residues in rice soils. *Weed Sci*, 18:464–6.
- Keys B, Hlavinka M, Mason G, Safe S (1985). Modulation of rat hepatic microsomal testosterone hydroxylases by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin and related toxic isostereomers. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol*, 63(12):1537– 42. doi:10.1139/y85-253 PMID:<u>3830353</u>
- Lay MM, Ilnicki RD (1974). Peroxidase activity and propanil degradation in soil. *Weed Res*, 14(2):111–3. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3180.1974.tb01503.x
- McDonagh AJ, Gawkrodger DJ, Walker AE (1993). Chloracne – study of an outbreak with new clinical observations. *Clin Exp Dermatol*, 18(6):523–5. doi:<u>10.1111/j.1365-2230.1993.tb01021.x</u> PMID:<u>8252789</u>
- McMillan DC, Bradshaw TP, Hinson JA, Jollow DJ (1991). Role of metabolites in propanil-induced hemolytic anemia. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 110(1):70–8. doi:10.1016/0041-008X(91)90290-U PMID:1871773
- McMillan DC, Leakey JE, Arlotto MP, McMillan JM, Hinson JA (1990). Metabolism of the arylamide herbicide propanil. II. Effects of propanil and its derivatives on hepatic microsomal drug-metabolizing enzymes in the rat. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 103(1):102–12. doi:10.1016/0041-008X(90)90266-W PMID:2315923
- McMillan DC, Shaddock JG, Heflich RH, Casciano DA, Hinson JA (1988). Evaluation of propanil and its *N*-oxidized derivatives for genotoxicity in the *Salmonella typhimurium* reversion, Chinese hamster ovary/hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase, and rat hepatocyte/DNA repair assays. *Fundam Appl Toxicol*, 11(3):429–39. doi:10.1016/0272-0590(88)90107-8 PMID:3065118
- Miller GC, Zisook R, Zepp R (1980). Photolysis of 3,4-dichloroaniline in natural waters. *J Agric Food Chem*, 28(6):1053–6. doi:10.1021/jf60232a010
- Morse DL, Baker EL Jr, Kimbrough RD, Wisseman CL 3rd (1979). Propanil-chloracne and methomyl toxicity in workers of a pesticide manufacturing plant. *Clin Toxicol*, 15(1):13–21. doi:<u>10.3109/15563657908992475</u> PMID:<u>159154</u>

- NTP (1998). NTP technical report on the toxicity studies of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene (CAS No. 14047-09-7) administered by gavage to F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice. *Toxic Rep Ser*, 65:1–F6. PMID:<u>11986682</u>
- NTP (2006a). NTP technical report on the toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD) (CAS No. 1746-01-6) in female Harlan Sprague-Dawley rats (gavage studies). *Natl Toxicol Program Tech Rep Ser*, (521):4–232. PMID:<u>16835633</u>
- NTP (2006b). NTP toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of 3,3',4,4',5-pentachlorobiphenyl (PCB 126) (CAS No. 57465-28-8) in female Harlan Sprague-Dawley rats (gavage studies). *Natl Toxicol Program Tech Rep Ser*, (520):4-246. PMID:<u>16628245</u>
- NTP (2006c). Toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of 2,3,4,7,8-pentachlorodibenzofuran (PeCDF) (CAS No. 57117-31-4) in female Harlan Sprague-Dawley rats (gavage studies). *Natl Toxicol Program Tech Rep Ser*, (525):1–198. PMID:<u>17160103</u>
- NTP (2010). Toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene (TCAB) (CAS No. 14047-09-7) in Harlan Sprague-Dawley rats and B6C3F1 mice (gavage studies). *Natl Toxicol Program Tech Rep Ser*, 558:1–206.
- OEHHA (2012). Chemicals known to the state to cause cancer or reproductive toxicity. Proposition 65 list. California, USA: Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment. Available from: <u>http://oehha.ca.</u> gov/media/downloads/crnr/p65single072012.pdf.
- OEHHA (2016). Preliminary screening information on possible pesticide classes for future consideration. Organophosphorus pesticides, neonicotinoid pesticides, anilide pesticides. Materials for July 28, 2016 Meeting of Scientific Guidance Panel for Biomonitoring California at the August 2013 meeting of the Scientific Guidance Panel (SGP). California, USA: Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment. Available from: <u>http://www.biomonitoring.ca.gov/sites/default/</u> files/downloads/PossiblePesticideClasses 072816.pdf.
- Pillai UA, Ziegler TL, Wang DX, Kattnig MJ, McClure T, Liebler DC, et al. (1996). 3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene absorption, disposition, and metabolism in male Fischer 344 rats. *Drug Metab Dispos*, 24(2):238–44. PMID:<u>8742237</u>
- Poland A, Clover E, Kende AS, DeCamp M, Giandomenico CM (1976). 3,4,3',4'-Tetrachloro azoxybenzene and azobenzene: potent inducers of aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase. *Science*, 194(4265):627–30. doi:<u>10.1126/</u> <u>science.136041</u> PMID:<u>136041</u>
- Ramot Y, Nyska A, Lieuallen W, Maly A, Flake G, Kissling GE, et al. (2009). Inflammatory and chloracne-like skin lesions in B6C3F1 mice exposed to 3,3',4,4'-tetra-chloroazobenzene for 2 years. *Toxicology*, 265(1–2):1–9. doi:10.1016/j.tox.2009.08.017 PMID:19737593

- Ramot Y, Vered M, Malarkey DE, Hooth MJ, Painter JT, Dayan D, et al. (2012). Immunohistochemical features of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene-induced rat gingival lesions. *Toxicol Pathol*, 40(4):577–92. doi:10.1177/0192623311436185 PMID:22317924
- Saint-Ruf G, Hien DP, Mercier M (1979). Effects of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene and 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazoxybenzene on rat liver microsomes. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 22(1):638–42. doi:10.1007/ <u>BF02027000</u> PMID:486765
- Scarisbrick DA, Martin JV (1981). Biochemical changes associated with chloracne in workers exposed to tetrachlorazobenzene and tetrachlorazoxybenzene. *J Soc Occup Med*, 31(4):158–63. doi:<u>10.1093/occmed/31.4.158</u> PMID:<u>6460133</u>
- Shaddock JG, Heflich RH, McMillan DC, Hinson JA, Casciano DA (1989). Pretreatment with mixed-function oxidase inducers increases the sensitivity of the hepatocyte/DNA repair assay. *Environ Mol Mutagen*, 13(4):281–8. doi:<u>10.1002/em.2850130402</u> PMID:2737181
- Singh J, Bingley R (1991). Levels of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene in propanil herbicide. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol, 47(6):822–6. doi:10.1007/BF01689510 PMID:1786453
- Smith MT, Guyton KZ, Gibbons CF, Fritz JM, Portier CJ, Rusyn I, et al. (2016). Key characteristics of carcinogens as a basis for organizing data on mechanisms of carcinogenesis. *Environ Health Perspect*, 124(6):713–21. PMID:26600562
- Still GG (1969). 3,4,3',4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene: its translocation and metabolism in rice plants. *Weed Res.*, 9(3):211–7. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3180.1969.tb01476.x
- Sundström G, Jansson B, Renberg L (1978). Determination of the toxic impurities 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene and 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazoxybenzene in commercial diuron, linuron and 3,4-dichloroaniline samples. *Chemosphere*, 7(12):973–9. doi:10.1016/0045-6535 (78)90007-3
- Taylor JS, Wuthrich RC, Lloyd KM, Poland A (1977). Chloracne from manufacture of a new herbicide. *Arch Dermatol*, 113(5):616–9. doi:<u>10.1001/archderm.</u> <u>1977.01640050076010</u> PMID:<u>140627</u>
- van Birgelen AP, Hébert CD, Wenk ML, Grimes LK, Chapin RE, Mahler J, et al. (1999). Toxicity of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene in rats and mice. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 156(2):147–59. doi:<u>10.1006/taap.1999.8640</u> PMID:<u>10198280</u>
- Witt KL, Zeiger E, Tice RR, van Birgelen AP (2000). The genetic toxicity of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene and 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazoxybenzene: discordance between acute mouse bone marrow and subchronic mouse peripheral blood micronucleus test results. *Mutat Res*, 472(1–2):147–54. doi:<u>10.1016/S1383-5718</u> (00)00143-1 PMID:11113707

- Worobey BL (1984). Fate of 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene in soybean plants grown in treated soils. *Chemosphere*, 13(10):1103–11. doi:10.1016/0045-6535(84)90109-7
- Worobey BL (1988). Translocation and disposition of [¹⁴C] trans 3,4,3',4'-tetrachloroazobenzene into carrots grown in treated soil. *Chemosphere*, 17(9):1727–34. doi:10.1016/0045-6535(88)90100-2
- Xiao H, Kuckelkorn J, Nüßer LK, Floehr T, Hennig MP, Roß-Nickoll M, et al. (2016). The metabolite 3,4,3',4'-tetrachloroazobenzene (TCAB) exerts a higher ecotoxicity than the parent compounds 3,4-dichloro-aniline (3,4-DCA) and propanil. *Sci Total Environ*, 551–552:304–16. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.02.019 PMID:26878642

ALDRIN AND DIELDRIN

1. Exposure Data

1.1 Identification of the agents

- 1.1.1 Nomenclature
- (a) Aldrin

Chem. Abstr. Serv. Reg. No.: 309-00-2 *IUPAC Systematic Name*:

 $(1R, 4S, 4\alpha S, 5S, 8R, 8\alpha R) - 1, 2, 3, 4, 10, 10$ hexachloro-1, 4, 4 α , 5, 8, 8 α -hexahydro-1, 4:5, 8dimethanonaphthalene (HHDN)

Synonyms:1,2,3,4,10,10-Hexachloro-1,4,4α,5,8,8αhexahydro-*exo*-1,4-*endo*-5,8-dimethanonaphtalene; HHDN (<u>ATSDR, 2002</u>)

"Aldrin" is most commonly used to mean HHDN with a purity of > 95%, except in Denmark and the countries of the former Soviet Union, where it is the name given to pure HHDN (IPCS, 1989, WHO, 2003).

(b) Dieldrin

Chem. Abstr. Serv. Reg. No.: 60-57-1

IUPAC Systematic Name:

(1*R*,4*S*,4*aS*,5*R*,6*R*,7*S*,8*S*,8*aR*)-1,2,3,4,10,10hexachloro-1,4,4*a*,5,6,7,8,8*a*-octahydro-6,7-epoxy-1,4:5,8-dimethanonaphthalene (HEOD)

Synonyms: 1,2,3,4,10,10-Hexachloro-6,7-epoxy-1,4,4a,5,6,7,8,8a-octa-hydro-1,4-*endo*,exo-5,8-dimethanonaphtalene; HEOD "Dieldrin" is most commonly used to mean HEOD with a purity of > 85%, except in Denmark and the countries of the former Soviet Union, where it is the name given to pure HEOD (IPCS, 1989; WHO, 2003).

1.1.2 Chemical and physical properties of the pure substances

(a) Aldrin



Molecular formula: C₁₂H₈Cl₆ *Relative molecular mass:* 364.91

(b) Dieldrin



Molecular formula: C₁₂H₈Cl₆O

Relative molecular mass: 380.91

Table 1.1 summarizes the chemical and physical properties of aldrin and dieldrin.

Chemical reactivity: Aldrin is stable to heat, and in the presence of inorganic and organic bases, hydrated metal chlorides, and mild acids. Epoxidation of aldrin with peracetic or perbenzoic acid forms the 6,7-epoxy derivative, dieldrin. The unchlorinated ring is attacked by oxidizing agents and strong acids (IARC, 1974).

1.1.3 Technical products and impurities

(a) Aldrin

Some trade names: Aldrec; Aldrex; Drinox; Octalene; Seedrin; Compound 118 (<u>ATSDR</u>, 2002)

Impurities: Octachlorocyclopentene, hexachlorobutadiene, toluene, and polymerization products (IPCS, 1989; WHO, 2003)

In 1967, the composition of technical aldrin was reported to be as follows: hexachloro-hexahydro-dimethano-naphthalene, 90.5%; other polychloro-hexahydro-dimethanonaphthalene (isodrin), 3.5%; hexachloro-tetrahydro-methano-indene (chlordane), 0.5%; hexachlorocyclopentadiene, 0.6% hexachlorobutadiene, 0.2%; octachlorocyclopentene, 0.5%; hexachloroethane, < 0.1%; HHDN diadduct, 0.1%; bicycloheptadiene, < 0.1%; toluene, 0.3%; and other compounds (primarily a complex mixture of compounds formed by polymerization of hexachlorocyclopentadiene and bicycloheptadiene during the aldrin reaction), 3.6% (IARC, 1974).

In the 1960s–70s, aldrin was available in the USA as a technical-grade product containing 95% minimum active ingredient (equivalent to 90.3% HHDN and 4.7% other insecticidally active related compounds) (Whetstone, 1964; Frear, 1972a). It was formulated into emulsifiable

concentrates, wettable powders, dusts, granules, and mixtures with fertilizers (<u>IARC, 1974</u>).

(b) Dieldrin

Some trade names: Alvit; Dieldrix; Octalox; Quintox; Red Shield (<u>ATSDR, 2002</u>) *Impurities*:Otherpolychloroepoxyoctahydrodimethanonaphthalenes and endrin (<u>IPCS</u>, <u>1989; WHO, 2003</u>)

In the 1960s–70s, dieldrin was available in the USA as a technical-grade product containing 100% active ingredient (equivalent to 85% HEOD and 15% other insecticidally active related compounds) with a chlorine content of 55–56%, free acid (as hydrochloric acid) at < 0.4%, and water at < 0.1% (Whetstone, 1964; Frear, 1972b). It was formulated into emulsifiable concentrates, solutions, wettable powders, dusts, granules, and mixtures with fertilizers (IARC, 1974).

1.2 Production and use

1.2.1. Production process

Aldrin and dieldrin were first synthesized in the laboratory in about 1948 (Whetstone, 1964) (Galley, 1970); commercial production in the USA was first reported in 1950 (US Tariff Commission, 1951).

Aldrin is produced by the Diels–Alder reaction of hexachlorocyclopentadiene with bicycloheptadiene (<u>Whetstone, 1964</u>).

Dieldrin is made commercially by the epoxidation of aldrin with a peracid (e.g. peracetic or perbenzoic acid), but can also be produced by the condensation of hexachlorocyclopentadiene with the epoxide of bicycloheptadiene (Galley, 1970; IARC, 1974).

Property	Aldrin	Dieldrin
Colour	White (pure); tan to brown (technical grade)	White (pure); light brown (technical grade)
Physical state	Crystalline solid	Crystalline solid
Melting point	104–105.5 °C; 49–60 °C (technical grade)	176–177 °C; 95 °C (technical grade)
Boiling point	Decomposes	Decomposes
Density	1.6 g/L at 20 °C	1.75 g/L at 25 °C
Odour	Mild chemical odour	Mild chemical odour
Odour threshold:		
Water	No data	No data
Air	0.017 mg/kg	0.041 mg/kg
Solubility:		
Water at 20 °C	0.011 mg/L	0.110 mg/L
Organic solvents	Very soluble in most organic solvents	Moderately soluble in common organic solvents except aliphatic petroleum solvents and methyl alcohol
Partition coefficients:		
Octanol/water, Log K _{ow}	6.50	6.2
Organic carbon, Log K _{oc}	7.67	6.67
Vapour pressure:		
at 20 °C	$7.5 \times 10^{-5} \text{ mmHg}$	$3.1 \times 10^{-5} \text{ mmHg}$
at 25 °C	$1.2 \times 10^{-4} \text{ mmHg}$	$5.89 \times 10^{-6} \mathrm{mmHg}$
Henry's law constant:		
at 25 °C	4.9×10^{-5} atm-m ³ /mol	$5.2 \times 10^{-6} \text{ atm-m}^{3}/\text{mol}$
Flammability limits	Nonflammable	Nonflammable
Conversion factors	1 ppm = 14.96 mg/m ³ at 25 °C, 1 atm	1 ppm = 15.61 mg/m ³ at 25 °C, 1 atm
Explosive limits	Stable	Stable

Table 1.1 Chemical and physical properties of pure aldrin and dieldrin

ppm, part per million From <u>ATSDR (2002)</u>

1.2.2. Production volumes

Global production, which was estimated to be 13 000 tonnes per year in 1972, had decreased to less than 2500 tonnes per year in 1984 (<u>IPCS</u>, <u>1989</u>).

The following European countries were reported to be producing aldrin and/or dieldrin in 1972 or 1973: Belgium (one supplier), Federal Republic of Germany (one), France (two), Italy (two), the Netherlands (one), and the United Kingdom (one) (<u>Ragno, 1972</u>; <u>Chemical Information Services Ltd, 1973</u>). In 1972, Japan was reported to have eight suppliers of aldrin and/or dieldrin and their formulations (<u>Chemical</u> Information Services Ltd, 1973). Imports into Japan were reported to be 143 000 kg for aldrin and 43 000 kg for dieldrin in 1970 (Hayashi, 1971; IARC, 1974).

The production, import, and use of aldrin and dieldrin in the USA were cancelled or at least considerably reduced by the time aldrin was listed as a Toxic Release Inventory (TRI) chemical in 1986 (EPA, 2003). Nonetheless, the industry trade literature revealed that 11 companies in the USA between 1989 and 1999, and 7 companies in the USA in 2016 reported production of aldrin and/or dieldrin (Jorgenson, 2001; Chem Sources, 2016). It is not known whether these chemicals were primarily exported, or whether they were used as chemical intermediates for other products, or only for scientific research (<u>Jorgenson</u>, <u>2001</u>).

In 2016, few facilities reported the production of aldrin and/or dieldrin in Europe and in Asia: Germany (one), United Kingdom (one), Belgium (one), Switzerland (one), China (two), Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (one), and Japan (one) (<u>Chem Sources, 2016</u>). In China, smallscale production for research purposes has been reported (<u>Wong et al., 2005</u>). No information was available concerning production in other countries.

1.2.3 Use

Aldrin and dieldrin are synthetic organochlorine insecticides. Originally, they were used as broad-spectrum soil insecticides for the protection of various food crops, as seed dressings, to control infestations of pests such as ants and termites, and to control several insect vectors of disease (EPA, 2003).

The respective quantities of aldrin and dieldrin used in, or sold for, agricultural purposes in 1970 were reported to be as follows (in tonnes): Myanmar (4.2 and not reported, NR); Canada (18.5 and NR); Colombia (198.5 and 27.8); El Salvador (21.9 and 2.6); Ghana (15.5 and 0.5); Iceland (0.1 and NR); Israel (1 and NR); Italy (2.765 and 9.7); Madagascar (3.5 and 0.1); Ryukyu Islands (9.1 and NR); Sudan (NR and 4.5); and Uruguay (9 and 10) (FAO, 1972). Aldrin and dieldrin use in California, a major agricultural state in the USA, was reportedly 22.7 tonnes for aldrin and nearly 32 tonnes for dieldrin in 1971. For aldrin, almost 90% was used for insect control on wooden structures, whereas for dieldrin, 34% was used for insect control on wooden structures, 14% was used on grapes and 13% was used on pears (California Department of Agriculture, 1972, 1973). In 1972, an estimated 80% of the combined production of aldrin and dieldrin in the USA was used on corn crops, and about 10% was used for termite control (<u>IARC, 1974</u>). Minor uses of dieldrin in the USA and in several other countries were for moth-proofing woollen clothes and carpets (<u>Lipson, 1970; IARC, 1974</u>).

An indication of possible uses of aldrin and dieldrin can be derived from the recommended residue limits for aldrin and dieldrin established by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations/World Health Organization (FAO/WHO) for the following food products: asparagus, broccoli, Brussels sprouts, cabbages, cauliflowers, cucumbers, aubergines, horse radishes, onions, parsnips, peppers, pimentos, radishes, radish tops, fruits (including citrus), rice, potatoes, carrots, lettuces, milk and milk products, raw cereals, and eggs (FAO/WHO, 1973).

Since the early 1970s, use of aldrin and dieldrin, especially in agriculture, has been severely restricted or banned in many countries all over the world (IPCS, 1995). In 1972, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) cancelled all except three specific uses of these compounds (subsurface termite control, dipping of non-food plant roots and tops, and completely contained moth-proofing in manufacturing processes), which by 1987 were voluntarily cancelled by the manufacturer (EPA, 2003).

In tropical countries, dieldrin was reported to be used as a residual spray in residential dwellings to control vector-borne diseases such as malaria, and also to control termites (CDC, 2009).

1.3 Analytical methods

The analytical methods available for detecting, measuring, and/or monitoring aldrin and dieldrin, their metabolites, and other biomarkers of exposure to and effects of aldrin and dieldrin have been described in detail elsewhere (<u>ATSDR</u>, 2002).

1.4 Occurrence and exposure

Under most environmental conditions, aldrin is readily converted to dieldrin (ATSDR, 2002). The half-lives of aldrin and dieldrin in air are estimated to range from 1 to 10 hours for aldrin and from 3 to 40.5 hours for dieldrin (Kwok & Atkinson, 1995; Jorgenson, 2001). In surface waters, aldrin has a reported biodegradation half-life of 24 days (Eichelberger & Lichtenberg, 1971). In the soil, aldrin is converted to dieldrin by epoxidation, with an estimated half-life of between 1.5 and 5.4 years, depending on the composition of the soil (Jorgenson, 2001). In contrast, the average half-life of dieldrin in soil ranges between 2.6 and 12.5 years and appears to be a function of its concentration (Jorgenson, 2001). Consequently, aldrin is infrequently measured in occupational and environmental samples. Dieldrin originating from the application or manufacture of aldrin cannot be distinguished from applied dieldrin. Measurements of dieldrin in the air, soil, water, or body may represent exposure to dieldrin, or aldrin, or both. Dieldrin from both sources bioaccumulates in body fat and is typically measured in blood or body tissues. Dieldrin is excreted in the bile, faeces, and breast milk, and can cross the placenta (Jorgenson, 2001; ATSDR, 2002).

1.4.1 Occupational exposure

Occupational exposure may occur in workers involved in the manufacture of dieldrin or aldrin and formulations containing dieldrin or aldrin, applicators who spray or mix dieldrin or aldrin, farm workers engaged in re-entry tasks, and vector-control workers.

(a) Air and skin

In the USA in the 1960s, estimates of potential dermal exposure to dieldrin during orchard spraying ranged from 14.2 to 15.5 mg per hour, and estimates of potential respiratory exposure ranged from 0.03 to 0.25 mg per hour (Wolfe et al., 1963, 1967). Dieldrin was found on the hands of two out of five greenhouse workers (4.9 and 8.4 ng/hand), one out of nine veterinarians (1.9 ng/hand), and none out of seven florists monitored in France in 2002; however, no dieldrin was detected in their breathing air (Bouvier et al., 2006). In a limited number of stationary air samples collected between 1958 and 1960 from a pesticide formulation plant located in the Netherlands, aldrin and dieldrin concentrations were generallyless than 0.25 mg/m³, with concentrations of dieldrin of up to 4 mg/m³ measured during drum filling (de Jong, 1991).

(b) Biological markers and intake

Dieldrin has been measured in the blood of agricultural workers and pesticide-treatment workers (Table 1.2). Blood concentrations of dieldrin have been steadily declining in agricultural workers since dieldrin and aldrin were banned (Hayes & Curley, 1968; see also Section 1.5). A correlation of 0.6 between concentration of dieldrin in plasma and total hours of exposure was observed in pesticide-manufacturing workers (Hayes & Curley, 1968). The highest blood concentrations of dieldrin were observed in the 1960s in aldrin formulators in the USA (Mick et al., 1972) and in insecticide-plant workers in the Netherlands (de Jong, 1991). In the latter study of 343 insecticide-plant workers between 1963 and 1970, 18% had levels of 100 μ g/L or higher and 5% had levels of 200 µg/L and higher (de Jong, 1991). Estimated daily intake of dieldrin was highest in people employed in the formulation plant, with the estimated median daily intake of assistant operators and cleaners decreasing from 2122 µg/day in 1963 to 575 µg/day in 1969, and the estimated median daily intake of operators decreasing from 1546 µg/day in 1963 to 291 µg/day in 1969. Aldrin/dieldrin plant workers had the second highest estimated daily intake of dieldrin: assistant operators' and cleaners' estimated median intake decreased from 1163 µg/day

to 427 µg/day between 1963 and 1969; estimated median intake for maintenance workers varied between 116 µg and 186 µg between 1963 and 1969 (highest levels in 1964 and 1965); and operators' estimated median intake varied from 291 to 826 µg (highest levels in 1964 and 1965) (de Jong, 1991). Dieldrin intake by occupationally exposed workers employed in the manufacture of dieldrin, aldrin, endrin, and other insecticides has been estimated to range from 0.72 to 1.10 mg/person per day (Hayes & Curley, 1968) compared with 0.025 mg/person per day for the general population (Hunter & Robinson, 1967).

Aldrin in the blood of occupationally exposed workers has been infrequently measured (Table 1.2). Mean aldrin concentrations in the blood of pesticide manufacturing workers in the 1960s in the USA were highest in aldrin formulators (29.5 μ g/L) and much lower in 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) and 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4,5-T) formulators (0.8 μ g/L) (Mick et al., 1972).

1.4.2 Community exposure

The general population can be exposed to dieldrin and aldrin directly or from residues on food or from living near areas where dieldrin or aldrin was sprayed. Exposures may occur during personal use of products containing dieldrin or aldrin, such as during pesticide treatments carried out in and around the home to prevent termites (ATSDR, 2002), and as a result of their persistence in the environment: aldrin and dieldrin are classified as persistent organic pollutants (POPs) (Stockholm Convention, 2001). Aldrin was consistently found less frequently than dieldrin and, when quantified, in smaller quantities (see below).

(a) Water

Dieldrin and aldrin are hydrophobic and do not dissolve easily in water (<u>Mackay &</u> <u>Wolkoff, 1973</u>). Water concentrations are usually

198

< 0.01 µg/L, with higher levels attributed to contamination from industrial effluents and soil erosion during agricultural use (WHO, 2003). Detectable concentrations of dieldrin are regularly reported in samples collected 5–15 years after use of dieldrin and aldrin was discontinued. In water samples collected in the early 1970s, an average dieldrin concentration of 0.3 ng/L was found in drinking-water in Hawaii, USA (Bevenue et al., 1972), and 0.19 µg/L in 50% of cistern-water samples taken in one locality in the Virgin Islands (Lenon et al., 1972). Surface, ground, lake, and marine waters generally contained low concentrations of aldrin and dieldrin.

In the 1980s, dieldrin was detected in surfaceand groundwater samples from Canada, from Puerto Rico, and from 48 states of the USA (EPA, 1987). In a similar survey in the USA in 1992–2001, dieldrin was found in less than 5% of samples of stream water and ground water, but most frequently and at the highest concentrations in areas where corn crops had been treated extensively with aldrin and dieldrin (USGS, 2006). Dieldrin and aldrin were detected in samples collected from the Sarno River, Italy (Montuori et al., 2014), and rivers in Greece (Golfinopoulos et al., 2003; Konstantinou et al., 2006; Litskas et al., 2012), but not in samples from the Nile River and its estuaries, Egypt (Abbassy et al., 1999).

(b) Sediment and soil

Past use of aldrin and dieldrin has resulted in the presence of residues of these compounds in the soil today. Both compounds bind to soil and are absorbed into the food chain (Jorgenson, 2001). Sunlight and bacteria change aldrin to dieldrin. Dieldrin has low volatility and its halflife in soil has been estimated to range from 2.6 to 12.5 years (Jorgenson, 2001; Beyer & Gale, 2013). Dieldrin has been detected in river-bed sediments in the USA (20–45% of samples) (USGS, 2006), in marine sediments in Portugal (Carvalho et al., 2009), in marine sediments directly exposed

Table 1	.2 Concentrat	ions of aldrin and die	ldrin in blood samples fr	רסש סככו	Ipationally expos	ed workers	
Agent	Country, year	Occupation	Work task or type of worker	No. of workers	Exposure level ^a	Exposure range	Reference
Aldrin	Brazil, 1997	Agricultural workers	Mixing, loading, and/or applying pesticides	26	NR	All < 1.4 μ g/L	<u>Paumgartten et</u> al. (1998)
Aldrin	Columbia, 2005–2006	Agricultural workers	Tasks involving pesticide use in the past 2 yr	66	0.0037 µg/L	NR-0.209 μg/L, 15% detects	<u>Varona et al.</u> (2010)
Aldrin	USA	Pesticide manufacturing workers	Aldrin formulators	7	29.5 μg/L		<u>Mick et al. (1972)</u>
Aldrin	USA	Pesticide manufacturing workers	Warehouse	4	7.6 μg/L		<u>Mick et al. (1972)</u>
Aldrin	USA	Pesticide manufacturing workers	Maintenance and miscellaneous	3	2.8 μg/L		<u>Mick et al. (1972)</u>
Aldrin	USA	Pesticide manufacturing workers	2,4-D & 2,4,5-T formulators	9	0.8 μg/L		<u>Mick et al. (1972)</u>
Dieldrin	Brazil, 1997	Agricultural workers	Mixing, loading, and/or applying pesticides	26	NR	< 1.4–3.7 μg/L, 4% detects	<u>Paumgartten et</u> al. (1998)
Dieldrin	Columbia, 2005–2006	Agricultural workers	Tasks involving pesticide use in the past 2 yr	66	0.004 μg/L	< 0.020-0.090 μg/L, 11% detects	<u>Varona et al.</u> (2010)
Dieldrin	USA, NR	Farmer	Pre- and post-pesticide application	12	NR	< 0.23–21 µg/L, 33% detects	<u>Brock et al. (1998)</u>
Dieldrin	USA, NR	Pesticide manufacturing workers	Pipefitters, shippers, and helpers	20	23.3 μg/L	1.2-4.6 μg/L	<u>Hayes & Curley</u> (1968)
Dieldrin	USA, NR	Pesticide manufacturing workers	Operators, foremen	26	18.9 μg/L	3.2–108 μg/L	<u>Hayes & Curley</u> (1968)
Dieldrin	USA, NR	Pesticide manufacturing workers	Painters, carpenters, engineers, inspectors, laboratory workers	17	9.8 μg/L	1.3–21.5 μg/L	<u>Hayes & Curley</u> (1968)
Dieldrin	USA, NR	Pesticide manufacturing workers	Clerical workers	8	5.4 μg/L	< 0.7–25.5 μg/L	<u>Hayes & Curley</u> (1968)
Dieldrin	The Netherlands, NR	Pesticide manufacturing workers	Manufacture of dieldrin, aldrin and endrin	12	26 μg/L	0.5-110 μg/L	<u>Hunter et al.</u> (1972)
Dieldrin	USA, NR	Pesticide manufacturing workers	Aldrin formulators	7	182.5 μg/L	NR- ~300 µg/L	<u>Mick et al. (1972)</u>
Dieldrin	USA, NR	Pesticide manufacturing workers	Warehouse	4	77.5 μg/L	NR- ~150 μg/L	<u>Mick et al. (1972)</u>
Dieldrin	USA, NR	Pesticide manufacturing workers	Maintenance and miscellaneous	c,	35.2 μg/L	NR- ~80 μg/L	<u>Mick et al. (1972)</u>

Aldrin and Dieldrin

Table 1	.2 (continued	(7)					
Agent	Country, year	Occupation	Work task or type of worker	No. of workers	Exposure level ^a	Exposure range	Reference
Dieldrin	USA, NR	Pesticide manufacturing workers	2,4-D & 2,4,5-T formulators	6	11.0 μg/L	NR – 20 μg/L	<u>Mick et al. (1972)</u>
Dieldrin	Australia, NR	Pesticide treatment workers	Vehicle and plant maintenance or stores	S.	Median, 7 μg/L	0.9–14.5 μg/L	<u>Edwards &</u> Priestly (1994)
Dieldrin	Australia, NR	Pesticide treatment workers	Termiticide applicators	10	Median, 5.3 μg/L	2.5–145 μg/L	<u>Edwards &</u> Priestly (1994)
Dieldrin	Australia, NR	Pesticide treatment workers	Pre-building treatment of building sites and foundations	5	Median, 16 μg/L	2.5-250 μg/L	<u>Edwards &</u> Priestly (1994)
Dieldrin	Australia, NR	Pesticide treatment workers	Office and sales	10	Median, 4.8–5.8 μg/L	0.7-26 μg/L;	<u>Edwards &</u> Priestly (1994)
Dieldrin	Sudan, NR	Pesticide treatment workers	Mixing and spraying insecticides	22	NR	< 10–50 μg/L, 27% detects	<u>El Zorgani & Musa (1976)</u>
Dieldrin	Argentina, NR	Pesticide workers	Sprayers, spray truck drivers, supervisors using hexachlorocyclohexane or DDT	20	Catamarca Province: 1.09 ± 0.60 μg/L; Salta Province: 1.16 ± 0.72 μg/L	NR	<u>Radomski et al.</u> (1971)
Dieldrin	Argentina, NR	Pesticide workers	Former sprayers in malaria control programme	10	Catamarca Province: 2.81 ± 3.59 μg/L	NR	<u>Radomski et al.</u> (1971)
Dieldrin	Argentina, NR	Pesticide workers	Administrative personnel	19	Catamarca Province: 2.09 ± 1.25 μg/L; Salta Province: 0.77 ± 0.74 μg/L	NR	<u>Radomski et al.</u> (1971)
Dieldrin	The Netherlands, 1963–1970	Insecticide manufacturing workers	Various	343	NR	< 10 μg/L to > 200 μg/L	<u>de Jong (1991)</u>

Exposure levels expressed in mean unless indicated otherwise 2,4-D, 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid; DDT, dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane; 2,4,5-T, 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid; NR, not reported; yr, year(s)

to wastewater in Marseille, France (<u>Syakti et al.</u>, <u>2012</u>), in agricultural soil samples in Shanghai, China (<u>Jiang et al.</u>, <u>2009</u>), and in soil samples from the Czech Republic (<u>Shegunova et al.</u>, <u>2007</u>).

(c) Air

Concentrations of dieldrin in air are generally low; however, exposures may be greater for residents living around sites where aldrin or dieldrin has been used. Atmospheric transport has resulted in detectable concentrations of dieldrin in remote areas of Scandinavia and the Arctic, where it is unlikely that aldrin or dieldrin were ever used (USGS, 2006). Dieldrin was detected at only one out of nine localities in the USA, at a maximum level of 29.7 ng/m³ (Stanley et al., 1971). In London and its suburbs, England, very small quantities of dieldrin (18-21 g/1012 g of air) were detected in air (Abbott et al., 1966). In the Bahamas in the early 1970s, concentrations of dieldrin in air ranged from 0.33 ng/m³ to 0.86 ng/m³ (Davies et al., 1975). More recently, air measurements collected between 2001 and 2008 in Mali found dieldrin at concentrations of $0.091-1.8 \text{ ng/m}^3$ (mean, $1.1 \pm 0.8 \text{ ng/m}^3$; median, 1.7 ng/m³) (Garrison et al., 2014). Concentrations were more than twice as high in samples from an urban area of Kati, Mali, than in samples from downwind sites. Alegria et al. (2000) reported mean concentrations of dieldrin of 0.044 ng/m³ in an inland agricultural area of Belize in 1995-1996. Low dieldrin concentrations (maximum, 0.64 ng/m³; median, 0.00 ng/m³) were reported at mid-continental sites in the USA in 1994 (Majewski et al., 1998).

In air samples collected in the USA, aldrin was infrequently detected and, when detected, occurred at low concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 4 ng/m³ (Tabor, 1966; Stanley et al., 1971).

(d) Residential exposure

Detectable concentrations of dieldrin were found at a range of < 0.1 to 0.3 ng/m³ in 42% of air samples collected in homes of residents with no occupational exposure, in France (Bouvier et al., 2006). Samples collected from the hands of these residents showed dieldrin at detectable concentrations (30% detects; range, < 0.8–5.5 ng/hand). Dieldrin was detected in house dust in eight out of nine homes in the USA sampled in the early 1990s, with a mean of 0.12 μ g/m² and maximum of 0.38 μ g/m² (Lewis et al., 1994). Aldrin was detected in five out of nine homes in the USA sampled in the early 1990s, but in only one to three of the six environmental matrices examined in these homes (Lewis et al., 1994). Concentrations of dieldrin in carpet dust were higher than those in samples from the walkway, entryway, or play-area soil. Detectable concentrations of dieldrin in air were found in four out of eight homes (mean, 0.07 µg/m³). For children, estimated dieldrin intake ranged from < 0.1 to $0.13 \,\mu\text{g/day}$ via air, and from < 0.01 to 0.04 $\mu\text{g/day}$ via dust. Average dieldrin concentrations were higher in samples of interior dust (2.84 ppm) than in samples of exterior soil (0.07 ppm) from homes in the Bahamas (Davies et al., 1975).

(e) Residues in food, and dietary intake

Dieldrin is stored in the adipose tissue, liver, brain, and muscle of mammals, fish, birds, and other organisms in the food chain (WHO, 2003). The half-life in whole fish is estimated to be about 30 years (USGS, 2006). In whole fish collected from streams draining from watersheds with mixed land use in the USA from 1969 to 1999, dieldrin concentrations in fish tissue varied substantially during the early 1970s, then continued to decline slowly through the early 1990s (USGS, 2006). In Australia, the maximum concentration in fish tissue was 0.14 and 1.75 µg/g wet weight in the 1970s and 1980s, respectively, for aldrin, and 0.37, 3.1, and 0.23 µg/g wet weight in the 1970s, 1980s, and 1990s, respectively, for dieldrin (Connell et al., 2002).

In Poland, the mean daily intake of aldrin and dieldrin combined from milk for an adult was 4.1 ng/kg body weight (bw) based on mean concentrations in cows' milk of 0.5–4.8 ng/g wet weight for aldrin and 0.03–0.2 ng/g wet weight for dieldrin (<u>Witczak et al., 2013</u>).

In a study in which the median concentration of dieldrin in mothers' milk was reported to be 6 μ g/L, the estimated intake by breast-fed babies was approximately 1 μ g/kg bw per day (IPCS, 1989). In Denmark, the average daily intake of dieldrin in infants was estimated to be 0.045 μ g/kg per day based on average dieldrin concentrations in breast milk of 9 ng/g fat (Danish National Board of Health, 1999). Measurements taken in samples of children's meals in the Salinas Valley of California, USA, in 2002 found detectable levels of dieldrin in 10% of toddlers' solid food samples, with a maximum concentration of 6.1 ng/g (Bradman et al., 2007).

The total dietary intake of dieldrin in the late 1960s was found to range between 0.05 and 0.08 μ g/kg bw per day in the USA (Duggan & Corneliussen, 1972), 0.07 μ g/kg bw per day in Japan (Uyeta et al., 1971), and 0.30 and 0.09 μ g/kg bw per day in the United Kingdom for 1965 and 1966–67, respectively (McGill & Robinson, 1968; Abbott et al., 1969).

The average daily intake of aldrin from food ranged from 0.04 to 0.0001 μ g/kg bw per day for 1965–1970, with an average intake of 0.01 μ g/kg bw per day (Duggan & Lipscomb, 1969). The reduction in use of aldrin since the 1970s has decreased food residues in many countries (IPCS, 1989). Intake in 1980–1982 was estimated to be below 0.2 μ g/kg bw per day in several countries (IPCS, 1989).

(f) Biological markers

Dieldrin has been measured in the blood of populations of varying ages and in various geographical locations over the past several decades (<u>Table 1.3</u>). Although serum dieldrin concentrations have generally decreased over time, detectable levels continue to be measured decades after use of dieldrin and aldrin was banned. Serum dieldrin levels at the 95th percentile in samples from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys (NHANES) 2001-2002 and 2003-2004 were approximately 10 times lower than in samples from NHANES 1976-1980 (Stehr-Green, 1989; CDC, 2009). Detection rates for aldrin measured in the blood were generally low. An exception was observed for blood samples collected from people living in an agricultural area of southern Spain. Carreño et al. (2007) found detectable levels of aldrin in 79% of blood samples from young men. Aldrin and dieldrin have also been detected in adipose tissue and breast milk (Table 1.3). For example, dieldrin was detected in 59% of adipose tissue samples collected in a Danish population between 1993 and 1997, with a median concentration of 17 and 19 μ g/kg for women and men, respectively (Bräuner et al., 2012). Cerrillo et al. (2006) found detectable levels of aldrin in 30% of adipose tissue samples from women aged 33-75 years. Because aldrin rapidly converts to dieldrin, the high rate of detection of dieldrin may indicate recent exposure to aldrin, despite its ban in the mid-1980s (Cerrillo et al., 2006). [The Working Group noted that the pattern of results across different matrices and for aldrin and dieldrin was difficult to explain by exposure or release from adipose tissue.]

Dieldrin has been detected at a mean concentration of 0.01–11 µg/L in breast milk in Europe and the USA (IPCS, 1989). Dieldrin concentrations in breast milk decreased from an average of 1.33 ng/g milk in 1982 to 0.85 ng/g milk in 1986 (WHO, 2003). However, higher concentrations of up to 35 ng/g were found in the 1980s in breast milk from Australian women whose houses were treated annually with aldrin (Stacey & Tatum, 1985).

Dieldrin has also been measured in breast tissue (<u>Djordjevic et al., 1994</u>; <u>Mathur et al.,</u> 2002), and bone marrow (<u>Scheele et al., 1992</u>).

Aldrin and dieldrin were detected in 82% and 75%, respectively, of samples of umbilical cord blood collected in 2013–2014 from 999 pregnant

Table 1	1.3 Concentra	ations of aldrii	n and dieldrin i	n biological	samples from the	e general popul	ation	
Agent	Sample matrix	Country, year	Age (years)	No. of samples	Exposure level ^a	Exposure range,% detects	Comments	Reference
Aldrin	Adipose tissue	Spain, NR	33−75, mean 56 ± 10.46	458	10.51 ng/g lipid	NR, 30.3% detects	Women living in agricultural areas of southern Spain that have the largest area of intensive greenhouse agriculture in Europe	<u>Cerrillo et</u> <u>al. (2006)</u>
Aldrin	Adipose tissue	Spain, NR	Mean age, 53	200	$25.6 \pm ng/g lipid$	NR–137 ng/g lipid, 40% detects	Women living in intensive greenhouse agriculture area	<u>Botella et al.</u> (2004)
Aldrin	Blood	India, NR	21-70	50	115 μg/L	NR	Similar levels in rural and urban environments (mean, 168 µg/L vs 101 µg/L)	<u>Mathur et al.</u> (2002)
Aldrin	Serum	Spain, NR	Mean age, 53	200	2.17 μg/L	NR – 14.2 μg/L, 56% detects	Women living in intensive greenhouse agriculture area	<u>Botella et al.</u> (2004)
Aldrin	Serum	Spain, NR	18–23	220 (Males)	3.75 μg/L; Median, 2.62 μg/L	< 3.0–33.76 μg/L, 79% detects	Extensive greenhouse agricultural area	<u>Carreño et</u> <u>al. (2007)</u>
Aldrin	Serum	Nicaragua, 2002	11-15	38	NR	0% detects	LOD estimated, < 10 ng/g lipid; Working and living at municipal waste-disposal site and in nonworking children living both nearby and far from site	<u>Cuadra et al.</u> (2006)
Aldrin	Serum	Brazil, 1999	19–63	33	NR	< 1.4 μg/L, 0% detects	Urban area	<u>Delgado et</u> <u>al. (2002)</u>
Aldrin	Serum	India, NR	≥ 18	50	2.08 µg/L	NR	Controls, no occupational exposure	<u>Tomar et al.</u> (2013)
Aldrin	Serum	Norway, 1973–1991	18–60; mean, 41.2	300	NR	< 0.08–NR ng/g, lipid 1% detects		<u>Ward et al.</u> (2000)
Aldrin	Plasma	France, Germany, Spain, NR	Mean, 56.5 ± 15.7	203	Median of detectable, 19.8 μg/L	6.7–NR µg/L, Spain 9% detects; France and Germany 0% detects		<u>Cocco et al.</u> (2008)
Aldrin	Breast milk	Israel, 2011– 2012	23-35; mean, 30	52	NR	NR, 0% detect	Pooled sample	<u>Wasser et al.</u> (2015)

Aldrin and Dieldrin

Table 1.	.3 (continué	(pə						
Agent	Sample matrix	Country, year	Age (years)	No. of samples	Exposure level ^a	Exposure range,% detects	Comments	Reference
Aldrin	Breast milk	Turkey, NR	NR	75	36.6 ng/g lipid	< 5–230.6 ng/g, 58.7% detects		<u>Yalçın et al.</u> (2015)
Dieldrin	Adipose tissue	Denmark, 1993–1997	Men, 51–64	126	Mean, 22 µg/kg lipid; median, 19 µg/kg lipid	5–95th percentile: 10–42 μg/kg lipid	59% detects overall (includes women)	<u>Bräuner et</u> al. (2012)
Dieldrin	Adipose tissue	Denmark, 1993–1997	Women, 51–64	119	Mean, 24 µg/kg lipid; median, 17 µg/kg lipid	5–95th percentile: 8–49 μg/kg lipid	59% detects overall (includes men)	<u>Bräuner et</u> al. (2012)
Dieldrin	Adipose tissue	USA, NR	37-66	ъ		All < 10 μg/kg fatty tissue, 0% detects	Study controls	<u>Djordjevic et</u> <u>al. (1994)</u>
Dieldrin	Adipose tissue	Australia, 1990–1991	NR	31	Median, 40 μg/kg extractable fat	10–1100 µg/kg extractable fat, 100% detects	Nursing mothers	<u>Stevens et al.</u> (1993)
Dieldrin	Adipose tissue	Spain, NR	Mean, 53	200	17 ng/g lipid	NR–84 ng/g lipid, 28.5% detects	Postmenopausal women living in intensive greenhouse agriculture area	<u>Botella et al.</u> (2004)
Dieldrin	Blood	USA, 1999– 2004	≥ 20	2341	Median detected, 8.74 ng/g lipid- adjusted	< 10.5 ng/g lipid- adjusted, 22% detects	Nationally representative sample (NHANES)	Everett & <u>Matheson</u> (2010)
Dieldrin	Blood	Israel, 1975– 1986	NR	15	2.7 ng/g	NR	Females of reproductive age	<u>Pines et al.</u> (1987)
Dieldrin	Blood	USA, NR	NR	26	1.49 ± 1.00 μg/L	NR	Adults	<u>Radomski et</u> al. (1971 <u>)</u>
Dieldrin	Blood	Argentina, NR	NR	20	1.43 ± 1.21 μg/L	NR	Adults	<u>Radomski et</u> <u>al. (1971)</u>
Dieldrin	Blood	Argentina, NR	Children, 5–10	18	$0.94 \pm 0.92 \ \mu g/L$	NR		<u>Radomski et</u> <u>al. (1971)</u>
Dieldrin	Blood	Argentina, NR	Children, 1–5	19	$0.54 \pm 0.29 \ \mu g/L$	NR		<u>Radomski et</u> <u>al. (1971)</u>
Dieldrin	Blood	Argentina, NR	Newborns	13	$0.59 \pm 0.42 \ \mu g/L$	NR	Ratio newborn to mother: 0.44 \pm 0.16 $\mu g/L$	<u>Radomski et</u> <u>al. (1971)</u>

IARC MONOGRAPHS – 117

Table 1	.3 (continue	ed)						
Agent	Sample matrix	Country, year	Age (years)	No. of samples	Exposure level ^a	Exposure range,% detects	Comments	Reference
Dieldrin	Serum	Spain, NR	Mean, 53	200	1.21 μg/L	NR-6.35 μg/L, 47% detects	Postmenopausal women living in intensive greenhouse agriculture area	<u>Botella et al.,</u> (2004)
Dieldrin	Serum	Spain, NR	Men, 18–23	220	Mean, 1.85 μg/L; median, 0.50 μg/L,	< 3–29.42 μg/L, 40.7% detects	Extensive greenhouse agricultural area, association with maternal employment in agriculture	<u>Carreño et</u> al. (2007)
Dieldrin	Serum	Nicaragua, 2002	11-15	38	NR	0% detects	LOD estimated < 10 ng/g lipid; working and living at municipal waste-disposal site and in nonworking children living both nearby and far from site	<u>Cuadra et al.</u> (2006)
Dieldrin	Serum	The Bahamas, 1970–1971	≥ 20; mean, 39	148	Mean, 1.1 μg/L	< 1–9.2 μg/L		<u>Davies et al.</u> (1975)
Dieldrin	Serum	Brazil, 1999	19–63	33	NR	All < 1.4 $\mu g/L$	Urban area	<u>Delgado et</u> <u>al. (2002)</u>
Dieldrin	Serum	USA, NR	67.6 ± 14.6	144	Geometric mean, 0.38 μg/L	NR	Study controls; concentrations associated with older age, higher education, higher BMI, a few other factors	<u>Louis et al.</u> (2006)
Dieldrin	Serum	Costa Rica, 2012	≥ 65	53	3.40 μg/L			<u>Steenland et</u> <u>al. (2014)</u>
Dieldrin	Serum	United Republic of Tanzania, NR	NR	47	Females, 0.50 ± 0.07 ng/g; males, 0.55 ± 0.09 ng/g	NR	Adults, reproductive age	<u>Weiss et al.</u> (2006)
Dieldrin	Serum	Germany, NR	NR	42	Women, 0.02 ± 0.01 ng/g; men, 0.08 ± 0.01 ng/g	NR	Adults, reproductive age	<u>Weiss et al.</u> (2006)
Dieldrin	Serum	Norway, 1973–1991	18–60; mean, 41.2	300	Median, 16.1 ng/g lipid	< 0.47 ng/g – NR, 67.9% detects		<u>Ward et al.</u> (2000)

Aldrin and Dieldrin

lable 1	.3 (continui	ed)						
Agent	Sample matrix	Country, year	Age (years)	No. of samples	Exposure level ^a	Exposure range,% detects	Comments	Reference
Dieldrin	Plasma	Spain, Germany, France, NR	54.7	203	Median of detectable, 16.2 μg/L	6.2–NR μg/L, Spain 34% detects; France and Germany 0% detects		<u>Cocco et al.</u> (2008)
Dieldrin	Seminal plasma	United Republic of Tanzania, NR	NR	31	Mean, 0.13 ± 0.05 ng/g	NR	Men, reproductive age	<u>Weiss et al.</u> (2006)
Dieldrin	Seminal plasma	Germany, NR	NR	21	Mean, 0.03 ± 0.01 ng/g	NR	Men, reproductive age	<u>Weiss et al.</u> (2006)
Dieldrin	Follicular fluid	United Republic of Tanzania, NR	NR	31	Mean, 0.17 ± 0.02 ng/g	NR	Women, reproductive age	<u>Weiss et al.</u> (2006)
Dieldrin	Follicular fluid	Germany, NR	NR	21	Mean, 0.03 ± 0.01 ng/g	NR	Women, reproductive age	<u>Weiss et al.</u> (2006)
Dieldrin	Breast milk	Denmark, 1997–2001	NR	36	Median 4.66 ng/g	25th-75th percentiles: 3.06–5.98 ng/g	Women had a narrow age distribution and were mainly from higher social class	<u>Krysiak-</u> <u>Baltyn et al.</u> (2010)
Dieldrin	Breast milk	Finland, 1997–2001	NR	32	Median 2.21 ng/g	25 th –75 th percentiles: 1.86–3.10 ng/g	Women had a narrow age distribution and were mainly from higher social class	<u>Krysiak-</u> <u>Baltyn et al.</u> (2010)
Dieldrin	Breast milk	USA, NR	NR	1436	Mean 164.2 ± 436.2 ppb fat-adjusted	< 1 -> 500 ppb, 80.8% detects		<u>Savage et al.</u> (1981)
Dieldrin	Breast milk	Israel, 2011–2012	23-35; mean, 30	52	2.8 ng/g lipid	NR	Pooled sample	<u>Wasser et al.</u> (2015)
Dieldrin	Breast milk	Turkey, NR	NR	75	NR	All < 5 ng/g lipid, 0% detects		<u>Yalçın et al.</u> (2015)
Dieldrin	Breast milk	Denmark, 1993–94	25-29	36	Median, 8 ng/g fat	3–19 ng/g fat	Women, several days after giving birth	<u>Danish</u> <u>National</u> <u>Board of</u> <u>Health</u> (1999)

^a Exposure levels expressed as the mean, unless otherwise indicated BM1, body mass index; LOD, limit of detection; NHANES, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey; NR, not reported

women in China, with a mean aldrin concentration of 7.29 μ g/L and mean dieldrin concentration of 5.27 μ g/L (Luo et al., 2016).

1.5. Regulations and guidelines

In the USA, the American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists (ACGIH), the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), and the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) have all adopted a time-weighted average (TWA) concentration limit of 0.25 mg/m3 in air for aldrin and dieldrin, also noting dangers from cutaneous absorption (ATSDR, 2002; NIOSH, 2016a). NIOSH has also designated aldrin as a "potential occupational carcinogen," and has determined an Immediately Dangerous to Life or Health (IDLH) concentration of 25 mg/m³ (NIOSH, 2016a). NIOSH similarly designated dieldrin as a "potential occupational carcinogen," and has determined an IDLH concentration of 50 mg/m³ (NIOSH, 2016b).

WHO has established a guideline value of 0.03 μ g/L for the sum of aldrin and dieldrin concentrations in drinking-water (WHO, 2003). The United States EPA has not established a maximum contaminant level for aldrin in drinking-water, but has published a variety of non-enforceable health advisory levels that depend on duration of exposure and age (EPA, 2012).

Under the European Union harmonized classification and labelling system, both aldrin and dieldrin are suspected of "causing cancer" (Carc. 2) [H 351] and have been determined to be "very toxic to aquatic life" (Aquatic Acute 1) [H 450] and "very toxic to aquatic life with long lasting effects" (Aquatic Chronic 1) [H 410], "toxic if swallowed" (Acute Tox. 3) [H 311], and to "cause damage to organs through prolonged or repeated exposure" (STOT RE 1) [H 372] (ECHA, 2016a, b). In addition, aldrin has been determined to be "toxic in contact with skin" (Acute Tox. 3) [H 301], whereas dieldrin has been determined to be "fatal in contact with skin" (Acute Tox. 1) [H 310] (<u>ECHA, 2016a</u>, <u>b</u>).

In the USA, aldrin and dieldrin uses were restricted to certain non-food applications in 1974, and the sole manufacturer cancelled all remaining uses in 1989 (ATSDR, 2002). In the 1970s, the use of aldrin was banned or severely restricted in a number of additional countries including Germany, Italy, Japan, Norway, the former Soviet Union, and the United Kingdom (IARC, 1974). Use and export of aldrin and dieldrin are banned in the European Union (European Commission, 2004). There are additional restrictions and requirements regarding the presence of aldrin in seeds, effluent, groundwater, water bodies, hazardous waste, and releases to the environment in the USA (ATSDR, 2002).

Aldrin and dieldrin are listed in Annex A of the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants (<u>Stockholm Convention, 2008</u>), under which parties must take steps to eliminate production and use unless they have registered for an exemption.

2. Cancer in Humans

2.1 Aldrin

Aldrin and dieldrin are often discussed together because aldrin readily converts into dieldrin, both in the environment and in the human body (see Sections 1 and 4). The studies in this section may therefore also be discussed or referred to in the section on dieldrin (Section 2.2), when results for both compounds were presented in the same study.

2.1.1 Cohort studies

See <u>Table 2.1</u>.

(a) Occupational cohorts

Two studies have published results related to aldrin exposure in occupational cohorts: a study in workers at an insecticide plant in Pernis-Rotterdam, the Netherlands; and the Agricultural Health Study (AHS) of Iowa and North Carolina, USA, among residents licensed to apply restricted-use pesticides. A study in workers at organochlorine pesticide-manufacturing plants in Colorado, USA, was considered uninformative because the plant had produced many different pesticides and no results specific to aldrin (or dieldrin) were presented (<u>Ditraglia</u> et al., 1981; <u>Brown, 1992; Amoateng-Adjepong et</u> al., 1995).

Several studies have been published on a cohort of 570 male workers at a Dutch plant that produced and formulated aldrin and dieldrin (Ribbens, 1985; de Jong et al., 1997; Sielken et al., 1999; Swaen et al., 2002; van Amelsvoort et al., 2009). The most recent publication included employees who had worked for at least 1 year between 1954 and 1970 inclusive and were followed up until 2006 (van Amelsvoort et al., 2009). Standardized mortality ratios (SMRs) were calculated relative to the national population of the Netherlands. Total intake of dieldrin plus aldrin was calculated using models based on blood monitoring that had been carried out during the 1950s for 343 members of the cohort (de Jong, 1991). Blood monitoring of dieldrin was used as a combined measure of exposure to both aldrin and dieldrin. Workers without samples were allocated the same intake as workers in the same job, workplace, and time.

The standardized mortality ratio for all cancers combined was 0.76 (95% CI, 0.61–0.95) for all workers. When the workers were divided into three groups on the basis of dose, the standardized mortality ratios were 1.00 (95% CI, 0.66–1.46) for the group at the lowest dose (mean intake, 270 mg); 0.75 (95% CI, 0.50–1.09) for the group at the moderate dose (mean intake,

540 mg), and 0.66 (95% CI, 0.44–0.96) for the group at the highest dose (mean intake, 750 mg).

The standardized mortality ratio for cancer of the lung was significantly different from expected (SMR, 0.63; 95% CI, 0.41–0.92; 26 cases) and there was no dose–response pattern. Standardized mortality ratios for cancers of the oesophagus, rectum, liver and biliary tract, and skin were elevated based on small numbers of deaths, but were not statistically significant or systematically related to exposure level. [For the other cancers examined, all had fewer than 10 cases and none had statistically significant results. No internal analyses were performed.]

[The Working Group noted that the strengths of this study were that the plant made only aldrin and dieldrin; the exposure assessment was based on biomonitoring and modelling; and there was a small loss to follow-up. The limitations were that exposure assessment did not separate aldrin and dieldrin; the study reported mortality data, rather than incidence data; there was low power for rare cancers; no adjustment for confounders; and there were no internal analyses.]

In the AHS, more than 57 000 pesticide-user licensees in Iowa and North Carolina, USA, were recruited between 1993 and 1997. At enrolment, participants completed a self-administered questionnaire on whether they had ever mixed or applied 50 specific pesticides (including aldrin and dieldrin), which application methods were used, and the use of personal protective equipment. About half of the cohort also reported the number of years and days per year they had personally mixed aldrin or dieldrin.

Lifetime exposure-days of use for each pesticide were calculated as the product of the number of years a participant had personally mixed or applied each pesticide multiplied by the number of days per year that pesticide was used. In addition, an intensity-weighted lifetime exposure-days score was calculated by multiplying lifetime exposure-days by an exposure intensity
Table 2.1 Cohor	t studies of cancer and	exposure to	o aldrin				
Reference, location enrolment/follow- up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Ward et al. (2000) Norway 1973-1993 Population-based Nested case- control	Cases: 150; random selection from Janus serum bank with samples taken before diagnosis Controls: 150; matched to cases by date of sample and age Exposure assessment method: personal monitoring; gas chromatography	Breast	Aldrin Above LOD	_	0.5 (0.0–6.5)	Age, time of sample collection	
Flower et al. (2004) Iowa and North Carolina, USA Childhood cancers 1975–1998 in Iowa and 1990–1998 in North Carolina Cohort	50 cases; Agricultural Health Study; children of pesticide licensees, born after 1975 Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; parental pesticide use	Cancer cancer	Aldrin, father's use (prenatal)	9	2.66 (1.08–6.59)	Age of child at enrolment	Strengths: large numbers, individual pesticide use Limitations: self- reported data
Engel et al. (2005) Iowa and North Carolina, USA 1993-2000 Cohort	30 454; Agricultural Health Study; wives of pesticide licensees Exposure assessment method: questionnaire	Breast	Aldrin use By wife By husband By husband (premenopausal) By husband (postmenopausal)	4 5 6 40	0.9 (0.3–2.5) 1.9 (1.3–2.7) 1.4 (0.6–3.8) 1.7 (1.1–2.6)	Age, state, race	Strengths: large numbers, individual pesticide use Limitations: self- reported data

Table 2.1 (cont	inued)						
Reference, location enrolment/follow- up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Purdue et al. (2007) Iowa and North	51 011; Agricultural Health Study; pesticide licensees Exposure assessment	All cancers combined: incidence	Aldrin	680	1.0 (0.9–1.1)	Age, state, sex, education level, smoking status,	Strengths: large numbers, individual pesticide use
Carouna, USA Recruited, 1993–1997, follow-	metnoa: questionnaire; lifetime exposure days, and	Lung: incidence Colon:	Aldrin	53 30	1.0 (0.7–1.4) 0.7 (0.4–1.0)	alconol use, family history of cancer, lifetime days of	Limitations: seif- reported data
up, 2002 Cohort	intensity-weighted exposure days (take into account factors affecting	incidence Rectum: incidence	Aldrin	28	0.1 (0.8–2.4)	total pesticide application	
	exposure)	Malignant melanoma: incidence	Aldrin	23	1.1 (0.7–2.0)		
		Leukaemia: incidence	Aldrin	22	$1.4 \ (0.8 - 2.7)$		
<u>van Amelsvoort et</u> <u>al. (2009)</u> Pernis, the Netherlands 1954–2006 Cohort	570; men employed ≥ 1 year in a pesticide production plant, 1954–1970 Exposure assessment method: modelling; exposure modelled from blood measures in subgroup (n = 343) to produce total dose for each worker; range, 11-7755 mg dieldrin and aldrin combined	All cancers combined All cancers combined: Mortality Oesophagus	Estimated intake of All Low Moderate High SMR SMR Assistant operator Maintenance Operator Supervisor Estimated intake of All Low Moderate	aldrin+dield 82 27 28 28 28 41 41 41 4 4 4 2 2 2 1	in 0.76 (0.61–0.95) 1.00 (0.66–1.46) 0.75 (0.50–1.09) 0.66 (0.44–0.96) 0.86 (0.58–1.25) 0.86 (0.33–1.19) 0.78 (0.56–1.05) 0.45 (0.06–1.65) in 1.59 (0.43–4.08) 2.87 (0.35–10.35) 1.17 (0.03–6.49)	Age, time Age, time Age, time	Earlier publications from this study are <u>Swaen et al. (2002);</u> <u>Sielken et al. (1997);</u> <u>de Jong et al. (1997);</u> <u>Ribbens (1985)</u> Strengths: biomonitoring data modelled to give quantitative exposure assessment Limitations: no internal comparisons made; unable to separate exposure to dieldrin and Aldrin; small numbers
			11g111	Т	1.00 (v.v cv.v) 00.1		

\sim
W
.=
-
_
\sim
_
, vi
9
le 2.
ole 2.
ble 2.

Reference, location enrolment/follow- up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates C controlled	Comments
van Amelsvoort et		Rectum	Estimated intake of	aldrin+dield	rin	Age, time	
<u>al. (2009)</u>			All	9	2.15 (0.79-4.68)		
(cont.)			Low	3	4.42 (0.91-12.91)		
			Moderate	1	1.10 (0.03-6.11)		
			High	2	1.76 (0.21-6.34)		
		Liver and	Estimated intake of	aldrin+dield	rin	Age, time	
		bile ducts	All	4	2.16 (0.59-5.54)		
			Low	2	4.26 (0.52-15.41)		
			Moderate	2	3.23 (0.39-11.65)		
			High	0	0.00(0.00 - 4.14)		
		Lung	Estimated intake of	aldrin+dield	rin	Age, time	
			All	26	0.63(0.41 - 0.92)		
			Low	7	0.67 (0.27–1.37)		
			Moderate	12	$0.86\ (0.44{-}1.5)$		
			High	7	0.43 (0.17 - 0.89)		
		Skin (non-	Estimated intake of	aldrin+dield	rin	Age, time	
		melanoma)	All	3	3.02 (0.62-8.84)		
			Low	1	3.57 (0.09–19.9)		
			Moderate	2	6.12 (0.74-22.09)		
			High	0	0.00 (0.00-8.44)		

Table 2.1 (cont	inued)						
Reference, location enrolment/follow- up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Koutros et al. (2013a) Iowa and North Carolina, USA 1993-2007 Cohort	54 412; Agricultural Health Study; pesticide licensees Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; lifetime exposure days and intensity-weighted exposure days	Prostate (total): incidence Prostate (aggressive/ advanced): incidence Prostate: family history of prostate	Cumulative lifetime Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Trend-test <i>P</i> -value: Cumulative lifetime Q1 Q2 Q2 Q3 Q3 Q4 Trend-test <i>P</i> -value: Cumulative lifetime Q1 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q3 Q3 Q3 Q4 Q4 Cumulative lifetime Q3 Q3 Q3 Q3 Q3 Q3 Q3 Q3 Q3 Q3 Q3 Q3 Q3	e exposure to 65 64 64 64 0.07 e exposure to 33 33 33 33 33 33 33 33 33 94 31 0.02 e exposure to 12 20	aldrin 1.04 (0.80–1.35) 0.94 (0.72–1.22) 1.14 (0.88–1.48) 1.25 (0.97–1.63) aldrin 0.97 (0.67–1.41) 1.09 (0.75–1.57) 1.09 (0.75–1.57) 1.49 (1.03–2.18) 1.49 (1.03–2.18) 1.21 (0.84–1.74) 1.29 (0.70–2.4) 1.29 (0.70–2.4) 1.95 (1.17–3.25) 1.83 (1.08–3.09)	Age, state, smoking status, race, family history of prostate cancer, fruit servings, leisure time physical activity in winter	Strengths: large numbers, individual pesticide use
		لطائدوا	Q4 Trend-test <i>P</i> -value:	16 0.005	2.13 (1.22–3.72)		

Table 2.1 (cont	inued)						
Reference, location enrolment/follow- up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Koutros et al. (2013b) Iowa and North Carolina, USA 1993-2004 Nested case- control	Cases: 776; prostate cancer cases in AHS who had provided DNA of good quality Controls: 1444; non-cancer subjects in AHS who had provided DNA of good quality Controls: 1444; non-cancer subjects in AHS who had provided DNA of good quality Exposure assessment method: Questionnaire; lifetime exposure days, and intensity-weighted	Prostate: TET2 Genotype AA	Aldrin, low Aldrin, high Trend-test <i>P</i> -value:	10 13 0.006 for inte	1.86 (0.73-4.75) 3.67 (1.43-9.41) raction	Age, state	Strengths: large numbers, individual pesticide use
<u>Alavanja et al.</u> (2014) Iowa and North Carolina, USA Recruited, 1993–1997, follow- up, 2011 Cohort	54 306; AHS; pesticide licensees. Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; lifetime exposure days, and intensity-weighted exposure days (take into account factors affecting exposure)	NHL: incidence MM: incidence	Aldrin Aldrin	29	0.9 (0.7–1.1) 1.5 (0.9–2.5)	Age, state, sex, education level, smoking status, alcohol use, family history of cancet, lifetime days of total pesticide application	Strengths: large numbers, individual pesticide use

_
$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$
2
Ð
-
.=
÷
Ē
5
_
3
٣
5
.1
2.1 (6
e 2.1 (c
le 2.1 (d
ble 2.1 (d
able 2.1 (d
Table 2.1 (d

Reference, location enrolment/follow- up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Koutros et al. (2016) Iowa and North Carolina, USA Recruited, 1993–1997, follow- up, 2011 Cohort	57 310; AHS, male pesticide licensees Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; lifetime exposure days, and intensity-weighted exposure days	Urinary bladder: incidence Urinary bladder: incidence	Ever exposed Cumulative intensit Tertile 1 Tertile 2 Tertile 3 Trend-test <i>P</i> -value:	88 :y weighted d 15 17 0.08	1.2 (0.92–1.57) ays of use 0.88 (0.5–1.53) 1.61 (0.96–2.68) 1.51 (0.89–2.55)	Age, state, smoking status, race Age, state, education level, smoking status, race	Men only Strengths: large numbers, individual pesticide use. Limitations: self- reported data

AHS, Agricultural Health Study; CI, confidence interval; LOD, limit of detection; MM, multiple myeloma; NHL, non-Hodgkin lymphoma; SMR, standardized mortality ratio

score based on modifying factors such as use of personal protective equipment.

Between 1999 and 2005, participants were asked to report all pesticides used in the year before the interview, as well as frequency of use. This interview was completed by only 63% of participants, and in reports after 2012 multiple imputation with logistic regression and stratified sampling were used to impute missing pesticide-exposure information (<u>Heltshe et al., 2012</u>). A wide range of potential confounders including lifestyle factors, other agricultural factors, and medical history were also collected at baseline.

Pertinent results from this study have been published in several publications focused on different cancers. The most recent results for each cancer are reviewed below.

Therewere no statistically significant increases in risk of all cancers associated with exposure to aldrin, or risk of cancer of the lung, colon, rectum, or melanoma, or leukaemia (Purdue et <u>al., 2007</u>), or of non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) (relative risk, RR, 0.9; 95% CI, 0.7–1.1), or multiple myeloma (Alavanja et al., 2014). For cancer of the bladder, there was no significant association with ever use of aldrin or high use (RR, 1.51; 95% CI, 0.89-2.55) (Koutros et al., 2016). There was a non-statistically significant increase in risk of all prostate cancer associated with aldrin use (RR, 1.25; 95% CI, 0.97–1.63; P for trend, 0.07), which was more marked for the highest quartile (RR, 1.49; 95% CI: 1.03-2.18), with a significant exposure-response trend for aggressive prostate cancer (P for trend, 0.02) (Koutros et al., 2013a). Cancer of the prostate was also associated with aldrin use in those with a family history of prostate cancer (P for trend, 0.005) (Koutros et al., 2013a); and in further gene-environment analyses, men carrying two AA alleles at rs7679673 were at increased risk of prostate cancer when they had high aldrin use (Koutros et al., 2013b). Cancer of the breast in wives of the pesticide licensees was not increased for self-use of aldrin, but was increased for husband's use

(RR, 1.9; 95% CI, 1.3-2.7), and this was more marked in postmenopausal women (RR, 1.7; 95% CI, 1.1–2.6; 40 cases) than in premenopausal women (RR, 1.4; 95% CI, 0.6–3.8; 6 cases) (Engel et al., 2005). Finally, prenatal use of aldrin by fathers was associated with an increase in risk of childhood cancer (RR, 2.66; 95% CI, 1.08–6.59), although this was based on only six cases (Flower et al., 2004). [The Working Group noted that the strengths of this study were that it was large, there was adjustment for other pesticides and potential confounding factors (including major risk factors for cancer of the breast), the exposure assessment was extensive, and the authors were able to separate exposures to aldrin, dieldrin, and other pesticides. The limitations included the small numbers of cases for some analyses, especially in early publications.]

(b) Population cohort study

(i) Cancer of the breast

A case–control study nested within the Janus cohort in Norway used serum samples that had been collected between 1973 and 1991 (Ward et al., 2000). Of 25 431 women who were working outside the home or were resident on farms as of the 1970 or 1980 census and who were followed for cancer incidence until 1993, 272 incident cases of cancer of the breast were reported by 1993. Of these, 150 were randomly chosen, and 150 controls who were alive and cancer-free at time of case diagnosis were matched to cases by date of sample and date of birth. Aldrin, and dieldrin (which may reflect exposure to aldrin and/ or dieldrin) were measured in the sera. There were only three samples that contained aldrin at a concentration above the limit of detection (LOD) and the matched odds ratio for aldrin was 0.5 (95% CI, 0-6.5).

[The Working Group noted that the strengths of this study were that exposure was measured before diagnosis, while the limitations were that the exposure assessment was based solely on serum measurements, given conversion of aldrin to dieldrin, and that only three samples contained aldrin at a level above the LOD.]

2.1.2 Case-control studies

See <u>Table 2.2</u>.

The associations between cancer risk and exposure to organochlorine pesticides, including aldrin and dieldrin, have been investigated in case-control studies in the USA, Canada, and countries in Europe.

Exposure assessment in case-control studies has mainly been performed in two ways. First, questionnaires can be used to obtain self-reports of pesticides used by the participant, and often also some information about methods of application and use of personal protective equipment. Studies using such questionnaires were able to report results for dieldrin and aldrin separately. Second, samples of serum or adipose tissue can be collected and analysed for pesticides. Because of the conversion of aldrin to dieldrin noted above, results for serum dieldrin may represent exposure to both aldrin and dieldrin.

The methods used in studies presenting results for both aldrin and dieldrin are given in the section on aldrin (Section 2.1) and are referred to in the section on dieldrin (Section 2.2). Studies reporting only results related to dieldrin (which may include aldrin in the case of serum measurements) are described in the section on dieldrin.

The Working Group excluded two casecontrol studies that did not report results specifically for aldrin or dieldrin (Cocco et al., 2008; Tomasallo et al., 2010), and three case-control studies that did not adequately report their methods (Shukla et al., 2001; Mathur et al., 2002, 2008). A study in Gran Canaria, Spain, (Boada et al., 2012) measured aldrin and dieldrin in serum samples from 121 cases of breast cancer and 103 women who had given serum samples in a survey several years earlier. The controls were significantly younger than the cases. [The Working Group noted that the reported prevalence of exposure and serum levels of aldrin (mean, 72.5 ng/g lipid for cases, with 74% above the LOD; and 27.1 ng/g lipid for controls, with 38% above the LOD) and dieldrin (mean, 12.6 ng/g lipid for cases, with 22% above the LOD; and mean, 9.5 ng/g lipid for controls, with 32% above the LOD) was unusually high. The very narrow confidence intervals around odds ratios based on small numbers were also unusual (aldrin odds ratio, 1.027; 95% CI, 0.991-1.065; and dieldrin odds ratio, 1.002; 95% CI, 0.956-1.050) given that, in the same model, the results for lindane (with similar numbers of exposed cases as dieldrin) were 1.097 (95% CI, 0.420-28.412). The Working Group therefore had little confidence in the results of this study and it was also excluded.]

(a) Non-Hodgkin lymphoma

Several case-control studies have investigated the association between NHL and exposure to aldrin. Three of these studies used questionnaires to obtain self-reported data separately on aldrin and dieldrin, and four of these studies used serum or tissue levels of dieldrin to measure combined exposure to dieldrin and aldrin (see Section 2.3).

A population-based case-control study included 622 newly diagnosed cases of NHL among white men aged \geq 30 years from Iowa and Minnesota, USA (Cantor et al., 1992). The controls were 1245 men without haematopoietic or lymphatic cancer, randomly selected from the general population and frequency-matched to NHL cases by 5-year age group, vital status at interview, and state of residence. In-person structured interviews included detailed questions about farming and pesticide-use history. Adjusted odds ratios indicated non-significantly elevated risk among subjects who had ever personally handled, mixed, or applied aldrin on crops (OR, 1.1; 95% CI, 0.7-1.7). The risks were somewhat higher for those who had handled

Table 2.2 Ca	se-control studies of	cancer and expo	sure to aldr	.e			
Reference, location, enrolment/ follow-up period	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Brown et al. (1990) Iowa and Minnesota, USA 1980–1984	Cases: 578; tumour registry and hospital records Controls: 1245; matched to case by 5-yr age group, vital status and state via random-digit dialling, Medicare records or state death certificates Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; detailed questionnaire; pesticide	Leukaemia: newly diagnosed cases	Ever handled a Aldrin, ever handled Aldrin, 1–4 days/year Aldrin 10+ days/year days/year	aldrin/days J 33 11 7 4	er year 0.9 (0.6–1.4) 1 (0.5–2) 0.8 (0.3–2) 0.5 (0.2–1.4)	Vital status, age, state, tobacco use, family history of lymphopoietic cancer, high-risk occupations, high- risk exposures	US midwest studies. cases and controls residing in cities with little farming activity (i.e. Minneapolis, St Paul, Duluth, and Rochester) were excluded from the study Strengths: large population-based study in farming areas; in-person interviews; detailed questionnaires including quantification; collection of other potential risk factors; reviewed diagnosis Limitations: multiple comparisons; self-report of pesticide use and limited numbers of participants with aldrin and dieldrin use
Cantor et al. (<u>1992)</u> Iowa and Minnesota, USA 1980–1983	Cases: 622; health registry and hospital and pathology records Controls: 1245; matched to cases by age, vital status and state via random-digit dialling, Medicare record or state death certificate files Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; in-person interview	NHL: newly diagnosed cases of four subtypes, follicular, diffuse, small lymphocytic, and "other NHL"	Aldrin exposure: ever handled Handled before 1965	34	1.1 (0.7–1.7) 1.3 (0.8–2.1)	Vital status, age, state, smoking, family history of lympho- haematopoietic cancer, high-risk occupation, high- risk exposures	Data subsequently pooled in <u>De Roos et al. (2003);</u> white men only Strengths: large population-based study in farming areas Limitations: not controlled for exposure to other pesticides

	Comments	Strengths: large study; detailed exposure assessment through telephone interview; deceased were ineligible, reducing the number of surrogate responders. Some modelling of multiple pesticide exposures Limitations: potential recall bias; poor response rates; most exposed men were exposed to multiple pesticides and multiple classes of pesticides, but risk estimates were not adjusted for other pesticides	Same study population as <u>Cantor et al. (1992)</u> ; the study looked at NHL subtypes but > 70% of cases had missing subtypes; small numbers of cases with aldrin or dieldrin exposure Strengths: large population-based study in farming areas Limitations: relative small numbers of (14;18)- positive or -negative NHL
	Covariates controlled	Age, province of residence, medical variables, mecoprop	Age, state
	Risk estimate (95% CI)	3.81 (1.34–10.79) 4.19 (1.48–11.96)	1.5 (0.8–2.7) 0.7 (0.4–1.4)
	Exposed cases/ deaths	Irin 10 10	lrin 11 10
	Exposure category or level	Ever use of alc Model adjusted for age and province of residence Fully adjusted model	Ever use of ald Aldrin: t(14;18)- positive NHL vs controls Aldrin: t(14;18)- negative NHL vs controls
	Organ site	THN	NHL: t(14;18)- Positive or t(14;18)-negative cases
ontinued)	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Cases: 517; cancer registries Controls: 1506; health insurance and voting records; frequency- matched on province and ± 2 yr to the age distribution of entire case group Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; self-administered postal questionnaire, followed by telephone interview	Cases: 622; state health registry and hospital/ pathology laboratory records Controls: 1245; matched to cases by age, state and vital status via random- digit dialling, Medicare records or state death certificate files Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; in-person structured interviews
Table 2.2 (c	Reference, location, enrolment/ follow-up period	McDuffie et al. (2001) Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Quebec, Ontario, British Columbia, Canada 1991–1994	<u>Schroeder et al.</u> (2001) Iowa and Minnesota, USA 1980–1983

Table 2.2 (co	ontinued)						
Reference, location, enrolment/ follow-up period	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
De Roos et al. (2003) Nebraska, Iowa and Minnesota, Kansas, USA 1979–1986	Cases: 650; Nebraska Lymphoma Study Group, hospitals, state health registry, cancer registry Controls: 1933; matched to cases by race, sex, age, region and vital status via random-digital dialling, Medicare records or state mortality files Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; 47 pesticides	NHL: newly diagnosed cases	Aldrin, ever u Aldrin (logistic regression) Aldrin (hierarchical regression)	se 47 47	0.5 (0.3–0.9) 0.6 (0.4–1.0)	Age, study site, all other pesticides	USA midwest studies (pooled) from 3 previous case-control studies (Zahm, Cantor, Hoar); analysis restricted to potentially carcinogenic pesticides
<u>Ibarluzea et al.</u> (2004) Granada and Almeria provinces, Spain April 1996 to June 1998	Cases: 198; breast cancer histologically diagnosed Controls: 260; matched by age (± 3 yr) and hospital; undergoing gall bladder, inguinal hernia, abdominal, varicose vein or other surgery Exposure assessment method: personal monitoring; adipose tissue; aldrin measured with gas chromatography	Breast Breast (premenopausal) Breast (postmenopausal)	Aldrin > LOD > LOD	NR 27 40	1.55 (1–2.4) 1.07 (0.47–2.42) 1.84 (1.06–3.18)	Age, reference hospital, in BMI, number of children, age first pregnancy, family history of breast cancer, alcohol, tobacco	Strengths: medium-sized study; able to adjust for multiple potential confounders Limitations: aldrin measured after diagnosis

Table 2.2 (co	ontinued)						
Reference, location, enrolment/ follow-up period	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Lee et al. (2004) Iowa, Minnesota, Nebraska, USA 1980–1986	Cases: 872; state health registry, hospitals and Nebraska Lymphoma Study Group Controls: 2336; matched to case on age, race, and state via random- digit dialling, Medicare records or mortality files Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; telephone or personal interviews with subjects or next-of-kin in Nebraska	NHL	Ever use of ald Aldrin asthmatics Aldrin among non- asthmatics	rin 10 66	2.1 (0.9–5.1) 1.0 (0.7–1.5)	Age, vital status, state	Strengths: pooled study so larger numbers Limitations: use of proxy respondents may have led to nondifferential misclassification; no adjustment for co- exposures
Pahwa et al. (2011) Six provinces in Canada 1991–1994	Cases: 357 STS; provincial cancer registries or hospitals Controls: 1506; matched to case by age constraints $(\pm 2 \text{ yr})$ from provincial health insurance records, telephone listings, voters' lists Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; self-administered postal questionnaire and telephone interview	STS	Ever handled a Aldrin, ever handled	4 4	a.71 (1.00–13.76)	Statistically significant medical variables (history of measles, rheumatoid arthritis, mononucleosis, whooping cough and a positive family history of cancer in a first-degree relative), age group, province of residence	Same controls and data collection methods as <u>McDuffie et al. (2001)</u> Strengths: population- based study; large number of cases; detailed questionnaires on pesticide exposure information; did not use surrogates urrogates Limitations: diversity in exposure situations (crops and animals) but no distinction in analysis; self-reported questionnaire; low response from potential controls (48%)
AHS, Agricultural mortality ratio; ST5	Health Study; CI, confidence int S, soft tissue sarcoma; yr, year(s)	erval; LOD, limit of det	ection; MM, mult	iple myeloma;	NHL, non-Hodgkin	lymphoma; NR, not repoi	rted; SMR, standardized

these crop insecticides before 1965 (OR, 1.3; 95% CI, 0.8–2.1).

A further analysis (Schroeder et al., 2001) included the same cases and controls as those in the study by <u>Cantor et al. (1992)</u>, but investigated subtypes of NHL, t(14;18)-positive or t(14;18)-negative. Because subtype was missing for more than 70% of study cases, an expectation-maximization algorithm was used to impute missing values. Adjusted odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for various agricultural risk factors and t(14;18)-positive and -negative cases of NHL were estimated based on polytomous logistic regression models. Aldrin use was not significantly associated with t(14;18)-positive NHL or with t(14;18)-negative NHL.

[The Working Group noted that the strengths of this study were that it was a large population-based study with in-person interview on detailed farming and pesticide-use history, there were adequate numbers of exposed cases; and it was possible to differentiate exposures to aldrin and dieldrin. The limitations were the self-reported exposure and the fact that NHL subtypes were missing for more than 70% of the cases.]

A study by <u>De Roos et al. (2003)</u> pooled data from three case-control studies (Hoar et al., 1986; Zahm et al., 1990; Cantor et al., 1992) in the midwest USA to examine pesticide exposures in farming as risk factors for NHL in men. Newly diagnosed NHL cases among white men aged \geq 30 years in Iowa and Minnesota from 1980 to 1983 and aged ≥ 21 years in eastern Nebraska counties from 1983 to 1986, and a random sample of cases among white men aged \geq 21 years diagnosed between 1979 and 1981 in Kansas were identified. The Minnesota and Iowa portions of this study overlapped with the population studies by Cantor et al. (1992). Populationbased controls were randomly selected from the same geographical areas as the cases, frequency-matched to cases by race, sex, age, and vital status at the time of interview via various sources. Interviews were conducted to obtain

pesticide uses and other known or suspected risk factors for NHL. Subjects with a missing or "don't know" response for any of the 47 pesticides of interest (about 25% of subjects) were excluded from analyses, resulting in 650 cases and 1933 controls available in the regression analyses. There was a significantly decreased risk of NHL associated with aldrin use (OR, 0.5; 95% CI, 0.3–0.9). Analysis by hierarchical regression gave similar results. [The Working Group noted that this was a large study, which used adjustment for multiple pesticides with hierarchical logistic regression. The limitations were the lack of univariate analyses of single pesticides, and the exclusion of subjects with any missing data. The Working Group noted a difference between the results of this pooled analysis and those of the original analysis by Cantor et al. (1992), which included all subjects and did not adjust for use of other pesticides.]

A further analysis investigated whether asthma modifies the risk of NHL associated with pesticide exposure (Lee et al., 2004). This study included men from Iowa and Minnesota and men and women from Nebraska, and excluded subjects without asthma information (n = 25), leaving 872 cases and 2336 controls for analysis. Odds ratios were adjusted for age, state, and vital status. The risk of NHL was non-significantly elevated with exposure to aldrin (OR, 2.1; 95% CI, 0.9-5.1) in asthmatics compared with non-farmers without asthma. No increase in risk was reported for non-asthmatics. [The Working Group noted the very small numbers of subjects with asthma and aldrin use, resulting in wide confidence intervals.]

The Cross-Canada Study of Pesticides and Health was a population-based case-control study in male residents in six Canadian provinces (McDuffie et al., 2001). Incident cases with first diagnosis of NHL between 1991 and 1994 and randomly selected, age-matched controls were sent postal questionnaires, with follow-up telephone interviews to obtain details of pesticide use for subjects who reported pesticide exposure of 10 hours per year or more, plus 15% random samples with lower exposure. The results were based on 517 NHL cases (10 exposed to aldrin) and 1506 controls who responded to the postal questionnaires. NHL was significantly associated with reported exposure to aldrin (OR, 3.81; 95% CI, 1.34-10.79) with adjustment for age and province of residence. NHL risk associated with aldrin use increased to 4.19 (95% CI, 1.48-11.96) when statistically significant medical variables were also adjusted. In additional multivariate models with independent predictors, which included histories of measles, previous cancer, first-degree relatives with cancer and allergy desensitization, as well as exposure to mecoprop, aldrin was significantly associated with increased risk of NHL (OR, 3.42; 95% CI, 1.18-9.95). [The Working Group noted that the strengths of the study were the use of postal questionnaire followed by telephone interviews to obtain details of pesticide use, the fact that surrogates were not used, and that many pesticides/chemicals were analysed and many covariates considered. However, there was limited precision for aldrin, and a low response rate from potential controls (48%).]

(b) Leukaemia

One study investigated leukaemia and aldrin exposure (Brown et al., 1990). This population-based case-control interview study included 578 newly diagnosed leukaemia cases among white men and 1245 controls from Iowa and Minnesota, part of the midwest studies by the United States National Cancer Institute (NCI) (Cantor et al., 1992). Additional interviews to obtain number of days of handling pesticides were completed for 86 cases and 203 controls from Iowa who reported agricultural use of pesticides in the initial interview. Odds ratios relative to nonfarmers for 243 cases and 547 controls were adjusted for multiple risk factors. The odds ratio for subjects who had ever personally handled, mixed, or applied aldrin was 0.9 (95% CI, 0.6–1.4). Odds ratios for leukaemia by the number of days per year that aldrin was reportedly handled showed a decreasing dose–response trend. [The Working Group noted that this was a large population-based study with in-person and follow-up phone interviews in farming areas. A limitation was that more surrogates were interviewed for cases (73%) than for controls (28%) in follow-up.]

(c) Soft tissue sarcoma

The association between soft tissue sarcoma (STS) and aldrin exposure was investigated in the previously described Cross-Canada Study of Pesticides and Health (McDuffie et al., 2001). Details of the study methods are given above. The results for STS were based on 357 cases and 1506 controls who responded to the postal questionnaires (Pahwa et al., 2011). STS was associated with reported exposure to aldrin (OR, 3.71; 95% CI, 1.00-13.76; 4 exposed cases) in multivariate models. In additional multivariate models with independent predictors, which included histories of whooping cough and first-degree relatives with cancer as well as exposure to diazinon, the odds ratio for aldrin was 3.35 (95% CI, 0.89–12.56). [The Working Group noted the very small number of exposed cases, resulting in poor precision.]

(d) Cancer of the breast

A hospital-based case-control study recruited residents of two provinces of Spain in 1996–1998 (Ibarluzea et al., 2004). Cases were women undergoing surgery for breast cancer and controls were women undergoing non-cancer-related surgery (gall bladder surgery, 65%). Of 260 eligible cases and 352 controls, 198 (76%) cases and 260 (74%) controls consented and provided adequate adipose tissue samples and interviews. Dieldrin and aldrin were measured using gas chromatography in adipose tissue: more than 40% of subjects had measurable levels of aldrin, while less than 40% had measurable dieldrin. After adjusting for a range of potential confounders, a positive association was seen between breast cancer and aldrin levels above the LOD (OR, 1.55; 95% CI, 1.0–2.4) and this relationship was stronger in postmenopausal women (OR, 1.84; 95% CI, 1.06–3.18). [The Working Group noted that the strengths of this study were the biomarker assessment of exposure in adipose tissue and adjustment for a range of potential confounders. The Working Group considered that the finding that the concentration of aldrin was higher than that of dieldrin was surprising, given that aldrin should not have been in active use at the time the study was conducted.]

2.2 Dieldrin

2.2.1 Cohort studies

See Table 2.3.

(a) Occupational cohort studies

Workers at an insecticide plant in the Netherlands were exposed to dieldrin and aldrin. The study methods and results are described in Section 2.1.1 because data were reported for both pesticides combined.

Exposure to dieldrin was specifically investigated in the AHS and the methods are presented in Section 2.1.1. For exposure to dieldrin, there were no increases in risk for all cancers, or for cancer of the colon or rectum (Purdue et al., 2007), for total prostate cancer (Koutros et al., 2013a), for NHL (RR, 0.9; 95% CI, 0.6–1.2), or any NHL subtype, including multiple myeloma (Alavanja et al., 2014). Risks were non-significantly increased for leukaemia (RR, 1.7; 95% CI, 0.8-3.6) and melanoma (RR, 1.4; 95% CI, 0.7–2.9) (Purdue et al., 2007), aggressive prostate cancer (RR, 1.39; 95% CI, 0.65-2.94) (Koutros et al., 2013a), and bladder cancer (RR, 1.19; 95% CI, 0.82-1.72) (Koutros et al., 2016). Lifetime days of dieldrin use showed a positive association with incidence of lung cancer in the highest exposure category (hazard ratio, HR, 1.93; 95%) CI, 0.70–5.30). The results were very similar for either a 5- or 15-year lag. Additionally, the results using intensity-weighted lifetime days of dieldrin use showed a similar increase of 2-fold in the highest exposure category (HR, 2.06; 95% CI, 0.95-4.43) (Bonner et al., 2017). Risk of cancer of the breast in wives of the pesticide licensees was increased for husband's use of dieldrin (RR, 2.0; 95% CI, 1.1-3.3) (Engel et al., 2005). [The Working Group noted that the strengths of this study were that it was large, and there was adjustment for other pesticides and potential confounding factors, there was an extensive exposure assessment effort, and the study was able to separate exposures to aldrin, and other pesticides. The limitations were the small numbers for some analyses, especially in early publications.]

(b) Population cohort studies

(i) Non-Hodgkin lymphoma

From 25 802 adults in Washington County, Maryland, USA, who enrolled in 1974 in the Campaign Against Cancer and Stroke (CLUE I) study, 74 incident NHL cases with serum samples available and 147 matched controls were included in a nested case-control study (Cantor et al., 2003). The medians of lipid-corrected serum concentrations of dieldrin (which may reflect exposure to aldrin and/or dieldrin) were 129.9 and 116.9 ng/g lipid for cases and controls, respectively (Wilcoxon signed rank test, P = 0.26). Odds ratios showed no evidence of an association between NHL risk and quartiles of serum dieldrin (adjusted OR, 0.9; 95% CI, 0.4-2.4 in the highest versus the lowest quartile, P for trend, 0.88). [The Working Group noted that the strengths of the study included the collection of biological samples, and matching and/or adjustment for potential confounders; however, serum aldrin was not considered but may contribute to serum dieldrin.]

Table 2.3 Col	ort studies of cancer a	and exposi	ure to dieldrin				
Reference, location enrolment/ follow-up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Høyer et al. (1998) Denmark Enrolled, 1976, follow-up to 1993 Nested case- control	Cases: 240; all women who developed breast cancer, with enough serum sample Controls: 477; random selection of 2 women matched for age, date of examination, vital status and breast cancer status of case Exposure assessment method: biomarker; gas chromatography	Breast	Dieldrin Q2 Q3 Q4 Trend-test <i>P</i> -value	57 66 73 :0.01	1.58 (0.93–2.67) 1.96 (1.14–3.39) 2.05 (1.17–3.57)	Age, number of full- term pregnancies, weight	Strengths: serum taken before diagnosis; adequate sample size
Ward et al. (2000) Norway Sera collected 1973-1991, follow-up to 1993 Nested case- control	Cases: 150; random selection from 272 incident breast cancer cases where sera was taken 2+ yr before diagnosis Controls: 150; matched to cases by date of sample and date of birth, alive and free of cancer at time of case diagnosis Exposure assessment method: personal monitoring; gas chromatography	Breast	Dieldrin > LOD	NR	1.0 (0.4–2.6)	Age, time of sample collection	Strengths: nested case- control so exposure measured before diagnosis Limitations: very few aldrin-exposed subjects; only 22 discordant pairs for dieldrin; not clear if any confounding factors were added to model

Table 2.3 (co	ntinued)						
Reference, location enrolment/ follow-up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Høyer et al. (2001) Denmark Enrolled, 1976–78, follow- up to 1993 Nested case- control	Cases: 161 Controls: 318 Exposure assessment method: personal monitoring; gas chromatography	Breast: estrogen receptor- positive Breast: estrogen receptor- negative	Dieldrin in quartil Q2, 12.01–28.30 Q3, 28.30–57.11 Q4, > 57.11 Trend-test <i>P</i> -value: Dieldrin in quartil Q2, 12.01–28.30 Q3, 28.30–57.11 Q4, > 57.11 Trend-test <i>P</i> -value:	es (ng/mL) 28 33 28 28 28 es (ng/mL) 5 11 20 20	1.3 (0.7–2.2) 1.5 (0.8–2.7) 1.4 (0.8–2.5) 1.2 (0.3–5.4) 4.9 (0.9–28.3) 7.6 (1.3–46.1)	Age, number of full- term pregnancies, weight, HRT Age, number of full- term pregnancies, weight, HRT	Strengths: serum taken before diagnosis; adequate sample size
Høyer et al. (2002) Denmark Enrolled, 1976–78, follow- up to 1993 Nested case- control	Cases: 240 Controls: 477 Exposure assessment method: personal monitoring: gas chromatography	Breast: wildtype p53 Breast: p53 mutation	Dieldrin Q2 Q3 Q4 Trend-test <i>P</i> -value: Dieldrin Q2 Q3 Q4 Q4 Trend-test <i>P</i> -value:	28 31 35 35 .0.6 7 13 12 12 :0.12	1.0 (0.49–2.04) 1.15 (0.53–2.47) 1.2 (0.56–2.58) 2.07 (0.48–8.88) 4.57 (0.94–22.24) 3.53 (0.79–15.79)	Age, number of full- term pregnancies, weight, HRT Age, number of full- term pregnancies, weight, HRT	Strengths: serum taken before diagnosis; adequate sample size

Aldrin and Dieldrin

Table 2.3 (co	ntinued)						
Reference, location enrolment/ follow-up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Cantor et al. (2003) Maryland, USA 1974 enrolment in the Campaign Against Cancer and Stroke (CLUE 1) and 1989 CLUE II Nested case- control	Cases: 74; Washington County Cancer Registry from CLUE I or II cohort Controls: 147; matched to case on race, sex, date of birth, CLUE I or II or private census between 1963–75, date of blood sample, location of stored serum Exposure assessment method: total lipid corrected serum values	ТНИ	ng/g lipid 26.6–84.2 85.3–116.7 116.9–153.8 163.0–393.9 Trend-test <i>P</i> -value:	18 15 24 : 0.88	$\begin{array}{c} 1.0\\ 1.0 \ (0.4 - 2.7)\\ 1.2 \ (0.4 - 3)\\ 0.9 \ (0.4 - 2.4) \end{array}$	Years of education, ever smoked cigarettes, currently smoking cigarettes, EBV early antigen seropositivity, quartile of PCB concentration	Strengths: most cases confirmed from pathology information; serum collected pre-diagnosis. matched and/or adjusted for potential confounders Limitations: larger than expected levels obtained for some compounds such as PCB and DDT may imply that there was some measurement error. aldrin was not reported
Engel et al. (2005) Iowa and North Carolina, USA 1993–2000 Cohort	30 454; AH; wives of pesticide licensees Exposure assessment method: questionnaire	Breast: incidence in farmers' wives	Dieldrin, husband's use Premenopausal, husband's use Postmenopausal, husband's use	16 NR 12	2.0 (1.1–3.3) – 1.6 (0.9–3)	Age, state, race	Strengths: large numbers, individual pesticide use Limitations: self-reported data
Purdue et al. (2007) Iowa and North Carolina, USA Recruited, 1993-1997, follow-up, 2002 Cohort	51 011; AHS, pesticide licensees Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; lifetime exposure days, and intensity-weighted exposure days (take into account factors affecting exposure)	All cancers combined: incidence Lung: incidence Colon: incidence Rectum: incidence Malignant melanoma: incidence Leukaemia: incidence	Dieldrin	257 21 16 11 10 10	1.0 (0.8–1.1) 1.1 (0.6–1.8) 0.7 (0.4–1.3) 1.1 (0.5–2.4) 1.4 (0.7–2.9) 1.7 (0.8–3.6)	Age, state, sex, education level, smoking status, alcohol use, family history of cancer, lifetime days of total pesticide application	Strengths: large numbers, individual pesticide use Limitations: self-reported data

Table 2.3 (co	ntinued)						
Reference, location enrolment/ follow-up period, study design	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
<u>Koutros et al.</u> (2013a) Iowa and North Carolina, USA 1993-2007 Cohort	54 412; AHS; pesticide licensees Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; lifetime exposure days and intensity-weighted exposure days	Prostate (total): incidence Prostate: aggressive (incidence) family history of prostate cancer	Dieldrin, quartile o Q1 Q2 Q3 Q3 Q3 Q3 Q1 Unexposed Q1 Q1 Q1 Q1 Q1 Q1 Q1 Q1 Q1 Q1 Q1 Q1 Q1	of exposure 19 19 18 18 18 429 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 7 7 7 7 7 5 5 5 5 5	0.94 (0.60-1.49) 0.86 (0.54-1.36) 0.93 (0.58-1.49) 0.83 (0.51-1.48) 0.83 (0.41-1.68) 0.83 (0.41-4.23) 0.68 (0.33-1.37) 1.39 (0.65-2.94) 1.39 (0.65-2.94) 1.54 (0.62-3.83) 1.54 (0.62-3.83)	Age, state, smoking status, race, family history of prostate cancer, fruit servings, leisure time physical activity in winter Age, state, smoking status, race, fruit servings, leisure time physical activity in winter	Strengths: large numbers, individual pesticide use
Alavanja et al. (2014) Iowa and North Carolina, USA Recruited 1993 - 1997, follow-up 2011 Cohort	54 306; AHS; pesticide licensees Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; lifetime exposure days, and intensity-weighted exposure days (take into account factors affecting exposure)	NHL: incidence MM: incidence	Dieldrin	35 10	0.9 (0.6–1.2) 0.9 (0.5–1.4)	Age, state, sex, education level, smoking status, alcohol use, family history of cancer, lifetime days of total pesticide application	Strengths: large numbers; individual pesticide use

	Comments	Strengths: large numbers; individual pesticide use Limitations: self-reported data; men only	Strengths: large population of pesticide applicators; initial and follow-up questionnaire; controlled for smoking and other potential confounders Limitations: about 40%	of applicators did not complete the follow-up interview so missing pesticide needed to be imputed/estimated		
	Covariates controlled	Age, state, sex, education level, smoking status, alcohol use, family history of cancer, lifetime days of total pesticide application	Age, smoking status and pack-years, sex, total lifetime pesticide use	Age, smoking status and pack-years, sex, total lifetime pesticide use	Age, smoking status and pack-years, sex, total lifetime pesticide use	
	Risk estimate (95% CI)	1.19 (0.82–1.72)	tertile) 1.00 0.58 (0.26–1.31) 1.49 (0.66–3.37) 1.93 (0.70–5.3)	ys of use (exposure 1.00 1.01 (0.42–2.47) 0.5 (0.18–1.34) 2.06 (0.95–4.43)	esticide exposure 1 0.59 (0.26–1.32) 1.44 (0.64–3.26)	2.09 (0.76–5.75)
	Exposed cases/ deaths	32	se (exposure 230 6 4 4 :: 0.472	1 lifetime da 230 5 7 7 :: 0.880	time days p 230 6 6	4 :: 0.468
	Exposure category or level	Dieldrin	Lifetime days of u Non-exposed Dieldrin T1 Dieldrin T2 Dieldrin T3 Trend-test <i>P</i> -value	Intensity-weightec tertile) Non-exposed Dieldrin T1 Dieldrin T2 Dieldrin T3 Trend-test <i>P</i> -value	15-year lagged life (tertile) Non-exposed Dieldrin T1 Dieldrin T2	Dieldrin T3 Trend-test <i>P</i> -value
	Organ site	Urinary bladder: incidence	Lung	Lung	Lung	-
ntinued)	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	57 310; AHS; male pesticide licensees Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; lifetime exposure days, and intensity-weighted exposure days	57 310; AHS; included 57 310 restricted-use pesticides applicators residing in Iowa and North Carolina between 1993 and 1997 Exposure assessment	method: questionnaire; information about lifetime pesticide use was ascertained at enrolment (1993–1997) and updated with a follow-up questionnaire (1999–2005)		
Table 2.3 (co	Reference, location enrolment/ follow-up period, study design	Koutros et al. (2016) Iowa and North Carolina, USA Recruited, 1993–1997, follow-up 2011 Cohort	Bonner et al. (2017) Iowa and North Carolina, USA Enrolment, 1993–1997 and follow-up 31	December 2011 Cohort		-

AHS, Agricultural Health Study; CJ, confidence interval; CLUE, Campaign Against Cancer and Stroke; DD1, dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane; EBV, Epstein–Barr virus; HK1, hormone-replacement therapy; LOD, limit of detection; MM, multiple myeloma; NHL, non-Hodgkin lymphoma; NR, not reported; PCB, polychlorinated biphenyl; SMR, standardized mortality ratio; STS, soft tissue sarcoma

IARC MONOGRAPHS - 117

(ii) Cancer of the breast

A case-control study on cancer of the breast was nested within the Copenhagen City Heart Study (Høyer et al., 1998). In 1976, 7712 of 10 317 participating women agreed to provide demographic information and a serum sample. The cohort was matched with the Danish Cancer Registry and 240 incident cases of breast cancer to 1993 with sufficient serum for analysis were included, while 477 controls were matched for age and vital status. There was an increase in risk of cancer of the breast with increasing quartile of dieldrin exposure (P for trend, 0.01); the odds ratio for the highest quartile was 2.05 (95% CI, 1.17-3.57). An analysis stratified by estrogen-receptor (ER) status was reported in a later publication (Høyer et al., 2001). Serum dieldrin was associated with ER-negative tumours (OR, 7.6; 95% CI, 1.3-46.1 for the highest quartile of exposure; P for trend, 0.01). There was no association with ER-positive tumours. A further analysis by *p53* (*TP53*) status (wildtype vs mutation) and found no statistically significant associations or trend with increasing serum dieldrin, although odds ratios for the three highest quartiles were raised for cases with mutant p53 (OR for highest quartile, 3.53; 95% CI, 0.79-15.79; P for trend, 0.12) (Høyer et al., 2002). [The Working Group noted that the strengths of this study included that serum was taken before diagnosis of breast cancer, and that there were controls for multiple confounders.]

In the case-control study nested in the Norwegian Janus cohort of serum donors described above (<u>Ward et al., 2000</u>), there were 11 discordant case-control pairs with serum dieldrin levels (which may reflect exposure to aldrin and/or dieldrin) above the LOD. The matched odds ratio for dieldrin was 1.0 (95% CI, 0.4–2.6). [The Working Group considered that this was a reasonably high-quality study on dieldrin, with serum taken before diagnosis and control for multiple confounders; however, there were relatively small numbers of exposed cases.]

2.2.2 Case-control studies

See <u>Table 2.4</u>.

Several case-control studies that reported results for dieldrin also presented data for aldrin. The methods for these studies are described in detail in Section 2.1.2 and only the findings for dieldrin are presented here. In some other studies, exposures to dieldrin were assessed, but no risk estimates were reported (Cocco et al., 2008), or data for dieldrin were reported only as part of a broader grouping of pesticides (McDuffie et al., 2001; Pahwa et al., 2011). These studies were considered uninformative for dieldrin and are not considered further in this section. A cross-sectional study based on the United States NHANES survey of associations of self-reported cancer of the breast and prostate with serum dieldrin levels was also considered uninformative (Xu et al., 2010).

(a) Non-Hodgkin lymphoma

In the previously described study of NHL in Iowa and Minnesota, USA, by Cantor et al. (1992), a non-significant elevation in risk was observed among subjects who had ever personally handled, mixed, or applied dieldrin (OR, 1.4; 95% CI, 0.7–2.8). The risks were higher for those who had handled dieldrin for crop use before 1965 (OR, 1.9; 95% CI, 0.8-4.4). Additionally, elevated risk was found for dieldrin (OR, 2.2; 95% CI, 1.0-4.9; 13 cases) when pre-1965 use on either animals or crops was considered. In the subanalysis investigating subtypes of NHL (Schroeder et al., 2001), dieldrin was associated with t(14;18)-positive NHL (OR, 3.7; 95% CI, 1.9-7.0; 7 cases), but not with t(14;18)-negative NHL. [The Working Group noted that this was a large population-based study with in-person interviews on detailed farming and pesticide-use history, but the number of dieldrin uses was

Table 2.4 Ci	ase-control studies	on cancer an	d exposure	to dieldri	c		
Reference, location enrolment/ follow-up period	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Brown et al. (1990) Iowa and Minnesota, USA 1980–1984	Cases: 578; tumour registry and hospital records Controls: 1245; matched to case by 5-year age group, vital status and state via random-digit dialling, Medicare records or state death certificates Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; detailed questions with days per year for each pesticide	Leukaemia: newly diagnosed cases	Ever handled e Ever dieldrin	dieldrin 8	0.8 (0.4–2.0)	Vital status, age, state, tobacco use, family history of lymphopoietic cancer, high-risk occupations, high-risk exposures	USA midwest studies Cases and controls residing in cities with little farming activity (i.e. Minneapolis, St Paul, Duluth, and Rochester) were excluded from the study Strengths: large population-based study in farming areas; in-person interviews; detailed questionnaires including quantification; collection of other potential risk factors; reviewed diagnosis Limitations: multiple comparisons; self-report of pesticide use and limited numbers of aldrin and dieldrin use
Cantor et al. (1992) Iowa and Minnesota, USA 1980–1983	Cases: 622; health registry and hospital and pathology records Controls: 1245; matched to cases by age, vital status and state via random-digit dialling, Medicare record or state death certificate files Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; in-person interview	NHL: newly diagnosed cases divided into four subtypes: follicular, follicular, follicular, follicular, follicular, small lymphocytic, and "other NHL"	Dieldrin ever handled Dieldrin ever handled before 1965	10	1.4 (0.7–2.8) 1.9 (0.8–4.4)	Vital status, age, state, smoking, family history of lympho- haematopoietic cancer, high-risk occupation, high- risk exposures	Data subsequently pooled in <u>De Roos</u> et al. (2003) Strengths: large population-based study in farming areas Limitations: not controlled for exposure to other pesticides; white men only

Table 2.4	(continued)						
Reference, location enrolment/ follow-up period	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Schroeder et al. (2001) Iowa and Minnesota, USA 1980–1983	Cases: 622; state health registry and hospital/ pathology laboratory records Controls: 1245; matched to cases by age, state and vital status via random-digit dialling, Medicare records or state death certificate files Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; in-person structured interviews	NHL: t(14;18)- positive or t(14;18)- negative cases	Ever use of did Dieldrin: t(14;18)- positive NHL vs controls	7 7	3.7 (1.9–7)	Age, state	Same study population as Cantor et al. (1992) Strengths: large population-based study in farming areas Limitations: relative small numbers of t(14;18)-positive or -negative NH; the study looked at NHL subtypes but > 70% of the cases had missing subtypes; small numbers of cases with aldrin or dieldrin exposure
Gammon et al. (2002) Long Island, New York, USA, 1996–1997	Cases: 1508; pathologically diagnosed breast cancer Controls: 1556; frequency-matched to cases by 5-year age group; identified by random-digit dialling Exposure assessment method: personal monitoring; dieldrin in serum	Breast	Dieldrin (ng/ _{ 14.97–20.90 20.91–26.67 26.68–33.45 33.46–179.29	g lipid) 38 22 46	1.19 (0.59–2.41) 0.91 (0.45–1.84) 0.64 (0.3–1.35) 1.37 (0.69–2.72)	Age, race	Strengths: serum measures, adjusted for multiple potential confounders Limitations: small numbers (10% of original number of participants); includes in situ breast cancer; blood taken after diagnosis

Table 2.4	(continued)						
Reference, location enrolment/ follow-up period	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Clary & Ritz (2003) California, USA 1989–1996	Cases: 950; death tape files within three counties (Fresno, Kern, and Tulare) Controls: 9435; all non-cancer deaths that occurred during the same time period in the same three counties Exposure assessment method: residential pesticide measure from the California Department of PUR database	Pancreas (ICD-9, 157)	Dieldrin (tomr Highest vs lower three quartiles lower three quartiles, ≥ 20 yr residence	114 98	1.38 (0.90–2.11) 1.52 (0.94–2.46)	Sex, age, year of death, years of living in county, urban residence, race, education	Strengths: examined all pesticides individually, simultaneously and in various combinations of pesticide subgroups Limitations: mortality and pesticide data without individual measurement or questionnaire conducted; residence duration before death may not represent exposure duration
<u>De Roos et al.</u> (<u>2003</u>) Nebraska, Iowa and Minnesota, Kansas, USA 1979–1986	Cases: 650; Nebraska Lymphoma Study Group, hospitals, state health registry, cancer registry Controls: 1933; matched to cases by race, sex, age, region and vital status via random-digital dialling, Medicare records or state mortality files Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; 47 pesticides	NHL: newly diagnosed cases	Dieldrin – eve Dieldrin (logistic regression) Dieldrin (hierarchical regression)	r use 21 21	1.8 (0.8–3.9) 1.4 (0.8–2.6)	Age, study site, all other pesticides	USA midwest studies (pooled) from three previous case-control studies (Zahm, Cantor, Hoar) analysis restricted to potentially carcinogenic pesticides

Table 2.4 (continued)						
Reference, location enrolment/ follow-up period	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Ritchie et al. (2003) Iowa, USA 2000–2001 Case-control	Cases: 58; two clinics in Iowa Controls: 99; physical examination and annual check-ups from the university hospital; frequency-matched by age in 5-year increments to cases Exposure assessment method: blood samples collected and analysed questionnaire along with chemical history form for all study participants	Prostate: ICD-O 61.9	Dieldrin (µg/g Non- detectable 0.006-0.024 > 0.024) 41 5 5	1.00 0.97 (0.40–2.36) 0.28 (0.09–0.88)	Age, BMI, history of prostatitis	Organochlorine levels were analysed using both the unadjusted and lipid- adjusted serum values Strengths: collected blood samples; questionnaire included demographic and risk characteristics; a medical history for all study participants Limitations: small sample size
<u>Lee et al.</u> (2004 <u>)</u> Iowa, Minnesota, Nebraska, USA 1980–86	Cases: 872; State Health Registry, hospitals and Nebraska Lymphoma Study Group Controls: 2336; matched to case on age, race and state via random-digit dialling, Medicare records or mortality files Exposure assessment method: questionnaire; telephone or personal interviews with subjects or next of kin in Nebraska	THN	Ever use of die Among asthmatics Dieldrin among non- asthmatics	ldrin 5 30	4.2 (0.98–18.2) 1.2 (0.7–1.9)	Age, vital status, state	Strengths: pooled study so larger numbers; same population as <u>De</u> <u>Roos et al. (2003)</u> Limitations: use of proxy respondents may have led to nondifferential misclassification; no adjustment for co-exposures

_
$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$
2
Ψ
2
:=
7
2
9
4
4.
2.4 (c
e 2.4 (c
le 2.4 (c
ble 2.4 (c
able 2.4 (c

Reference, location enrolment/ follow-up period	Population size, description, exposure assessment method	Organ site	Exposure category or level	Exposed cases/ deaths	Risk estimate (95% CI)	Covariates controlled	Comments
Quintana et al. (2004) USA 1969-1983 Case-control	Cases: 175; cases without missing lipid- adjusted pesticide exposure data in EPA NHATS data Controls: 481; controls with a diagnosis of accidental injury (or death) or myocardial infarction, matched on age, sex, geographical region and race Exposure assessment method: human adipose tissue samples collected during surgery and post mortem	THN	Dieldrin expo < 0.09 0.09–0.15 0.15–0.24 > 0.24 Trend-test <i>P</i> -v	sure (ppm; µ 37 38 63 alue: 0.0002	g/g lipid) 1.0 1.24 (0.71–2.17) 1.56 (0.88–2.74) 2.70 (1.58–4.61)	Year of sample collection	Strengths: relatively large study size with biological samples collected; analyses with dieldrin as well as other compounds were conducted Limitations: two sources used for sample collection and mostly post mortem (> 90% from cadavers); control selection also from two groups; no information on lifestyle factors; essentially a cross-sectional study
<u>De Roos et al.</u> (2005) Iowa, Los Angeles County, Detroit and Seattle, USA 1998–2000	Cases: 100; SEER registry Controls: 100; matched to cases by age, sex and race via random-digit dialling and Medicare records Exposure assessment method: personal interview and laboratory measurements of organochlorines including aldrin and dieldrin from blood samples	NHL: untreated, newly diagnosed cases	Dieldrin, quai ≤ 8.1 > 8.1–10.9 > 10.9–14.3 > 14.3 Continuous (per 10 ng/g lipid) Trend-test <i>P</i> -v	:tiles (ng/g lij 31 14 8 25 78 78 alue: 0.82	bid) 1.0 0.5 (0.17–1.5) 0.31 (0.1–0.96) 0.76 (0.31–1.88) 0.98 (0.71–1.37)	Sex, study site, birth date, date of blood draw	Strengths: laboratory measurements included aldrin and dieldrin exposures; multiple imputation approach for values below detection limits; potential confounders were considered in analyses with quartiles and continuous exposure Limitations: small numbers of cases and controls relative to the original study; all measurements for some pesticides including aldrin were below LOD
BMI, body mass in lymphoma; NR, n	aduitytes ndex; CI, confidence interval; ot reported: PUR. Pesticide U	EPA, Environmer se Reporting Dat	ntal Protection Ag abase: SMR, stanc	gency; LOD, lir lardized morts	nit of detection; NH. ditv ratio: vs, versus	ATS, National Human	Adipose Tissue Survey; NHL, non-Hodgkin

limited. An attempt was made to investigate NHL subtypes, but subtype was missing for more than 70% of the cases.]

A pooled analysis of studies in the midwest USA (De Roos et al., 2003), including the previous study by Cantor et al. (1992), found an elevated risk of NHL associated with dieldrin use, although the effect estimate was not statistically significant (RR, 1.8; 95% CI, 0.8–3.9, with conventional logistic regression; and RR, 1.4; 95% CI, 0.8-2.6, with hierarchical regression). In a further analysis investigating whether asthma modifies the risk of NHL associated with pesticide exposure, risk was non-significantly elevated with exposure to dieldrin (OR, 4.2; 95% CI, 0.98–18.2; 5 exposed cases) in asthmatics compared with non-farmers without asthma (Lee et al., 2004). [The Working Group noted that this was a pooled analysis, which used hierarchical regressions to control for multiple pesticide exposures. A large number (n = 47)of insecticides and herbicides was included in regression modelling, but there was no analysis for single pesticides. Subjects with any missing exposure data were excluded. There were a very small number of subjects with asthma and dieldrin use, resulting in wide confidence intervals.]

In the population-based case-control study of NHL in four different areas of the USA (the state of Iowa, Los Angeles county, and metropolitan areas of Detroit and Seattle) (De Roos et al., 2005), 100 untreated, newly diagnosed NHL cases aged 20-74 years identified between 1998 and 2000 with adequate plasma volume were randomly selected with 100 controls matched by birth date, date of blood draw, sex, and study site. Concentrations of organochlorines including aldrin and dieldrin were measured in blood samples obtained before treatment, but no sample contained aldrin at above detection limits. Plasma dieldrin was not associated with risk of NHL in analyses of quartiles or continuous exposure (OR, 0.98 per 10 ng/g lipid; 95% CI, 0.71–1.37). [The Working Group noted that

study strengths included use of a conditional logistic regression analysis with consideration of potential confounders. Analyses of quartiles and of continuous exposure were conducted, although no significant associations were observed. The main study limitation was that biological samples were obtained after diagnosis. The Working Group further noted that measurements of dieldrin may additionally reflect exposure to aldrin.]

Another study used cases and controls from a data set originally collected in the United States EPA National Human Adipose Tissue Survey (NHATS) to examine the relationship between NHL and exposure to organochlorine pesticides (Quintana et al., 2004). Adipose tissue samples from more than 20 000 people were collected during surgery or post mortem between 1969 and 1983 in selected cities in the USA, and lipid-adjusted pesticide exposures were estimated. Cases (n = 175) were those with a diagnosis of NHL. Controls (n = 481) were subjects with a diagnosis of accidental injury or myocardial infarction matched on age, sex, geographical region, and race. Virtually all samples from cases and controls were obtained from cadavers. Dieldrin levels were significantly associated with increased risk of NHL among cases in the quartile of highest exposure (OR, 2.70; 95% CI, 1.58–4.61, with adjustment for year of sample collection; P for trend, 0.0002). Serum dieldrin levels showed moderate correlation with exposure to other compounds. When heptachlor epoxide was included in the model, the odds ratio for the highest quartile of dieldrin exposure was attenuated, while adjustment for β -hexachlorocyclohexane (β-HCH), and *para*, *para*'-dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (p,p'-DDE) did not have a notable effect. [The Working Group noted that the strengths of this study were that it was relatively large, and some biological samples were collected when dieldrin was in active use, with most measurements being above the LOD. The limitations were that it was essentially a

cross-sectional study, and two sources were used for sample collection, mostly post mortem.]

(b) Leukaemia

In the previously cited population-based case-control study in Iowa and Minnesota, USA, a lower risk of leukaemia was observed among subjects who had ever personally handled, mixed, or applied dieldrin (OR, 0.8; 95% CI, 0.4–2.0; 8 exposed cases) (Brown et al., 1990). [The Working Group noted that this was a large population-based study in farming areas. A limited number of subjects using dieldrin were included.]

(c) Cancer of the prostate

A pilot study compared serum levels of organochlorines in cases and controls (Ritchie et al., 2003). Cases (n = 58) were pathologically confirmed, newly diagnosed patients with cancer of the prostate from two clinics in Iowa, USA. Controls (n = 99) were men seen for routine examinations at a university hospital, frequency-matched by age to cases. Polychlorinated biphenyls and 18 organochlorine pesticides were measured in serum. Dieldrin (which may reflect exposure to aldrin and/or dieldrin) was detected in serum from 29.3% of cases and 38.4% of controls (P = 0.25). There was no apparent trend in the regression analysis of association between prostate cancer and dieldrin concentrations, and subjects with the highest levels of dieldrin appeared to have a reduced risk of cancer of the prostate compared with those with non-detectable dieldrin levels (P = 0.13). [The Working Group noted that blood samples were collected after diagnosis; the questionnaire included demographic and risk characteristics. The study was hospital-based, with a small sample size.]

(d) Cancer of the pancreas

A case-control study of mortality from cancer of the pancreas and long-term residential exposure to pesticides used computerized death tape files (1989-1996) and pesticide-use reporting records (1972-1989) from three counties in California (Clary & Ritz, 2003). Between 1989 and 1996, 950 deaths from cancer of the pancreas were identified and 9435 non-cancer deaths were randomly selected as controls within the same time period in these counties. Exposure was assigned based on information on duration of residency and pesticide-use reporting data on pesticide use with date and location of application for 18 chlorinated organic compounds, including dieldrin. Odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for mortality from cancer of the pancreas were estimated for the quartile of highest pesticide usage at the postal code level (\geq 75%) in comparison with all other quartiles (< 75%). A non-significantly elevated risk of pancreatic cancer was observed for potential dieldrin exposure for all cases (OR, 1.38; 95% CI, 0.90-2.11) and after restricting to subjects with ≥ 20 years of residency (OR, 1.52; 95% CI, 0.94-2.46) in analyses mutually adjusted for the 18 measured pesticides. Single pesticide models (not adjusted for multiple pesticides) did not suggest increases in risk associated with exposure to dieldrin. [The Working Group noted that this study examined all pesticides individually, simultaneously, and in various combinations of pesticide subgroups. Death certificate data only were used. The exposure assessment was ecological.]

(e) Cancer of the breast

A case-control study on cancer of the breast recruited residents of Long Island, New York, USA, in 1996 and 1997 (Gammon et al., 2002). Cases were pathologically diagnosed incident cases of cancer of the breast (both invasive and in situ) and controls were selected by random-digit dialling and frequency-matched to the cases by

5-year age group. Blood samples were available for 646 cases and 429 controls; serum samples for 181 cases and 148 controls contained dieldrin measured at the time of recruitment (i.e. after diagnosis for cases). Geometric mean levels of dieldrin were 20.4 ng/g lipid in cases and 21.3 ng/g lipid in controls. There was a non- significant positive association between dieldrin serum level and breast cancer after adjustment for age and race (OR, 1.37; 95% CI, 0.69-2.72, for the highest compared with the lowest quintile of dieldrin concentration). [The Working Group noted that dieldrin measured in serum may reflect exposure to aldrin and/or dieldrin. A study limitation is that serum dieldrin levels were assessed at the time of breast cancer diagnosis.]

2.3 Exposure assessment in epidemiological studies of aldrin and dieldrin

2.3.1 Exposure questionnaires and interviews

Individual exposure to aldrin and dieldrin has been assessed in epidemiological studies using several different methods. The simplest method, commonly used in case-control studies and also used in some cohort studies, used retrospective interviews or questionnaires to ascertain past use of aldrin, dieldrin, and other pesticides (Brown et al., 1990; Cantor et al., 1992; McDuffie et al., 2001; Schroeder et al., 2001; De Roos et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2004; Engel et al., 2005; Purdue et al., 2007; Pahwa et al., 2011; Koutros et al., 2013a, b, 2016; Alavanja et al., 2014). Such studies may also elicit information on the duration, timing, and frequency of use, specific tasks performed with pesticides, or numbers of animals and crops treated (e.g. Brown et al., 1990; Purdue et <u>al., 2007</u>). At least one study asked about use of pesticides in hobbies or home gardening, as well as farming (McDuffie et al., 2001). It has been argued that workers in stable careers can reliably report on past production methods and frequent chemical use (Friesen et al., 2015; IARC, 2017). For example, orchardists in one study showed good consistency in recalling commonly used pesticides and pesticide categories for repeated exposure questionnaires after 21–25 years; however, long-term recall of specific pesticides can be poor (Engel et al., 2001). In retrospective questionnaires, the types and timing of pesticide use are potentially subject to recall bias (differential accuracy of recall for cases versus controls), particularly if cancers have already occurred when study participants or next-of-kin proxies are interviewed (Nam et al., 2005).

The AHS, a prospective cohort study, collected information on use of specific pesticides from participants before follow-up for health outcomes. Exposure questionnaires collecting information on active ingredients, decades of use, application methods, and use of personal protective equipment were administered both at baseline and after 5 years of follow-up of a cohort (Flower et al., 2004; Koutros et al., 2013a, b; Alavanja et al., 2014; Koutros et al., 2016), rather than after cancer cases had been identified. These studies were unlikely to be affected by recall bias. On the basis of participant responses, the intensity of pesticide use was estimated and combined with information reported on frequency and duration of use to obtain cumulative exposure of each participant to each active ingredient (Dosemeci <u>et al., 2002</u>).

2.3.2 Employment records

An alternative approach was used in a study of workers in a pesticide-production plant in the USA, in which work records such as start dates for work areas and production units, payroll classifications, and job titles were used to classify workers into production unit categories such as "operations" or "maintenance" (Amoateng-Adjepong et al., 1995). [The Working Group noted that although not subject to recall bias, these are crude surrogates for exposure to aldrin and dieldrin, because a wide variety of chemicals were used and manufactured at the plant.]

2.3.3 Exposure biomarkers

In some studies, pesticide-use questionnaires or work records were supplemented or replaced by measurements of dieldrin and aldrin in the blood (Cantor et al., 2003; Ritchie et al., 2003; De Roos et al., 2005; Cocco et al., 2008; van Amelsvoort et al., 2009), or in adipose tissue (Quintana et al., 2004). Most aldrin is rapidly converted to dieldrin in humans (ATSDR, 2002), so measurements of dieldrin in blood and adipose samples may reflect exposure to aldrin and/or dieldrin. It is unclear whether aldrin measurements in the blood and adipose reflect only recent exposures or long-term storage of unmetabolized aldrin. Most dieldrin in the body is associated with lipids, so biomarker concentrations are typically reported as "lipid-adjusted" values (mass of dieldrin per unit mass of lipids). The mean apparent half-life of dieldrin in humans has been reported as 266-369 days (ATSDR, 2002), so dieldrin concentrations in blood may reflect exposure to aldrin and/or dieldrin in recent years, as well as any dieldrin mobilized from longer-term storage in adipose tissue.

In case-control studies, biomarker measurements were obtained after determination of case status and used as surrogates for past exposure. Such temporal misalignment induces some degree of exposure measurement error, with a larger degree of measurement error with shorter biological half-lives, larger exposure variability, or longer exposure durations (Bartell et al., 2004). Biomarkers may be affected by reverse causation if case status is associated with altered storage, metabolism, or excretion of a toxicant. For example, concentrations of organochlorines increase in plasma and adipose after weight loss (Baris et al., 2000; Pelletier et al., 2003), which results in differential exposure measurement error if cases experienced more weight loss than

controls (or vice versa). This may be a concern for interpretation of studies in which cases experienced weight loss before sample collection as a result of illness, chemotherapy, or radiation therapy (<u>De Roos et al., 2005</u>).

In the study by De Roos, serum samples were collected from untreated cases of NHL and matched controls in the USA during 1998–2000. Of the dieldrin measurements, 19% were below the LOD, and an additional 22.5% were unreportable due to interference. The median LOD was 6.5 ng/g lipid and the median serum concentration was 10.9 ng/g lipid. Eighteen quality-control pairs were available for which both measurements were above the LOD; these had an average intrabatch coefficient of variation of 6.6% and an intraclass correlation coefficient of 0.98 (De Roos et al., 2005).

<u>Cocco et al. (2008)</u> measured a variety of polychlorinated biphenyls and organochlorine pesticides in serum samples obtained from NHL cases and controls in France, Germany, and Spain. Among these, 54% of dieldrin measurements were below the LOD in Spain, and 100% were below the LOD in France and Germany. Poor intraclass correlation (< 0.5) was reported for duplicate samples, possibly due to low sample volumes (1 mL).

<u>Ritchie et al. (2003)</u> measured 31 toxicants (including dieldrin) in serum samples in a pilot case–control study of cancer of the prostate in the USA. Serum was collected from newly diagnosed cases and controls in 2000–2001; 71% of cases and 62% of controls had serum dieldrin concentrations that were below the LOD.

In a study by Quintana and colleagues, samples of adipose tissue were collected from a nested case-control study of cadavers and surgery patients in the USA National Human Adipose Tissue Survey (NHATS) from 1969 to 1983. About 14% of NHL cases were excluded due to missing lipid-adjusted pesticide concentrations or low lipid content in the adipose samples. Fewer than 2% of the remaining samples contained dieldrin at less than the LOD. Median adipose dieldrin concentrations were 180 ng/g lipid and 150 ng/g lipid for cases and controls, respectively (Quintana et al., 2004).

Several studies used stored blood samples to conduct cohort-based studies using prediagnostic biomarkers (Ward et al., 2000; Høyer et al., 2001; Gammon et al., 2002; Cantor et al., 2003; van Amelsvoort et al., 2009). The casecohort study by Cantor and colleagues used a cohort with stored serum samples collected in the USA in 1974, identifying incident NHL cases from 1975-1994. Median serum dieldrin concentrations were 129.9 ng/g lipid for cases and 116.9 ng/g lipid for controls. Intraset and interset coefficients of variation for serum dieldrin were 0.22 and 0.30, respectively. The few values below the LOD were retained (Cantor et al., 2003). [The Working Group noted that although this design also had temporal misalignment of the exposure measurement and disease outcome, the resulting exposure measurement error was most likely to be non-differential due to the use of prediagnostic rather than postdiagnostic serum samples.]

The cohort study by van Amelsvoort and colleagues of workers at plants manufacturing aldrin and dieldrin in the Netherlands also used dieldrin concentration in prediagnostic blood samples (from 1963-1970) to assess exposure, and followed participants for cause-specific mortality until 2006 (van Amelsvoort et al., 2009). Aldrin and dieldrin exposures were substantially decreased for these workers after 1970 due to improved production processes. Blood samples were collected one to four times per year as part of routine biomonitoring at the plant; repeated dieldrin measurements were available for 60% of participants. The study used a one-compartment pharmacokinetic model and a piecewise constant-exposure model to estimate total intake of aldrin and dieldrin for each worker over time, imputing missing values based on measurements in workers with the same job and work dates (de Jong, 1991). [The Working Group considered that

this exposure assessment was of relatively high quality because of the use of repeated prediagnostic biomarkers sampled during the years of peak exposure.]

2.3.4 Pesticide-use reporting and residential locations

Clary & Ritz (2003) used a different approach to exposure assessment for their epidemiological analysis, relying on geographical information systems and the California pesticide-use reporting database. They sorted 102 zip (postal) codes by relative commercial use of each of 18 organochlorine pesticides (including dieldrin) from 1972 to 1989, matching each study participant to a postal code using residential address at death. Duration of residency in county of residence was also available from death records. In California, reporting for commercial use of pesticides has been mandatory since the 1970s and recent data are highly resolved spatially and temporally, but earlier records were often incomplete and usage was likely underreported due to lack of enforcement (Clary & Ritz, 2003). The Working Group noted that it was unclear to what extent dieldrin use by zip (postal) code is a reasonable surrogate for personal exposure.]

3. Cancer in Experimental Animals

3.1 Aldrin

See <u>Table 3.1</u>.

3.1.1 Mouse

Oral administration

A group of 215 young male and female C3HeB/Fe mice [age, numbers, and sex were not reported; mice were divided approximately equally by sex] were fed diets containing aldrin [purity not reported] at a concentration of

10 ppm for up to 2 years (Davis & Fitzhugh, 1962). The control group consisted of 217 male and female mice. Treated mice died 2 months earlier than controls: the average survival time in treated mice was 51.8 weeks compared with 59.8 weeks for the controls. Survival at 18 months was decreased in treated mice (32/215; 15%) compared with the control group (47/217; 22%). All survivors at 2 years were killed and autopsied. Pneumonia and intestinal parasitism probably contributed to the decreased survival of the mice. It was reported that caging of mice in groups of 5-8 contributed to the spread of disease within groups. Partial re-evaluation by Reuber and others of the available histopathology data from Davis & Fitzhugh (1962) and from Davis (1965) indicated that most tumours initially classified by Davis & Fitzhugh (1962) as "hepatic cell adenoma" were actually hepatocellular carcinomas (Epstein, 1975; Reuber, 1975, 1976a). A statistically significant increase in the incidence of "hepatic cell adenoma" [hepatocellular carcinoma] was noted in treated mice when compared with the control group. On average, treated mice developed "hepatic cell adenomas" [hepatocellular carcinomas] after 80 weeks on study compared with 89 weeks on study for control mice. [The Working Group noted that the limitations of this study included low survival rate, combination of data for both sexes, lack of detailed histopathology, reports of disease, pneumonia, and intestinal parasitism, and the disposal of a large number of animals at autopsy. The Working Group considered that the re-evaluation by Epstein (1975) was accurate, but limited by the number of cases reviewed.]

In a subsequent study, groups of 100 male and 100 female C3H mice were fed diets containing aldrin [purity not reported] at a concentration of 0 or 10 ppm for up to 2 years (<u>Davis, 1965</u>, reported in <u>Epstein, 1975</u>). The number of survivors at 104 weeks was 64 and 31 for control and treated mice, respectively. Whereas the reported number of hepatic carcinomas [hepatocellular (for both sexes combined) of "benign hepatomas" [hepatocellular carcinomas] in the treated group (10 ppm) was significantly elevated, being approximately double that of controls, (Epstein, 1975). An independent partial re-evaluation of the Davis & Fitzhugh (1962) and Davis (1965) by Reuber and others concluded that most of the "benign hepatomas" were hepatocellular carcinomas. This re-evaluation indicated significant increases in the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in males and females in the treated group compared with the control groups (Epstein, 1975; Reuber, 1976a). Morphological descriptions of the liver lesions were reported by Reuber (1975) and Reuber (1976a). There were often two hepatocellular carcinomas present at the same time in treated animals, while solitary hepatocellular carcinomas were reported in the control animals (Reuber, 1976a). In addition, transplantation studies were conducted in which hepatocellular carcinomas were transplanted into mice [sex not reported] with a similar genetic background. Nine out of ten tumours from mice fed diets containing aldrin at 10 ppm grew when transplanted and histologically resembled the primary tumours (Reuber, 1976b). [The Working Group noted that the limitations of this study included the combination of data for both sexes, lack of detailed histopathology, and the absence of report on the number of animals evaluated for histopathology. The Working Group considered that the re-evaluation by Epstein (1975) was accurate, but limited by the number of cases reviewed.] In a study by the NCI, groups of 50 male

carcinomas] was about the same, the incidence

In a study by the NCI, groups of 50 male and 50 female $B6C3F_1$ mice were fed diets containing aldrin (technical grade; purity, 95% [impurities unspecified]) at a concentration of 4 or 8 ppm (time-weighted exposure) for males, and 3 or 6 ppm (time-weighted exposure) for females, for 80 weeks, and then held untreated for an additional 10–13 weeks (NTP, 1978a). The matched-control group consisted of 20 males

Table 3.1 Studies (of carcinogenicity in	experimental animals e	exposed to aldrin	
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, C3HeB/Fe (M+F combined) NR 2 yr (1962) (1962)	Oral Aldrin, purity NR Diet 0, 10 ppm, ad libitum 217, 215 47, 32 (at 18 mo)	<i>Liver</i> Hepatic cell adenoma [hepatocellular carcinoma]: 9/134 (7%), 35/151* (23%)	*P < 0.001, statistical test NR	Principal strengths: adequate duration Principal limitations: low survival rate; data combined for sexes; lack of detailed histopathology; disease, pneumonia and intestinal parasitism reported; large numbers of animals discarded at autopsy Partial re-evaluation of hepatic lesions of the combined studies by <u>Davis & Fitzhugh (1962)</u> and <u>Davis (1965)</u> by Reuber and others reported in <u>Epstein (1975)</u> (Table 3) – most tumours classified as hepatic cell adenomas were re-evaluated as hepatocellular carcinomas. Total hepatocellular carcinomas reported in <u>Reuber (1976a)</u> : control male – 22/73, 30%; aldrin male – 75/91 [$P < 0.0001$], 82%; control female – 2/53, 4%; aldrin female – 72/85, 85% [$P < 0.0001$]
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, C3H (M+F combined) NR 2 yr Davis (1965)	Oral Aldrin, NR Diet 0, 10 ppm, ad libitum 200, 200 64, 31 (at 104 wk)	<i>Liver</i> Benign hepatoma [hepatocellular carcinoma]: 27/200, 65/200* Hepatic carcinoma [hepatocel 4/200, 3/200	*[<i>P</i> < 0.0001] llular carcinoma]: [NS]	Principal strengths: adequate duration Principal limitations: data combined for sexes, lack of detailed histopathology number of animals evaluated for histopathology not reported Davis (1965) is reported in Epstein (1975). Data presented in Table 2 of Epstein (1975). Data presented in Table 2 of Epstein (1975). Data presented in Table 2 of Apstein (1975). Data presented in the set of the complexity of the Davis & Fitzhugh (1962) and Davis (1965) combined studies by Reuber and others reported in Epstein (1975) (Table 3) – most tumours classified as benign hepatomas were re-evaluated as hepatocellular carcinomas. Total hepatocellular carcinomas reported in Reuber (1976a): control male – 22/73, 30%; aldrin male – 75/91, 82% [$P < 0.0001$]; control female – 2/53, 4%; aldrin female – 72/85, 85% [$P < 0.0001$]

Table 3.1 (continu	led)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (M) 35 days 90–93 wk NTP (1978a)	Oral Aldrin, 95% (technical grade; impurities, NR) Diet 0, 0, 4 (TWA), 8 (TWA) ppm, ad (TWA) ppm, ad libitum; treated for 80 wk then control diet for 10–13 wk 20, 92, 50, 50 NR	Liver Hepatocellular carcinoma: 3/20* (matched control), 17/92** (pooled control), 16/49**, 25/45**, ****	* P = 0.001 by the Cochran- Armitage trend test ** P < 0.001 by the Cochran- Armitage trend test Armitage trend test *** P = 0.048 by the Fisher exact test vs pooled control group for intermediate-dose group, and P < 0.001 for high-dose group **** P = 0.002 by the Fisher exact test vs matched control group	Principal strengths: adequate duration; studies in M and F; complete histopathology
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (F) 35 days 90–91 wk NTP (1978a)	Oral Aldrin, 95% (technical grade; impurities, NR) Diet 0, 0, 3 (TWA), 6 (TWA) ppm, ad libitum; treated for 80 wk then control diet for 10–11 wk 10, 79, 50, 50 NR	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0/10, 3/78, 5/48, 2/43	NS	Principal strengths: adequate duration; studies in M and F; complete histopathology

	ed)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Rat, Osborne-Mendel (M+F combined) 3 wk 104 wk Fitzhugh et al. (1964)	Oral Aldrin, ≥ 99% Diet 0, 0.5, 2, 10, 50, 100, 150 ppm, ad libitum 24, 24, 24, 24, 24, 24 50%, 50%, 50%, 42%, 25%, 17% ³ , 4% ^b	All sites combined 3/17, 10/19*, 7/19, 8/22, 5/18, 5/11, 1/9	*[<i>P</i> = 0.041, Fisher's exact test; increase]	Principal limitations: data combined for sexes; only 68% of animals treated with aldrin (or dieldrin) were examined histologically Survival was significantly decreased in M and F (combined) exposed to 100 or 150 ppm at 24 mo (*P \leq 0.01 or ^b P \leq 0.05, respectively). Tumours reported as "pulmonary lymphosarcoma," "fibroadenoma of breast," "carcinoma of breast," "fibroadenoma of breast," "carcinoma of breast," "lymphoid except lung," "fibrosarcoma," and "other", were confirmed by independent re- evaluations by Reuber and others (Epstein, 1975). No liver tumours were initially reported, but a partial re-evaluation of the liver histopathology identified a total of 18 liver carcinomas in rats fed diets containing aldrin or dieldrin
Full carcinogenicity Rat, Osborne-Mendel (M) NR (weanling) 25 mo Deichmann et al. (1967)	Oral Aldrin, 95% (technical grade) Diet 0, 5 ppm, ad libitum 30, 30 50%, 66% (at 24 mo)	All tumours: 1/30, 2/30 Total tumours: 1, 2	[NS]	Principal limitation: only one dose group
Full carcinogenicity Rat, Osborne-Mendel (F) NR (weanling) 25 mo <u>Deichmann et al.</u> (1967)	Oral Aldrin, 95% (technical grade) Diet 0, 5 ppm, ad libitum 30, 30 60%, 63% (at 24 mo)	All tumours: 13/30, 13/30 Total tumours: 14, 13	[NS]	Principal limitation: only one dose group

Table 3.1 (contin	ued)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Rat, Osborne-Mendel (M) NR (weanling) ≤ 31 mo 2eichmann et al. (1970)	Oral Aldrin, 95% (technical grade) Diet 0, 20, 30, 50 ppm, ad libitum 100, 50, 50, 50 NR	All tumours: 19/75, 5/45, 7/46, 4/45 Total tumours: 46, 15, 15, 13	NS	Principal limitations: histopathology limited to examination of the lung, kidney, liver and all macroscopic changes Doses during the first 10 wk (0, 10, 15, 25 ppm) were half the final concentrations. Maximum survival of controls was only 27 mo. Tumour incidence: total number of rats with tumours/ number of rats examined histologically
Full carcinogenicity Rat, Osborne-Mendel (F) NR (weanling) > 27-< 31 mo <u>Deichmann et al.</u> (1970)	Oral Aldrin, 95% (technical grade) Diet 0, 20, 30, 50 ppm, ad libitum 100, 50, 50, 50 NR	All tumours 60/88, 20/47, 24/44, 11/31 Total tumours: 104, 26, 28, 16	NS	Principal limitations: histopathology limited to examination of the lung, kidney, liver and all macroscopic changes Doses during the first 10 wk (0, 10, 15, 25 ppm) were half the final concentrations. Maximum survival of controls was only 27 mo. Tumour incidence: total number of rats with tumours/ number of rats examined histologically
Full carcinogenicity Rat, Osborne-Mendel (M) 35 days 111–112 wk NTP (1978a)	Oral Aldrin, 95% (technical grade; impurities NR) Diet 0, 0, 30, 60 ppm, ad libitum; treated for 74 wk then control diet for 37–38 wk 10, 58, 50, 50 NR	<i>Thyroid</i> Follicular cell adenoma or carcinoma (combined): 3/7 (matched control), 4/48 (pooled control), 14/38*, 8/38 Follicular cell carcinoma: 0/7 (matched control), NR (pooled control), 4/38, 2/38 <i>Pancreas</i> Islet cell adenoma or carcinoma (combined): 0/9 (matched control), 5/37*, 2/39	* $P = 0.002$ by the Fisher exact test vs pooled control group NS * $P = 0.043$ by the Fisher exact test vs pooled control	Principal strengths: adequate duration; covered most of the life span; studies in M and F; complete histopathology
Table 3.1 (continu	ied)			
--	--	--	--	---
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Rat, Osborne-Mendel (F) 35 days 112–113 wk NTP (1978a)	Oral Aldrin, 95% (technical grade; impurities NR) Diet 0, 0, 30, 60 ppm, ad 0, 0, 30, 60 ppm, ad libitum; treated for 80 wk then control diet for 32–33 wk 10, 60, 50, 50 NR	Adrenal gland Cortical adenoma: 0/10, 0/55, 8/45*, 1/48 <i>Thyroid</i> Follicular cell adenoma or carcinoma (combined): 1/9, 3/52, 10/39*, 7/46 Follicular cell carcinoma: 0/9 (matched control), NR (pooled control), 2/39, 4/46	* $P = 0.002$ by the Fisher exact test vs pooled control group * $P = 0.009$ by the Fisher exact test vs pooled control group NS	Principal strengths: adequate duration; covered most of the life span; studies in both M and F; complete histopathology
F, female; M, male; mo, mo	nth; NR, not reported; NS, no	t significant; ppm, parts per millic	m; TWA, time-weighted average; w	k, week(s); yr, year(s)

and 10 females, and the study duration was 90-93 weeks. Time-weighted doses were used to assess the results, because the concentration of aldrin was reduced after study start due to toxicity. Because the number of matched-control mice was small, pooled controls were also used for statistical comparisons. The pooled-control groups consisted of the matched controls from the bioassay of aldrin combined with matched controls from contemporary bioassays with dieldrin, chlordane, heptachlor, dichlorvos, and dimethoate, giving groups of 92 male and 79 female mice. There was no significant effect on the survival of male mice. There was a significant (P = 0.037) dose-related trend in the mortality of female mice, primarily due to the early deaths in the groups at the higher dose. Mean body weights of males and females were similar to those of the controls.

In comparisons with the matched or pooled controls, the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma was significantly increased at 4 and 8 ppm in males, with a significant positive trend. The incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in the treated groups was above the mean for incidence in historical controls (44/285, 16.8%). There were no other significant increases in tumour incidence compared with the matched or pooled controls. There was no significant increase in the incidence of tumours in female mice (NTP, 1978a).

3.1.2 Rat

A study in male and female Carworth rats fed diets containing aldrin (<u>Treon & Cleveland</u>, <u>1955</u>; <u>Cleveland</u>, <u>1966</u>; also reported in <u>Epstein</u>, <u>1975</u>) was judged inadequate for the evaluation by the Working Group because of the lack of histopathological evaluation, difficulties in interpretation of the mortality data, limited reporting, and discrepancies between <u>Treon & Cleveland</u> (<u>1955</u>) and <u>Cleveland</u> (<u>1966</u>).

Groups of 12 male and 12 female Osborne-Mendel rats were fed diets containing aldrin (purity, not less than 99%) at a concentration of 0, 0.5, 2, 10, 50, 100, or 150 ppm for 2 years (Fitzhugh et al., 1964). Survival was significantly decreased in males and females (combined) at 100 or 150 ppm at 24 months. Mean body weights of males and females were similar to those of the controls. Six tumour categories were identified, including "pulmonary lymphosarcoma", "fibroadenoma of breast", "carcinoma of breast", "lymphoid except lung", "fibrosarcoma", and "other". Epstein (1975) reported that independent histopathological re-evaluations by Reuber and others confirmed these multiple site tumours. No benign or malignant liver tumours were initially reported by Fitzhugh et al. (1964), but a partial re-evaluation of the liver histopathology identified a total of 18 hepatocellular carcinomas in rats fed diets containing aldrin or dieldrin (Epstein, 1975). [The Working Group noted that the limitations of this study were that only 68% of the animals treated with aldrin (or dieldrin) were examined histologically, and that the data were combined for both sexes.]

Groups of 30 male and 30 female weanling Osborne-Mendel rats [age not reported] were fed diets containing aldrin (purity, 95%) at a concentration of 0 or 5 ppm for 25 months (Deichmann et al., 1967). Survival at 24 months was 50% and 66% for control and treated male rats, respectively, and 60% and 63% for control and treated female rats, respectively. Mean body weights were similar between control and treated groups. Tumour incidence (all sites) was not significantly increased in male or female rats relative to that in the respective control groups. [As a limitation of the study, the Working Group noted that only one dose concentration was used.]

Groups of 50 male and 50 female weanling Osborne-Mendel rats [age not reported] were fed diets containing aldrin (purity, 95%) at a concentration of 20, 30, or 50 ppm for 31 months (<u>Deichmann et al., 1970</u>). Control groups were

comprised of 100 males and 100 females. Doses during the first 10 weeks were half the final concentrations. Mean survival of the control male and female rats was 19.7 and 19.5 months, respectively. The survival rate was not affected in treated males, but the mean survival of female rats at 50 ppm (13.0 months) was significantly decreased relative to the control group. The maximum survival of control males and control females was 27 months. Mean body-weight gain was similar for treated and control groups. Tumour incidence (all sites) was not significantly increased in male or female rats relative to the respective control groups. No benign or malignant tumours of the liver were found in treated animals. [The Working Group noted that limitations of this study included that not all tissues were examined histologically.]

In a study by the NCI, groups of 50 male and 50 female Osborne-Mendel rats (age, 35 days) were fed diets containing aldrin (purity, 95% [impurities not reported]) at a concentration of 30 or 60 ppm (NTP, 1978a). Male rats were treated 74 weeks followed by 37-38 weeks of observation, and female rats were treated for 80 weeks followed by 32–33 weeks of observation. For matched controls (10 males and 10 females per group) the study duration was 111 weeks for males and 111-112 weeks for females. The pooled-control groups consisted of the matched controls from the bioassay of aldrin combined with matched controls from the contemporary bioassays of dieldrin, chlordane, heptachlor, dichlorvos and dimethoate, giving groups of 58 male and 60 female rats. There was no significant effect on the survival of males or females. Mean body weights of the treated male and female rats were lower than those of the controls during the second year of the study. The incidences of follicular cell adenoma or carcinoma (combined) of the thyroid gland increased in male and female Osborne-Mendel rats (NTP, 1978a). The increases were significant in groups at the lower dose, but not in the groups at the higher dose for

males, or for females when compared with the pooled controls, but were not significant when compared with the matched controls. The incidence of follicular cell carcinoma of the thyroid gland was not increased significantly in males or females. A significant increase in the incidence of adenoma or carcinoma (combined) of pancreatic islet cells was observed in males at the lower dose, but not at the higher dose, when compared with the pooled control group. A significant increase in the incidence of cortical adenoma of the adrenal gland was also observed in females at the lower dose, but not at the higher dose when compared with the pooled control group. [The Working Group noted that these increases in tumour incidence were only for the groups at the lower dose, and only when compared with the pooled control group, and thus concluded that they were not treatment-related.]

3.2 Dieldrin

See Table 3.2.

Dieldrin was reviewed in *IARC Monographs* Volume 5 (<u>IARC</u>, 1974) and Supplement 7 (<u>IARC</u>, <u>1987</u>). The previous *IARC Monographs* Working Group (<u>IARC</u>, <u>1987</u>) concluded that there was *limited evidence* in experimental animals for the carcinogenicity of dieldrin. This section provides an evaluation of the animal carcinogenesis studies reviewed in previous *Monographs* and Supplement and a review of any studies published since the earlier reviews.

3.2.1 Mouse

(a) Dietary administration

In a study by <u>Davis & Fitzhugh (1962)</u>, a group of 218 young [age not reported] male and female C3HeB/Fe mice [numbers and sex were not reported; mice were divided approximately equally by sex] were fed diets containing dieldrin [purity not reported] at a concentration of 10 ppm for up to 2 years. The control group

Table 3.2 Studies o	f carcinogenicity in e	cperimental animals e	xposed to dieldrin	
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, C3HeB/Fe (M+F combined) NR 2 yr Davis & Fitzhugh (1962)	Oral Dieldrin, NR Diet 0, 10 ppm, ad libitum 217, 218 47, 33 (at 18 mo)	<i>Liver</i> Hepatic cell adenoma [hep ² 9/134, 36/148* (24%)	atocellular carcinoma]: P < 0.001, statistical test NR	Principal strength: adequate duration Principal limitations: low survival rate; lack of detailed histopathology; disease, pneumonia and intestinal parasitism reported; large numbers of animals discarded at autopsy; data combined for both sexes Partial re-evaluation of hepatic lesions of the Davis & Fitzhugh (1962) and Davis (1965) combined studies by Reuber and others reported in Epstein (1975) (Table 3) – most tumours classified as hepatic cell adenomas were re-evaluated as hepatic cell adenomas were re-evaluated as hepatic cell adenomas fortal hepatocellular carcinomas reported in Reuber (1976a): control male – 22/73, 30%; dieldrin male – 62/71 [$P < 0.0001$], 87%; control female – 2/53, 4%; dieldrin female – 62/71, 87% [$P < 0.0001$]
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, C3H (M+F combined) NR 2 yr Davis (1965)	Oral Dieldrin, NR Diet 0, 10 ppm, ad libitum 200, 200 64, 39 (at 104 wk)	<i>Liver</i> Benign hepatoma [hepatoc 27/200, 69/200* Hepatic carcinoma [hepato 4/200, 5/200	ellular carcinoma]: *[P < 0.0001] cellular carcinoma]: [NS]	Principal strength: adequate duration Principal limitations: lack of detailed histopathology; number of animals evaluated for histopathology not reported; data combined for histopathology not reported; data combined for both sexes Davis (1965) is reported in Epstein (1975). Data presented in Table 2 of Epstein (1975). Partial re-evaluation of hepatic lesions of the Davis & Fitzhugh (1962) and Davis (1965) combined studies by Reuber and others reported in Epstein (1975) (Table 3) – most tumours classified as benign hepatomas were hepatocellular carcinomas. Total hepatocellular carcinomas reported in <u>Reuber (1976a</u>): control male – 22/73 (30%); dieldrin male – 62/71 (87%) [$P < 0.0001$]; control female – 2/53 (4%); dieldrin female – 62/71 (87%) [$P < 0.0001$]

IARC MONOGRAPHS - 117

Table 3.2 (continue	(pa			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, C57BL/6J, C3H/ He, B6C3F ₁ (M) NR (weanling) ≤ 132 wk Meierhenry et al. (1983)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Dieldrin, > 99% C57BL/6J : 0, 10 ppm; C3H/He: 0, 10 ppm; B6C3F; 0, 10 ppm, ad libitum; dieldrin was given for 85 wk 69, 71, 50, 50, 76, 62 NR	<i>Liver</i> Benign hepatoma [benign h 10/69 (14%), 20/71* (28%), 9/50 (18%), 10/50 (20%), 3/76 (4%), 18/62* (29%) Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0/69, 21/71* (30%), 6/50 (12%), 19/50* (38%), 3/76 (4%), 26/62* (42%)	tepatocellular tumour]: * $P < 0.01$ compared with control using the one-tailed test for the difference of proportions * $P < 0.01$ compared with control using the one-tailed test for the difference of proportions	Principal limitations: no data on survival or body weight
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, C3H/He (M) NR (weanling) 2 yr Ruebner et al. (1984)	Oral Dieldrin, 99% Diet 0, 10 (dieldrin "stopped"), 10 (dieldrin "continued") ppm, ad libitum 21, 12, 11 NR	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular adenoma: 6/21, 10/12*, 3/11	*[<i>P</i> < 0.004 by Fisher's exact test]	Principal limitations: small number of animals; limited exposure duration; number of animals at start not reported "stop-dieldrin" group: dieldrin fed until mice were aged 57 wk; "continue-dieldrin" group: dieldrin fed until mice were aged 67 wk
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (M) 4 weeks 132 wk <u>Walker et al. (1973);</u> Hunt et al. (1975)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Diet 0, 0.1, 1.0, 10 ppm, ad libitum 300, 125, 125, 200 NR	Liver Hepatocellular adenoma: 16%, 22%, 23%, 37% Hepatocellular carcinoma: 4%, 5%, 9%, 58% Hepatocellular adenoma an 20%, 27%, 32%, 95% Lung Adenoma: 32%, 38%, 37%, 18% Carcinoma: 7%, 11%, 13%, 1%	NR d carcinoma (combined):	Principal limitations: neoplasm incidences not reported; effective number of animals unclear; statistics cannot be calculated Study 1 (Experiment 1); data reported in this table are from the values given in <u>Hunt et al.</u> (1975). Total liver tumours: type (a) (simple nodular growth of parenchymal cells) + type (b) (areas of papilliform and adenoid growth of tumour cells). Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b). In current terminology, these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively

Study design	led) Route	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Species, strain (sex) Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals			
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (F) 4 wk 132 wk Walker et al. (1973); Hunt et al. (1975)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Diet 0, 0.1, 1.0, 10 ppm, ad libitum 300, 125, 125, 200 NR	Liver Hepatocellular adenoma: 12%, 18%, 23%, 37% Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0%, 3%, 5%, 59% Hepatocellular adenoma an 12%, 21%, 28%, 96% Lung Adenoma: 17%, 19%, 25%, 11% Carcinoma: 6%, 10%, 10%, 0%	NR d carcinoma (combined):	Principal limitations: neoplasm incidences not reported; effective number of animals unclear; statistics cannot be calculated Study 1 (Experiment 1); data reported in this table are from the values given in <u>Hunt et al.</u> (<u>1975</u>). Total liver tumours: type (a) (simple nodular growth of parenchymal cells) + type (b) (areas of papilliform and adenoid growth of tumour cells). Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b). In current terminology, these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (M) 4 wk 128 wk Walker et al. (1973)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Diet 0, 1.25, 2.5, 5, 10, 20 ppm, ad libitum 78, 30, 30, 30, 30 NR	Liver Hepatocellular adenoma: 12%, 13%, 40%, 77%, 36%, 18% Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0%, 7%, 3%, 10%, 9%, 53% Hepatocellular adenoma an Hepatocellular adenoma an 12%, 20%, 43%, 87%, 45%, 71% Lung Adenoma: 58%, 57%, 37%, 47%, 18%, 6% Carcinoma: 1%, 3%, 3%, 0%, 0%	NR d carcinoma (combined):	Principal limitations: neoplasm incidences not reported; effective number of animals unclear; statistics cannot be calculated Study 2 – Experiment 2.1; animals received ethylene oxide-sterilized diet (standard procedure at that time). Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b). In current terminology, these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively

Study design Species startin (sec) Rotte Agent tested, purity Agent start Incidence of tumours Significance Comments Agent start None Agent start Principal Principal Principal Agent start None Significance Principal Principal Principal Agent start Definition Significance Principal Principal Principal None of surviving animals Later Principal Principal Imitations: seeplasm incidences not reported; effective number of animals under: 228 Principal Imitations: seeplasm incidences not reported; effective number of animals under: 228 Principal Imitations: seeplasm incidences not reported; effective number of animals under: 228 Walker et al. (1972) Distants, 5, 10, 20 ppm, 238 Principal Imitations: seeplasm incidences reported; effective number of animals under: 238, 378, 300, 30, 30, 30, 30, 30, 30, 30, 30, 3	Table 3.2 (continu	ued)			
Hull carcinogenicity Crail Liver Principal limitations neoplasm incidences not house. Avuk Dielcin>99% Heptoscellular aderouma: Principal limitations neoplasm incidences not house. 128. vk 10%, 17%, 13%, 39%, 43%, 41%, NR NR Dielcin 73. vis. 30, 30, 30, 30, 30, 40%, 17%, 12%, 39%, 43%, 41%, NR Study 2 - Experiment 21, animals uncidences not house. 78. vis. 30, 30, 30, 30, 30, 30, 30, 30, 40%, 17%, 12%, 39%, 41%, 12%, 25%, 10, 20 ppm, 24% Study 2 - Experiment 21, animals received difficum 78, 30, 30, 30, 30, 30, 30, 30, 30, 30, 30	Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
	Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (F) 4 wk 128 wk Walker et al. (1973)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Diet 0, 1.25, 2.5, 5, 10, 20 ppm, ad libitum 78, 30, 30, 30, 30, 30 NR	Liver Hepatocellular adenoma: 10%, 17%, 39%, 43%, 41%, 24% Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0%, 0%, 4%, 17%, 12%, 14% Hepatocellular adenoma an 10%, 17%, 43%, 60%, 53%, 38% Lung Adenoma: 31%, 23%, 11%, 10%, 6%, 0% Ovary Tumour, NOS: 26%, 40%, 14%, 10%, 6%, 0%	NR ad carcinoma (combined):	Principal limitations: neoplasm incidences not reported; effective number of animals unclear; statistics cannot be calculated Other comments: Study 2 - Experiment 2.1; animals received ethylene oxide-sterilized diet (standard procedure at that time). Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b). In current terminology, these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively

Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (M) 4 wk Unsterilized diet experiment (104 wk), y-irradiated diet y-irradiated diet and y-irradiated diet and (100 wk) Walker et al. (1973)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Diet Unsterilized diet: 0, 10 ppm; irradiated diet and bedding: 0, 10 ppm, ad libitum 24, 24, 30, 30, 24, 24 NR	Liver Hepatocellular adenoma: 30%, 58%, 20%, 40%, 42%, 63% Hepatocellular carcinoma: 4%, 25%, 3%, 20%, 0%, 23% Hepatocellular adenoma an 34%, 83%, 23%, 60%, 42%, 86% Lung Adenoma: 30%, 17%, 43%, 10%, 4%, 0% Lung Adenoma: 30%, 17%, 43%, 10%, 13%, 5% Carcinoma: 0%, 0%, 3%, 0%, 4%, 0% Lymphoid tissue Tumour, NOS: 13%, 4%, 13%, 0%, 4%, 9%	NR d carcinoma (combined):	Principal limitations: few dose groups; neoplasm incidences not reported; effective number of animals unclear; statistics cannot be calculated Study 2 - Experiment 2.2; diet sterilization. Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b). In current terminology, these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively

Table 3.2 (continu	(pa)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (F) 4 wk Unsterilized diet experiment (104 wk), y-irradiated diet bedding experiment (100 wk) Walker et al. (1973)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Diet Unsterilized diet: 0, 10 ppm; irradiated diet and bedding: 0, 10 ppm, ad libitum 24, 24, 30, 30, 24, 24 NR	Liver Hepatocellular adenoma: 23%, 36%, 11%, 32%, 17%, 42% Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0%, 23%, 0%, 11%, 0%, 21% Hepatocellular adenoma an 23%, 59%, 11%, 43%, 17%, 63% Lung Adenoma: 32%, 9%, 18%, 0%, 17%, 29% Carcinoma: 0%, 0%, 0%, 13%, 0% Ovary Tumour, NOS 23%, 0%, 25%, 5%, 29%, 17% Lymphoid tissue Tumour, NOS: 32%, 5%, 32%, 0%, 2%, 21%	NR NR NR NR NR NR NR NR	Principal limitations: few dose groups; neoplasm incidences not reported; effective number of animals unclear; statistics cannot be calculated Study 2 – Experiment 2.2; diet sterilization. Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b). In current terminology, these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively

7
2
4
2
.⊆
벋
E
2
3
N
m
-
-
<u>0</u>
9

Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Co-carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (M) 4 wk 112 wk Walker et al. (1973)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Diet 0, 50 (DDT), 100 (DDT), 5 +50 (dieldrin+DDT) ppm, ad libitum 48, 32, 32, 32 NR	Liver Hepatocellular adenoma: 13%, 28%, 44%, 38% Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0%, 9%, 50% Hepatocellular adenoma ar 13%, 37%, 53%, 88% Lung Adenoma:	NR id carcinoma (combined):	Principal limitations: few dose groups.; neoplasm incidences not reported.; effective number of animals unclear; statistics cannot be calculated Study 2 – Experiment 2.3; DDT and dieldrin co-carcinogenicity. Animals received ethylene oxide-sterilized diet (standard procedure at that time). Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b). In current terminology, these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular
		38%, 41%, 50%, 34% Carcinoma: 0%, 0%, 3%		adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively. As reported in <u>Epstein (1975)</u> , Reuber re-evaluated the liver histopathology data and reported the following incidences
		<i>Testes</i> Tumour, NOS: 0%, 0%, 5%, 3%		for hepatocellular adenoma and carcinoma (combined): control, 0%; 50 ppm DDT, 6%; 5 ppm dieldrin+50 ppm DDT, 58%
Co-carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (F) 4 wk 112 wk Walker et al. (1973)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Diet 0, 50 (DDT), 100 (DDT), 5 +50 (dieldrin+DDT) ppm, ad libitum 48, 32, 32, 32 NR	Liver Hepatocellular adenoma: 17%, 43%, 63%, 28% Hepatocellular carcinoma 0%, 7%, 13%, 50% Hepatocellular adenoma ar 17%, 50%, 76%, 78% Lung Adenoma: 40%, 20%, 22%, 28% Lung Carcinoma: 6%, 17%, 3%, 6%	NR id carcinoma (combined):	Principal limitations: few dose groups; effective number of animals unclear; neoplasm incidences not reported; statistics cannot be calculated Study 2 – Experiment 2.3; DDT and dieldrin co-carcinogenicity. Animals received ethylene oxide-sterilized diet (standard procedure at that time). Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b). In current terminology, these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively. As reported in Epstein (1975), Reuber re-evaluated the liver histopathology data and reported the liver histopathology data and reported the following incidences for hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma (combined): control, 0%; 50 ppm DDT, 16%; 5 ppm dieldrin+50 ppm DDT, 94%

Table 3.2 (continu	ued)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (M) 4 wk 104 wk Walker et al. (1973)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Diet 10 ppm fed for 0 wk, 2 wk, 4 wk, 8 wk, 16 wk, 32 wk, 64 wk, ad libitum 29, 29, 29, 29, 29, 29 NR	Liver Hepatocellular adenoma: 2/18, 2/13, 0/10, 3/10, 4/11, 4/10, 6/13* Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0/18, 0/13, 1/10, 1/10, 0/11, 0/10, 7/13 Hepatocellular adenoma an 2/18, 2/13, 1/10, 4/10, 4/11, 4/10, 13/13* Lung Tumour, NOS: 8/18, 6/13, 3/10, 6/10, 6/11, 5/10, 7/13 Spleen/lymphatic tissue Tumour, NOS: 0/18, 2/13, 1/10, 3/10, 0/11, 1/10, 2/13	*[<i>P</i> < 0.043 by Fisher's exact test] [NS] [NS] a carcinoma (combined): *[<i>P</i> < 0.0001 by Fisher's exact test]; [<i>P</i> < 0.0001 by Cochran- Armitage trend-test] [NS] [NS]	Study 2 – Experiment 2.4; limited exposure Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b). In current terminology, these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively

Table 3.2 (continu	ed)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (F) 4 wk 104 wk Walker et al. (1973)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Diet 10 ppm fed for 0 wk, 2 wk, 4 wk, 8 wk, 16 wk, 32 wk, ad libitum 29, 29, 29, 29, 29, 29 NR	Liver Hepatocellular adenoma: 1/16, 2/9, 3/12, 4/12, 3/8, 4/10, 6/9* Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0/16, 0/9, 1/12, 0/12, 0/8, 0/10, 2/9 Hepatocellular adenoma an 1/16, 2/9, 4/12, 4/12, 3/8, 4/10, 8/9* Tumour, NOS: 4/16, 7/9*, 2/12, 6/12, 3/8, 4/16, 7/9*, 2/12, 6/12, 3/8, 4/16, 7/9*, 2/12, 6/12, 3/8, 3/10, 2/9 Spleen/lymphatic tissue Tumour, NOS: 2/16, 1/9, 1/12, 2/12, 0/8, 3/10, 1/9 Other tissues Tumour, NOS: 2/16, 2/9, 1/12, 0/12, 0/8, 0/10, 2/9	*[$P < 0.003$ by Fisher's exact test] [NS] [NS] d carcinoma (combined): *[$P < 0.0001$ by Fisher's exact test]; [$P = 0.004$ by Cochran- Armitage trend-test] Armitage trend-test] [$P = 0.017$ by Fisher's exact test] [NS] [NS] [NS]	Study 2 – Experiment 2.4; limited exposure Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b). In current terminology, these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively

Table 3.2 (continue	ed)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (M) 4 wk 110 wk Thorpe & Walker (1973)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Diet 0, 10 ppm, ad libitum 45, 30 NR	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular adenoma ar 24%, 100%*	d carcinoma (combined): *P < 0.01 by a 2 × 2 contingency table	Principal limitations: few dose groups; neoplasm incidences not reported; statistics cannot be calculated Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b). In current terminology, these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (F) 4 wk 110 wk Thorpe & Walker (1973)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Diet 0, 10 ppm, ad libitum 45, 30 NR	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular adenoma ar 23%, 93%*	d carcinoma (combined): *P < 0.01 by a 2 × 2 contingency table	Principal limitations: few dose groups; neoplasm incidences not reported; statistics cannot be calculated Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b). In current terminology, these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (M) NR (weanling) ≤ 65 wk of age Tennekes et al. (1979)	Oral Dieldrin, NR Diet (SSD or CD) SSD/FPB, 0, 10; SSD/SB, 0, 10; CD/FPB, 0, 10; CD/ SB, 0, 10 mg/kg diet, ad libitum 15, 15, 12, 15, 16, 15, 16 NR	Liver Hepatocellular adenoma: 2/15 (13.3%), 7/15 (46.7%), 1/15 (6.7%), 10/12 (83.3%)*, 0/15, 7/16 (43.7%)***, 0/15, 7/16 (43.7%)***, 0/15, 4/16 (43.7%),0/15, 4/16 (15.4/15 (26.7%), 0/15, 2/12 (16.7%), 0/15, 2/12 (16.7%), 0/15, 2/16 (25%), 0/15, 5/16 (31.3%)* Hepatocellular adenoma ar 2/15 (13.3%)*, 1/15 (6.7%), 12/12**, 0/15, 13/16 (81.3%)**, 0/15, 12/16 (75.0%)**	*[<i>P</i> < 0.0001] **[<i>P</i> ≤ 0.0008] ***[<i>P</i> < 0.007] *[<i>P</i> < 0.05] d carcinoma (combined): *[<i>P</i> ≤ 0.0025] **[<i>P</i> < 0.0001]	Principal limitations: few dose groups; small number of animals per group SSD: semisynthetic diet; FPB: filter paper bedding; SB: sawdust bedding; CD: conventional diet. Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b). In current terminology, these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively

Table 3.2 (continu	ed)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (M) NR (weanling) 110 wk Tennekes et al. (1981)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Diet (SSD or CD) SSD/FPB, 0, 10; SSD/SB, 0, 10; CD/FPB, 0, 10; CD/ SB, 0, 10 mg/kg diet, ad libitum 55, 31, 47, 19, 68, 51, 82, 38 NR	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular adenoma: 2/55, 10/31*, 12/47, 13/19**, 4/68, 23/51***, 5/82, 13/38**** Hepatocellular carcinoma: 1/55, 11/31*, 0/47, 3/19**, 0/68, 21/51*, 1/82, 19/38* Hepatocellular adenoma an. 3/55 (5.5%), 21/31 (67.7%)*, 12/47 (25.5%), 16/19 (84.2%)*, 4/68 (5.9%), 44/51 (86.3%)*, 6/82 (7.3%), 32/38	* $[P = 0.0005] ** [P \le 0.0019]$ *** $[P < 0.0001]$ **** $[P = 0.0002]$ * $[P < 0.0001] ** [P = 0.0212]$ d carcinoma (combined): * $[P < 0.0001]$	Principal limitation: few dose groups SSD: semi-synthetic diet; FPB: filter paper bedding; SB: sawdust bedding; CD: conventional diet. On average, only 10% of dieldrin-treated mice survived to 100 wk (controls, 40%). Lung metastases were observed in hepatocellular carcinoma-bearing treated mice
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (M) 4 wk ≤ 132 wk Tennekes et al. (1982)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99.9% NR 0, 0.1, 1, 10 ppm, ad libitum 289, 124, 111, 176 NR	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular carcinoma: 11/289, 6/124, 10/111*, 102/176** Hepatocellular adenoma an. 58/289, 33/124, 35/111*, 167/176**	*[$P < 0.046$ by Fisher's exact test]; **[$P < 0.0001$ by Fisher's exact test]; [$P < 0.001$ by Cochran- Armitage trend-test] d carcinoma (combined); *[$P < 0.018$ by Fisher's exact test]; **[$P < 0.001$ by Fisher's exact test]; [$P < 0.001$ by Cochran- frest]; frest]; frest];	Re-evaluation of <u>Walker et al. (1973)</u> . Publication includes data from two different long-term feeding studies: Experiment 1: dieldrin at 0, 0.1, 1, and 10 ppm; Experiment 2.1: dieldrin at 0, 2.5, 5, and 20 ppm. At 20 ppm, 5/17 males died from "acute intoxication" within the first 13 wk of treatment

Table 3.2 (continu	ed)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (F) 4 wk Up to 132 wk Tennekes et al. (1982)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99.9% NR 0, 0.1, 1, 10 ppm, ad libitum 297, 120, 117, 148 NR	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0/297, 4/120*, 6/117**, 88/148**	*[<i>P</i> < 0.007 by Fisher's exact test]; **[<i>P</i> < 0.0001 by Fisher's exact test]; [<i>P</i> < 0.001 by Cochran- Armitage trend-test]	Re-evaluation of <u>Walker et al. (1973)</u> . Publication includes data from two different long-term feeding studies: Experiment 1: dieldrin at 0, 0.1, 1 and 10 ppm; Experiment 2.1: dieldrin at 0, 2.5, 5, 10, and 20 ppm. At 20 ppm, 11/21 females died from "acute intoxication" within the first 13 wk of treatment
		Hepatocellular adenoma an 37/297, 25/120*, 33/117**, 142/148**	d carcinoma (combined): *[<i>P</i> < 0.034 by Fisher's exact test]; **[<i>P</i> = 0.0002 by Fisher's exact test]; [<i>P</i> < 0.001 by Cochran- Armitage trend-test]	
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (M) 4 wk Up to 132 wk Tennekes et al. (1982)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99.9% NR 0, 2.5, 5, 20 ppm, ad libitum 78, 30, 30, 17 NR	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0/78, 2/30, 3/30*, 9/17**	*[<i>P</i> < 0.020 by Fisher's exact test]; **[<i>P</i> < 0.0001 by Fisher's exact test]; [<i>P</i> < 0.001 by Cochran- Armitage trend-test]	Re-evaluation of <u>Walker et al. (1973)</u> . Publication includes data from two different long-term feeding studies: Experiment 1: dieldrin at 0, 0.1, 1, and 10 ppm; Experiment 2.1: dieldrin at 0, 2.5, 5, and 20 ppm. At 20 ppm, 5/17 males died from "acute intoxication" within the first 13 wk of treatment
		Hepatocellular adenoma an 9/78, 14/30*, 26/30*, 12/17*	d carcinoma (combined): *[<i>P</i> < 0.0002 by Fisher's exact test]; [<i>P</i> < 0.001 by Cochran- Armitage trend-test]	

	Comments	Re-evaluation of <u>Walker et al. (1973)</u> . t Publication includes data from two different long-term feeding studies: Experiment 1: dieldrin at 0, 0.1, 1, and 10 ppm; Experiment 2.1: dieldrin at 0, 2.5, 5, 10, and 20 ppm. At 20 ppm, ct 11/21 females died from "acute intoxication" within the first 13 wk of treatment tt	Principal strengths: adequate duration; studies in M and F; complete histopathology t
	Significance	*[$P < 0.0014$ by Fisher's exact test]; **[$P < 0.031$ by Fisher's exact test]; ***[$P < 0.031$ by Fisher's exact test] [$P = 0.013$ by Cochran- Armitage trend-test] d carcinoma (combined): *[$P < 0.001$ by Fisher's exact test]; **[$P = 0.002$ by Fisher's exact test]; **[$P = 0.002$ by Fisher's exact test]; [$P < 0.001$ by Cochran- Armitage trend-test]	*P = 0.020; Cochran- Armitage trend test **P = 0.025; Fisher exact test vs pooled control group
	Incidence of tumours	Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0/78, 2/28, 5/30*, 2/17**, 3/21*** Hepatocellular adenoma an 8/78, 13/28*, 18/30*, 9/17*, 8/21**	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular carcinoma: 3/18 (matched control), 17/92* (pooled control), 12/50, 16/45**
(pər	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Oral Dieldrin, > 99.9% NR 0, 2.5, 5, 10, 20 ppm, ad libitum 78, 28, 30, 17, 21 NR	Oral Dieldrin (technical grade), > 96% (impurities, NR) Diet 0, 0, 2.5, 5 ppm, ad libitum; mice treated for 80 wk, followed by observation periods of 11–13 wk 20, 92, 50, 50 NR
Table 3.2 (continu	Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Full carcinogenicity Mouse, CF-1 (F) 4 wk Up to 132 wk Tennekes et al. (1982)	Full carcinogenicity Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (M) 35 days 91–93 wk NTP (1978a)

Table 3.2 (continu	ed)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (F) 35 days 90–93 wk NTP (1978a)	Oral Dieldrin (technical grade), > 96% (impurities NR) Diet 0, 0, 2.5, 5 ppm, ad libitum; mice treated for 80 wk, followed by observation periods of 10–13 wk 20, 79, 50, 50 NR	<i>Liver</i> Hepatocellular carcinoma: 0/20 (matched control), 3/78 (pooled control), 6/50, 2/49	NS	Principal strengths: adequate duration; studies in M and F; complete histopathology
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, Balb/c (M) NR (young) 52 and 75 wk Lipsky et al. (1989)	Oral Dieldrin, NR Diet 0 (52 wk), 10 (52 wk), 0 (75 wk), 10 (75 wk) ppm 10, 10, [unclear], 20 NR	Liver Hepatocellular adenoma: Incidence: 0/10, 2/10, 2/36, 16/20* Total tumours: 0, 2, 7, 29 Hepatocellular carcinoma: Incidence: 0/10, 1/10, 1/36, 3/20 Total tumours: 0, 1, 1, 3 Hepatocellular adenoma or 0/10, 2/10 (20%), 3/36 (8%), 16/20 (80%)*	*[<i>P</i> < 0.0001] [NS] arcinoma (combined): *[<i>P</i> < 0.0001]	Principal limitation: number of 75-wk control animals at start unclear
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, Swiss-Webster (M) NR (weanling) ≤ 30 mo Epstein (1975)	Oral Dieldrin, technical grade NR 0, 3, 10 ppm, ad libitum 125, 129, 130 NR	Liver Nodules: 0/93, 2/81 (2%), 32/91* (35%) Hepatoma: 0/93, 0/81, 0/91	*[P < 0.0001 by Fisher's exact test] [P < 0.001 by Cochran- Armitage trend-test] NS	Re-evaluation of some of the histopathology data by Reuber and others concluded that more than half of the re-examined liver lesions from high-dose mice were hepatocellular carcinomas

Table 3.2(continu	ed)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse, Swiss-Webster (F) NR (weanling) ≤ 32 mo Epstein (1975)	Oral Dieldrin, technical grade NR 0, 3, 10 ppm, ad libitum 100, 100 NR	Liver Nodules: 0/71, 2/78 (3%), 44/70* (63%) Hepatoma: 2/71, 0/78, 0/70	*[P < 0.0001 by Fisher's exact test] [P < 0.001 by Cochran- Armitage trend-test] NS	Re-evaluation of some of the histopathology data by Reuber and others concluded that more than half of the re-examined liver lesions from high-dose mice were hepatocellular carcinomas
Full carcinogenicity Mouse (C57BL/6J \times C3HeB/ FeJ)F ₁ (M) 1 or 5 wk Up to 90 wk <u>Vesselinovitch et al.</u> (1979)	Gavage and/or oral Dieldrin, NR NR 0 µg (untreated control); 12.5 µg daily by gavage from age 1 to 5 wk; 10 ppm in the diet from age 5 to 90 wk; 12.5 µg daily by gavage from age 1 to 5 wk, then 10 ppm in the diet from age 5 to 90 wk NR	Liver Hepatocellular tumours: 1/58 (2%), 3/46 (7%), 7/60 (12%), 21/70 (30%)*	<i>P</i> < 0.001	Principal limitations: number of animals at start, NR; lack of vehicle control; no data on survival or body weight; purity, NR; statistical test, NR

Table 3.2 (continu	ed)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Mouse (transgenic), FVB/N-TgMMTV/neu (offspring) (F) NA Offspring killed at 22 wk 22 wk (2009)	Transplacental/lactation/ gavage Dieldrin, NR Corn oil 0, 0.45, 2.25, 4.5 µg/g bw Dams: gavage for 5 days, 2 wk before mating, 1×/week throughout gestation and lactation until weaning (age 3 wk); offspring: 1×/week until age 9 wk NR 84, 79, 81, 19	Mammary Total tumours: Tumour multiplicity: 4.62, 4.82, 4.54, 7.58* Thoracic tumours: Tumour multiplicity: 3.81, 4.24, 3.82, 6.37* Inguinal tumours: Tumour multiplicity: 0.75, 1.00, 0.73, 1.21	*P < 0.05 as determined by one way ANOVA and appropriate post hoc test *P < 0.05 as determined by one way ANOVA and appropriate post hoc test NS	Tumours were primarily adenocarcinoma of the mammary gland. There was also an increased $(P < 0.05)$ volume of thoracic mammary tumours: 49.12, 45.55, 18.28, and 77.30* mm ³ , respectively. Preliminary evidence of increased incidence of ovarian and liver tumours in groups at the intermediate and highest dose
Full carcinogenicity Rat, Carworth Farm "E" (M) 5 wk 2 yr Walker et al. (1969)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Diet 0, 0.1, 1.0, 10 ppm, ad libitum 45, 25, 25 NR	All tumours 12/43, 6/23, 5/23, 8/23 <i>Pituitary gland</i> Tumour: 2/43, 2/23, 1/23, 2/23 <i>Thyroid gland</i> Tumour: 3/43, 2/23, 2/23, 4/23	NS NS NS	Stevenson et al. (1976) re-evaluated the study and concluded again there was not a treatment- related increase in tumour incidence. Number of males with tumours was 12/43, 9/23, 5/23, and 9/23, respectively
Full carcinogenicity Rat, Carworth Farm "E" (F) 5 wk 2 yr Walker et al. (1969)	Oral Dieldrin, > 99% Diet 0, 0.1, 1.0, 10 ppm, ad libitum 45, 25, 25 NR	All tumours 19/43, 15/23, 14/23, 12/23 Pituitary gland Tumour: 2/43, 1/23, 1/23, 2/23 Thyroid gland Tumour: 3/43, 6/23, 4/23, 3/23	NS NS NS	Stevenson et al. (1976) re-evaluated the study and concluded again there was not a treatment-related increase in tumour incidence. Number of females with tumours was 18/43,18/23,16/23,and 13/23, respectively

-
- Ă
<u> </u>
-
.=
-
C
0
0
_
Ľ
Ľ
с И
Ņ
3.2
e 3.2 (
le 3.2 (
ble 3.2 (
able 3.2 (

	Comments				Principal limitations: data combined for sexes; only 68% of animals treated with dieldrin (or aldrin) were examined histologically Survival was significantly decreased in M and F (combined) at 50, 100 or 150 ppm at 24 mo ($_{4}P \leq 0.05$, $^{b}P \leq 0.01$). Tumours reported as "pulmonary lymphosarcoma," "fibroadenoma of breast," carcinoma of breast," "lymphoid except lung," fibrosarcoma," and "other were confirmed by" independent rc-evaluations by Reuber and others (Epstein, 1975). No liver tumours were initially reported, but a partial re- evaluation of the liver histopathology identified a total of 18 liver carcinomas in rats fed diets containing dieldrin or aldrin	Doses during the first 10 wk were half the final concentrations. Maximum survival of controls was only 27 mo. Histopathology was re-evaluated in limited samples of the group receiving dieldrin at 30 ppm: as reported in Epstein (1975) , the total number of rats (M and F combined) with malignant tumours was reported as 12.6% (10/79) in <u>Deichmann et</u> <u>al. (1970)</u> , whereas a re-evaluation by Reuber reported 34.2% (26/76). Tumour incidence: total number of rats with tumours/number of rats examined histologically
	Significance		NS	NS	SZ	SZ
	Incidence of tumours	Mammary gland Tumour:	13/43, 11/23, 10/23, 8/23 Other tumours	3/43, 2/23, 4/23, 0/23	All tumours 3/17, 8/22, 8/23, 4/18, 4/20, 3/18, 0/11	All tumours 19/75, 4/48, 7/38, 1/44 Total tumours: 46, 10, 19, 1
•	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals				Oral Dieldrin, 100% Diet 0, 0.5, 2, 10, 50, 100, 150 ppm, ad libitum 24, 24, 24, 24, 24, 24 50%, 42%, 63%, 25%, 21%ª, 13% ^b , 4% ^a	Oral Dieldrin, 100% Diet 0, 20, 30, 50 ppm, ad libitum 100, 51, 50, 50 NR
	Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Full carcinogenicity Rat, Carworth Farm	"E" (F) 5 wk	2 yr <u>Walker et al. (1969)</u> (cont.)	Full carcinogenicity Rat, Osborne-Mendel (M+F combined) 3 wk 104 wk Fitzhugh et al. (1964)	Full carcinogenicity Rat, Osborne-Mendel (M) NR (weanling) < 31 mo < 31 mo Deichmann et al. (1970)

Table 3.2 (continue	ed)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Rat, Osborne-Mendel (F) NR (weanling) < 31 mo Ceichmann et al. (1970)	Oral Dieldrin, 100% Diet 0, 20, 30, 50 ppm, ad libitum 100, 50, 48, 50 NR	All tumours 60/88, 23/48, 16/41, 16/41 Total tumours: 104, 33, 23, 23	SZ	Doses during the first 10 wk were half the final concentrations. Maximum survival of controls was only 27 mo. Histopathology was re-evaluated in limited samples of the group receiving dieldrin at 30 ppm: as reported in Epstein (1975), the total number of rats (M and F combined) with malignant tumours was reported as 12.6% (10/79) in <u>Deichmann et</u> al. (1970), whereas a re-evaluation by Reuber reported 34.2% (26/76). Tumour incidence: total number of rats with tumours/number of rats
Full carcinogenicity Rat, Osborne- Mendel (M) 35 days 110–111 wk NTP (1978a)	Oral Dieldrin (technical grade), > 96% (impurities NR) Diet Matched controls – 0, 29 (TWA), 65 (TWA) ppm, ad libitum; low-dose rats treated for 80 wk, followed by observation periods of 30 wk; high- dose rats treated for 59 wk followed by observations periods of 52 wk 10, 58, 50, 50 NR	Any tumour type No significant increase	S	Principal strengths: adequate duration; covered most of the life span, studies in M and F; complete histopathology

Table 3.2(continu	led)			
Study design Species, strain (sex) Age at start Duration Reference	Route Agent tested, purity Vehicle Dose(s) No. of animals at start No. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Rat, Osborne- Mendel (F) 35 days 110–111 wk NTP (1978a)	Oral Dieldrin (technical grade), > 96% (impurities NR) Diet Matched controls - 0, pooled controls - 0, 29 (TWA), 65 (TWA) ppm, ad libitum; Low-dose rats treated for 80 wk, followed by observation periods of 30–31 wk; high-dose rats treated for 59 wk followed by observation periods of 51–52 wk 10, 60, 50, 50 NR	<i>Adrenal gland</i> Cortical adenoma or carci 0/9, 0/55, 6/45*, 2/40	noma (combined): *P = 0.007 by the Fisher exact test when compared with the pooled-control group	Principal strengths: adequate duration; covered most of the life span; studies in M and F; complete histopathology
Full carcinogenicity Rat, F344 (M) 51–55 days 104–105 wk NTP (1978b)	Oral Dieldrin, technical grade, purified Diet 0, 2, 10, 50 ppm, ad libitum 24, 24, 24 22, 18, 18, 16	No increase in incidence of any tumour type	NS	Principal limitation: small number of animals
Full carcinogenicity Rat, F344 (F) 51–55 days 104–105 wk NTP (1978b)	Oral Dieldrin, technical grade, purified Diet 0, 2, 10, 50 ppm, ad libitum 24, 24, 24 21, 21, 20, 17	No increase in incidence of any tumour type	NS	Principal limitation: small number of animals

\sim
σ
Ð
5
2
÷
2
0
U
-
-
5
3.2
e 3.2 (
ble 3.2 (
able 3.2 (

Study design Rc Species, strain (sex) Af Age at start Ve Duration Do Reference No	ute gent tested, purity chicle ose(s) . of animals at start o. of surviving animals	Incidence of tumours	Significance	Comments
Full carcinogenicity Di Hamster, Syrian golden Di (M) Di NR 0, Lifetime (up to 120 wk lib of age) 40 Cabral et al. (1979) 2,	et eldrin, 99% 20, 60, 180 ppm, ad itum , 34, 32, 41 3, 5, 13 (at age 90 wk)	All tumours: 3/40 (7.5%), 5/32 (15.6%), 5/32 (15.6%), 10/40 (25%) Total tumours: 3, 5, 8, 11	NS	Tumour sites were reported as [all], thyroid gland, adrenal gland, liver, and "other"
Full carcinogenicity Di Hamster, Syrian golden Di (F) Di NR 0 Lifetime (up to 120 wk lib of age) 40 Cabral et al. (1979) 3,	et eldrin, 99% 20, 60, 180 ppm, ad itum , 33, 34, 38 0, 3, 4 (at age 90 wk)	All tumours: 5/39 (12.8%), 1/32 (3.2%), 5/34 (14.7%), 5/38 (13.2%) Total tumours: 5, 1, 7, 9	NS	Tumour sites were reported as [all], thyroid gland, adrenal gland, liver, and "other"

5, ĩ. , PP δ. ~ ~ weighted average; wk, week; yr, year

consisted of 217 male and female mice. Treated mice died 2 months earlier than controls; the average survival time in the treated mice was 51.4 weeks compared with 59.8 weeks for the controls. Survival at 18 months was decreased in treated mice (33/218, 15%) compared with the control group (47/217, 22%). All survivors at 2 years were killed and autopsied. Pneumonia and intestinal parasitism were observed in the study and probably contributed to the decreased survival of the mice. Caging of mice in groups of 5-8 contributed to the spread of disease within groups (Davis & Fitzhugh, 1962). Partial re-evaluation by Reuber and others of the histopathology data of the Davis & Fitzhugh (1962) and Davis (1965) studies indicated that most tumours initially classified by Davis & Fitzhugh (1962) as "hepatic cell adenomas" were hepatocellular carcinomas (Epstein, 1975; Reuber 1975, 1976a). A statistically significant increase in the incidence of "hepatic cell adenoma" [hepatocellular carcinoma] (36/148, 24%; P < 0.001) was noted in treated mice when compared to the control group (9/134, 7%). On average, treated mice developed "hepatic cell adenomas" [hepatocellular carcinomas] after 77 weeks on study compared with 89 weeks on study for control mice. [Limitations of this study included the low survival rate, combination of data for both sexes, lack of detailed histopathology, reports of disease, pneumonia and intestinal parasitism, and the disposal of a large number of animals at autopsy. The Working Group noted that the re-evaluation by Epstein (1975) was accurate, but limited by the number of cases reviewed.]

In a subsequent study, groups of 100 male and 100 female C3H mice were fed diets containing dieldrin [purity not reported] at a concentration of 0 or 10 ppm for up to 2 years (Davis, 1965, reported in Epstein, 1975). The number of survivors at 104 weeks was 64 and 39 for control and treated mice, respectively. The incidence (for both sexes combined) of "benign hepatoma" [hepatocellular carcinoma] in the treated group was significantly increased and approximately double that of controls, whereas the number of hepatic carcinomas [hepatocellular carcinoma] was about the same (Epstein, 1975). An independent partial re-evaluation of the Davis & Fitzhugh (1962) and Davis (1965) combined studies by Reuber and others concluded that most of the "benign hepatomas" were hepatocellular carcinomas. This re-evaluation indicated significant increases in the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in the treated compared with the control group in males and females (Epstein, 1975; Reuber 1976a). Morphological descriptions of the liver lesions were reported by Reuber (Reuber, 1975, 1976a). There were often two hepatocellular carcinomas present at the same time in treated animals compared with a solitary hepatocellular carcinoma in the control animals (Reuber, 1976a). In addition, transplantation studies were conducted in which hepatocellular carcinomas were transplanted into mice [sex not reported] with a similar genetic background. Eight out of nine tumours from mice fed dieldrin at 10 ppm grew when transplanted and histologically resembled the primary tumours (Reuber, 1976b). [Limitations of this study included the combination of data for both sexes, lack of detailed histopathology and the absence of report on the number of animals evaluated for histopathology. The Working Group noted that the re-evaluation by Epstein (1975) was accurate but limited by the number of cases reviewed.]

Groups of 71 C57BL/6, 50 C3H/He and 62 B6C3F₁ weanling male mice [age not reported] were fed diets containing dieldrin (purity, > 99%) at a concentration of 10 ppm for 85 weeks and observed up to age 132 weeks (Meierhenry et al., 1983). Control groups consisted of 69, 50, and 76 mice per strain, respectively. Hepatic tumours [hepatocellular tumours] developed earlier in mice treated with dieldrin than in controls, particularly in the C3H/He strain, in which the first tumour was observed in dieldrin-treated animals 25 weeks earlier (12 weeks) than in the controls (37 weeks). There was a statistically significant increase in the incidence of benign hepatocellular neoplasms in C57BL/6J and B6C3F₁ mice fed diets containing dieldrin compared with controls. The incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma was significantly increased in all strains of mice treated with dieldrin compared with controls. [The Working Group noted that limitations of this study included the absence of data on survival and body weight.]

A subsequent study investigated the histological progression of hepatocellular adenomas to carcinomas in sequential liver biopsies in two groups of C3H/He weanling male mice [age not reported] that were fed diets containing dieldrin (purity, 99%) at a concentration of 10 ppm until the mice reached either age 57 or 67 weeks (Ruebner et al., 1984). A control group was untreated. The animals were killed at age 2 years. There was a significant increase in the incidence of hepatocellular adenoma in the dieldrin-treated group (for 57 weeks) compared with the control group. More frequent progression of hepatocellular lesions from adenoma to carcinoma was observed in dieldrin-treated mice than in control mice. [The Working Group noted that limitations of this study included that the number of animals at start was not reported, the small number of animals, and the short exposure duration.]

<u>Bauer-Hofmann et al. (1992)</u> evaluated the frequency and pattern of c-Ha-*ras* mutations in hepatocellular lesions induced in 20 male C3H/ He mice (age, 4 weeks) fed diets containing dieldrin at a concentration of 10 ppm for 52 weeks. A control group of 40 animals was fed basal diet. There was an increase in the incidence [not significant] and multiplicity of hepatocellular lesions in dieldrin-treated mice relative to controls. [This mechanistic study was not a carcinogenicity study: a distinction between neoplastic and non-neoplastic lesions was not made. Limitations of this study also included the limited number of dose groups and short exposure duration. The Working Group considered this study inadequate for the evaluation.]

Walker et al. (1973) conducted several studies in which male and female CF-1 mice (age, 4 weeks) were fed diets containing dieldrin (purity, > 99%) at concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 20 ppm for up to 132 weeks.

In the first study, male and female CF-1 mice were fed diets containing dieldrin (purity, > 99%) at a concentration of 0, 0.1, 1.0, or 10 ppm for 132 weeks (Walker et al., 1973; Epstein, 1975; Hunt et al., 1975). Groups consisted of 600, 250, 250, and 400 mice, respectively, divided equally by sex. By experimental month 15, half of the males and females fed diet containing dieldrin at 10 ppm had died or been killed, while the controls reached 50% mortality by experimental months 20-24. The increase in incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma [type (b) tumours] was dose-related and markedly increased in groups of males and females at the highest dose compared with their respective controls. The increases in incidence of hepatocellular adenoma [type (a) tumours] and carcinoma [type (b) tumours] (combined) were also dose-related and strongly increased in groups of males and females at the highest dose compared with their respective controls. [The Working Group noted that the limitations of the study included that the incidence of neoplasms was not reported and that the effective number of animals was unclear. Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b) tumours; in current terminology (Thoolen et al., 2010), these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively.]

In the first study ["Experiment 2.1"] of a second series of studies ["Experiments 2.1-2.4" on the original publication] by Walker and colleagues (Walker et al., 1973; Epstein, 1975), groups of 30 male and 30 female CF-1 mice were given diet containing dieldrin (purity, > 99%) at a concentration of 1.25, 2.5, 5, 10, or 20 ppm for 128 weeks. Control groups consisted of 78 males and 78 females. The incidences of hepatocellular

adenoma and carcinoma (combined) were increased in all the dose groups relative to controls, with the highest incidence observed in males and females given a diet containing dieldrin at a concentration of 5 ppm. In a second study ["Experiment 2.2"], similar incidences of hepatocellular adenoma, hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined), and hepatocellular carcinoma were observed in groups of male and female CF-1 mice given non-irradiated diet and bedding, gamma-irradiated diet, or gamma-irradiated diets and bedding, with clearly higher incidences in the dieldrin-treated groups; the diet contained dieldrin (purity, > 99%) at concentrations of 0 or 10 ppm. A third (co-carcinogenicity) study ["Experiment 2.3"] investigated the influence of dieldrin (purity, > 99%) exposure (5 ppm) on groups of 32 male and 32 female CF-1 mice given a diet containing 4,4'-dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) at a concentration of 50 ppm for 112 weeks. An untreated control group consisted of 48 male and 48 female mice. The incidence of hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined) (but also of hepatocellular carcinoma) was increased in male and female mice fed dieldrin at 5 ppm and DDT at 50 ppm compared with controls and in groups fed DDT alone at 50 ppm. Reuber re-evaluated the histopathology data and diagnosed fewer liver neoplasms in the control and DDT groups than Walker et al. did (Walker et al., 1973; Epstein, 1975), resulting in a more pronounced effect of dieldrin on the incidence of hepatocellular neoplasms: males, 0 ppm (control), 0%; 50 ppm DDT, 6%; 5 ppm dieldrin+50 ppm DDT, 58%; and females: 0 ppm (control), 0%; 50 ppm DDT, 16%; 5 ppm dieldrin+50 ppm DDT, 94%. Epstein (1975) indicated that Walker et al. "overestimated the incidence of total liver tumours in the DDT groups, largely by inclusion of hyperplastic and nodular lesions as type (a) tumours." In a fourth study ["Experiment 2.4"], Walker et al. (1973) conducted a time course in which groups of 29 male and 29 female CF-1 mice

were given a diet containing dieldrin (purity, > 99%) at a concentration of 10 ppm for varying periods of time from 0 (control) up to 64 weeks, and were maintained until experimental week 104. The incidences of hepatocellular adenoma and carcinoma (combined) were significantly increased in males and in females fed dieldrin at 10 ppm for 64 weeks. There was also a significant positive trend in the incidence of hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined) in males and females. [The Working Group noted that limitations of some of the studies included that neoplasm incidence was not reported, the effective number of animals was unclear, and the number of dose groups was limited. Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b) tumours; in current terminology (Thoolen et al., 2010), these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively.]

Tennekes et al. (1982) re-evaluated the dose-response relationship for the data on tumours of the liver from two long-term studies conducted by Walker et al. (1973) [Experiment 1 and Experiment 2.1]. In both sexes, treatment appeared to result in dose-related increases in the incidence of both hepatocellular adenoma and carcinoma (combined) and hepatocellular carcinoma, up to 10 ppm; the somewhat lower incidence at 20 ppm was hypothesized to result from considerable toxicity and lethality at that concentration. Dieldrin also induced a dose-dependent reduction in tumour latency periods; the lowest doses associated with a significant reduction in median time-to-tumour formation were 0.1 and 1.0 ppm for females and males, respectively.

In another study in CF-1 mice, groups of 30 males and 30 females were fed diets containing dieldrin (purity, > 99%) at a concentration of 10 ppm for 110 weeks (Thorpe & Walker, 1973). The control group consisted of 45 males and 45 females. Mortality increased in male mice fed diets containing dieldrin at 10 ppm after 22

months. A statistically significant increase in the incidence of hepatocellular adenoma and carcinoma (combined) was found in treated males and females compared with controls. The liver tumours appeared much earlier in treated animals than in controls. [The Working Group noted that limitations of the study included the lack of reporting on neoplasm incidence and the small number of dose groups. Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b) tumours; in current terminology (Thoolen et al., 2010), these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively.]

In a study by Tennekes et al. (1979), eight groups of 12-16 male weanling CF-1 mice [age not reported] were fed diets containing dieldrin [purity not reported] at a concentration of 0 or 10 ppm until age 65 weeks. The incidence of benign and malignant liver tumours (hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively) or their combination was significantly increased in some groups fed dieldrin relative to the respective control groups. The Working Group noted that limitations of the study included the small number of animals per group and the small number of dose groups. Liver neoplasms were diagnosed as type (a) and type (b) tumours; in current terminology (Thoolen et al., 2010), these neoplasms correspond to hepatocellular adenoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, respectively.]

In a subsequent study by <u>Tennekes et al.</u> (1981), eight groups of 19–82 male weanling CF-1 mice [age not reported] were fed diets containing dieldrin (purity, > 99%) at a concentration of 0 or 10 ppm over the duration of their lifespan (for up to 110 weeks). Dieldrin had no effect on the mean body weights of treated mice relative to controls. Survival was significantly reduced in mice fed diets containing dieldrin at 10 ppm. On average, 10% of mice fed dieldrin survived to 100 weeks compared with 40% of control mice. A significant increase in the incidences of hepatocellular

adenoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, and hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined) was observed in all four groups of mice fed diets containing dieldrin at 10 ppm. Several dieldrin-treated mice with hepatocellular carcinomas had lung metastases.

In a study by the NCI, groups of 50 male and 50 female B6C3F₁ mice were fed diets containing dieldrin (technical grade; purity, > 96% [impurities not reported]) at a concentration of 2.5 or 5 ppm for 80 weeks, and then held untreated for an additional 10-13 weeks (NTP, 1978a). The matched-control group consisted of 20 male and 20 female mice, and the study duration was 91-93 weeks. Because the number of matched-control mice was small, pooled controls were used for statistical comparisons. The pooled-control groups consisted of the matched controls from the bioassay of dieldrin combined with matched controls from contemporary bioassays of aldrin, chlordane, heptachlor, dichlorvos, and dimethoate, giving groups of 92 male and 79 female mice. There was no significant effect on the survival or mean body weights of males and females compared with the controls.

In males, a significant positive trend in the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma was noted when the treated groups were compared with the pooled controls. The incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma was significantly increased in males at 5 ppm (16/45; 36%), and exceeded the incidence for historical controls (48/285, 16.8%). The incidence of other neoplasms was not significantly increased when compared with the matched or the pooled controls. There was no significant increase in the incidence of neoplasms in female mice (NTP, 1978a).

In a study by <u>Lipsky et al. (1989</u>), groups of young [number of control animals at start unclear, and age not further specified] male Balb/c mice were fed diets containing dieldrin [purity not reported] at a concentration of 0 or 10 ppm for 2, 4, 8, 16, 36, 52, or 75 weeks. Hepatocellular adenomas were reported in the groups at 52 and 75 weeks. The incidence of hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined) was significantly increased in mice fed diets containing dieldrin at 10 ppm for 52 weeks and 75 weeks when compared with controls.

Epstein (1975) reviewed and provided re-evaluation of the slides from a study (see also EPA, 1974) in which groups of 125-130 male and 100 female Swiss-Webster mice were fed diets containing dieldrin (technical grade) [purity not reported] at a concentration of 0, 3, or 10 ppm for up to 32 months. The treated animals were initially given dieldrin at 1.5 or 5 ppm for the first 2 months of the study. Only 71% of the mice were examined histologically. According to the authors, dieldrin was not carcinogenic, but it increased the incidence of various non-neoplastic lesions of the liver (including liver hepatomas and nodules). A re-evaluation of some of the histopathology data by Reuber and others concluded that more than half of the re-examined liver lesions from male and female mice at the highest dose were hepatocellular carcinomas. [The Working Group noted the incomplete histopathological examination and re-evaluation, and the limited reporting in this study.]

(b) Gavage plus dietary administration

Four groups of male (C57BL/6J × C3HeB/ FeJ)F₁ mice [number of animals at start, not reported] were treated with dieldrin [purity not reported]. Group I received 12.5 µg of dieldrin daily by gavage from age 1 week to age 4 weeks. Group II was given diet containing dieldrin at a concentration of 10 ppm from age 5 weeks to age 90 weeks. Group III received 12.5 µg of dieldrin daily by gavage from age 1 week to age 4 weeks, and was subsequently given diet containing dieldrin at a concentration of 10 ppm from age 5 weeks to age 90 weeks. Group IV (control) was untreated. The experiment was terminated at age 90 weeks. Histopathological examination was performed on the liver only. Only when both treatment schedules were combined (group III)

did dieldrin significantly increase the incidence of liver [hepatocellular] tumours (30% vs 2% in controls; P < 0.001) (<u>Vesselinovitch et al., 1979</u>). [The Working Group noted the lack of vehicle controls, and the lack of data on survival and body weight.]

(c) Transplacental exposure, lactation, and gavage

In a study by Cameron & Foster (2009), four groups of 29-30 transgenic FVB/N-TgMMTV-neu female mice were given vehicle (corn oil) or dieldrin [purity not reported] at a dose of 0.45, 2.25, or 4.5 μ g/g bw daily by gavage for 5 days 2 weeks before mating, and then once per week throughout gestation and lactation until weaning (age, 3 weeks). At weaning, four groups of female pups [number of animals at start, not reported] began weekly dosing (same doses as their respective groups of dams) by gavage until age 9 weeks and were killed at 22 weeks. Treatment with dieldrin had no effect on litter size, birth weight, or the number of pups surviving to weaning. The highest dose of dieldrin (4.5 µg/g bw) resulted in an increased multiplicity of thoracic mammary tumours [primarily mammary adenocarcinomas] per mouse and in increased volume of incident thoracic tumours. The multiplicity of total mammary tumours was also significantly increased at the highest dose. In contrast, the mean number of inguinal mammary tumours was not significantly increased. Preliminary histopathological assessment of the ovaries revealed an increased incidence of ovarian tumours in groups receiving dieldrin at 2.25 (7.5%) and 4.5 (10.5%) g/g bw compared with controls (2.65%). An increase in the incidence of liver tumours was also found in groups receiving dieldrin at 2.25 (18.8%) and 4.5 $(52.6\%) \mu g/g$ bw compared with controls (11.8%).

3.2.2 Rat

A study in male and female Carworth rats fed diets containing dieldrin (<u>Treon & Cleveland</u>, <u>1955</u>; <u>Cleveland</u>, <u>1966</u>; also reported in <u>Epstein</u>, <u>1975</u>) was judged inadequate by the Working Group because of the lack of histopathological evaluation, difficulties in interpretation of the mortality data, limited reporting, and discrepancies between <u>Treon & Cleveland (1955)</u> and <u>Cleveland (1966)</u>.

Three groups of 25 male and 25 female Carworth (Farm "E") rats (age, 5 weeks) were fed diets containing dieldrin (purity, > 99%) at a concentration of 0.1, 1.0, or 10 ppm for 2 years (Walker et al., 1969). Control groups consisted of 45 males and 45 females. Survival and body weight were not affected by feeding with dieldrin for 2 years. The incidence of tumours was not increased in treated groups relative to the controls for any of four tissue sites, including the thyroid, pituitary, and mammary gland, or "other" after 2 years.

Groups of 12 male and 12 female Osborne-Mendel rats were fed diets containing dieldrin (purity, 100%) at a concentration of 0, 0.5, 2, 10, 50, 100, or 150 ppm for 2 years (Fitzhugh et al., 1964). Survival was significantly decreased in males and females (combined) at 50, 100, or 150 ppm at 24 months. Mean body weights of males and females were similar to those of the controls. The incidence of tumours (all six categories listed below) in treated males and females (combined) was not increased compared with the control group. Six tumour categories were identified, including "pulmonary lymphosarcoma", "fibroadenoma of breast", "carcinoma of breast", "lymphoid except lung", "fibrosarcoma", and "other". Epstein (1975) reported that independent histopathological re-evaluations by Reuber and others confirmed these multiple-site tumours. No benign or malignant tumours of the liver were initially reported by Fitzhugh et al. (1964), but a partial re-evaluation of the liver histopathology

identified a total of 18 hepatocellular carcinomas in rats fed diets containing dieldrin or aldrin (Epstein, 1975). [The Working Group noted that limitations of this study included that only 68% of animals treated with dieldrin (or aldrin) were examined histologically, and that the data were combined for both sexes.]

Groups of [about] 50 male and 50 female weanling Osborne-Mendel rats [age not reported] were fed diets containing dieldrin (purity, 100%) at a concentration of 20, 30, or 50 ppm for less than 31 months (Deichmann et al., 1970). Control groups were comprised of 100 males and 100 females. Doses during the first 10 weeks were half the final concentrations. The mean survival of the control male and female rats was 19.7 and 19.5 months, respectively. The survival rate was not affected in treated males, but the mean survival of females at 30 ppm (17.4 months) and 50 ppm (16.6 months) was significantly lower than that in the control group. Mean body-weight gain was similar in treated and control groups. The tumour incidence (all sites) was not significantly increased in male or female rats relative to the respective control groups. No benign or malignant tumours of the liver were found in the treated animals. [The Working Group noted that limitations of this study included that not all tissues were examined histologically, and that partial re-evaluation of the histopathology indicated that the authors may have underestimated or underreported the incidence of malignant tumours by approximately 3-fold (Epstein, 1975).]

In a study by the NCI, groups of 50 male and 50 female Osborne-Mendel rats (age, 35 days) were fed diets containing technical-grade dieldrin (purity, > 96% [impurities not reported]) at a concentration of 29 or 65 ppm (time-weighted average) (NTP, 1978a). Rats at the lower dose were treated for 80 weeks, followed by observation periods of 30-31 weeks. Rats at the higher dose were treated for 59 weeks, followed by 51-52 weeks of observation. For matched controls (10 males and 10 females per group), the study duration was 110 weeks. Time-weighted doses were used to assess the results, because the concentration of dieldrin was reduced after study start due to toxicity with initial exposures. The pooled-control groups consisted of the matched controls from the bioassay of dieldrin combined with matched controls from the contemporary bioassays of aldrin, chlordane, heptachlor, dichlorvos and dimethoate, giving groups of 58 male and 60 female rats. There was no significant effect on the survival of rats at the end of the study because there was decreased survival in male and female rats during the first 90 weeks of the study and in the control groups during the remaining 20 weeks. Mean body weights of the treated male and female rats were lower than those of the controls during the second year of the study.

There was no statistically significant increase in the incidence or positive trend in the incidence of any tumour in treated males or females when compared with the matched controls. There was a significant increase in the incidence of adrenal cortical adenoma or carcinoma (combined) in female rats at the lower dose compared with the pooled controls. [The Working Group noted that the increase in tumour incidence was only for the group at the lower dose, and only when compared with the pooled-control group, and concluded that it was not treatment-related.]

In a second study by the NCI (<u>NTP, 1978b</u>), groups of 24 male and 24 female Fischer 344 rats were fed diets containing dieldrin (technical grade, purified) at a concentration of 0, 2, 10, or 50 ppm for 104–105 weeks. There was no significant effect on the survival or mean body weights of rats of either sex relative to matched controls. There was no treatment-related increase in the incidence of tumours in males or females.

3.2.3 Hamster

Four groups of 32–41 male and four groups of 33-40 female Syrian golden hamsters were fed diets containing dieldrin (purity, 99%) at a concentration of 0, 20, 60, or 180 ppm for their life span (up to age 120 weeks) (Cabral et al., 1979). The survival rate at age 50 weeks was comparable to that of controls (males: 0 ppm (control), 32/40; 20 ppm, 24/34; 60 ppm, 27/32; 180 ppm, 35/41; females: 0 ppm (control), 25/40; 20 ppm, 14/33; 60 ppm, 26/34; 180 ppm, 25/38). Only 0-13 hamsters per group survived to age 90 weeks. Male and female hamsters fed diets containing dieldrin at 20 and 180 ppm showed a marked retardation of growth. Tumour sites were reported as [all], thyroid gland, adrenal gland, liver, and "other". The percentage of tumour-bearing animals did not differ significantly between control and treated groups.

3.2.4 Dog

Groups of five male and five female beagle hounds (age, 4–7 months) were fed gelatin capsules containing dieldrin (purity, > 99%) at a dose of 0, 0.005, or 0.05 mg/kg bw per day for 2 years (Walker et al., 1969). Survival and body weight were not affected by feeding with dieldrin for 2 years. In females, the liver weights and liver:body weight ratios in the group at 0.05 mg/kg bw per day dose were increased. No tumours or other specific lesions attributable to dieldrin were reported. [Limitations of this study included the small number of animals. The Working Group concluded that this study was inadequate for the evaluation.]

3.2.5 Monkey

<u>Epstein (1975)</u> summarized the findings from an unpublished study in five groups of five male rhesus monkeys (age, 4 years) given a diet containing dieldrin at a concentration of 0.1, 0.1, 0.5, 0.1, or 1.75 ppm for 5.5–6 years. An untreated control group consisted of five males and one female. Monkeys in the group receiving the highest dose received dieldrin at 5.0 ppm for 4 months, then 2.5 ppm for approximately 2.5 months, and finally 1.75 ppm for the remainder of the study; for one monkey in the group, dieldrin concentrations were gradually increased to 5 ppm, and were maintained at this concentration for 5 years. No histological differences were observed in the liver or other tissues when the treated monkeys and the controls were compared. [The Working Group noted that the limitations of this study included the short duration, the small number of animals, and the lack of detailed histopathology data.]

4. Mechanistic and Other Relevant Data

4.1 Absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion

4.1.1 Introduction

Aldrin is readily converted to epoxide-containing dieldrin in the environment and in living organisms (see Fig. 4.1), thus exposures related to aldrin also involve exposure to dieldrin (Jorgenson, 2001). Overall, there was less information available on the toxicokinetics and disposition of aldrin than of dieldrin. Toxicokinetic data on dieldrin were briefly reviewed by the *IARC Monographs* Working Group more than 40 years before the present meeting (see *IARC Monographs* Volume 5; IARC, 1974). The present Working Group updated its review of the literature encompassing both aldrin and dieldrin, with separate discussions on each where possible.

4.1.2 Absorption

(a) Humans

(i) Aldrin

Several studies indicated that aldrin is absorbed by humans, mainly on the basis of its detection in blood, adipose tissue, and breast milk (Mick et al., 1971; Feldmann & Maibach, 1974; Nair et al., 1992; Stevens et al., 1993; Teixeira et al., 2015). However, it was unclear which route of exposure – oral, dermal, or inhalation – was the most important quantitatively for absorption. Moreover, aldrin was detected less frequently than dieldrin in humans, which is probably due to the ease of conversion of aldrin to dieldrin in the environment and body (IARC, 1974).

Evidence for the absorption of aldrin in humans comes from occupational as well as non-occupational exposures (see <u>Table 1.2</u> and <u>Table 1.3</u>). Direct evidence for percutaneous absorption came from studies of deliberate exposure to aldrin (<u>Feldmann & Maibach, 1974</u>). For example, dermal application of [¹⁴C]-labelled aldrin (single dose, 0.004 mg/cm²) to the forearm of six subjects resulted in its rapid absorption, based on the excretion of radiolabel in the urine within 4 hours after administration (<u>Feldmann & Maibach, 1974</u>).

(ii) Dieldrin

On the basis of detection in blood, adipose tissue, and breast milk, dieldrin can be absorbed systemically by humans (<u>Hunter & Robinson</u>, 1967; <u>Hayes & Curley</u>, 1968; <u>Mick et al.</u>, 1971; <u>Feldmann & Maibach</u>, 1974; <u>Nair et al.</u>, 1992; <u>Stevens et al.</u>, 1993; <u>Teixeira et al.</u>, 2015). Detection of dieldrin after occupational as well as non-occupational exposures (see <u>Table 1.2</u> and <u>Table</u> <u>1.3</u>) indicated that dieldrin was absorbed, or that dieldrin was produced in vivo after exposure to and absorption of aldrin.

When humans were exposed for up to 2 years, concentrations in blood and adipose tissue were strongly correlated with the orally administered



dose of dieldrin (Hunter et al., 1967, 1969; Hunter & Robinson, 1967). Direct evidence for percutaneous absorption came from the deliberate exposure of volunteers to dieldrin (Feldmann & Maibach, 1974). Dermal application of [¹⁴C]-labelled dieldrin (single dose, 0.004 mg/cm²) to the forearm of six subjects resulted in its rapid absorption, on the basis of excretion of radiolabel in the urine within 4 hours after administration (Feldmann & Maibach, 1974).

(b) Experimental systems

(i) Aldrin

Multiple studies in experimental animals demonstrated absorption of aldrin via oral and dermal routes; however, no studies were available on exposure to aldrin by inhalation. In dogs, rats, mice, and hens, oral treatment with aldrin resulted in rapid absorption into the systemic circulation (Brown et al., 1964; Korte & Kochen, 1966; Furusawa, 2002). In addition, dose-dependent increases in dieldrin levels in adipose tissue were seen in rats fed diets supplemented with aldrin for several months (Quaife et al., 1967).

In female rats, dermal administration of aldrin at increasing doses (0.1, 1, and 10 mg/kg per bw) resulted in detectable amounts of aldrin and dieldrin in the skin and in the blood stream (Graham et al., 1991). The amount of aldrin absorbed was proportional to the dose administered. This observation was supported by studies in vitro (Macpherson et al., 1991). Aldrin applied onto isolated rat skin was absorbed into the skin. Although percutaneous absorption of aldrin occurs, its major metabolite (dieldrin) is persistent in the skin (Macpherson et al., 1991).

Although the literature on absorption of aldrin in experimental systems was sparser than that for dieldrin, aldrin can penetrate the body after oral and dermal exposures. [Because of its highly lipophilic nature, aldrin is most likely to be absorbed into the body and tissues via processes involving first-order passive diffusion.]

(ii) Dieldrin

Several studies in experimental animals have shown absorption of dieldrin via oral and dermal routes. Mice, rats, rabbits, rhesus monkeys, and chimpanzees all effectively absorbed an oral dose of [¹⁴C]-labelled dieldrin (0.5 mg/kg) (<u>Müller</u> <u>et al., 1979</u>). Absorption into the blood stream within 2 hours was noted in rats given a single oral dose of dieldrin (10 mg/kg) (<u>Hayes, 1974</u>). Absorption of dieldrin from the gastrointestinal tract was not complete, because unmetabolized dieldrin was detected in the faeces within 24–48 hours after administration, indicating the presence of unabsorbed compound.

Studies ex vivo examining the kinetics of dieldrin absorption in the mouse intestinal tract have also been conducted (Shah & Guthrie, 1970). The rate constant for penetration of the upper intestinal wall by dieldrin was 0.268×10^{-3} min⁻¹, suggesting that intestinal absorption of dieldrin is slow.

Thus dieldrin is absorbed at variable rates into the body after oral and dermal exposures. [Because of its highly lipophilic nature, dieldrin, like aldrin, is likely to be absorbed into the body via passive diffusion through membranes.]

4.1.3 Distribution

(a) Humans

(i) Aldrin

After its absorption into the body, aldrin is distributed to systemic tissues, with adipose tissues being an important storage depot (Mick et al., 1971; Nair et al., 1992; Botella et al., 2004; Teixeira et al., 2015). While aldrin bioaccumulates in adipose tissues and can be detected in breast milk, no information was available to the Working Group concerning levels in non-adipose tissues (except for blood) in exposed populations or individuals. On the other hand, numerous studies have reported on the distribution of dieldrin in human tissues, as discussed below.

(ii) Dieldrin

After its absorption into the body, dieldrin is distributed via the circulation to systemic tissues, with adipose, mammary glands, and breast milk being notable storage depots (Mick et al., 1971; Nair et al., 1992; Botella et al., 2004; Teixeira et al., 2015). Dieldrin was detected at levels ranging from 0.13 to 0.36 mg/kg in adipose tissue obtained from autopsy patients (Ahmad et al., 1988; Adeshina & Todd, 1990). In subjects deliberately exposed to dieldrin for up to 24 months (0.1, 0.7, or 3 μ g/kg per day), dieldrin concentrations in either blood or adipose tissue correlated strongly with the dose administered (Hunter & Robinson, 1967; Hunter et al., 1967, 1969). In addition, dieldrin concentrations in blood and adipose tissue were also strongly correlated with each other. The average ratio of steady-state dieldrin concentrations in adipose tissue versus blood was 156:1, indicating poor excretability and avid affinity for adipose tissues. When exposure was terminated, the concentration of dieldrin in the blood decreased exponentially, with an average halflife of 369 days (Hunter & Robinson, 1967), indicating slow elimination from the body. [Whereas tissue levels of dieldrin have been reported in the literature, the Working Group noted that quantitative levels of dieldrin-derived polar metabolites (Fig. 4.1) in human tissues were not available. This is mainly due to the metabolic stability of dieldrin (see Section 4.1.4).]

Transport of lipophilic dieldrin in the blood stream involves its avid interaction with albumin, α-globulins, and lipoprotein particles (Moss & Hathway, 1964; Tanaka et al., 1981; Maliwal & Guthrie, 1982). Studies in vitro indicated that dieldrin bound to albumin could be exchanged with human lipoproteins for subsequent transport (Maliwal & Guthrie, 1982). For instance, dieldrin was found to undergo efficient exchange reactions with all lipoprotein types in human plasma within 1 minute. [Similar interactions between aldrin and plasma proteins and lipoproteins in the blood are likely, although no specific data for aldrin were available to the Working Group.]

(b) Experimental systems

(i) Aldrin

Aldrin is widely distributed in the body (Korte & Kochen, 1966; Rumsey & Bond, 1974; Cooke et al., 2001). Intravenous injection of [¹⁴C]-labelled aldrin in rats resulted in a broad tissue distribution of radiolabel after about 48 hours, with abdominal fat and subcutaneous fat exhibiting the highest amounts (nearly 15% and 7% of the administered dose, respectively), followed by liver (about 1.5%), and intestines (1%) (Korte & Kochen, 1966).

(ii) Dieldrin

Several studies on dieldrin demonstrated rapid and wide distribution in experimental animals (Bäckström et al., 1965; Robinson et al., 1969; Hayes, 1974; Iatropoulos et al., 1975). In rats given a single oral dose (10 mg/kg), dieldrin was absorbed into the blood stream within 2 hours, and then distributed systemically (Hayes, 1974). Maximum concentrations of dieldrin in muscle, liver, brain, and kidney were reached within 2-4 hours, whereas the maximum concentration in adipose tissue was attained by 24 hours. Over the 10 days after dosing, concentrations of dieldrin slowly declined in all tissues (by day 10: adipose tissue, 5–6% of administered dose; muscle, 0.1% of administered dose). The rank order of dieldrin concentrations (ppm) in tissues was: adipose tissue > > liver > kidney > brain > muscle > plasma, with adipose having by far the highest concentrations of dieldrin over the 10-day period. Thus, after its absorption, dieldrin was distributed rapidly to all systemic tissues, with slow redistribution from non-adipose tissues to adipose tissue for long-term storage (<u>Hayes, 1974</u>).

There were also data indicating that dieldrin can distribute through the body via the lymphatic system (Iatropoulos et al., 1975). The levels of dieldrin in mesenteric lymph nodes in Sprague-Dawley rats gradually increased over a 48-hour period after administration of a single oral dose (150 μ g).

4.1.4 Metabolism and modulation of metabolic enzymes

The primary metabolic transformation of aldrin in the body is its rapid conversion to epoxide-containing dieldrin, followed by subsequent slow metabolism of dieldrin to polar metabolites that are excreted (Fig. 4.1).

(a) Humans

(i) Aldrin

No studies were found that examined the metabolism of aldrin in exposed humans; however, epoxidation of aldrin to dieldrin was demonstrated in human liver microsomes and in a human hepatoma cell line (Limbosch, 1983; McManus et al., 1984). The rate of aldrin epoxidation correlated with cytochrome P450 content in liver microsomes and varied by 2.4-fold across samples from 28 individuals (McManus et al., 1984). Comparison of rates of aldrin epoxidation activity with aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase activity provided context for the rate of conversion of aldrin to dieldrin in human liver. From Wolff & Strecker (1985), it was estimated that aldrin epoxidase activity in human liver microsomes ranged from ~50 to 200 pmol/min per mg protein, whereas the benzo[*a*]pyrene aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase activity ranged from 0.5 to 1.75 pmol/min per mg protein (an approximately 100-fold difference in rates). Although liver is the most important site of aldrin metabolism (McManus et al., 1984), other tissues probably have minor roles depending on their cytochrome P450 content. [The Working Group noted that the human cytochrome P450 isoforms

responsible for aldrin epoxidation have yet to be characterized.]

(ii) Dieldrin

No studies directly examined the metabolism of dieldrin in exposed humans. 9-Hydroxydieldrin, an oxidation product of the metabolism of dieldrin in vivo, was detected in the faeces of occupationally exposed workers (Richardson & Robinson, 1971), indicating that this biotransformation reaction can occur in humans. <u>Hunter et al. (1969)</u> reported on the disposition of dieldrin in subjects given dieldrin for 18–24 months, but did not provide information on metabolites. Most of the information regarding dieldrin metabolism was obtained from experimental animals, as discussed below.

(b) Experimental systems

(i) Aldrin

The primary metabolic transformation of aldrin in rodents and other animal species is its conversion to epoxide-containing dieldrin, particularly in the liver and to a lesser degree in extrahepatic tissues. Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate reduced (NADPH)dependent epoxidation of aldrin was evident in rat liver, lung, and skin microsomes (Wong & Terriere, 1965; Wolff et al., 1979; Lambotte-Vandepaer et al., 1981; Graham et al., 1991), and mouse liver and skin microsomes (Williams & Woodhouse, 1996). Aldrin metabolism in rat liver microsomes was substantially faster than in lung and skin. In addition, the rate of aldrin epoxidation was sex-dependent in adult Sprague-Dawley rats; catalysis of this reaction was more efficient in liver microsomes obtained from males than in those obtained from females (Wolff & Guengerich, 1987). Aldrin epoxidation was sensitive to monooxygenase inhibitors in intact living rats (Clark & Krieger, 1976), and in vitro in rat liver microsomes (Wolff et al., 1979).

Aldrin was also metabolized to dieldrin in the skin. For instance, after dermal administration of

aldrin to rats (0.1, 1.0, or 10mg/kg bw), dieldrin was detectable in the skin at the application site after 1 hour (Graham et al., 1991). Studies in vitro in isolated rat skin preparations (Macpherson et al., 1991) or in rabbit lung (Mehendale & El-Bassiouni, 1975) showed that metabolism of aldrin to dieldrin could occur in these tissues.

In terms of catalysts of aldrin epoxidation in experimental models, cytochrome P450 monooxygenases were identified as the major enzymes responsible for aldrin epoxidation in rat liver (Wolff & Guengerich, 1987). [The Working Group noted that the rodent cytochrome P450 isoforms responsible for aldrin epoxidation have yet to be characterized.]

(ii) Dieldrin

Biotransformation of dieldrin was studied in several animal models and experimental systems. In general, the rate of metabolism of dieldrin is considered to be very slow, but excretion via formation of water-soluble metabolites has been reported (<u>Matthews & Matsumura, 1969</u>).

Despite the relative stability of dieldrin with regard to metabolic transformation, two sites on dieldrin, the epoxide moiety and the non-chlorinated methylene carbon, are susceptible to metabolic attack (Lykken & Casida, 1969). The epoxide can be opened by epoxide hydrolases 6,7-trans-dihydroxydihydroaldrin, to yield although this reaction is slow because of steric hindrance (Moody et al., 1991). In addition, the non-chlorinated methylene carbon is susceptible to hydroxylation producing 9-hydroxydieldrin, with the hydroxyl group oriented syn to the epoxide moiety. Most species can perform these metabolic transformations, although at variable rates between species or between sexes within a species (Matthews et al., 1971; Müller et al., 1979). Furthermore, the metabolites 6,7-trans-dihydroxydihydroaldrin and 9-hydroxydieldrin are often conjugated with glucuronic acid to give terminal products that are excreted (Fig. 4.1)

(Matthews & Matsumura, 1969; Matthews et al., 1971).

Compared with epoxide opening, the formation of 9-hydroxydieldrin is the more quantitatively important reaction in rats (Matthews et al., 1971), although all species appear to perform this hydroxylation, including humans (Lykken & Casida, 1969; Richardson & Robinson, 1971). The metabolite 6,7-trans-dihydroxydihydroaldrin was also formed in several species, including rats, rabbits, sheep, rhesus monkeys, and chimpanzees (Korte & Arent, 1965; Feil et al., 1970; Müller et al., 1979). In addition to these main reactions, dieldrin can also be oxidatively dechlorinated to give the pentachloro-bridged ketone (pentachloroketone metabolite) (Fig. 4.1; Lykken & Casida, 1969). This product, also termed Klein's metabolite, is most important in male rats; it is detected in relatively high levels in the kidney and urine of males, while females make and excrete little (Matthews et al., 1971).

Studies of metabolism in vitro indicated that rat liver microsomes supplemented with uridine diphosphoglucuronic acid and NADPH could metabolize dieldrin to glucuronides of 9-hydroxydieldrin and 6,7-*trans*-dihydroxydihydroaldrin (<u>Matthews & Matsumura</u>, 1969). In addition, 6,7-*trans*-dihydroxydihydroaldrin can be further oxidized to give aldrin dicarboxylic acid (<u>Baldwin et al., 1972; Hutson, 1976</u>).

Collectively, metabolism of dieldrin to yield polar products does occur and can be modified by competing pathways (Fig. 4.1). The rate of overall biotransformation of dieldrin, however, is deemed to be very slow, accounting for its poor excretion and persistence in the body. Furthermore, on the basis of its half-lives in humans (Hunter & Robinson, 1967) and rodents (Robinson et al., 1969), dieldrin appears to persist longer in humans. [The Working Group noted that this is either because of slower degradation by human enzymes than by rodent enzymes, or slower release from human fat than rodent fat.]
(c) Modulation of metabolic enzymes

Multiple studies indicated that dieldrin can modulate metabolic enzymes. For example, exposure to dieldrin could induce the synthesis of xenobiotic metabolizing enzymes in the liver of many different species, including rats, mice, cattle, fish, and birds (<u>Davison & Sell, 1972;</u> <u>Campbell et al., 1983; Abdelsalam & Ford, 1986;</u> <u>Haake et al., 1987; Barber et al., 2007; Dail et al., 2007</u>). Mixed-function oxidases (i.e. cytochrome P450s) were the most affected by dieldrin (<u>Campbell et al., 1983</u>), and induction of hepatic enzymes by dieldrin could modulate the metabolism of carcinogens and hormones.

Dieldrin is a ligand for the xenoreceptors constitutive androstane receptor (CAR) and pregnane X receptor (PXR), resulting in the increased transcription of cytochrome P450 2B and 3A genes in mice (Zhang et al., 2004). PXR-dependent induction of human CYP3A4 gene expression by dieldrin in cultured cell lines was also reported (Coumoul et al., 2002). Furthermore, a double-null mouse lacking CAR and PXR was completely insensitive to broadrange xenobiotics, such as dieldrin, that activate both types of receptor (Zhang et al., 2004).

[The Working Group considered that, taken together, these data supported the idea that dieldrin (and perhaps aldrin indirectly) can activate xenobiotic receptors that regulate the expression of xenobiotic metabolic enzymes.]

4.1.5 Excretion

(a) Humans

Aldrin and dieldrin

9-Hydroxydieldrin was detectable in the faeces of occupationally exposed workers, suggesting that this is an important route of elimination of aldrin- or dieldrin-derived metabolites in humans (<u>Richardson & Robinson, 1971</u>). Furthermore, aldrin and dieldrin were excreted in the breast milk of nursing mothers (<u>Sant'Ana</u>

et al., 1989; Nair et al., 1992), suggesting that this is an important route of excretion in lactating women.

(b) Experimental systems

(i) Aldrin

One study in rats indicated that metabolites of aldrin were predominantly excreted via the faecal route, whereas urinary excretion was a minor route (Korte & Kochen, 1966). For example, in rats given an intravenous injection of [¹⁴C]-labelled aldrin, 15% and 5% of the administered dose was excreted in the faeces and urine, respectively, within about 48 hours (Korte & Kochen, 1966). Polar metabolites accounted for the bulk of the radiolabel in the excreta, with only trace amounts of aldrin detected.

(ii) Dieldrin

Because aldrin is converted to dieldrin in vivo, studies on the excretion of dieldrin are also informative for aldrin. Faecal excretion was the major route of elimination of dieldrin and its metabolites, whereas urinary excretion was a minor route (Matthews et al., 1971; Hutson, 1976; Müller et al., 1979). Single oral doses of [14C]-labelled dieldrin (0.5 mg/kg) administered to rats, mice, monkeys, and chimpanzees resulted in the faecal excretion of 10% (average of male and female Sprague-Dawley rats), 36% (average of male and female Swiss white mice), 16% (male rhesus monkeys), and 5% (female chimpanzees) of the administered [14C]-labelled dose within 10 days, whereas urinary excretion accounted for only 0.6-4.4% of the administered dose (Müller et al., 1979). Thus, the bulk of the total radiolabel recovered in the excreta from these different species was present in the faeces (79-95% of excreted radiolabel).

In a separate study, 62% and 7% of a single oral dose of $[{}^{14}C]$ -labelled dieldrin (3 mg/kg bw) was excreted in the faeces and urine, respectively, within 8 days after administration to male CFE rats (Hutson, 1976). Unchanged dieldrin and

9-hydroxydieldrin and its glucuronide were the major ¹⁴C-labelled compounds detected in the faeces, with lesser amounts of 6,7-*trans*-dihy-droxydihydroaldrin and aldrin dicarboxylic acid detected.

After an oral dose, the presence of [¹⁴C]dieldrin-derived radio label in the faeces could indicate incomplete absorption. However, intraperitoneal and intravenous injections of [14C]-labelled dieldrin in male rats also resulted in the excretion of most of the radiolabel by the faecal route (Cole et al., 1970) (Chipman & Walker, 1979). This suggested that biliary excretion of dieldrin and its metabolites is important for its elimination. Indeed, perfusion of isolated rat liver with [14C]-labelled dieldrin resulted in significant biliary excretion of [14C]-labelled dieldrin equivalents (Cole et al., 1970). Using this same approach, endrin, a stereoisomer of dieldrin, was excreted at a significantly higher rate than dieldrin was (Cole et al., 1970). This was attributed to faster metabolism of endrin in the liver when compared with dieldrin, and the subsequent biliary excretion of endrin metabolite 9-hydroxyendrin (Hutson et al., 1975). Elimination via the bile was also measured directly in bile-cannulated rats after an intraperitoneal dose of [14C]-labelled dieldrin (Chipman & Walker, 1979). Interestingly, when dieldrin was compared with another chlorinated cyclodiene analogue (termed HCE), which is metabolically labile, its rate of biliary excretion was substantially slower than that of HCE (3.17 and 204 nmol/min per kg bw for dieldrin and HCE, respectively) (Chipman et al., 1979). [This result further supported the notion that the excretion rates for chlorinated cyclodienes are dependent on their metabolism rates.]

In general, 9-hydroxydieldrin and 6,7-*trans*dihydroxydihydroaldrin and their glucuronides were the major ¹⁴C-labelled compounds detected in rat, mouse, and monkey faeces (via bile excretion), with lesser amounts of unchanged dieldrin detected (Matthews et al., 1971; Hutson, 1976; <u>Müller et al., 1979</u>). On the basis of the profile of

cid whereas female rats excreted more unchanged dieldrin than male rats (Matthews et al., 1971).
el- This result was consistent with a faster rate of dieldrin metabolism in male rats than in female rats. Furthermore, 9-hydroxydieldrin was also detectable in mouse and monkey urine, but not in rat urine (Hutson, 1976; Müller et al., 1979).
A comparison of excretion rates in mice and rats indicated that mice excreted 37–39% of an oral dose of [¹⁴C]-labelled dieldrin within 10 days, whereas rats excreted 10–12% of the dose, signifying a species difference in excretion

10 days, whereas rats excreted 10–12% of the dose, signifying a species difference in excretion (Müller et al., 1979). In both rodent species, 95% of the radiolabel recovered in the excreta was present in the faeces. Further, substantially more 6,7-*trans*-dihydroxydihydroaldrin was excreted by mice than by rats.

metabolites in faecal extracts, male rats excreted greater proportions of 9-hydroxydieldrin and

6,7-trans-dihydroxydihydroaldrin than females,

Overall, these studies indicated that faecal excretion of aldrin and dieldrin metabolites via bile is the major route of elimination by rodents, whereas urinary excretion is a minor route. Several polar metabolites and trace amounts of unchanged dieldrin could be detected in the faeces and urine, while aldrin was generally not detectable in excreta (Fig. 4.1). For most species, the overall excretion rate of aldrin and dieldrin was generally slow. Whereas aldrin is rapidly converted to dieldrin in vivo, the slow excretion rate of dieldrin was attributable both to its slow release from fat as well as its inefficient metabolities in the water-soluble products.

4.2 Mechanisms of carcinogenesis

This section summarizes in the following order the available evidence for the key characteristics for carcinogens, concerning whether aldrin or dieldrin is genotoxic; modulates receptor-mediated effects; induces inflammation and is immunosuppressive; induces oxidative stress; and alters cell proliferation, cell death, and nutrient supply. For the other key characteristics of human carcinogens, insufficient data were available for evaluation.

4.2.1 Genetic and related effects

- (a) Humans
- (i) Exposed humans

See <u>Table 4.1</u>.

Aldrin

DNA damage in lymphocytes was not correlated with levels of aldrin or of other organochlorine pesticides in peripheral blood from mothers, or in umbilical cord blood in a study of mother-infant pairs (Alvarado-Hernandez et al., 2013). Aldrin was detected in maternal blood (median concentration, 412 ng/g lipid) and in umbilical cord blood (median concentration, 906 ng/g lipid); however, no correlation was found between pesticide levels and the frequency of micronucleus formation, chromatin buds, nucleoplasmic bridges, or DNA strand breaks as measured by the comet assay. Edwards & Priestly (1994) did not find increased frequencies of sister-chromatid exchange in the lymphocytes of pest-control workers and pesticide-treatment company employees exposed to aldrin. Aldrin exposures were confirmed by plasma dieldrin detection; median plasma levels ranged from 4.8 ng/mL to 16.0 ng/mL in the lowest and highest exposure groups, respectively. The plasma levels of dieldrin in exposed workers correlated with the duration of employment.

Dieldrin

Chromosomal aberrations were analysed in the lymphocytes of current and former dieldrin-manufacturing plant workers (<u>Dean et al.</u>, <u>1975</u>). The incidence of chromatid and chromosome-like aberrations was not increased in plant workers when compared with matched controls.

(ii) Human cells in vitro See Table 4.2. Exposure to aldrin or dieldrin induced unscheduled DNA synthesis, with and without the addition of rat liver S9 microsomal fraction, in SV-40 transformed human fibroblasts (<u>Ahmed</u> <u>et al., 1977a</u>). Aldrin induced chromosome aberrations (gaps, breaks, deletions, and fragments) in human peripheral blood lymphocytes exposed for 22 hours in vitro (<u>Georgian, 1975</u>). [The Working Group noted the lack of methodological detail reported in <u>Georgian (1975)</u>.]

Dieldrin induced chromosomal aberrations in cultured human embryonic lung cells at cytotoxic exposures (<u>Majumdar et al., 1976</u>).

- (b) Experimental systems
- (i) Non-human mammals in vivo See Table 4.3.

Aldrin

Aldrin induced chromosomal aberrations in bone marrow cells in mice and rats given a single intraperitoneal dose (Georgian, 1975; see comment above). Aldrin exposure via drinking-water for 2 days did not increase the frequency of micronucleus formation in the bone marrow of mice (Usha Rani et al., 1980).

Dieldrin

Bachowski et al. (1998) investigated oxidative damage to DNA and unscheduled DNA synthesis in mice and rats fed diets containing dieldrin for up to 90 days. In the urine of male mice, 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) levels increased up to day 28. This increase correlated with increased hepatic DNA synthesis, although 8-OHdG levels were not changed in mouse liver (Klaunig et al., 1995). No increases in 8-OHdG formation or unscheduled DNA synthesis were detected in the liver or urine of rats (Klaunig et al., 1995).

Ha-*ras* proto-oncogene codon 61 mutations were not detected in tumours of the liver of dieldrin-exposed CF1 mice (<u>Bauer-Hofmann et al.</u>, <u>1990</u>, <u>1992</u>).

Table 4.1 Geneti	ic and re	lated effe	cts of aldrin and dieldri	in in exposed huma	ıns		
End-point	Tissue, c	cell line	Description of exposure and	controls	Response ^a / significance	Comments	Reference
Aldrin							
DNA strand breaks, micronucleus	Blood, ly	mphocytes	50 mother-infant pairs in rur. San Luis Potosi, Mexico	al agricultural region of	I	Multiple pesticides were detected; no exposure	<u>Alvarado-</u> Hernandez et al.
formation	Umbilicí blood, ly	al cord mphocytes			I	information	(2013)
Sister-chromatid exchange	Blood, ly	mphocytes	29 pest-control workers in sou Exposure time: range, 3 mo to groups based on job duties; 3 1 Plasma dieldrin levels were 4.(16.0 ng/mL in groups 1, 1a, 2, 33 pesticide-treatment comba	trh Australia 20 yr; split into 4 matched controls 8, 5.8, 7.0, 5.3, and 3, and 4, respectively nv emblovees: Australia	1 1		Edwards & Priestly (1994)
Dieldrin				ments and the fact for the			
Chromosomal aberrations	Blood, ly	mphocytes	9 former and 12 current dield matched controls	rin-plant workers; 17	I	No exposure information	<u>Dean et al. (1975)</u>
^a –, negative; mo, mo; y	rr, year						
Table 4.2 Geneti	ic and re	alated effe	scts of aldrin and dieldri	in in human cells in	l vitro		
End-point		Tissue, cell l	ine Results ^a	Ď	ose (LED or	Comments	Reference
			With metabolic activation	Without metabolic activation	(II)		
Aldrin							
Unscheduled DNA sy	rnthesis	Fibroblasts	+	+ N1	R		<u>Ahmed et al. (1977a)</u>
Chromosomal aberra	ations	Lymphocyte: (primary)	s (+)	9.5 2.6	56 μg/mL	Lack of methodological detail	<u>Georgian (1975)</u>

 * +, positive: (+), positive in a study of limited quality; the level of significance was set at P < 0.05 in all cases HID, highest ineffective dose; LED, lowest effective dose; NR, not reported; NT, not tested

Embryonic lung, WI-38

Unscheduled DNA synthesis Fibroblast

Dieldrin

Chromosomal aberrations

Ahmed et al. (1977a) <u>Majumdar et al.</u>

(1976)

No positive controls No positive controls; cytotoxicity observed

1 μg/mL 1 μM

+ L

+ +

IARC MONOGRAPHS - 117

Table 4.3 Gene	etic and re	lated effe	cts of al	drin and die	ldrin in non-human mammals	in vivo	
End-point	Species, strain (sex)	Tissue	Results	Dose (LED or HID)	Route, duration, dosing regimen	Comments	Reference
Aldrin							
Chromosomal aberrations	Mouse, AKR (M) Rat, Wistar (M)	Bone marrow	(+)	9.56 µg/g bw	i.p.; one injection of 9.56, 19.125, 38.25, or 76.50 μg/g bw, 24 h before the harvesting of the bone marrow; controls received an equivalent volume of vehicle	Lack of methodological detail	<u>Georgian</u> (1975)
Micronucleus formation	Mouse, Swiss albino (M)	Bone marrow (PCE)	I	13 mg/kg	Drinking-water; 2 d (1 \times 24 h)		<u>Usha Rani et</u> <u>al. (1980)</u>
Dieldrin							
8-OHdG, unscheduled DNA synthesis	Rat, F344 (M)	Liver, urine	I	10 mg/kg diet	0.1, 1.0, or 10 mg/kg diet; 7, 14, 28, and 90 d		<u>Bachowski</u> et al. (1998)
8-OHdG	Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (M)	Liver	Ĩ	10 mg/kg diet	0.1, 1.0, or 10 mg/kg diet; 7, 14, 28, and 90 d		<u>Bachowski</u> et al. (1998)
SbHO-8	Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (M)	Urine	+	10 mg/kg diet	0.1, 1.0, or 10 mg/kg diet; 7, 14, 28, and 90 d	Increased at d 14 and 28	<u>Bachowski</u> et al. (1998)
Unscheduled DNA synthesis	Mouse, B6C3F ₁ (M)	Liver	+	1.0 mg/kg diet	0.1, 1.0, or 10 mg/kg diet; 7, 14, 28, and 90 d		<u>Bachowski</u> et al. (1998)
c-Ha- <i>ras</i> proto- oncogene codon 61 mutations	Mouse, C3H (M)	Liver tumours	1	10 ppm [10 000 μg/L]	10 ppm in the diet; 52 wk		<u>Bauer-</u> <u>Hofmann et</u> <u>al. (1992)</u>
Ha <i>-ras</i> mutations at codons 12 or 61	Mouse, CF1 (M)	Liver tumours	I	10 ppm [10 000 μg/L]	10 ppm in the diet; 96 wk		<u>Bauer-</u> <u>Hofmann et</u> al. (1990)
Dominant lethal test	Mouse, CF1 (M)	Germinal tissue	1	25 mg/kg bw	Oral; HEOD at 12.5, 25, or 50 mg/kg; 8 wk (1×/wk)	Purity, > 99% (HEOD); vehicle, DMSO	<u>Dean et al.</u> (1975)
Chromosomal aberrations	Hamster, Chinese (M, F)	Bone marrow	1	60 mg/kg bw	Oral; HEOD at 30 or 60 mg/kg bw; 8 or 24 h	Purity, > 99% (HEOD); vehicle, DMSO	<u>Dean et al.</u> (1975)
Chromosomal aberrations	Mouse, STS (M)	Bone marrow	+	1 mg/kg bw	i.p.; single dose, 24 h	No positive controls; 4 animals/ dose group; mitotic index decreased 40%	<u>Majumdar</u> <u>et al. (1976)</u>

Aldrin and Dieldrin

Table 4.3	(continued)						
End-point	Species, strain (sex)	Tissue	Results	Dose (LED or HID)	Route, duration, dosing regimen	Comments	Reference
Micronucleu formation	ls Mouse, CBA (M)	Bone marrow (PCE)	+	60 mg/kg bw	i.p.; 24 and 48 h	No concurrent cytotoxicity; positive and dose-dependent at lethal and sublethal doses; most micronuclei were kinetochore-negative	<u>Cicchetti et</u> <u>al. (1999)</u>
 ^a +, positive; ^bw, body weig (the major con polychromatic 	 +), positive in a study ht; d, day; DMSO, dii stituent of dieldrin); erythrocytes; ppm, I 	y of limited quantu methyl sulfoxic HID, highest i parts per millic	ality; -, nega le: F, female; neffective do nı; wk, week	tive; the level of s h, hour; HEOD, se; i.p., intraperit	ignificance was set at P < 0.05 in all cases 1,2,3,4,10,10-hexachloro-6,7-epoxy-1,4,4α,5, oneal; LED, lowest effective dose; M, male; n	,6,7,8,8a-octahydro <i>-exo</i> -1,4- <i>endo</i> -5,8-dimeth mo, month; 8-OHdG, 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxygua	anonapthalene nosine; PCE,

In the dominant-lethal assay in mice exposed orally to dieldrin for 8 weeks, no significant differences in fetal implantation rates or early fetal deaths were detected in the offspring of exposed male mice (<u>Dean et al. (1975</u>). In the same study, chromosomal aberrations were not induced in the bone marrow of Chinese hamsters 8 or 24 hours after a single oral dose of dieldrin . In two studies in male mice exposed intraperitoneally to dieldrin, chromosomal aberrations (<u>Majumdar et</u> <u>al., 1976</u>) and micronucleus formation (<u>Cicchetti</u> <u>et al., 1999</u>) were significantly induced in bone marrow.

(ii) Non-human mammalian cells in vitro See Table 4.4.

No studies on aldrin were available to the Working Group.

Dieldrin induced 8-OHdG lesions in actively proliferating and in differentiated rat PC12 cells (<u>Stedeford et al., 2001</u>), and in mouse but not rat hepatocytes (<u>Klaunig et al., 1995</u>).

Dieldrin induced forward mutation at the thymidine kinase locus in the mouse lymphoma assay in two out of three replicate experiments (<u>McGregor et al., 1991</u>). The increases in mutant fraction correlated with dose, but the lowest effective concentration reduced the relative total cell growth to 40%.

<u>Ahmed et al. (1977b)</u> reported a significant induction in the frequency of ouabain-resistant mutants in Chinese hamster V79 cells exposed to nontoxic concentrations of dieldrin.

Dieldrin also increased the frequency of micronucleus formation in mouse primary lung fibroblasts (<u>Cicchetti & Argentin, 2003</u>).

In Chinese hamster ovary cells, an increased incidence of sister-chromatid exchange was observed after exposure to dieldrin, both with and without metabolic activation (S9 microsomal fraction), but there was no increase in chromosomal aberrations at up to toxic concentrations (Galloway et al., 1987). [At concentrations that

induced sister-chromatid exchange, a precipitate formed.]

(iii) Non-mammalian systems in vivo

See <u>Table 4.5</u>.

Aldrin

Aldrin induced chromosomal aberrations in the plant species *Vicia faba* (<u>Pandey, 2008</u>), but did not increase micronucleus formation in *Tradescantia* clone 4430 (<u>Sandhu et al., 1989</u>).

Dieldrin

Dieldrin was studied in fish, insects, and plants. In fish, significant increases in the frequency of oxidative damage to DNA were seen 7 days after a single intraperitoneal injection of dieldrin in the gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata* (Rodríguez-Ariza et al., 1999).

Dieldrin gave negative results in the somatic mutation and recombination test (SMART) in *Drosophila melanogaster*, and was toxic to larvae at 0.005 mM (<u>Osaba et al., 1999</u>).

In plants, chromosomal damage was significantly increased by dieldrin exposures. Chromosomal aberrations were induced in *Vicia faba* bean (<u>Pandey, 2008</u>), and increased micronucleus formation was reported in *Tradescantia* (<u>Sandhu et al., 1989; Gill & Sandhu, 1992</u>).

(iv) Non-mammalian systems in vitro

See <u>Table 4.6</u>.

Aldrin

Aldrin gave an equivocal response in strain TA100 in the presence of hamster liver S9 (NTP, 2016a), but otherwise gave negative results when tested with and without S9 fractions in *Salmonella typhimurium* (strains TA98, TA100, TA1535, TA1537, and TA1538) and in *Escherichia coli* (strain WP2 *hcr*) (Moriya et al., 1983; NTP, 2016a). Aldrin did not induce DNA adducts in calf thymus DNA (Decloître et al., 1975), or DNA strand breaks in ColE1 plasmid DNA (Griffin & Hill, 1978).

Table 4.4 Ge	netic and related effe	cts of dieldri	n in non-hu	man mammals in	vitro	
End-point	Species, cell line	Results ^a		Concentration	Comments	Reference
		Without metabolic activation	With metabolic activation	- (LEC or HIC)		
8-OHdG	Rat adrenal gland pheochromocytoma, PC12	+	LU	100 µМ [38.1 µg/ mL]		<u>Stedeford et al.</u> (2001)
8-OHdG	Rat, hepatocytes	I	ΓN	50 μM		<u>Klaunig et al.</u> (1995)
8-OHdG	Mouse, hepatocytes	+	NT	10 µM		<u>Klaunig et al.</u> (1995)
Tk mutation	Mouse L5178Y lymphoma cells	+	$_{ m TN}$	20 μg/mL	Vehicle, DMSO Positive in 2/3 replicate experiments with dose–response relationship; relative total growth, approx. 40% at 20 μg/mL	<u>McGregor et</u> al. (1991)
Mutation	Chinese hamster fibroblasts, V79	+	ΓL	10 μM [3.8 μg/mL]	No positive controls; 77.8% cell survival	<u>Ahmed et al.</u> (<u>1977b)</u>
Micronucleus formation	Mouse lung fibroblasts (primary)	+	ΓN	25 μM [9.5 μg/mL]		<u>Cicchetti</u> <u>& Argentin</u> (2003)
Chromosomal aberrations	Chinese hamster ovary, CHO-W-B1	I	I	60 μg/mL (–S9); 800 μg/mL (+S9)		<u>Galloway et al.</u> (<u>1987)</u>
Sister- chromatid exchange	Chinese hamster ovary, CHO-W-B1	+	+	< 40 μg/mL (–S9); < 300 μg/mL (+S9)	Doses induced cell cycle delay and formed precipitate	<u>Galloway et al.</u> (1987)
^a +, positive: -, neg	zative; the level of significance v	vas set at P < 0.05 ii	n all cases			

DMSO, dimethyl sulfoxide; HIC, highest ineffective concentration; LEC, lowest effective concentration; NT, not tested; 8-OHdG, 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine; S9, 9000 × g supernatant

IARC MONOGRAPHS - 117

Table 4.5 Genetic an	d related effects of aldrin a	nd dielc	drin in non-n	ıammalian experimental systems in vivo	
Test system (species, strain)	End-point	Results	Dose (LED or HID)	Comments	Reference
Aldrin					
Vicia faba (bean)	Chromosomal aberrations	+	50 ppm [50 000 μg/L]	Toxic at ≥ 500 ppm	<u>Pandey (2008)</u>
<i>Tradescantia</i> clone 4430 (spiderworts)	Micronucleus formation	I	36.59 μg/mL	Vehicle, DMSO; precipitated out of solution when water was added. Reported as ppm	<u>Sandhu et al. (1989)</u>
Dieldrin					
<i>Sparus aurata</i> (gilthead seabream)	8-OHdG	+	0.6 mg/kg	Levels significant $(P < 0.05)$ in liver and not blood or gills	<u>Rodríguez-Ariza et</u> al. (1999)
Drosophila melanogaster	Somatic mutation and recombination test (SMART)	I	0.005 mM	Highly toxic to larvae	<u>Osaba et al. (1999)</u>
Vicia faba (bean)	Chromosomal aberrations	+	50 ppm [50 μg/mL]	Toxic at ≥ 500 ppm	<u>Pandey (2008)</u>
<i>Tradescantia</i> clone 4430 (spiderwort)	Micronucleus formation	+	3.81 μg/mL	Vehicle, DMSO	<u>Sandhu et al. (1989)</u>
Tradescantia (spiderwort)	Micronucleus formation	+	4 μg/mL	Also positive at 4 mg/kg in soil Vehicle, DMSO	<u>Gill & Sandhu</u> (1992)
 +, positive; -, negative; the l DMSO, dimethyl sulfoxide; h, 	evel of significance was set at P < 0.05 in hour; HID, highest ineffective dose; LEJ	all cases), lowest eff	ective dose; 8-OHc	lG, 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine; ppm, parts per million	

Ξ Ē. 2 2 x /a 3 ப்ப, nignest ineffective f dimethyl sultoxiae;

Table 4.6 Genetic and	l related effe	ects of aldri	n and dield	rin in non-mamm	alian experimental systems in vitro	
Test system	End-point	Results ^a		Concentration	Comments	Reference
(species, strain)		Without metabolic activation	With metabolic activation	(LEC or HIC)		
Aldrin						
Salmonella typhimurium TA98, TA1535, TA1537, TA1538	Reverse mutation	1	I	10 000 μg/plate	Vehicle, DMSO Incubations with rat and hamster liver S9 fractions at 10% and 30% were tested; highest two doses had observable precipitate	<u>NTP (2016a)</u>
Salmonella typhimurium TA100	Reverse mutation	1	-/+	10 000 μg/plate	Vehicle, DMSO Two replicate experiments with 30% hamster liver S9 fractions induced equivocal and negative results, respectively, with precipitate observed	NTP (2016a)
Salmonella typhimurium TA98, TA100, TA1535, TA1537, TA1538	Reverse mutation	I	I	5000 μg/plate	Vehicle, DMSO	<u>Moriya et al.</u> (1983)
Escherichia coli WP2 hcr	Reverse mutation	1	1	5000 μg/plate	Vehicle, DMSO	<u>Moriya et al.</u> (1983)
Calf thymus DNA	DNA adducts	NT	I	26.3 μM		<u>Decloître et al.</u> (1975)
ColE1 plasmid DNA	DNA strand breaks	1	ΤN	1 mg/mL		<u>Griffin & Hill</u> (1978)
Dieldrin						
Aspergillus nidulans 35 (haploid)	Forward mutation	1	TN	26 mM [9.9 mg/mL] [converted from 26 mM]	Purity, 97% No decrease in survival	<u>Crebelli et al.</u> (1986)
Aspergillus nidulans P1 (diploid)	Aneuploidy	1	ΤN	26 mM [9.9 mg/mL] [converted from 26 mM]	Purity, 97% 61% survival	<u>Crebelli et al.</u> (1986)
Saccharomyces cerevisiae D4	Gene conversion	1	TN	50 mg/kg bw	Purity, > 99% (HEOD); vehicle, DMSO Host-mediated assay of male CF1 mice dosed orally with dieldrin and injected i.p. with yeast	<u>Dean et al.</u> (1975)
Salmonella typhimurium TA98, TA100, TA1535	DNA strand breaks	+	+	1 μg/mL	No positive control; only group not positive was TA1535 – S9	<u>Majumdar et</u> <u>al. (1977)</u>
Salmonella typhimurium TA1535, TA1536, TA1537, TA1538	Reverse mutation	T	1	1000 µg/plate	Vehicle, DMSO Highest dose +S9 was toxic	<u>Marshall et al.</u> (1976)

IARC MONOGRAPHS - 117

Table 4.6 (continued)						
Test system	End-point	Results ^a		Concentration	Comments	Reference
(species, strain)		Without metabolic activation	With metabolic activation	(LEC or HIC)		
Salmonella typhimurium TA98, TA100	Reverse mutation	1	1	1 mg	Vehicle, DMSO	<u>Wade et al.</u> (1979)
Salmonella typhimurium TA98, TA100, TA1535, TA1537	Reverse mutation	I	I	3333 μg/plate	Vehicle, DMSO Incubations with 10% rat and hamster liver S9 fractions were tested; highest three doses had observable precipitate	<u>NTP (2016b)</u>
Salmonella typhimurium TA98, TA100	Reverse mutation	1	TN	3000 μg/plate	Concentrations of \geq 300 µg/plate had visible precipitate, but were not toxic Results reported from other experiments, all negative: TA1535 -S9, TA1537 -S9, TA98 +S9 ± TCPO, TA100 +S9 (<u>Oesch & Daly, 1972</u>)	<u>Glatt et al.</u> (1983)
Salmonella typhimurium TA98, TA100	Reverse mutation	1	NT	1000 μg/plate	Positive with UVC light exposure	<u>De Flora et al.</u> (<u>1989)</u>
Salmonella typhimurium TA98, TA100, TA1535, TA1537, TA1538	Reverse mutation	1	1	5000 μg/plate	Vehicle, DMSO	<u>Moriya et al.</u> (<u>1983)</u>
Calf thymus DNA	DNA adducts	NT	1	31.6 µM		<u>Decloître et al.</u> (<u>1975)</u>
ColE1 plasmid DNA	DNA strand breaks	I	ΓN	0.1 mg/mL		<u>Griffin & Hill</u> (1978)
 -, negative; +, positive; +/-, eq bw, body weight; DMSO, dimeth constituent of dieldrin); HIC, hig hydrolase inhibitor; UVC, ultrav. 	uivocal (variable yl sulfoxide; h, ho chest ineffective c iolet C	response in sever our; HEOD, 1,2,3, :oncentration; i.p.	al experiments ' 4,10,10-hexachl , intraperitoneal	within an adequate study); oro-6,7-epoxy-1,4,4α,5,6,7, l; LEC, lowest effective con.	the level of significance was set at P < 0.05 in all cases 8,8α-octahydro- <i>exo</i> -1,4- <i>endo</i> -5,8-dimethanonapthalen centration; NT, not tested; S9, 9000 × g supernatant; TC	te (the major PO, hypoxide

Dieldrin

Dieldrin did not induce forward mutation or aneuploidy in *Aspergillus nidulans* strains 35 and P1 (<u>Crebelli et al., 1986</u>). Dieldrin gave negative results in the host-mediated assay, in which mice orally exposed to dieldrin were injected intraperitoneally with *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain D4 (<u>Dean et al., 1975</u>).

Majumdar et al. (1977) reported DNA strand breaks in *S. typhimurium* strains TA98 and TA100 (with or without S9), and in TA1535 (with S9 only).

Dieldrin did not induce reverse mutation in *Salmonella typhimurium* strains TA98, TA100, TA1535, TA1536, TA1537, and TA1538, with or without S9 microsomal fraction (<u>Marshall et al., 1976; Wade et al., 1979; Glatt et al., 1983; Moriya et al., 1983; De Flora et al., 1989; NTP, 2016b).</u>

Dieldrin did not induce DNA adducts in calf thymus DNA (<u>Decloître et al., 1975</u>), or DNA strand breaks in ColE1 plasmid DNA (<u>Griffin &</u> <u>Hill, 1978</u>).

4.2.2 Receptor-mediated effects

- (a) Humans
- (i) Exposed humans

No studies on aldrin or dieldrin in exposed humans were available to the Working Group.

(ii) Human cells in vitro

Aldrin

Aldrin increased aromatase activity and CYP19 mRNA aromatase expression in the human choriocarcinoma JEG3 cell line (Laville et al., 2006). While aldrin bound human estrogen receptor α (ER α), it had greater affinity for the human progesterone receptor (Scippo et al., 2004). However, aldrin did not have estrogenic activity in transcriptional activation assays using human cell lines that either expressed ER α (MCF-7 cells) or that were stably transfected with human ER α receptors (HeLa cells) (Tully et

292

al., 2000; Mumtaz et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2011). Lemaire et al. (2006) demonstrated antagonism of the ER by aldrin (0.1–10 μ M), suggesting a potential anti-estrogenic effect, in HELN cells expressing human ER subtypes ERa and ERβ.

Aldrin has been shown to activate human retinoic acid receptors (<u>Lemaire et al., 2005</u>), although other studies were unable to demonstrate similar results (<u>Laville et al., 2006</u>).

Dieldrin

The receptor-mediated effects of dieldrin are summarized in <u>Table 4.7</u>, <u>Table 4.8</u>, and <u>Table 4.9</u>.

Dieldrin bound to the human ER and induced estrogen-dependent cell proliferation in human breast cancer cell lines at concentrations of 1 µM or above (Soto et al., 1994, 1995; Rasmussen & Nielsen, 2002) Activation of ERs in transactivation assays was also reported in several different human breast cell lines (Legler et al., 1999; Andersen et al., 2002; Charles et al., 2002; Buteau-Lozano et al., 2008). Dieldrin did not elicit estrogenic responses in MCF-7 or HeLa cells in other studies (Arcaro et al., 1998; Tully et al., 2000; Mumtaz et al., 2002). Dieldrin treatment induced activation of the pregnane X receptor in MCF-7 and HepG2 cells in culture (Coumoul et al. 2002), but did not appear to activate peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARy) (Moreno-Aliaga & Matsumura, 1999).

(b) Experimental systems

(i) Aldrin

Aldrin was weakly estrogenic in an assay in zebra fish (<u>Hodges et al., 2000</u>).

(ii) Dieldrin

Several studies in experimental systems demonstrated estrogenic effects, while others have been unable to document similar findings, either with dieldrin alone or in combination with other estrogenic contaminants (<u>Ratnasabapathy et al., 1997</u>; <u>Wade et al., 1997</u>). Dieldrin did not bind to ERs

Table 4.7 Est	trogenic activ	rity of dieldrin			
Assay system	Cell line	Agent	Concentration	Results	Reference
Breast cancer cell lines	MCF-7	Dieldrin + 9 pesticides	1.0 pM-10 μM	Induced cell proliferation at 10 μM dose only Mixture of 10 pesticides induced cell proliferation at concentrations that were ineffective on their own	<u>Soto et al.</u> (1994)
	MCF-7	Dieldrin + estrogenic compounds	1–10 µМ	Dieldrin treatment induced cell proliferation at 10 μ M and pS2 expression at 1–10 μ M Cell proliferation was increased by chemical mixture containing dieldrin (1.0 μ M) showing additivity	<u>Soto et al.</u> (1995)
	MCF7-BUS	Dieldrin	0.1–100 µM	Significant increase in cell proliferation beginning at 5 mM, reaching a maximum at 25 mM, and EC ₅₀ of 7.0 mM Effects mediated via ER-mediated transactivation of the reporter gene	<u>Rasmussen &</u> Nielsen (2002)
	MCF-7	Dieldrin	1.0 µМ-10 µМ	Treatments induced PXR transactivation	<u>Coumoul et al.</u> (2002)
	MCF-7	Dieldrin	1.0 pM-10 nM	Dieldrin failed to induce an estrogenic response	<u>Arcaro et al.</u> (1998)
	MELN	Dieldrin	1.0 pM-10 µM	Dieldrin-induced transactivation of the ER and upregulated VEGF expression at 10 µM concentration	Buteau-Lozano et al. (2008)
	T47D	Dieldrin + others	0.1 nM-10 µM	Lowest concentration of dieldrin to cause estrogen receptor transactivated luciferase induction was 1.0 μM Dieldrin and endosulfan acted additively in the range of 3–6 μM	<u>Legler et al.</u> (1999 <u>)</u>
	MCF-7	Ternary mixture including dieldrin	0.1–1.0 μM	Estrogenic effects even at highest concentrations were no more than additive	<u>Charles et al.</u> (2002)
Other mammalian cell lines	HELN ERα & ERβ	PCP, dieldrin & aldrin	0.1–10 µM	Pentachlorophenol, aldrin& dieldrin demonstrated antagonism towards hER α & hER β Dieldrin (10 µM) treatment also caused significant transactivation of ER α but not ER β	<u>[Lemaire et al.</u> [2006]
	HeLa	4,4-DDT, 4,4-DDD, 4,4- DDE, aldrin, dieldrin, or endrin	1.0 nM-10 μM	No estrogenic effects alone or in binary mixtures	<u>Mumtaz et al.</u> (2002)
	HeLa	Aldrin & dieldrin	1.0 nM-10 μM	No estrogenic effects alone or in binary mixtures	<u>Tully et al.</u> (2000)
	GH3/B6 pituitary cells	Dieldrin	1.0 pM-10 nM	Dieldrin-induced Ca ⁺⁺ fluxes and PRL release at all concentrations tested although dose–response relationship for PRL release was not evident Effects thought to be mediated via activation of membrane ERα	<u>Wozniak et al.</u> (2005)
	HepG2 cells	Dieldrin	1.0 μM-10 μM	Treatment (10 μ M) caused transactivation of PXR	Coumoul et al.

Aldrin and Dieldrin

Table 4.7 (c	ontinued)				
Assay system	Cell line	Agent	Concentration	Results	Reference
	Eker rat leiomyoma cells	Dieldrin	10 nM-10 μM	Dieldrin exposure did not induce cell proliferation but did upregulate PR message	<u>Hodges et al.</u> (2000)
Yeast gene reporter		Dieldrin	0.1 nM-10 mM	Estrogenic response at concentrations above 1.0 μM	<u>Graumann et al.</u> (1999)
	rtER	PCP and/or + dieldrin	0.1 pM-100 μM	PCP inhibited estrogen-dependent cell growth, whereas dieldrin was weakly estrogenic in both yeast cells expression a rainbow trout ER	<u>Petit et al.</u> (1997)
Ca++, calcium; DD concentration; ER	D, dichlorodiphenyl , estrogen receptor;	l dichloroethane; DDE, dichlorod PCP, pentachlorophenol; PR, proį	liphenyl dichloroeth gesterone; PRL, prok	ylene; DDT, bis(<i>p</i> -chlorophenyl)-2,2,2-trichloroethane; EC ₅₀ , half maxin actin; PXR, pregnane X receptor; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth fac	aal effective tor

Table 4.8 Summary of studies quantify	/ing receptor-	binding capacity of dieldrin	
Model	Concentration	Results	Reference
Recombinant yeast assay	0.1 nM-10 mM	$^3\mathrm{H}\text{-}\mathrm{E}_2$ was displaced by dieldrin concentrations above 1.0 $\mu\mathrm{M}$	<u>Graumann et al.</u> (1999)
Displacement of ${}^{3}\text{H-E}_{2}$ binding to estrogen receptor fusion proteins from human (ER α), mouse (ER α), chicken, green anole (ERdef), and rainbow trout (rtERdef)	0.1 nM- 100 µМ	Dieldrin, at a concentration of 100 $\mu M,$ was considered a weak binder of the ER across all species tested	<u>Matthews et al.</u> (2000)
Displacement of ${}^{3}\text{H-E}_{2}$	2.5, 15, 60 μmol/kg	Alone or in combination with equimolar concentration of toxaphene did not bind with mouse uterine ER	<u>Ramamoorthy et al.</u> (1997)
MCF-7 cells and immature female SD rats. Displacement of ${}^{3}\text{H-E}_{2}$	10 nM-10 μM	Micromolar concentrations inhibited ${}^{3}\text{H-E}_{2}$ binding	<u>Wade et al. (1997)</u>
Displacement of ³ H-E ₂ from alligator & human ER	630 nM	Dieldrin alone failed to bind appreciably with either cytosolic aER or hER. However, in combination with other chemical contaminants additive to synergistic displacement of ${}^{3}\mathrm{H-E}_{2}$ from the ER was detected	Arnold et al. (1997)
Displacement of ³ H-DHT from rat ventral prostate	10 µM	Dieldrin non-competitively inhibited the binding of ${}^{3}\text{H-DHT}$ to and rogen receptors in the rat prostate in vitro	<u>Wakeling & Visek</u> (1973)
Displacement of ${}^{3}\text{H-E}_{2}$ from CN & CGC in vitro	0.06–3 µM	Dieldrin displaced ${}^{3}\text{H-E}_{2}$ in the competitive binding assay with the LOEC of between 1 and 3 μ M for CGC and CN cells, respectively	<u>Briz et al. (2011)</u>
Displacement of ${}^{3}\text{H}$ - E_{2} from Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout estrogen receptors	10 μM/L to 1 mM/L	Dieldrin failed to show any evidence of binding with either the salmon or rainbow trout ER	Tollefsen et al. (2002)
Displacement of ${}^{3}\mathrm{H}\text{-}\mathrm{E}_{2}$ from recombinant catfish ERa and ER β	6-20 μM	Dieldrin demonstrated little competition for binding with either ER	<u>Gale et al. (2004)</u>
Competitive radioreceptor binding assay in two nematode species	25 nM	Significant inhibition of estrogen binding in nematode homogenates; however, binary mixtures with other chlorinated contaminants failed to reveal any evidence of additive or synergistic effects	<u>Hood et al. (2000)</u>
CGC, cerebellar granule cells; CN, cortical neuron; DHT	, dihydrotestosterone	e; E_2 , 17 eta estradiol; ER, estrogen receptor; LOEC, lowest observed effect concentra	ation

Table 4.9 Summary of d	lieldrin effects o	n receptor expression from animal and tissue culture studies	
Test system	Concentration	Results	Reference
CN and CGC in vitro	0.03-1.0 µM	ERa expression was downregulated in both CGC and CN but not $\text{ER}\beta$	<u>Briz et al. (2011)</u>
FVB-MMTV/neu mice	0.45-4.5 µg/g bw	Treatments induced a significant dose-dependent increase in Ntrk2 expression	Cameron & Foster (2009)
Largemouth bass	0.4-0.81 ppm	Dieldrin exposure had no effect on AR and ER α expression but downregulated expression of ER β in the gonad of both sexes. Exposure upregulated AR in the liver of males only	<u>Garcia-Reyero et al.</u> (2006a)
Largemouth bass	0.4–0.81 μg/g feed	Exposure had no effect on ER α expression in the liver of both sexes but induced decreased ER α expression of ER β in the liver and gonad of females whereas the highest dose increased its expression in the liver of both sexes. Effects of dietary dieldrin exposure on AR expression varied by dose, sex, and target tissue	<u>Garcia-Reyero et al.</u> (2006b)
Immature female Sprague- Dawley rats	3 mg/kg per day	Treatments had no effect on nuclear or cytosolic ER expression	<u>Wade et al. (1997)</u>
PC12 cells (rat adrenal gland pheochromocytoma)	30 µM	Upregulation of Fgfr1, Ntrk1, and Ntrk3 expression after 72 h in culture	<u>Slotkin et al. (2010)</u>
Differentiating PC12 cells (rat adrenal gland pheochromocytoma)	30 µM	Treatment increased Avpr1b, Cckbr, and Smstr28 expression	Slotkin & Seidler (2010b)
Embryonic d14 brainstem cell cultures	10 µM	Treatments upregulate GABA(β 3) expression while expression of GABA(γ 2S) and GABA(γ 2L) expression was downregulated. GABA1 subunit expression was unaffected	<u>Liu et al. (1997b)</u>
In utero exposure, embryonic d12–17 brainstem cells		Decreased expression of GABA(α 1), GABA(β 3) and GABA(γ 1) but did not affect expression of GABA(γ 2S) and GABA(γ 2L)	<u>Liu et al. (1998)</u>
CN cultures	60 and 200 nM	200 nM of dieldrin decreased the expression of NR2A	<u>Briz et al. (2012)</u>
Testis explants	1 pM-1 nM	Both concentrations of dieldrin increased LHR expression	<u>Fowler et al. (2007)</u>
AR, androgen receptor; Avpr, argin ER, estrogen receptor; Fgfr, fibrobla subunit 2A; Ntrk, neutrophin recep	ine vasopressin recepto ast growth factor recept stor kinase; Smstr, som	r; bw, body weight; Cckbr, cholecystokinin B receptor; CGC, cerebellar granule cells; CN, corti or; GABA, a-aminobutyric acid receptor; h, hour; LHR, luteinizing hormone receptor; NR2A, g tostatin receptor	cal neuron; d, day of gestation; çlutamate (NMDA) receptor

IARC MONOGRAPHS - 117

of Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout (Tollefsen et al., 2002) and weakly bound ER α and ER β in catfish (Gale et al., 2004). Dieldrin also inhibited binding of [³H]estradiol (E₂) to the ER in a nematode species (*Panagrellus redivivus*) (Hood et al., 2000).

Androgen uptake by prostate cells in culture was adversely affected by dieldrin treatment (<u>Blend, 1975</u>), and adverse effects of dieldrin on rat thymocytes in culture have also been reported (<u>Hallegue et al., 2002</u>).

Using cultures of the rat ventral prostate, dieldrin inhibited binding of $5\alpha[{}^{3}H]$ dihydrotestosterone to the androgen receptor (Wakeling & Visek, 1973; Wakeling et al., 1973). However, other investigators were unable to demonstrate any interference of dieldrin with $5\alpha[{}^{3}H]$ dihydrotestosterone binding in the anterior prostate, seminal vesicle, kidney, and liver of mice (Schein et al., 1979).

Dieldrin has been shown to induce non-genomic effects in a rat prolactinoma cell line (GH3/B6/F10) as shown by an increase in calcium influx and prolactin release (Watson et al., 2007a). β -Hexosaminadase release from cultures of a human mast cell line were significantly increased after treatment with dieldrin at concentrations as low as 1.0 pM, an effect that was abolished in ER α knockout mouse primary mast cell cultures (Narita et al., 2007). Similar non-genomic effects have also been documented in rat GH3/BH6 cells, a pituitary tumour cell line (Wozniak et al., 2005).

Regarding other receptors, several studies have demonstrated that dieldrin affects gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA)- and *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)-mediated signalling (Lawrence & Casida, 1984; Briz et al., 2012; Martyniuk et al., 2013). The expression of other neurotrophin receptors, including neurotrophin receptor kinase 1 (Ntrk) and Ntrk 2, Ntrk 3, was significantly affected by dieldrin treatment in PC12 cells after 72 hours in culture (Slotkin et al., 2010). Dieldrin was also a ligand for PXR and CAR receptors (<u>Wei et al.,</u> 2002; <u>Zhang et al., 2004</u>).

4.2.3 Inflammation and immunosuppression

- (a) Humans
- (ii) Exposed humans

Aldrin

A cross-sectional study of agricultural workers suggested an association between pesticide exposure and immune dysfunction (Rosenberg et al., 1999). Aldrin residue in the plasma and adipose tissue of pre- and postmenopausal obese women was infrequently detected in this study population, and thus links with inflammation and cardiometabolic risk could not be established (Teixeira et al., 2015). However, maternal exposure to pesticides including aldrin and dieldrin has been associated with inflammation and dysregulation of coagulation mechanisms in infants (Schaalan et al., 2012).

Dieldrin

In a study on Inuit infants exposed perinatally to organochlorines, dieldrin exposure was associated with an increased relative risk (RR, 1.75; 95% CI, 1.05–2.91) of otitis media only in the age group 4–7 months for the highest tertile versus the lowest (<u>Dewailly et al., 2000</u>). Of note, similar effects were not elicited in infants aged 0–3 or 8–12 months.

(ii) Human cells in vitro

For aldrin, no data were available to the Working Group.

Dieldrin induced reactive oxygen species (ROS) in human neutrophils in culture (<u>Pelletier</u> et al., 2001), and lead to a calcium-dependent induction of arachidonic acid and eicosanoid production by human monocytes in culture (<u>Mangum et al., 2015</u>).

(b) Experimental system

No studies on aldrin and immune function or inflammation were available to the Working Group.

Dieldrin treatment is pro-inflammatory and drives the generation of ROS in rat neutrophils, as well as calcium-dependent induction of arachidonic acid and eicosanoid production (<u>Hewett &</u> <u>Roth, 1988; Tithof et al., 2000; Mangum et al.,</u> <u>2015</u>).

4.2.4 Oxidative stress

(a) Humans

(i) Exposed humans

Significantly higher levels of aldrin, but not dieldrin, were observed in patients with chronic kidney disease than in healthy controls. Plasma levels of malondialdehyde (MDA) and advanced oxidation protein production were positively associated with plasma levels of total organochlorine pesticides, including aldrin and dieldrin, indicating augmentation of oxidative stress with increased accumulation of organochlorine pesticides in patients with chronic kidney disease (Siddharth et al., 2012).

(ii) Human cells in vitro

No data on aldrin were available to the Working Group.

For dieldrin, several studies demonstrated ROS production in various types of human cells in vitro, reporting increased levels of oxidative markers, cell-cycle progression, and apoptosis. In human THP-1 monocyte cultures, dieldrin (10 μ M) elevated levels of intracellular ROS, as shown by dichlorofluorescence-derived fluorescence by flow cytometry (Mangum et al., 2015). Dieldrin also induced human neutrophil super-oxide dismutase (SOD) production (Pelletier et al., 2001), although dieldrin did not induce P4501A and 1B nor deplete GSH in human HepG2 cells (Dehn et al., 2005). ROS generated

by dieldrin activated the ERK pathway in human HaCaT cells (Ledirac et al., 2005), and induced caspase-3 activation leading to apoptosis via alteration of mitochondrial transmembrane permeability in human peripheral blood lymphocytes (Michałowicz et al., 2013).

(b) Experimental systems

(i) Non-human mammals in vivo

No data on aldrin were available to the Working Group.

For dieldrin, the potential to induce oxidative stress in experimental animals has been investigated in rats and mice. Hfaiedh et al. (2012) reported perturbations of oxidative stress in hepatic and renal tissues induced by dieldrin (50 mg/kg bw by gavage for 4 consecutive days), as shown by increased lipid peroxidation levels associated with increased SOD activity and decreases in glutathione peroxidase and catalase activities. Increased urinary MDA was observed in B6C3F₁ mice fed diets containing dieldrin at 0.1, 1.0, or 10 mg/kg for 7, 14, 28, or 90 days. In rats, while dieldrin had no effects on urinary MDA levels after 7, 14, or 28 days of treatment, a dose-dependent increase in urinary MDA was observed at 90 days. Only in mice fed dieldrin was there a temporal association of increases in hepatic MDA and hepatic DNA synthesis (Bachowski et al., 1998; see also Section 4.2.1). In short-term studies in mice and rats exposed to dieldrin, hepatic vitamin E was decreased in correlation with dieldrin dose. Because of normally lower levels of vitamin E in the mouse, MDA formation in the liver was found only in this species (not in the rat). Also, dieldrin produced a dose-dependent increase in DNA synthesis only in the mouse (Klaunig et al., 1995). Dieldrin (10 mg/kg) increased the liver focal lesion volume, focal lesion number, and focal lesion labelling index in B6C3F₁ mouse liver induced by diethylnitrosamine (DEN). Supplementation with vitamin E at 50 mg/kg blocked this effect (Kolaja et al., 1998). Vitamin E inhibited hepatic DNA synthesis in $B6C3F_1$ mice fed diet containing dieldrin at 1, 3, and 10 mg/kg for 7 or 28 days, but not liver enlargement, hypertrophy of centrilobular hepatocytes, or induction of hepatic ethoxyresorufin O-deethylase activity (Stevenson et al., 1995).

In studies in the brain, dieldrin caused global oxidative stress as shown by increased levels of lipid peroxidation in all brain regions in the mouse. Dieldrin also elicited increases in SOD activity and oxyguanosine glycosylase activity (Sava et al., 2007) and decreases in total glutathione (Hatcher et al., 2007) in the mouse brain.

(ii) Non-human mammalian cells in vitro

Aldrin did not generate oxygen-free radicals in rat cerebellar granule cells (Rosa et al., 1996).

Dieldrin increased concentrations of 8-OHdG (see Section 4.2.1), ROS, and MDA, and decreased cellular antioxidants in cultured mouse hepatocytes (<u>Klaunig et al., 1995</u>).

Neuronal cells, such as PC12, SN4741, and microglial cells, were used in many studies in vitro. After treatment of PC12 cells with dieldrin, ROS generation (analysed by flow cytometric analysis) was evident within 5 minutes, and lipid peroxidation was increased within 1 hour (Kitazawa et al., 2001). ROS generation was inhibited by SOD (Kitazawa et al., 2001), and lipid peroxidation increase was inhibited by ascorbate or vitamin E (Slotkin & Seidler, 2010a). Dieldrin also increased the frequency of 8-OHdG in PC12 cells (Stedeford et al., 2001), induced haem oxygenase-1 (Kim et al., 2005), and generated ROS (Chun et al., 2001) in SN4741 cells, and increased ROS in microglia cells (Mao <u>et al., 2007</u>).

(c) Non-mammalian experimental systems

The effects of aldrin on amphibian neuronal, hepatic and muscular tissue were reported to be attributable to changes in oxidative enzymes (Joseph & Rao, 1990), and ascorbic acid (vitamin C) was able to prevent aldrin toxicity in an air-breathing fish (Agrawal et al., 1978).

Dieldrin induced thiobarbituric acid reactive substances and 8-OHdG in *Sparus aurata* (Pedrajas et al., 1995, 1998; Rodríguez-Ariza et al., 1999).

4.2.5 Altered cell proliferation, cell death, or nutrient supply

- (a) Apoptosis
- (i) Humans

No data on aldrin were available to the Working Group.

Schroeder et al. (2001) (described in Section 2.1.2) reported an association of dieldrin with t(14;18)-positive, but not t(14;18)-negative, NHL. The *BCL2* gene is overexpressed in t(14;18), prolonging survival through the inhibition of apoptosis (Schroeder et al., 2001).

Dieldrin increased resistance to anoikis (apoptosis triggered by inappropriate anchorage) in the human breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231 (<u>Cameron & Foster, 2008</u>). An increase in the expression of tyrosine kinase B (TrkB), a suppressor of anoikis, by dieldrin was also demonstrated.

(ii) Experimental systems

No data on aldrin were available to the Working Group.

Dose-dependent thymic atrophy [an effect associated with apoptosis], apparently mediated by endogenous corticosteroids, was induced in rats after exposure to dieldrin in vivo (Hallegue et al., 2002). However, apoptosis was not decreased in foci by dieldrin at any concentration (0.1, 1.0, or 10.0 mg/kg diet) in rat or mouse liver (Kolaja et al., 1996). Kamendulis et al. (2001) also found no effect of dieldrin (0, 1, 3, or 10 mg/kg diet) on hepatocyte apoptosis in male F344 rats or B6C3F₁ mice after 7, 14, 28, or 90 days.

Incubation of rat thymocytes for 6 hours with dieldrin in vitro resulted in a dose-dependent decrease in cell viability comparable to that of dexamethasone (Hallegue et al., 2002). DNA fragmentation was induced by dieldrin, demonstrating apoptosis, whereas higher concentrations stimulated necrosis. Apoptosis, downregulated gap junction intracellular communication, and interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumour necrosis factor α (TNF- α) expression were induced in mouse CID-9 mammary cells exposed to dieldrin (5 or 25 μ M, up to 9 hours) (Tarraf et al., 2003).

Dieldrin treatment promoted apoptosis in a dopaminergic neuronal cell model, inducing caspase-3 activation and apoptosis in PC12 cells by generating oxidative stress (<u>Buchmann et al.</u>, 1999; <u>Kitazawa et al.</u>, 2001, 2003; <u>Slotkin et al.</u>, 2007). Overexpression of human Bcl-2 in PC12 cells completely suppressed dieldrin-induced caspase-3 activation and DNA fragmentation (<u>Kanthasamy et al.</u>, 2003; <u>Kitazawa et al.</u>, 2004).

- (b) Proliferation
- (i) Humans

Exposed humans

In a representative sample of the general population of the Canary Islands, Spain, levels of insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-I) were significantly lower in women and men with detectable levels of aldrin (Boada et al., 2007).

No data on dieldrin were available to the Working Group.

Human cells in vitro

No data on aldrin were available to the Working Group.

In a study on the effects of dieldrin on mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascades in human HaCaT cells, it was reported that dieldrin strongly activates the ERK1/2 pathway (Ledirac et al., 2005).

(ii) Experimental systems

<u>Büsser & Lutz (1987)</u> investigated stimulation of liver DNA synthesis after a single gavage dose of aldrin in rats and mice. Aldrin gave positive results only in male mice, doubling thymidine incorporation at 0.007 mmol/kg, but not in male rats or female mice.

In swine IB-RS-2 cells, aldrin (0.1–100 μ g/mL medium for 48 hours) decreased cell growth, and also decreased cellular protein, RNA, and DNA levels (<u>Rodrigues & Puga, 1979</u>).

<u>Bulayeva & Watson (2004)</u> demonstrated that dieldrin (10^{-10} to 10^{-8} M) can rapidly activate the phosphorylation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs) in the rat pituitary tumour cell line GH₃/B6/F10.

(c) Cell–cell communication

(i) Humans

No studies in exposed humans were available to the Working Group.

In human teratocarcinoma cells, dieldrin inhibited gap junctional intercellular communication at non-cytotoxic doses (Lin et al., 1986).

(ii) Experimental systems

<u>Trosko et al. (1987)</u> reported that aldrin inhibits gap junctional communication using Chinese hamster cells. Similarly, aldrin and dieldrin were shown to affect metabolic cooperation in V79 cells (<u>Kurata et al., 1982</u>).

Dieldrin (1–10 μ g/mL) inhibited intercellular communication between primary cultured hepatocytes from four different strains of male mice (B₆C₃F₁, C3H, C57BL and Balb/c strains), but not from male F344 rats (<u>Klaunig & Ruch</u>, <u>1987</u>).

4.3 Data relevant to comparisons across agents and end-points

For the results of high-throughput screening assays carried out by the Toxicity Testing in the 21st Century (Tox21) and Toxicity Forecaster (ToxCastTM) programmes of the government of the USA, see Section 4.3 of the *Monograph* on pentachlorophenol in the present volume.

4.4 Cancer susceptibility

Koutros et al. (2013a) examined single nucleotide polymorphism-environment interactions for prostate cancer susceptibility loci and pesticide exposures. For aldrin, a statistically significant increased risk (corrected for multiple comparisons) of prostate cancer was observed among men carrying two A alleles at rs7679673 in *TET2*. <u>Høyer et al. (2002)</u> examined the interaction between dieldrin exposure and *TP53* status on risk of breast cancer. No statistically significant change in risk was observed on the basis of *TP53* status, but cases with "wild-type" *TP53* had a significant increased risk of dying associated with dieldrin exposure.

4.5 Other adverse effects

Several case reports of liver toxicity and haemolytic anaemia after oral exposure to aldrin or dieldrin have been published (<u>ATSDR, 2002</u>). No additional studies in humans were available to the Working Group.

In experimental systems, liver toxicity was observed in multiple studies on aldrin or dieldrin administered orally in mice, rats, and dogs; effects observed included elevated serum enzyme levels, decreased serum proteins, hyperplasia, bile-duct proliferation, focal degeneration, and necrosis (ATSDR, 2002).

5. Summary of Data Reported

5.1 Exposure data

Aldrin and dieldrin are synthetic organochlorine pesticides that act as effective contact and ingested poisons for insects. They have been used to control infestations of pests such as ants and termites, and to control several insect vectors of disease. Commercial formulations of aldrin contain 90.3% (1R,4S,4 α S,5S,8R,8 α R)-1,2,3,4,10,10-hexachloro-1,4,4 α ,5,8,8 α -hexahydro-1,4:5,8-dimethanonaphthalene and 4.7% other insecticidally active related compounds. Commercial formulations of dieldrin contain 85% 1*R*,4*S*,4 α S,5*R*,6*R*,7*S*,8*S*,8 α *R*)-1,2,3,4,10,10hexachloro-1,4,4 α ,5,6,7,8,8 α -octahydro-6,7epoxy-1,4:5,8-dimethanonaphthalene and 15% other insecticidally active, related compounds.

Both aldrin and dieldrin have been classified as persistent organic pollutants under the Stockholm Convention, which requires parties to take measures to eliminate their production and use. Since the early 1970s, use of these two compounds have been banned or severely restricted in several countries, especially in agriculture. Use for specific purposes, including as a termiticide and for vector control, continued up to the 1980s and 1990s, when many countries implemented complete bans. Some continued use has been reported, primarily for malaria vector control.

Aldrin rapidly converts to dieldrin in the human body and in soil. Measurements of dieldrin in the body and the soil represent exposure to dieldrin, aldrin, or both. Occupational exposure to aldrin and dieldrin has been measured in aldrin- and dieldrin-manufacturing workers, agricultural workers, and pesticide-treatment workers. The highest concentrations of dieldrin were observed in insecticide-plant workers in the USA, with mean serum concentrations in aldrin, 182.5 μ g/L. Pesticide-treatment workers had

median dieldrin serum concentrations ranging from < 1 to16 μ g/L in several studies. The general population can be exposed to dieldrin and aldrin directly from residues on food, from living near areas where dieldrin or aldrin was sprayed, or from (past) use of aldrin or dieldrin for insecticide treatments in and around the home. The 95th percentile of dieldrin serum concentrations in the general population in the USA has decreased by 10 times between 1976–1980 and 2001–2004. In measurements from the 1980s until the 2010s in various countries, mean dieldrin concentrations were ~0.5–2 μ g/L in blood, 2–5 ng/g lipid in breast milk, and 17–40 ng/g lipid in adipose tissue.

5.2 Human carcinogenicity data

An important consideration in the interpretation of the studies on aldrin and dieldrin that were available to the Working Group was the type of exposure assessment used. In studies that used questionnaires, it was possible to differentiate between dieldrin and aldrin use, while in studies based on measurements in serum or adipose tissue, the dieldrin measurements may reflect exposure to aldrin and/or dieldrin.

5.2.1 Aldrin

Data were available from two cohort studies: the AHS, in which dieldrin use was assessed using questionnaires; and a cohort study of male workers at a Dutch manufacturing plant, in which combined exposure to dieldrin and/or aldrin was assessed. In the most recent update of the Dutch cohort, there was no increase in overall cancer mortality or mortality from cancer of the lung associated with total intake of aldrin and dieldrin. The AHS reported a decrease in risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) associated with aldrin use.

Three population-based case-control studies in the USA and Canada have investigated the

association between NHL and exposure to aldrin, and reported conflicting results. The only statistically significant positive finding was based on results for 10 cases who had ever handled aldrin in a study in Canada.

A study of cancer of the breast among wives of pesticide applicators in the AHS showed increased risk associated with use of aldrin by the husband, but not by the wife, although the latter finding was based on results for only four cases. A case-control study on cancer of the breast that was nested within the Janus cohort in Norway found only three serum samples that contained aldrin at above the detection limit, with an odds ratio of 0.5. A case-control study on cancer of the breast and pesticide exposures in Spain reported increased risk associated with adipose tissue levels of aldrin at greater than the limit of detection, but this result was difficult to interpret because of the unexpected finding that aldrin was detected more frequently than dieldrin.

One case-control study investigated the association between soft tissue sarcoma and exposure to aldrin, and another study reported on the association between leukaemia and exposure to aldrin.

Because of the inconsistent results reported in studies on NHL and cancer of the breast, the different study designs used, different countries in which the studies were set, and the small number of studies available for other cancer sites, together with the small number of cases exposed to aldrin in most studies, the Working Group concluded that there were insufficient data to draw a conclusion regarding carcinogenicity associated with exposure to aldrin.

5.2.2 Dieldrin

Data were available from two cohort studies: the AHS, in which dieldrin use was assessed using questionnaires; and a cohort study of male workers at a Dutch manufacturing plant in which combined exposure to dieldrin and/or aldrin was assessed. There were also several case-control studies nested within large population cohorts, and most of these reported levels of serum dieldrin that had been measured at baseline. Other case-control studies either used questionnaires or measured serum dieldrin concentrations at the time of recruitment (after diagnosis for cases).

Two or more studies considered other cancers including NHL, leukaemia, and cancers of the breast, prostate, or lung; the results of these studies are discussed below.

(a) Cancer of the breast

Two nested case-control studies with very similar methods assessed serum dieldrin concentrations in samples taken at baseline. The Danish study found a doubling in risk of cancer of the breast for the highest quartile of exposure, with a strong dose-response relationship limited to subjects with estrogen-receptor-negative (ER-) tumours. The Norwegian study found no increase in risk (but had fewer cases). The case-control study of cancer of the breast in Long Island, USA, found risk of breast cancer to be increased for the highest quintile of serum dieldrin concentration measured at diagnosis, but this was not statistically significant. In the AHS, risk of breast cancer in wives of pesticide licensees was statistically significantly doubled if the husband had ever used dieldrin. The number of wives who had used dieldrin themselves was too small to provide meaningful results. The Working Group considered that there was evidence for an association between dieldrin and cancer of the breast, but that chance, bias, and confounding could not be ruled out.

(b) Non-Hodgkin lymphoma

In two studies in the USA that measured biomarkers, no increase in risk of NHL was seen with serum dieldrin concentration measured at time of diagnosis in the case–control study, nor at enrolment in the cohort study. In a study in the USA that used stored adipose tissue mainly from cadavers, the highest quartile of dieldrin concentration at time of death was significantly associated with an increased risk of NHL. In questionnaire studies, the AHS cohort study reported that ever use of dieldrin was not associated with an increase in NHL or in any NHL subtype, including multiple myeloma. The casecontrol study in the midwest USA (De Roos et al., 2003) found an elevated risk of NHL associated with dieldrin use, although the effect estimate was not statistically significant.

(c) Other cancers

For leukaemia, the AHS found a non-statistically significant increase in risk for ever use of dieldrin, while an older case-control study found no increase in risk among subjects who had ever used dieldrin. Dieldrin exposure was not associated with cancer of the prostate in two studies, nor was it associated with cancer of the colorectum in the two cohort studies. Lung cancer risk was increased with dieldrin use in the AHS, but not in the Dutch cohort study. Only one study was available for cancer of the bladder, melanoma, or for cancer of the pancreas, and no associations with dieldrin were reported.

5.3 Animal carcinogenicity data

5.3.1 Aldrin

Three studies in mice fed diets containing aldrin were available to the Working Group: two studies in males and females combined, and one study in males and females considered separately. Aldrin increased the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in both studies in males and females combined, and in males only in the study in males and females considered separately.

Five studies in rats fed diets containing aldrin were available to the Working Group: one study in males and females combined, and four studies in males and females considered separately. In one study in males and females considered separately, there was an increase in the incidence of tumours of the thyroid in males and females, and in the incidence of tumours of the pancreas in males and of the adrenal gland in females. These increases were not considered to be treatment-related, because they were significant only for groups at the lower dose, and only when compared with pooled controls. No significant increase in the incidence of neoplasms was observed in three other studies, and an additional study in males and females separately was judged inadequate for the evaluation.

5.3.2 Dieldrin

Sixteen studies in mice fed diets containing dieldrin were available to the Working Group: two studies in males and females combined, six studies in males only (one was judged inadequate for the evaluation), and eight studies (including one co-carcinogenicity study) in males and females considered separately. Dieldrin increased the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma and/or hepatocellular adenoma or carcinoma (combined) in males and females in most of these studies. In one additional study in female transgenic offspring mice treated with dieldrin by gavage in addition to transplacental exposure and exposure throughout lactation, there was an increase in the multiplicity of tumours of the thoracic mammary gland (mainly adenocarcinomas). In another study, in male mice exposed to dieldrin by gavage and/or in the diet, there was an increase in the incidence of hepatocellular tumours when mice were exposed to dieldrin by gavage and in the diet.

Six studies in rats fed diets containing dieldrin were available to the Working Group: one study in males and females combined and five studies (one was judged inadequate for the evaluation) in males and females considered separately. In one study in males and females separately, there was an increase in the incidence of tumours of the adrenal gland in females. This increase was not considered to be treatment-related, because it was significant only for the group at the lower dose, and only when compared with pooled controls. No significantly increased incidence of neoplasms was observed in the other studies.

One study in male and female hamsters fed diets containing dieldrin gave negative results. One study in male rhesus monkeys fed diets containing dieldrin gave negative results. One study in dogs fed diets containing dieldrin was judged inadequate for the evaluation.

5.4 Mechanistic and other relevant data

Absorption of aldrin and dieldrin in humans has been documented after occupational and non-occupational exposures. Both compounds are detected in the blood and in adipose tissue biopsies. Gastrointestinal and percutaneous absorption have been reported in studies in human volunteers. In studies in experimental animals, absorption occurs readily via oral and dermal routes. In all species, aldrin and dieldrin are rapidly distributed by blood circulation to systemic tissues, with adipose tissue being an important storage depot. Metabolism of aldrin involves its rapid conversion to the epoxide-containing dieldrin, but there are no data to suggest that dieldrin forms protein or DNA adducts. Subsequently, dieldrin is very slowly metabolized to polar glucuronide metabolites that are excreted in the bile and, to a lesser degree, in the urine. The blood half-life of dieldrin in humans is about 1 year. The slow excretion of dieldrin is attributed to inefficient metabolism and to sequestration in adipose tissue.

With respect to the key characteristics of carcinogens, adequate data were available to evaluate whether dieldrin is genotoxic, modulates receptor-mediated effects, induces inflammation, is immunosuppressive, induces oxidative stress, and alters cell proliferation, cell death, or nutrient supply. For aldrin, the available data were sparse or inconsistent.

There is *weak* evidence that aldrin is genotoxic. No effect was seen in human lymphocytes from exposed populations, on end-points such as DNA damage and strand breaks. Aldrin also gave negative results in human lymphocytes treated in vitro, and in other experimental systems (animals in vivo, bacteria, and plants).

There is *moderate* evidence that dieldrin is genotoxic. The frequency of chromosomal aberrations was not increased in exposed workers, and two studies in human cell lines were not informative. Chromosomal aberrations (at toxic exposures) and micronucleus formation were induced in the bone marrow of male mice, but not in Chinese hamsters. Levels of 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) were elevated in the urine, but not in the liver, of male mice fed diets containing dieldrin for up to 90 days. In vitro, dieldrin increased the formation of 8-OHdG in mouse hepatocytes and PC12 cells, but not in rat hepatocytes. Findings of mutations and micronucleus formation in mammalian cells may have been compromised by excessive toxicity.

There is *weak* evidence that aldrin modulates receptor-mediated effects. Aldrin did not bind the estrogen receptor or activate estrogen receptor-mediated signalling pathways. Results were conflicting in two studies on activation of the human retinoic acid receptor.

There is *moderate* evidence that dieldrin modulates receptor-mediated effects, on the basis of anti-estrogenic effects in complementary assay systems in vitro. Dieldrin is a ligand for the xenobiotic receptors constitutive androstane receptor (CAR) and pregnane X receptor (PXR), resulting in increased transcription of cytochrome P450 2B and 3A genes.

There is *weak* evidence that aldrin induces oxidative stress, based on sparse data; the evidence is *moderate* for dieldrin. No studies in exposed humans or human primary cells in vitro were available, but dieldrin induced production of reactive oxygen species in several studies in human cell lines. In rodents fed dieldrin, levels of various markers of oxidative stress were increased. Supplementation with vitamin E blocked mouse liver focal-lesion enhancement by dieldrin after initiation with diethylnitrosamine.

There is *weak* evidence that aldrin induces chronic inflammation and is immunosuppressive; the evidence is *moderate* for dieldrin. Maternal exposure to multiple chlorinated pesticides, including aldrin and dieldrin, was associated with inflammation and dysregulation of coagulation mechanisms in infants. Dieldrin stimulated an oxidative burst in human THP-1 monocytes and in rat neutrophils.

No studies on aldrin were available, and there is *moderate* evidence that dieldrin alters cell proliferation, cell death, or nutrient supply. Although no studies in exposed humans were available, dieldrin increased resistance to anoikis (apoptosis triggered by inappropriate anchorage) in a human breast-cancer cell line, MDA-MB-231. Dieldrin induced dose-dependent thymic atrophy (an effect associated with apoptosis) in rats. Dieldrin strongly activated the ERK1/2 pathway in human HaCaT cells.

In high-throughput testing in the Toxicity Testing in the 21st Century and Toxicity Forecaster research programmes of the USA government, aldrin and dieldrin were active for multiple assay end-points measuring markers of oxidative stress. Aldrin and dieldrin were cytotoxic in cell lines and primary cells, and were also active for many assay end-points related to modulation of receptor-mediated effects that may be related to cytotoxicity.

Few data were available concerning cancer susceptibility. The liver was consistently identified as a target organ of toxicity and carcinogenicity.

6. Evaluation

6.1 Cancer in humans

There is *inadequate evidence* in humans for the carcinogenicity of aldrin.

There is *limited evidence* in humans for the carcinogenicity of dieldrin. A positive association has been observed between dieldrin and cancer of the breast.

6.2 Cancer in experimental animals

There is *sufficient evidence* in experimental animals for the carcinogenicity of aldrin.

There is *sufficient evidence* in experimental animals for the carcinogenicity of dieldrin.

6.3 Overall evaluation

Dieldrin, and aldrin metabolized to dieldrin, is *probably carcinogenic to humans (Group 2A)*.

6.4 Rationale

Because aldrin is rapidly metabolized to dieldrin in humans and experimental animals, exposure to aldrin always leads to internal exposure to dieldrin. Therefore, for the evaluation of aldrin, the evidence on the carcinogenicity of dieldrin was taken into account.

References

- Abbassy MS, Ibrahim HZ, el-Amayem MM (1999). Occurrence of pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls in water of the Nile river at the estuaries of Rosetta and Damiatta branches, north of Delta, Egypt. *J Environ Sci HealthB*,34(2):255–67.doi:<u>10.1080/03601239909373196</u> PMID:<u>10192956</u>
- Abbott DC, Harrison RB, Tatton JO, Thomson J (1966). Organochlorine pesticides in the atmosphere. *Nature*, 211(5046):259–61. doi:10.1038/211259a0 PMID:4164919

- Abbott DC, Holmes DC, Tatton JO (1969). Pesticide residues in the total diet in England and Wales, 1966-1967. II. Organochlorine pesticide residues in the total diet. *J Sci Food Agric*, 20(4):245–9. doi:<u>10.1002/</u> jsfa.2740200414 PMID:<u>5782397</u>
- Abdelsalam EB, Ford EJ (1986). Effect of pretreatment with hepatic microsomal enzyme inducers on the toxicity of diazinon in calves. *Res Vet Sci*, 41(3):336–9. doi:<u>10.1016/</u> <u>S0034-5288(18)30626-X</u> PMID:<u>3809724</u>
- Adeshina F, Todd EL (1990). Organochlorine compounds in human adipose tissue from north Texas. J Toxicol Environ Health, 29(2):147–56. doi:10.1080/15287399009531379 PMID:1688952
- Agrawal NK, Juneja CJ, Mahajan CL (1978). Protective role of ascorbic acid in fishes exposed to organochlorine pollution. *Toxicology*, 11(4):369–75. doi:<u>10.1016/S0300-483X(78)92239-4</u> PMID:<u>749273</u>
- Ahmad N, Harsas W, Marolt RS, Morton M, Pollack JK (1988). Total DDT and dieldrin content of human adipose tissue. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol, 41(6):802–8. doi:10.1007/BF02021037 PMID:3233379
- Ahmed FE, Hart RW, Lewis NJ (1977a). Pesticide induced DNA damage and its repair in cultured human cells. *Mutat Res*, 42(2):161–74. doi:<u>10.1016/S0027-5107(77)80020-1</u> PMID:<u>190533</u>
- Ahmed FE, Lewis NJ, Hart RW (1977b). Pesticide induced ouabain resistant mutants in Chinese hamster V79 cells. *Chem Biol Interact*, 19(3):369–74. doi:<u>10.1016/0009-2797(77)90059-X</u> PMID:<u>413633</u>
- Alavanja MC, Hofmann JN, Lynch CF, Hines CJ, Barry KH, Barker J, et al. (2014). Non-hodgkin lymphoma risk and insecticide, fungicide and fumigant use in the agricultural health study. *PLoS One*, 9(10):e109332. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0109332 PMID:25337994
- Alegria HA, Bidleman TF, Shaw TJ (2000). Organochlorine pesticides in ambient air of Belize, Central America. *Environ Sci Technol*, 34(10):1953–8. doi:<u>10.1021/</u> <u>es990982b</u>
- Alvarado-Hernandez DL, Montero-Montoya R, Serrano-García L, Arellano-Aguilar O, Jasso-Pineda Y, Yáñez-Estrada L (2013). Assessment of exposure to organochlorine pesticides and levels of DNA damage in mother-infant pairs of an agrarian community. *Environ Mol Mutagen*, 54(2):99–111. doi:10.1002/ em.21753 PMID:23355095
- Amoateng-Adjepong Y, Sathiakumar N, Delzell E, Cole P (1995). Mortality among workers at a pesticide manufacturing plant. *J Occup Environ Med*, 37(4):471–8. doi:10.1097/00043764-199504000-00020 PMID:7670904
- Andersen HR, Vinggaard AM, Rasmussen TH, Gjermandsen IM, Bonefeld-Jørgensen EC (2002). Effects of currently used pesticides in assays for estrogenicity, androgenicity, and aromatase activity in vitro. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 179(1):1–12. doi:10.1006/ taap.2001.9347 PMID:11884232

- Arcaro KF, Vakharia DD, Yang Y, Gierthy JF (1998). Lack of synergy by mixtures of weakly estrogenic hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls and pesticides. *Environ Health Perspect*, 106(Suppl 4):1041–6. doi:10.1289/ ehp.98106s41041 PMID:9703490
- Arnold SF, Vonier PM, Collins BM, Klotz DM, Guillette LJ Jr, McLachlan JA (1997). In vitro synergistic interaction of alligator and human estrogen receptors with combinations of environmental chemicals. *Environ Health Perspect*, 105(Suppl 3):615–8. doi:10.1289/ ehp.97105s3615 PMID:9168004
- ATSDR (2002). Toxicological profile for aldrin/dieldrin. Atlanta (GA), USA: Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Available from: <u>http://www.atsdr.</u> <u>cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp1.pdf</u>, accessed 8 August 2016.
- Bachowski S, Xu Y, Stevenson DE, Walborg EF Jr, Klaunig JE (1998). Role of oxidative stress in the selective toxicity of dieldrin in the mouse liver. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 150(2):301–9. doi:10.1006/taap.1998.8372 PMID:9653061
- Bäckström J, Hansson E, Ullberg S (1965). Distribution of C14-Ddt and C14-Dieldrin in pregnant mice determined by whole-body autoradiography. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 7(1):90–6. doi:<u>10.1016/0041-008X(65)90079-7</u> PMID:<u>14256608</u>
- Baldwin MK, Robinson J, Parke DV (1972). A comparison of the metabolism of HEOD (dieldrin) in the CF1 mouse with that in the CFE rat. *Food Cosmet Toxicol*, 10(3):333–51. doi:10.1016/S0015-6264(72)80252-9 PMID:5045677
- Barber DS, McNally AJ, Garcia-Reyero N, Denslow ND (2007). Exposure to p,p'-DDE or dieldrin during the reproductive season alters hepatic CYP expression in largemouth bass (Micropterus salmoides). *Aquat Toxicol*, 81(1):27–35. doi:10.1016/j.aquatox.2006.10.008 PMID:17145087
- Baris D, Kwak LW, Rothman N, Wilson W, Manns A, Tarone RE, et al. (2000). Blood levels of organochlorines before and after chemotherapy among non-Hodgkin's lymphoma patients. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 9(2):193–7. PMID:<u>10698481</u>
- Bartell SM, Griffith WC, Faustman EM (2004). Temporal error in biomarker-based mean exposure estimates for individuals. J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol, 14(2):173–9. doi:10.1038/sj.jea.7500311 PMID:15014548
- Bauer-Hofmann R, Buchmann A, Mahr J, Kress S, Schwarz M (1992). The tumour promoters dieldrin and phenobarbital increase the frequency of c-Ha-ras wild-type, but not of c-Ha-ras mutated focal liver lesions in male C3H/He mice. *Carcinogenesis*, 13(3):477–81. doi:10.1093/carcin/13.3.477 PMID:1312398
- Bauer-Hofmann R, Buchmann A, Wright AS, Schwarz M (1990). Mutations in the Ha-ras proto-oncogene in spontaneous and chemically induced liver tumours of the CF1 mouse. *Carcinogenesis*, 11(10):1875–7. doi:10.1093/carcin/11.10.1875 PMID:2119910

- Bevenue A, Hylin JW, Kawano Y, Kelley TW (1972). Organochlorine pesticide residues in water, sediment, algae, and fish. Hawaii–1970-71. *Pestic Monit J*, 6(1):56– 64. PMID:4115671
- Beyer WN, Gale RW (2013). Persistence and changes in bioavailability of dieldrin, DDE, and heptachlor epoxide in earthworms over 45 years. *Ambio*, 42(1):83–9. doi:<u>10.1007/s13280-012-0340-z</u> PMID:<u>23001942</u>
- Blend MJ (1975). In vitro uptake of labeled androgens by prostate tissue in the presence of dieldrin. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 13(1):80–5. doi:<u>10.1007/BF01684868</u> PMID:<u>165843</u>
- Boada LD, Lara PC, Alvarez-León EE, Losada A, Zumbado ML, Limiñana-Cañal JM, et al. (2007). Serum levels of insulin-like growth factor-I in relation to organochlorine pesticides exposure. *Growth Horm IGF Res*, 17(6):506–11. doi:<u>10.1016/j.ghir.2007.05.004</u> PMID:<u>17601760</u>
- Boada LD, Zumbado M, Henríquez-Hernández LA, Almeida-González M, Alvarez-León EE, Serra-Majem L, et al. (2012). Complex organochlorine pesticide mixtures as determinant factor for breast cancer risk: a population-based case-control study in the Canary Islands (Spain). *Environ Health*, 11(1):28. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-11-28 PMID:22534004
- Bonner MR, Beane Freeman LE, Hoppin JA, Koutros S, Sandler DP, Lynch CF, et al. (2017). Occupational exposure to pesticides and the incidence of lung cancer in the Agricultural Health Study. *Environ Health Perspect*, 125(4):544–551. doi:10.1289/EHP456 PMID:27384818
- Botella B, Crespo J, Rivas A, Cerrillo I, Olea-Serrano MF, Olea N (2004). Exposure of women to organochlorine pesticides in Southern Spain. *Environ Res*, 96(1):34–40. doi:<u>10.1016/j.envres.2003.10.001</u> PMID:<u>15261782</u>
- Bouvier G, Blanchard O, Momas I, Seta N (2006). Pesticide exposure of non-occupationally exposed subjects compared to some occupational exposure: a French pilot study. *Sci Total Environ*, 366(1):74–91. doi:<u>10.1016/j.scitotenv.2005.08.016</u> PMID:<u>16181660</u>
- Bradman A, Whitaker D, Quirós L, Castorina R, Claus Henn B, Nishioka M, et al. (2007). Pesticides and their metabolites in the homes and urine of farmworker children living in the Salinas Valley, CA. *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol*, 17(4):331–49. doi:10.1038/sj.jes.7500507 PMID:16736054
- Bräuner EV, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Gaudreau E, Leblanc A, Tjønneland A, Overvad K, et al. (2012). Predictors of adipose tissue concentrations of organochlorine pesticides in a general Danish population. *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol*, 22(1):52–9. doi:<u>10.1038/jes.2011.39</u> PMID:<u>22044925</u>
- Briz V, Molina-Molina JM, Sánchez-Redondo S, Fernández MF, Grimalt JO, Olea N, et al. (2011). Differential estrogenic effects of the persistent organochlorine pesticides dieldrin, endosulfan, and lindane in primary neuronal

cultures. *Toxicol Sci*, 120(2):413–27. doi:<u>10.1093/toxsci/kfr019</u> PMID:<u>21278053</u>

- Briz V, Parkash J, Sánchez-Redondo S, Prevot V, Suñol C (2012). Allopregnanolone prevents dieldrin-induced NMDA receptor internalization and neurotoxicity by preserving GABA(A) receptor function. *Endocrinology*, 153(2):847–60. doi:10.1210/en.2011-1333 PMID:22166974
- Brock JW, Melnyk LJ, Caudill SP, Needham LL, Bond AE (1998). Serum levels of several organochlorine pesticides in farmers correspond with dietary exposure and local use history. *Toxicol Ind Health*, 14(1-2):275–89. doi:10.1177/074823379801400117 PMID:9460180
- Brown DP (1992). Mortality of workers employed at organochlorine pesticide manufacturing plants-an update. *Scand J Work Environ Health*, 18(3):155-61. doi:<u>10.5271/sjweh.1593</u> PMID:<u>1615289</u>
- Brown LM, Blair A, Gibson R, Everett GD, Cantor KP, Schuman LM, et al. (1990). Pesticide exposures and other agricultural risk factors for leukemia among men in Iowa and Minnesota. *Cancer Res*, 50(20):6585–91. PMID:2208120
- Brown VK, Hunter CG, Richardson A (1964). A blood test diagnostic of exposure to aldrin and dieldrin. *Br J Ind Med*, 21:283–6. PMID:<u>14249897</u>
- Buchmann A, Willy C, Buenemann CL, Stroh C, Schmiechen A, Schwarz M (1999). Inhibition of transforming growth factor beta1-induced hepatoma cell apoptosis by liver tumor promoters: characterization of primary signaling events and effects on CPP32like caspase activity. *Cell Death Differ*, 6(2):190–200. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4400475 PMID:10200566
- Bulayeva NN, Watson CS (2004). Xenoestrogen-induced ERK-1 and ERK-2 activation via multiple membrane-initiated signaling pathways. *Environ Health Perspect*, 112(15):1481–7. doi:10.1289/ehp.7175 PMID:15531431
- Büsser MT, Lutz WK (1987). Stimulation of DNA synthesis in rat and mouse liver by various tumor promoters. *Carcinogenesis*, 8(10):1433–7. doi:10.1093/carcin/8.10.1433 PMID:2443263
- Buteau-Lozano H, Velasco G, Cristofari M, Balaguer P, Perrot-Applanat M (2008). Xenoestrogens modulate vascular endothelial growth factor secretion in breast cancer cells through an estrogen receptor-dependent mechanism. *J Endocrinol*, 196(2):399–412. doi:<u>10.1677/</u> JOE-07-0198 PMID:<u>18252963</u>
- Cabral JRP, Hall RK, Bronczyk SA, Shubik P (1979). A carcinogenicity study of pesticide dieldrin in hamsters. *Cancer Lett*, 6(4-5):241–6. doi:<u>10.1016/S0304-3835(79)80040-3</u> PMID:<u>436118</u>
- California Department of Agriculture (1972). Pesticide use report, 1971. Sacramento (CA), USA; pp. 62–63.
- California Department of Agriculture (1973). Pesticide use report, 1972. Sacramento (CA), USA; pp. 67–68.

- Cameron HL, Foster WG (2008). Dieldrin promotes resistance to anoikis in breast cancer cells in vitro. *Reprod Toxicol*, 25(2):256–62. doi:<u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>reprotox.2007.11.013</u> PMID:<u>18242054</u>
- Cameron HL, Foster WG (2009). Developmental and lactational exposure to dieldrin alters mammary tumorigenesis in Her2/neu transgenic mice. *PLoS One*, 4(1):e4303. doi:<u>10.1371/journal.pone.0004303</u> PMID:<u>19173004</u>
- Campbell MA, Gyorkos J, Leece B, Homonko K, Safe S (1983). The effects of twenty-two organochlorine pesticides as inducers of the hepatic drug-metabolizing enzymes. *Gen Pharmacol*, 14(4):445–54. doi:10.1016/0306-3623(83)90028-9 PMID:6618147
- Cantor KP, Blair A, Everett G, Gibson R, Burmeister LF, Brown LM, et al. (1992). Pesticides and other agricultural risk factors for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma among men in Iowa and Minnesota. *Cancer Res*, 52(9):2447– 55. PMID:<u>1568215</u>
- Cantor KP, Strickland PT, Brock JW, Bush D, Helzlsouer K, Needham LL, et al. (2003). Risk of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and prediagnostic serum organochlorines: β-hexachlorocyclohexane, chlordane/heptachlor-related compounds, dieldrin, and hexachlorobenzene. *Environ Health Perspect*, 111(2):179–83. doi:<u>10.1289/</u> <u>ehp.4347</u> PMID:<u>12573902</u>
- Carreño J, Rivas A, Granada A, Jose Lopez-Espinosa M, Mariscal M, Olea N, et al. (2007). Exposure of young men to organochlorine pesticides in Southern Spain. *Environ Res*, 103(1):55–61. doi:<u>10.1016/j.envres.2006.06.007</u> PMID:<u>16889768</u>
- Carvalho PN, Rodrigues PN, Basto MC, Vasconcelos MT (2009). Organochlorine pesticides levels in Portuguese coastal areas. *Chemosphere*, 75(5):595–600. doi:<u>10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.01.060</u> PMID:<u>19243810</u>
- CDC (2009). Fourth national report on human exposure to environmental chemicals. Atlanta (GA), USA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Available from: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/exposurereport/pdf/fourthreport.</u> <u>pdf</u>.
- Cerrillo I, Olea-Serrano MF, Ibarluzea J, Exposito J, Torne P, Laguna J, et al. (2006). Environmental and lifestyle factors for organochlorine exposure among women living in Southern Spain. *Chemosphere*, 62(11):1917–24. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.07.024 PMID:16153679
- Charles GD, Gennings C, Zacharewski TR, Gollapudi BB, Carney EW (2002). Assessment of interactions of diverse ternary mixtures in an estrogen receptor-alpha reporter assay. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 180(1):11–21. doi:10.1006/taap.2001.9346 PMID:11922773
- Chem Sources (2016). Chem Sources Online, Chemical Sources International, Inc. Available from: <u>http://www.</u> <u>chemsources.com</u>, accessed October 2016.

- Chemical Information Services Ltd. (1973). Directory of West European chemical producers. Oceanside (NY), USA: Chemical Information Services Ltd.
- Chipman JK, Kurukgy M, Walker CH (1979). Comparative metabolism of a dieldrin analogue: hepatic microsomal systems as models for metabolism in the whole animal. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 28(1):69–75. doi:<u>10.1016/0006-2952(79)90272-7</u> PMID:<u>758912</u>
- Chipman JK, Walker CH (1979). The metabolism of dieldrin and two of its analogues: the relationship between rates of microsomal metabolism and rates of excretion of metabolites in the male rat. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 28(8):1337–45. doi:<u>10.1016/0006-2952(79)90435-0</u> PMID:<u>444300</u>
- Chun HS, Gibson GE, DeGiorgio LA, Zhang H, Kidd VJ, Son JH (2001). Dopaminergic cell death induced by MPP(+), oxidant and specific neurotoxicants shares the common molecular mechanism. *J Neurochem*, 76(4):1010–21. doi:<u>10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.00096.x</u> PMID:11181820
- Cicchetti R, Argentin G (2003). The role of oxidative stress in the in vitro induction of micronuclei by pesticides in mouse lung fibroblasts. *Mutagenesis*, 18(2):127–32. doi:10.1093/mutage/18.2.127 PMID:12621067
- Cicchetti R, Bari M, Argentin G (1999). Induction of micronuclei in bone marrow by two pesticides and their differentiation with CREST staining: an in vivo study in mice. *Mutat Res*, 439(2):239–48. doi:10.1016/S1383-5718(98)00185-5 PMID:10023071
- Clark CR, Krieger RI (1976). beta-Diethylaminoethyl-diphenylpropylacetate (SKF 525-A) enhancement of tissue accumulation of aldrin in mice. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 38(2):315–23. doi:<u>10.1016/0041-008X(76)90138-1</u> PMID:<u>996862</u>
- Clary T, Ritz B (2003). Pancreatic cancer mortality and organochlorine pesticide exposure in California, 1989-1996. *Am J Ind Med*, 43(3):306–13. doi:<u>10.1002/</u> <u>ajim.10188</u> PMID:<u>12594778</u>
- Cleveland FP (1966). A summary of work on aldrin and dieldrin toxicity at the Kettering Laboratory. *Arch Environ Health*, 13(2):195–8. doi:<u>10.1080/00039896.19</u> <u>66.10664532</u> PMID:<u>5968501</u>
- Cocco P, Brennan P, Ibba A, de Sanjosé Llongueras S, Maynadié M, Nieters A, et al. (2008). Plasma polychlorobiphenyl and organochlorine pesticide level and risk of major lymphoma subtypes. *Occup Environ Med*, 65(2):132–40. doi:<u>10.1136/oem.2007.033548</u> PMID:<u>17699548</u>
- Cole JF, Klevay LM, Zavon MR (1970). Endrin and dieldrin: a comparison of hepatic excretion in the rat. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 16(2):547–55. doi:<u>10.1016/0041-</u> <u>008X(70)90030-X</u> PMID:<u>5435621</u>
- Connell DW, Miller G, Anderson S (2002). Chlorohydrocarbon pesticides in the Australian marine environment after banning in the period from

the 1970s to 1980s. *Mar Pollut Bull*, 45(1-12):78–83. doi:<u>10.1016/S0025-326X(02)00131-5</u> PMID:<u>12398370</u>

- Cooke GM, Newsome WH, Bondy GS, Arnold DL, Tanner JR, Robertson P, et al. (2001). The mammalian testis accumulates lower levels of organochlorine chemicals compared with other tissues. *Reprod Toxicol*, 15(3):333–8. doi:<u>10.1016/S0890-6238(01)00126-5</u> PMID:<u>11390177</u>
- Coumoul X, Diry M, Barouki R (2002). PXR-dependent induction of human CYP3A4 gene expression by organochlorine pesticides. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 64(10):1513–9. doi:<u>10.1016/S0006-2952(02)01298-4</u> PMID:<u>12417264</u>
- Crebelli R, Bellincampi D, Conti G, Conti L, Morpurgo G, Carere A (1986). A comparative study on selected chemical carcinogens for chromosome malsegregation, mitotic crossing-over and forward mutation induction in Aspergillus nidulans. *Mutat Res*, 172(2):139–49. doi:10.1016/0165-1218(86)90070-4 PMID:3531838
- Cuadra SN, Linderholm L, Athanasiadou M, Jakobsson K (2006). Persistent organochlorine pollutants in children working at a waste-disposal site and in young females with high fish consumption in Managua, Nicaragua. *Ambio*, 35(3):109–16. doi:10.1579/0044-7447(2006)35[1 09:POPICW]2.0.CO;2 PMID:16846198
- Dail MB, Burgess SC, Meek EC, Wagner J, Baravik J, Chambers JE (2007). Spatial distribution of CYP2B1/2 messenger RNA within the rat liver acinus following exposure to the inducers phenobarbital and dieldrin. *Toxicol Sci*, 99(1):35–42. doi:<u>10.1093/toxsci/kfm129</u> PMID:<u>17517822</u>
- Danish National Board of Health (1999). Contents of dioxins, PCBs and some organochlorine pesticides, mercury and selenium in milk of Danish women 1993–1994. Available from: <u>http://sundhedsstyrelsen.dk/publ/publ1999/modermaelk/clean.htm</u>. [Danish]
- Davies JE, Edmundson WF, Raffonelli A (1975). The role of house dust in human DDT pollution. *Am J Public Health*, 65(1):53–7. doi:<u>10.2105/AJPH.65.1.53</u> PMID:<u>233977</u>
- Davis KJ (1965). Pathology report on mice fed aldrin, dieldrin, heptachlor or heptachlor epoxide for two years. Internal FDA memorandum to Dr AJ Lehman.
- Davis KJ, Fitzhugh OG (1962). Tumorigenic potential of aldrin and dieldrin for mice. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 4(Mar):187–9. doi:<u>10.1016/0041-008X(62)90056-X</u> PMID:<u>13883935</u>
- Davison KL, Sell JL (1972). Dieldrin and p,p'-DDT effects on some microsomal enzymes of livers of chickens and mallard ducks. *J Agric Food Chem*, 20(6):1198–205. doi:10.1021/jf60184a043 PMID:5083525
- De Flora S, Camoirano A, Izzotti A, D'Agostini F, Bennicelli C (1989). Photoactivation of mutagens. *Carcinogenesis*, 10(6):1089–97. doi:10.1093/ carcin/10.6.1089 PMID:2655963

- de Jong G (1991). Long-term health effects of aldrin and dieldrin. A study of exposure, health effects and mortality of workers engaged in the manufacture and formulation of the insecticides aldrin and dieldrin. *Toxicol Lett*, (Suppl 1):1–206. PMID:2014520
- de Jong G, Swaen GM, Slangen JJ (1997). Mortality of workers exposed to dieldrin and aldrin: a retrospective cohort study. Occup Environ Med, 54(10):702–7. doi:10.1136/oem.54.10.702 PMID:9404316
- De Roos AJ, Hartge P, Lubin JH, Colt JS, Davis S, Cerhan JR, et al. (2005). Persistent organochlorine chemicals in plasma and risk of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Cancer Res*, 65(23):11214–26. doi:<u>10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1755</u> PMID:<u>16322272</u>
- De Roos AJ, Zahm SH, Cantor KP, Weisenburger DD, Holmes FF, Burmeister LF, et al. (2003). Integrative assessment of multiple pesticides as risk factors for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma among men. *Occup Environ Med*, 60(9):E11. doi:<u>10.1136/oem.60.9.e11</u> PMID:<u>12937207</u>
- Dean BJ, Doak SM, Somerville H (1975). The potential mutagenicity of dieldrin (HEOD) in mammals. *Food Cosmet Toxicol*, 13(3):317–23. doi:10.1016/S0015-6264(75)80292-6 PMID:1098983
- Decloître F, Chauveau J, Benoit A, Martin M (1975). [Metabolism and in vitro binding of several organochlorine and organophosphate pesticides to calf thymus DNA and rat liver microsomal proteins] *C R Acad Sci Hebd Seances Acad Sci D*, 280(8):1027–30. [French] PMID:51693
- Dehn PF, Allen-Mocherie S, Karek J, Thenappan A (2005). Organochlorine insecticides: impacts on human HepG2 cytochrome P4501A, 2B activities and glutathione levels. *Toxicol In Vitro*, 19(2):261–73. doi:10.1016/j.tiv.2004.10.002 PMID:15649640
- Deichmann WB, Keplinger M, Sala F, Glass E (1967). Synergism among oral carcinogens. IV. The simultaneous feeding of four tumorigens to rats. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 11(1):88–103. doi:10.1016/0041-008X(67)90030-0 PMID:6056159
- Deichmann WB, MacDonald WE, Blum E, Bevilacqua M, Radomski J, Keplinger M, et al. (1970). Tumorigenicity of aldrin, dieldrin and endrin in the albino rat. *IMS Ind Med Surg*, 39(10):426–34. PMID:<u>5273430</u>
- Delgado IF, Barretto HH, Kussumi TA, Alleluia IB, Baggio CA, Paumgartten FJ (2002). Serum levels of organochlorine pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls among inhabitants of Greater Metropolitan Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Cad Saude Publica, 18(2):519–24. doi:10.1590/S0102-311X2002000200017 PMID:11923894
- Dewailly E, Ayotte P, Bruneau S, Gingras S, Belles-Isles M, Roy R (2000). Susceptibility to infections and immune status in Inuit infants exposed to organochlorines. *Environ Health Perspect*, 108(3):205–11. doi:10.1289/ ehp.00108205 PMID:10706525

- Ditraglia D, Brown DP, Namekata T, Iverson N (1981). Mortality study of workers employed at organochlorine pesticide manufacturing plants. *Scand J Work Environ Health*, 7(Suppl 4):140–6. PMID:7330625
- Djordjevic MV, Hoffmann D, Fan J, Prokopczyk B, Citron ML, Stellman SD (1994). Assessment of chlorinated pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls in adipose breast tissue using a supercritical fluid extraction method. *Carcinogenesis*, 15(11):2581–5. doi:10.1093/carcin/15.11.2581 PMID:7955109
- Dosemeci M, Alavanja MCR, Rowland AS, Mage D, Zahm SH, Rothman N, et al. (2002). A quantitative approach for estimating exposure to pesticides in the Agricultural Health Study. *Ann Occup Hyg*, 46(2):245– 60. doi:10.1093/annhyg/mef011 PMID:12074034
- Duggan RE, Corneliussen PE (1972). Dietary intake of pesticide chemicals in the United States. 3. June 1968– April 1970. Pestic Monit J, 5(4):331–41. PMID:4133965
- Duggan RE, Lipscomb GQ (1969). Dietary intake of pesticide chicals in the United States (II), June 1966–April 1968. *Pestic Monit J*, 2(4):153–62. PMID:<u>5786556</u>
- ECHA (2016a). Substance information for aldrin. Helsinki, Finland: European Chemicals Agency. Available from: <u>https://echa.europa.eu/substance-information/-/</u> substanceinfo/100.005.652.
- ECHA (2016b). Substance information for dieldrin. Helsinki, Finland: European Chemicals Agency. Available from: <u>https://echa.europa.eu/</u> <u>substance-information/-/substanceinfo/100.000.440</u>.
- Edwards JW, Priestly BG (1994). Effect of occupational exposure to aldrin on urinary D-glucaric acid, plasma dieldrin, and lymphocyte sister chromatid exchange. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 66(4):229–34. doi:<u>10.1007/</u> <u>BF00454360</u> PMID:<u>7843832</u>
- Eichelberger JW, Lichtenberg JJ (1971). Persistence of pesticides in river water. *Environ Sci Technol*, 5(6):541–4. doi:<u>10.1021/es60053a002</u>
- El Zorgani GA, Musa A (1976). Organochlorine insecticides in the blood of occupationally exposed people in Sudan. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 16(1):15–7. doi:10.1007/BF01753099 PMID:963307
- Engel LS, Hill DA, Hoppin JA, Lubin JH, Lynch CF, Pierce J, et al. (2005). Pesticide use and breast cancer risk among farmers' wives in the agricultural health study. *Am J Epidemiol*, 161(2):121–35. doi:<u>10.1093/aje/kwi022</u> PMID:<u>15632262</u>
- Engel LS, Seixas NS, Keifer MC, Longstreth WT Jr, Checkoway H (2001). Validity study of self-reported pesticide exposure among orchardists. *J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol*, 11(5):359–68. doi:10.1038/ <u>sj.jea.7500176</u> PMID:<u>11687909</u>
- EPA (1974). Study of the ecology of pesticides. Report No. EPA-650/1-74-012. Washington (DC), USA: Office of Research and Development, United States Environmental Protection Agency.

- EPA (1987). Dieldrin. Health advisory. Washington (DC), USA: Office of Drinking Water, United States Environmental Protection Agency
- EPA (2003). Health effects support document for aldrin/ dieldrin. Report No. EPA 822-R-03-001. Washington (DC), USA: United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- EPA (2012). 2012 Edition of the Drinking Water Standards and Health Advisories. Report No. EPA 822-S-12-001. Washington (DC), USA: Office of Water, United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- Epstein SS (1975). The carcinogenicity of dieldrin. Part I. *Sci Total Environ*, 4(1):1–52. doi:<u>10.1016/0048-</u> <u>9697(75)90013-3</u> PMID:<u>1096299</u>
- European Commission (2004). Regulation (EC) No. 850/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 29 April 2004. *Off J Eur Union L*, 158(7):
- Everett CJ, Matheson EM (2010). Biomarkers of pesticide exposure and diabetes in the 1999-2004 national health and nutrition examination survey. *Environ Int*, 36(4):398-401. doi:<u>10.1016/j.envint.2010.02.010</u> PMID:<u>20299099</u>
- FAO (1972). FAO production yearbook 1971. Vol. 25. Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; pp. 503–504.
- FAO/WHO (1973). Pesticide Residues in Food. Report of the 1972 Joint Meeting of the FAO Working Party of Experts on Pesticide Residues and the WHO Expert Committee on Pesticide Residues. Geneva, 26 November–5December1973.WldHlthOrg.Techn.Rep. Ser, 525; FAO Agricultural Studies, No. 92. Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/41082.
- Feil VJ, Hedde RD, Zaylskie RG, Zachrison CH (1970). Dieldrin- 14 C metabolism in sheep. Identification of trans-6,7-dihydroxydihydroaldrin and 9-(syn-epoxy) hydroxy-1,2,3,4,10,10-hexachloro-6,7-epoxy-1,4,4, 5,6,7,8,8-octahydro-1,4-endo-5,8-exo-dimethanonaphthalene. J Agric Food Chem, 18(1):120–4. doi:10.1021/ jf60167a042 PMID:5524456
- Feldmann RJ, Maibach HI (1974). Percutaneous penetration of some pesticides and herbicides in man. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 28(1):126–32. doi:10.1016/0041-008X(74)90137-9 PMID:4853576
- Fitzhugh OG, Nelson AA, Quaife ML (1964). Chronic oral toxicity of aldrin and dieldrin in rats and dogs. *Food Cosmet Toxicol*, 2:551–62. doi:<u>10.1016/S0015-6264(64)80354-0</u> PMID:<u>14249972</u>
- Flower KB, Hoppin JA, Lynch CF, Blair A, Knott C, Shore DL, et al. (2004). Cancer risk and parental pesticide application in children of Agricultural Health Study participants. *Environ Health Perspect*, 112(5):631–5. doi:10.1289/ehp.6586 PMID:15064173
- Fowler PA, Abramovich DR, Haites NE, Cash P, Groome NP, Al-Qahtani A, et al. (2007). Human fetal test is Leydig cell disruption by exposure to the pesticide dieldrin

at low concentrations. *Hum Reprod*, 22(11):2919–27. doi:<u>10.1093/humrep/dem256</u> PMID:<u>17848404</u>

- Frear DEH, editor (1972a). Pesticide Handbook Entoma. 24th ed. State College (PA), USA: College Science Publishers; p. 91.
- Frear DEH, editor (1972b). Pesticide Handbook Entoma. 24th ed. State College (PA), USA: College Science Publishers; p. 118.
- Friesen MC, Lavoue J, Teschke K, van Tongeren M (2015). Occupational exposure assessment in industryand population-based epidemiologic studies. In: Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, editor. Exposure assessment in environmental epidemiology. 2nd ed. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press. doi:<u>10.1093/</u> med/9780199378784.003.0007
- Furusawa N (2002). Distribution of aldrin and its epoxide (dieldrin) in egg-forming tissues and eggs of laying hens following an oral application. J Environ Sci Health B, 37(2):123-9. doi:<u>10.1081/PFC-120002984</u> PMID:<u>11990366</u>
- Gale WL, Patiño R, Maule AG (2004). Interaction of xenobiotics with estrogen receptors alpha and beta and a putative plasma sex hormone-binding globulin from channel catfish (Ictalurus punctatus). *Gen Comp Endocrinol*, 136(3):338–45. doi:<u>10.1016/j.</u>ygcen.2004.01.009 PMID:<u>15081833</u>
- Galley RAE (1970). Adducts with polycyclic dienophiles. Chlorkohlenwasserstoffe: 4. Cyclodien-Insektizide. Vol. 1. In: Wegler R, editor. Chemie der Pflanzenschutz und Schadlingsbekampfungsmittel. Berlin; Heidelberg; New York: Springer-Verlag; 163–92.
- Galloway SM, Armstrong MJ, Reuben C, Colman S, Brown B, Cannon C, et al. (1987). Chromosome aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in Chinese hamster ovary cells: evaluations of 108 chemicals. *Environ Mol Mutagen*, 10(S10):1–175. doi:10.1002/em.2850100502 PMID:3319609
- Gammon MD, Wolff MS, Neugut AI, Eng SM, Teitelbaum SL, Britton JA, et al. (2002). Environmental toxins and breast cancer on Long Island. II. Organochlorine compoundlevelsinblood. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 11(8):686–97. PMID:<u>12163320</u>
- Garcia-Reyero N, Barber D, Gross T, Denslow N (2006a). Modeling of gene expression pattern alteration by p,p'-DDE and dieldrin in largemouth bass. *Mar Environ Res*, 62(Suppl):S415–9. doi:<u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>marenvres.2006.04.049</u> PMID:<u>16707152</u>
- Garcia-Reyero N, Barber DS, Gross TS, Johnson KG, Sepúlveda MS, Szabo NJ, et al. (2006b). Dietary exposure of largemouth bass to OCPs changes expression of genes important for reproduction. *Aquat Toxicol*, 78(4):358–69. doi:10.1016/j.aquatox.2006.05.003 PMID:16765462
- Garrison VH, Majewski MS, Foreman WT, Genualdi SA, Mohammed A, Massey Simonich SL (2014). Persistent organic contaminants in Saharan dust air masses in

West Africa, Cape Verde and the eastern Caribbean. *Sci Total Environ*, 468-469:530–43. doi:<u>10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.08.076</u> PMID:<u>24055669</u>

- Georgian L (1975). The comparative cytogenetic effects of aldrin and phosphamidon. *Mutat Res*, 31(2):103–8. doi:10.1016/0165-1161(75)90072-2 PMID:1117881
- Gill BS, Sandhu SS (1992). Application of the Tradescantia micronucleus assay for the genetic evaluation of chemical mixtures in soil and aqueous media. *Mutat Res*, 270(1):65–9. doi:10.1016/0027-5107(92)90102-8 PMID:1383724
- Glatt H, Jung R, Oesch F (1983). Bacterial mutagenicity investigation of epoxides: drugs, drug metabolites, steroids and pesticides. *Mutat Res*, 111(2):99–118. doi:10.1016/0027-5107(83)90056-8 PMID:6355833
- Golfinopoulos SK, Nikolaou AD, Kostopoulou MN, Xilourgidis NK, Vagi MC, Lekkas DT (2003). Organochlorine pesticides in the surface waters of Northern Greece. *Chemosphere*, 50(4):507–16. doi:10.1016/S0045-6535(02)00480-0 PMID:12685750
- Graham MJ, Williams FM, Rawlins MD (1991). Metabolism of aldrin to dieldrin by rat skin following topical application. *Food Chem Toxicol*, 29(10):707–11. doi:10.1016/0278-6915(91)90129-U PMID:1959824
- Graumann K, Breithofer A, Jungbauer A (1999). Monitoring of estrogen mimics by a recombinant yeast assay: synergy between natural and synthetic compounds? *Sci Total Environ*, 225(1-2):69–79. doi:10.1016/S0048-9697(99)80018-7 PMID:10028704
- Griffin DE 3rd, Hill WE (1978). In vitro breakage of plasmid DNA by mutagens and pesticides. *Mutat Res*, 52(2):161–9. doi:10.1016/0027-5107(78)90138-0 PMID:368611
- Haake J, Kelley M, Keys B, Safe S (1987). The effects of organochlorine pesticides as inducers of testosterone and benzo[a]pyrene hydroxylases. *Gen Pharmacol*, 18(2):165–9. doi:10.1016/0306-3623(87)90244-8 PMID:3569844
- Hallegue D, Ben Rhouma K, Krichah R, Sakly M (2002). Dieldrin initiates apoptosis in rat thymocytes. *Indian J Exp Biol*, 40(10):1147–50. PMID:<u>12693695</u>
- Hatcher JM, Richardson JR, Guillot TS, McCormack AL, Di Monte DA, Jones DP, et al. (2007). Dieldrin exposure induces oxidative damage in the mouse nigrostriatal dopamine system. *Exp Neurol*, 204(2):619–30. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2006.12.020 PMID:17291500
- Hayashi M (1971). Residues of agricultural drugs and health of children]. *Shohni Hoken Kenkyu*, 30:1 [Japanese]
- Hayes WJ Jr (1974). Distribution of dieldrin following a single oral dose. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 28(3):485–92. doi:10.1016/0041-008X(74)90233-6 PMID:4851411
- Hayes WJ Jr, Curley A (1968). Storage and excretion of dieldrin and related compounds. Effect of occupational exposure. Arch Environ Health, 16(2):155–62. doi:10.10 80/00039896.1968.10665037 PMID:5646438

- Heltshe SL, Lubin JH, Koutros S, Coble JB, Ji BT, Alavanja MC, et al. (2012). Using multiple imputation to assign pesticide use for non-responders in the follow-up questionnaire in the Agricultural Health Study. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol, 22(4):409–16. doi:10.1038/ jes.2012.31 PMID:22569205
- Hewett JA, Roth RA (1988). Dieldrin activates rat neutrophils in vitro. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 96(2):269–78. doi:10.1016/0041-008X(88)90086-5 PMID:2848335
- Hfaiedh N, Alimi H, Murat J-C, Elfeki A (2012). Protective effects of fenugreek (Trigonella foenum graecum L.) upon dieldrin-induced toxicity in male rat. *Gen Physiol Biophys*, 31(4):423–30. doi:<u>10.4149/gpb_2012_044</u> PMID:<u>23255669</u>
- Hoar SK, Blair A, Holmes FF, Boysen CD, Robel RJ, Hoover R, et al. (1986). Agricultural herbicide use and risk of lymphoma and soft-tissue sarcoma. *JAMA*, 256(9):1141–7. doi:<u>10.1001/jama.1986.03380090081023</u> PMID:<u>3801091</u>
- Hodges LC, Bergerson JS, Hunter DS, Walker CL (2000). Estrogenic effects of organochlorine pesticides on uterine leiomyoma cells in vitro. *Toxicol Sci*, 54(2):355– 64. doi:10.1093/toxsci/54.2.355 PMID:10774817
- Hood TE, Calabrese EJ, Zuckerman BM (2000). Detection of an estrogen receptor in two nematode species and inhibition of binding and development by environmental chemicals. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf*, 47(1):74–81. doi:10.1006/eesa.2000.1917 PMID:10993706
- Høyer AP, Gerdes AM, Jørgensen T, Rank F, Hartvig HB (2002). Organochlorines, p53 mutations in relation to breast cancer risk and survival. A Danish cohort-nested case-controls study. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*, 71(1):59– 65. doi:10.1023/A:1013340327099 PMID:11859874
- Høyer AP, Grandjean P, Jørgensen T, Brock JW, Hartvig HB (1998). Organochlorine exposure and risk of breast cancer. *Lancet*, 352(9143):1816–20. doi:<u>10.1016/S0140-6736(98)04504-8</u> PMID:<u>9851382</u>
- Høyer AP, Jørgensen T, Rank F, Grandjean P (2001). Organochlorine exposures influence on breast cancer risk and survival according to estrogen receptor status: a Danish cohort-nested case-control study. *BMC Cancer*, 1(1):8. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-1-8 PMID:11518544
- Hunt PF, Stevenson DE, Thorpe E, Walker AI (1975). Letter: Mouse data. *Food Cosmet Toxicol*, 13(5):597–9. doi:10.1016/0015-6264(75)90072-3 PMID:1201838
- Hunter CG, Robinson J (1967). Pharmacodynamics of dieldrin (HEOD). I. Ingestion by human subjects for 18 months. *Arch Environ Health*, 15(5):614–26. doi:10.1 080/00039896.1967.10664977 PMID:6066267
- Hunter CG, Robinson J, Jager KW (1967). Aldrin and Dieldrin-the safety of present exposures of the general populations of the United Kingdom and the United States. *Food Cosmet Toxicol*, 5(6):781–7. doi:10.1016/ <u>S0015-6264(67)83277-2</u> PMID:<u>5596423</u>

- Hunter CG, Robinson J, Roberts M (1969). Pharmacodynamics of dieldrin (HEOD). Ingestion by human subjects for 18 to 24 months, and postexposure for eight months. *Arch Environ Health*, 18(1):12–21. doi:10.1080/00039896.1969.10665367 PMID:5782491
- Hunter J, Maxwell JD, Stewart DA, Williams R, Robinson J, Richardson A (1972). Increased hepatic microsomal enzyme activity from occupational exposure to certain organochlorine pesticides. *Nature*, 237(5355):399–401. doi:10.1038/237399a0 PMID:4557326
- Hutson DH (1976). Comparative metabolism of dieldrin in the rat (CFE) and in two strains of mouse (CF1 and LACG). *Food Cosmet Toxicol*, 14(6):577–91. doi:<u>10.1016/</u> <u>S0015-6264(76)80012-0</u> PMID:<u>1017774</u>
- Hutson DH, Baldwin MK, Hoadley EC (1975). Detoxication and bioactivation of endrin in the rat. *Xenobiotica*, 5(11):697–714. doi:<u>10.3109/00498257509056139</u> PMID:<u>1189464</u>
- IARC (1974). Some organochlorine pesticides. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risk Chem Man, 5:1–241. Available from: http://publications.iarc.fr/23.
- IARC (1987). Overall evaluations of carcinogenicity: an updating of IARC Monographs Volumes 1 to 42. *IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum Suppl*, 7:1-440. Available from: <u>http://publications.iarc.fr/139</u> PMID:<u>3482203</u>
- IARC (2017). Some organophosphate insecticides and herbicides. *IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum*, 112:1-452. Available from: <u>http://publications.iarc.</u> <u>fr/549</u>.
- Iatropoulos MJ, Milling A, Müller WF, Nohynek G, Rozman K, Coulston F, et al. (1975). Absorption, transport and organotropism of dichlorobiphenyl (DCB), dieldrin, and hexachlorobenzene (HCB) in rats. *Environ Res*, 10(3):384–9. doi:<u>10.1016/0013-9351(75)90033-X</u> PMID:<u>1213019</u>
- Ibarluzea J, Fernández MF, Santa-Marina L, Olea-Serrano MF, Rivas AM, Aurrekoetxea JJ, et al. (2004). Breast cancer risk and the combined effect of environmental estrogens. *Cancer Causes Control*, 15(6):591–600. doi:10.1023/B:CACO.0000036167.51236.86 PMID:15280638
- IPCS (1989). Aldrin and dieldrin. Health and safety guide. Health and safety guide No. 21. Geneva, Switzerland: International Programme on Chemical Safety, World Health Organization.
- IPCS (1995). A review of selected persistent organic pollutants. DDT-aldrin-dieldrin-endrin-chlordane heptachlor-hexachlorobenzene-mïrex-toxaphene polychlorinated biphenyls dioxins and furans. Geneva, Switzerland: International Programme on Chemical Safety, World Health Organization.
- Jiang YF, Wang XT, Jia Y, Wang F, Wu MH, Sheng GY, et al. (2009). Occurrence, distribution and possible sources of organochlorine pesticides in agricultural

soil of Shanghai, China. *J Hazard Mater*, 170(2-3):989– 97. doi:<u>10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.05.082</u> PMID:<u>19535203</u>

- Jorgenson JL (2001). Aldrin and dieldrin: a review of research on their production, environmental deposition and fate, bioaccumulation, toxicology, and epidemiology in the United States. *Environ Health Perspect*, 109(Suppl 1):113–39. doi:10.1289/ehp.01109s1113 PMID:11250811
- Joseph KV, Rao KJ (1990). Aldrin toxicity on amphibian neuronal, hepatic and muscular tissue oxidative enzymes. *Biochem Int*, 22(1):173–7. PMID:2282077
- Kamendulis LM, Kolaja KL, Stevenson DE, Walborg EF Jr, Klaunig JE (2001). Comparative effects of dieldrin on hepatic ploidy, cell proliferation, and apoptosis in rodent liver. *J Toxicol Environ Health A*, 62(2):127–41. doi:<u>10.1080/009841001455535</u> PMID:<u>11209821</u>
- Kanthasamy AG, Kitazawa M, Kaul S, Yang Y, Lahiri DK, Anantharam V, et al. (2003). Proteolytic activation of proapoptotic kinase PKCdelta is regulated by overexpression of Bcl-2: implications for oxidative stress and environmental factors in Parkinson's disease. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1010:683–6. doi:10.1196/annals.1299.125 PMID:15033812
- Kim DK, Kim JS, Kim JE, Kim SJ, Lee JS, Kim DJ, et al. (2005). Heme oxygenase-1 induction by dieldrin in dopaminergic cells. *Neuroreport*, 16(5):509–12. doi:10.1097/00001756-200504040-00018 PMID:15770161
- Kim TS, Kim CY, Lee HK, Kang IH, Kim MG, Jung KK, et al. (2011). Estrogenic activity of persistent organic pollutants and parabens based on the stably transfected human estrogen receptor-alpha transcriptional activation assay (oecd tg 455). *Toxicol Res*, 27(3):181–4. doi:<u>10.5487/TR.2011.27.3.181</u> PMID:<u>24278570</u>
- Kitazawa M, Anantharam V, Kanthasamy A, Kanthasamy AG (2004). Dieldrin promotes proteolytic cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase and apoptosis in dopaminergic cells: protective effect of mitochondrial anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2. *Neurotoxicology*, 25(4):589–98. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2003.09.014 PMID:15183012
- Kitazawa M, Anantharam V, Kanthasamy AG (2001). Dieldrin-induced oxidative stress and neurochemical changes contribute to apoptopic cell death in dopaminergic cells. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 31(11):1473–85. doi:<u>10.1016/S0891-5849(01)00726-2</u> PMID:<u>11728820</u>
- Kitazawa M, Anantharam V, Kanthasamy AG (2003). Dieldrin induces apoptosis by promoting caspase-3-dependent proteolytic cleavage of protein kinase Cdelta in dopaminergic cells: relevance to oxidative stress and dopaminergic degeneration. *Neuroscience*, 119(4):945–64. doi:10.1016/S0306-4522(03)00226-4 PMID:12831855
- Klaunig JE, Ruch RJ (1987). Strain and species effects on the inhibition of hepatocyte intercellular communication by liver tumor promoters. *Cancer Lett*, 36(2):161–8. doi:10.1016/0304-3835(87)90087-5 PMID:3621148

- Klaunig JE, Xu Y, Bachowski S, Ketcham CA, Isenberg JS, Kolaja KL, et al. (1995). Oxidative stress in nongenotoxic carcinogenesis. *Toxicol Lett*, 82-83:683–91. doi:<u>10.1016/0378-4274(95)03514-1</u> PMID:<u>8597127</u>
- Kolaja KL, Stevenson DE, Walborg EF Jr, Klaunig JE (1996). Selective dieldrin promotion of hepatic focal lesions in mice. *Carcinogenesis*, 17(6):1243–50. doi:<u>10.1093/</u> <u>carcin/17.6.1243</u> PMID:<u>8681438</u>
- Kolaja KL, Xu Y, Walborg EF Jr, Stevenson DE, Klaunig JE, Kyle L, et al. (1998). Vitamin E modulation of dieldrin-induced hepatic focal lesion growth in mice. J Toxicol Environ Health A, 53(6):479–92. doi:10.1080/009841098159196 PMID:9537283
- Konstantinou IK, Hela DG, Albanis TA (2006). The status of pesticide pollution in surface waters (rivers and lakes) of Greece. Part I. Review on occurrence and levels. *Environ Pollut*, 141(3):555–70. doi:<u>10.1016/j.envpol.2005.07.024</u> PMID:<u>16226830</u>
- Korte F, Arent H (1965). Metabolism of insecticides, IX (1). Isolation and identification of dieldrin metabolites from urine of rabbits after oral administration of dieldrin-14C. *Life Sci*, 4(21):2017–26. doi:<u>10.1016/0024-3205(65)90317-6</u> PMID:<u>5866617</u>
- Korte F, Kochen W (1966). [Insecticides in metabolism. XI. Excretion, distribution and changes of aldrin-C14 and dieldrin-C14 in the rat]. *Med Pharmacol Exp Int J Exp Med*, 15(4):404–8. [German] PMID:<u>6012771</u>
- Koutros S, Beane Freeman LE, Lubin JH, Heltshe SL, Andreotti G, Barry KH, et al. (2013a). Risk of total and aggressive prostate cancer and pesticide use in the Agricultural Health Study. *Am J Epidemiol*, 177(1):59– 74. doi:10.1093/aje/kws225 PMID:23171882
- Koutros S, Berndt SI, Hughes Barry K, Andreotti G, Hoppin JA, Sandler DP, et al. (2013b). Genetic susceptibility loci, pesticide exposure and prostate cancer risk. *PLoS One*, 8(4):e58195. doi:<u>10.1371/journal.</u> pone.0058195 PMID:<u>23593118</u>
- Koutros S, Silverman DT, Alavanja MC, Andreotti G, Lerro CC, Heltshe S, et al. (2016). Occupational exposure to pesticides and bladder cancer risk. *Int J Epidemiol*, 45(3):792–805. doi:10.1093/ije/dvv195 PMID:26411407
- Krysiak-Baltyn K, Toppari J, Śkakkebaek NE, Jensen TS, Virtanen HE, Schramm KW, et al. (2010). Countryspecific chemical signatures of persistent environmental compounds in breast milk. *Int J Androl*, 33(2):270–8. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2605.2009.00996.x PMID:19780864
- Kurata M, Hirose K, Umeda M (1982). Inhibition of metabolic cooperation in Chinese hamster cells by organochlorine pesticides. *Gan*, 73(2):217–21. PMID:7117752
- Kwok ESC, Atkinson R (1995). Estimation of hydroxyl radical reaction rate constants for gas-phase organic compounds using a structure-reactivity relationship: an update. *Atmos Environ*, 29(14):1685–95. doi:10.1016/1352-2310(95)00069-B

- Lambotte-Vandepaer M, Noël G, Remacle J, Poncelet F, Roberfroid M, Mercier M (1981). Preparation and analysis of a lung microsomal fraction from control and 3-methylcholanthrene treated rats. *Toxicol Eur Res*, 3(3):141–7. PMID:<u>6269252</u>
- Laville N, Balaguer P, Brion F, Hinfray N, Casellas C, Porcher JM, et al. (2006). Modulation of aromatase activity and mRNA by various selected pesticides in the human choriocarcinoma JEG-3 cell line. *Toxicology*, 228(1):98–108. doi:10.1016/j.tox.2006.08.021 PMID:16996190
- Lawrence LJ, Casida JE (1984). Interactions of lindane, toxaphene and cyclodienes with brain-specific t-butylbicyclophosphorothionate receptor. *Life Sci*, 35(2):171–8. doi:10.1016/0024-3205(84)90136-X PMID:6204183
- Ledirac N, Antherieu S, d'Uby AD, Caron JC, Rahmani R (2005). Effects of organochlorine insecticides on MAP kinase pathways in human HaCaT keratinocytes: key role of reactive oxygen species. *Toxicol Sci*, 86(2):444– 52. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfi192 PMID:15888667
- Lee WJ, Cantor KP, Berzofsky JA, Zahm SH, Blair A (2004). Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma among asthmatics exposed to pesticides. *Int J Cancer*, 111(2):298–302. doi:10.1002/ijc.20273 PMID:15197786
- Legler J, van den Brink CE, Brouwer A, Murk AJ, van der Saag PT, Vethaak AD, et al. (1999). Development of a stably transfected estrogen receptor-mediated luciferase reporter gene assay in the human T47D breast cancer cell line. *Toxicol Sci*, 48(1):55–66. doi:<u>10.1093/</u> <u>toxsci/48.1.55</u> PMID:<u>10330684</u>
- Lemaire G, Balaguer P, Michel S, Rahmani R (2005). Activation of retinoic acid receptor-dependent transcription by organochlorine pesticides. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 202(1):38–49. doi:10.1016/j. taap.2004.06.004 PMID:15589975
- Lemaire G, Mnif W, Mauvais P, Balaguer P, Rahmani R (2006). Activation of alpha- and beta-estrogen receptors by persistent pesticides in reporter cell lines. *Life Sci*, 79(12):1160–9. doi:<u>10.1016/j.lfs.2006.03.023</u> PMID:<u>16626760</u>
- Lenon H, Curry L, Miller A, Patulski D (1972). Insecticide residues in water and sediment from cisterns on the U.S. and British Virgin Islands–1970. *Pestic Monit J*, 6(3):188–93. PMID:<u>4660670</u>
- Lewis RG, Fortmann RC, Camann DE (1994). Evaluation of methods for monitoring the potential exposure of small children to pesticides in the residential environment. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol*, 26(1):37–46. doi:10.1007/BF00212792 PMID:8110022
- Limbosch S (1983). Benzo[a]pyrene- and aldrin-metabolizing activities in cultured human and rat hepatoma celllines. JNatl Cancer Inst, 71(2):281–6. PMID:6308320
- Lin ZX, Kavanagh T, Trosko JE, Chang CC (1986). Inhibition of gap junctional intercellular communication in human teratocarcinoma cells by organochlorine

pesticides. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 83(1):10–9. doi:<u>10.1016/0041-008X(86)90318-2</u> PMID:<u>3952740</u>

- Lipsky MM, Trump BF, Hinton DE (1989). Histogenesis of dieldrin and DDT-induced hepatocellular carcinoma in Balb/c mice. *J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol*, 9(1):79–93. PMID:2564434
- Lipson M (1970). Wool. Insectproofing. In: Kirk RJE, Othmer DP, editors. Kirk-Othmer encyclopedia of chemical technology, 2nd ed. New York (NY), USA: John Wiley & Sons; Volume 22; p. 406.
- Litskas VD, Dosis IG, Karamanlis XN, Kamarianos AP (2012). Occurrence of priority organic pollutants in Strymon river catchment, Greece: inland, transitional, and coastal waters. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int*, 19(8):3556–67. doi:<u>10.1007/s11356-012-0917-x</u> PMID:<u>22544600</u>
- Liu J, Brannen KC, Grayson DR, Morrow AL, Devaud LL, Lauder JM (1998). Prenatal exposure to the pesticide dieldrin or the GABA(A) receptor antagonist bicuculline differentially alters expression of GABA(A) receptor subunit mRNAs in fetal rat brainstem. *Dev Neurosci*, 20(1):83–92. doi:<u>10.1159/000017302</u> PMID:9600394
- Liu J, Morrow AL, Devaud LL, Grayson DR, Lauder JM (1997b). Regulation of GABA(A) receptor subunit mRNA expression by the pesticide dieldrin in embryonic brainstem cultures: a quantitative, competitive reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction study. J Neurosci Res, 49(5):645–53. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-4547(19970901)49:5<645::AID-JNR15>3.0.CO;2-U PMID:9302086
- Louis ED, Factor-Litvak P, Parides M, Andrews L, Santella RM, Wolff MS (2006). Organochlorine pesticide exposure in essential tremor: a case-control study using biological and occupational exposure assessments. *Neurotoxicology*, 27(4):579–86. doi:10.1016/j. neuro.2006.03.005 PMID:16620996
- Luo D, Pu Y, Tian H, Cheng J, Zhou T, Tao Y, et al. (2016). Concentrations of organochlorine pesticides in umbilical cord blood and related lifestyle and dietary intake factors among pregnant women of the Huaihe River Basin in China. *Environ Int*, 92-93:276–83. doi:10.1016/j. envint.2016.04.017 PMID:27123771
- Lykken L, Casida JE (1969). Metabolism of organic insecticide chemicals. Can Med Assoc J, 100(4):145–54. PMID:<u>4178853</u>
- Mackay D, Wolkoff AW (1973). Rate of evaporation of low-solubility contaminants from water bodies to atmosphere. *Environ Sci Technol*, 7(7):611–4. doi:<u>10.1021/es60079a001</u>
- Macpherson SE, Scott RC, Williams FM (1991). Percutaneous absorption and metabolism of aldrin by rat skin in diffusion cells. *Arch Toxicol*, 65(7):599–602. doi:10.1007/BF01973723 PMID:1781741

- Majewski MS, Foreman WT, Goolsby DA, Nakagaki N (1998). Airborne pesticide residues along the Mississippi River. *Environ Sci Technol*, 32(23):3689–98. doi:10.1021/es9802403
- Majumdar SK, Kopelman HA, Schnitman MJ (1976). Dieldrin-induced chromosome damage in mouse bone-marrow and WI-38 human lung cells. *J Hered*, 67(5):303–7. doi:<u>10.1093/oxfordjournals.jhered</u>. <u>a108736</u> PMID:<u>1010933</u>
- Majumdar SK, Maharam LG, Viglianti GA (1977). Mutagenicity of dieldrin in the Salmonella-microsome test. *J Hered*, 68(3):184–5. doi:<u>10.1093/oxfordjournals.</u> jhered.a108805 PMID:<u>330620</u>
- Maliwal BP, Guthrie FE (1982). In vitro uptake and transfer of chlorinated hydrocarbons among human lipoproteins. *J Lipid Res*, 23(3):474–9. PMID:<u>6176662</u>
- Mangum LC, Borazjani A, Stokes JV, Matthews AT, Lee JH, Chambers JE, et al. (2015). Organochlorine insecticides induce NADPH oxidase-dependent reactive oxygen species in human monocytic cells via phospholipase A2/arachidonic acid. *Chem Res Toxicol*, 28(4):570–84. doi:10.1021/tx500323h PMID:25633958
- Mao H, Fang X, Floyd KM, Polcz JE, Zhang P, Liu B (2007). Induction of microglial reactive oxygen species production by the organochlorinated pesticide dieldrin. *Brain Res*, 1186:267–74. doi:<u>10.1016/j.brainres.2007.10.020</u> PMID:<u>17999924</u>
- Marshall TC, Dorough HW, Swim HE (1976). Screening of pesticides for mutagenic potential using Salmonella typhimurium mutants. *J Agric Food Chem*, 24(3):560–3. doi:10.1021/jf60205a013 PMID:818141
- Martyniuk CJ, Doperalski NJ, Kroll KJ, Barber DS, Denslow ND (2013). Sexually dimorphic transcriptomic responses in the teleostean hypothalamus: a case study with the organochlorine pesticide dieldrin. *Neurotoxicology*, 34:105–17. doi:10.1016/j. neuro.2012.09.012 PMID:23041725
- Mathur V, Bhatnagar P, Sharma RG, Acharya V, Sexana R (2002). Breast cancer incidence and exposure to pesticides among women originating from Jaipur. *Environ Int*, 28(5):331–6. doi:<u>10.1016/S0160-4120(02)00031-4</u> PMID:<u>12437282</u>
- Mathur V, John PJ, Soni I, Bhatnagar P (2008). Blood levels of organochlorine pesticide residues and risk of reproductive tract cancer among women from Jaipur. In: Li JJ, Li SA, Mohla S, Rochefort H, Maudelonde T, editors. Hormonal carcinogenesis. V of the series Advances in experimental medicine and biology. Volume 617. India; pp. 387–94. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-69080-3 37
- Matthews HB, Matsumura F (1969). Metabolic fate of dieldrin in the rat. *J Agric Food Chem*, 17(4):845–52. doi:10.1021/jf60164a044
- Matthews HB, McKinney JD, Lucier GW (1971). Dieldrin metabolism, excretion, and storage in male and female rats. *J Agric Food Chem*, 19(6):1244–8. doi:10.1021/jf60178a035 PMID:5132657

- Matthews J, Celius T, Halgren R, Zacharewski T (2000). Differential estrogen receptor binding of estrogenic substances: a species comparison. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol*, 74(4):223–34. doi:<u>10.1016/S0960-0760(00)00126-6</u> PMID:<u>11162928</u>
- McDuffie HH, Pahwa P, McLaughlin JR, Spinelli JJ, Fincham S, Dosman JA, et al. (2001). Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and specific pesticide exposures in men: cross-Canada study of pesticides and health. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 10(11):1155–63. PMID:11700263
- McGill AE, Robinson J (1968). Organochlorine insecticide residues in complete prepared meals: a 12-month survey in S.E. England. *Food Cosmet Toxicol*, 6(1):45– 57. doi:10.1016/0015-6264(68)90080-1 PMID:5761595
- McGregor DB, Brown AG, Howgate S, McBride D, Riach C, Caspary WJ, et al. (1991). Responses of the L5178Y mouse Lymphoma cell forward mutation assay. V: 27 coded chemicals. *Environ Mol Mutagen*, 17(3):196–219. doi:10.1002/em.2850170309 PMID:1902415
- McManus ME, Boobis AR, Minchin RF, Schwartz DM, Murray S, Davies DS, et al. (1984). Relationship between oxidative metabolism of 2-acetylaminofluorene, debrisoquine, bufuralol, and aldrin in human liver microsomes. *Cancer Res*, 44(12 Pt 1):5692–7. PMID:<u>6498831</u>
- Mehendale HM, El-Bassiouni EA (1975). Uptake and disposition of aldrin and dieldrin by isolated perfused rabbit lung. *Drug Metab Dispos*, 3(6):543–56. PMID:<u>1232</u>
- Meierhenry EF, Ruebner BH, Gershwin ME, Hsieh LS, French SW (1983). Dieldrin-induced mallory bodies in hepatic tumors of mice of different strains. *Hepatology*, 3(1):90–5. doi:10.1002/hep.1840030115 PMID:6295910
- Michałowicz J, Mokra K, Rosiak K, Sicińska P, Bukowska B (2013). Chlorobenzenes, lindane and dieldrin induce apoptotic alterations in human peripheral blood lymphocytes (in vitro study). *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol*, 36(3):979–88. doi:10.1016/j. etap.2013.08.014 PMID:24077485
- Mick DL, Long KR, Bonderman DP (1972). Aldrin and dieldrin in the blood of pesticide formulators. *Am Ind Hyg Assoc J*, 33(2):94–9. doi:<u>10.1080/0002889728506614</u> PMID:<u>5055302</u>
- Mick DL, Long KR, Dretchen JS, Bonderman DP (1971). Aldrin and Dieldrin in human blood components. *Arch Environ Health*, 23(3):177–80. doi:10.1080/00039 896.1971.10665982 PMID:5123150
- Montuori P, Cirillo T, Fasano E, Nardone A, Esposito F, Triassi M (2014). Spatial distribution and partitioning of polychlorinated biphenyl and organochlorine pesticide in water and sediment from Sarno River and Estuary, southern Italy. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int*, 21(7):5023–35. doi:10.1007/s11356-013-2419-x PMID:24366826

- Moody DE, Montgomery KA, Ashour MB, Hammock BD (1991). Effects of environmentally encountered epoxides on mouse liver epoxide-metabolizing enzymes. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 41(11):1625–37. doi:10.1016/0006-2952(91)90163-Y PMID:2043152
- Moreno-Aliaga MJ, Matsumura F (1999). Endrin inhibits adipocyte differentiation by selectively altering expression pattern of CCAAT/enhancer binding proteinalpha in 3T3-L1 cells. *Mol Pharmacol*, 56(1):91–101. doi:10.1124/mol.56.1.91 PMID:10385688
- Moriya M, Ohta T, Watanabe K, Miyazawa T, Kato K, Shirasu Y (1983). Further mutagenicity studies on pesticides in bacterial reversion assay systems. *Mutat Res*, 116(3-4):185–216. doi:<u>10.1016/0165-1218(83)90059-9</u> PMID:<u>6339892</u>
- Moss JA, Hathway DE (1964). Transport of organic compounds in the mammal. Partition of dieldrin and telodrin between the cellular components and soluble proteins of blood. *Biochem J*, 91(2):384–93. doi:10.1042/bj0910384 PMID:4158311
- Müller W, Nohynek G, Korte F, Coulston F (1979). [Absorption, body distribution, metabolism, and excretion of dieldrin in non-human primates and other laboratory animals (author's transl)]. Z Naturforsch C, 34C(5-6):340–5. [German] doi:<u>10.1515/znc-1979-5-605</u> PMID:<u>156995</u>
- Mumtaz MM, Tully DB, El-Masri HA, De Rosa CT (2002). Gene induction studies and toxicity of chemical mixtures. *Environ Health Perspect*, 110(Suppl 6):947–56. doi:10.1289/ehp.02110s6947 PMID:12634124
- Nair A, Dureja P, Pillai MK (1992). Aldrin and dieldrin residues in human fat, milk and blood serum collected from Delhi. *Hum Exp Toxicol*, 11(1):43–5. doi:<u>10.1177/096032719201100106</u> PMID:<u>1354459</u>
- Nam JM, Rice C, Gail MH (2005). Comparison of asbestos exposure assessments by next-of-kin respondents, by an occupational hygienist, and by a job-exposure matrix from the National Occupational Hazard Survey. *Am J Ind Med*, 47(5):443–50. doi:<u>10.1002/ajim.20168</u> PMID:<u>15828074</u>
- Narita S, Goldblum RM, Watson CS, Brooks EG, Estes DM, Curran EM, et al. (2007). Environmental estrogens induce mast cell degranulation and enhance IgE-mediated release of allergic mediators. *Environ Health Perspect*, 115(1):48–52. doi:<u>10.1289/ehp.9378</u> PMID:<u>17366818</u>
- NIOSH (2016a). Aldrin. NIOSH pocket guide to chemical hazards. Atlanta (GA), USANational Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. Available from: <u>http:// www.cdc.gov/niosh/npg/npgd0016.html</u>.
- NIOSH (2016b). Dieldrin. NIOSH pocket guide to chemical hazards. Atlanta (GA), USANational Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. Available from: <u>http://</u> <u>www.cdc.gov/niosh/npg/npgd0206.html</u>.
- NTP (1978a). Bioassays of aldrin and dieldrin for possible carcinogenicity. *Natl Cancer Inst Carcinog Tech Rep Ser*, 21:1–184. PMID:<u>12844187</u>
- NTP (1978b). Bioassay of dieldrin for possible carcinogenicity. *Natl Cancer Inst Carcinog Tech Rep Ser*, 22:1–50. PMID:<u>12844186</u>
- NTP (2016a). Genetic toxicity evaluation of aldrin in Salmonella/E. coli mutagenicity test or Ames test study 127997. Research Triangle Park (NC), USA: Chemical effects in biological systems (CEBS), National Toxicology Program. Available from: https://tools.niehs.nih.gov/cebs3/ntpViews/?studyNu mber=002-01619-0001-0000-0, accessed 2 July 2018.
- NTP (2016b). Genetic toxicity evaluation of dieldrin in Salmonella/E. coli mutagenicity test or Ames test study 127997. Research Triangle Park (NC), USA: Chemical effects in biological systems (CEBS), National Toxicology Program. Available from: <u>http:// tools.niehs.nih.gov/cebs3/ntpViews/?activeTab=detail</u> <u>&studyNumber=002-02021-0003-0000-0</u>, accessed 19 August 2016.
- Oesch F, Daly J (1972). Conversion of naphthalene to trans-naphthalene dihydrodiol: evidence for the presence of a coupled aryl monooxygenase-epoxide hydrase system in hepatic microsomes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 46(4):1713–20. doi:10.1016/0006-291X(72)90807-8 PMID:5015607
- Osaba L, Aguirre A, Alonso A, Graf U (1999). Genotoxicity testing of six insecticides in two crosses of the Drosophila wing spot test. *Mutat Res*, 439(1):49–61. doi:10.1016/S1383-5718(98)00173-9 PMID:10029675
- Pahwa P, Karunanayake CP, Dosman JA, Spinelli JJ, McLaughlin JR; Cross-Canada Group (2011). Softtissue sarcoma and pesticides exposure in men: results of a Canadian case-control study. *J Occup Environ Med*, 53(11):1279–86. doi:10.1097/JOM.0b013e3182307845 PMID:22068131
- Pandey RM (2008). Cytotoxic effects of pesticides in somatic cells of Vicia faba L. *Tsitol Genet*, 42(6):13–8. PMID:<u>19253750</u>
- Paumgartten FJ, Delgado IF, Oliveira ES, Alleluia IB, Barretto HH, Kussumi TA (1998). Levels of organochlorine pesticides in the blood serum of agricultural workers from Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Cad Saude Publica, 14(Suppl 3):33–9. doi:10.1590/S0102-311X1998000700005 PMID:9819463
- Pedrajas JR, Gavilanes F, López-Barea J, Peinado J (1998). Incubation of superoxide dismutase with malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal forms new active isoforms and adducts. An evaluation of xenobiotics in fish. *Chem Biol Interact*, 116(1-2):1–17. doi:10.1016/ S0009-2797(98)00072-6 PMID:9877197
- Pedrajas JR, Peinado J, López-Barea J (1995). Oxidative stress in fish exposed to model xenobiotics. Oxidatively modified forms of Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase as

potential biomarkers. *Chem Biol Interact*, 98(3):267–82. doi:<u>10.1016/0009-2797(95)03651-2</u> PMID:<u>8548864</u>

- Pelletier C, Imbeault P, Tremblay A (2003). Energy balance and pollution by organochlorines and polychlorinated biphenyls. *Obes Rev*, 4(1):17–24. doi:<u>10.1046/j.1467-</u> <u>789X.2003.00085.x</u> PMID:<u>12608524</u>
- Pelletier M, Roberge CJ, Gauthier M, Vandal K, Tessier PA, Girard D (2001). Activation of human neutrophils in vitro and dieldrin-induced neutrophilic inflammation in vivo. *J Leukoc Biol*, 70(3):367–73. PMID:<u>11527985</u>
- Petit F, Le Goff P, Cravédi JP, Valotaire Y, Pakdel F (1997). Two complementary bioassays for screening the estrogenic potency of xenobiotics: recombinant yeast for trout estrogen receptor and trout hepatocyte cultures. *J Mol Endocrinol*, 19(3):321–35. doi:<u>10.1677/jme.0.0190321</u> PMID:<u>9460653</u>
- Pines A, Cucos S, Ever-Hadani P, Ron M, Lemesch C (1987). Changes in pattern of organochlorine residues in blood of general Israeli population, 1975-1986. *Sci Total Environ*, 66:115–25. doi:<u>10.1016/0048-9697(87)90081-7</u> PMID:<u>3685944</u>
- Purdue MP, Hoppin JA, Blair A, Dosemeci M, Alavanja MC (2007). Occupational exposure to organochlorine insecticides and cancer incidence in the Agricultural Health Study. *Int J Cancer*, 120(3):642–9. doi:<u>10.1002/</u> <u>ijc.22258</u> PMID:<u>17096337</u>
- Quaife ML, Winbush JS, Fitzhugh OG (1967). Survey of quantitative relationships between ingestion and storage of aldrin and dieldrin in animals and man. *Food Cosmet Toxicol*, 5(1):39–50. doi:<u>10.1016/S0015-6264(67)82885-2</u> PMID:<u>6033009</u>
- Quintana PJE, Delfino RJ, Korrick S, Ziogas A, Kutz FW, Jones EL, et al. (2004). Adipose tissue levels of organochlorine pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls and risk of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Environ Health Perspect*, 112(8):854–61. doi:10.1289/ehp.6726 PMID:15175172
- Radomski JL, Astolfi E, Deichmann WB, Rey AA (1971). Blood levels of organochlorine pesticides in Argentina: occupationally and nonoccupationally exposed adults, children and newborn infants. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 20(2):186–93. doi:10.1016/0041-008X(71)90044-5 PMID:4109070
- Ragno M, editor. (1972). Repertorio Chimico Italiano, Industriale e Comerciale. Milan, Italy: Asiminum. [Italian]
- Ramamoorthy K, Wang F, Chen IC, Norris JD, McDonnell DP, Leonard LS, et al. (1997). Estrogenic activity of a dieldrin/toxaphene mixture in the mouse uterus, MCF-7 human breast cancer cells, and yeastbased estrogen receptor assays: no apparent synergism. *Endocrinology*, 138(4):1520–7. doi:10.1210/ endo.138.4.5056 PMID:9075711

- Rasmussen TH, Nielsen JB (2002).Critical parameters in the MCF-7 cell proliferation 7(4):322-36. bioassav (E-Screen). Biomarkers, doi:10.1080/13547500210132907 PMID:12171759
- Ratnasabapathy R, Tom M, Post C (1997). Modulation of the hepatic expression of the estrogen-regulated mRNA stabilizing factor by estrogenic and antiestrogenic nonsteroidal xenobiotics. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 53(10):1425–34. doi:<u>10.1016/S0006-2952(97)00084-1</u> PMID:<u>9260869</u>
- Reuber MD (1975). Histogenesis of hyperplasia and carcinomas of the liver arising around central veins in mice ingesting chlorinated hydrocarbons. *Pathol Microbiol (Basel)*, 43(4):287–98. PMID:<u>180480</u>
- Reuber MD (1976a). Histopathology of carcinomas of the liver in mice ingesting dieldrin or aldrin. *Tumori*, 62(5):463–71. doi:<u>10.1177/030089167606200501</u> PMID:<u>190743</u>
- Reuber MD (1976b). Histopathology of transplantable carcinomas and sarcomas of the liver in mice ingesting dieldrin or aldrin. *The Bulletin of the Society of Pharmacological and Environmental Pathologists*, 4(1):2–16.<u>http://tpx.sagepub.com/content/4/1/2.full.</u> <u>pdf</u> doi:<u>10.1177/019262337600400101</u>
- Ribbens PH (1985). Mortality study of industrial workers exposed to aldrin, dieldrin and endrin. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 56(2):75–9. doi:<u>10.1007/BF00379378</u> PMID:<u>4055072</u>
- Richardson A, Robinson J (1971). The identification of a major metabolite of HEOD (dieldrin) in human faeces. *Xenobiotica*,1(3):213–9.doi:<u>10.3109/00498257109033170</u> PMID:5153711
- Ritchie JM, Vial SL, Fuortes LJ, Guo H, Reedy VE, Smith EM (2003). Organochlorines and risk of prostate cancer. *J Occup Environ Med*, 45(7):692–702. doi:<u>10.1097/01.jom.0000071510.96740.0b</u> PMID:<u>12855910</u>
- Robinson J, Roberts M, Baldwin M, Walker AI (1969). The pharmacokinetics of HEOD (Dieldrin) in the rat. *Food Cosmet Toxicol*, 7(4):317–32. doi:<u>10.1016/S0015-6264(69)80368-8</u> PMID:<u>5823976</u>
- Rodrigues MA, Puga FR (1979). [Effects of DDT and aldrin on swine cell line IB-RS-2]. *Arq Inst Biol (Sao Paulo)*, 46(3-4):63–70. [Portuguese] PMID:<u>95479</u>
- Rodríguez-Ariza A, Alhama J, Díaz-Méndez FM, López-Barea J (1999). Content of 8-oxodG in chromosomal DNA of Sparus aurata fish as biomarker of oxidative stress and environmental pollution. *Mutat Res*, 438(2):97–107. doi:10.1016/S1383-5718(98)00156-9 PMID:10036331
- Rosa R, Rodriguez-Farré E, Sanfeliu C (1996). Cytotoxicity of hexachlorocyclohexane isomers and cyclodienes in primary cultures of cerebellar granule cells. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 278(1):163–9. PMID:<u>8764347</u>
- Rosenberg AM, Semchuk KM, McDuffie HH, Ledingham DL, Cordeiro DM, Cessna AJ, et al. (1999). Prevalence of antinuclear antibodies in a rural

population. *J Toxicol Environ Health A*, 57(4):225–36. doi:<u>10.1080/009841099157674</u> PMID:<u>10406347</u>

- Ruebner BH, Gershwin ME, Meierhenry EF, Hsieh LS, Dunn PL (1984). Irreversibility of liver tumors in C3H mice. J Natl Cancer Inst, 73(2):493–8. doi:<u>10.1093/</u> jnci/73.2.493 PMID:<u>6589441</u>
- Rumsey TS, Bond J (1974). Effect of urea, diethylstilbestrol, and type of diet on the distribution of aldrin and dieldrin residues in finished beef heifers. *J Agric Food Chem*, 22(4):664–7. doi:<u>10.1021/jf60194a034</u> PMID:<u>4842241</u>
- Sandhu SS, Ma TH, Peng Y, Zhou XD (1989). Clastogenicity evaluation of seven chemicals commonly found at hazardous industrial waste sites. *Mutat Res*, 224(4):437– 45. doi:10.1016/0165-1218(89)90068-2 PMID:2586542
- Sant'Ana LS, Vassilieff I, Jokl L (1989). Levels of organochlorine insecticides in milk of mothers from urban and rural areas of Botucatu, SP, Brazil. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 42(6):911–8. doi:<u>10.1007/BF01701635</u> PMID:<u>2743026</u>
- Sava V, Velasquez A, Song S, Sanchez-Ramos J (2007). Dieldrin elicits a widespread DNA repair and antioxidative response in mouse brain. J Biochem Mol Toxicol, 21(3):125–35. doi:10.1002/jbt.20165 PMID:17623884
- Savage EP, Keefe TJ, Tessari JD, Wheeler HW, Applehans FM, Goes EA, et al. (1981). National study of chlorinated hydrocarbon insecticide residues in human milk, USA. I. Geographic distribution of dieldrin, heptachlor, heptachlor epoxide, chlordane, oxychlordane, and mirex. *Am J Epidemiol*, 113(4):413–22. doi:10.1093/ oxfordjournals.aje.a113109 PMID:7211826
- Schaalan MF, Abdelraouf SM, Mohamed WA, Hassanein FS (2012). Correlation between maternal milk and infant serum levels of chlorinated pesticides (CP) and the impact of elevated CP on bleeding tendency and immune status in some infants in Egypt. *J Immunotoxicol*, 9(1):15–24. doi:<u>10.3109/1547</u> 691X.2011.606432 PMID:21962179
- Scheele J, Teufel M, Niessen KH (1992). Chlorinated hydrocarbons in the bone marrow of children: studies on their association with leukaemia. *Eur J Pediatr*, 151(11):802–5. doi:10.1007/BF01957928 PMID:1468452
- Schein LG, Donovan MP, Thomas JA, Felice PR (1979). Effects of pesticides on 3H-dihydrotestosterone binding to cytosol proteins from various tissues of the mouse. *J Environ Pathol Toxicol*, 3(1-2):461–70. PMID:232714
- Schroeder JC, Olshan AF, Baric R, Dent GA, Weinberg CR, Yount B, et al. (2001). Agricultural risk factors for t(14;18) subtypes of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Epidemiology*, 12(6):701–9. doi:<u>10.1097/00001648-</u> <u>200111000-00020</u> PMID:<u>11679800</u>
- Scippo ML, Argiris C, Van De Weerdt C, Muller M, Willemsen P, Martial J, et al. (2004). Recombinant human estrogen, androgen and progesterone receptors for detection of potential endocrine disruptors. *Anal*

Bioanal Chem, 378(3):664–9. doi:<u>10.1007/s00216-003-</u> <u>2251-0</u> PMID:<u>14579009</u>

- Shah AH, Guthrie FE (1970). Penetration of insecticides through the isolated midgut of insects and mammals. *Comp Gen Pharmacol*, 1(4):391–9. doi:<u>10.1016/0010-4035(70)90063-7</u> PMID:<u>5005767</u>
- Shegunova P, Klánová J, Holoubek I (2007). Residues of organochlorinated pesticides in soils from the Czech Republic. *Environ Pollut*, 146(1):257–61. doi:<u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>envpol.2006.03.057</u> PMID:<u>17045372</u>
- Shukla VK, Rastogi AN, Adukia TK, Raizada RB, Reddy DCS, Singh S (2001). Organochlorine pesticides in carcinoma of the gallbladder: a case-control study. *Eur J Cancer Prev*, 10(2):153–6. doi:10.1097/00008469-200104000-00006 PMID:11330456
- Siddharth M, Datta SK, Bansal S, Mustafa M, Banerjee BD, Kalra OP, et al. (2012). Study on organochlorine pesticide levels in chronic kidney disease patients: association with estimated glomerular filtration rate and oxidative stress. J Biochem Mol Toxicol, 26(6):241–7. doi:10.1002/jbt.21416 PMID:22645066
- Sielken RL Jr, Bretzlaff RS, Valdez-Flores C, Stevenson DE, de Jong G (1999). Cancer dose-response modeling of epidemiological data on worker exposures to aldrin and dieldrin. *Risk Anal*, 19(6):1101–11. doi:10.1111/j.1539-6924.1999.tb01131.xPMID:10765450
- Slotkin TA, MacKillop EA, Ryde IT, Tate CA, Seidler FJ (2007). Screening for developmental neurotoxicity using PC12 cells: comparisons of organophosphates with a carbamate, an organochlorine, and divalent nickel. *Environ Health Perspect*, 115(1):93–101. doi:10.1289/ehp.9527 PMID:17366826
- Slotkin TA, Seidler FJ (2010a). Oxidative stress from diverse developmental neurotoxicants: antioxidants protect against lipid peroxidation without preventing cell loss. *Neurotoxicol Teratol*, 32(2):124–31. doi:10.1016/j. ntt.2009.12.001 PMID:20004241
- Slotkin TA, Seidler FJ (2010b). Diverse neurotoxicants converge on gene expression for neuropeptides and their receptors in an in vitro model of neurodifferentiation: effects of chlorpyrifos, diazinon, dieldrin and divalent nickel in PC12 cells. *Brain Res*, 1353:36–52. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2010.07.073 PMID:20682304
- Slotkin TA, Seidler FJ, Fumagalli F (2010). Unrelated developmental neurotoxicants elicit similar transcriptional profiles for effects on neurotrophic factors and their receptors in an in vitro model. *Neurotoxicol Teratol*, 32(1):42–51. doi:10.1016/j.ntt.2008.11.006 PMID:19130878
- Soto AM, Chung KL, Sonnenschein C (1994). The pesticides endosulfan, toxaphene, and dieldrin have estrogenic effects on human estrogen-sensitive cells. *Environ Health Perspect*, 102(4):380–3. doi:10.1289/ehp.94102380 PMID:7925178

- Soto AM, Sonnenschein C, Chung KL, Fernandez MF, Olea N, Serrano FO (1995). The E-SCREEN assay as a tool to identify estrogens: an update on estrogenic environmental pollutants. *Environ Health Perspect*, 103(Suppl 7):113–22. doi:<u>10.1289/ehp.95103s7113</u> PMID:<u>8593856</u>
- Stacey CI, Tatum T (1985). House treatment with organochlorine pesticides and their levels in human milk– Perth, Western Australia. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 35(2):202–8. doi:10.1007/BF01636499 PMID:4027424
- Stanley CW, Barney JE, Helton MR, Yobs AR (1971). Measurement of atmospheric levels of pesticides. *Environ Sci Technol*, 5(5):430–5. doi:10.1021/ es60052a001
- Stedeford T, Cardozo-Pelaez F, Nemeth N, Song S, Harbison RD, Sanchez-Ramos J (2001). Comparison of base-excision repair capacity in proliferating and differentiated PC 12 cells following acute challenge with dieldrin. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 31(10):1272–8. doi:10.1016/S0891-5849(01)00715-8 PMID:11705706
- Steenland K, Mora AM, Barr DB, Juncos J, Roman N, Wesseling C (2014). Organochlorine chemicals and neurodegeneration among elderly subjects in Costa Rica. *Environ Res*, 134:205–9. doi:10.1016/j. envres.2014.07.024 PMID:25173053
- Stehr-Green PA (1989). Demographic and seasonal influences on human serum pesticide residue levels. *J Toxicol Environ Health*, 27(4):405–21. doi:10.1080/15287398909531312 PMID:2760935
- Stevens MF, Ebell GF, Psaila-Savona P (1993). Organochlorine pesticides in Western Australian nursing mothers. *Med J Aust*, 158(4):238–41. PMID:<u>8426545</u>
- Stevenson DE, Kehrer JP, Kolaja KL, Walborg EF Jr, Klaunig JE (1995). Effect of dietary antioxidants on dieldrin-induced hepatotoxicity in mice. *Toxicol Lett*, 75(1-3):177–83. doi:<u>10.1016/0378-4274(94)03178-A</u> PMID:<u>7863524</u>
- Stevenson DE, Thorpe E, Hunt PF, Walker AI (1976). The toxic effects of dieldrin in rats: a reevalution of data obtained in a two-year feeding study. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 36(2):247–54. doi:<u>10.1016/0041-</u> <u>008X(76)90004-1</u> PMID:<u>1273845</u>
- Stockholm Convention (2001). Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants. Stockholm, Sweden. Available from: <u>http://chm.pops.int/Portals/0/</u><u>Repository/convention_text/UNEP-POPS-COP-</u><u>CONVTEXT-FULL.English.PDF.</u>
- Stockholm Convention (2008). All POPs listed in the Stockholm Convention. Châtelaine, Switzerland: Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention. Available from: <u>http://chm.pops.int/TheConvention/ThePOPs/</u> <u>AllPOPs/tabid/2509/Default.aspx</u>.
- Swaen GM, de Jong G, Slangen JJ, van Amelsvoort LG (2002). Cancer mortality in workers exposed to dieldrin and aldrin: an update. *Toxicol Ind Health*, 18(2):63–70. doi:10.1191/0748233702th132oa PMID:12868794

- Syakti AD, Asia L, Kanzari F, Umasangadji H, Malleret L, Ternois Y, et al. (2012). Distribution of organochlorine pesticides (OCs) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in marine sediments directly exposed to wastewater from Cortiou, Marseille. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int*, 19(5):1524–35. doi:<u>10.1007/s11356-011-0640-z</u> PMID:<u>22051976</u>
- Tabor EC (1966). Contamination of urban air through the use of insecticides. *Trans N Y Acad Sci*, 28(5):569–78. doi:<u>10.1111/j.2164-0947.1966.tb02374.x</u> PMID:<u>5221009</u>
- Tanaka R, Fujisawa S, Nakai K (1981). Study on the absorption and protein binding of carbaryl, dieldrin and paraquat in rats fed on protein diet. *J Toxicol Sci*, 6(1):1–11. doi:<u>10.2131/jts.6.1</u> PMID:<u>6790724</u>
- Tarraf C, El-Sabban M, Bassam R, Beyrouthy M, Chamoun J, Talhouk R (2003). Functional consequence of exposure to dieldrin on mammary development and function. *Food Addit Contam*, 20(9):819–28. doi:10.1080/0265203031000138231 PMID:13129777
- Teixeira D, Pestana D, Santos C, Correia-Sá L, Marques C, Norberto S, et al. (2015). Inflammatory and cardiometabolic risk on obesity: role of environmental xenoestrogens. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 100(5):1792–801. doi:10.1210/jc.2014-4136 PMID:25853792
- Tennekes HA, Edler L, Kunz HW (1982). Dose-response analysis of the enhancement of liver tumour formation in CF-1 mice by dieldrin. *Carcinogenesis*, 3(8):941–5. doi:<u>10.1093/carcin/3.8.941</u> PMID:<u>7127675</u>
- Tennekes HA, Wright AS, Dix KM (1979). The effects of dieldrin, diet and other environmental components on enzyme function and tumour incidence in livers of CF-1 mice. *Arch Toxicol Suppl*, 2(2):197–212. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-67265-1 17 PMID:288330
- Tennekes HA, Wright AS, Dix KM, Koeman JH (1981). Effects of dieldrin, diet, and bedding on enzyme function and tumor incidence in livers of male CF-1 mice. *Cancer Res*, 41(9 Pt 1):3615–20. PMID:7260918
- Thoolen B, Maronpot RR, Harada T, Nyska A, Rousseaux C, Nolte T, et al. (2010). Proliferative and nonproliferative lesions of the rat and mouse hepatobiliary system. *Toxicol Pathol*, 38(7 Suppl):5S-81S. doi:10.1177/0192623310386499 PMID:21191096
- Thorpe E, Walker AIT (1973). The toxicology of dieldrin (HEOD). Part II. Comparative long-term oral toxicology studies in mice with dieldrin, DDT, phenobarbitone, beta-BHC and gamma-BHC. *Food Cosmet Toxicol*, 11(3):433–41. doi:10.1016/0015-6264(73)90008-4 PMID:4125578
- TithofPK, Olivero J, Ruehle K, Ganey PE (2000). Activation of neutrophil calcium-dependent and -independent phospholipases A2 by organochlorine compounds. *Toxicol Sci*, 53(1):40–7. doi:<u>10.1093/toxsci/53.1.40</u> PMID:<u>10653519</u>
- Tollefsen KE, Mathisen R, Stenersen J (2002). Estrogen mimics bind with similar affinity and specificity to the hepatic estrogen receptor in Atlantic salmon (Salmo

salar) and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Gen Comp Endocrinol*, 126(1):14–22. doi:<u>10.1006/gcen.2001.7743</u> PMID:<u>11944962</u>

- Tomar LR, Agarwal MP, Avasthi R, Tyagi V, Mustafa M, Banerjee BD (2013). Serum organochlorine pesticide levels in patients with metabolic syndrome. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab*, 17(Suppl 1):S342–4. doi:<u>10.4103/2230-8210.119612</u> PMID:<u>24251209</u>
- Tomasallo C, Anderson H, Haughwout M, Imm P, Knobeloch L (2010). Mortality among frequent consumers of Great Lakes sport fish. *Environ Res*, 110(1):62–9. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2009.09.008 PMID:19811780
- Treon JF, Cleveland FP (1955). Pesticide toxicity, toxicity of certain chlorinated hydrocarbon insecticides for laboratory animals, with special reference to aldrin and dieldrin. J Agric Food Chem, 3(5):402–8. doi:10.1021/ jf60051a002
- Trosko JE, Jone C, Chang CC (1987). Inhibition of gap junctional-mediated intercellular communication in vitro by aldrin, dieldrin, and toxaphene: a possible cellular mechanism for their tumor-promoting and neurotoxic effects. *Mol Toxicol*, 1(1):83–93. PMID:<u>3449752</u>
- Tully DB, Cox VT, Mumtaz MM, Davis VL, Chapin RE (2000). Six high-priority organochlorine pesticides, either singly or in combination, are nonestrogenic in transfected HeLa cells. *Reprod Toxicol*, 14(2):95–102. doi:10.1016/S0890-6238(00)00060-5 PMID:10825672
- US Tariff Commission (1951). Synthetic organic chemica1s, United States production and sales, 1950 Second Series, Report No. 173. Washington (DC), USA: United States Government Printing Office; p. 127.
- USGS (2006). Pesticides in the nation's streams and ground water, 1992–2001. Revised 15 February 2007. Circular 1291. Reston (VA), USA: National Water-Quality Assessment Program, United States Geological Survey.
- Usha Rani MV, Reddi OS, Reddy PP (1980). Mutagenicity studies involving aldrin, endosulfan, dimethoate, phosphamidon, carbaryl and ceresan. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 25(2):277–82. doi:<u>10.1007/BF01985524</u> PMID:6775717
- Uyeta M, Taue S, Chikazawa K, Nishimoto T (1971). [Pesticides translocated into food - organochlorine pesticides in total diet]. *J Fd Hyg Soc Jap*, 12(6):445–50. [Shokuhin Eiseigaku Zasshi] [Japanese] doi:<u>10.3358/</u> <u>shokueishi.12.445</u>
- van Amelsvoort LG, Slangen JJ, Tsai SP, de Jong G, Kant I (2009). Cancer mortality in workers exposed to dieldrin and aldrin: over 50 years of follow up. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*, 82(2):217–25. doi:<u>10.1007/s00420-008-0325-1 PMID:<u>18427830</u></u>
- Varona ME, Díaz-Criollo SM, Lancheros-Bernal AR, Murcia-Orjuela AM, Henao-Londoño GL, Idrovo AJ (2010). Organochlorine pesticide exposure among agricultural workers in Colombian regions with illegal

crops: an exploration in a hidden and dangerous world. *Int J Environ Health Res*, 20(6):407–14. doi:<u>10.1080/096</u> <u>03123.2010.491855</u> PMID:<u>21161802</u>

- Vesselinovitch SD, Rao KV, Mihailovich N (1979). Neoplastic response of mouse tissues during perinatal age periods and its significance in chemical carcinogenesis. *Natl Cancer Inst Monogr*, (51):239–50. PMID:<u>384263</u>
- Wade MG, Desaulniers D, Leingartner K, Foster WG (1997). Interactions between endosulfan and dieldrin on estrogen-mediated processes in vitro and in vivo. *Reprod Toxicol*, 11(6):791–8. doi:<u>10.1016/S0890-6238(97)00062-2</u> PMID:<u>9407589</u>
- Wade MJ, Moyer JW, Hine CH (1979). Mutagenic action of a series of epoxides. *Mutat Res*, 66(4):367–71. doi:<u>10.1016/0165-1218(79)90047-8</u> PMID:<u>379632</u>
- Wakeling AE, Schmidt TJ, Visek WJ (1973). Effects of dieldrin on 5 -dihydrotestosterone binding in the cytosol and nucleus of the rat ventral prostate. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 25(2):267–75. doi:10.1016/S0041-008X(73)80013-4 PMID:4715489
- Wakeling AE, Visek WJ (1973). Insecticide inhibition of 5alpha-dihydrotestosterone binding in the rat ventral prostate. *Science*, 181(4100):659–61. doi:<u>10.1126/science.181.4100.659</u> PMID:<u>4353358</u>
- Walker AI, Stevenson DE, Robinson J, Thorpe E, Roberts M (1969). The toxicology and pharmacodynamics of dieldrin (HEOD): two-year oral exposures of rats and dogs. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 15(2):345–73. doi:10.1016/0041-008X(69)90034-9 PMID:5804749
- Walker AI, Thorpe E, Stevenson DE (1973). The toxicology of dieldrin (HEOD). I. Long-term oral toxicity studies in mice. *Food Cosmet Toxicol*, 11(3):415–32. doi:<u>10.1016/0015-6264(73)90007-2</u> PMID:<u>4353861</u>
- Ward EM, Schulte P, Grajewski B, Andersen A, Patterson DG Jr, Turner W, et al. (2000). Serum organochlorine levels and breast cancer: a nested case-control study of Norwegian women. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 9(12):1357–67. PMID:<u>11142422</u>
- Wasser J, Berman T, Lerner-Geva L, Grotto I, Rubin L (2015). Biological monitoring of Persistent Organic Pollutants in human milk in Israel. *Chemosphere*, 137:185–91. doi:<u>10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.07.038</u> PMID:<u>26246042</u>
- Watson CS, Alyea RA, Jeng YJ, Kochukov MY (2007a). Nongenomic actions of low concentration estrogens and xenoestrogens on multiple tissues. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 274(1-2):1–7. doi:<u>10.1016/j.mce.2007.05.011</u> PMID:<u>17601655</u>
- Wei P, Zhang J, Dowhan DH, Han Y, Moore DD (2002). Specific and overlapping functions of the nuclear hormone receptors CAR and PXR in xenobiotic response. *Pharmacogenomics J*, 2(2):117–26. doi:10.1038/sj.tpj.6500087 PMID:12049174

- Weiss JM, Bauer O, Blüthgen A, Ludwig AK, Vollersen E, Kaisi M, et al. (2006). Distribution of persistent organochlorine contaminants in infertile patients from Tanzania and Germany. J Assist Reprod Genet, 23(9-10):393–9. doi:10.1007/s10815-006-9069-6 PMID:17019632
- Whetstone RR (1964). Chlorocarbons and chlorohydrocarbons: chlorinated derivatives of cyclopentadiene.In: Kirk REE, Othmer DP, editors. Encyclopaedia of chemical technology, Vol. 5. 2nd ed. New York, USA: John Wiley & Sons; p. 240.
- WHO (2003). Aldrin and dieldrin in drinking-water: Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality. WHO/ SDE/WSH/03.04/73. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. Available from: <u>http://www. who.int/water_sanitation_health/dwq/chemicals/</u> <u>adrindieldrin.pdf</u>.
- Williams D, Woodhouse K (1996). Age-related changes in O-deethylase and aldrin epoxidase activity in mouse skin and liver microsomes. *Age Ageing*, 25(5):377–80. doi:<u>10.1093/ageing/25.5.377</u> PMID:<u>8921143</u>
- Witczak A, Mituniewicz-Małek A, Dmytrów I (2013). Assessment of daily intake of organochlorine pesticides from milk in different regions of Poland. *J Environ Sci Health B*, 48(2):83–91. doi:<u>10.1080/03601234.2013.726</u> <u>589</u> PMID:<u>23305275</u>
- Wolfe HR, Durham WF, Armstrong JF (1963). Health hazards of the pesticides endrin and dieldrin. Hazards in some agricultural uses in the Pacific Northwest. *Arch Environ Health*, 6(4):458–64. doi:<u>10.1080/000398</u> <u>96.1963.10663426</u> PMID:<u>14001561</u>
- Wolfe HR, Durham WF, Armstrong JF (1967). Exposure of workers to pesticides. *Arch Environ Health*, 14(4):622–33. doi:<u>10.1080/00039896.1967.10664801</u> PMID:<u>6024487</u>
- Wolff T, Deml E, Wanders H (1979). Aldrin epoxidation, a highly sensitive indicator specific for cytochrome P-450-dependent mono-oxygenase activities. *Drug Metab Dispos*, 7(5):301–5. PMID:<u>40770</u>
- Wolff T, Guengerich FP (1987). Rat liver cytochrome P-450 isozymes as catalysts of aldrin epoxidation in reconstituted monooxygenase systems and microsomes. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 36(16):2581–8. doi:<u>10.1016/0006-2952(87)90535-1</u> PMID:<u>3606656</u>
- Wolff T, Strecker M (1985). Lack of relationship between debrisoquine 4-hydroxylation and other cytochrome P-450 dependent reactions in rat and human liver. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 34(15):2593–8. doi:<u>10.1016/0006-2952(85)90553-2</u> PMID:<u>4015701</u>
- Wong DT, Terriere LC (1965). Epoxidation of aldrin, isodrin, and heptachlor by rat liver microsomes. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 14(3):375–7. doi:<u>10.1016/0006-2952(65)90210-8</u> PMID:<u>14314340</u>

- Wong MH, Leung AO, Chan JK, Choi MP (2005). A review on the usage of POP pesticides in China, with emphasis on DDT loadings in human milk. *Chemosphere*, 60(6):740–52. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.04.028 PMID:15949838
- Wozniak AL, Bulayeva NN, Watson CS (2005). Xenoestrogens at picomolar to nanomolar concentrations trigger membrane estrogen receptor-alpha-mediated Ca2+ fluxes and prolactin release in GH3/ B6 pituitary tumor cells. *Environ Health Perspect*, 113(4):431–9. doi:10.1289/ehp.7505 PMID:15811834
- Xu X, Dailey AB, Talbott EO, Ilacqua VA, Kearney G, Asal NR (2010). Associations of serum concentrations of organochlorine pesticides with breast cancer and prostate cancer in U.S. adults. *Environ Health Perspect*, 118(1):60–6. doi:10.1289/ehp.0900919 PMID:20056587
- Yalçın SS, Örün E, Yalçın S, Aykut O (2015). Organochlorine pesticide residues in breast milk and maternal psychopathologies and infant growth from suburban area of Ankara, Turkey. *Int J Environ Health Res*, 25(4):364–72. doi:<u>10.1080/09603123.2014.945515</u> PMID:<u>25155352</u>
- Zahm SH, Weisenburger DD, Babbitt PA, Saal RC, Vaught JB, Cantor KP, et al. (1990). A case-control study of non-Hodgkin'slymphoma and the herbicide 2,4-dichlo-rophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) in eastern Nebraska. *Epidemiology*, 1(5):349–56. doi:10.1097/00001648-199009000-00004 PMID:2078610
- Zhang J, Huang W, Qatanani M, Evans RM, Moore DD (2004). The constitutive androstane receptor and pregnane X receptor function coordinately to prevent bile acid-induced hepatotoxicity. J Biol Chem, 279(47):49517–22. doi:10.1074/jbc.M409041200 PMID:15358766

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists
aryl hydrocarbon receptor
Agricultural Health Study
body weight
Center for the Health Assessment of Mothers and Children of Salinas
dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate
dimethyl sulfoxide
dry weight
17β-estradiol
O-ethyl O-para-nitrophenyl phenylphosphonothioate
estrogen receptor
gamma-aminobutyric acid
gas chromatography-mass spectrometry
gap-junctional intercellular communication
guanine-hypoxanthine phosphoribosyl transferase
glutathione
oxidized glutathione
hexachlorobenzene
β-hexachlorocyclohexane
2-hydroxyethylnitrosourea
high-performance liquid chromatography-electrochemical detection
high-performance liquid chromatography-ultraviolet
heptachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin
hexachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin
job–exposure matrix
mitogen-activated protein kinase
malondialdehyde
nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate reduced form
sodium pentachlorophenate
National Cancer Institute
<i>N</i> -nitrosodiethylamine
nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor
National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey

IARC MONOGRAPHS – 117

NHL	non-Hodgkin lymphoma
NIOSH	National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health
NQO1	NAD(P):quinone oxidoreductase 1
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
OCDD	octachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin
OCDF	octachlorodibenzofuran
8-OHdG	8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine
OR	odds ratio
РСВ	polychlorinated biphenyl
PCDD	polychlorinated dibenzo-para-dioxin
PCDF	polychlorinated dibenzofuran
PeCDD	pentachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin
PeCDF	polychlorinated dibenzofuran
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SD	standard deviation
SIR	standardized incidence ratio
SMR	standardized mortality ratio
STS	soft tissue sarcoma
Т3	triiodothyronine
T4	thyroxine
TCAB	3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene
TCAOB	3,4,3',4'-tetrachloroazoxybenzene
TCBQ	tetrachlorobenzoquinone
TCHQ	tetrachlorohydroquinone
TCDD	2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo- <i>para</i> -dioxin
TDCF	tetrachlorodibenzofuran
TrCP	trichlorophenol
TEF	toxicity equivalence factor
TEQ	toxic equivalency
UDP-glucuronosyltransferase	uridine 5'-diphospho-glucuronosyltransferase
USA	United States of America
vs	versus
WHO	World Health Organization
WW	wet weight



This volume of the *IARC Monographs* provides evaluations of the carcinogenicity of pentachlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol, 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazobenzene, aldrin, and dieldrin.

Pentachlorophenol, aldrin, and dieldrin are classified as persistent organic pollutants under the Stockholm Convention. Pentachlorophenol has been widely used as a wood preservative and insecticide, but its production and use are now restricted. 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol has also been used as a wood preservative and insecticide, and in the synthesis of some fungicides. Aldrin and dieldrin are synthetic organochlorine pesticides used as broad-spectrum soil insecticides for the protection of various food crops, as seed dressings, and to control infestations of pests such as ants and termites. In several countries their use has been banned or severely restricted since the early 1970s. 3,3',4,4'-Tetrachloroazobenzene is not manufactured commercially but is formed during the production and degradation of chloroanilide herbicides such as propanil, linuron, and diuron.

Exposure to all five agents considered may occur in the general population as well as in various occupational settings.

An *IARC Monographs* Working Group reviewed epidemiological evidence, animal bioassays, and mechanistic and other relevant data to reach conclusions as to the carcinogenic hazard to humans of these agents.

© iStockphoto.com/takenobu